The INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE on APPLIED MATHEMATICS, MODELING and COMPUTATIONAL SCIENCE



AMMCS Conference Series

AUGUST 26-30 WATERLOO, ONTARIO, CANADA

Mathematics

BOOK OF ABSTRACTS

Partial Di Aleber Internal Elements in Mathematical M Applicatione Engeneral Surger and Area and Area and Computationer Algebra, Arabitation Mathematices Variable i Faria Elements Computational Variable i Faria Elements Financial Computation and Arabitation

al Sciences and Medici

Computational Methods for Hyperbolic Problems

Technical Design by Dalibor D Dvorski

Applied Problems and Methods in Research and Education

Applied Mathematics, Modeling and Computational Science (AMMCS) 2013 Book of Abstracts

Waterloo, Ontario, Canada August 26-30, 2013

Disclaimer

This book contains abstracts of International Conference on Applied Mathematics, Modeling and Computational Science (AMMCS) 2013. Authors are responsible for the contents and accuracy. Opinions expressed may not necessarily reflect the position of the AMMCS-2013 scientific and organizing committees.

Technical Designer: Dalibor D. Dvorski

Publisher: AMMCS-2013

ISBN: 978-0-9918856-0-2

Organizing Committee

Monica G. Cojocaru, Program Chair Robert Jerrard, Global Organizing Committee Ilias Kotsireas, Conference Chair Herb Kunze, Global Organizing Committee Roman Makarov, Treasurer Roderick Melnik, Conference Chair and SIAM Representative Manuele Santoprete, Student Prize Committee Hasan Shodiev, Local Organizing Committee

Technical Committee

Shyam Badu, Digital Media Support Cameron Davidson-Pilon, Web Site Coordinator Dalibor D. Dvorski, Electronic Publishing Coordinator Jeanette Haas, Administrative Support Sanjay Prabhakar, Computer Support

Scientific Committee

Alberto Bressan Huaxiong Huang Anatoli Ivanov Peter Kuchment Konstantinos E. Parsopoulos Olof Runborg Tamas Terlaky Konstantina Trivisa Michael Vrahatis

Sponsors



SHARCNET"







mprime



Contents

List of Plenary Sessions	1
List of Semi-plenary Sessions	2
List of Special Symposia & Minisymposia	3
List of Contributed Sessions	6
Plenary Sessions	7
Semi-plenary Sessions	19
Special Symposia & Minisymposia	29
Applied Analysis and Inverse Problems	30
Canada-China Session on Applied Dynamic Systems	50
Advanced Numerical Methods for PDEs and Applications	63
Complex Dynamics of Population Behaviour	76
Computational Fluid Dynamics for Real Applications	92
Control Methods for Advanced Industrial Systems	102
Computational Materials Science	109
Computational Photonics	121
Computations in Systems Biology	127
Dynamics and Bifurcations in Coupled Networks of Differential Equations: Theory and Applications	134
Density Functional Theory	145
Decisions and Games, Social Choice Theory	161
Evolutionary Game Theory	176
Geocomputational Landscapes and Spaces	183
Higher-order Methods in Computational Fluid Dynamics	190
Recent Progress in Hyperbolic Problems: Theory and Computation	202
Industrial Mathematics	235
Lie Symmetry and Other Approaches in Theory and Applications of Nonlinear Equations	242
Modeling Approaches and Challenges in the Built Enviornment	254
Modeling and Computational Methods for Mathematical Biology and Medicine	264
Mathematical Epidemiology	277
Theory and Applications in Finance, Numerical Methods for Computationally Intensive Problems in Mathematics	294
Mathematics of Human Placenta: A Window into Fatal Origins of Adult Disease	310
Mathematical Immunology and Pathogen Dynamics	318
Mathematical Models for Nanoscience and Nanotechnology	327

Index	596
	501
Poster Session	501
Portial Differential and Integral Equations in Mathematical Modeling	565
Computational Machanias and Engineering	559
Financial Mathematics and Computation	520
Applications of Dynamical Systems and Differential Equations	509
Computational Physics and Chemistry	502
Computational Algebra, Combinatorics and Optimization	40/ 502
Mathematics and Computation in Biological Sciences and Medicine	4//
Applied Problems and Methods in Research & Education	470
Contributed Sessions	400 476
Women in Science and Mathematics	466
Variational Problems of Physical Origin	750 //61
Simulations in Soft Matter and Molecular Bio-physics	430
Symmetry in Nonlinear Dynamics: Theory and Applications	420
Structured Graph Theory	415
Statistical Data Analysis and Geometry	402
Applications to Physics, Finance, and Engineering Statistical Aspects of Environmental and Ecological Modeling	402
Continuous-time Random Walks, Fractional Diffusion and Non-local Operators:	395
Recent Trends in Differential Equations and Dynamical Systems	384
Recent Progress in Spintronics: Experiment and Dynamical Systems	377
Quantum Control: Theory and Application	369
Numerical Methods for Differential-algebraic Equations and Applications	362
New Computational Techniques for Applied Problems in Science and Engineering	346
Multitaper Spectrum Estimation, Prolate Spheroidal Wave Functions, Quadratic-inverse, and Related Problems	335

List of Plenary Sessions

Title	Speaker
Models, Mathematics, and Markets - Is the Intersection an Empy Set?	Peter Carr (Morgan Stanley)
How Quantum Mechanics Can Help Solve the World's Energy Problems	Emily A. Carter (Princeton University)
Information Integration/Organization and Numerical Harmonic Analysis	Ronald R. Coifman (Yale University)
Data-driven Methods for Dynamical Systems: Quantifying Predictability and Extracting Spatiotemporal Patterns	Dimitrios Giannakis (New York University) Andrew Majda (New York University)
Patterns of Synchrony	Martin Golubitsky (Ohio State University)
Computer Involvement in the Classification of Small Index Subfactors	Vaughan Jones (Vanderbilt University)
Nanocomputations by DNA Self-Assembly	Lila Kari (Western University)
Systemic Risk	George C. Papanicolaou (Stanford University)
Optimization and Modeling in Energy Systems	Panos M. Pardalos (University of Florida)
Superconductivity and Automorphic Functions	Israel Michael Sigal (University of Toronto)
Phylogenetic Analysis of the Musical Rhythms of the World	Godfried T. Toussaint (New York University, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, McGill University)

List of Semi-plenary Sessions

Title	Speaker
The Spatio-temporal Spread of Drug-resistant Tuberculosis	Julien Arino (University of Manitoba)
Fair Division	Steven Brams (New York University)
On an Inverse and Ill-Posed Problem of Autoconvolution Type in Ultrashort Laser Pulse Characterization	Bernd Hofmann (Technical University of Chemnitz)
Ecological and Epidemiological Drivers of Viral Evolution	Eili Klein (John Hopkins University)
Variational Principles in Wave-Functional and Density-Functional Formulations of Quantum Mechanics	Mel Levy (Duke University)
Role of Dipolar Interactions in Protein Folding	Silvina Matysiak (University of Maryland)
Boundary Conditions for Constrained Hyperbolic Systems: Mathematical and Numerical Analysis	Nicolae Tarfulea (Purdue University)
Martini Coarse-grained and Atomistic Simulations of Lipids	Peter Tieleman (University of Calgary)

List of S	Special	Sym	posia	&	Minisym	posia

Code	Title	Organizer(s)
SS-AAIP	Applied Analysis and Inverse Problems	Herb Kunze (University of Guelph), Kimberly Levere (University of Guelph)
SS-ADS	Canada-China Session on Applied Dynamic Systems	Yuming Chen (Wilfrid Laurier University), Fengqin Zhang (Yuncheng University), Xingfu Zou (Western University)
SS-ANMPDE	Advanced Numerical Methods for PDEs and Applications	Christina C. Christara (University of Toronto), Peter A. Forsyth (University of Waterloo), Dong Liang (York University)
SS-CDPB	Complex Dynamics of Population Behaviour	Stephen Tully (University of Guelph), Scott Greenhalgh (Yale University), Chad Wells (Yale University), Chris Pagnutti (University of Guelph)
SS-CF	Numerical Methods for Computationally Intensive Problems in Mathematical Finance	Duy-minh Dang (University of Waterloo), Ken Jackson (University of Toronto)
SS-CFDRA	Computational Fluid Dynamics for Real Applications	Lakhdar Remaki (Basque Center for Applied Mathematics), Stéphane Moreau (Université de Sherbrooke)
SS-CMAIS	Control Methods for Advanced Industrial Systems	Behzad Samadi (Maplesoft), Jurgen Gerhard (Maplesoft)
SS-CMS	Computational Materials Science	Haipeng Wang (University of Toronto)
SS-CPH	Computational Photonics	Marek Wartak (Wilfrid Laurier University), Harry E. Ruda (University of Toronto)
SS-CSB	Computations in System Biology	Hin Nark Gan (New York University), Gaurav Arya (University of California)
SS-DBCNDE	Dynamics and Bifurcations in Coupled Networks of Differential Equations: Theory and Applications	Luciano Buono (University of Ontario Institute of Technology)
SS-DFT	Density Functional Theory	Ian Hamilton (Wilfrid Laurier University), Paul Ayers (McMaster University), Viktor Staroverov (Western University)
SS-DG	Decisions and Games	D. Marc Kilgour (Wilfrid Laurier University), Marcus Pivato (Trent University)
SS-EGT	Evolutionary Game Theory	Joe Apaloo (St. Francis Xavier University), Ross Cressman (Wilfrid Laurier University)
SS-GLS	Geocomputational Landscapes and Spaces	Steven A. Roberts (Wilfrid Laurier University)

Code	Title	Organizer(s)
SS-HOMCFD	Higher-order Methods in Computational Fluid Dynamics	Lilia Krivodonova (University of Waterloo), Hans De Sterck (University of Waterloo)
SS-HPTC	Recent Progress in Hyperbolic Problems: Theory and Computation	Jae-Hun Jung (The State University of New York), Lilia Krivodonova (University of Waterloo), Allen Tesdall (The City University of New York)
SS-IM	Industrial Mathematics	Sean Bohun (University of Ontario Institute of Technology)
SS-LSNE	Lie Symmetry and Other Approaches in Theory and Applications of Nonlinear Equations	C. M. Khalique (North-West University), M. Abudiab (Texas A&M University)
SS-MACBE	Modeling Approaches and Challenges in the Built Enviornment	Ryan Danks (RWDI), Michael Carl (RWDI)
SS-MCMMBM	Modeling and Computational Methods for Mathematical Biology and Medicine	Suzanne Shontz (Mississippi State University), Corina Drapaca (The Pennsylvania State University), Siv Sivaloganathan (Wilfrid Laurier University)
SS-ME	Mathematical Epidemiology	Connell McCluskey (Wilfrid Laurier University)
SS-MFMCR	Theory and Applications in Finance	Joe Campolieti (Wilfrid Laurier University), Adam Metzler (Wilfrid Laurier University)
SS-MHP	Mathematics of Human Placenta: A Window into Fatal Origins of Adult Disease	Carolyn Salafia (Placental Analytics), Oleksandr Shlakhter (Alberta Health Services), Michael Yampolsky (University of Toronto)
SS-MIPD	Mathematical Immunology and Pathogen Dynamics	Jane Heffernan (York University), Cameron Browne (University of Ottawa), Stanca Ciupe (Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University), Jonathan Forde (Hobart and William Smith Colleges)
SS-MMNN	Mathematical Models for Nanoscience and Nanotechnology	Z. L. Miskovic (University of Waterloo), A. H. Majedi (University of Waterloo)
SS-MSEPSW	Multitaper Spectrum Estimation, Prolate Spheroidal Wave Functions, Quadratic-inverse, and Related Problems	Wesley Burr (Queen's University), Charlotte Haley (Queen's University), David J. Thomson (Queen's University)
SS-NCTAP	New Computational Techniques for Applied Problems in Science and Engineering	Ludwig Kohaupt (Beuth Univerity of Technology), Yan Wu (Georgia Southern University)

Code	Title	Organizer(s)
SS-NMDAEA	Numerical Methods for Differential-algebraic Equations and Applications	Andreas Griewank (Humbold University), Ned Nedialkov (Cardiff University), John Pryce (Cardiff University)
SS-QCTA	Quantum Control: Theory and Application	Lian-ao Wu (IKERBASQUE)
SS-RPSETS	Recent Progress in Spintronics: Experiment and Dynamical Systems	Jingrun Chen (University of California), University of California)
SS-RTDEDS	Recent Trends in Differential Equations and Dynamical Systems	Xinzhi Liu (University of Waterloo), Mohamad Alwan (University of Waterloo), Hongtao Zhang (University of Waterloo)
SS-RWFDNO	Continuous-time Random Walks, Fractional Diffusion and Non-local Operators: Applications to Physics, Finance, and Engineering	Mark. M. Meerschaert (Michigan State University), Enrico Scalas (University of Eastern Piedmont, Basque Center for Applied Mathematics)
SS-SAEEM	Statistical Aspects of Environmental and Ecological Modeling	Vyacheslav Lyubchich (University of Waterloo), Yulia R. Gel (University of Waterloo)
SS-SCT	Social Choice Theory	D. Marc Kilgour (Wilfrid Laurier University), Marcus Pivato (Trent University)
SS-SDAG	Statistical Data Analysis and Geometry	Choja Chenouri (University of Waterloo), Paul Marriott (University of Waterloo)
SS-SGT	Structured Graph Theory	Chinh Hoang (Wilfrid Laurier University), Kathie Cameron (Wilfrid Laurier University)
SS-SNDTA	Symmetry in Nonlinear Dynamics: Theory and Applications	Manuele Santoprete (Wilfrid Laurier University) and Ray McLenaghan (University of Waterloo)
SS-SSMMBP	Simulations in Soft Matter and Molecular Bio- physics	Christiano L. Dias (New Jersey Institute of Technology)
SS-VPPO	Variational Problems of Physical Origin	Robert Jerrard (University of Toronto), Andrew Lorent (University of Cincinnati)
SS-WSM	Women in Science and Mathematics	Shohini Ghose (Wilfrid Laurier University), Hind Al-abadleh (Wilfrid Laurier University)

List of Contributed Sessions

Code	Title
CS-AMPRE	Applied Problems and Methods in Research & Education
CS-BSM	Mathematics and Computation in Biological Sciences and Medicine
CS-CACO	Computational Algebra, Combinatorics and Optimization
CS-CPC	Computational Physics and Chemistry
CS-DSDE	Applications of Dynamical Systems and Differential Equations
CS-FINANCE	Financial Mathematics and Computation
CS-MECHE	Computational Mechanics and Engineering
CS-MODELING	Partial Differential and Integral Equations in Mathematical Modeling
CS-POST	Poster Session

Plenary Sessions

Models, Mathematics, and Markets - Is the Intersection an Empy Set?

Peter Carr (Morgan Stanley)

Did Albert Einstein ever write that compound interest is the most powerful force in the universe? I have my doubts, but the financial crisis of 2007-8 has left little doubt that mathematical models matter for markets. In this high-level talk, I will provide a historical overview of how mathematics has been used to model markets.

Dr. Peter Carr is a Managing Director at Morgan Stanley with over 15 years of experience in the financial industry. He is currently the Global Head of Market Modeling, overseeing several quantitative teams spread over three continents. He also presently serves as the the Executive Director of the Math Finance program at NYU's Courant Institute, the Treasurer of the Bachelier Finance Society, and a trustee for the Museum of Mathematics in New York. Prior to joining the financial industry, Dr. Carr was a finance professor for 8 years at Cornell University, after obtaining his PhD from UCLA in 1989. He has over 75 publications in academic and industry-oriented journals and serves as an associate editor for 8 journals related to mathematical finance. He was selected as Quant of the Year by Risk Magazine in 2003 and Financial Engineer of the Year by IAFE/Sungard in 2010. For the last two years, Dr. Carr has served on the CFTC's Technology Advisory Committee and was listed in Institutional Investor's Tech 50, an annual listing of the 50 most influential people in financial technology.

How Quantum Mechanics Can Help Solve the World's Energy Problems

Emily A. Carter (Princeton University)

If we are to survive as a species on this planet, we must make major science and engineering breakthroughs in the way we harvest, store, transmit, and use energy. An overview of my own research efforts in this direction will be given, including: optimizing materials to improve efficiency of turbine engines used for power generation and aircraft propulsion, characterizing combustion of biofuels and tritium incorporation in fusion reactor walls, optimizing mechanical properties of lightweight metal alloys for fuel-efficient vehicles, optimizing ion and electron transport in solid oxide fuel cell cathodes, and designing novel materials from abundant elements for photovoltaics and photoelectrodes to convert sunlight into electricity and fuels.

Fast and accurate quantum mechanics methods enabling the treatment of large biofuel molecules and mesoscale defects in metals that control mechanical properties will be briefly discussed. Then examples of key metrics we calculate to help design efficient new materials for photovoltaics, photocatalysts, and solid oxide fuel cells will be presented. These metrics point toward which dopants or alloys are likely to provide the most efficient energy conversion materials.

Professor Carter is the Founding Director of the Andlinger Center for Energy and the Environment at Princeton University and the Gerhard R. Andlinger Professor in Energy and the Environment, as well as Professor of Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering and Applied and Computational Mathematics. Her current research is focused entirely on enabling discovery and design of molecules and materials for sustainable energy, including converting sunlight to electricity and fuels, providing clean electricity from solid oxide fuel cells, clean and efficient combustion of biofuels, optimizing lightweight metal alloys for fuel-efficient vehicles, and characterizing hydrogen isotope incorporation into plasma facing components of fusion reactors.

Professor Carter received her B.S. in Chemistry from UC Berkeley in 1982 (graduating Phi Beta Kappa) and her Ph.D. in Chemistry from Caltech in 1987. After a year as a postdoctoral researcher at the University of Colorado, Boulder, she spent the next 16 years on the faculty of UCLA as a Professor of Chemistry and later of Materials Science and Engineering. She moved to Princeton University in 2004. She holds courtesy appointments in Chemistry, Chemical Engineering, and three interdisciplinary institutes (PICSciE, PRISM, and PEI). The author of over 260 publications, she has delivered more than 400 invited lectures all over the world and serves on numerous international advisory boards spanning a wide range of disciplines. Her scholarly work has been recognized by a number of national and international awards and honors from a variety of entities, including the American Chemical Society (ACS), the American Vacuum Society, the American Physical Society, the American Association for the Advancement of Science, and the International Academy of Quantum Molecular Science. She received the 2007 ACS Award for Computers in Chemical and Pharmaceutical Research, was elected in 2008 to both the American Academy of Arts and Sciences and the National Academy of Sciences, in 2009 was elected to the International Academy of Quantum Molecular Science, in 2011 was awarded the August Wilhelm von Hoffmann Lecture of the German Chemical Society, and in 2012 received a Doctor Honoris Causa from the Ecole Polytechnique Federale de Lausanne.

Information Integration/Organization and Numerical Harmonic Analysis

Ronald R. Coifman (Yale University)

We provide an overview of recent developments in methodologies for empirical organization of data. We present a geometric/analytic mathematical framework for learning, which revolves around building a network or a graph whose nodes are observations. In our framework, connections between observations are constantly reconfigured in order to achieve learning for specific tasks. In particular we will provide a synthesis of a range of ideas from mathematics and machine learning, which address the transition from a local similarity model to a global configuration. This is analogous to Newtonian Calculus, which from of a local linear model of variability, calculates a global solution to a differential. or partial differential equation. We apply these fundamentals to jointly organize the rows and columns of a matrix, viewed either as the matrix of a linear operator, or as a Database. Here the rows are viewed as functions on the columns and the columns as functions of the rows, a dual geometry is built to optimize prediction and processing. We relate these methods to ideas from classical Harmonic Analysis and indicate tools to measure success of information extraction. In particular we introduce methodologies that resemble "signal processing" on data matrices, enabling functional regression, prediction, denoising, compression fast numerics, and so on. We illustrate these ideas to organize and map out in an automatic and purely data driven fashion on music databases of audio segments, text documents, psychological questionnaires, medical profiles, physical sensor data, financial data.

Ronald R. Coifman is Phillips professor of mathematics at Yale University. He received his Ph.D. from the University of Geneva in 1965. Prior to coming to Yale in 1980, he was a professor at Washington University in St Louis. Prof. Coifman's recent publications have been in the areas of nonlinear Harmonic Analysis , Fourier Analysis, wavelet theory, numerical analysis and scattering theory. Professor Coifman is currently leading a research program to develop new mathematical tools for efficient transcription and organization of data, with applications to feature extraction, learning classification and denoising. He was chairman of the Yale mathematics department 1986-89. He is a member of the National Academy of Sciences, American Academy of Arts and Sciences, and the Connecticut Academy of Sciences and Engineering. He received the DARPA Sustained Excellence Award in 1996, and the 1996 Connecticut Science Medal. The 1999 Pioneer award from the International Society for Industrial and applied Mathematics , the National Science Medal 1999, And the Wavelet Pioneer award 2009.

Data-driven Methods for Dynamical Systems: Quantifying Predictability and Extracting Spatiotemporal Patterns

Dimitrios Giannakis (New York University) Andrew Majda (New York University)

Large-scale datasets generated by dynamical systems arise in many applications in science and engineering. Two research topics of current interest in this area involve using data collected through observational networks or output by numerical models to quantify the uncertainty in long-range forecasting, and improve understanding of the operating dynamics. In this talk we discuss applied mathematics techniques to address these topics blending ideas from machine learning, delay-coordinate embeddings of dynamical systems, and information theory. We illustrate these techniques with applications to climate atmosphere ocean science.

Dr. Dimitrios Giannakis is a faculty member at the Courant Institute of Mathematical Sciences, NYU. He is also affiliated with Courant's Center for Atmosphere Ocean Science (CAOS). He received BA and MSci degrees from the University of Cambridge, and a PhD degree from the University of Chicago. Prior to joining Courant and CAOS as faculty he was a postdoctoral researcher there. Giannakis' research work is at the interface between applied mathematics and climate atmosphere ocean science. His primary research interests are in geometrical data analysis algorithms and statistical modeling of complex systems. He has applied these tools in topics including idealized dynamical systems, ocean and sea ice variability on seasonal to interannual timescales, and organized atmospheric convection.

Andrew J. Majda is the Morse Professor of Arts and Sciences at the Courant Institute of New York University. Majda's primary research interests are modern applied mathematics in the broadest possible sense merging asymptotic methods, numerical methods, physical reasoning, and rigorous mathematical analysis.

Majda is a member of the National Academy of Sciences and has received numerous honors and awards including the National Academy of Science Prize in Applied Mathematics, the John von Neumann Prize of the Society of Industrial and Applied Mathematics, and the Gibbs Prize of the American Mathematical Society. He is also a member of the American Academy of Arts and Science. He has been awarded the Medal of the College de France, twice, and is a Fellow of the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science. He has received an honorary doctorate from his undergraduate alma mater, Purdue University.

In the past several years at the Courant Institute, Majda has created the Center for Atmosphere Ocean Science with a multi-disciplinary faculty to promote cross-disciplinary research with modern applied mathematics in climate modeling and prediction. Majda's current research interests include multi-scale multi-cloud modeling for the tropics, reduced stochastic and statistical modeling for climate, and novel mathematical strategies for prediction and data assimilation in complex multi-scale systems.

Patterns of Synchrony

Martin Golubitsky (Ohio State University)

This talk will survey recent results on rigid phase-shift synchrony in periodic solutions of coupled systems of differential equations. The mathematical questions were motivated by previous work on quadrupedal gaits and will be interpreted in terms of a generalized model for binocular rivalry.

Martin Golubitsky is Distinguished Professor of Natural and Mathematics Sciences at the Ohio State University, where he serves as Director of the Mathematical Biosciences Institute. He works in the fields of nonlinear dynamics and bifurcation theory studying the role of symmetry in the formation of patterns in physical systems and the role of network architecture in the dynamics of coupled systems. He has co-authored four graduate texts, one undergraduate text, and two nontechnical trade books.

Dr. Golubitsky is a Fellow of the American Academy of Arts and Sciences, AAAS, and SIAM. He is also the 2001 corecipient of the Ferran Sunyer i Balaguer Prize for The Symmetry Perspective and the recipient of the 2009 Moser Lecture Prize of the SIAM Dynamical Systems Activity Group. He has been elected to the Councils SIAM, AAAS, and AMS. Dr. Golubitsky was the founding Editor-in-Chief of the SIAM Journal on Applied Dynamical Systems and has served as President of SIAM.

Computer Involvement in the Classification of Small Index Subfactors

Vaughan Jones (Vanderbilt University)

A subfactor of index k is a generalisation of a permutation group on a set of size k. Except that the number k is no longer required to be an integer- it is a real number. While the listing of all transitive permutation groups on a set of size 5 would be covered in a first class in group theory, the subfactor result has only recently been completed thanks to Morrison, Peters, Snyder and many other authors. And their computers. The classification begins with the enumeration of all possible "Principal graphs", which in index less than or equal to 4 are the usual singly laced Coxeter graphs. Ten more subfactors exist with index between 4 and 5, some of which are only accessible via computer computations. I will present these results and the local blend of computer calculation and theory, and the extent to which the computer calculations may or may not be necessary.

Sir Vaughan F. R. Jones (KNZM FRS FRSNZ) is a New Zealand mathematician, known for his work on von Neumann algebras and Knot Theory. He was awarded a Fields Medal in 1990 at the ICM in Kyoto. Jones is currently a distinguished professor of mathematics at Vanderbilt University. He previously served as a professor at the University of California, Berkeley and a Distinguished Alumni Professor at the University of Auckland.

Nanocomputations by DNA Self-Assembly

Lila Kari (Western University)

Self-assembly, the process by which objects autonomously come together to form complex structures, is ubiquitous in the physical world: Atoms bind to each other to form molecules, molecules may form crystals or macromolecules, cells interact to form biological organisms. Recent experimental research in DNA self-assembly demonstrated its potential for the parallel creation of a large number of nanostructures, including some encoding computations. This suggests exciting applications of self-assembly to circuit fabrication, nanorobotics, DNA computation, smart-drug design, and amorphous computing.

A systematic study of self-assembly as a computational process has been initiated by Adleman and Winfree. The individual components are therein modelled as square tiles on the infinite twodimensional plane. Each side of a tile is covered by a specific "glue", and two adjacent tiles will bind to each other if they have matching glues on their abutting edges. Tiles that stick to each other may form various two-dimensional structures such as squares, rectangles, counters, or may cover the entire plane. In this talk I will describe the potential of the self-assembly of "DNA tiles" for nanocomputations. In addition, I will explore generalizations of the original model that add the possibility of having negative, "repelling", glues, as well as compare the computational power of deterministic versus non-deterministic self-assembly.

Lila Kari is Professor in the Department of Computer Science at The University of Western Ontario. She received her M.Sc. in 1987 from the University of Bucharest, Romania, and her Ph.D. in 1991 for her thesis "On Insertions and Deletions in Formal Languages", for which she received the Nevanlinna Prize for the best mathematics thesis in Finland. Author of more than 170 peer reviewed articles, Professor Kari is regarded as one of the world's experts in the area of biomolecular computation, that is using biological, chemical and other natural systems to perform computations. She has served as Steering Committee Chair for the DNA Computing conference series, as Steering Committee member for the Unconventional Computation conference series, as well as on the Scientific Advisory Committee of the International Society for Nano-Scale Science and Engineering.

Lila Kari serves on the editorial boards of the journals Theoretical Computer Science, Natural Computing and Universal Computer Science, and as section editor for molecular computing for the Natural Computing Handbook (Springer). She has additionally served as a member of the Board of Directors of the FIELDS Institute for Research in Mathematical Sciences, the UK EPSRC peer review college, on the NSERC grant selection committee on computing and information systems and the NSERC Herzberg-Brockhouse-Polanyi Prize joint selection committee. At the University of Western Ontario she has received numerous awards, including the Florence Bucke Science Prize and the Faculty of Science Award for Excellence in Undergraduate Teaching. From 2002 to 2011 she was Canada Research Chair in Biocomputing, and her current research focusses on theoretical aspects of bioinformation and biocomputation, including models of cellular computation, nanocomputation by DNA self-assembly and Watson-Crick complementarity in formal languages.

Systemic Risk

George C. Papanicolaou (Stanford University)

The quantification and management of risk in financial markets is at the center of modern financial mathematics. But until recently, risk assessment models did not consider seriously the effects of interconnectedness of financial agents and the way risk diversification impacts the stability of markets. I will give an introduction to these problems and discuss the implications of some mathematical models for dealing with them.

George C. Papanicolaou is currently the Robert Grimmett Professor in Mathematics at Stanford University. Besides his former focus on the analysis of waves and diffusion in inhomogeneous or random media, his recent research interests also include financial mathematics, especially the use of asymptotics for stochastic equations in analyzing complex models of financial markets and in data analysis. In 1987, the University of Athens conferred an Honorary Doctor of Science on Papanicolaou. In 2000, he became a Fellow of the American Academy of Arts and Sciences and he was elected to the U.S. National Academy of Sciences. Papanicolaou was invited plenary speaker at multiple international congresses, among others at the SIAM 50th anniversary meeting in 2002 and at the International Congress of Industrial and Applied Mathematics in 2003. In 2006, he received the SIAM von Neumann Prize in recognition of his wide-ranging work on analytic and stochastic methods and their application to the modeling of phenomena in the physical, geophysical, and financial sciences. In 2010 he received the William Benter Prize in Applied Mathematics. In 2011 he was the Gibbs lecturer of the American Mathematical Society. The University of Paris Diderot conferred on him the degree Doctor Honoris Causa in 2011.

Optimization and Modeling in Energy Systems

Panos M. Pardalos (University of Florida)

For decades, power systems have been playing an important role in humanity. Industrialization has made energy consumption an inevitable part of daily life. Due to our dependence on fuel sources and our large demand for energy, power systems have become interdependent networks rather than remaining independent energy producers. This talk will focus on the problems arising in energy systems as well as recent advances in optimization and modeling to address these problems. Among the topics to be discussed are emission constrained hydrothermal scheduling, electricity and gas networks expansion, as well as reliability analysis of power grid.

Panos M. Pardalos serves as Distinguished Professor of Industrial and Systems Engineering at the University of Florida. He is also an affiliated faculty member of the Computer and Information Science Department, the Hellenic Studies Center, and the Biomedical Engineering Program. He is also the Director of the Center for Applied Optimization. Dr. Pardalos is a world leading expert in global and combinatorial optimization. His recent research interests include network design problems, optimization in telecommunications, e-commerce, data mining, biomedical applications, and massive computing.

Superconductivity and Automorphic Functions

Israel Michael Sigal (University of Toronto)

Macroscopic theory of superconductivity is based on the celebrated Ginzburg - Landau equations. First developed to explain and predict properties of superconductors, these equations had a profound influence on physics well beyond their original designation area. These are a pair of coupled nonlinear equations for a complex function (called order parameter or Higgs field) and a vector field (magnetic potential or gauge field). They are the simplest representatives of a large family of equations appearing in physics and mathematics. (The latest variant of these equations is the Seiberg - Witten equations.) Besides of importance in physics, they contain beautiful mathematics (some of the mathematics was discovered independently by A. Turing in his explanation of patterns of animal coats). In this talk I will review recent results involving key solutions of these equations - the magnetic vortices and vortex lattices, their existence, stability and dynamics, and how they relate to the modified theta functions appearing in number theory.

Israel Michael Sigal is the Norman Stuart Robertson Chair in Applied Mathematics and University Professor at the University of Toronto. He works in several areas of mathematical physics. Among his results are the proof (jointly with Avy Soffer) of asymptotic completeness of the quantum many-body scattering for short-range potentials and the development of a mathematical framework (jointly with Volker Bach and Jurg Frohlich) of the theory of emission and absorption of quantum radiation by nonrelativistic quantum systems such as atoms and molecules, as well as several important results on the nonlinear Schrodinger, Ginzburg-Landau, mean-curvature and wave equations. Professor Sigal was an invited speaker at several International Congresses of Mathematical Physics and at an International Congress of Mathematicians.

Phylogenetic Analysis of the Musical Rhythms of the World

Godfried T. Toussaint (New York University, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, McGill University)

The application of computational-mathematical tools to the analysis of symbolically notated musical rhythms of the world informs musicological issues such as whether one group of rhythms is more complex than another, whether one family of rhythms possesses an underlying metrical hierarchy, or how an evolutionary phylogeny of musical rhythms may be constructed. Recent results on these problems will be illustrated with examples. To submit rhythms to a phylogenetic analysis, a measure of similarity between rhythms is usually employed.

Two fundamental approaches to measuring the similarity between rhythms are compared: a featurebased technique and a transformation method. In the former procedure, statistical and/or structural features are computed from a suitable representation of the rhythms, thus representing them as points in a feature space. Two rhythms are considered to be similar if the distance between their corresponding points in this feature space is small. In the latter strategy a rhythm is represented as a binary sequence of symbols denoting onsets (sounds) and rests (silences), and a distance measure called the editdistance is used. The edit distance between two rhythms is the minimum number of mutations required to transform one rhythm to the other. Here the mutations consist of insertions, deletions, and substitutions of onsets and rests. A phylogenetic analysis using the BioNJ algorithm from the SplitsTree-4 software package, incorporating the edit distance, applied to several collections of the musical rhythms practiced in several cultures around the globe, yields new insights into the paradigmatic roles played by the most salient rhythms.

Godfried T. Toussaint is a Research Professor of Computer Science at New York University Abu Dhabi in Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. He is also an affiliate researcher in the Computer Science and Artificial Intelligence Laboratory at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology in Cambridge, MA, USA. For many years he taught and did research in the School of Computer Science at McGill University in Montreal, in the areas of information theory, pattern recognition, textile-pattern analysis and design, computational geometry, machine learning, music information retrieval, and computational music theory. In 2005 he became a researcher in the Centre for Interdisciplinary Research in Music Media and Technology, in the Schulich School of Music at McGill University, in Montreal, Canada.

Dr. Toussaint is a founder and co-founder of several annual international conferences and workshops, including the ACM Symposium on Computational Geometry, and the Canadian Conference on Computational Geometry. He is an editor of several journals, including Computational Geometry: Theory and Applications, the International Journal of Computational Geometry and Applications, ISRN Geometry, and the Journal of Mathematics and the Arts. He is the recipient of several distinguished awards including a Killam Fellowship from the Canada Council for the Arts, and a Radcliffe Fellowship from Harvard University, where he spent one year at the Radcliffe Institute for Advanced Study, and one year in the Music Department. His research on the phylogenetic analysis of musical rhythms has been reported in several media, and was the focus of two Canadian television programs. He is the author of more than 390 publications.

Latest Book: The Geometry of Musical Rhythm, Chapman-Hall/CRC Press, January, 2013.

Semi-plenary Sessions

The Spatio-temporal Spread of Drug-resistant Tuberculosis

Julien Arino (University of Manitoba)

Tuberculosis is, after HIV/AIDS, the second largest cause of infectious disease induced death. It is estimated that in 2011, it killed 1.4 million people worldwide. Tuberculosis is also a disease of poverty, as contributing factors to its spread include poor and overcrowded living conditions, poor health conditions, etc. As a consequence, over 95\% of new infections and deaths by tuberculosis occur in developping countries.

We formulate a model for tuberculosis in a single population that includes three strains: a drugsensitive strain, MDR-TB and XDR-TB. We study the model mathematically and show, in particular, that the bifurcation structure of the whole model is governed by the behaviour of the XDR-TB strain. We then extend the model to a metapopulation setting, in which each country is a vertex in a multidigraph, endowed with a system for the single population case. Weighted arcs between the vertices represent the rate of travel of individuals between the countries. We study the resulting large-scale system. Finally, we proceed to numerical experiments with realistic travel and population data.

This is a joint work with K. Khan (University of Manitoba) and I. Soliman (St Michael's Hospital, Toronto).

Julien Arino received his PhD in 2001 from Universite Joseph Fourier in Grenoble, France in affiliation with INRIA Sophia Antipolis and the Villefranche-sur-mer Oceanological Observatory. He held postdoctoral fellowships at the University of Victoria (Jan 2001-Dec 2002) and McMaster University (Jan 2003-Jun 2005).

Since 2005, he has been a faculty member at the University of Manitoba. He is currently a member of the Bio.Diaspora Project, which is based at St Michael's Hospital (Toronto), and the Centre for Disease Modelling, which is hosted at York University.

Fair Division

Steven Brams (New York University)

Over the past 20 years, there has been burgeoning interest in the subject of fair division - how one divides a single divisible good (e.g., a cake), or multiple indivisible goods (e.g., the marital property in a divorce), to satisfy such properties as efficiency, envy-freeness, and equitability. Some of the major possibility and impossibility results -- relating to both the existence of such a division and algorithms for producing it - will be reviewed. How these results apply to dividing land, allocating items in a family estate to heirs, determining which rooms housemates get and how much of the rent each pays for its room, and matching applicants to colleges will be among the applications discussed.

Steven J. Brams is Professor of Politics at New York University and the author, co-author, or co-editor of 18 books and more than 250 articles. His books include Theory of Moves (Cambridge, 1994) and, co-authored with Alan D. Taylor, Fair Division: From Cake-Cutting to Dispute Resolution (Cambridge, 1996) and The Win-Win Solution: Guaranteeing Fair Shares to Everybody (Norton, 1999). His newest books are Mathematics and Democracy: Designing Better Voting and Fair-Division Procedures (Princeton, 2008) and Game Theory and the Humanities: Bridging Two Worlds (MIT, 2011). He holds two patents for fair-division algorithms and is chairman of the advisory board of Fair Outcomes, Inc.

Brams has applied game theory and social-choice theory to voting and elections, bargaining and fairness, international relations, and the Bible, theology, and literature. He is a former president of the Peace Science Society (1990-91) and of the Public Choice Society (2004-2006). He is a Fellow of the American Association for the Advancement of Science (1986), a Guggenheim Fellow (1986-87), and was a Visiting Scholar at the Russell Sage Foundation (1998-99).

On an Inverse and Ill-Posed Problem of Autoconvolution Type in Ultrashort Laser Pulse Characterization

Bernd Hofmann (Technical University of Chemnitz)

In the early 1990s motivated by applications from spectroscopy and stochastics contributions to the mathematical analysis of deautoconvolution problems as a class of inverse problems in spaces of continuous or quadratically integrable real functions were made. Such deautoconvolution problems were mostly aimed at finding non-negative functions with compact support from observations of its autoconvolution. Since the autoconvolution operator is nonlinear and smoothing, the deautoconvolution problem is ill-posed in the sense that the solutions need not be uniquely determined and mainly small perturbations in the data may lead to arbitrarily large errors in the solution. To overcome the negative consequences of ill-posedness some kind of regularization is required. Recently, the research group Solid State Light Sources' of the Max Born Institute for Nonlinear Optics and Short Pulse Spectroscopy, Berlin, hit on the autoconvolution problem in the context of a new approach in ultrashort laser pulse characterization called Self-Diffraction SPIDER. For phase reconstruction as an auxiliary problem the solution of an autoconvolution equation is needed, but now for complex functions to be determined from complex observations. Moreover, a device-related kernel function must be added. The ill-posedness phenomenon arises in the complex case, too, but a thorough analysis of the complex case in deautoconvolution was missing in the literature. The talk presents analytical and numerical results on the character of ill-posedness of the equation occurring as a part of the SD SPIDER approach. Moreover, an iterative regularization approach is suggested for the problem when only noisy data of are given.

Dr. Bernd Hofmann is professor for Analysis and Inverse Problems at the Chemnitz University of Technology, Germany, in the Department of Mathematics since 1993, where he served as Dean of the Faculty from 2006 to 2009. He established an interdisciplinary research group on inverse problems with applications in natural sciences, engineering and finance, organizing the annual `Chemnitz Symposium on Inverse Problems', sometimes on tour (in Linz 2009, Canberra 2012, and Shanghai 2013).

Dr. Hofmann's research focus is on regularization theory and practice as well as on studies concerning the nature of ill-posedness and appropriate tools for the treatment of ill-posedness phenomena. He works as a member of the Editorial Board of the journals `Inverse Problems' and `Journal of Inverse and Ill-Posed Problems'.

Ecological and Epidemiological Drivers of Viral Evolution

Eili Klein (John Hopkins University)

While it has long-been recognized that disease transmission is impacted by human behavior, the consequences of human behavior on the ecology of directly transmitted pathogens has been understudied. Using a biophysical model of virus stability, we examine how much of virus evolution is driven by epidemiological factors, such as contact rates and protective behavior, and how much is driven by biological characteristics of the virus, such as its growth rate. We use agent-based models, which scale from local to planetary to elucidate the driving factors for both endemic and epidemic directly transmitted viruses.

Dr. Eili Klein is an assistant professor at John Hopkins University in the Centre for Advanced modeling in the Social, Behavioural and Health Sciences; Dr. Klein also holds a fellow position at the Center for Disease Dynamics, Economics and Policy, in Washington, D.C. He received his PhD in ecology and evolutionary biology from Princeton University and has held research associate positions at the Center for Disease Dynamics, Economics and Policy and Resources for the Future.

Dr. Klein's interdisciplinary research involves ecology, epidemiology, economics, and human behaviour. His scientific interests include: factors that drive antimicrobial drug resistance; economic epidemiology; how human behaviour influences ecology/epidemiological dynamics; and how human behaviour influences evolution of an infectious disease.

Variational Principles in Wave-Functional and Density-Functional Formulations of Quantum Mechanics

Mel Levy (Duke University)

Variational theorems are important for obtaining approximate solutions to the Schroedinger equation. With this in mind, fundamental variational principles will first be discussed within the wave-functional formulation of quantum mechanics. Then the corresponding variational principles for ground states in density and density-matrix functional theories will be reviewed briefly for the non-degenerate and degenerate situations. Based on these variational principles, properties of the exact functionals will be presented that are difficult to satisfy with approximate functionals. Special emphasis will be given to degeneracies, coordinate scaling, and potentials (functional derivatives). Then, a new time-independent density-functional theory for excited states will be presented for Coulomb systems. The lecture will conclude with a description of certain relevant unsolved mathematical problems, such as one involving an ionization energy convexity property.

Professor Emeritus, Tulane University and North Carolina A\&T State University. Visiting Professor, Duke University (2007-). Professor, North Carolina Agricultural and Technical State University, 2002-2007. Professor, Tulane University, 1976-2002 (presently, Professor Emeritus). Visiting Professor or Visiting Scientist: Oak Ridge National Laboratory; Quantum Theory Project, University of Florida; Instituto Venezolano de Investigaciones Cientificas (I.V.I.C.), Caracas, Venezuela; Institute for Theoretical Physics, University of California at Santa Barbara; Institute of Theoretical Physics, Kossuth Lajos University, Debrecen, Hungary; Department of Physics and Theory Center Cornell University; Lecturer, Department of Chemistry, the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, 7/74-7/76.

International Academy of Quantum Molecular Science; International Academy of Mathematical Chemistry; Fellow of The American Physical Society; Editorial Board, Advances in Quantum Chemistry; Advisory Editorial Board, Theoretical Chemistry Accounts; Advisory Editorial Board, Progress in Theoretical Chemistry; Guest Editor: The International Journal of Quantum Chemistry; Tulane Liberal Arts and Sciences, Faculty Research Award, 1998.

Role of Dipolar Interactions in Protein Folding

Silvina Matysiak (University of Maryland)

The role of dipole interactions in protein folding A generic coarse-grained (CG) protein model will be presented to characterize the driving forces behind protein folding. The change in orientation of the atoms in the coarse-grained unit is captured by the addition of Drude oscillators inside each polar coarse-grained bead. The addition of dummy sites inside the polar beads introduces structural polarization into the coarse-grained model.

Realistic alpha/beta content is achieved de novo without any biases in the force-field toward a particular secondary structure. The dipoles created by the Drude oscillators interact with each other and drive the protein models to fold into unique structures depending on the amino acid patterning and presence of capping residues. In this talk, we will show the role of dipole-dipole and dipole-charge interactions in shaping the secondary and tertiary structure of proteins. In particular, we will focus on the folding of beta-hairpins and single helices and in helix bundles and multiple beta-sheet strands. In the folded ensemble, dipoles along a helix are found aligned parallel and stabilized by the presence of charged capping residues. On the other hand, beta-sheets exhibit antiparallel neighboring dipoles.

Dr. Silvina Matysiak is an assistant professor in the Fischell Department of Bioengineering at the University of Maryland College Park. She received her B.S. in Chemical Engineering from the Instituto Tecnológico de Buenos Aires in 2001 and her PhD in Chemistry from Rice University in 2007. Before joining Maryland, she was a postdoctoral fellow at the University of Texas at Austin.

Matysiak's primary area of interest is the characterization of protein dynamics and function at the molecular level. Her work includes using computer simulations to study the mechanism of protein folding and misfolding associated with neurodegenerative diseases, development of multiscale simulation approaches to bridge different time- and length-scales and how solvent organization affects cooperative transitions in biomolecular systems.

Boundary Conditions for Constrained Hyperbolic Systems: Mathematical and Numerical Analysis

Nicolae Tarfulea (Purdue University)

Many applications in sciences and technology lead to first order symmetric hyperbolic (FOSH) systems of differential equations supplemented by constraint equations. The Cauchy problem for many such FOSH systems is constraint-preserving, i.e., the solution satis?es certain spatial differential constraints whenever the initial data does (e.g., Maxwell's equations or Einstein's field equations in various FOSH formulations). Frequently, artificial space cut offs are performed for such evolution systems, usually out of the necessity for finite computational domains. However, it may easily happen that boundary conditions at the artificial boundary for such a system lead to an initial boundary value problem which, while well-posed, does not preserve the constraints. Therefore, boundary conditions have to be posed in such a way that the numerical solution of the cut off system approximates as best as possible the solution of the original problem on infinite space, and this includes the preservation of constraints. It has become increasingly clear that in order for constraints to be preserved during evolution, the boundary conditions have to be chosen in an appropriate way. Here we consider the problem of finding constraint-preserving boundary conditions for constrained FOSH systems in the well-posed class of maximal nonnegative boundary conditions. Based on a characterization of maximal nonnegative boundary conditions, we discuss a systematic technique for finding such boundary conditions that preserve the constraints, pending that the constraints satisfy a FOSH system themselves. We exemplify this technique by presenting a few relevant applications (e.g., for FOSH formulations of Einstein's equations and for systems of wave equations in FOSH formulation subject to divergence constraints).

Dr. Nicolae Tarfulea is Associate Professor in the Department of Mathematics, Computer Science \& Statistics, Purdue University Calumet. He received his PhD from the University of Minnesota and his M.S. in Mathematics from the Penn State University in 2004 and 2001, respectively. His main research Interests are in Partial Differential Equations; Numerical Analysis; General Relativity. More precisely: boundary conditions for hyperbolic formulations of Einstein's equations, nonlinear elliptic equations, reaction diffusion systems, compressed sensing, and finite element methods. He has published 23 papers on these subjects in some of the most prestigious journals of mathematics, and gave over 20 invited talks in the last five years, and been a part of six research grants.

Martini Coarse-grained and Atomistic Simulations of Lipids

Peter Tieleman (University of Calgary)

Computer simulations have been widely used to study properties of lipid aggregates. Over the past twenty years simulations have progressed from small models of lipid bilayers composed of one type of lipid at length scales of 5-8 nanometer and time scales of nanoseconds to very complex models at length scales of tens of nanometers and time scales of microseconds. The development of realistic coarse-grained models such as the MARTINI model has brought simulations of lipids to mesoscope scales where particle-based simulation and continuum models overlap and simulations can be compared to measurable mechanical parameters of lipid aggregates. MARTINI is parameterized primarily based on experimental data, but for many systems of biological importance there is limited experimental data that can be used in parameterization and validation. I will discuss recent progress in linking atomistic simulations, experimental results, and parameters from continuum models to MARTINI simulations, illustrated with examples on lipid mixtures, membrane tethers, and lipid-protein systems.

Peter Tieleman studied physical chemistry at the University of Groningen in the Netherlands, where he obtained his PhD under the supervision of Herman Berendsen, one of the pioneers of biomolecular simulation. After a year as a European Molecular Biology Organization fellow at the University of Oxford in Mark Sansom's research group, Tieleman joined the University of Calgary. Since 2005, he has been a Professor in the Department of Biological Sciences. His research interests are in biomolecular simulation and computational biology, with an emphasis on biochemical and biophysical problems involving cell membranes. Among his distinctions are an Alfred P. Sloan Foundation Fellowship, the Royal Society of Canada's Rutherford Memorial Medal in Chemistry, and a Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC) Steacie Memorial Fellowship.

Special Invited Speaker

Fifteen Years of Funded Programs to Advance Women in Science and Engineering: Progress and Persistent Challenges

Catherine Mavriplis (University of Ottawa)

I will discuss my work in advancing women in science and engineering through US National Science Foundation funding since 1997 and, more recently, since 2011, Canada's Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council Chair for Women in Science and Engineering program. The FORWARD to Professorship program, in particular, has been a successful vehicle to empowering doctoral women who consider academic careers. Results of a survey of all 1300 FORWARD participants since 2003 will be presented, giving a picture of how this group of talented and motivated women are advancing and how the climate is changing. My work in Canada has also included women in industry, in particular with the Chair sponsor, Pratt & Whitney Canada, an aircraft engine manufacturer based in Montreal. I will discuss activities designed for mid-career professional women in industry as well as some initiatives for boosting numbers of women in computing.

Catherine Mavriplis, PhD, PE is an Associate Professor of Mechanical Engineering at the University of Ottawa and the NSERC Chair for Women in Science and Engineering (Ontario region). Dr. Mavriplis has been a professor of Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering since 1991, primarily at the George Washington University in the United States. She has also worked at the US National Science Foundation (NSF) in Mathematics and the University of Oklahoma in Meteorology. Her specialization is in Computational Fluid Dynamics and through application of her numerical modeling skills she has been involved in a number of interdisciplinary projects.

She maintains a strong collaboration with several U.S. researchers and the Royal Institute of Technology in Sweden. She currently serves on the Board of Directors of the Computational Fluid Dynamics Society of Canada. Dr. Mavriplis has worked under NSF funding to advance women since 1996, notably through the FORWARD to Professorship workshops under the NSF ADVANCE program, reaching up to 1,300 science and engineering doctoral women by 2013.
Special Symposia & Minisymposia

Applied Analysis and Inverse Problems (SS-AAIP)

Organizers: Herb Kunze (University of Guelph) Kimberly Levers (University of Guelph)

A typical inverse problem seeks to find a mathematical model that admits given observational data as an approximate solution. This sort of quesion is of great interest in many application areas, including mathematical ecology, environmental systems, physical systems, and image science, often appearing in the form of a parameter esimation problem. This session focuses on the applied analysis related to such inverse problems. The talks in the session will also include aspects of numerical analysis, mathematical modeling, and computational methods.

A Novel Image Registration-Reconstruction Framework for Real-Time Monitoring of Paraspinal Tumors in Radiation Therapy

D. Brunet¹, D. Moseley¹

¹ Princess Margaret Hospital, University Health Network, Toronto, Canada, {Dominique.Brunet, Douglas.Moseley}@rmp.uhn.ca

The treatment of paraspinal tumors by stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) represents a particular challenge due to the close proximity between the vertebral column and the spinal cord. Image-guided radiation therapy (IGRT) takes advantage of real-time imaging to help the delivery of more accurate radiation treatment.

From tomographic projections measured on a fluoroscopic flat panel at different gantry angles, we desire to design a real-time monitoring system of the patient position. This kind of problem is generally solved with a 2D-3D image registration algorithm between projections and the treatment planning CT volume or by first reconstructing a 3D volume and then performing 3D image registration. Unfortunately, direct 2D-3D image registration is not accurate enough for the detection of out-of-plane movements and the acquisition of all the projections for a full 3D reconstruction is too time consuming.

In this talk, we present a novel combined image registration-reconstruction framework for the monitoring of the patient motion during radiation therapy. The patient motion is estimated by solving the following equation

$$\arg\min_{\mathbf{x},\lambda} \left\{ S(T_{\lambda}(\mathbf{z}), \mathbf{x}) + R(A\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{p}) \right\},\tag{1}$$

where $\mathbf{p} \in \mathbf{R}^{KM}$ are *K* acquired projections of dimension *M*, stacked in a vector, $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{R}^N$ is the reconstructed volume, $\mathbf{z} \in \mathbf{R}^N$ is the planning CT volume on which the radiation treatment is based, T_{λ} is a transformation operator parameterized by λ , $A \in \mathcal{M}_{MK \times N}$ is a (linear and sparse) projection operator, *S* is an image similarity measure and *R* is a residual term associated with the noise model.

When $\mathbf{x} = T_{\lambda}(\mathbf{z})$, the problem simplifies to 2D - 3D image registration (for K = 1) or joint 2D - 3D image registration (for K > 1). On the other hand, when T_{λ} is fixed the problem simplifies to an algebraic reconstruction with the image similarity $S(T_{\lambda}(\mathbf{z}), \mathbf{x})$ as the regularizer. In particular, if we consider the simple case with the Euclidean distance as the similarity measure *S* and additive white Gaussian noise of variance σ^2 as the noise model *R*, then the problem simplifies to the well-known Tikhonov regularization and the solution is

$$\mathbf{x}^* = (A^T A + I/\sigma^2)^{-1} (A^T \mathbf{p}/\sigma^2 + T_\lambda(\mathbf{z})).$$
(2)

We thus propose to solve the joint reconstruction-registration problem by first reconstructing **x** algebraically for a given choice of parameter λ and then optimizing over the parameters of the transform T_{λ} . We consider in particular a three-dimensional rigid registration operator T_{λ} parameterized by $\lambda = (t_x, t_y, t_z, r_x, r_y, r_z)$, since this is the only type of transformation that can be corrected with a robotic treatment couch.

We will construct the forward operator A by considering the geometry of the problem and by performing trilinear basis interpolation. We will also present and solve for different noise models such as Gaussian or Poisson noise and different image similarity models such as the Euclidean distance and a variance-normalized Euclidean distance also known as the Structural Similarity index.

Numerical results on synthetic data, on phantoms as well as on clinical medical images will be presented.

On the Application of Adjoint Methods in Subsurface Flow Simulations

L. Bush¹, V. Ginting²

¹ University of Wyoming, Wyoming, USA, lbush4@uwyo.edu

² University of Wyoming, Wyoming, USA vginting@uwyo.edu

Application of the adjoint method to subsurface characterization will be presented. The model problem that the method will be applied to is the infiltration of water in soil. It is assumed that there is some measurement data available in the domain of interest and we would like to infer the subsurface permeability conditioned to the measurement data. A possible permeability field is proposed as a starting point for an iterative procedure. A simulation is completed using the proposed field and the results are then compared with the measurement data with the goal of finding a permeability field which will minimize the difference between the simulation and measurement data. At each iteration, the difference between the simulated results and measurement data is used to compute an update to the proposed field. The iteration is continued until some convergence criteria has been reached. Numerical examples demonstrating the method will be presented.

A Scientific Way to Simulate Pattern Formation in Reaction-Diffusion Equations

E.A. Cleary¹

¹ Mathematics and Statistics, University of Guelph, Guelph, Canada, ecleary@uoguelph.ca

A large body of current literature in developmental biology, chemistry and applied mathematics focuses on the investigation of diffusion-induced instability ('Turing mechanism' [1]) in coupled reaction-diffusion equations. The general form of a coupled reaction diffusion equation is as follows,

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} = D_u \nabla^2 u + f(u, v), \ \frac{\partial v}{\partial t} = D_v \nabla^2 v + g(u, v),$$

where D_u and D_v are positive diffusion coefficients and u = u(x, y, t) and v = v(x, y, t). Diffusion-induced instability occurs when a spatially homogeneous solution satisfying the coupled ordinary differential equation (ODE),

$$\frac{du}{dt} = f(u, v), \ \frac{dv}{dt} = g(u, v),$$

becomes linearly unstable with the presence of diffusion. For a uniquely defined subset of phase space the interaction of reaction and diffusion leads to stationary pattern formation phenomena, complex and organic in appearance. The solutions of these systems must often be analyzed numerically. The standard approach in the literature for approximating Turing systems uses finite difference, or finite element methods. Initial data equal to the equilibrium solutions of the corresponding ODE system are randomly perturbed at every point on the computational grid, which allows the Turing mechanism to kick-in and produce a pattern. The problem with such an approach is that resulting solutions are sensitive to initial conditions [2]. Furthermore, researchers typically use unspecified pseudo random number generators (RNG) with unspecified 'seeds' and do not always give full details of the computational grids used. As a result, reproducibility of solutions becomes an issue. Furthermore, the standard method of simulation does not facilitate the demonstration of convergence to a solution of the problem via the method of mesh refinement, as each grid effectively represents a different set of initial conditions. We explore a new methodology, which is independent of the choice of programming language, circumventing the aforementioned issues. While the new method allows more control over solutions, the user is required to make more choices, which may or may not have a determining effect on the nature of resulting patterns. In an attempt to quantify the extent of the possible effects, we study heterogeneous steady states for two well know reaction-diffusion models, the Gierer-Meinhardt model [4] and the Schnakenberg model [3].

This is joint work with M. Garvie and H. Kunze, Mathematics and Statistics, University of Guelph.

- [1] A.M. Turing, The chemical basis of morphogenesis, Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B, 237, pp. 37-72 (1952).
- P. Acuri and J.D. Murray, *Pattern sensitivity to boundary and initial conditions in reaction-diffusion models*, Journal of Mathematical Biology, 24, pp. 141-165 (1986).
- [3] J. Schnakenberg, Simple chemical reaction systems with limit cycle behaviour, Journal of theoretical biology, 81, 3, pp. 389-400 (1979).
- [4] A. Gierer and H. Meinhardt, A theory of biological pattern formation, Kybernetik, 12, pp. 30-39 (1972).

Iterative Techniques for Nonlinear Periodic Boundary Value Problems via Initial Value Problems

S. G. Pandit¹, D. H. Dezern², J. O. Adeyeye³

¹ Winston-Salem State University, Winston-Salem, North Carolina, USA, pandits@wssu.edu

² Winston-Salem State University, Winston-Salem, North Carolina, USA, dezernd@wssu.edu

³ Winston-Salem State University, Winston-Salem, North Carolina, USA, adeyeyej@wssu.edu

Since periodic boundary value problems (PBVPs, for short) are problems at resonance, the conditions required to construct iterative techniques for such problems are more stringent than those for the initial value problems (IVPs). In this talk, we design two types of iterative technique for the following nonlinear PBVP in the unified setting

$$u'(t) = f(t, u(t)) + g(t, u(t)) \text{ with } u(0) = u(T), \text{ for } t \in [0, T].$$
(1)

The first method employed, the Monotone Iterative Technique (see Refs. [1, 3, 4]), has a linear mode of convergence. The rate of convergence of the second, the Generalized Quasilinear Technique (Refs. [2, 5]), is quadratic and hence more rapid. We employ natural lower-upper solutions and coupled lower-upper solutions in our investigations.

The interesting feature of our methods is that the iterates, which are solutions of linear IVPs, converge monotonically and uniformly to solutions of the given nonlinear PBVP. This fact allows us to impose minimal conditions on the forcing functions f and g in the given Eq. (1). The proofs of our results are also simpler than those of the conventional methods. We provide numerical and graphical illustrations of our results.

- [1] G. S. Ladde, V. Lakshmikantham and A. S. Vatsala. *Monotone Iterative Techniques for Nonlinear Differential Equations*, Boston, Pitman (1985).
- [2] V. Lakshmikantham and A. S. Vatsala, *Generalized Quasilinearization and Nonlinear Problems*, Kluwer Academic Publishers (1998).
- [3] S. G. Pandit, D. H. Dezern and J. O. Adeyeye, *A new approach to monotone iterative techniques for nonlinear periodic boundary value problems*, Proceedings of Dynamic Systems and Applications **6** (2012) 303–309.
- [4] M. Sokol and A. S. Vatsala, A unified exhaustive study of monotone iterative method for initial value problems, Nonlinear Studies 8
 [4] (2001) 429–438.
- [5] Y. Yin, Monotone iterative technique and quasilinearization for some anti-periodic problems, Nonlinear World 3 [2] (1996) 253–266.

Gravitational Wave Parameter Estimation with Compressed Likelihood Evaluations

P. Canizares¹, <u>S. E. Field</u>², J. R. Gair³, M. Tiglio⁴

¹ Institute of Astronomy, Madingley Road, Cambridge, CB30HA, United Kingdom, pcm@ast.cam.ac.uk

² Department of Physics, Maryland Center for Fundamental Physics and Joint Space Science Institute, University of Maryland, College Park, MD 20742, USA, sfield@umd.edu

³ Institute of Astronomy, Madingley Road, Cambridge, CB30HA, United Kingdom, jrg23@cam.ac.uk

⁴ Department of Physics, Maryland Center for Fundamental Physics and Joint Space Science Institute, University of Maryland, College Park, MD 20742, USA, tiglio@tapir.caltech.edu

One of the main bottlenecks in gravitational wave (GW) astronomy is the high cost of performing Bayesian parameter estimation. We propose a novel technique based on Reduced Order Quadratures (ROQs) [1], an application and data-specific quadrature rule, to perform fast and accurate likelihood evaluations. Generation of an ROQ rule is carried out offline (before the data is known). First, a projection-based greedy algorithm identifies a basis whose span accurately approximates the parameterized functions defining a GW model. An empirical interpolation procedure is then applied to select ROQ nodes. The resulting quadrature rule's computational cost depends linearly on the number of basis functions and, more precisely, the ROQ error is bounded by the model's Kolmogorov n-width times a computable constant.

For noisy data taken at equally spaced intervals numerical approximation of likelihood evaluations are computed by a low-order Riemann sum. ROQs are shown to converge exponentially fast thereby significantly accelerating these evaluations. Likelihood evaluations are the dominant cost in Markov chain Monte Carlo algorithms, which are widely employed in parameter estimation studies, and so ROQs offer a new way to accelerate GW parameter estimation.

We illustrate our approach using a four dimensional GW burst model embedded in large, Gaussian noise [2]. We build an ROQ for this model, and perform four dimensional MCMC searches with both the standard and ROQs quadrature rules, showing that, for this model, the ROQ approach is around 25 times faster than the standard approach with essentially no loss of accuracy. The speed-up from using ROQs is expected to increase for more complex signals and therefore has significant potential to accelerate parameter estimation of GW sources such as compact binary coalescences.

- [1] H. Antil, S. Field, F. Herrmann, R. Nochetto, and M. Tiglio, *Two-step greedy algorithm for reduced order quadratures*, submitted to Journal of Scientific Computing. Preprint arXiv:1210.0577 [cs.NA].
- [2] P. Canizares, S. E. Field, J. R. Gair, and M. Tiglio, *Gravitational wave parameter estimation with compressed likelihood evaluations*, submitted to Physics Review D. Preprint arXiv:1304.0462 [gr-qc].

On an Inverse and Ill-Posed Problem of Autoconvolution Type in Ultrashort Laser Pulse Characterization

<u>B. Hofmann¹</u>, D. Gerth², S. Birkholz³, S. Koke³, G. Steinmeyer³

¹ Chemnitz University of Technology, Department of Mathematics, Germany, hofmannb@mathematik.tu-chemnitz.de

² Johannes Kepler University Linz, Industrial Mathematics Institute, Austria, daniel.gerth@dk-compmath.jku.at

³ Max Born Institute for Nonlinear Optics and Short Pulse Spectroscopy Berlin, Germany, steinmey@mbi-berlin.de

In the early 1990s motivated by applications from spectroscopy and stochastics contributions to the mathematical analysis of deautoconvolution problems as a class of inverse problems in spaces of continuous or quadratically integrable real functions were made (see, e.g., [1]). Such deautoconvolution problems were mostly aimed at finding non-negative functions x with compact support supp $(x) \subset \mathbf{R}$ from its autoconvolution y = x * x. Since the autoconvolution operator $x \mapsto x * x$ is nonlinear and 'smoothing', the deautoconvolution problem is ill-posed in the sense that for given y the solutions x need not be uniquely determined and mainly small perturbations in the right-hand side y caused by noisy data may lead to arbitrarily large errors in the solution. To overcome the negative consequences of ill-posedness some kind of regularization is required.

Recently, the research group 'Solid State Light Sources' of the Max Born Institute for Nonlinear Optics and Short Pulse Spectroscopy, Berlin, hit on the autoconvolution problem in the context of a new approach in ultrashort laser pulse characterization called Self-Diffraction SPIDER (cf. [2]). For phase reconstruction as an auxiliary problem the solution of an autoconvolution equation is needed, but for complex functions $x : [0,1] \subset \mathbf{R} \to \mathbf{C}$ to be determined from complex observations $y : [0,2] \subset \mathbf{R} \to \mathbf{C}$. The ill-posedness phenomenon arises in the complex case, too, but a thorough analysis of the complex case in deautoconvolution was missing in the literature. On the other hand, a device-related kernel function $k : [0,2] \times [0,1] \to \mathbf{C}$ involved in the mapping $x \mapsto y$ constitutes a challenging additional difficulty in connection with this inverse problem behind SD SPIDER. We present results on the character of ill-posedness of the equation

$$\int_{0}^{s} k(s,t) x(s-t) x(t) dt = y(s), \qquad 0 \le s \le 2,$$
(1)

occurring as a part of the SD SPIDER approach. Moreover, we suggest an iterative regularization approach for the problem when only noisy data of y are given. Numerical experiments with synthetic data based on realistic solution and kernel structures outline the opportunities and limitations of the method (see also [3] and [4]).

- [1] R. Gorenflo and B. Hofmann, On autoconvolution and regularization, Inverse Problems 10, pp. 353–373 (1994).
- [2] S. Koke, S. Birkholz, J. Bethge, C. Grebing, G. Steinmeyer, *Self-diffraction SPIDER*, Conference on Lasers and Electro-Optics, OSA Technical Digest (CD) (Optical Society of America, 2010), paper CMK3, http://www.opticsinfobase.org/abstract.cfm?URI=CLEO-2010-CMK3.
- [3] D. Gerth, Regularization of an autoconvolution problem occurring in measurements of ultra-short laser pulses, Diploma thesis, Chemnitz University of Technology, Chemnitz, 2011, http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:bsz:ch1-qucosa-85485.
- [4] D. Gerth, B. Hofmann, S. Birkholz, S. Koke, and G. Steinmeyer, *Regularization of an autoconvolution problem in ultrashort laser pulse characterization*, Inverse Problems in Science and Engineering 21 (2013). Published electronically as: http://arxiv.org/abs/1301.6061.

On Set-valued Nonlinear Fredholm Integral Equations

M.I. Berenguer¹, <u>H. Kunze²</u>, D. La Torre³, M. Ruiz Galán¹,

¹ Applied Mathematics, University of Granada, Spain ² Mathematics and Statistics, University of Guelph, Ontario ³ Department of Economics, Management and Quantitative Methods, University of Milan, Italy

The nonlinear Fredholm integral equation

$$x(t) = f_0(t) + \int_0^1 f(t, s, x(s)) ds$$
(1)

is studied in many different applied mathematical areas. For instance, in image applications x represents an input signal (or image), the function f involves a kernel that describes how the signal has been blurred, and the term f_0 represents the contribution of additive noise. Another research area in which such an equation arises is the analysis of two-point boundary value problems with certain non-linear boundary conditions.

In this work, we study a related set-valued nonlinear Fredholm integral inclusion

$$x(t) \in f_0(t) + \int_0^1 F(t, s, x(s)) ds$$
(2)

where $f_0: [0,1] \Rightarrow \mathbb{R}^N$ and $F: [0,1] \times [0,1] \times \mathbb{R}^N \Rightarrow \mathbb{R}^N$ are set-valued mappings, and $x: [0,1] \to \mathbb{R}^N$ is the unknown solution that has to be determined. Such integral inclusions arise when modeling systems for which we have no complete description.

We prove the existence of a solution and provide a method for determining an approximate solution based on the Steiner selection and the use of Schauder bases. We also discuss an inverse problem in the case when (2) is interval-valued.

- M.I. Berenguer, M.V. Fernández Muñoz, A.I. Garralda-Guillem and M. Ruiz Galán, Numerical treatment of fixed point applied to the nonlinear Fredholm integral equation, Fixed Point Theory and Applications Vol. 2009, Article ID 735638, 2009.
- [2] M.I. Berenguer, A.I. Garralda-Guillem, M. Ruiz Galán, An approximation method for solving systems of Volterra integro-differential equations, Numer. Math. 67, 2013.
- [3] H.E. Kunze, D. La Torre, K.M. Levere, E.R. Vrscay Solving inverse problems for Hammerstein integral equation and its random analog using the "collage method" for fixed points, Int. J. Pure Appl. Math. 60, 2010.

Changes in Habitat of Fish Populations: An Inverse Problem

K.M. Levere¹

¹ University of Guelph, Guelph, Ontario, Canada, klevere@uoguelph.ca

Mathematical modelling applies to a wide variety of application areas, and is an active area of research in many disciplines. It is often the case that accurate depiction of these phenomena require increasingly complex models. Unfortunately, this increased complexity in a model causes great difficulty when finding solutions. What is more, developing a model with known parameters that produces results consistent with observed behaviours may prove to be a difficult or even impossible task. These difficulties have brought about an interest in inverse problems.

A goal of many inverse problems is to find unknown parameter values, $\lambda \in \Lambda$, so that the given observed data u_{true} agrees well with the solution data produced using these parameters u_{λ} . Unfortunately finding u_{λ} in terms of the parameters of the problem may be a complex task. Further, the objective function may be a complicated function of the parameters $\lambda \in \Lambda$ and may require complex minimization techniques. In recent literature, the collage coding approach to solving inverse problems has emerged. This approach avoids the aforementioned difficulties by bounding the approximation error above by a more readily minimizable distance, thus making the approximation error small. In this talk, we utilize a collage-based approach to solving an inverse problem for a model for the migration of three fish species through floodplain waters. We derive a mathematical model and discuss a generalized collage method for recovering diffusion parameters present in this model. Theoretical and numerical particulars are discussed and results are presented.

The Monge-Kantorovich Metric in Applications

F. Mendivil¹

¹ Acadia University, Wolfville, Canada, franklin.mendivil@acadiau.ca

The Monge-Kantorovich metric is derived from the Kantorivich's linear relaxation of Monge's mass transportation problem. As such, it has connections with many different areas of analysis. For the purposes of this talk, however, it is mainly useful as a particularly nice metric between probability measures on a metric space.

Let X be a compact metric space and $\mathscr{P}(X)$ be the space of Borel probability measures on X. There are many different metrics one can place on $\mathscr{P}(X)$, however, it is often desirable to have the distance between distributions linked in some way with the underlying metric on X. The MK metric does this through its connection with mass transportation. More specifically, if we let $\mathscr{L}(X) = \{f : X \to \mathbb{R} : |f(x) - f(y)| \le d(x, y)\}$ then for $\mu, \nu \in \mathscr{P}(X)$ we have that

$$d_{MK}(\mu, \nu) = \sup\left\{\int_X f \ d(\mu - \nu) : f \in \mathscr{L}(X)\right\}.$$
(1)

For instance, $d_{MK}(\delta_x, \delta_y) = d(x, y)$ if δ_x, δ_y are point masses at $x, y \in X$.

In practical computations the MK metric (1) is defined on a finite discrete space, usually modeled as a graph G, and the integrals become sums. In this setting, computing (1) is a linear program and thus there are many well-known approaches. However, in applications it is often desirable to have linear time or near-linear time algorithms for this computation.

In this talk, we will discuss computational approaches to computing the MK distance in applications. Our applications will focus on image matching and recognition. One application is to content-based image retrieval, in which case linear time algorithms are essential. The other application is an insect identification problem, specifically identifying and counting pest mites in images from apple orchards.

- K. Chen, S. Demko, R. Xie, Similarity-based retrieval of images using color histograms, in IS&T/SPIE Conference on Storage and Retrieval for Image and Video Databases VII, SPIE, January 1999, pp. 643-652.
- [2] S. Demko, F. Mendivil, Computing the Monge-Kantorovich distance, preprint.

Numerical Solution of 3D Vector Tomography Problem Using a Singular Value Decomposition.

A. Polyakova¹

¹ Sobolev Institute of Mathematics, Novosibirsk, Russia, anna.polyakova@ngs.ru

In this talk the normal Radon transform operator acting on a potential vector field on the unit ball is considered. The normal Radon transform of vector field $\mathbf{w} = (w_1, w_2, w_3)$ is defined by formula

$$\left[\mathscr{R}^{\perp}\mathbf{w}\right](\boldsymbol{\xi},s) = \int\limits_{P_{\boldsymbol{\xi},s}} \left(w_1\boldsymbol{\xi}^1 + w_2\boldsymbol{\xi}^2 + w_3\boldsymbol{\xi}^3\right) \mathrm{d}u\mathrm{d}v,\tag{1}$$

here $P_{\xi,s}$ is a plane, which is orthogonal to the direction ξ and the distance between the plane and the origin of coordinates is equal to |s|. Coordinates of the local coordinate system on plane $P_{\xi,s}$ are u, v. Our goal is to construct the singular value decomposition of the operator.

The orthogonal bases in the initial space are constructed using harmonic and Jacobi polynomials. A connection between the normal Radon transform of the potential vector field and the Radon transform of the potential, which is equal to zero on domain boundary, is obtained by the author of this paper. Using this connection and a result from [1] the author showed that the orthogonal bases in the image space are constructed using harmonic and Gegenbauer polynomials.

The inversion formula is derived on the basis of the obtained singular value decomposition of the normal Radon transform operator. This algorithm was used to solve a 3D vector tomography problem, namely for reconstruction of a potential part of a 3D vector field if its normal Radon transform is known. For this a truncated singular value decomposition is used. Numerical tests for data sets with different noise levels of smooth and discontinuous fields show the validity of the approach.

Acknowledgments.

The work was supported partially by RFBR (grants 11-07-00447-a, 12-01-09336-mob z), SB RAS (grant 2012-32), DMS RAS (grant 2012-1.3.1).

References

 Louis A.K., Orthogonal function series expansions and the null space of the Radon transform, Society for industrial and applied mathematics. Vol. 15, N.3 (1984), p. 621–633.

Parameter and State Range Reduction for ODE Models using Monotonic Linear Multistep Discretizations

A. Skelton, A. R. Willms

University of Guelph, Guelph, Ontario, Canada, skeltona@uoguelph.ca, awillms@uoguelph.ca

We consider the problem of fitting an ODE model to time series data. This process traditionally involves finding the best parameter values with respect to some error expression. These methods can be deterministic or probabilistic and an excellent comparison of a variety of methods can be found in [1]. While these techniques tend to be computationally efficient, they can easily fail to converge, or converge to a poor solution.

An alternative to these techniques is to assume that each parameter is contained in some a priori range and use interval methods to reduce these ranges [2, 3]. This is typically accomplished by integrating using a validated solver, comparing the derived solution with the observed data and removing inconsistent regions of parameter space. These methods provide a tight enclosure of the true parameter values, but can be computationally expensive.

Our work is an extension of the more efficient interval method published in [4]. Linear multistep methods are used to discretize each equation over a chosen time window. These methods can be written in the form

$$F = -\sum_{i=0}^{s} \alpha_{i} x^{i} + h \sum_{i=0}^{s} \beta_{i} f^{i} = 0,$$
(1)

where x^i and f^i represent the state variable and vector field respectively evaluated at the *i*-th time step. To be consistent, the resultant interval discretization must enclose the discretization error and we can discard regions of parameter space that fail this condition. This method relies on obtaining monotonicity of *F* with respect to each parameter to improve efficiency and provide a quick parameter reduction scheme.

In this work, we consider the case in which some state variables are unmeasured. It is reasonable to assume that some variables present in an ODE model are not feasibly measurable and we may have to assume potentially wide initial ranges for these variables. We show that by considering the unmeasured state variables at each time step in equation (1) as additional parameters, we can apply the parameter reduction scheme described above. We describe the required modifications to the original method to accommodate unmeasured variables. These modifications include the development of a new linear multistep discretization, improved performance in the computer implementation of the original algorithm, the ability to handle non-monotonic parameters and the introduction of the *hull consistency test*. We also present some results obtained from sample test systems.

- [1] C.G. Moles, P. Mendes and J.R. Banga, *Parameter Estimation in Biochemical Pathways: A Comparison of Global Optimization Methods*, Genome Research, **13**, pp. 2467-2474 (2003).
- Y. Lin and M.A. Stadtherr, Validated solutions of initial value problems for parametric ODEs, Applied Numerical Mathematics. 57, pp. 1145-1162 (2007).
- [3] T. Johnson and W. Tucker, *Rigorous Parameter Reconstruction for Differential Equations with Noisy Data*, Automatica. **44**, 9, pp. 2422-2426 (2008).
- [4] A.R. Willms and E.K. Szusz, Parameter Range Reduction for ODE Models Using Monotonic Discretizations, J. Comput. Appl. Math. 247, pp. 124-151 (2013).

Regularizing a Volterra Integral Equation of the First Kind

S. Subbey^{1,2}, S.-Å Gustafson³

¹ Inst. of Marine Res., PB-1870, N-5817 Bergen, Norway, samuels@imr.no

² Institute of Informatics, University of Bergen, Postboks 7800, N-5020, Norway

³ Stavanger University, Dept. of Math. and Nat. Sciences, N-4036 Stavanger, Norway

We consider the inverse problem of solving for the function *u*, when

$$\int_0^x K(x,t)u(t)\,dt = g(x), \ 0 \le x \le T.$$
(1)

Here, the kernel *K* and the function *u* are assumed to be exact, but the right hand side *g* represents observations and *T* is a fixed number. Equation (1) is a Volterra integral equation of the first kind. We deal with the particular case where *g* represents a sparse set of measurements at the points $\{x_1, \ldots, x_N\}$ of a fixed grid. The grid-points $x_1 < \ldots < x_N$ are assumed to be known exactly and the measured values g_i are approximations of the functional values $g(x_i)$. Then Eq. (1) may be replaced by

$$\int_{0}^{x_{i}} K(x_{i},t)u(t) dt = g_{i}, \ i = 1, \dots, N.$$
⁽²⁾

This problem occurs in porous media physics as the task of converting centrifuge data into a capillary pressure function. Deriving the capillary function involves the unstable process of inverting a linear smoothing operator. The operator for this particular problem has no bounded inverse.

We show that a regularized solution of the inverse problem is obtained by constraining the solution space to monotone and convex functions. These constraints, which satisfy certain physical constraints, may be expressed in the form of linear inequalities. We then arrive at a solution which approximates the measured values as closely as possible, where the deviation is defined by a suitable norm.

We present numerical experiments which compare different discretization schemes, and results for real experimental data.

B-Spline Slice-by-Slice Solution of a 3D-Vector Tomography Problem.

I.E. Svetov¹

¹ Sobolev Institute of Mathematics, Siberian Branch or the Russian Academy of Sciences, Novosibirsk, Russia, svetovie@math.nsc.ru

In this paper the 3D-vector tomography problem is considered in the following formulation. Let a bounded domain in R^3 be filled by a medium without refraction (probing rays permeate along straight lines). In the domain some vector field v is given. It is required to find this field by its known ray transform.

We consider R^3 as the Euclidean vector space with the standard scalar product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ and norm $|\cdot|$. The ray transform \mathscr{I} on R^3 maps a vector field $v = (v_j)$ to the function $[\mathscr{I}v]$ on the manifold of oriented lines $l = \{x + t\xi \mid x, \xi \in R^3, |\xi| = 1, \langle x, \xi \rangle = 0, t \in R\}$ by the formula

$$[\mathscr{I}v](x,\xi) = \sum_{j=1}^{3} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \xi_j v_j(x+t\xi) dt$$

The operator \mathscr{I} possesses a non-trivial kernel consisting of potential vector fields with vanishing potentials on the boundary [1]. Therefore only the solenoidal part ^{*s*} *v* of the field *v* can be recovered from $[\mathscr{I}v]$.

The problem is overdetermined in dimension, because we try to recover functions ${}^{s}v_{j}(x)$, where $x \in R^{3}$, from the function $[\mathscr{I}v]$ on the four-dimensional manifold of oriented lines (variables x, ξ have the dimension 6 in total, but there are two conditions: $|\xi| = 1$, $\langle x, \xi \rangle = 0$). Therefore it is natural to pose the problem of recovering ${}^{s}v$ from incomplete data $[\mathscr{I}v]|_{M^{3}}$, where M^{3} is some three-dimensional submanifold of the manifold of oriented lines.

There are solution algorithms (see [2]) based on the inversion formulas from [3], in which the problem of recovering a solenoidal part of a vector field on R^3 from ray transforms known over all lines parallel to one of the coordinate planes is considered. Two different coordinate planes are sufficient for the uniqueness (2*P*-problem), but three coordinate planes are needed for the stable reconstruction of a solenoidal part of vector field (3*P*-problem).

In this talk we propose algorithm of solving of the problem of recovery of a solenoidal part of vector field, which is given in the unit ball. The solution algorithm is based on the least squares method where we use a finite basis consisting of B-splines as basis function. In that sense the method can be seen as a projection method for minimizing an L_2 -data fitting term.

The work was supported partially by RFBR (grants 11-07-00447-a, 12-01-31178-mol_a), SB RAS (grant 2012-32), DMS RAS (grant 2012-1.3.1)

- [1] V. A. Sharafutdinov, Integral Geometry of Tensor Fields, Utrecht: VSP (1994).
- [2] I. E. Svetov, Slice-by-slice numerical solution of 3D-vector tomography problem. IC-MSQUARE 2012: International Conference on Mathematical Modeling in Physical Sciences, September 3–7 2012, Budapest, Hungary. IOP Publishing. Journal of Physics: Conference Series 410 (2013) 012042. doi:10.1088/1742-6596/410/1/012042
- [3] V. A. Sharafutdinov, *Slice-by-slice reconstruction algorithm for vector tomography with incomplete data*, Inverse Problems. **23**, pp. 2603–2627 (2007).

Designing a Search Grid for Parameter Estimation Using Sensitivity Analysis

<u>P. Van der Weeën¹</u>, J. Verwaeren¹, B. De Baets¹

¹ KERMIT, Ghent University, Belgium, {pieter.vanderweeen, jan.verwaeren, bernard.debaets}@ugent.be

When faced with inverse problem solving to retrieve the model parameters corresponding to a given set of observations, the question of which optimization algorithm to use often arises. Many iterative optimization algorithms, such as particle swarm optimization and simplex simulated annealing, are available and have been succesfully employed in the past. However, when dealing with nonlinear models, describing complex phenomena, an iterative approach often gets stuck in local optima, even when strategies to escape these local optima are built in. Furthermore, it often takes a large number of model evaluations to arrive at a good solution. An alternative is to perform an exhaustive grid search over all possible parameter combinations. Nevertheless, when continuous parameters are at stake or a model run is time consuming, a limited number of grid points in the parameter search space is chosen [1]. When 100 grid points, and therefore 100 model evaluations, in the parameter search space are allowed to parameterize two parameters a and b, a naive solution to how to construct the search grid would be to make combinations with ten points uniformly distributed over the range for both parameters. However, such a regular grid is rarely optimal.

We propose an optimized grid design based on the results of a sensitivity analysis. Sensitivity analysis has long proven its use in model building, since often model parameters are uncertain, especially when modeling complex natural systems [2]. It provides model builders with useful insights into the level of uncertainty contributed by each parameter, which can be important for research prioritization and reducing the model complexity by filtering out parameters that have a minor effect on the model outcome. In this work, the ratio of the sensitivity of the parameters a and b is chosen as a heuristic to allocate the 100 grid points over the search space. This approach on average entails a smaller prediction error than when making use of a regular search grid. Further, the approach can be extended to different kinds of models (stochastic models, cellular automaton-based models,...), more parameters and various types of sensitivity measures can be used.

- [1] P Van der Weeën, J. M. Baetens, J. Verwaeren, X. Van Doorslaer, P. M. Heyndrickx, J. Dewulf and B. De Baets, *Modeling the photocatalytic degradation of moxifloxacin by means of a stochastic cellular automaton*, Chem. Eng. J. **188**, pp. 181-190 (2012).
- [2] A. Saltelli, M. Ratto, S. Tarantola and F. Campolongo, *Sensitivity analysis for chemical models*, Chem. Rev. **105**, pp. 2811-2827 (2005).

The Inverse Problem of Fractal Potential Flows

J. Vass

University of Waterloo, Canada, jvass@uwaterloo.ca

Fractal Potential Flows have been reasoned to provide an explicit model for the intermittent interaction of eddies [3], relevant to the evolution towards the extremal case of Fully Developed Turbulence. This approach is related in spirit to Chaotic Advection, a dynamical systems approach to mixing [2, 5, 1]. Considering the direct analogy between the celebrated invariant measure of IFS and the invariant flow of this theory via an isometric isomorphism [3], in our talk we reformulate the inverse problem of IFS [4] within the setting of fractal potentials, with the purpose of approximatively modelling the observed interaction of a finite system of eddies. This reformulation is also crucial to measuring the effectiveness of the model in approximating experimental data.



Figure 1: Evolving streamlines and equipotential lines.

- [1] H. Aref. Stirring by chaotic advection. Journal of Fluid Mechanics, 143:1-21, 1984.
- [2] J. C. Sommerer, E. Ott, and T. Tél. Modeling two-dimensional fluid flows with chaos theory. *Johns Hopkins APL Technical Digest*, 18(2):193–203, 1997.
- [3] J. Vass. Fractal potential flows as an exact model for fully developed turbulence. ArXiv e-prints, Jan. 2013.
- [4] E. R. Vrscay. Iterated function systems: Theory, applications and the inverse problem. Fractal Geometry and Analysis, pages 405–468, Montreal, Canada, 1989. NATO Advanced Study Institute.
- [5] S. Wiggins. Chaos in the dynamics generated by sequences of maps, with applications to chaotic advection in flows with aperiodic time dependence. *Zeitschrift für Angewandte Mathematik und Physik (ZAMP)*, 50(4):585–616, 1999.

Fourier Transforms of Measure-Valued Images, Self-Similarity and the Inverse Problem

D. La Torre¹, E.R. Vrscay²

¹ University of Milan, Milan, Italy, davide.latorre@unimi.it

² University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, ervrscay@uwaterloo.ca

In [2], a complete metric space (Y, d_Y) of measure-valued images $\mu : [0, 1]^n \to \mathcal{M}(R_g)$ was constructed. Here, $\mathcal{M}(R_g)$ is the set of Borel probability measures supported on the *greyscale range* $R_g \subset \mathbf{R}$ (or \mathbf{R}^m). A primary motivation for this and other related constructions [5] is that there are situations in image processing in which it is useful to consider the greyscale value of an image u at a point x as a random variable that can assume a range of values $R_g \subset \mathbf{R}$, as opposed to a single value (or set of values, in the case of a vector-valued image, e.g., RGB color image, hyperspectral satellite images of the earth).

A measure-valued representation of images may also be useful in the analysis and implementation of various nonlocal image processing schemes, where the greyscale value of an image u(x) is modified according to the values of the image $u(y_k)$ at points y_k that lie elsewhere in the image and not necessarily close to x. Two such nonlocal schemes examined in [2] using measure-valued representations were (i) *nonlocal means denoising* [1] and (ii) *fractal image coding* [3].

In [2], a fractal transform operator was also constructed over the space (Y, d_Y) . For a $\mu \in Y$, the action of a fractal transform $T: Y \to Y$ is to construct *N* spatially contracted and range-modified copies of μ and recombine them to produce a new element $v = T\mu \in Y$. Under suitable conditions *T* is contractive in (Y, d_Y) , implying the existence of a fixed point measure-valued function $\overline{\mu} = T\overline{\mu}$.

The purpose of this paper is to show how Fourier transforms of measure-valued image functions may be defined as complex-valued measures on the greyscale range R_g . We also show that a fractal transform operator T on (Y, d_Y) induces a mapping M on the space $(\mathscr{F}, d_{\mathscr{F}})$ of Fourier transforms. In the case that T is contractive on (Y, d_Y) , it follows that M is contractive on $(\mathscr{F}, d_{\mathscr{F}})$. This sets up the possibility of solving inverse problems in the space $(\mathscr{F}, d_{\mathscr{F}})$: Given a Fourier transform $U(\omega)$, find a contractive operator M with fixed point $\overline{U}(\omega)$ which approximates $U(\omega)$ to a prescribed accuracy. Such a method of solving inverse problems in the Fourier domain has been performed for standard image functions [4].

- A. Buades and B. Coll and J.M. Morel, A review of image denoising algorithms, with a new one, Multiscale Modelling and Simulation 4, 490-530 (2005)
- [2] D. La Torre, E.R. Vrscay, M. Ebrahimi and M.F. Barnsley, Measure-valued images, associated fractal transforms and the affine self-similarity of images, SIAM Journal on Imaging Sciences 2 (2), 470-507 (2009).
- [3] N. Lu, Fractal Imaging, Academic Press, New York (2003).
- [4] G. Mayer and E.R. Vrscay, Iterated Fourier transform systems: A method for frequency extrapolation, in *Image Analysis and Recognition*, *ICIAR 2007*, LNCS 4633, 728-739, Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg (2007).
- [5] O. Michailovich, D. La Torre and E.R. Vrscay, Function-Valued Mappings, Total Variation and Compressed Sensing for diffusion MRI, in *Image Analysis and Recognition, ICIAR 2012*, LNCS 7325, 286-295, Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg (2012).

Denoising of Hyperspectral Images: An Examination of Different Approaches

D. Otero¹, O. Michailovich², E. R. Vrscay³

¹ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, dotero@uwaterloo.ca

² University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, olegm@uwaterloo.ca

³ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, ervrscay@uwaterloo.ca

Briefly, hyperspectral images (HI) are "data cubes" that contain a collection of images taken at different wavelengths. They are usually taken by a hyperspectral camera and may contain from tens to hundreds of frequency bands depending on the spectral resolution of the camera's sensor. The sensor measures the reflectance values of different wavelengths at each pixel location, which is a measure of the ratio of reflected energy to incident energy. Reflectance is important since different materials exhibit different spectral "fingerprints", so that by taking a look at the spectrum (entire set of reflectances) at a pixel, it is possible to determine the composition/nature of material represented by that pixel. This characteristic makes HI useful for a wide range of applications such as agriculture, mineralogy, physics and surveillance.

As with any image, HI are also prone to be contaminated with noise. Therefore, reconstruction techniques are desirable in order to recover good approximations of the original noise-free hyperspectral data. In this study, we compare four different approaches that address the inverse problem when HI are contaminated with white Gaussian noise. The main difference between these methods is how they process the hyperspectral image, i.e., if they treat the hyperspectral data as a whole, as a collection of frequency bands (often referred to as "channels"), as a set of spectra, or as both a collection of frequency bands and spectra.

In the first approach, we consider HI as collections of spectra. This method allows us to perform either filtering (e.g., wavelet) or regularization (e.g., sparsity) in the spectral domain. In particular, given that the spectra have a sparse representation in a certain domain, we can solve the following sparse approximation problem at each pixel independently:

$$\min_{c} \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \| D(c) - y \|^2 + \lambda \| c \|_1 \right\},\tag{1}$$

where y is a noisy spectrum, D is a transformation matrix (e.g., wavelet, DCT, Fourier, etc.), and c is the set of coefficients that are to be recovered.

As for the second approach, we view HI as sets of frequency bands or "channels". In this case, we carry out the regularization in the spatial domain by using the standard channel-by-channel Total Variation (TV) denoising. For each band independently, the following problem is solved:

$$\min_{z} \left\{ \frac{\delta}{2} \|z - y\|^2 + \|z\|_{TV} \right\},\tag{2}$$

where $\|\cdot\|_{TV}$ is the total variation norm and *y* is the noisy band or "channel". Along these lines, for the third approach, a formulation of vectorial TV denoising (e.g., Bresson and Chan's vectorial TV), allows us to denoise the entire hyperspectral image at once. In this case, HI are viewed as a whole.

Finally, for the fourth approach, HI are seen as both collections of spectra and frequency bands. This method involves a combination of the first two approaches, therefore, the denoising is carried out by regularizing in the spatial domain, and by either filtering or regularizing in the spectral domain. This inverse problem can be solved by algorithms such as the Alternating Direction Method of Multipliers (ADMM) and Split Bregman.

Regularization Approach for Abel Transform Based Image Reconstruction by a Single Radiograph

R. H. Chan¹, <u>S. Wei²</u>, H. Liang³, M. Nikolova⁴, C.-X. Tai⁵

¹ The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China, rchan@math.cuhk.edu.hk

² Institute of Applied Physics and Computational Mathematics, Beijing, China, wei_suhua@iapcm.ac.cn

³ Xi'an Jiaotong-Liverpool University, Suzhou, China, haixia.liang@xjtlu.edu.cn

⁴ Centre de Mathematiques et de Leurs Applications, CNRS, ENS de Cachan, France, nikolova@cmla.ens-cachan.fr

⁵ School of Physical and Mathematical Sciences, Nanyang Technology University, Singapore, tai@mi.uib.no

The purpose of hydrodynamics experiments is to characterize the state of matter subjected to powerful shocks under the effect of explosives. For axially symmetric objects, only a single radiograph is taken using fan-beam Xrays with a radiographic axis perpendicular to the symmetric axis of the object. To reconstruct the varying density of object leads to Abel transform inversion. In the discrete setting, we formulate the Abel transform as a matrix $A \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times n}$, and the object radial density as $\rho \in \mathbb{R}^n$. The radiograph process can be characterized by the equation:

$$\mathbf{d} = KA\rho + \mathbf{n}.\tag{1}$$

Here **d** denotes the measured data, *K* and **n** respectively represent the blurring kernel and the noise caused by the recording system. To solve ρ from Eq.(1), the contemporary methods ([1, 2]) make the assumption that the density is piecewise constant or linear and the X-rays are parallel. From a practical point of view, this is quite a restrictive approximation. Based on fan-beam X-rays, we propose the high-order total variation regularization model:

$$\min_{\rho} \left\{ \mathscr{E}(\rho) = \mu_1 \|\nabla\rho\|_1 + \mu_2 \|\Delta\rho\|_1 + \frac{1}{2} \|KA\rho - \mathbf{d}\|_2^2 \right\},$$
(2)

where Δ is the discrete Laplacian operator, μ_1 and μ_2 are regularization parameters. The optimization problem is solved using the augmented Lagrangian method. We compare our model with other potential regularization techniques, like TV, TGV, LLT. The numerical tests show that the proposed model has advantages on staircasing reduction, density level preservation, CPU time cost and SNR improvement (See Fig. 1, 2).



Figure 1: Abel inversion

Figure 2: Tomographic reconstruction

- T. J. Asaki, R. Chartrand, K. R. Vixie, and B. Wohlberg, *Abel inversion using total variation regularization*, Inverse Problem 21, pp.1895-1903 (2005).
- [2] R. Abraham, M. Bergounioux, and E. Trelat, *A penalization approach for tomographic reconstruction of binary axially symmetric objects*, Applied Mathematics and Optimization, **58**, pp. 345–371. (2008)

Inverse Problems for Delay Differential Equations Using the Collage Theorem

M. Yodzis¹

¹ Mathematics and Statistics, University of Guelph, Ontario, myodzis@uoguelph.ca

Recent research has established a solution framework for differential equations inverse problems via the Collage Theorem. This theorem first proved useful in fractal imaging and is a relatively simple consequence of Banach's Fixed Point Theorem. In an appropriate setting, the solution framework allows us to solve for the unknown parameters of an ODE system by minimizing the \mathcal{L}^2 collage distance between a given target solution, which may be the interpolation of observational data, and its image under the associated Picard operator integral mapping, which can be shown to be contractive on a suitable complete metric space.

In our current work, we have developed a similar framework for delay ODE inverse problems, which may involve either discrete (additive) delays, distributed (integral) delays, or both. Such terms introduce a dependence on past time states in the system, which affects the conditions for the boundedness and contractivity of the associated integral mapping.

I will begin this talk by presenting the theory for the mathematical framework. A numerical example with simulated data will follow, with the goal of showing how the theory is implemented and the computational issues that can arise in practice. I will also discuss future applications to a model problem for pollution feedback effects in a human-environmental system.

This is joint research with C. Bauch and H. Kunze, Mathematics and Statistics, University of Guelph.

- H. Kunze and E. Vrscay, Solving Inverse Problems for ordinary differential equations using the Picard contraction mapping, Inv. Prob. 15, pp. 745-770, 1999.
- [2] H. Smith, An Introduction to Delay Differential Equations with Applications to the Life Sciences Springer, New York, 2011.

Canada-China Session on Applied Dynamic Systems (SS-ADS)

Organizers: Yuming Chen (Wilfrid Laurier University) Fengqin Zhang (Yuncheng University) Xingfu Zou (Western University)

The theory of dynamical systems describes qualitative and quantitative features of solutions of nonlinear systems, typically modelling processes which evolve over time. Its application areas are diverse and multidisciplinary, including biology, physics, finance, industrial mathematics, and engineering. This session will provide a platform for researchers from Canada and China to exchange their latest progress in applied dynamical systems. The significant goal is to facilitate interaction and discussion, which will seed new research projects.

Advances in Impulsive Differential Equations

Binxiang Dai¹, Liang Bai²

¹ School of Mathematics and Statistics, Central South University, Changsha, Hunan 410083, China, bxdai@csu.edu.cn
 ² School of Mathematics and Statistics, Central South University, Changsha, Hunan 410083, China

Many dynamical systems have an impulsive dynamical behavior due to abrupt changes at certain instants during the evolution process. The mathematical description of these phenomena leads to impulsive differential equations. Impulsive differential equation is one of the main tools to study the dynamics of processes in which sudden changes occur. The theory of impulsive differential equation has recently received considerable attention. Some classical tools such as fixed-point theorems in cones and the method of upper and lower solutions with monotone iterative technique have been widely used to study impulsive differential equations. In the last few years, a new approach via critical point theory and variational methods is proved to be novel and very effective in studying the existence of solutions for impulsive differential equation possessing a variational structure under certain boundary condition.

This talk gives an overview of some results obtained in recent years in the exis- tence of solutions to impulsive problems via variational methods and critical point theory. In particular, we discuss the solvability of a class of impulsive damped vibration problems via variational methods and critical point theory. Our results are more general. The obtained results are also valid and new even if the impulsive damped vibration problem is reduced to impulsive Hamiltonian system and Hamiltonian system. Finally, some corollaries are presented and examples are given to illustrate the main results.

A positivity preserving semi-implicit numerical method for a highly nonlinear diffusion-taxis-reaction model

H.J. Eberl¹, M.A. Efendiev², D. Wrzosek³

¹ University of Guelph, Canada, heberl@uoguelph.ca

² Helmholtz Center Munich, Germany, messoud.efendyiev@helmholtz-muenchen.de

³ University of Warsaw, Poland, D.Wrzosek@mimuw.edu.pl

The following highly nonlinear quasilinear diffusion-reaction system has been proposed in [1] to describe interacting volume filling, interface propagation and chemotaxis phenomena in biological populations:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t S = d\partial_{xx} S - F(S,M) \\ \partial_t M = \partial_x (D(M)\partial_x M) + \partial_x (\chi(M)\partial_x S) + G(S,M) \end{cases}$$
(1)

with diffusion nonlinearities

$$D(M) = \delta_1 \frac{M^b}{(1-M)^a}, \quad \chi(M) = \delta_2 M^d (1-M)^c,$$
(2)

and reaction nonlinearities

$$F(S,M) = \frac{k_1 SM}{k_2 + S}, \quad G(S,M) = \frac{k_3 SM}{k_2 + S} M^{\alpha} (1 - M)^{\beta}, \tag{3}$$

subject to suitable initial and boundary conditions, and restrictions on the exponents of the nonlinearities that will be made precise in the talk. Here *M* describes the population density and *S* the concentration of a nutrient.

In the talk, we will first give a review of the analytical well-posednessresults concerning this model, which were derived in [1], and then present a semi-implicit numerical method for its simulation. The method is based on a Finite Volume discretization in space and a non-local (in time) presentation of the nonlinearities. This method is a cross-diffusion extension of the one developed in [2] for a related but simpler model. We will show that the numerical method is well-posed and preserves positivity. The convergence of the method, and its ability to describe interface propagation phenomena is demonstrated in a numerical grid refinement study.

- [1] H.J. Eberl, M.A. Efendiev, D. Wrzosek, A. Zhigun, Analysis of a degenrate biofilm model with a nutirent taxis term, DCDS A, in press
- [2] Muhammad N, Eberl HJ, OpenMP Parallelization of a Mickens Time-Integration Scheme for a Mixed-Culture Biofilm Model and its Performance on Multi-core and Multi-processor Computers, LNCS, 5976:180-195, 2010

Epidemic dynamics on semi-directed complex networks

Xiao-Guang Zhang^{1,2}, Gui-Quan Sun¹, Yu-Xiao Zhu³, Junling Ma⁴, <u>Zhen Jin¹</u>

¹ Department of Mathematics, North University of China, Shanxi, Taiyuan, 030051, PR China, jinzhn@263.net

² School of Mechatronic Engineering, North University of China, Shanxi, Taiyuan, 030051, PR China

³ Web Sciences Center, University of Electronic Science and Technology of China, Chengdu, 610051, PR China

⁴ Department of Mathematics and Statistics, University of Victoria, Victoria, BC V8W 3R4, Canada

Modeling infectious diseases on complex networks has recently attracted tremendous interest among the public health modelers. This approach assumes that a population can be represented by complex networks in which the nodes represent individuals and the links represent various interactions among those individuals. Pastor, et. al. [1] and Wang, et. al. [2, 3] studied the symmetric and asymmetric transmissions of the epidemic based on the undirected networks and directed networks, respectively. In the real world both symmetric and asymmetric contacts can occur in the same contact network, so called semi-directed complex network. In this talk an SIS model for epidemic spreading on semi-directed networks is established, which can be used to examine and compare the impact of undirected and directed contacts on disease spread. The model is analyzed for the case of uncorrelated semi-directed networks, and the basic reproduction number R_0 is obtained analytically. We verify that the R_0 contains the outbreak threshold on undirected networks [1] and directed networks [2, 3] as special cases. It is proved that if $R_0 < 1$ then the disease-free equilibrium is globally asymptotically stable, otherwise the disease-free equilibrium is unstable and the unique endemic equilibrium exists, which is globally asymptotically stable. Finally the numerical simulations holds for these analytical results are given.

- [1] R. Pastor-Satorras, A. Vespignani, Epidemic dynamics and endemic states in complex networks, Phys. Rev. E, 63: 066117, 2001.
- [2] Jiazeng Wang, ZengRong Liu, Mean-field level analysis of epidemics in directed networks, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor., 42: 355001(10pp), 2009.
- [3] S. Tanimoto, Epidemic thresholds in directed complex networks. arXiv:1103.1680v1.

Controllability of second order impulsive functional differential systems with infinite delay in Banach spaces

M. Li¹, J. Jia², W. Song³

¹ Donghua University, Shanghai, P. R. China, stylml@dhu.edu.cn

² Zhengzhou University, Zhengzhou, P. R. China, judgegreen@sina.com

³ Donghua University, Shanghai, P. R. China, 364303708@qq.com

In this paper, we study the approximate and exact controllability of second order impulsive functional differential systems with infinite delay of the form

$$\begin{aligned} x''(t) &= Ax(t) + Bu(t) + f(t, x_t, x'_t), \ t \in J, \ t \neq t_k, \\ \Delta x|_{t=t_k} &= I_k^1(x(t_k)), \ k = 1, \cdots, m, \\ \Delta x'|_{t=t_k} &= I_k^2(x'(t_k^+)), \ k = 1, \cdots, m, \\ x_0 &= \phi \in \mathscr{B}, \ x'_0 &= \phi \in \mathscr{B}, \end{aligned}$$
(1)

where J = [0, b], the state $x(\cdot)$ takes values in Banach space *X* with the norm $\|\cdot\|$, $u(\cdot) \in L^2(J,U)$ is the control function, *U* is a Banach space, *A* is the infinitesimal generator of a strongly continuous cosine family $\{C(t) : t \in R\}$ on *X*, $B: U \to X$ is a bounded linear operator. $0 = t_0 < t_1 < \cdots < t_m < t_{m+1} = b$, $\Delta x|_{t=t_k} = x(t_k^+) - x(t_k^-)$, $\Delta x'|_{t=t_k} = x'(t_k^+) - x'(t_k^-)$, and $I_k^j: X \to X$, $j = 1, 2, f: J \times \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B} \to X$ are appropriate continuous functions to be specified later. The histories $x_t, x'_t: (-\infty, 0] \to X, x_t(\theta) = x(t+\theta), x'_t(\theta) = x'(t+\theta), \theta \le 0$, belong to some abstract phase space \mathcal{B} defined axiomatically. Sufficient conditions are established for each of these types of controllability. The results are obtained by using the theory of strong continuous cosine families of bounded linear operators and the contraction mapping principle. Particularly, the compactness of the cosine operator is not needed in this paper. An example is presented to illustrate the obtained conclusions. Our results extend those of Mahmudov et al. [1], Sakthivel et al. [2], Park et al. [3] and Chalishajar et al. [4].

- [1] N. I. Mahmudov and M. A. MaCkibben, Approximate controllability of second-order neutral stochastic evolution equations, Dynamics of Continuous, Discrete and Impulsive Systems 13, pp. 619-634 (2006).
- [2] R. Sakthivel, N. I. Mahmudov and J. H. Kim, On controllability of second order nonlinear impulsive differential systems, Nonlinear Analysis 71, pp. 45-52 (2009).
- [3] J. Y. Park, S. H. Park and Y. H. Kang, Controllability of second-order impulsive neutral functional differential inclusions in Banach spaces, Mathematical Methods in the Applied Sciences **33**, pp. 249-262 (2010).
- [4] D. N. Chalishajar and F. S. Acharya, Controllability of second order semi-linear neutral impulsive differential inclusions on unbounded domain with infinite delay in Banach spaces, Bulletin of Korean Mathematical Society **48**, pp. 813-838 (2011).

Using Lyapunov Functions to Construct Lyapunov Functionals

Connell McCluskey

Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada, ccmcc8@gmail.com

Many epidemic models are based on ordinary differential equations (ODEs) and can be written as

$$x'(t) = f(x(t)).$$
 (1)

Standard analysis includes calculating the basic reproduction number \Re_0 . Models often exhibit threshold behaviour where there is a disease-free equilibrium that is globally asymptotically stable for $\Re_0 < 1$ and an endemic equilibrium that is globally asymptotically stable for $\Re_0 > 1$. Since Korobeinikov's paper in 2004 [1], the case where $\Re_0 > 1$ has been resolved for many ODE models through the use of Lyapunov functions based on the Volterra function

$$g(x) = x - 1 - \ln x. \tag{2}$$

Other models include delay to better describe certain biological processes. These systems can be written as

$$x'(t) = f(x(t), x(t - \tau))$$
 (3)

or, more generally,

$$x'(t) = f(x_t),\tag{4}$$

where $x_t : [-\tau, 0] \to \mathbb{R}^n$ for some $\tau > 0$. In [2], a Lyapunov functional (based on the Volterra function g) was used to resolve the global stability for two disease models with delay for the case where $\mathcal{R}_0 > 1$. Since then a similar approach has been used to prove the classical threshold behaviour for many disease models that involve delay. In reviewing the many examples, it becomes clear that the Lyapunov functional for the delay equation is very strongly related to the Lyapunov function that works for the corresponding ODE.

In this work, we analyze the connection between the Lyapunov functional that works for Equation (4) and the Lyapunov function that works for the corresponding ODE. Using careful mathematical analysis, we obtain a test that allows one to classify, a priori, the terms that can incorporate delay without affecting the global asymptotic behaviour of the system.

- [1] A. Korobeinikov, *Lyapunov functions and global properties for SEIR and SEIS epidemic models*, Math. Med. and Biol. **21**, pp. 75-83 (2004).
- [2] C. C. McCluskey, Complete global stability for an SIR epidemic model with delay distributed or discrete, Nonlinear Anal. RWA 11, pp. 55-59 (2010).

Agent-Based Modelling for Disease Dynamics in-silico Populations

S.M. Moghadas¹

¹ York University, Toronto, Canada, {seyed.moghadas}@gamial.com

Modelling and computational approaches provide powerful tools in the study of disease dynamics at both the micro and macro levels. Recent analytical developments, coupled with advances in information and communications technologies, have opened up novel vistas and presented new challenges in mathematical epidemiology. Key challenges involve ways to deal with the collective dynamics of heterogeneous ensembles of individuals, and to analyze data that are less coarse and more complex. The evolution of dynamic modelling is typified by the agent-based modelling (ABM) paradigm, a lattice-distributed collection of autonomous decision-making entities (i.e., agents), the interactions of which unveil the dynamics and emergent properties of an infectious disease outbreak. The flexibility of ABMs permits an effective representation of the complementary interactions between individuals characterized by localized properties and populations at a global level. In this talk, we discuss the importance of ABMs in understanding epidemic spread, and identifying optimal intervention strategies in different population settings with distinct demographic characteristics.

The Impact of a Single-strain Flu Vaccine on the Dynamics of a Two-strain influenza

S.M.A. Rahman¹, X. Zou¹

¹ University of Western Ontario, London, Canada, Contact: srahma33@uwo.ca

Vaccination is considered one of the most effective control measures for influenza. However, when a virus mutates and multi-strains appear in a population, implementing a vaccine for one strain may affect the spread of the other strains. In this paper, we propose a two-strain model and investigate the effects of a single-strain vaccine on the dynamics of this two-strain model. The global dynamics of the model are completely determined through suitable Lyapunov functions. We show that if the basic reproduction number is less than one, then both strains die out; but when the number is larger than one, one or both of the strains become endemic depending on the parameter values. The theoretical results provide some useful information on the impact of the vaccination rate of this single-vaccine for one strain on the dynamics of the two strains.

- [1] R. Bodewes, J.H. Kreijtz, G.F. Rimmelzwaan, Yearly influenza vaccinations: a double-edged sword? Lancet Infect. Dis. 9, 12, pp. 784-788 (2009).
- [2] R. Bodewes, G.F. Rimmelzwaan, Annual vaccination against influenza virus hampers development of virus-specific CD8+ T cell immunity in children, J. Virol. 85, 22, pp. 11995-12000 (2011).
- [3] CBC News, Flu shot linked to higher incidence of flu in pandemic year, Sept. 10, 2012 www.cbc.ca (2012)

Codimension-1 sliding bifurcations of Filippov pest growth model with threshold policy

S.Y. Tang¹, Y.N. Xiao²

¹ College of Mathematics and Information Science, Shaanxi Normal University, Xi'an, 710062, P.R. China sytang@snnu.edu.cn
 ² Department of Applied Mathematics, Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xi'an, 710049, P.R. China yxiao@mail.xjtu.edu.cn

The Filippov system is proposed to describe the stage structured non-smooth pest growth with threshold policy control (TPC). We consider three TPC methods represented by either the density of the juveniles, the density of the adults, or the total density of both juveniles and adults being chosen as an index for decisions on when to implement chemical control strategies. The proposed Filippov system with total density as the index has at most three pieces of sliding segments, while the density of juveniles or adults guided switching systems can only have at most two pieces of sliding segments. The existence of multiple sliding segments and pseudo-equilibria result in rich sliding mode bifurcations and local sliding bifurcations including boundary node (boundary focus, or boundary saddle) and tangency bifurcations. As the threshold density varies we examine the global sliding bifurcations for the proposed Filippov system, and the interesting bifurcations occur sequentially: touching \rightarrow buckling \rightarrow crossing \rightarrow sliding homoclinic orbit to a pseudo-saddle \rightarrow crossing \rightarrow touching bifurcations. Further, bifurcation of a homoclinic orbit to a pseudo-saddle with a figure of eight shape, to a pseudo-saddle-node or to a standard saddle-node have been observed for some parameter sets.

Mathematical Model of Anaerobic Digestion in a Chemostat: Effects of Syntrophy and Inhibition

Marion Weedermann¹, Gunog Seo², Gail S. K. Wolkowicz³

¹ Dominican University, River forest, Illinois, U.S.A., mweederm@dom.edu

² Gunog Seo, Ryerson University, Toronto, ON Canada, gunogseo@gmail.com

³ McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada, wolkowic@mcmaster.ca

Anaerobic digestion is a complex naturally occurring process during which organic matter is broken down to biogas and various byproducts in an oxygen-free environment. It is used for waste and wastewater treatment and for production of biogas, especially methane. A system of differential equations modelling the interaction of microbial populations in a chemostat is used to describe three of the four main stages of anaerobic digestion: acidogenesis, acetogenesis, and methanogenesis. To examine the effects of the various interactions and inhibitions, we first study an inhibition-free model and obtain results for global stability using differential inequalities together with conservation laws. These results are compared with the predictions for the model with inhibition. In particular, inhibition introduces regions of bistability and stabilizes some equilibria.

Modeling effects of environmental contamination and volunteers on hospital infections in China

X.Wang¹, Y.Xiao¹, J.Wang², X.Lu²

¹ Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xi'an, China, <u>15209244361@163.com (XW)</u>, <u>yxiao@mail.xjtu.edu.cn</u> (YX)

² Beijing Tongren Hospital, Beijing, China, <u>wangjunrui123@yahoo.com.cn</u> (JW), <u>luxinxin2009@126.com</u> (XL)

In this talk I shall present deterministic and stochastic mathematical models with indirect transmission via free living bacteria in the environment to investigate the roles that environmental contamination and the presence of volunteers played in the dynamics of hospital infections in China. Semi-stochastic simulation was used to estimate some of the parameters by fitting the observed data and investigating the impacts of interventions such as cleaning, hand hygiene and isolation of admitted MRSA (Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*) patients on mean prevalence of infection. Numerical simulations show that environmental contamination is a threat to hospital infection and free-living bacteria in the environment can promote transmission and initiate infection even if an infection has died out among HCWs (health-care workers) and patients. Sensitivity analysis indicates that a contaminated environment and volunteers contribute substantially to MRSA transmission in hospital infections. Hand hygiene of volunteers and cleaning are more effective in reducing the mean prevalence of colonized patients than isolation of newly admitted MRSA- positive patients and hand hygiene of HCWs. Hence volunteers, a cadre of semi-professional nurses, are beneficial to both disease control and supplementary treatment of HCWs if they are well trained [1, 2].

- [1] X. Wang, Y. Xiao, J. Wang, X. Lu, A mathematical model of effects of environmental contamination and presence of volunteers on hospital infections in China, J. Theor. Biol. 293, pp.161-173 (2012).
- [2] X. Wang, Y. Xiao, J. Wang, X. Lu, Stochastic disease dynamics of a hospital infection model, Math. Biosci. 241, pp.115 124 (2013).

Global stability of some epidemic models with age structure

Junyuan Yang¹, Yuming Chen²

¹ Department of Applied Mathematics, Yuncheng University, yangjunyuan00@126.com

 2 Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada, ychen@wlu.ca

Abstract

Infection age is an important factor affecting the transmission of infectious diseases. In this talk, we consider some epidemic models with infection age, which is described by a mixed system of ordinary differential equations and partial differential equations. The expression of the basic reproduction number \Re_0 is obtained. If $\Re_0 \leq 1$ then the model only has the disease-free equilibrium, while if $\Re_0 > 1$ then besides the disease-free equilibrium the model also has an endemic equilibrium. Moreover, if $\Re_0 < 1$ then the disease-free equilibrium is globally asymptotically stable otherwise it is unstable; if $\Re_0 > 1$ then the endemic equilibrium is globally asymptotically stable. The local stability is established through linearization. The global stability of the disease-free equilibrium is shown by applying the fluctuation lemma and that of the endemic equilibrium is proved by employing Lyapunov functionals. The theoretical results are illustrated with numerical simulations.

Dirichlet problem of delayed reaction-diffusion equations involving semi-infinite intervals

Taishan Yi¹

¹ Central South University, Changsha, Hunan 410083, PR China {yitaishan76}@yahoo.com

We derive a nonlocal delayed reaction-diffusion equation in a semi-infinite interval which describes the single species population with two age classes and a fixed maturation period living in a spatially semi-infinite environment. To overcome the difficulty in describing the global dynamics due to the non-compactness and asymmetry of the spatial domain, we establish *a priori* estimate for nontrivial solutions after describing the delicate asymptotic properties of the nonlocal delayed effect and the diffusion operator. The estimate enables us to show the permanence of nontrivial solution and the existence of heterogeneous steady state in the case of Dirichlet boundary conditions. Thus, we can employ standard dynamical system theoretical arguments to establish the global attractivity of the heterogeneous steady state.

Advanced Numerical Methods for PDEs and Applications (SS-ANMPDE)

Organizers: Christina C. Christara (University of Toronto) Peter A. Forsyth (University of Waterloo) Dong Liang (York University)

This special session aims to provide a platform to present recent developments in numerical methods for PDEs, enable in-depth discussions on a variety of computational efforts for solving problems arising in areas of science, engineering, finance, etc, and foster the interdisciplinary culture required to meet recent challenges in scientific computation. Example applications include optimal trade execution, electromagnetics, environmental modelling, and wind-energy computation.

ML- α -Deconvolution model in a bounded domain with a vertical regularization

H. Ali¹

¹ Paris-Descartes University, MAP5, CNRS UMR 8145, Paris, France, hani.ali@parisdescartes.fr

In this talk, we consider the deconvolution modified Leray alpha (ML- α -deconvolution) model with fractional filter acting only in one variable

$$\mathbb{A}_{3,\theta} := I + \alpha_3^{2\theta} (-\partial_3)^{2\theta}, \quad 0 \le \theta \le 1.$$

$$\tag{1}$$

This filter is less memory consuming than the classical one [2]. Moreover, there is no need to introduce artificial boundary conditions for Helmholtz operator. It was shown in [1] that the Large Eddy Simulation models which are derived by using $\mathbb{A}_{3,\theta}$ for any $\theta > \frac{1}{2}$, are well-posed. Motivated by this work [1], we study the global existence and uniqueness of solutions to the vertical ML- α -deconvolution model on a bounded product domain of the type $D = \Omega \times (-\pi, \pi)$, where Ω is a smooth domain, with homogeneous Dirichlet boundary conditions on the lateral boundary $\partial \Omega \times (-\pi, \pi)$, and with periodic boundary conditions in the vertical variable. To present the model, we define the vertical *N*th Van Cittert deconvolution operator by

$$D_{N,\theta} = \sum_{i=0}^{N} (I - \mathbb{A}_{3,\theta}^{-1})^{i}.$$
 (2)

The vertical ML- α -deconvolution model is then defined, for some fixed $\theta > 0$, with a filtering radius $\alpha_3 > 0$, a kinematic viscosity $\nu > 0$, a deconvolution order $N \ge 0$, and an initial velocity ν_0 as follows,

$$\partial_t v + (v \cdot \nabla) D_{N,\theta}(\overline{v}) - v \Delta v + \nabla p = f,$$

$$\nabla \cdot v = 0,$$

$$v(0) = v_0 = 0.$$
(3)

where v and p are the velocity and the pressure, $\overline{v} = \mathbb{A}_{3,\theta}^{-1}(v)$ is the smoothed velocity, and f is a forcing term. In order to state our main result, let us define the following spaces:

$$L^{2}(D) := \left\{ v \in L^{2}(D)^{3}, 2\pi \text{-periodic in } x_{3} \right\},$$
(4)

$$H := \left\{ v \in L^2(D), \text{ such that } \nabla \cdot v = 0 \text{ and } v \cdot n = 0 \text{ on } \partial \Omega \times (-\pi, \pi) \right\},$$
(5)

$$V := \left\{ v \in H, \text{ such that } \nabla v \in L^2(D) \text{ and } v = 0 \text{ on } \partial \Omega \times (-\pi, \pi) \right\}.$$
(6)

Our main result is the following.

Theorem 1. Assume $f \in L^2(0,T;H)$ and $v_0 \in H$. let $0 \le N < \infty$ be a given and fixed number and let $\theta > \frac{1}{2}$. Then problem (3) has a unique regular weak solution.

This result holds also true on the whole space \mathbb{R}^3 and on the torus \mathbb{T}_3 . Other α models, with partial filter, will be reported in a forthcoming paper.

- H. Ali, Approximate Deconvolution Model in a bounded domain with a vertical regularization, Submitted, http://arxiv.org/pdf/1301.4282v1.pdf (2012).
- [2] M. Germano, Differential filters for the large eddy simulation of turbulent flows, Phys. Fluids, 29 pp. 1755-1757, (1986).
A Truncated FCI Approach Motivated from the Mathematics of Complexity for Solving the Electronic and Nuclear Schrödinger Equation

J. S. M. Anderson¹, N. Shimizu², F. H. Zadeh³, T. Otsuka⁴, P. W. Ayers⁵

Few electronic structure and nuclear structure (nuclear physics) methods are able to obtain a given desired accuracy for solving the Schrödinger equation. The most obvious method for reliably achieving a given desired accuracy is the full-configuration interaction (Full-CI) method. However, Full-CI is very computationally expensive (exponential scaling) and as such is rarely useful other than for benchmarking calculations. Full-CI is a method that would work for any arbitrary Hamiltonian. Thus, Full-CI does not take advantage of the inherent smoothness associated with the solutions to the Hamiltonians appropriate for electronic structure calculations or for nuclear structure calculations. Results from Griebel and others[1-4] in the mathematics of complexity literature show that if the analytic solutions to a given Schrödinger equation have mixed bound derivatives then it is possible to obtain Full-CI accuracy with polynomial scaling (at least in the large basis set limit). The approach involves selecting a subset of the solutions used in the Full-CI method (typically a subset of all possible Hartree-Fock solutions). The theorems indicate which solutions to include based on the number of nodes in each solution. We refer to this approach as the GK-CI method.[5] This truncation of the Full-CI method does not require any physical intuition of orbitals (e.g. the Hartree-Fock solutions) and is not constructed from the typical excitation-hierarchy approach. In this presentation I will explain the method as well as provide preliminary results from both electronic structure and nuclear structure calculations.

References

[1] M. Griebel and S. Knapek, Optimized tenser-product approxi mation spaces, Constr. Approx. 16, pp. 525-540 (2000).

[2] H. Bungartz and M. Griebel, Acta Numer. 13, pp. 147-269 (2001).

[3] G. W. Wasilkowski and H. Wozniakowski, *Polynomial-time algorithms for multivariate linear problems with finite-order weights: Worst case setting*, Found. Comput. Math., **5**, pp. 451-491 (2005).

¹ Peking University, Beijing, China, anderson@pku.edu.cn

² The University of Tokyo, Tokyo, Japan, shimizu@nt.phys.s.u-tokyo.ac.jp

³ McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada, heidarf@mcmaster.ca

⁴ The University of Tokyo, Tokyo, Japan, otsuka@phys.s.u-tokyo.ac.jp

⁵ McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada, ayers@mcmaster.ca

 ^[4] S. A. Smolyak, Quadrature and Interpolation formulas for tensor products of certain classes of functions, Dokl. Akad. Nauk, 4, pp. 240-243 (1963).

^[5] J. S. M. and P. W. Ayers, Breaking the Curse of Dimension for the Electronic Schrödinger Equation with Functional Analysis, J. Chem. Phys., Submitted (2011).

An numerical impulse control PDE approach for continuous time optimal portfolio allocation under jump-diffusions

Duy-Minh Dang¹, Peter Forsyth¹

¹ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, [dm2dang, paforsyt]@uwaterloo.ca

We present efficient PDE methods for continuous time mean-variance portfolio allocation problems when the underlying risky asset follows a jump-diffusion. The standard formulation of mean-variance optimal portfolio allocation problems, where the total wealth is the underlying stochastic process, gives rise to a one-dimensional nonlinear HJB PIDE with the control present in the integrand of the jump term, and thus, very challenging to solve efficiently. We formulate the asset allocation problem as a two-dimensional impulse control problem, one dimension for each asset in the portfolio, namely the bond and the stock. We then develop a numerical scheme based on a semi-Lagrangian type method, which we show to be monotone, consistent, and stable. Hence, the numerical solution is guaranteed to converge to the unique viscosity solutions of the corresponding HJB PIDE. We also discuss realistic financial modeling, such as different borrowing and lending interest rates and transaction costs, as well as realistic constraints on the portfolio, such as maximum limits on borrowing and solvency of the portfolio.

On the game p-Laplacian on graphs for processing and clustering of high dimensionnal data

<u>A. Elmoataz</u>¹, Z. Lakhdari², S. Schüpp¹

¹ University of Caen Basse Normandy, France, {abderrahim.elmoataz-billah, sophie.schupp}@unicaen.fr

² Academy of Caen, France, {zakaria.lakhdari}@unicaen.fr

The purpose of this paper is to introduce and to study a new class of non-local normalized p-Laplacian on graphs. These operators interpolate between non local Laplacian and infinity Laplacian on graphs and are obtained as graph discretization of the well known normalized p-Laplacian or game p-Laplacian [1][2]. Then, we study the Dirichlet problem associated to these operators and prove existence and uniqueness of solutions. Finally, we propose to use these operators as a framework for solving many inverse problems in image processing and machine learning.

We consider an undirected weighted graph G = (V, E, w) with a finite set V of vertices and a finite set $E \subset VxV$ of edges. It is associated with a symmetric weight function $w: VxV \rightarrow [0,1]$. The weight function represents a similarity measure between two vertices of the graph. According to w, the set of edges can be defined as $E = \{(u, v): w(u, v) > 0\}$. Let $A \subset V$ be a set of connected vertices with. We denote by $\partial A = \{u \in A: \exists v \in A^c w(u, v) > 0\}$ the boundary sets of A. A^c is the complement of A.

We introduce the non-local p-normalized p-Laplacian on graphs as the following:

$$\Delta_{w,\alpha,\beta} f(u) = \alpha \Delta_{w,\infty} f(u) + \beta \Delta_{w,2} f(u) \qquad (1)$$

With $\alpha, \beta >= 0, \alpha + \beta = 1$

 $\Delta_{w \infty} f$ is the non-local infinity Laplacian on graph defined as:

$$\Delta_{w,\infty} f(u) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\max_{v \in V} \left(\sqrt{w(u,v)} \max\left(f(v) - f(u), 0 \right) \right) + \min_{v \in V} \left(\sqrt{w(u,v)} \min\left(f(v) - f(u), 0 \right) \right) \right) - f(u)$$

 $\Delta_{w2}f$ is the non-local Laplacian on graph defined as

$$\Delta_{w,2}f(u) = \frac{1}{\sum_{v \in V} w(u,v)} \left(\sum_{v \in V} w(u,v)(f(v) - f(u)) - f(u) \right) - f(u)$$

For details about the non-local infinity Laplacian and Laplacian operators see [3][4].

We are interesting to study the following Dirichlet problem: For a given a function $g: \partial A \to R$, our objective is to find a function $f: V \setminus \partial A \to R$, such that f = g on ∂A and f satisfies Partial difference Equation:

$$\Delta_{w,\alpha,\beta}f(u) = 0 \quad on \quad A \tag{2}$$

^[1] K. Does B., An evolution Equation involving the normalized p-Laplacian, Communication on Pure and Applied Analysis, **10**,1, pp 361-396 (2011)

^[2] Y. Press and S. Sheffied, Tug-of-war with noise: a game-theretic view of the p-Laplacian, Duke Math. J., 145, pp 91-120, (2008).

^[3] A. Elmoataz, X. Desquesnes, and O. Lezoray, Non-Local Morphological PDEs and p-Laplacian Equation on Graphs with applications in image processing and machine learning, IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Signal Processing, 6,7, pp 764-779 (2012).

^[4] A. Elmoataz, X. Desquesnes, Z. Lakhdari, O.Lézoray, Infinity Laplacian Equation on Graphs with applications in Image processing and Ma chine Learning, preprint (2011).

Optimal Trade Execution: Mean Variance or Mean Quadratic Variation?

P.A. Forsyth¹

¹ University of Waterloo, Canada, paforsyt@uwaterloo.ca

Algorithmic trade execution has become a standard technique for institutional market players in recent years, particularly in the equity market where electronic trading is most prevalent. A trade execution algorithm typically seeks to execute a trade decision optimally upon receiving inputs from a human trader.

A common form of optimality criterion seeks to strike a balance between minimizing pricing impact and minimizing timing risk. For example, in the case of selling a large number of shares, a fast liquidation will cause the share price to drop, whereas a slow liquidation will expose the seller to timing risk due to the stochastic nature of the share price.

We compare optimal liquidation policies in continuous time in the presence of trading impact using numerical solutions of Hamilton Jacobi Bellman (HJB) partial differential equations (PDE). In particular, we compare the time-consistent mean-quadratic-variation strategy (Almgren and Chriss) with the time-inconsistent (precommitment) mean-variance strategy. The Almgren and Chriss strategy should be viewed as the industry standard.

We show that the two different risk measures lead to very different strategies and liquidation profiles.

In terms of the mean variance efficient frontier, the original Almgren/Chriss strategy is significantly suboptimal compared to the (pre-commitment) mean-variance strategy.

Minisymposium (ID: SS-ANMPDE) Advanced Numerical Methods for PDEs and Applications Organizers:Christina C. Christara (University of Toronto), Peter A. Forsyth (University of Waterloo), Dong Liang (York University)

Efficient Splitting Characteristic Method for Aerosol Transports in Environment

K. Fu¹, D. Liang², W. Wang³

¹ York University, Toronto, Canada, kfu@mathstat.yorku.ca

² York University, Toronto, Canada, dliang@mathstat.yorku.ca

³ Shandong University, Jinan, China, wangwq@sdu.edu.cn

Global climate change and warming in atmosphere have been widely recognized. As one of most important constituents, aerosols have a direct radiative forcing by scattering and absorbing solar and infrared radiation in atmosphere, while they have an indirect radiative forcing associated with the changes in cloud properties by decreasing the precipitation efficiency of warm clouds. In these processes, the physical states including the gas and aerosol phases (i.e. gas, liquid and solid) and the composition of aerosols including the aerosol-associated water mass and the multi-components of aerosols are of great significance. Numerical simulation has been playing a key role in the study of aerosol processes and aerosol concentration distributions in the atmospheric environment prediction and the air quality control.

Aerosol transport model in atmosphere is a complex multi-component system that involves several physical and chemical processes, such as emission, advection, dispersion, deposition and aerosol processes including condensation/evaporation, coagulation and aerosol chemistry, and the area it studies usually covers a large region. In some aerosol transport computational systems, small time steps have to be used in order to ensure the numerical stability of the numerical schemes, which brings a huge cost of computation. It is an important and challenging task to develop efficient numerical algorithm for multi-component aerosol transport predictions.

In this study, we develop the efficient splitting characteristic method for the aerosol transports in environment. We propose the characteristic method to solve the transport process in the spatial dynamical system by combining with the splitting technique. The developed method can efficiently compute the prediction of multi-component aerosol transport dynamics in high-dimensional domains with a large range of aerosol concentrations and for different types of aerosols including aerosols containing sea salt component. Numerical tests show the computational efficiency of the characteristic method comparing with other algorithms such as Runge-Kutta method (RKM). An actual simulation focusing on the sulfate pollution is taken in the domain with a varying wind field near Pittsburgh. Moreover, simulations of multi-component aerosols over a large domain in the southeast of America are studied. The developed algorithm can be applied for the large scale predictions of multi-component aerosol in multi regions and levels in environment.

Application of Generalized Multiscale Finite Element Method in Multiphase Flow Models

L. Bush¹, V. Ginting¹, M. Presho²

¹ Department of Mathematics, University of Wyoming, Laramie, WY, USA, {lbush4,vginting}@uwyo.edu

² Department of Mathematics, Texas A&M University, College Station, TX, USA, mpresho@math.tamu.edu

Many physical processes in science and engineering are described by partial differential equations whose coefficients vary over many length scales. Typical examples may include subsurface flows where the permeability of the porous medium is represented by a high-contrast, heterogeneous coefficient. In recent decades, multiscale methods have been introduced as an effective tool for treating these types of problems. An important component of these types of methods is the independent construction of a set of multiscale basis functions that span a coarse grid solution space. In particular, once a pre-computed set of basis functions is available, a specified global coupling mechanism may be used in order to obtain the associated coarse scale solution. As the fine scale information is imbedded into the basis functions, a coarse grid solution inherits the fine scale effects of the underlying system.

While standard multiscale methods have proven effective for a variety of applications, in this presentation we consider a more recent framework in which the coarse spaces may be systematically enriched to converge to the fine grid solution. The enrichment procedure hinges on the construction of localized spectral problems, where dominant eigenfunctions are used in the construction of the enriched space [2, 3]. This type of spectral enrichment allows for the number basis functions (and the size of the coarse space) to be flexibly chosen such that a desired level of numerical accuracy may be achieved. In this paper we follow the framework of the Generalized Multiscale Finite Element Method (GMsFEM) in which the enriched functions are incorporated into a continuous Galerkin (CG) global formulation in order to obtain approximate pressure solutions.

An advantage of employing a continuous Galerkin multiscale formulation is the relative ease of implementation. However, a well known limitation of CG is that the resulting solution does not satisfy local conservation. In particular, in the cases when it is necessary to couple the resulting fluxes to a transport equation, local conservation is required. We consider the alternative of post-processing a global CG solution in order to obtain the desired conservation. In this presenation, we generalize the procedure offered in [1] in which the authors perform a global solve and subsequent element-based computations to achieve conservation. To test the performance of the proposed method we solve a standard two-phase flow model using a variety of high-contrast permeability coefficients. In all cases, an increase in the dimension of the coarse solution space yields solutions that are shown to more accurately capture the behavior of the fine scale. In particular, the error decline of the elliptic solution (which has been rigorously analyzed in [2]), is directly inherited by the resulting flux values and two-phase saturation solutions.

- [1] L. BUSH AND V. GINTING, On the application of the continuous galerkin finite element method for conservation problems (submitted), (2013).
- [2] Y. EFENDIEV, J. GALVIS, AND X. WU, Multiscale finite element methods for high-contrast problems using local spectral basis functions, J. Comput. Phys., 230 (2011), pp. 937–955.
- [3] —, Domain decomposition preconditioners for multiscale flows in high contrast media. reduced dimension coarse spaces, SIAM Multiscale Model. Sim., 8 (2010), pp. 1621–1644.

Domain Decomposition Techniques for Electromagnetic Scattering from Thin Wires

M.C. Haslam¹, O.P. Bruno²

¹ York University, Toronto, Canada, mchaslam@mathstat.yorku.ca

² California Institute of Technology, Pasadena, USA

We discuss extensions of our recent work [1] concerning approximate solutions of the electric field integral equation applicable to scattering from thin perfectly conducting wires. Integrators applied to the solution of this problem must accommodate two spatial scales: the kernel of the surface integral equation varies on the scale of the wire radius in a neighborhood of its logarithmic singularity where the source and observation points coincide; outside of this region, the kernel varies on the scale of the excitation wavelength. Our algorithm decomposes the computational domain into a series of segments in which we pose separate expansions for the unknown surface current. This approach gives us the flexibility to locally refine the mesh where necessary while not over resolving the solution in other regions of the domain. One significant difficulty arises when observation points lie very near but outside an integration sub-domain; this poses a challenging problem of a well-known nature: the near-singular integration problem. In this talk we address the resolution of this issue and demonstrate our high order algorithms for difficult computational cases.

References

 O.P. Bruno and M.C. Haslam, *Regularity theory and super-algebraic solvers for wire antenna problems*, SIAM Journal of Scientific Computing 29(4):1375-1402 (2007).

(Towards) a multicore adaptive space time method for PDEs

Ronald D. Haynes¹

¹ Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's, NL, Canada, rhaynes@mun.ca

There is a continuing need to pursue the development, implementation and theoretical analysis of algorithms for the numerical solution of time dependent PDEs particularly suited to today's increasingly complex problems of interest. Moreover, there is an opportunity to study algorithms designed to take advantage of evolving computing hardware - available commodity clusters, hybrid CPU-GPU systems and even desktop machines with 4-24 cores. Such algorithms consist of three modules: (1) a procedure to step forward in time, (2) the computation of a new spatial mesh as required, and (3) the solution of the (physical) PDE on the newly constructed mesh. Moving mesh methods, developed over the last 30 years, have proven to be a robust and efficient choice to track solutions of PDEs which evolve over disparate space and time scales. Domain decomposition (DD) parallelizes a computation by partitioning the spatial domain into subdomains. The solution on each subdomain is computed by individual processors or cores. With appropriate conditions to transmit solution information between cores, the subdomain solutions can be rapidly combined to give a solution to the original problem. The application of DD methods for the physical PDE, step (3) above, is well established. Here we will consider the application of DD to the PDE based mesh generation problem used in the moving mesh method. If time permits we will show how to couple the Revisionist Integral Deferred Correction approach (for small scale parallelism in time) with domain decomposition to give a fully parallel space-time method.

Multicomponent polymer flooding in two dimensional oil reservoir simulation

Sudarshan Kumar Kenettinakara¹, Praveen C², G.D Veerappa Gowda³

¹TIFR Centre for Applicable Mathematics, Bangalore, India, sudarshan@math.tifrbng.res.in

² TIFR Centre for Applicable Mathematics, Bangalore, India, praveen@math.tifrbng.res.in

³ TIFR Centre for Applicable Mathematics, Bangalore, India, gowda@math.tifrbng.res.in

We propose a finite volume method to study the Buckley-Leverett equation with multicomponent polymer flooding in the presence of gravity, The system of equations is given by

$$s_{l} + \nabla \cdot F(s, c_{1}, c_{2}, \dots, c_{m}, x)) = 0$$

$$(sc_{l} + a_{l}(c_{l}))_{t} + \nabla \cdot (c_{l}F(s, c_{1}, c_{2}, \dots, c_{m}, x)) = 0, \quad l = 1, 2, \dots, m,$$

where s, c_l are saturation of water and concentration of the polymers respectively and the flux function F is given by $F(s, c_1, c_2, ..., c_m, x) = [v(x) - (\rho_w - \rho_o)g\lambda_o K(x)\hat{y}]f(s, c_1, c_2, ..., c_m)$, where ρ_w, ρ_o are the densities of water and oil, g is the acceleration due to gravity and $\hat{y} = [0, 1]$ is the unit vector pointing in the positive y-direction (opposite to gravity), K(x) is the absolute permeability of the rock, $f = \frac{\lambda_w}{\lambda_w + \lambda_o}$, $\lambda_w(s, c_1, c_2, ..., c_m)$ and $\lambda_o(s, c_1, c_2, ..., c_m)$ are mobilities of water and oil respectively. The velocity v which is assumed to be incompressible, is given by $v = -(\lambda_w + \lambda_o)K\nabla p - (\lambda_w \rho_w + \lambda_o \rho_o)gK\hat{y}$.

This problem was studied in [3, 4] numerically in the absence of gravity. In the presence of gravity, the exact Riemann solver for this problem is too complicated due to the fact that we have to deal with a system of m + 1 variables and the permeability K could be discontinuous in the space variable. The presence of gravity also complicates the solution since the flux is no longer monotone and can also change sign. Here by using the idea of discontinuous flux in the space variable [1, 2], a numerical scheme is proposed and implemented. In the equation for s the dependence of the c_l variables is taken to lead to a discontinuous flux in the space variable. Then a Godunov flux called the DFLU flux can be written down for the discontinuous flux using previous ideas from [1, 2]. The discontinuity in permeability K and the effect of gravity is taken account of in a natural way and does not lead to any complications, with the DFLU flux retaining its very simple form in all cases, and hence being computationally very efficient. High order accurate scheme is constructed by introducing slope limiter in space variable and a strong stability preserving Runge-Kutta scheme in the time variable. The resulting schemes are shown to respect a maximum principle. Our numerical results are compared with other standard schemes on some canonical examples like the quarter 5-spot problem. The results from the exact Godunov flux for the system case is shown to be close to the results using the DFLU flux on some 1-D problems. The difficulties of handling the problem in a highly heterogeneous media in the presence of gravity attracts the importance of the proposed work.

- [1] Adimurthi, J. Jaffré and G. D. Veerappa Gowda, *Godunov-type methods for conservation laws with a flux function discontinuous in space*, SIAM Journal in Numerical Analysis, **42** (2004), pp. 179-208.
- [2] Adimurthi, J. Jaffré and G. D. Veerappa Gowda, The DFLU flux for systems of conservation laws, J. Comput. Appl. Math. 247 (2013), pp. 102-123.
- [3] Prabir Daripa, James Glimm, Brent Lindquist and Oliver McBryan, *Polymer floods: a case study of nonlinear wave analysis and of instability control in tertiary olil recovery*, Siam J.Appl. Math, **48**.(1988), pp.353-373.
- [4] Thormod Johanson and Ragnar Winther, *The solution of Riemann problem for a hyperbolic system of conservation laws modeling polymer flooding*, Siam J.Math. Anal **19.** (1988), pp. 541-566.

New Progress on Energy-Conserved S-FDTD Methods for Maxwell's Equations

Dong Liang

York University, Canada, dliang@yorku.ca

Maxwell's equations, which are a set of partial differential equations describing the relation of electric and magnetic fields, have been widely used in computational electromagnetics. They have been playing an important role in many applications such as the radio-frequency, microwave, antennas, aircraft radar, integrated optical circuits, wireless engineering, and the design of CPU in microelectronic, etc. During the propagation of electromagnetic wave in lossless media without sources, the electromagnetic energy keeps constant for all time, which explains the physical feature of conservation of electromagnetic energy in long term behavior. It is significantly important to preserve this invariance in time, for developing efficient numerical schemes for Maxwell's equations and specially for a long term computation of electromagnetic fields. In this talk, we will present our new progress on energy-conserved S-FDTD methods, including high-order energy-conserved schemes for Maxwell's equations and new energy-conserved schemes in metamaterials. We will talk theoretical results on energy conservation, stability and convergence and will give numerical examples to show their performance. Applications in metamaterials will also be introduced in the talk.

B-Spline Collocation Software for PDEs with Efficient Interpolation-Based Spatial Error Estimation

Paul Muir¹

¹ Saint Mary's University, Canada, muir@smu.ca

Over the past decade we have developed twomethod-of-lines B-Spline collocation software packages, BACOL and BACOLR, for the numerical solution of 1D parabolic PDEs. These packages have been shown to be efficient, reliable and robust, especially for problems with solutions exhibiting sharp layers, and for stringent tolerances. The packages feature adaptive control of estimates of the spatial and temporal errors. In BACOL the temporal integration and error control is handled by the BDF solver DASSL, while BACOLR employs the Runge-Kutta solver RADUA5.

While the BACOL/BACOLR spatial error estimates are generally quite reliable, the spatial error estimation algorithm involves the (expensive) computation of two collocation solutions of orders p and p+1. (The higher order solution is used to provide a spatial error estimate for the lower order solution.) This talk will discuss recent work investigating more efficient spatial error estimation algorithms based on (i) an order p+1 (superconvergent) interpolant that allows us to avoid the computation of the higher order collocation solution, and (ii) an order p interpolant (whose error agrees asymptotically with the error of the lower order collocation solution) that allows us to avoid the computation solution. We have implemented new, more efficient versions of BACOL and BACOLR based on these new error estimation schemes that we call BACOLI and BACOLRI. We provide numerical results comparing the original versions of BACOL and BACOLR with the new versions and show that the latter can be about twice as fast as the former.

Complex Dynamics of Population Behaviour (SS-CDPB)

Organizers: Stephen Tully (University of Guelph) Scott Greenhalgh (Yale University) Chad Wells (Yale University) Chris Pagnutti (University of Guelph)

Epidemiological & ecological modelling provides insight into the cost and effectiveness of control strategies; however, neglecting aspects such as behaviour can provide misleading information. The modelling of the complex interaction between behaviour and disease/ecological dynamics requires advanced mathematical techniques. The aim of this mini-symposium is to bring together modelling and computational approaches, including agent-based modeling, cellular automata, game theory, and hybrid dynamical systems, that demonstrate the impact of a population's behaviour on epidemiological, policy, ecology or economic outcomes.

The evolution of competitive helping within biological markets

P. Barclay¹

¹ University of Guelph, Canada, barclayp@uoguelph.ca

Cooperation between unrelated individuals remains a puzzle in evolutionary biology. Recent mathematical and experimental work indicates that partner choice can select for high levels of helping (e.g. Barclay, 2011, 2013; Barclay & Willer, 2007). More generally, helping can be seen as but one strategy used to compete for partners within a broader biological market, yet giving within such markets has received little mathematical investigation. I will present game theoretical models whereby individuals help others to attract attention from them and thus receive a larger share of any help actively or passively provided by those others. The evolutionarily stable level of helping increases with the size of the biological market and the degree of partner choice. Furthermore, if individuals passively produce some no-cost help to partners, competitive helping can then invade populations of non-helpers because helpers directly benefit from increasing their access to potential partners. This framework of competitive helping demonstrates how high helping can be achieved, and why different individuals and different populations differ in their helpfulness.

- [1] P. Barclay and R. Willer, *Partner choice creates competitive altruism in humans*, Proc. R. Soc. B. **274**, pp. 749-753 (2007).
- [2] P. Barclay, *Competitive helping increases with the size of biological markets and invades defection*, J. Theor. Biol. 281, pp. 47-55 (2011).
- [3] P. Barclay, *Strategies for cooperation in biological markets, especially in humans*, Evol. Hum. Behav. **34**, 3, pp. 164-175 (2013).

Equation-based and Agent-based models of adoption behaviour in multi-dimensional characteristic spaces.

Monica G. Cojocaru¹

¹ University of Guelph, Guelph, Canada

Modelling human decision processes and their impact on everyday life is today at the forefront of applied and social sciences. The process of decision making at the individual level has been studied extensively in operations research and management sciences, optimization, game theory, etc. The main traditional approach is concerned primarily with the study of appropriately defined static (equilibrium) states and their properties, assuming that individuals make rational decisions. For constantly evolving systems however, this is an important, yet not all sufficient, approach to describe aggregate behavior. This is a particularly important question if one studies adoption problems (such as new products, or new services or policy) in relation with a population's structure. In such a setting, the factors influencing individual and/or population attitudes are evolving, so the static theory cannot apply.

This talk is centred around two side-by-side dynamic modelling approaches to population behavior with respect to adopting green behaviour/policies (such as car share services or electronic waste recycling). In brief, we present time-dependent, multi-dimensional characteristic extensions of a standard static economic model of consumer choice for differentiated products reinterpreted for behaviour adoption. We use both an agent-based and a partial differential equations approach in order to incorporate social networks effects. In this setting, an individual's choice depends not only on its own attributes, but also on the choices of others in its social network, as well as their peers' influence in their personal decision making. Of central interest is how individuals react to the introduction of a new green service/policy what can be said about the specific adoption process of this such a new measure.

The effects of vaccination preferences and perceived risk on the spread of influenza

S. Greenhalgh¹, C. Bauch², M.-G. Cojocaru³, E. Thommes⁴

 1 Yale University, New Haven, USA, scott.greenhalgh@yale.edu

² University of Guelph, Guelph, Canada, cbauch@uoguelph.ca

³ University of Guelph, Guelph, Canada, mcojocar@uoguelph.ca

⁴ GlaxoSmithKline, Mississauga, Canada, edward.w.thommes@gsk.com

The simple ODE approach for modeling epidemics in a population often assumes a homogeneous populace that exhibits identical behavioural characteristics. However, the complexity of human vaccination behaviour can have a profound impact on the evolution of an epidemic as people (sometimes dramatically) change their stance towards vaccinate in accordance with a perceived morbidity of infection/vaccination[1]. Coupling vaccination behaviour and infectious disease dynamics is generally beyond the scope of compartmental ODE models. Fortunately, there exists a more general framework that allows for such an amalgamation of processes: hybrid systems.

We cast a compartmental epidemic model pertaining to the spread of seasonal influenza into the realm of hybrid systems. Through the use of hybrid systems and the concept of evolving group vaccination preferences, we attribute a physical process that describes the co-evolution of vaccination behaviour coupled with disease dynamics. The behaviour of vaccination candidates at a given event-time [3], is determined by shared perceptions of vaccination risk and a shared subgroup sensitivity to the current level of infection throughout the entire population. We examine the effects that different sensitivities have on the overall vaccine uptake with majority and minority group proportions and, in addition, demonstrate the potential impact vaccination behaviour may have on the stability of the hybrid system through Lyapunov stability theory [2].

- [1] Cojocaru, M.G., Bauch, C.T., Vaccination strategies of populations groups with distinct perceived probabilities of infection, JIPAM, 10 Issue 1 (2009), Article 3.
- [2] Bichara, D., Adda, P., Global stability for SIR and SIRS models with differential mortality hal-00675359, 1, (2012)
- [3] van der Schaft, A.J., Schumacher, J.M., An Introduction to Hybrid Dynamical Systems, 2000, Springer-Verlag.

Ecological and Epidemiological Drivers of Viral Evolution

E. Klein¹

¹ Center for Advanced Modeling, Department of Emergency Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, eklein@jhu.edu

While it has long-been recognized that disease transmission is impacted by human behavior, the consequences of human behavior on the ecology of directly transmitted pathogens has been understudied. Using a biophysical model of virus stability, we examine how much of virus evolution is driven by epidemiological factors, such as contact rates and protective behavior, and how much is driven by biological characteristics of the virus, such as its growth rate. We use agent-based models, which scale from local to planetary to elucidate the driving factors for both endemic and epidemic directly transmitted viruses.

Outcome inelasticity and outcome variability in behavior-incidence models: an example from an SEIR infection on a dynamic network

B. Morsky, C.T. Bauch

University of Guelph, Canada, bmorsky@uoguelph.ca

Behavior-incidence models have been used to model phenomena such as free-riding vaccinating behavior, where nonvaccinators free-ride on herd immunity generated by vaccinators. Here, we develop and analyze a simulation model of voluntary ring vaccination on an evolving social contact network. Individuals make vaccination decisions by examining their expected payoffs, which are influenced by the infection status of their neighbors. We find that stochasticity can make outcomes extremely variable and thus unpredictable: some stochastic realizations result in rapid control through ring vaccination while others result in widespread transmission. We also identify and explore the phenomenon of outcome inelasticity, wherein behavioral responses result in certain outcome measures remaining relatively unchanged. Finally, we explore examples where ineffective or risky vaccines are more widely adopted than safe, effective vaccines. This occurs when such a vaccine is unattractive to a sufficient number of contacts of an index case to cause failure of ring vaccination. As a result, the infection percolates through the entire network, causing the final epidemic size and vaccine coverage to be higher than would occur with a better vaccine. Effects such as extreme outcome variability and outcome inelasticity have implications for vaccination policies that depend on individual choice for their success and predictability.

References

Bryce Morsky and Chris T. Bauch, *Outcome Inelasticity and Outcome Variability in Behaviour-Incidence Models: An Example from an SEIR Infection on a Dynamic Network*, Computational and Mathematical Methods in Medicine, vol. 2012, Article ID 652562, 2012.

Modelling homophilic imitation with replicator equations

B. Morsky¹, R. Cressman², C. T. Bauch¹

¹ University of Guelph, Canada, bmorsky@uoguelph.ca

² Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada

Many social norms, which include behaviours, dress, and other cultural aspects of these traits, have no discernable benefit; they do not ostensibly increase the payoffs of the individuals. However, they may be greenbeards. Such tag-based effects have been used to explore the questions of how cooperation emerged amongst selfish individuals [1, 3], and how social groups are formed and evolve over time [2].

Here we develop homophilic replicator equations to model imitation dynamics with homophily. We assume that individuals have traits and strategies, where the strategies alone impact their fitnesses. We further assume that the population is non-structured and that individuals interact with one another to received payoffs that will determine their fitnesses. Inidividuals imitate others by comparing fitnesses, and imitating based upon these differences and the population densities. We factor in a component to model homophily, where individuals are more prone to imitate those who have similar traits. We set up an imitation replicator model to model these interactions and the changes in the group frequencies, dubbing this our homophilic replicator equation:

$$\dot{p}_{i} = p_{i} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} p_{j} ((f_{i} - f_{j}) d_{ij} \right)$$
(1)

Where f_i and p_i are the fitness and density of population *i*. d_{ij} is the similarity of populations *i* and *j* in trait space.

We show the existence and characteristics of resulting fixed manifolds and conditions for stability. We discuss coat tailing, where trait densities at equilibrium are highly dependent upon the initial distribution of traits and strategies, and further implications for group formation. We extend our model to incorporate mutations/invasions and analyze a discrete version of the model.

- T. Antal, H. Ohtsuki, J. Wakeley, P. D. Taylor, and M. A. Nowak. Evolution of cooperation by phenotypic similarity. *PNAS*, 106(21):8597–8600, 2009.
- [2] R. Durrett and S. Levin. Can stable social groups be maintained by homophilous imitation alone? *Journal of Economic Behaviour and Organization*, 57:267–286, 2005.
- [3] R. Riolo, M. Cohen, and R. Axelrod. Evolution of cooperation without reciprocity. *Nature*, 414:441–443, 2001.

Parental decision-making towards childhood immunization and social norms

T. Oraby¹, C. Bauch²

¹ Department of Mathematics and Statistics, University of Guelph, Guelph, Ontario, Canada, toraby@uoguelph.ca

² Department of Mathematics and Statistics, University of Guelph, Guelph, Ontario, Canada, cbauch @uoguelph.ca

It has been suggested that voluntary vaccination programs suffer from the free-riding problem ensued from the public perception of herd immunity, which leads to a decrease in the vaccination acceptance rates and epidemic reemergence. Association between vaccines and severe side effects, true or false, results also in a decline in vaccine uptakes. Pertussis vaccination campaign in the UK, for example, suffered from a precipitous fall due to its questionable linkage to neurological diseases in the early 70s. The current pertussis vaccine uptake in the UK, however, exceeds the WHO's recommended target of 95%. In this research we developed coupled disease and behavioral models to describe incidence of childhood diseases and immunization acceptance in the process of parental decision-making. Those decisions are based on the personal variables: perceived vaccine risk and efficacy, and perceived risk of infection. According to the Health Belief Model, parents make their decision based on social variables, namely social norms and group pressure, in addition to those personal variables. In my talk, I will present an extension to the coupled behavioral-disease model to include the social norms and group pressure. I will also present stability analysis and simulation results of the model, showing how the model can more convincingly explain the range of observed dynamics than certain previous models.

Outlook on a global forest transition

C. Pagnutti¹, C. Bauch², M. Anand³

¹ University of Guelph, Canada, cpagnutt@uoguelph.ca

² University of Guelph, Canada, cbauch@uoguelph.ca

³ University of Guelph, Canada, manand@uoguelph.ca

The decline of the Earth's forest cover and other natural habitats has been a subject of great concern in recent decades. According to the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), the global forest cover was reduced by more than 70 MHa since 1990, an area larger than France and roughly 0.5% of the global land area. The main driver of deforestation is agricultural expansion. Despite the apparent demise of the world's forests, over the last two centuries many countries, particularly in the industrialized world, have experienced a forest transition (FT); that is, a transition from a period of shrinking forest area to a growing one. Most studies of the FT and forest decline focus on spatial scales at the national and sub-national levels, and on temporal scales of a few decades, but there are some important notable exceptions. In particular, these studies have focused on policies and drivers that could potentially either trigger or inhibit a global forest transition in the future, but few quantitative claims have been made pertaining to the timing of the forest transition and to the ultimate scale of deforestation. Here, we develop a mathematical model to address these issues.

We show that the world food equation accounts for almost all of the land use changes that have occured during the past millenium. Our model fits surprisingly well historic data on forest cover, human population and agricultural yield dynamics. We extrapolate on these findings to postulate conditions under which a global forest transition may occur. We find that under most circumstances a forest transition is not likely to occur without radical new advancements in agricultural technology. However, if agricultural yields and per capita consumption continue to increase as they have in the last half-century, then a forest transition may occur within the next century, depending on the level to which per-capita food consumption increases during the same period. We discuss that reducing food wastage and consumption is just as effective for land sparing as is increasing yields.

Agent-Based Modeling of Emotional Communications in Online Social Networks: The Role of Offline Processes in Online Bursting Events

<u>B. Tadić</u>¹, V. Gligorijević¹, M. Šuvakov²

¹ Department of Theoretical Physics, Jožef Stefan Institute, Ljubljana, Slovenia, {bosiljka.tadic,vladimir.gligorijevic}@ijs.si ² Institute of Physics, Belgrade, Serbia, suvakov@gmail.com

Online communications are now days utilized by a large fraction of the world population for exchange of ideas, information and emotion, frequently leading to an intricate dependency between offline and online behaviors of users. The prominent examples are the online social networks with their predefined "social" structure, which constraints potential exchange of messages. Huge amount of digital data of high resolution exits about users' online activity. The data on social network dialogs have been researched as a complex system in the physics laboratory [1]. Quantitative analysis of the data, by statistical physics combined with machine learning methods of text analysis, revealed the occurrence of temporal correlations significant for the collective behaviors of users in which emotion carried in the text of messages plays an important role [1].



Figure 1: A part of social network MySpace with users, shown as nodes, exchanging emotional messages along the "friendship" links.

In this paper, we study the underlying mechanisms in the dynamics by means of agent-based modeling [2]. Our focus is on the occurrence of bursting events of emotional messages and the effects of external processes on them. In the first part, we provide details of key difficulties in this modeling approach. We briefly present the implementation of the model, in which several features of agents are inferred from the empirical data. In the model, the agent's emotional state variables [2] evolve under aggregated influence fields of the received messages along their connections in the network. The simulations are performed at a very large empirical network constructed from the data of dialogs in MySpace (Fig. 1). Varying the type and strength of noise in the dynamics, we determine the distributions of size and duration of avalanches (bursts) comprising the emotional messages. Furthermore, we identify the parameters which control their appearance and determine statistical properties of the triggering fields.

- M. Šuvakov, M. Mitrović, V. Gligorijević and B. Tadić, *How the online social networks are used: Dialogs-based structure of MySpace*, J. Royal Society Interface 10, 79, 20120819 pp. 1-12 (2012).
- [2] M. Šuvakov, D. Garcia, F. Schweitzer and B. Tadić, Agent-based simulations of emotion spreading in online social networks, http://arxiv.org/abs/1205.6278 (2012).

Chaos in an unforced Malaria Model

C.N. Ngonghala¹, M.I. Teboh-Ewungkem², G.A. Ngwa³

¹ National Institute for Mathematical and Biological Synthesis (NIMBioS), Knoxville, TN, USA, cnngonghala@nimbios.org

² Lafayette College, Easton, PA, USA, tebohewm@lafayette.edu

³ University of Buea, Buea, South West Region, Cameroon, akumhed@yahoo.com

Chaotic dynamics have rarely been reported in deterministic continuous time mathematical models for malaria, unless when seasonal forcing is included in the model. We showed that when focus is placed on the mosquito vector in the malaria transmission process so that the mosquito feeding pattern, demography and reproduction habits are explicitly incorporated in the transmission dynamics, an unforced deterministic malaria model exhibited complex dynamics (see Refs. [1, 2]). In particular, when the reproductive gains that accrue to the mosquito's population as a result of its interaction with the human population is accounted for, a non-seasonally forced mass action continuous time deterministic malaria model was shown to be oscillatory and it exhibited the phenomenon of backward bifurcation (see Refs. [1, 2]). When a more nonlinear birthrate function for the mosquito population was considered, chaotic dynamics were observed. We posit that mathematical models for malaria and other vector-borne diseases should be modeled to account for the reproductive gains to the vector's population as a result of its interaction.

- [1] C.N. Ngonghala, G.A. Ngwa and M.I. Teboh-Ewungkem, *Periodic oscillations and backward bifurcation in a model for the dynamics of malaria transmission*, Math. Biosc. **240**, 1, pp. 45-62 (2012).
- [2] C.N. Ngonghala, M.I. Teboh-Ewungkem and G.A. Ngwa, *Persistent oscillations and backward bifurcation in a malaria model with varying human and mosquito populations: implications for control*, Submitted (2013).

AMMCS-2013, Laurier Centennial: International Conference on Applied Mathematics, Modeling & Computational Science, Waterloo, Canada, July 25-29

Coevolution of risk perception, sexual behaviour, and HIV transmission in an agent-based model

S. Tully¹, M. Cojocaru², C. Bauch³

¹ University of Guelph, Guelph, Canada {stully}@uoguelph.ca

² University of Guelph, Guelph, Canada {mcojocaru}@uoguelph.ca

³ University of Guelph, Guelph, Canada {cbauch}@uoguelph.ca

Risk perception shapes individual behaviour, and is in turn shaped by the consequences of that behaviour. Here we explore this dynamic in the context of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) spread. We construct a simplified agent-based model based on a partner selection game, where individuals are paired with others in the population, and through a decision tree, agree on unprotected sex, protected sex, or no sex. An individual's choice is conditioned on their HIV status, their perceived population-level HIV prevalence, and the preferences expressed by the individual with whom they are paired. HIV is transmitted during unprotected sex with a certain probability. As expected, in model simulations, the perceived population-level HIV prevalence climbs along with actual HIV prevalence. During this time, HIV- negative individuals increasingly switch from unprotected sex to protected sex, HIV+ individuals continue practicing unprotected sex whenever possible, and unprotected sex between HIV+ and HIV- individuals eventually becomes rare. We also find that the perceived population-level HIV prevalence than HIV+ individuals, although this result is sensitive to how much information is derived from global versus local sources. This research illustrates a potential mechanism by which distinct groups, as defined by their sexual behaviour, HIV status, and risk perceptions, can emerge through co-evolution of HIV transmission and risk perception dynamics.

Policy resistance undermines superspreader vaccination strategies for influenza

C.R. Wells¹, E.Y. Klein² and C.T. Bauch¹

¹ Department of Mathematics and Statistics, University of Guelph, Guelph, Canada

² Center for Advanced Modeling, Department of Emergency Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, Maryland, USA

Highly connected individuals (superspreaders) have been found to be a major influence on the spread of disease; this small sub-population is responsible for the majority of the infections that occur in an epidemic. Theoretical network models have found vaccinating superspreaders to be a highly effective and efficient way to reduce incidence. One issue with these models is the assumption that a superspreader is always willing to vaccinate; not allowing a model to capture the feedback that occurs between incidence and vaccination behaviour can allow the new policy to seem more beneficial than it truly is. This can be problematic for diseases like influenza, where vaccination is voluntary and vaccine coverage is below the desired level.

We have coupled disease and vaccination behaviour dynamics for influenza on an empirically based network under numerous vaccination strategies, most of which are designed to target superspreaders. We have taken a psychologically structured approach towards vaccination behaviour for influenza. An individual's decision to vaccinate is influenced by their perceived past infections, vaccine complications and vaccine efficacy; the individual's perceptions and decision to vaccinate can be swayed by the perceptions of others in the population. Our objectives are to understand: 1) whether the vaccination strategies targeting superspreaders are still effective when behaviour is accounted for; 2) whether economic incentives improve the effectiveness of these strategies; and 3) how perceived vaccine efficacy and decisions are determined by the vaccine-disease dynamics.

We found behavioural feedbacks reduce the effectiveness of superpsreader strategies; by targeting superspreaders the incidence of influenza is reduced, making vaccination less appealing to others (non-superspreader) next season. Introducing an economic incentive into the vaccination policies did improve their effectiveness slightly; however, any benefit from the incentives was lessened by policy resistance and the savings from the reduction of incidence was outweighed by the cost of incentives.

Our results suggest special care should be taken in designing influenza vaccine policies targeting superspreaders, with or without economic incentives, due to policy resistance caused by behavioural feedback.

Modelling Awareness and Adoption: Aggregate Behaviour versus Agent-Based Interactions with Network Effects

E. Wild¹, M.-G. Cojocaru¹

¹ University of Guelph, Canada, {ewild,mcojocar}@uoguelph.ca

We construct and examine a model of adoption of a product or policy using, firstly, a system of differential equations and then secondly, through simulation, an agent-based model. Awareness must come before adoption, and we model this as a simple epidemic type model, where information is spread through advertising and contact with other agents in the population. Adoption is then conditional on awareness and occurs only if the agent finds the perceived cost acceptable. After simulating the system using an agent-based model, we introduce heterogeneity through the model parameters, which are then considered individual attributes and include influence rates, effectiveness of advertising, price sensitivity, and speed of adoption.

In the DE model, it became clear that the advertising effect, c, had the most effect on the length of time it took for the model to reach its equilibrium. Influence rates, b and b", and the speed of adoption rate, k, had a small effect on how fast awareness and adoption took place within the first 100 time steps. The price sensitivity, d, was the only parameter to affect the resulting equilibrium point. As expected, a high price sensitivity and thus high perceived price meant that very few individuals adopted overall and awareness took longer to completely diffuse; whereas a low price resulted in individuals becoming aware very quickly and the population consisting of almost only adopters in the end.

We also examine the effects of various network topologies by organizing individuals into lattice and preferential attachment networks. We first found that as we increased the population size, our model regressed to the mean and resulted in an outcome very close to that of the DE model. Individualizing each parameter resulted in adoption that was very similar to the patterns of adoption in the DE model. We noted that it resulted in slower awareness over time, with advertising effect once again having the greatest consequence. Individualizing the price sensitivity influenced the equilibrium point slightly, resulting in a slightly higher amount of adoption. Adding different network types, specifically lattice and preferential attachment networks, did little to influence adoption over time. They did, however, have a slight effect on slowing down the diffusion of awareness.

- [1] F. M. Bass, A New Product Growth for Model Consumer Durables, Management Science. 15(5), pp. 215-227 (1969).
- [2] E. Bonabeau, Agent-based Modeling: Methods and Techniques for Simulating Human Systems, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 99(10, Suppl. 3), pp. 7280-7287 (2002).
- [3] J. A. Dodson Jr. and E. Muller, Models of New Product Diffusion Through Advertising and Word-of-Mouth, Management Science. 24(15), pp. 1568-1578 (1978).
- [4] S. Kalish, A New Product Adoption Model with Pricing, Advertising, and Uncertainty, Management Science. 31(12), pp. 1569-1585 (1985).
- [5] V. Mahajan, E. Muller, and Y. Wind, New-Product Diffusion Models, Springer Science+Business Media, Inc. (2000).
- [6] H. Rahmandad and J. Sterman, Heterogeneity and Network Structure in the Dynamics of Diffusion: Comparing Agent-based and Differential Equation Models + e-Companion, Management Science. 54(5), pp. 998-1014 (2008).
- [7] E. M. Rogers, Diffusion of Innovations, The Free Press. (1962).
- [8] H. P. Young, Innovation Diffusion in Heterogeneous Populations: Contagion, Social Influence, and Social Learning, American Economic Review. 99(5), pp. 1899-1924 (2009).

Adaptation and the evolution of parasite virulence in an increasingly connected world

<u>G. Wild¹</u>, A. Gardner², S. A. West²

¹ Department of Applied Mathematics, The University of Western Ontario, gwild@uwo.ca

² Department of Zoology, University of Oxford, <u>andy.gardner@zoo.ox.ac.uk</u>, stuart.west@zoo.ox.ac.uk

Today, humans can travel on spatial scales never before seen in their evolutionary history. In turn, this tremendous ability to travel has meant that infectious diseases of humans can now be readily transmitted over great distances. While the public health challenges of disease transmission on large geographic scales is well appreciated, the long-term consequences for the evolution of microparasitic infections of humans is not. In this talk I will outline a simple model for the evolution of microparasite virulence in a geographically structured population of hosts, e.g. humans [1]. The model itself can be treated as a branching process [2], and the analysis relies heavily on W. D. Hamilton's notion of *inclusive fitness* [3]. I find that, as geographic structure is eroded, selection favours increased parasite virulence. In addition to its obvious public health implications, the result sheds light on general rules of adaptation in nature.

- [1] Wild, G., Gardner, A, & West, S. A. Adaptation and the evolution of parasite virulence in a connected world. Nature, 458:983-986 (2009).
- [2] Wild, G. Inclusive fitness from multitype branching processes. Bulletin of Mathematical Biology, 73:1028-1043 (2011).
- [3] Hamilton, W. D. The genetical evolution of social behaviour. I and II. Journal of Theoretical Biology, 7:1-52 (1964).

Incentives' Effect in Influenza Vaccination Policy

Dan Yamin¹, Arieh Gavious^{2,3}

¹ Yale University, New haven CT., USA, dan.yamin@yale.edu

² Ben Gurion University ,Beer Sheva, Israel, ariehg@bgu.ac.il

³ Ono academic college ,Kiryat Ono, Israel, ariehg@bgu.ac.il

Influenza, the most common upper respiratory illness, leading to an annual infection rate of 5-15% in developed countries [1]. In the U.S. alone, the disease is responsible for taking overall 610,660 years of life, 3.1 million hospitalized days, and 31.4 million outpatient visits each year [2]. Vaccination is considered the most promising public health measure for reducing the burden of the disease. In the majority of developed countries, the level of influenza vaccination coverage in all age groups is sub-optimal. Hence, the authorities offer different kinds of incentives for people to become vaccinated such as subsidizing immunization or placing immunization centers in malls to make the process more accessible.

We built a theoretical epidemiological game model to find the optimal incentive for vaccination and the corresponding expected level of vaccination coverage. The model was supported by survey data from questionnaires about people's perceptions about inuenza and the vaccination against it. Results suggest that the optimal magnitude of the incentives should be greater when less contagious seasonal strains of influenza are involved, greater for the non-elderly population rather than the elderly, and should rise as high as \$57 per vaccinated individual so that all children between the ages of six months and four years will be vaccinated.

References

A. E. Fiore, T. M. Uyeki, K. Broder, G. L. Finelli, J. Singleton, J. K. Iskander, P. M. Wortley, D. K. Shay, S. J. Bresee, and C. N. J., Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices, *Prevention and Control of Influenza with Vaccines* (2010).

[2] N.A. Molinari, I. R. Ortega-Sanchez, M. L. Messonnier, W. W. Thompson, P. M. Wortley, E. Weintraub, and C. B. Bridges, *The annual impact of seasonal influenza in the US: measuring disease burden and costs. Vaccine*, **25**, 27, pp. 5086–96 (2007).

Computational Fluid Dynamics for Real Applications (SS-CFDRA)

Organizers: Lakhdar Remaki (BCAM) Stéphane Moreau (Université de Sherbrooke) Abdelkader Baggag (Université Laval)

CFD (Computation Fluid Dynamic) analysis has made significant inroads in industrial applications thanks to the important increase of computer capabilities along with the improvement of the underlying numerical methods and visualization tools. The CFD discipline is essentially based on the numerical discretization of the Navier-Stokes equations that describe the fluid motion. Even if these equations are known since more than 150 years and despite the availability of powerful computing supercenters, a simulation of a complex fluid dynamic still a challenging task, especially for phenomena that occur at very small scales like turbulence, vortices and aero-acoustic structures. The CFD special session will cover any work related to fluid dynamic including any advances in numerical analysis aspects, modeling, related fields like aero-acoustics, aero- elastics, gas-particles interactions and any coupling with Navier-Stokes equations. Works showing the application to complex geometries and the role and trend of CFD in industry are encouraged.

A robust computational procedure for nonlinear thermo-electrical problems in fractured media based on XFEM

Abdelkader Baggag

Laval University, Quebec, abdelkader.baggag@gci.ulaval.ca

Thermo-electrical effects in fractured media are encountered in many situations of practical interest; and the numerical treatment of this physical phenomenon has run into difficulties due to the temperature and voltage discontinuity.

In this presentation, a general computational procedure, which is based on the eXtended finite element method (XFEM), is proposed to efficiently deal with transient and nonlinear problems, and to estimate field distributions in cracked medium.

The finite element approximation is enriched in order to take into account the crack discontinuities due to the jump and the asymptotic near-tip function, using the partition of unity method. And the discretization results in a nonlinear system that is solved using the Newton-Raphson algorithm.

Different numerical examples show the high accuracy and the robustness of the proposed computational procedure in efficiently capturing the temperature and voltage jumps across the crack.

Magnetic field effect on the natural convection flow in a cavity

Canan Bozkaya

Middle East Technical University, Turkey, bcanan@metu.edu.tr

The steady, two-dimensional and laminar magnetohydrodynamic (MHD) natural convection flow in the presence of radiation and viscous dissipation is considered in a square cavity filled with a porous medium. The flow prediction inside the porous medium follows Darcy's model and is subjected to an inclined uniform magnetic field. The vertical walls of the enclosure are kept at constant temperatures while the top and bottom walls are considered thermally insulated. The properties of the fluid and porous medium are homogeneous, isotropic and constant except variation of fluid density with temperature. The fluid and porous medium are in thermal equilibrium and radiative heat flux in y direction is negligible in comparison to that in the x direction. The non-dimensional form of the governing equations are given as:

$$\frac{\partial^2 \psi}{\partial x^2} + \frac{\partial^2 \psi}{\partial y^2} = -Ra \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial x} - Ha^2 \left[\frac{\partial^2 \psi}{\partial y^2} \sin \varphi + 2 \frac{\partial^2 \psi}{\partial x \partial y} \sin \varphi \cos \varphi + \frac{\partial^2 \psi}{\partial x^2} \cos^2 \varphi \right]$$
$$\frac{\partial \psi}{\partial y} \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial x} - \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial x} \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial y} = (1 + \frac{4R}{3}) \frac{\partial^2 \theta}{\partial x^2} + \frac{\partial^2 \theta}{\partial y^2} + \varepsilon \left[(\frac{\partial \psi}{\partial y})^2 + (\frac{\partial \psi}{\partial x})^2 \right]$$

where φ is the angle between the magnetic field and *x*-axis, ψ and θ are the stream function and the temperature, *Ra* and *Ha* are the Rayleigh and Hartmann numbers, ε and *R* are the viscous dissipation and radiation parameters, respectively.

The dual reciprocity boundary element method (DRBEM), which is a boundary only discretization technique, is applied for the solution of the non-dimensional governing equations with appropriate boundary conditions for the flow and the temperature. Constant elements are used for the discretization of the boundary of the cavity. Numerical calculations are carried out for wide ranges of Hartmann and Rayleigh numbers at various magnetic field orientation angles. The numerical results are presented for different values of governing parameters, namely, viscous dissipation and radiation to analyze the effects of them on the flow behavior and the temperature. The flow is significantly affected especially at the core of the cavity and the flow field circulation decelarates with an increase in Hartmann number. Moreover, the core of vortices is converted from the vertical position to the horizontal position as the angle of the external magnetic field increases from zero to $\pi/2$, whereas there is no significant effect of the magnetic field orientation on the isotherms. It is also observed that an increase in radiation results in an increase in the average Nusselt numbers at both hot and cold walls. On the other hand, average Nusselt number decreases on the hot wall following an increase in the viscous dissipation parameter while it develops it on the cold wall. These results are in good agreement with the other published results.

Design Considerations for Thermal Management of Electronics Enclosures

R. Cocks, D. Clendenen, L. Chretien

Regal Beloit Corporation, Fort Wayne, Indiana, USA

This study focuses on the design and optimization of an electronics enclosure intended for operation in an outdoor commercial heating, ventilation and air conditioning, HVAC, application. In particular the designed was optimized for a high ambient environment without the aid of forced air cooling. As electronically controlled motor drive systems are increasing in use, designs need to operate in new challenging environments, reach higher power density, and enable higher levels of system integration. Computational Fluid Dynamics, CFD, was used for design, analysis and optimization and correlated with test data. A design of experiments, DOE, was used to evaluate the sensitivity of the final design to the operating environment. A constrained optimization was performed to determine the optimal fin spacing, height, angle and thickness of the enclosure geometry for thermal dissipation of the heat from the power electronics. Various fin topologies were also analyzed to evaluate the impact of increased surfaced area and enhanced thermal mixing effects. After a thorough review of the design space, general design recommendations are made and an optimized design reviewed.

A CFD Optimization of Airflow Efficiency for an Electric Motor Driven Centrifugal Fan System for Residential HVAC Applications

R. Cocks, J. Westhoff

Regal Beloit Corporation, Fort Wayne, Indiana, USA

This study focuses on the design and optimization of an electronics enclosure intended for use in a centrifugal fan being driven by an electric motor for the residential HVAC market. Typically in these systems, the motor is mounted directly in the airstream of the centrifugal fan, but in this case the Regal Beloit's axial motor technology allows for the minimization of this obstruction to the airflow. In the system analyzed the axial motor is mounted in the center of the centrifugal fan and the electronics used to drive the system is enclosed and mounted to the axial motor. This enclosure has been optimized for system airflow efficiency and thermal management of the electronics. A sensitivity analysis was also performed to understand the optimized design's performance under various application environments. Computational fluid dynamics, CFD, was used as a test platform and tool for optimization. The CFD analysis was driven by goal optimization software to explore the design space and lead to an optimized design for overall efficiency. Results were validated to test data and test visualization methods. This presentation will cover the design requirements and details of the application, the optimization and CFD techniques used and the criteria used for CFD model validation.

Non-equilibrium solidification in undercooled faceted-faceted Ni-56.2 Si at % eutectic alloy

¹Y. P. Lu, ¹Q. H. Meng, ²Y. B. Fu, ¹T. J. Li

¹ Dalian University of Technology, Da Lian, China, luyiping@dlut.edu.cn

¹Dalian University of Technology, Da Lian, China, 512386247@qq.com

² Taizhou University, Tai zhou, China, 300300, Lgdfyb@163.com

¹ Dalian University of Technology, Da Lian, China, tjli@dlut.edu.cn

The maximum undercooling of 316 K was achieved in the bulk liquid Ni-56.2 at% Si eutectic alloy (faceted-faceted NiSi-NiSi2 eutectic alloys) melts through glass fluxing combined with cyclic superheating, in which a typical transition of faceted-faceted (FF) NiSi-NiSi2 eutectic takes place. A wide variety of microstructures can be obtained in the FF NiSi-NiSi2 eutectic alloys with the increase of undercooling. The metastable Si phase was obtained through slow post-solidification when undercooling \geq 14 K, and it is confirmed by optical microscope (OM), scanning electron microscope (SEM) with an electron probe microanalysis (EPMA) and differential scanning calorimetry (DSC).

Based on the principle of minimum free energy and transient nucleation theory, the phase selection of melt was discussed with regard to the metastable phases formation in the bulk undercooled FF NiSi-NiSi2 eutectic alloys. In this paper, the formation of metastable phases from undercooled FF NiSi-NiSi2 eutectic alloys was determined by the competitive nucleation with undercooling, i.e., high undercooling facilitates the preferential nucleation of metastable phases.

Modeling of Bubble Motion in a Sound Field

D. Khattar

Kirori Mal College, University of Delhi, Delhi, India, dinesh.khattar31@gmail.com

We study the interaction of the motion of an expanding and translating bubble with a sound field, using the method of effective potential adopted by Landau and Lifshitz. Rayleigh [1] studied the adiabatic expansion of a spherical gas bubble in an inviscid fluid. He derived the differential equation for the growth of the radius R(t) of the bubble. Plesset [2] modified this equation to include the viscosity of the outside liquid. The motion of a gas bubble, which translates with velocity U as it expands, has been considered by Chakraborty [3] and Chakraborty and Tuteja [4], assuming a spherical bubble shape. Detailed numerical results have been given in Ref. [4] when the pressure in the liquid far from the bubble is constant. In the absence of the translational motion of the expanding bubble, its motion in a sound field has been discussed by Lauterborn [5] and Keller and Miksis [6]. In the present paper, we investigate the interaction of the motion of an expanding and translating bubble with a sound field. In our study we shall use a method applied by Landau and Lifshitz [7] in their study of stability of an inverted pendulum when the pivot oscillates vertically. This method has been discussed by Blackburn, Smith and GrØnbeck-Jensen [8]. In this method the concept of an "effective potential" is used. The oscillating amplitude of the pivot is taken as small and the period of oscillations is assumed to be small compared to a characteristic period of the pendulum. Using the same method, in our discussion of the bubble motion in a sound field, we work under the assumption that the amplitude of the sound field is small, while the frequency of this field is large compared to a characteristic frequency of the oscillation of the bubble. We find that the equilibrium value for the mean radius R of the bubble exhibits a bifurcation [9] as the sound field amplitude increases from a critical value which is zero or nearly so.

- [1] Lord Rayleigh: On the pressure developed in a liquid during the collapse of a spherical void, Phil. Mag. (Ser 6) 34, 94(1917)
- [2] M.S. Plesset and A. Prosperetti, Bubble dynamics and cavitation, Annu.Rev. Fluid Mech. (eds) M. Van Dyke, J.V. Wehauscn and J.L. Lumley(Annual Review, Palo Alto) 9, 177 (1977).
- [3] B.B Chakraborty, *Effect of a viscous fluid flow past a spherical gas bubble on the growth of its radius*, Proc. Ind. Acad. Sciences 100, 185 (1990). Lord Rayleigh: *On the pressure developed in a liquid during the collapse of a spherical void*, Phil. Mag. (Ser 6) 34, 94(1917)
- [4] B.B. Chakraborty and G.S. Tuteja, Motion of an expanding gas bubble in a viscous liquid under gravity, Phys. Fluids 5, 187 (1993).
- [5] W. Lauterborn, Numerical investigations of nonlinear oscillations of gas bubbles in liquids. J. Acoustic Soc. America 1976;59:283.
- [6] J.B. Keller and M. Miksis, Bubble oscillation of large amplitude. J. Acoustic Soc. America 1980;68:628.
- [7] L.D. Landau and E M Lifshitz.: Mechanics. Pergamon, New York, 1976, 9395.
- [8] J. A. Blackburn, H. J. T Smith and GrØbeck N. Jensen, Stability and Hopf bifurcations in an inverted pendulum. Am. J. Phys. 1992;60:903.
- [9] P.G. Drazin, Nonlinear Systems. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1992.

CFD Simulation of Biomass Gasification using Circulating Fluidized Bed by Eulerian-Eulerian Approach

H. Liu¹, A. Elkamel¹, A. Lohi²

¹ Department of Chemical Engineering, University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, N2L 3G1
 ² Department of Chemical Engineering, Ryerson University, Toronto, Canada, M5B 2K3

In this work, a 3-D steady CFD (computational fluid dynamics) model via the Eulerian-Eulerian approach is established to simulate the process of biomass gasification using a circulating fluidized bed. The simulation results, including the temperature and concentration profiles, are analyzed and compared with the literature data. A grid analysis is conducted to investigate the grid independence for the CFD model by comparing the simulation results from different highresolution grids. Three types of turbulence models, standard, RNG, and realizable k-epsilon equations are applied to investigate the impacts of turbulence on the simulation of gasification process. The influences of radiation are also studied by comparing the gasification models with and without radiation mode. Various equivalence ratios are analyzed to study the reaction kinetics of gasification and achieve the optimal settings for the process.

Dendritic Growth Velocity Calculation and Microstructural Evolution of Ni-Cu-Si Alloy

X. B. Ma¹, K. Zhou¹, J. Chang¹, <u>H. P. Wang¹</u>

¹ MOE Key Laboratory of Space Applied Physics and Chemistry, Department of Applied Physics, Northwestern Polytechnical University, Xi'an 710072, China, hpwang@nwpu.edu.cn

Ni-based alloys have been extensively utilized in the fields of aerospace and marine manufacture [1] due to their excellent performances. Dendrites are usually formed during preparing this kind of alloys [2]. The dendritic growth is fundamentally required to understand microstructure evolution and to explore its effect on the mechanical properties. However, it is extremely difficult to obtain the data of growth velocity by undercooling experiments [3]. The aim of this work is to investigate the microstructure evolution and the dendritic growth velocity dependent on undercooling, in which ternary Ni₈₀Cu₁₀Si₁₀ alloy is selected. LKT/BCT model [4] is employed to compute the growth velocity, and corresponding solidification experiments are also performed.

The dendritic growth velocities of $Ni_{90}Cu_{10}$ and $Ni_{90}Si_{10}$ alloys are derived by using LKT/BCT model, as shown in Figure 1. It can be observed that the growth velocity increases with the rise of the undercooling. Moreover, the growth velocity of $Ni_{90}Cu_{10}$ alloy is always larger than that of $Ni_{90}Si_{10}$ alloy. Figure 2 illustrates the solidified microstructure of $Ni_{80}Cu_{10}Si_{10}$ alloy.



Figure 1: Calculated growth velocity of dendrite in $Ni_{90}Cu_{10}$ and $Ni_{90}Si_{10}$ alloys.



Figure 2: Solidified microstructure of Ni₈₀Cu₁₀Si₁₀ alloy.

- D. K. Das, Microstructure and high temperature oxidation behavior of Pt-modified aluminide bond coats on Ni-base superalloys, Prog. Mater. Sci. 58, 2, pp. 151-182 (2013).
- [2] H. P. Wang, W. J. Yao and B. Wei, Remarkable solute teapping with rapidly growing dendrites, Appl. Phys. Lett. 89, 20, pp. 201905 (2006).
- [3] C. D. Cao, W. J. Xie and B. Wei, Microstructural characterization of cobalt-antimony eutectic alloy droplets solidified in drop tube, Mater. Sci. Eng. A. 283, 1-2, pp. 86-93 (2000).
- [4] J. Lipton, W. Kurz and R. Trivedi, Rapid dendrite growth in undercooled alloys, Acta. Metall. 35, 4, pp. 957-964 (1987).
Wake Topology for Steady Flow past an Inclined Elliptic Cylinder

P.J.S. Young¹

¹ NATO Communications and Information Agency, The Hague, Netherlands, peter.young@ncia.nato.int

The flow of an incompressible viscous fluid past an elliptic cylinder with minor-to-major axis ratio of 0.2 and at incidence to the free stream is considered. Previous solutions of this problem, e.g. Refs. [1,2], have been limited to Reynolds numbers Re up to 40. The objective of the present research has been to obtain solutions for higher Re to permit completion of a bifurcation diagram presented by Ref. [1], which describes the wake topology behind the cylinder in terms of three regions: Region I with no separation, Region II with a single attached recirculatory region, and Region III with two recirculatory regions, one attached and the second unattached to the cylinder.

The two-dimensional Navier Stokes equations in stream function/vorticity formulation are solved using a finite difference scheme employing two grids, one that covers the full flow domain and a second that maps onto the wake region behind the cylinder. Numerical solutions have been obtained using grid resolutions up to 160x320 for the radial/angular coordinates for Re up to 450. Solutions for the symmetric flow past a circular cylinder have also been obtained for Re up to 300 and compared with Ref. [3].

For the cylinder at 0^0 incidence, initial separation with formation of two separation bubbles is found to occur at approximately Re = 200, in close agreement with Ref. [4]. The lengths of the separation bubbles increase with Re increasing above 200. When a small angle of incidence is introduced for some Re just greater than 200, the flow transitions to Region III topology with a single attached separation bubble complemented by a second unattached recirculatory region. The size of these recirculatory regions is found to decrease with increasing incidence until the unattached recirculatory region disappears thereby giving a Region II topology The attached recirculatory region continues to decrease in size with further increases in incidence until it also disappears yielding Region I topology. Further increases in incidence then lead to the behaviour reported by Ref [1]. The range of incidence angle over which this behaviour is present decreases with increasing Re until, at Re above 230, the wake topology consists of Region III, Region II and Region III with increasing incidence angle, i.e. the flow is separated for all incidence angles.

The results obtained have permitted extension of the bifurcation diagram presented by Ref. [1] for Re up to 450 with completion of the region transition curves. The trend of the findings are in agreement with predictions by Ref. [2] of a non-monotonicity in the relationship between incidence angle and Re for initial separation, these being based on the linearity property of eddy length with Re. The non-monotonic solution behaviour for Re > 200 with incidence angle increasing from 0^0 is of interest, particularly in how the separated bubble initially decreases in size and disappears before reappearing again.

References

- [1] S.C.R. Dennic and P.J.S. Young, Steady flow past an elliptic cylinder inclined to the stream, J. Eng. Math. 47, pp. 101-120 (2003).
- [2] S. Seni, S. Mittal and G.Biswas, Steady separated flow past elliptic cylinders using a stabilized finite-element method, CMES 86, no. 1, pp. 1-26 (2012).
- [3] B. Fornberg, Steady viscous flow past a circular cylinder up to Reynolds Number 600, J.Comput. Phys. 61 no. 2, pp. 297-320 (1985).
- [4] S.C.R. Dennis and G.Z. Chang, Numerical integration of the Navier Sotkes equations in two dimensions, Math. Res. Center, University of Wisconsin, Technical Summary Report 859, pp. 89 (1969).

¹Currently attached to the NATO Communications and Information (NCI) Agency. The work reported here is a continuation of Ph.D. research conducted at the University of Western Ontario and does not reflect official work/views of the NCI Agency.

Control Methods for Advanced Industrial Systems (SS-CMAIS)

Organizers: Behzad Samadi (Maplesoft) Jurgen Gerhard (Maplesoft)

Advanced control systems have to meet progressively tighter standards on performance and safety. In addition, the manufacturers compete to increase the quality of their products and at the same time, reduce the cost of development and manufacturing. Model based product design methods decrease the need for extensive testing and calibration. They also decrease the time and cost of development and increase the reliability of the final product. The objective of this session is to stimulate productive discussions between mathematicians and engineers to find innovative solutions for real-world problems. Suggested topics include but are not limited to: polynomials in control theory, symbolic model simplification, piecewise affine systems, reachability analysis, hybrid systems, symbolic nonlinear control synthesis, parametric robust control, optimal control, distributed algorithms, formal verification, robotics, and advanced automotive control systems.

Model Predictive Control via Triangular Decompositions of Semi-Algebraic Systems

Changbo Chen¹, Marc Moreno Maza²

¹ University of Western Ontario, London, Canada, changbo.chen@gmail.com

² University of Western Ontario, London, Canada, moreno@csd.uwo.ca

In many industrial and engineering applications, process control plays a central role. Among the possible control strategies, model predictive control (MPC), also called receding horizon control (RHC), stands out for its excellent ability to handle constraints. While MPC has been successfully applied to many industrial applications, further developments are limited when it becomes necessary to solve many large on-line optimization problems. To overcome this situation, parametric optimization is often used such that most of the computation burden is pushed to an off-line phase.

In this talk, we discuss two methods, based on symbolic computation, to perform parametric optimization, together with the corresponding on-line strategies, targeting MPC in the case of polynomial constraints and objective function. These methods rely on tools for solving systems polynomial equations and inequalities, taken from the theory of triangular decomposition. The first method is a general purpose tool relying on a new scheme for computing cylindrical algebraic decomposition. The second one, under some genericity assumptions, leads to attractive running time estimates.

Symbolic Methods in Control Theory

J. Gerhard¹, B. Samadi¹, J. Stewart¹

¹ Maplesoft, Waterloo, Canada, {jgerhard, bsamadi, jstewart}@maplesoft.com

We will give an overview presentation of symbolic computation approaches that have been used for control analysis and design, in particular, robust control and synergetic control. The methods presented make use of symbolic computation techniques from linear algebra, as well as complex and real algebraic geometry, such as Gröbner bases and Cylindrical Algebraic Decomposition. A key construction employing the latter methods is to rephrase the control problem as a system of polynomial equations, inequations, and inequalities, where some of the variables are existentially or universally quantified.

The presentation will also include a discussion of the challenges of using symbolic methods, and a summary of current research at Maplesoft related to symbolic control.

- [1] J. L. Bastos Mazuelos, Nonlinear Control Design Via Symbolic Comptuation: Applying Synergetics to the Control of Power Electronics Systems, PhD thesis, University of South Carolina, Columbia SC, 2005.
- [2] S. Liang, J. Gerhard, D. J. Jeffrey, and G. Moroz, A Package for Solving Parametric Polynomial Systems, ACM Communications in Computer Algebra 43(3), pp. 61–72, 2009.

Discovering Lyapunov Functions for Dynamical Systems Using Simulation

J. Kapinski¹

¹ Toyota Technical Center, USA, jim.kapinski@tema.toyota.com

Model-based development (MBD) is a popular process for designing, implementing, and testing embedded software designs for real-time control systems and is used in many sectors, such as automotive. Verifying correctness of MBD designs is a difficult task and is essential for ensuring that the system satisfies safety constraints. Dynamical systems analysis techniques can be applied to MBD designs to verify system properties, such as stability or performance bounds, but these techniques are rarely used in any but the earliest stages of the MBD process [1, 2].

We present a technique that allows the designer to verify stability and to predict performance bounds for MBD designs and can be applied at several stages of the MBD process [3]. The technique leverages Lyapunov analysis, semidefinite programming, and global optimization to automatically discover correctness certificates. Our technique is more practical than traditional techniques based on Lyapunov analysis, in that it can be applied directly to system models (e.g., Simulink[®] models) without requiring an analytic representation of the system dynamics.

Our technique is based on the following observation regarding a dynamical system given by $\mathbf{x}_{k+1} = f(\mathbf{x}_k)$. Given a collection of pairs of points $(\mathbf{x}_i, \hat{\mathbf{x}}_i)$, where $\hat{\mathbf{x}}_i = f(\mathbf{x}_i)$ for each *i*, a necessary condition for Lyapunov stability is the existence of a function $v(\cdot)$ that satisfies the following over some domain *D*:

v

$$v(\mathbf{x}) > 0 \qquad \forall \mathbf{x} \neq \mathbf{0}, \ v(\mathbf{0}) = 0, \tag{1}$$

$$(\mathbf{x}_i) - v(\hat{\mathbf{x}}_i) > 0 \qquad \forall i.$$
 (2)

The technique can be summarized as follows. Simulation traces are used to construct a Lyapunov function candidate ($v(\cdot)$), where the candidate functions are restricted to the class of Sum of Squares (SoS) polynomials [4], and semidefinite programming is used to ensure (1) and (2) are satisfied. Next, a global optimizer is employed to provide a refutation of the Lyapunov candidate. If a refutation is found, then the refuting simulation trace is added to the collection of simulation traces and an updated Lyapunov candidate is computed. This process continues until either a.) no refuting simulation trace is found or b.) a computation budget has been reached.

In this talk, we describe the above procedure and present an implementation that is applied directly to Simulink models. We present several examples showing that we can automatically discover Lyapunov functions for Simulink models of nonlinear systems. We conclude with a discussion of open questions and direction for future work.

- [1] U. Topcu, P. Seiler, and A. Packard, *Local stability analysis using simulations and sum-of-squares programming*, in *Automatica*, **44**, pp. 2669–2675 (2008).
- [2] S. Prajna and A. Jadbabaie, Safety Verification of Hybrid Systems Using Barrier Certificates, in Hybrid Systems: Computation and Control, Springer, pp. 477–492 (2004).
- [3] J. Kapinski, J. Deshmukh, S. Sankaranarayanan, and N. Aréchiga, Performance Bound Analysis Using Concrete Executions, submitted to the 2013 Conference on Decision and Control.
- [4] P.A. Parrilo, Semidefinite Programs and Semialgebraic Geometry Methods in Robustness and Optimization, Ph.D. Thesis, California Institute of Technology, 2000.

Using Kernel Module Bases for Fast Polynomial Matrix Arithmetic

<u>G. Labahn¹</u>

¹ University of Waterloo, Waterloo ON, Canada, glabahn@uwaterloo.ca

Polynomial matrices appear in control theory as transfer function matrices of linear dynamical systems. In this talk we show how bases of kernels of matrix polynomials, considered as modules over the entries of the matrices can be used for fast, deterministic algorithms for polynomial arithmetic. In particular we show how kernel bases can be used for computation of inverses, column bases and matrix normal forms. Combining this with the fast kernel basis algorithm of Zhou-Labahn-Storjohann gives optimal algorithms for the previously mentioned computations.

This is joint work with Wei Zhou.

- W. Zhou and G. Labahn, Fast Computation of Column Bases for Polynomial Matrices, Proceedings of ISSAC'13, Boston MA, USA, June 26-29, (2013)
- [2] W. Zhou, G. Labahn and A. Storjohann, *Computing Minimal Nullspace Bases*, Proceedings of ISSAC'12, Grenoble, France, July 22-25, (2012), 366–373
- [3] W. Zhou and G. Labahn, Algorithms for Efficienc Order Basis Computation, Journal of Symbolic Computation 47(7) (2012), 793– 819

Transverse feedback linearization and exterior differential systems

A. Mahdipour-Shirayeh,¹ C. Nielsen²

¹ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, amahdipo@uwaterloo.ca
 ² University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, cnielsen@uwaterloo.ca

Many control objectives can be accomplished by stabilizing an appropriate invariant set in the state space of a control system. This point of view is relevant in applications such as output regulation [1], synchronization [2], formation control problems for multi-agent systems [3] and path following. A natural approach to stabilizing sets is to seek a smooth function that yields a well-defined relative degree and whose associated zero dynamics manifold coincides with the set to be stabilized. If such a function exists, then, using input-output feedback linearization, the set stabilization problem reduces to the problem of stabilizing the origin of a linear time-invariant system. This process is called transverse feedback linearization and the function is called a transverse output function.

Consider an invariant, smooth, embedded submanifold Γ in the state space of a smooth, nonlinear, autonomous, deterministic, finite-dimensional, single-input control-affine system

$$\dot{x} = f(x) + g(x)u, \qquad f,g: \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n \text{ smooth }, \qquad u \in \mathbb{R} \text{ the control input.}$$
(1)

The results in [4] provide necessary and sufficient conditions for the existence of a function $\lambda : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ with the properties discussed above. Namely, λ yields a well-defined relative degree for system (1) on the target set Γ and the associated zero dynamics of (1) with output λ , equals Γ . While the conditions in [4] can be checked to guarantee the existence of the function λ , the process by which the function is computed is not constructive. In other words, even if the function is guaranteed to exists, it may be very difficult to find.

In the present work, we aim to leverage ideas from the field of exterior differential systems, in particular the work of Gardner and Shadwick [5], see also [6], to generate dual conditions for the existence of a transverse output function. The motivation for this is twofold. First, the dual conditions of [4] may provide further geometric insight into the problem. Second, by adapting the symbolic algebra algorithm in [5] to the present problem, it is hoped that the process of finding the transverse output function is simplified.

The above research program is in its infancy and as such this talk focuses on the formulation of the problem. We motivate the research, discuss the relationship between feedback linearization and exterior differential systems, review the Gardner-Shadwick algorithm, and present research directions for its application to transverse feedback linearization.

- A. Isidori and C. Byrnes, "Output regulation of nonlinear systems," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 25, pp. 131–140, 1990.
- [2] A. Pogromsky, G. Santoboni, and H. Nijmeijer, "Partial synchronization: from symmetry towards stability," *Physica D. Nonlinear Phenomena*, vol. 172, no. 1-4, pp. 65–87, 2002.
- [3] L. Krick, M. Broucke, and B. Francis, "Stabilisation of infinitesimally rigid formations of multi-robot networks," *International Journal of Control*, vol. 82, no. 3, pp. 423–439, 2009.
- [4] C. Nielsen and M. Maggiore, "On local transverse feedback linearization," SIAM J. Control and Optimization, vol. 47, no. 5, pp. 2227–2250, 2008.
- [5] R. Gardner and W. Shadwick, "The GS algorithm for exact linearization to Brunovsky normal form," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control.*, vol. 37, no. 2, pp. 224–230, February 1992.
- [6] M. Guay, "An algorithm for orbital feedback linearization of single-input control affine systems," Systems & Control Letters, vol. 38, pp. 271–281, 1999.

An optimal predictive control strategy for a plug-in hybrid electric powertrain

A. Taghavipour¹, N. L. Azad², J. McPhee³

¹ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, ataghavi@uwaterloo.ca

² University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, nlashgar@uwaterloo.ca

³ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, mcphee@real.uwaterloo.ca

Plug-in hybrid electric vehicle (PHEV) development seems to be essential for a sustainable transportation system along with electric vehicles. An appropriate power management strategy for a PHEV determines how to blend the engine and the battery power in such a way that leads to significant fuel economy improvement and environmental footprint reduction. Among the proposed strategies in the literature, the model predictive control (MPC) approach suggests a suboptimal solution to this problem and is able to handle hard constraints on control and states. The only serious drawback of this method is the expense of calculations for any time step of control and consequently limitations for implementing this approach on a commercial control hardware with a limited amount of CPU power and memory size. For resolving this issue, the explicit model predictive control (eMPC) approach has been proposed in the litrature. In the eMPC approach, the optimal control problem is solved offline and the results are stored as look up tables. This will significantly reduce the controls calculation time during plant operation. In this research, we use the eMPC approach to design an optimal and real-time implemetable power management strategy for a PHEV powertrain. By using an appropriate control-oriented model we can formulate the eMPC problem [1] to minimize the fuel consumption (see Eqs. (1)) while maintaining drivability and tracking a predefined battery state of charge trajectory.

$$min_{U}\left\{\sum_{j=1}^{N_{p}}\left[X^{T}(j)QX(j)+U^{T}(j)RU(j)\right]\right\}$$
(1)

In the above cost function, N_p is the length of prediction horizon, Q and R are the weighting parameters. X is the state vector, and U is the control vector consisting of the battery, the engine and braking power.Based on the optimum-operating line (OOL) of the engine we can find appropriate controls and apply them to the plug-in hybrid electric powertrain model, which results in the following figure. As seen in Fig. 1, the battery state of charge drops to the minimum possible level at the end of the trip. Therefore, the controller has maintained drivability and also kept the final SOC above the minimum level and the simulation time is faster than real-time.



Figure 1: Vehicle velocity and battery state of the charge (SOC) trajectory along two successive FTP-75 drive cycle.

References

 M. Kvasnica, P. Grieder, and M. Baotic, *Multi-Parametric Toolbox (MPT)*, Available from http://control.ee.ethz.ch/~mpt/ (2004).

Computational Materials Science (SS-CMS)

Organizers: Haipeng Wang (NPU and University of Toronto) Ziad Saghir (Ryerson University)

The in-depth application of computational science has led to many significant results in the field of materials science. A variety of computational methods, such as First Principle, Molecular Dynamics, Monte Carlo, and Phase Field, to name just a few, have been widely employed to investigate microstructure evaluation, heat and mass transfer processes, catalytic conversion and relationship between micro or nanostructure and property, etc. Computational science is playing an important role in observing and predicting crystal growth, phase transition, thermodiffusion, thermal expansion, mechanical properties, atomic structure, metallic glass formation and band gap, etc. It has become a powerful approach to develop novel materials. Many problems in diverse areas of computational materials science require dealing with multiphysics/multifield models, while modelling approaches are frequently based on multiscale techniques. This special session of computational materials science aims to share the updated achievements and to discuss the future development of applying computational science in materials science, which will relate to various metallic alloys, inorganic and organic materials.

Nucleation Heterogeneity in Shape Memory Alloys: Studies with 3D Coupled Thermo-Mechanical Phase-Field Models

Rakesh Dhote^{1,3}, Hector Gomez², Roderick Melnik^{3,4}, Jean Zu¹

¹ University of Toronto, Canada, rakesh.dhote@mail.utoronto.ca

² University of A Coruña, Spain, hgomez@udc.es

³ Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada, rmelnik@wlu.ca

⁴ Universidad Carlos III de Madrid, Spain

The microscopic defects, such as heterogeneous nucleation, play an important role in phase transformation characteristics of shape memory alloys (SMAs) [1, 2]. In this contribution, we present studies of the effect of heterogeneous nucleation on the martensitic phase transformation in SMAs by using a 3D coupled thermo-mechanical model. The model is developed based on the phase phase-field theory and the Ginzburg-Landau free energy to describe the cubic-to-tetragonal phase transformations in SMAs. It has a bi-directional coupling in the thermal and mechanical physics via strain, strain rate and temperature. The nonlinear hysteresis has been described via higher-order polynomial terms and phase transformations using fourth-order differential terms [3]. A variational form of the fully coupled thermo-mechanical 3D model, usually treated under isothermal assumptions in the literature (eg. [2, 4]), is numerically implemented in the isogeometric analysis framework, a generalization of finite element method based on non-uniform rationalized B-splines (NURBS) basis functions [3, 5]. We conduct the new studies of microstructure evolution with hetrogeneous nucleation seed in the centre of a cube domain under the influence of mechanical loading. It has been found that the heterogeneous nucleation affects martensitic evolution morphology and promotes multivariant state near the vicinity of defect.

- O. Kastner, First Principles Modelling of Shape Memory Alloys: Molecular Dynamics Simulations, Springer Series in Materials Science, vol. 163, Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg (2012).
- [2] H. She, Y. Liu and B. Wang, Phase field simulation of heterogeneous cubic → tetragonal martensite nucleation. Int. J. of Solids and Struct., dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijsolstr.2012.12.020 (2013).
- [3] R. Dhote, H. Gomez, R. Melnik and J. Zu, Isogeometric Analysis of Coupled Thermo-Mechnical Phase-Field Models for Shape Memory Alloys using Distributed Computing, Procedia Computer Science (accepted) (2013).
- [4] R. Ahluwalia, T. Lookman, and A. Saxena, Dynamic strain loading of cubic to tetragonal martensites Acta Mat., 54(8), pp.2109–2120 (2006).
- [5] J. A. Cottrell, T. J. R. Hughes and Y. Bazilevs, *Isogeometric analysis: toward integration of CAD and FEA*, John Wiley & Sons Inc. (2009).

Twinning in Strained Ferroelastics: Microstructure and Statistics

X. Ding^{1,2}, T. Lookman², A. Saxena², J. Sun¹, E.K.H. Salje³

¹ State Key Laboratory for Mechanical Behavior of Materials, Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xi'an 710049, China

² Theoretical Division, Los Alamos National Laboratory, Los Alamos, NM 87545, USA

³ Department of Earth Sciences, University of Cambridge, Cambridge CB2 3EQ, UK

The generation of functional interfaces such as superconducting and ferroelectric twin boundaries requires new ways to nucleate as many interfaces as possible in bulk materials and thin films. Materials with high densities of twin boundaries are often ferroelastics and martensites. In this review we show that the nucleation and propagation of twin boundaries depend sensitively on temperature and system size. Sudden changes of the domain pattern manifest themselves as avalanches or 'jerks' in the potential energy of the sample. At high temperatures, the change of the twin pattern is thermally activated, the probability, P, to find sudden energy changes of jerks E follows the Vogel-Fulcher statistics P(E) ~ exp (E/(T-T_{VF})), whereas the athermal regime at low temperatures corresponds to power-law statistics P(E) ~ $E^{-\varepsilon}$. We find that the complexity of the pattern is well characterized by the number of junctions between twin boundaries. Materials with soft bulk moduli have much higher junction densities than those with hard bulk moduli. Soft materials also show an increase in the junction density with diminishing sample size. The change of the complexity and the number density of twin boundaries represents an important step forward in the development of 'domain boundary engineering', where the functionality of the materials is directly linked to the domain pattern.

- [1] X. Ding, Z. Zhao, T. Looman, A.Saxena, E.Salje, *High junction and twin boundary densities in driven dynamical systems*, Advanced Materials, 2012, 24, pp.5385-5389.
- [2] Z. Zhao, X. Ding, T. Lookman, J. Sun, and E.K.H. Salje, Mechanical loss in multiferroic materials at high frequencies: friction and the evolution of ferroelastic microstructures, Advanced Materials, 2013, DOI: 10.1002/adma.201300655
- [3] X. Ding, T. Looman, Z. Zhao, A.Saxena, J. Sun, E.Salje, *Dynamically strained ferroelastics: Statistical behavior in elastic and plastic regimes*, Physical Review B, 2013, in proof
- [4] E. Salje, X. Ding, Z.Zhao, T.Lookman, A.Saxena, Thermally activated avalanches: Jamming and the procession of needle domains, Physical Review B, 2011, 83, pp104109
- [5] X. Ding, T. Lookman, E. K. H. Salje, and A. Saxena, Twinning in Strained Ferroelastics: Microstructure and Statistics, JOM, 2013, 65:pp 401-407

Investigation on Temperature Uniformity in Thermo-diffusion Cells

Seyyed Arash Mousavi, Tooraj Yousefi, Ziad Saghir, Bahram Farahbakhsh

Mechanical and Industrial Engineering department, Ryerson University, Canada, seyyedarash.mousavi@ryerson.ca

A thermodiffusion cell is used in conjunction with a Mach-Zehnder interferometer to measure properties of binary and ternary mixtures. In order to improve measurement accuracy to resolve subtle changes in the refractive index of a mixture in temperature gradient to be used to determine thermodiffusion properties, a new cell has been developed. This is a major improvement over the old cell design, which has been extensively used and proved sufficient in its range of application, Ref [1]. It can be shown that despite its acceptable capability, old cell design suffers from a number of shortcomings, which include non-uniform temperature distribution, limited measurement region due to poor thermal insulation, and misplaced injection points into the cell that cause disturbance during experiments. To study the current design and examine its limitations, a computational approach has been adopted. The numerical modeling results have led to an improved design that achieves uniform temperature distribution within the cell, improved insolation of the mixture from external thermal disturbances, and a radical approach to the injection of the mixture without disturbing the cell content. Furthermore, from the results of the computational approach, it is anticipated that the resolution and accuracy of the thermo-diffusion property measurements to be much increased.

To develop the new cell design, the natural convection heat transfer problem has been numerically modelled by choosing Boussinesq approximation. The cell is modelled to have a very small volume in a large medium (i.e., infinite domain approximation). This approach has been adopted for modelling both the new cell and old cell designs. The results are shown in Fig.1.



Figure 1: Temperature distribution on a horizontal line with 0.5 mm distance from top surface

References

[1] A. Königer, H. Wunderlich, and W. Köhler, *Measurement of diffusion and thermal diffusion in ternary fluid mixtures using a two-color optical beam deflection technique*, THE JOURNAL OF CHEMICAL PHYSICS 132, 174506 (2010)

Non-equilibrium solidification in undercooled faceted-faceted Ni-56.2 Si at % eutectic alloy

Y. P. Lu¹, Q. H. Meng¹, Y. B. Fu², T. J. Li¹

¹ Dalian University of Technology, Da Lian, China, luyiping@dlut.edu.cn

¹Dalian University of Technology, Da Lian, China, 512386247@qq.com

² Taizhou University, Tai zhou, China, 300300, Lgdfyb@163.com

¹ Dalian University of Technology, Da Lian, China, tjli@dlut.edu.cn

The maximum undercooling of 316 K was achieved in the bulk liquid Ni-56.2 at% Si eutectic alloy (faceted-faceted NiSi-NiSi2 eutectic alloys) melts through glass fluxing combined with cyclic superheating, in which a typical transition of faceted-faceted (FF) NiSi-NiSi2 eutectic takes place. A wide variety of microstructures can be obtained in the FF NiSi-NiSi2 eutectic alloys with the increase of undercooling. The metastable Si phase was obtained through slow post-solidification when undercooling \geq 14 K, and it is confirmed by optical microscope (OM), scanning electron microscope (SEM) with an electron probe microanalysis (EPMA) and differential scanning calorimetry (DSC).

Based on the principle of minimum free energy and transient nucleation theory, the phase selection of melt was discussed with regard to the metastable phases formation in the bulk undercooled FF NiSi-NiSi2 eutectic alloys. In this paper, the formation of metastable phases from undercooled FF NiSi-NiSi2 eutectic alloys was determined by the competitive nucleation with undercooling, i.e., high undercooling facilitates the preferential nucleation of metastable phases.

Homogeneous crystallization of Si_{136} clathrate from liquid: Molecular dynamics simulations

Y. J. Lü¹, J. Z. Jiang²

¹School of Physics, Beijing Institute of Technology, Beijing, P. R. China, yongjunlv@tsinghua.edu.cn

² Department of Materials Science and Engineering, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, P. R. China, jiangjz@zju.edu.cn

Silicon clathrates are open-framework structures with slightly distorted tetrahedral coordinate. The materials based on the clathrates intercalated with gust species display interesting properties such as superconductivity[1], thermoelectricity[2] and high compressibility[3], thus attracting significant attention.

From the phase diagram of silicon, Si_{136} clathrate becomes stable thermodynamically in high negative pressure regime, which leads to great difficulty in synthesis. It is important to develop a feasible synthesis route to the new form of elemental Si. There are two approaches to achieve the goal up to now. The first method is the experimental removal of guest species from metal-doped clathrates[4], and the second one is the epitaxial growth proposed by molecular dynamics simulations[5]. However, the homogeneous nucleation (crystallization) of Si_{136} clathrate has not been observed in both experiments and simulations till now.

In this work, the guest-free Si₁₃₆ clathrate is achieved by the homogeneous crystallization from liquid silicon using molecular dynamics simulations. The phase relations between the clathrate and the low density liquid (LDL) silicon are investigated at negative pressures below -2.0 GPa. The results indicate that the homogeneous crystallization of Si₁₃₆ clathrate only occurs in a narrow pressure window from -3.60 GPa to -3.80 GPa. In the wide negative pressure regime above -3.60 GPa, liquid silicon preferentially transforms to LDL that is characterized by a local tetrahedral order. Such local ordered geometry favors the formation of diamond-structured silicon but suppresses the transition to Si₁₃₆ clathrate. The influence of LDL tends to be eliminated with falling compressibility maxima as the pressure decreases, which allows for the observation of Si₁₃₆ crystallization before liquid cavitation around -3.80 GPa. Upon compressing the Si₁₃₆ clathrate above 800 K along isotherms, a transition to high density liquid Si is observed. Below 800 K, Si₁₃₆ is found to be compressed into high density amorphous Si via two steps. The periodic arrangement of the cage-like clusters is destroyed firstly, and then the polyhedra are broken in the subsequent step. The present results provide a new pathway to investigate and prepare Si₁₃₆ clathrates. It would be helpful to give an insight into the phase relations of silicon in negative pressure regime and explore the potential applications of clathrates.

- [1] D. Connetable et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 91, 247001 (2003).
- [2] K. Biswas, C. W. Myles, M. Sanati, and G. S. Nolas, J. Appl. Phys. 104, 033535 (2008).
- [3] G. K. Ramachandran et al., J. Phys. Condens. Matter 12, 4013 (2000).
- [4] J. Gryko et al., Phys. Rev. B 62, R7707 (2000).
- [5] S. Munetoh, K. Moriguchi, K. Kamei, A. Shintani, and T. Motooka, Phys. Rev. Lett. 86, 4879 (2001).

Analysis of twinned crystals via eigensymmetries of crystallographic orbits

M.A. Marzouki^{1,2}, B. Souvignier¹, M. Nespolo²

¹ Radboud University, IMAPP, Nijmegen, The Netherlands, {A.Marzouki,B.Souvignier}@science.ru.nl ² Université de Lorraine, Institut Jean Barriol, Nancy, France, Massimo.Nespolo@crm2.uhp-nancy.fr

A *twinned crystal* (twin) is a heterogeneous crystalline edifice composed of two or more homogeneous crystals of the same phase with different orientation related by a twin operation t, i.e. a crystallographic operation mapping the orientation of one individual onto that of the other(s). The heterogeneity of twins forms an obstacle for the structural investigation and the technological applications of the concerned materials (e.g. the piezoelectric effect is reduced or annihilated by the presence of twinning). Material scientists growing crystals with targeted properties aim at avoiding the formation of twins. Understanding the formation mechanism is a 'condicio sine qua non' to develop a synthesis protocol capable of reducing, if not eliminating their occurrence. Our approach allows to obtain a general structural theory of twinning which gives the sufficient conditions for the formation of twins. It is based on the search for non-characteristic crystallographic orbits whose eigensymmetry contains the twin operation t.

Twins are based on the continuation, exact or approximate, of a substructure through the composition surface. The analysis of this structural continuity can be obtained by the analysis of the (pseudo)-eigensymmetry of the crystallographic orbits corresponding to occupied Wyckoff positions in the structure. Let \mathscr{G} be the space group of the individual and O_i the orbits generated by the atoms of the structure under \mathscr{G} , with eigensymmetries $E(O_i)$ (as computed by the PSEUDO program [2]). The subgroup \mathscr{H} of \mathscr{G} which fixes the twin lattice is obtained as intersection of the space groups of the individuals in their respective orientations:

$$\mathscr{H} = \mathscr{G} \cap t \mathscr{G} t^{-1}.$$

By restricting the action to the subgroup \mathcal{H} , the atoms belonging to the orbit O_i are partitioned into a new set of orbits O_{ij} (split orbits) with eigensymmetries $E(O_{ij})$. The structural continuity is obtained if one of the following holds:

1) the (pseudo)-eigensymmetry of an orbit O_i contains the twin operation;

2) the (pseudo)-eigensymmetry of a union of orbits O_i contains the twin operation;

3) the (pseudo)-eigensymmetry of a split orbit O_{ij} contains the twin operation;

4) the (pseudo)-eigensymmetry of a union of split orbits O_{ij} contains the twin operation.

The case of the three known twins – (100), (001) and $(1\overline{2}0)$ – in melilite silicate (see [1, 3]) is analyzed and the quasi-restored orbits are illustrated. In particular, it is shown that the first two twins, which are indistinguishable from a lattice viewpoint (because the lattice is entirely restored by the twin operation in both cases) have a significantly different degree of structure restoration, which leads to an expected higher occurrence frequency for the (001) twin.

- [1] L. Bindi, L.H. Rees and P. Bonazzi, *Twinning in natural melilite simulating a fivefold superstructure*, Acta Cryst. **B59**, pp. 156-158 (2003).
- [2] C. Capillas, E.S. Tasci, G. de la Flor, D. Orobengoa, J.M. Perez-Mato and M.I. Aroyo, A new computer tool at the Bilbao Crystallographic Server to detect and characterize pseudosymmetry, Z. Krist. 226, pp. 186-196 (2011).
- [3] W.A. Deer, R.A. Howie and J. Zussman, Rock-forming minerals, Vol. 1B, 2nd edition, London, The Geological Society (1997).

Task Based Parallelization of Molecular-Dynamics Simulations with Short-Range Forces

R. Meyer¹

¹ Laurentian University, Canada, rmeyer@cs.laurentian.ca

Molecular-dynamics simulations are a versatile tool that is widely used in computational materials science [1, 2]. For simulations with short-ranged forces, the standard approach to parallelization is spatial decomposition where each processor is responsible for particles in a subvolume of the simulated system [3]. An advantage of spatial decomposition is that it can be implemented on distributed systems as well as shared-memory machines. Furthermore, the approach scales well to large number of processors as long as there are enough particles on each processor to amortize the communication overhead and if the computational load is approximately the same on all processors.

In molecular-dynamics simulations of complex nanostructured materials or nanodevices it can be difficult to achieve a good load balance since in such systems the particles are often not homogeneously distributed in space. In order to overcome this problem a new approach is presented in this work. The calculation of the forces in the simulation is divided into small tasks. The tasks are dynamically assigned to a thread pool according to a dependent task schedule. The schedule ensures that two tasks that are running concurrently will never access the same particle. This procedure effectively eliminates the need for additional synchronization of particle updates. Although the method is designed for shared-memory machines, it integrates seamlessly into a hybrid scheme that uses message passing between nodes.

The task-based approach has been implemented in a modified version of a parallel molecular-dynamics code for large-scale simulations of materials [4]. Extensive tests of the parallel speedup have been performed for crystalline bulk copper, a spherical nanoparticle and a partially sintered, porous nanocrystalline material. Standard dual hexand quad-core Xeon systems were used in the tests. In all cases the task-based approach achieves consistently high speedups. For crystalline copper, these speedups are comparable or slightly better than those achieved with spatial decomposition. For the other two systems, the task-based approach is clearly superior. Work is currently in progress to implement and test the new method on Intel's Many Integrated Core Architecture.

- [1] M. P. Allen and D. J. Tildesley, *Computer Simulations of Liquids*, (Oxford University Press, 1989).
- [2] D. Frenkel and B. Smit, Understanding Molecular Simulation, (Acedemic Press, 2001).
- [3] S. Plimpton, Fast parallel Algorithms for Short-Range Molecular-Dynamics, J. Comp. Phys. 117, 1-19 (1995).
- [4] R. Meyer, *Computer Simulations of Martensitic Transformations in Iron-Nickel and Nickel-Aluminum Alloys*, Ph.D. thesis in German (Duisburg, 1998); http://duepublico.uni-duisburg-essen.de/servlets/DerivateServlet/Derivate-5064/
- [5] http://www.intel.com/content/www/us/en/architecture-and-technology/many-integrated-core/ intel-many-integrated-core-architecture.html (accessed April 22, 2013).

Molecular Dynamics Simulation of Density for Undercooled Liquid Zirconium

H. P. Wang^{1, 2}, M. Kawaji², Z. Saghir³, B. Wei¹

¹ MOE Key Laboratory of Space Applied Physics and Chemistry, Northwestern Polytechnical University, Xi'an, China, hpwang@nwpu.edu.cn

² Department of Chemical Engineering and Applied Chemistry, University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada, kawaji@ecf.utoronto.ca

³ Department of Mechanical Engineering, Ryerson University, Toronto, Canada, zsaghir@ryerson.ca

The molecular dynamics (MD) simulation has been extensively applied in materials science as a powerful approach[1], especially in exploring metastable liquids, and thus procucting novel materials. Zirconium is an important metal in nuclear reactors due to its low neutron absorption [2], and also in metallic glass formation. Unfortunately, the fundamental properties of liquid zirconium, such as density etc. are rather limited due to the great experimental difficulty, especially for metastable state. The objective of this work is to study the density dependance of temperature of liquid zirconium by MD method.

The developped embedded atom potential model [2] is applied to simulate a cell with 4000 atoms. Nose-Hoover's NPT algorithm is performed at 100 K temperature interval, in which 200000 steps are carried out for equilibrium and deriving the final results. The simulated density linearly increases with the drop of temperature, including a maxium undercooling of 928 K, as shown in Fig. 1. The density value is 6.00 g cm⁻³ at the melting point of 2128 K, and the temperature coefficient is -2.24×10^{-4} g cm⁻³ K⁻¹. Also, the results in previous literatures[3-5] are given in Fig.1. The present result shows the relationship between density and temperature in a much broader temperature range. Especially, the data are presented for the undercooling beyond 300 K, which have not reported in the available references. This work was financially supported by National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant No.s 50971103, 51027005 and 51271150), the Program for New Century Excellent Talents of MOE, and China Scholarship Council.



Figure 1: The density of stable and metasatable liquid zirconium versus temperature.

- H. P. Wang and B. Wei, Ordered Structure Formation from Disordered Atoms Within Undercooled Liquid Rhodium, Chem. Phys. Lett. 521, 1, pp. 55-58 (2012).
- [2] M. I. Mendelev and G. J. Ackland, Development of an Interatomic Potential for the Simulation of Phase Transformations in Zirconium, Phil. Mag. Lett. 87, 5, pp. 349-359 (2007).
- [3] T. Ishikawa and P. F. Paradis, Thermophysical Properties of Molten Refractory Metals Measured by an Electrostatic Levitator, J. Electron. Mater. 34, 12, pp. 1526-1532 (2005).
- [4] T. Ishikawa, P. F. Paradis and S. Yoda, New Sample Levitation Initiation and Imaging Techniques for the Processing of Refractory Metals with an Electrostatic Levitator Furnace, Rev. Sci. Instrum. 72, 5, pp. 2490-2495 (2001).
- [5] P. F. Paradis, T. Ishikawa and S. Yoda, Experiments in materials science on the ground and in reduced gravity using electrostatic levitators, Adv. Space Res. 41, 12, pp. 2118-2125 (2008).

Drilling Force and Temperature of Metalic Material with Hollow Drill

W. D. Wang^{1,2}, Y. K. Shi¹, X. Q. Yuan¹

¹ School of Mechanical Engineering, Northwestern Polytechnical University, Xi'an, China, wdwang@mail.nwpu.edu.cn

² Mechanical and Industrial Engineering, University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada, wwang@mie.utoronto.ca

Drilling force and temperature must be controlled during the drilling of workpiece. Most of the existing literatures proposed experimental methods to reduce drilling force and detect temperature with twist drills. In some occasions, the hollow drill is required to implement drilling in stead of twist drill or core drill. In some sense, finite element analysis could provide useful data with proper computational algorithm and accurate model before designing experiments [1-3]. The drilling simulation could efficiently decrease the cost spent on experiments and uncertain risk.

In this talk we studied the difference of drilling force and temperature between hollow drill and twist drill. The simulation was performed in Deform 3D which generated the model of workpiece with a hollow drill model from Solidworks (seeing Figure 1). The metalic material models of hollow drill (Carbride-15%Cobalt) and workpiece (Al-20%Si_s_machining) were imported from the material library. The stress, strain, velocity, temperature and deformation of the drilling process were obtained in the defined number of simulation steps. The force curves were drawn based on the computational results in post-process. The simulation results show that the drilling force rapidly increase before the drill tip entirely drilled into the surface of workpiece (seeing Figure 2) and the mesh of the drilling model has significant effect on computation. Furthermore, the variation of drilling force and temperature against rotational speed and feed rate are consistent with the references performed on twist drills [1-4]. This work is supported by the State Scholarship Fund of China (No.2011629094), Natural Science Foundation of China (NSFC: 51105316) and NPU Foundation for Fundamental Research (NPU-FFR-JCY20130118).



Figure 1: 3D models of howllow drill and workpiece.



- K. Alam, A. V. Mitrofanov and V. V. Silberschmidt, *Finite element analysis of forces of plane cutting of cortical bone*, Comput. Mater. Sci. 46, 3, pp. 738–743 (2009).
- [2] H. P. Wang, J. Chang and B. Wei, Measurement and Calculation of Surface Tension for Undercooled Liquid Nickel and its Alloy, J. Appl. Phys. 106, 3, pp. 033506-1-4 (2009).
- [3] C. C.Tsao, H.Hocheng, Parametric study of thrust force of core drill. J. Mater. Proces. Technol. 192-193, 1, pp. 37-40 (2007).
- [4] K. Alam, A. V. Mitrofanov and VV Silberschmidt. *Experimental investigations of forces and torque in conventional and ultrasonically-assisted drilling of cortical bone*, Med. Eng. Phys. **33**, 2, pp. 234–239 (2011).

Hysterisis Algorithm For Alleviating Organic LED Degradation

N. Yang^{1,2}, Y. K. Shi¹, W. D. Wang¹, X. Q. Yuan¹

¹ School of Mechatronics Engineering, Northwestern Polytechnical University, Xi'an, China, yangning0528@gmail.com
 ² Electrical and Computer Engineering, University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada, yangning0528@gmail.com

Development and application of novel materials, metallic alloys[1], inorganic and organic materials[2], have a increasing close relationship with computational science. Luminescent materials and its efficiency is becoming the most popular research domain in organic light emitting diode (OLED) devices. Fluorescence, compared to phosphorescence, has long lifetime, high thermostability and low fabrication cost. Recently, thermally active delayed fluorescence (TADF) material has been developed, which dramatically improves green and blue lighting efficiency [2]. However, the manufacturing process non-uniformity issue still causes unreliable performance even though high efficient lighting materials are applied in OLED devices. Currently, various driving schemes have been reported for minimizing ununiform brightness effect based on voltage [3] or current driving scheme and optical feedback scheme.

In this paper, a newly-elaborated compensation scheme is proposed for overcoming the problem of non-uniformity on ITO/CuPc/NPB/Alq₃/LiF/Al passive matrix OLED based on the interdependence between its luminance degradation and current drop under bias stress. The proposed method develops techniques of digital control algorithm with feedback iteration to program driving current fed into one OLED pixel within a certain hysterisis window according to the junction voltage increase in aging process. Charge bump and small detecting resistor are also adopted in the circuit to provide constant current source and detect pixel driving current, respectively. Figure 1 shows the simulation results that the compensation scheme can correspondingly add the extra current for the large impedance degraded OLED pixel in order to maintain the same brightness. This work is supported by Natural Science Foundation of China (NSFC: 51105316) and NPU Foundation for Fundamental Research (NPU-FFR-JCY20130118).



Figure 1: Transient simulation of normal and degraded OLEDs with hysteresis control and degradation compensation.

- H. P. Wang, J. Chang and B. Wei, *Measurement and Calculation of Surface Tension for Undercooled Liquid Nickel and its Alloy*, J. Appl. Phys. 106, 3, pp. 033506-1-4 (2009).
- [2] L. S. Youn, Y. Takuma and N. Hiroko, High-efficiency organic light-emitting diodes utilizing thermally activated delayed fluorescence from triazine-based donor-acceptor hybrid molecules, Appl. Phys. Lett. 101, pp. 093306-1-4 (2012).
- [3] J. Kim and S. Kim, *Design of a PMOLED driver circuit to compensate for the non-uniformity problem in the manufacturing process*, J.Korean Physi. Soc. **55**, 5, pp. 1936-1939 (2009).

Phase separation and dendritic growth of bulk undercooled ternary Co-Cu-Pb alloy

N. Yan, B. Wei

Laboratory of Space Materials Science and Technology, Northwestern Polytechnical University, Xi'an 710072, P. R. China

As an important phase transformation phenomenon, phase separation is commonly observed in various condensed matter systems such as polymers, oxides and metallic alloys [1, 2]. Especially for metallic alloys, the phase separation process of immiscible alloy melts has attracted extensive research both theoretically and experimentally in relevant fields for several decades [3]. The dendritic growth within undercooled immiscible alloy melts has also drawn more and more attention due to its potential technological applications [4]. When bulk undercooling becomes large, the dendrite growth velocity is usually enhanced and the solidification kinetics is far from equilibrium condition. The related nonequilibrium effects have been studied by many researchers for binary alloys. Further investigations remain to be done on the phase separation and dendrite growth mechanisms of more complicated ternary immiscible alloys.

The phase separation and rapid solidification of liquid ternary $Co_{45}Cu_{42}Pb_{13}$ immiscible alloy have been investigated under both bulk undercooling and containerless processing conditions. The macrosegregation pattern of the undercooled bulk alloy solidified under glass fluxing condition shows a vertical two-layer structure, which is composed of a top Co-rich zone and a bottom Cu-rich zone. As a comparison, the containerlessly solidified alloy droplets in drop tube are mainly characterized by two or three-layer core-shell structures, where the Co-rich zone is located at droplet center and the Cu-rich shell surrounds the Co-rich core. The undercooling of bulk alloy varies from 30 to 112 K at the cooling rate of 11~18 K/s. In Co-rich zone, a structural morphology transition of α (Co) phase from a coarse dendrite to an equiaxed grain takes place with the increase of undercooling. Meanwhile, the growth morphology of α (Co) phase changes from globules to fine dendrites in Cu-rich zone. The dendritic growth velocity of primary $\alpha(Co)$ phase shows a power-law relation to undercooling and achieves a maximum of 1.52 m/s at the undercooling of 112 K. According to the theoretical calculations based on the dendritic growth model, the growth of primary α (Co) phase is mainly controlled by solute-diffusion and the solute trapping occurs under high undercooling conditions. Numerical analyses indicate that the Stokes motion, solutal Marangoni convection, thermal Marangoni convection and interfacial energy play the main roles in the correlated process of macrosegregation evolution and microstructure formation.

- S. Thakur, P. A. Pullarkat, P. B. S. Kumar, Coarsening through directed droplet coalescence in fluid-fluid phase separation, Phys. Rev. E 80, pp. 011708 (2009).
- [2] N. Yan Z. Y. Hong, D. L. Geng, W. L. Wang, B. Wei, Phase separation and structure evolution of ternary Al-Cu-Sn immiscible alloy under ultrasonic levitation condition, J Alloy Compd. 528, pp. 141-145 (2012).
- [3] D. A. Bussian, S.A. Crooker, M. Yin, M. Brynda, A.L. Efros, V.I. Klimov, *Tunable magnetic exchange interactions in manganese-doped inverted core-shell ZnSe–CdSe nanocrystals*, Nature Mater. 8, pp. 35-40 (2008).
- [4] W.M. McGee, R.S. Williams, M.J. Ashwin et al., Structure, morphology, and optical properties of Ga_xIn_{1-x}N_{0.05}As_{0.95} quantum wells: Influence of the growth mechanism, Phys. Rev. B 76, 8, pp. 085309 (2007).

Computational Photonics (SS-CPH)

Organizers: Marek Wartak (Wilfrid Laurier University) Harry E. Ruda (University of Toronto)

This emerging field of computational science is playing a critically important role in designing new generations of integrated optics modules, long haul transmission and telecommunication systems. An important part is played by studies of the behavior of light and light-matter interactions using analytical and computational models. Possible areas of applications include medical diagnostics, optical computing, optical communications, and homeland security; however, it also introduces new challenges in device modeling. This special session is being organized to share recent developments in the computational aspect of photonics.

Near and Far Fields in High Quality Resonances of a Periodic Grating

V.O. Byelobrov¹, T.M. Benson², A.I. Nosich¹

¹ Institute of Radiophysics and Electronics NASU, volodia.byelobrov@gmail.com

² The George Green Institute for Electromagnetic Research, The University of Nottingham

Although the scattering of a plane wave by a periodic grating of circular cylinders is a fundamental problem of electromagnetics and has been profoundly studied since the 1960s [1], the direct notion of the specific resonances appearing near Rayleigh "anomalies" appeared only recently [2]. Late we have proven that these resonances are associated with so-called "grating modes" as specific poles of the field as a function of frequency [3]. For sub-wavelength cylinders, these poles always cluster near the Rayleigh anomalies or, in other words, their frequencies depend mainly on the grating period.

We have comprehensively investigated an infinite grating, having the period p, of identical parallel circular dielectric cylinders with radius a and refractive index α . The grating has been studied as a scatterer and also as a resonator that implies an eigenvalue problem. In the first case, we look for the reflectance of the normally incident plane wave and the field in the near and far zones. In the second case, the eigenvalues are sought in two different forms: firstly, as pairs of two real values: the lasing threshold or negative imaginary part of the cylinders' refractive index γ and real-valued frequency $\sigma = p/\lambda$ (λ being the wavelength) or, alternatively, in more classical way as complex frequencies. Accurate Maxwellian formulation and the casting of the problems to Fredholm second-kind matrix equations allow using the Gershgorin theorem for localization of the eigenvalues. On splitting the matrix by symmetry we obtain the following expression for the quality-factor of the first grating mode of the H-polarization, having $\sigma' \approx 1$:

$$Q = -\frac{\sigma'}{2\sigma''} = \frac{(\pi - 1)p^4}{2(\alpha^2 - 1)a^4\pi^4},$$
(1)

and the inverse value for the lasing threshold γ . As one can see, the quality-factor the grating mode enhances as the grating gets sparser. This is not a trivial fact as the volume of the resonator gets smaller. As we see in Fig. 1, for the grating parameters $p/a = 10, \alpha = 2.48$ the near field in such resonance is domi-

nated by an intensive standing wave along the grating, stretching very far in the normal direction. This shape becomes even more pronounced for larger values of p/a. By this reason the grating resonances can be viewed as the most promising physical effect for applications of periodic structures.

Figure 1: The total field magnitude and its cut along the normal to the grating for p/a = 10, $\alpha = 2.48$, $\sigma = 0.996713$.



- [1] V. Twersky, On scattering of waves by the infinite grating of circular cylinders, IEEE Trans. Antennas Propagat. 10, 3, pp. 737-765, (1962).
- [2] R. Gomez-Medina, et al., *Extraordinary optical reflection from sub-wavelength cylinder arrays*, Opt. Exp., **14**, no 9, pp. 3730-3737, 2006.
- [3] V.O. Byelobrov, et al., *Low-threshold lasing modes of an infinite periodic chain of quantum wires*, Opt. Lett., **35**, 21, pp. 3634-3636 (2010).
- [4] P. Ghenuche, G. Vincent, et al., Optical extinction in a single layer of nanorods, Phys. Rev. Lett., 109, 143903 (2012)

High order semi-Lagrangian solution of the Boltzmann-Poisson system: kinetic description of weakly collisional plasma.

Y. Güçlü¹, A.J. Christlieb², W.N.G. Hitchon³

^{1,2} Michigan State University, East Lansing (MI), USA. [¹yguclu@math.msu.edu, ²andrewch@math.msu.edu]
 ³ University of Wisconsin, Madison (WI), USA. [hitchon@engr.wisc.edu]

The Convected Scheme (CS) is a family of semi-Lagrangian algorithms, most usually applied to the solution of Boltzmann's equation, which uses a method of characteristics in an integral form to project a moving cell (MC) forward to a group of mesh cells. In earlier work [1], a 4th-order version of the cell-centered CS was presented, which was based on applying an a-priori correction to the position of the MC after the ballistic move and prior to remapping to the mesh. Such corrections were calculated by means of a modified equation analysis applied to the continuity equation with a prescribed flow field. The resulting 4th-order CS showed a drastically reduced numerical diffusion, while it retained the desirable properties of the original scheme (i.e. mass conservation, positivity preservation, and simplicity). More recently [2], arbitrarily high order versions of the CS were designed, suited to the accurate solution of the Vlasov-Poisson system with minimum computational resources. For sufficiently smooth solutions on a periodic domain, this new scheme shows spectral convergence to the exact solution. Such a method was applied to the kinetic description of non-collisional plasmas, and validated against classical 1D-1V test-cases in both the linear and non-linear regimes, where it showed unprecedented phase-space resolution and virtually no numerical dissipation.

In this work we introduce the effect of elastic and inelastic collisions, and we model the resulting Boltzmann-Poisson system. Specifically, we investigate the formation of a planar plasma presheath in a weakly collisional plasma, and we compare the new 1D-2V results with simulation performed with early versions of the CS [3]. In order to properly model an absorbing wall, two alternative implementations are investigated: a periodic extension of the domain, which allows us to use FFTs, and a hybrid scheme which uses lower order polynomial interpolation in configuration space. In both cases, the solution shows a very sharp gradient in phase-space, at the wall and for low velocities ($v \simeq 0$); such a gradient becomes a discontinuity in the limit of vanishing collisionality, and it requires careful treatment. While being strictly mass conservative, the proposed scheme does not exactly conserve the total energy, sum of kinetic and potential energy, even in the non-collisional case and for a periodic domain. Hence, we study the effect of inexact energy conservation on the solution, and we investigate the role of the time-splitting error by comparing traditional Strang splitting with higher order algorithms, as in [4].

- [1] Y. Güçlü and W.N.G. Hitchon, A high order cell-centered semi-Lagrangian scheme for multi-dimensional kinetic simulations of neutral gas flows, J. Comput. Phys., 231, pp. 3289-3316 (2012).
- [2] Y. Güçlü, A.J. Christlieb and W.N.G. Hitchon, Conservative and positivity-preserving semi-Lagrangian kinetic schemes with spectrally accurate phase-space resolution, Submitted to the IEEE Pulsed Power & Plasma Science Conference (PPPS 2013), San Francisco, USA, 16-21 June 2013.
- [3] D.J. Koch and W.N.G. Hitchon, The effect of collisions on the plasma presheath, Phys. Fluids B, 1, 11, pp. 2239-2243 (1989).
- [4] J.A. Rossmanith and D.C. Seal, A positivity-preserving high-order semi-Lagrangian discontinuous Galerkin scheme for the Vlasov-Poisson equations, J. Comput. Phys., 230, 16, pp. 6203–6232 (2011).

Predicting Optimal Finite Field Strengths Leading to Most Precise Calculations of Nonlinear Optical Properties

Ahmed A. K. Mohammed, Peter A. Limacher, and Paul W. Ayers

Department of Chemistry and Chemical Biology, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario L8S 4M1, Canada. kamelaa@mcmaster.ca

The finite field (FF) method is a straightforward and easy-to-implement technique used in quantum chemistry to model the nonlinear optical (NLO) properties of molecules. However, its well-known dependence on the range of field strengths at which calculations are performed can compromise its efficiency.[1] We use the FF method to calculate the static dipole polarizability (α), first and second hyperpolarizability (β and γ) for a wide range of organic molecules. Within this set of 120 molecules, with two steps of Richardson extrapolation and field sequences of common ratio less than two, the truncation error is reduced and maximum precision is obtained (as compared to computationally more demanding response theory calculations).[2,3] (See Fig. 1a.) For each molecule, depending on the level of theory applied, a region of field strengths could be highlighted that produces the most precise calculations. From the correlations between the optimal field strength and different molecular quantities, we developed a protocol to estimate the optimal field strength *a priori*. Among several molecular quantities tested, the maximum nuclear distance within the molecule was the best predictor of the optimal field strength for calculating γ (Fig. 1b). These findings are currently being extended to lower derivatives of energy (α and β) and different levels of theory.



Figure 1: (a) The average minimal unsigned relative error of γ calculated for the 120 molecules of the data set at the HF/6-31G(d) level of theory as a function of the common ratio x and different steps of Richardson extrapolation m. (b) Correlation between the logarithm of optimal field strength for γ and logarithm of maximum nuclear distance.

- [1] D. M. Bishop and S.A. Solunac, Chem. Phys. Lett. 122, 567 (1985)
- [2] M. Medved, M. Stachová, D. Jacquemin, J-M. André, E. A. Perpète, THEOCHEM 874, 39 (2007)
- [3] A. A. K. Mohammed, P. A. Limacher, B. Champagne, J. Comput. Chem. (in press)

Mathematical and Computational Modeling of Noise Characteristics of Channel Amplifiers

A. Shymanska

Auckland University of Technology, New Zealand, alla.shymanska@aut.ac.nz

Microchannel electron multipliers, which amplify the input current of electrons through complicated stochastic processes, have found wide applications in different areas due to a number of remarkable properties [1]. However, statistical fluctuations in the gain of the channels increase a noise factor which is a measure of the loss of available information. Investigations dealing with reducing of the noise factor are of considerable practical interest.

This work is devoted to computational modeling of stochastic processes of the electron multiplication in the electron amplifiers in order to reduce the noise factor. Here, the effects of the processes, arising when a layer with increased secondary emission is formed at the entrance of the channel, are investigated. The following physical picture was considered in the modeling. The electrons of a parallel monochromatic beam entering the channel hit the walls at different incidence coordinates, producing secondary electrons which are multiplied until they leave the channel. The high-efficiency emitter is deposited on the top of the contact conducting layer. Since there is no potential drop along the conducting layer, the conditions for the movement of secondary electrons in this region are different from motion of electrons in a uniform field inside the channel. Due to the spread in the collision coordinates the input electrons bombard the high-efficiency emitter and the wall of the channel not coated with the high-efficiency emitter. The area covered by the input electron beam depends on the incidence angle of the primary electrons. All these factors and parameters are taken into account in the model.

A computational method for simulation of stochastic processes of an electron multiplication in microchannel electron amplifiers is developed. It is based on 3D Monte Carlo (MC) simulations and theorems about serial and parallel amplification stages [2]. Splitting a stochastic process into a number of different stages, enables a contribution of each stage to the entire process to be easily investigated. The method preserves all advantages of the MC simulations which are used only once for one simple stage. The use of the theorems allows to conduct any further investigations and optimizations without additional MC simulations. The method provides a high calculated by the finite difference method for the Laplace equation. The part of the channel with nonuniform field is considered as a separate stage. The trajectories of the electrons in the nonuniform field are calculated by the Runge-Kutta method.

The method is used to investigate the effect on the noise factor of the incidence angle and energy of the input electron beam, the spread in incidence coordinates of the primary electrons, nonuniformity of the emitter surface, the length of the contact conducting layer, and the depth and secondary emission yield of a high-efficiency emitter. All these investigations are done without additional MC simulations for the same channel geometry. The model easily implements new experimental data without any changes in the algorithm.

- [1] Shymanska, A.V.: Numerical analysis of electron optical system with microchannel plate. J. Comput. Electron. 10, pp. 291-299 (2011)
- [2] Shymanska, A.V.: Computational modeling of stochastic processes in electron amplifiers. J. Comput. Electron. 9, pp. 93-102 (2010)

On the numerical solution of chromatographic separation models

B. Mohammadi¹, J. Tuomela²

¹ CERFACS, Toulouse, France, Bijan.Mohammadi@cerfacs.fr
 ² University of Eastern Finland, Joensuu, Finland, jukka.tuomela@uef.fi

In a chromatographic separation model one has several species moving in a fluid and interacting with each other. For each species there are 3 different variables: concentration of the liquid phase C, concentration of the solid phase S and equilibrium concentration in the interface between 2 phases E. In addition we have the vector field describing the fluid flow but this is supposed to be known.

If we have k species the model has k convection diffusion equations for C, k ODE for S and finally k constraints or algebraic equations relating C and E. The numerical difficulty of solving this kind of system is due to the fact that the algebraic equations are highly nonlinear. The standard approach has been to design special numerical schemes which would preserve the constraints as well as possible. Here we take a different approach. We differentiate the constraint equations to obtain genuine dynamics also for E variables. However, we do not forget the algebraic constraints and treat the whole system as an overdetermined problem.

One might say that in the standard approach one tries to keep the system simple and one has to design complicated numerical schemes while in our approach we make the system a bit more complicated but then we can use any standard methods for PDE. The advantage is thus that this methodology is not dependent on the particular form of the system.

We illustrate our approach using a 2 species model where one species is the salt and the other a certain protein. In this case one can actually visualize the constraint manifold as a surface in R^3 . Nonlinearities are indeed very strong but the manifold itself is not geometrically complicated. Hence there is no reason why the problem should be intrinsically numerically complicated. Indeed our computations show that with our modified model one obtains good results with standard numerical methods.

Computations in Systems Biology (SS-CSB)

Organizers: Hin Hark Gan (NYU) Gaurav Arya (UCSD)

Systems biology is the study of complex interactions within cells and how such interactions lead to emergent biological phenomena. This session explores recent progress in the development and application of computational methods towards the understanding of cellular processes and phenomena such as transcriptional and translational regulation, epigenetics, cell signaling, and diseases. The focus will be on assessing the efficacy of biophysical, bioinformatics and mathematical approaches for understanding current experimental data.

Accelerated molecular dynamics simulations and community network analysis reveal allosteric signaling pathways in a lectin-binding chaperone Calreticulin

K. Arora¹, C. L. Brooks III²

¹ Department of Chemistry, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, USA, karunesh@umich.edu

² Department of Chemistry and Biophysics Program, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, USA, brookscl@umich.edu

Calreticulin (CRT) is a multi-domain lectin-binding chaperone that plays an important role in the assembly and folding of the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I molecules that present antigenic peptides on the cell surface and enable their recognition by T-cells. Specifically, CRT binds to both specific oligosaccharide structures on MHC class I molecules during their folding as well as a polypeptide part of MHC and thus plays a crucial role in stabilizing folding intermediates, preventing aggregation, and allowing the MHC protein to attain its native structure. Recent experimental studies have shown that the initial interaction between CRT and a monoglucosylated MHC protein is glycan-driven (i.e., interaction occurs through oligosaccharides), with glycanindependent interactions representing a second step in the chaperone cycle of CRT. Still, what factors trigger a switch from glycan-dependent to glycan-independent mode of interactions between CRT and its substrate is not well understood. Through computational investigations involving molecular dynamics simulations and structure based molecular docking as well as collaborative experimental studies with Raghavan group we have shown that ATP-binding serves as a switch for toggling CRT between two distinct modes of interactions. Specifically, our results show that binding of ATP on CRT at the location that is distant from the glycan binding site leads to reduction in the affinity of CRT toward glycans and thus acts as a switch that induces a disengagement of a glycan from CRT, and induces exposure of hydrophobic regions on the surface of the globular domain allowing CRT to act as a chaperone through favoring interactions with the polypeptide component of the MHC. Further, employing accelerated molecular dynamics simulations of CRT bound to glycan and ATP together with community network analysis derived from molecular dynamics we have predicted residues that participate in allosteric signaling between ATP and glycan binding site of CRT. Modifying these residues has a large effect on the communication pathways in CRT consistent with experiments and support our model of ATP as a switch for CRT function.

3-D Higher-Order Folded Chromosome Conformations From 2-D Interaction Frequency Maps

Dario Meluzzi¹, Gaurav Arya¹

¹ Department of NanoEngineering, University of California San Diego, La Jolla, CA 92093, USA, garya@ucsd.edu

Chromatin is a fiber of histone proteins and DNA present in the nuclei of eukaryotic cells. The higher-order folding of chromatin into chromosomes, which affects various genomic processes ranging from transcription to recombination, has so far remained elusive. Recently, sophisticated experimental techniques, collectively known as chromosome conformation capture (3C), have been developed to measure the frequencies of interaction between different DNA segments within and across chromosomes [1, 2]. Such 2D maps of interaction frequencies (IFs) can in principle be used to deduce the 3D higher-order folding of the chromatin fiber, though this is a highly challenging computational problem. Here, we present a new computational approach [3] to recover the ensemble of chromatin conformations consistent with a set of given IF measurements. In this approach, we treat the examined chromosomal domain using a restrained bead-chain model, which captures the physical properties of the chromatin fiber and its looping interactions. We then perform dynamical simulations of such a restrained bead-chain to determine its ensemble-averaged IF map and utilize an adaptive learning algorithm to iteratively refine the strengths of the imposed restraints until a match between the computed and input IF map is achieved. Our approach offers multiple advantages over existing alternatives, including use of physical models of chromatin, avoidance of preconceived relationships between IFs and spatial distances, prediction of ensembles rather than unique structures, and intrinsic validation of the computed ensemble based on IF. The above approach has been validated against multiple simulated test systems, and we are currently refining the approach against known experimental IF and spatial distance measurements. We expect the final, refined approach to become a valuable tool for researchers examining the higher order organization of chromatin.

- [1] J. Dekker, K. Rippe, M. Dekker, and N. Kleckner. *Capturing chromosome conformation*, Science 295, pp. 1306–1311 (2002).
- [2] E. Lieberman-Aiden et al. Comprehensive mapping of long-range interactions reveals folding principles of the human genome, Science 326, pp. 289-293 (2009).
- [3] D. Meluzzi and G. Arya, *Recovering ensembles of chromatin conformations from contact probabilities*, Nucleic Acids Res. **41**, pp. 63–75 (2013).

Mechanics of microRNA-mediated translational regulation

<u>Hin Hark Gan¹</u> and Kristin C. Gunsalus^{1,2} ¹Center for Genomics and Systems Biology, Department of Biology, New York University, 12 Waverly Place, New York, NY 10003 ²New York University Abu Dhabi, Abu Dhabi, UAE Email: hhg3@nyu.edu, kcg1@nyu.edu

Current computational analysis of microRNA interactions is based largely on primary and secondary structure analysis. Computationally efficient tertiary structure-based methods are needed to enable more realistic modeling of the molecular interactions underlying miRNA-mediated translational repression. We incorporate algorithms for predicting duplex RNA structures, ionic strength effects, duplex entropy and free energy, and docking of duplex-Argonaute protein complexes into a pipeline to model and predict miRNA-target duplex binding energies. To ensure modeling accuracy and computational efficiency, we employ an all-atom description of RNA and a continuum description of ionic interactions using the Poisson-Boltzmann equation. Our method predicts the conformations of two constructs of Caenorhabditis elegans let-7 miRNA-target duplexes to an accuracy of ~3.8 Å root mean square distance of their NMR structures. We also show that the computed duplex formation enthalpies, entropies and free energies for eight miRNAtarget duplexes agree with titration calorimetry data. Analysis of duplex-Argonaute docking shows that structural distortions arising from single base pair mismatches in the seed region influence the activity of the complex by destabilizing both duplex hybridization and its association with Argonaute. Collectively, these results demonstrate that tertiary structure-based modeling of miRNA interactions can reveal mechanisms not accessible with current secondary structure-based methods. Future work integrating 2D- and 3D-based methods should allow transcriptome-wide analysis of post-transcriptional regulation mediated by miRNAs.

Reference

Tertiary structure-based analysis of microRNA-target interactions. Gan HH, Gunsalus KC. RNA. (2013) 19(4):539-51.

Genome organisation influences cell type-specific transcriptional programs

J.A. Mitchell¹

¹ University of Toronto, Department of Cell and Systems Biology, Toronto, Canada

The objective of our research is to understand how gene expression programs are regulated in a cell type-specific and developmentally regulated manner. Recently, chromatin looping has emerged as an important regulatory mechanism that brings distal enhancers into close physical proximity to the genes they regulate. In fact only 7% of distal enhancers in the human genome appear to regulate the closest gene in the linear sequence [1] and they therefore require chromatin loops to contact the gene(s) they regulate. In addition to chromatin loops allowing contact between distal enhancers and gene promoters, co-expressed genes are recruited to shared transcription permissive nuclear compartments when transcribed [2]. This recruitment is non random, can occur for genes on the same or different chromosomes, and depends on co-regulation by specific transcription factors [3, 4]. At a whole genome scale entire chromosomes occupy distinct territories in the nucleus which have been observed to intermingle along their boundaries by DNA FISH (fluorescence in situ hybridization) although the functional significance of this intermingling is not well understood.

To investigate genome organisation and gene transcription we use a combination of cellular imaging-based single cell assays (RNA FISH, DNA FISH, and immunocytochemistry) and cell-population based whole genome RNA sequencing (RNA-Seq) and chromosome conformation capture (3C, 4C, Hi-C). As pluripotent embryonic stem (ES) cells are known to have unique chromatin features which are lost at the very early stages of differentiation they are an ideal system in which to study dynamic changes in genome organisation and gene transcription. By interrogating Hi-C data from published studies [5,6] we observed that interactions between different chromosomes can account for 50% of a sequenced Hi-C library, however, both human and mouse ES cells display substantially fewer (10-15%) inter-chromosomal interactions than differentiated cell types suggesting that chromosomes intermingle to a lesser degree in these cells. In all cell types investigated, both common and unique chromosome pairing preferences were observed in the Hi-C data. Chromosome pairs were chosen based on the Hi-C data and investigated by DNA FISH. Pairs chosen for their close nuclear proximity based upon Hi-C interaction data were used to ascertain that the chromosome territories of these pairs within ES cells are significantly further apart than they are within differentiated cells. These data highlight the conformity between the molecular data of Hi-C and single cell imaging studies. Intriguingly these data also reveal that individual chromosome territories intermingle to a lesser degree in ES cells which may play an important role in maintaining the pluripotent phenotype or be a result of the increased transcriptional activity observed in ES cells.

- Sanyal A, Lajoie BR, Jain G, Dekker J. The long-range interaction landscape of gene promoters. Nature. 2012 Sep 6;489(7414):109-13.
 Osborne CS, Chakalova L, Brown KE, Carter D, Horton A, Debrand E, Goyenechea B, Mitchell JA, Lopes S, Reik W, Fraser P. Active
- genes dynamically colocalize to shared sites of ongoing transcription. Nat Genet. 2004 Oct;36(10):1065-71. [3] Schoenfelder S, Sexton T, Chakalova L, Cope NF, Horton A, et al. Preferential associations between co-regulated genes reveal a
- [5] Schoenfelder S, Sexton T, Chakalova L, Cope NF, Horton A, et al. Preferential associations between co-regulated genes reveal a transcriptional interactome in erythroid cells. Nat Genet. 2010 Jan;42(1):53-61.
- [4] Kang J, Xu B, Yao Y, Lin W, Hennessy C, Fraser P, Feng J. A dynamical model reveals gene co-localizations in nucleus. PLoS Comput Biol. 2011 Jul;7(7):e1002094.
- [5] Lieberman-Aiden E, van Berkum NL, Williams L, Imakaev M, Ragoczy T, et al. Comprehensive mapping of long-range interactions reveals folding principles of the human genome. Science. 2009 Oct 9;326(5950):289-93.
- [6] Dixon JR, Selvaraj S, Yue F, Kim A, Li Y, Shen Y, Hu M, Liu JS, Ren B. Topological domains in mammalian genomes identified by analysis of chromatin interactions. Nature. 2012 Apr 11;485(7398):376-80.

Investigating Oscillatory Phenomena in the Continuous Bioreactor for Production of Bioethanol Using Zymomonas Mobilis

Ibrahim Mustafa¹, Ali Elkamel², Ali Lohi³

¹ Ryerson University, Toronto, Canada, ihmustafa@ryerson.ca

² University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, aelkamel@uwaterloo.ca

³ Ryerson University, Toronto, Canada, alohi@ryerson.ca

A mathematical model is built to investigate the oscillatory behavior in the continuous stirred bioreactor for producing bio-ethanol using Zymomonas mobilis yeast. It is found that the feed substrate concentration plays an important role for the occurrence of periodic behavior at low dilution rates. The oscillatory behavior dominates the system in the range of feed substrate [70 - 245]g/L at $d = 0.05h^{-1}$. It is found that one of the proposed solutions to remove the oscillations is to increase the dilution rate. The periodic and stationery solutions are investigated in a wide range of feed substrate concentrations using bifurcation analysis and non-linear dynamics. It is found that at a high feed substrate concentration $C_{SO} = 220g/L$, and a high value of $d = 0.078h^{-1}$ which is greater than that used in the periodic phenomena, the stationery stat dominates the fermentation system, however, the oscillatory behavior appears again when the dilution rate is lower than 0.05. Furthermore, the period doubling dominates the system in the range of $d[0.028 - 0.0086]h^{-1}$ which is considered as the main way leading to chaotic behavior.

Translational Systems Biology: understanding the limits of animal models as predictors of human biology

K. Rhrissorrakrai¹, C. Poussin², L.G. Alexopoulos³, V. Belcastro², E. Bilhal¹, C. Mathis², P. Meyer¹, R. Norel¹, J.J. Rice¹, G. Stolovitzky¹, J.Hoeng², M. C. Peitsch²

¹IBM Thomas J. Watson Research Center, NY 10598, USA

²Philip Morris Research and Development, CH-2000 Neuchâtel, Switzerland ³Protatonce Ltd, Glyfada 16675, Greece

Inferring how humans respond to external cues such as drugs, chemicals, viruses or hormones is an essential question in biomedicine. Very often, however, this question cannot be addressed due to the impossibility to perform experiments in humans. A reasonable alternative consists of generating responses in animal models and "translating" the results to humans. The limitations of such translation, however, are far from clear, and systematic assessments of its actual potential are badly needed.

We designed a series of challenges in the context of the 'sbv IMPROVER' project (Industrial Methodology for Process Verification in Research; <u>http://sbvimprover.com/</u>) to address the issue of translatability between humans and rodents. Our main aim was to understand the limits and opportunities of species to species translatability at different levels of biological organization: signalling, transcriptional, and release of secreted factors (such as cytokines, chemokines or growth factors). To address this question, we selected Normal Bronchial Epithelial Cells from both human and rat origin. These cells were exposed to 52 different substances and for each stimulus, samples were collected at different time points to generate phosphoproteomic, gene expression and secreted protein data.

The central questions we posed in this challenge were:

- Can the phosphoproteomic responses induced by stimuli addressing several distinct signalling pathways in human cells be predicted given the responses generated with the same stimuli in rat cells?
- Which gene expression regulatory processes (biological pathways / functions) are translatable and therefore predictable across species, and which are too divergent?

Summarizing, we presented the community with questions and data aimed at assessing methodologies designed to infer human biology from non-human biology.

The sbv IMPROVER project, the website, and the Symposium are part of a collaborative project designed to enable scientists to learn about and contribute to the development of a new crowd sourcing method for verification of scientific data and results. The project team includes scientists from Philip Morris International's Research and Development department and IBM's Thomas J. Watson Research Center. The project is funded by PMI.

Dynamics and Bifurcations in Coupled Networks of Differential Equations: Theory and Applications (SS-DBCNDE)

Organizer: Luciano Buono (University of Ontario Institute of Technology)

The study of coupled networks of differential equations is a rich field of research having experienced recent theoretical advances and displaying a vast array of applications in physics and biology, amongst others. This special session will bring together researchers from various backgrounds who are actively involved in the study of dynamics and bifurcations in coupled networks. The scope of the session will be broad, with theoretical and applied contributions including coupled networks of ordinary differential equations, delay-coupled differential equation systems and networks with random coupling.

Low-dimensional descriptions of neural networks

<u>A. K. Barreiro¹</u>, J. Nathan Kutz², E. Shea-Brown², E. Shlizerman²

¹ Southern Methodist University, Dallas, TX, USA, abarreiro@smu.edu

² University of Washington, Seattle, WA, USA, {kutz,shlizee,etsb}@uw.edu

Biological neural circuits display both spontaneous asynchronous activity, and complex, yet ordered activity while actively responding to input. When can model neural networks demonstrate both regimes? Recently, researchers have demonstrated this capability in large, recurrently connected neural networks, or "liquid state machines", with chaotic activity [1, 2]. We study the transition to chaos in a family of such networks, and use principal orthogonal decomposition (POD) techniques to provide a lower-dimensional description of network activity.

We find that key characteristics of this transition depend critically on whether a fundamental neurobiological constraint — that most neurons are *either* excitatory or inhibitory — is satisfied. Specifically, we find that constrained networks exhibit the transition to chaos at much higher coupling strengths than unconstrained networks.

This property is the consequence of the fact that the constrained system may be described as a perturbation from a system with non-trivial symmetries. These symmetries imply the presence of both fixed points and periodic orbits that continue to act as an organizing center for solutions, even for large perturbations. In comparison, spectral characteristics of the network coupling matrix [3, 4] are relatively uninformative about the behavior of the constrained system. In this talk, we will demonstrate this phenomena in a model network and investigate its impact on the ability of constrained networks to reproduce learning tasks that have been recently investigated in unconstrained networks [2, 5].

- [1] N. Bertschinger and T. Natschläger, *Real-Time Computation at the Edge of Chaos in Recurrent Neural Networks*, Neural Computation **16**, pp. 1413-1436 (2004).
- [2] D. Sussillo and L.F. Abbott, Generating Coherent Patterns of Activity from Chaotic Neural Networks, Neuron 63, pp. 544D557 (2009).
- [3] K. Rajan and L. F. Abbott, Eigenvalue Spectra of Random Matrices for Neural Networks, Physical Review Letters 97, 188104 (2006).
- [4] Y. Wei, *Eigenvalue spectra of asymmetric random matrices for multicomponent neural networks*, Physical Review E **85**, 066116 (2012).
- [5] D. Sussillo and O. Barak, *Opening the Black Box: Low-Dimensional Dynamics in High-Dimensional Recurrent Neural Networks*, Neural Computation **25**, pp. 1-24 (2013).

Instabilities in delayed regulatory loops of the haematopoietic system

Andreea Rimbu Pruncut^{1,4} and Jacques Bélair^{1,2,3,5}

¹ Département de mathématiques et de statistique, Université de Montréal

² Centre de recherches mathématiques, Université de Montréal

³ Centre for Applied Mathematics in Bioscience and Medicine, McGill University, Montreal

⁴ and reea. rimbu@umontreal.ca

⁵ belair@crm.umontreal.ca

The production of human blood cells is regulated through a highly complex, coupled set of feedback mechanisms involving, among others, differentiation of cell lines from a common pool of stem cells and hormonal interactions between circulating cells and cells at different stages of maturation [3]. As part of a global modeling project of the full haematopoietic system, and its perturbation under pharmaceutical interventions such as chemotherapeutic treatments, we consider the prototypical system of two coupled, negative feedback loops with time delays given by

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = -\alpha x + f_1(x(t-\tau_1)) + f_2(y(t-\tau_2))
\frac{dy}{dt} = -\beta y + g_1(x(t-\tau_1)) + g_2(y(t-\tau_2))$$

where the functions f_i and g_k , which are monotone decreasing in each of their arguments, are taken as Hill's functions. This caricature system mimics the juxtaposition and interaction in the production of erythrocytes (red blood cells) and thrombocytes (platelets), these species being predominantly regulated by, respectively, erythropoietin and thrombopoietin. Our interest revolves around clinical observations at low levels of either of the hormones and their effective replacement by the other in supporting production of the respective cell line [1, 2]. Stability analysis of the equilibrium solution, which is shown to be unique, and computer-assisted centre manifold computations are used to determine the nature of, and the regulatory rôle played by, Hopf bifurcations in this system of delay-differential equations.

Supported by NSERC, FRQNT and Université de Montréal

- [1] Y. Beguin, Erythropoietin and platelet production, Haematologica 84, pp. 541-547 (1999).
- [2] X. Huang, L.J. Pierce et al. Erythropoietin receptor signaling regulates both erythropoiesis and megakaryopoiesis in vivo, Blood Cells, Molecules, and Diseases 44, pp. 1-6 (2010).
- [3] K. Kaushansky, M. Lichtman et al., Williams Hematology, McGraw-Hill, 8th edition (2010)
Network synchronization and mixed couplings: when friends turn enemies and vice versa

Igor Belykh¹

¹ Department of Mathematics and Statistics and Neuroscience Institute, Georgia State University, Atlanta, USA, ibelykh@gsu.edu

This talk discusses the influence of network structure on synchronization in dynamical networks with mixed graphs. A mixed graph is composed of subgraphs, connecting a subnetwork of nodes via one of the individual oscillator's variables. An illustrative example is a network of Lorenz systems where some of the nodes are coupled through the *x*-variable, some through the *y*-variable, and some through both.

We extend the connection graph method [1, 2] to derive bounds on the synchronization threshold in diffusive networks with mixed linear couplings and show that such mixed networks can have drastically different synchronization properties from networks connected through the same variables. More specifically, we prove that replacing a lightly loaded link with a stronger converging coupling via another variable (for example, replacing an *x*- with a *y*-coupling link in a network of coupled Lorenz systems) can improve synchronizability. However, such a replacement of a highly loaded (bottleneck) link can essentially worsen synchronizability and make the network unsynchronizable.

We also discuss synchronization of bursting neurons [3, 4] with mixed excitatory and inhibitory connections. Fast inhibition is known to promote pairwise asynchrony in inhibitory bursting networks [4]. We show that the addition of such repulsive inhibition to excitatory networks induces bursting synchrony, in contrast to one's expectations. Through stability and geometrical analysis, we reveal the mechanism underlying this purely synergetic phenomenon and show that it originates from the transition between bursting of different types caused by excitatory-inhibitory synaptic coupling [5].

- I. Belykh, V. Belykh, and M. Hasler, *Generalized connection graph method for synchronization in asymmetrical networks*, Physica D 224, pp. 42-51 (2006).
- [2] V. Belykh, I. Belykh, and M. Hasler, *Connection graph stability method for synchronized coupled chaotic systems*, Physica D 195, pp. 159–187 (2004).
- [3] I. Belykh, E. de Lange, and M. Hasler, Synchronization of bursting neurons: what matters in the network topology, Phys. Rev. Lett., 94, 188101 (2005).
- [4] I. Belykh and A. Shilnikov, When weak inhibition synchronizes strongly desynchronizing networks of bursting neurons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 101, 078102 (2008).
- [5] I. Belykh, R. Reimbayev, and K. Zhao, When repulsive inhibiton synchronizes excitatory networks: help from the enemy (submitted).

A Network of Symmetrically Coupled Gyroscopes

B. S. Chan¹, P-L Buono², A. Palacios¹

¹ San Diego State University, San Diego CA, USA, {bchan@projects.sdsu.edu, palacios@sciences.sdsu.edu}
 ² University of Ontario Institute of Technology, Oshawa ON, Canada Pietro-Luciano.Buono@uoit.ca

Traditional gyroscopes are mechanical devices used for measuring and maintaining orientation. They consist of spinning discs enclosed in gimbal rings that allowed for free rotation in any orientation. While accurate, these purely mechanical sensors are limited in application due to their size and friction wear. New manufacturing techniques in microelectromechanical systems (MEMS) allow for mass manufacturing of low-cost and miniaturized vibratory gyroscopes. Given their size and price, these MEMS gyroscopes are commonly found in modern electronics. At the same time, these smaller gyroscopes are more prone to external perturbations. Small disturbances, such as thermo interference, can increase phase drifts in the oscillatory signal and give inaccurate results. Thus, these gyroscopes do not meet the more rigorous requirements for use in guidance systems.

To remedy the lowered sensitivity problem, researchers are considering networks of coupled MEMS gyroscopes. Experimental [3] and numerical studies [1, 2, 4] showed that networked MEMS gyroscopes can increase the sensitivity while minimizing phase drift. In this work, we continue the previous studies by using analytic methods on a network of symmetrically coupled gyroscopes in a Hamiltonian setting. We first investigate the effects of various coupling schemes on the Hamiltonian array. Then, we apply group theoretic and normal form techniques to simplify the system. Equations of motion of the reduced system are obtained. Synchronization behavior from bifurcation and numerical analysis of the simplified system are also presented.

- [1] H. Vu, A. Palacios, V. In, P. Longhini and J. Neff, *Two-time scale analysis of a ring of coupled vibratory gyroscopes*, Physical Review E **81**, 031108 (2010).
- [2] H. Vu, A. Palacios, V. In, P. Longhini, and J. Neff, A drive-free vibratory gyroscope, Chaos 21, 013103 (2011).
- [3] S. Naik, T. Hikihara, A. Palacios, V. In, H. Vu, and P. Longhini, *Characterization of synchronization in a unidirectionally coupled system of nonlinear michromechanical resonators*, Sensors and Actuators A, 171, no. 2, pp. 361-369 (2011).
- [4] S. Naik, T. Hikihara, H. Vu, A. Palacios, V. In, P. Longhini, Local bifurcations of synchronization in self-excited and forced unidirectionally coupled micromechanical resonators, Journal of Sound and Vibration 331, no. 5, 1127-1142 (2011).

Emergent Collective Behaviour on Stochastic Coupled Cell Networks

L. DeVille¹

¹ University of Illinois, Urbana, IL, USA, rdeville@illinois.edu

We consider stochastic dynamical systems defined on networks that exhibit the phenomena of collective synchronization and metastability; by this we mean network dynamics where the individual nodes' dynamics are typically quite simple, but that the configuration exhibits complicated dynamics in its collective behavior. For concreteness, we concentrate on the case of SDE defined on networks. We also present some specific results relating to stochastic perturbations of the Kuramoto system of coupled nonlinear oscillators. Along the way, we will observe a non-standard spectral problem appearing in all of these calculations, and see that the important features of this spectral problem are related to a certain homology group defined only by the network's topology.

Chaos and reliability in fluctuation-driven, balanced spiking networks

G. Lajoie¹, K.K. Lin², E. Shea-Brown³

¹ University of Washington, Seattle USA, glajoie@amath.washington.edu

² University of Arizona, Tuscon, USA, klin@math.arizona.edu

³ University of Washington, Seattle USA, etsb@amath.washington.edu

The question of reliability arises for any dynamical system driven by an input signal: if the same signal is presented many times with different initial conditions, will the system entrain to the signal in a repeatable way? In particular, this concept of the reproducibility, or reliability, of stimulus-induced activity has a long history in neuroscience [1, 2]. Of particular interest are large, randomly coupled networks of excitatory and inhibitory units which reproduce the irregular firing that typifies cortical activity. Several models of neural dynamics are known to autonomously produce strongly chaotic dynamics, with extremely strong sensitivity of spike outputs on tiny changes in a network's initial conditions [4, 3, 5]. Here, we show that such chaos also occurs in the presence of weak and strong stimuli [6]. However, even in the chaotic regime, intermittent periods of highly reliable spiking often coexist with unreliable activity.

We propose a framework to better understand these complex dynamics, leveraging results from random dynamical systems (RDS) theory, by establishing the effect of the underlying time-dependent chaotic attractor's geometry on output spike trains. We elucidate the local dynamical mechanisms involved in this intermittent reliability, and investigate the relationship between this phenomenon and the Lyapunov exponents spectrum arising from the dynamics. A conclusion is that chaotic dynamics do not have to be an obstacle to precise spike responses, a fact with implications for signal coding in large networks.

- [1] Z. Mainen and T. Sejnowski, Science 268, p. 1503, (1995).
- [2] H. Bryant and J. Segundo, J. Physiology 260, p. 279, (1976).
- [3] M. Monteforte and F. Wolf, Phys. Rev. Lett. 105, p. 268104. (2010).
- [4] C. van Vreeswijk and H. Sompolinski, Neural Comput., (1998).
- [5] M. London, A. Roth, L. Beeren, M. Hausser and P.E. Latham, Nature 466, p. 123, (2010).
- [6] G. Lajoie, K.K. Lin and E. Shea-Brown, Phys. Rev. E, (2013) in press.

Reduced Dynamics and Noise Stabilization for Stochastic Delayed Systems.

André Longtin¹, Axel Hutt², Jérémie Lefebvre³, Victor LeBlanc⁴

¹ Physics, Université d'Ottawa, alongtin@uottawa.ca

² INRIA,Nancy, France,axel.hutt@inria.fr

³ Neurosciences, Université de Genève, champvectoriel@hotmail.com

⁴ Mathematics and Statistics, Université d'Ottawa, vleblanc@uottawa.ca

The analysis of nonlinear delay-differential equations (DDEs) subjected to external forcing is difficult due to the infinite dimensionality of the space in which they evolve. To simplify the analysis of such systems, we first develop a non-homogeneous center manifold (CM) reduction scheme, which allows the derivation of a time-dependent order parameter equation in finite dimensions [1]. This differential equation captures the major dynamical features of the delayed system. The forcing is assumed small compared to the amplitude of the autonomous system, in order to cause only small variations of the fixed points and of the autonomous CM. The time-dependent CM is shown to satisfy a non-homogeneous partial differential equation. We show, for the general scalar case, how an ansatz separating the CM into a part for the autonomous problem plus a time-dependent order-two correction leads to satisfying results. We apply the method to a transcritical bifurcation with a single or multiple periodic forcings, and highlight the validity limits of the reduction scheme. This easily leads to the case of additive stochastic driving, which we illustrate for the transcritical bifurcation. Here additive white noise shifts the mode of the probability density function of the state variable to larger amplitudes.

We further present a stochastic bifurcation in a system wth pitchfork bifurcation in the presence of both delay and additive noise [2]. A stochastic center manifold method can compute a non-delayed stochastic order parameter equation for a scalar delayed system driven by additive uncorrelated noise. This is the first analytical demonstration of noise induced transitions in such scalar SDDEs. The derived order parameter equation includes additive and multiplicative white and coloured noise. An illustrative neural system with delayed self-excitation reveals stationary states that are postponed by combined additive noise and delay. A nal brief analytical treatment of the derived order parameter equation reveals how the shift of the stationary states depends on the delay and the noise strength.

- [1] J. Lefebvre, J, A. Hutt, V. LeBlanc, and A. Longtin *Reduced dynamics for delayed systems with harmonic or stochastic forcing*. Chaos **22**, 043121 (2012)
- [2] A Hutt, J, Lefebvre, and A Longtin, *Delay stabilizes stochastic systems near a non-oscillatory instability*. Eur. Phys. Lett. **98**, 20004 (2012)

Bifurcations of Networks of Heterogeneous Two-Dimensional Integrate and Fire Neurons

W. Nicola¹, S.A. Campbell²

¹ University of Waterloo, Canada, wnicola@uwaterloo.ca

² University of Waterloo, Canada, sacampbell@uwaterloo.ca

Mean-field analysis is a process which reduces a large network of coupled oscillators into a smaller set of meaningful differential equations which are vastly simpler to analyze. Mean-field systems have recently been derived for networks of two-dimensional non-linear integrate and fire neurons [1]. Models in this class are able to realistically model the electrophysiology and action potential generation for many real neurons. The mean-field systems derived in [1] assumed homogeneity of these neurons. Here, we extend the homogeneous mean-field system in order to analyze networks of heterogeneous neurons. In particular, a set of mean-field equations is derived for a heterogeneous network. Bifurcation analysis is performed on the mean-field system to analyze how a heterogeneous network of Izhikevich neurons with spike frequency adaptation transitions to bursting, from tonically firing. The bifurcation types and regions can differ substantially in the heterogeneous case when compared to the homogeneous case. Other applications of the heterogeneous mean-field system of equations are discussed.

References

[1] W. Nicola and S.A. Campbell, *Bifurcations of large networks of two-dimensional integrate and fire neurons*, Journal of Computatioanl Neuroscience. (2013). doi=10.1007/s10827-013-0442-z

Collective Behavior of a Network of Spin Torque Nano-Oscillators

P.L. Buono¹, C. Dabrowski¹, <u>A. Palacios²</u>, J. Turtle², V. In³,

¹ University of Ontario Institute of Technology, CANADA, pietro-luciano.buono@uoit.ca

² San Diego State University, USA, palacios@euler.sdsu.edu

³ Space and Naval Warfare Center, USA, visarath@spawar.navy.mil

The 2007 Nobel prize in Physics was awarded jointly to Albert Fert and Peter Grunberg for their discovery of the Giant Magnetoresistance Effect (GMR). This effect is observed as a significant change in the electrical resistance of some materials depending on whether the magnetization of adjacent ferromagnetic layers are in antiparallel or in parallel. The most common application of this effect is the *spin nano-valve* device [2], which consists of at least two layers of ferromagnetic materials separated by a nonmagnetic metal layer. In one layer the magnetization vectors are fixed while on the other they are free. As predicted by Slonczewski and Berger [1, 4], a spin-polarized current can exert a torque on the magnetization of a ferromagnetic layer leading to precession. Then the GMR effect can convert the magnetic precession into microwave voltage signals and turn the valve into a *Spin Torque Nano-Oscillator* (STNO) whose power output, about 1 nW, is small. To generate a more powerful signal, several groups [2, 3] have proposed to harness the power of several STNOs connected together, see Fig. 1, but their collective behavior, which belongs to the field of nonlinear dynamics, has never been studied.



Figure 1: Collective behavior of two STNOs coupled in a series array through an external electrical current IDC.

A typical network configuration with N nano-oscillators, connected in series, leads to a system of differential equations with all-to-all coupling. Thus, S_N -the group of permutations of N objects-is the underlying group of symmetries of the network. In this work we use ideas and methods from Equivariant Bifurcation Theory, in particular, Equivariant Hopf bifurcation with S_N -symmetry, to explore in more detail the collective behavior of the network and, in particular, to study the nature of the bifurcations that lead into and out of the synchronization state.

- [1] L. Berger. Emission of spin waves by a magnetic multilayer traversed by a current. *Physical Review B* 54, no. 13, 9353–9358 (1996).
- [2] J. Grollier, V. Cros, and A. Fert. Synchronization of spin-transfer oscillators driven by stimulated microwave currents. *Physical Review B, Rapid Communications* 73, 060409 (2006).
- [3] S. Kaka, M.R. Pufall, W.H. Rippard, T.J. Silva, S.E. Russek, and J.A. Katine. Mutual phase-locking of microwave spin torque nano-oscillators. *Nature Letters* 437, no. 15, 389–392 (2005).
- [4] J.C. Slonczewski. Current-driven excitation of magnetic multilayers. *Journal of Magnetism and Magnetic Materials* 159, no. 13, L1–L7 (1996).

Inducing Chaos in a gene regulatory network by coupling an oscillating dynamics with a hysteresis-type one

Camille Poignard¹

¹ Laboratory of Mathematics J.A. Dieudonné, University of Nice-Sophia Antipolis, France, {uncam@unice.fr}

In Gene Regulatory Networks, many regulatory processes are *homeostatic*, that is they maintain constant some viability parameters of an organism submitted to external perturbations.

Question: Is it possible to induce a disorder (that is, a chaotic behavior) in a homeostatic regulatory dynamics?

Homeostasis is usually caused by a negative feedback, that generates oscillations. In the case of a continuous modeling, these oscillations are often made by a *Hopf bifurcation*. To deal with our problem we consider a regulatory network of 4 genes called V-system, invented by J.J Tyson and E. Pécou, and modeled in order to couple in a very simple way a system admitting a Hopf bifurcation with a one having a *hysteresis-type dynamics*. Here are the 4 equations of this model:

$$\begin{pmatrix}
\dot{A_1} = \frac{k_1 + k_{11} \left(\frac{A_1}{j_{11}}\right)^2 + k_{13} \left(\frac{A_3}{j_{13}}\right)^2}{1 + \left(\frac{A_1}{j_{11}}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{A_2}{j_{12}}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{A_3}{j_{13}}\right)^2} - \gamma_1 A_1 \\
\dot{A_2} = \frac{k_{21} \left(\frac{A_1}{j_{21}}\right)^2}{1 + \left(\frac{A_1}{j_{21}}\right)^2} - \gamma_2 A_2 \\
\dot{A_3} = \frac{k_3}{1 + \left(\frac{A_4}{j_{34}}\right)^2} - \gamma_3 A_3 \\
\dot{A_4} = \frac{k_4 + k_4 \left(\frac{A_1}{j_{41}}\right)^2}{1 + \left(\frac{A_1}{j_{41}}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{A_3}{j_{43}}\right)^2} - \gamma_4 A_4
\end{cases}$$
(1)

We first use *slow-fast dynamics* to reduce the dimension of the V-system from 4 to 3, and then we show how to construct a *Smale's Horseshoe* in a general system having the same dynamical features as this system. This permits us to find conditions on the 17 parameters, for which the V-system approximately behaves as in this general case. We finish by showing numerical evidence that the mechanism creating chaos takes place in the V-system.

- [1] John.J Tyson, Katherine.C Chen, and Bela Novak, *Sniffers, buzzers, toggles and blinkers: dynamics of regulatory and signaling pathways in the cell*, Current Opinion in Cell Biology. **15**, 2, pp 221–231(2003).
- [2] Elisabeth. Pécou, Desynchronization of one-parameter families of stable vector fields, Nonlinearity, 19, 2, pp 261–276, (2006).
- [3] Camille Poignard, *Inducing Chaos in a gene regulatory network by coupling an oscillating dynamics with a hysteresis-type dynamics*, Journal of Mathematical Biology. *Accepted*.

Density Functional Theory (SS-DFT)

Organizer: Ian Hamilton (Wilfrid Laurier University) Paul Ayers (McMaster University) Viktor Staroverov (Western University)

Density functional theory is a rapidly growing area of computational chemistry and physics. It is used for modelling the properties of materials ranging from atoms and molecules to clusters and nanostructures. In this minisymposium we focus on the development of mathematical methods to improve and extend the utility of density functional theory.

Free energies of adsorption and activation energies for organo-arsenicals at the liquid/solid interface – a computational study.

<u>A. Adamescu¹</u>, I. Hamilton², H. Al-Abadleh^{3*}

¹ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, <u>aadamesc@uwaterloo.ca</u>

² Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada, <u>ihamilton@wlu.ca</u>

³ Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada, <u>halabadleh@wlu.ca</u> (*principal investigator)

Methylated and aromatic arsenical compounds have various agricultural and industrial uses but once released into the environment they also become bio-available and a potential health hazard. The degree of mobility and bioavailability of these arsenical compounds depends highly on their interactions with reactive soil components. Thus, studying the mechanism of binding and calculating free energies of adsorption and activation energies for various reactions at the liquid/solid interface is useful for the development of accurate modeling tools as well as remediation technologies.

Herein, we present density functional theory (DFT) calculations for various ligand exchange reactions between organo-arsenical compounds and iron oxides with their Gibbs free energies of adsorption (ΔG_{ads}). Our studies reveal that both inner- and outer-sphere complexes form favorably with bidentate complexes being the most thermodynamically favorable. Single point energy calculations along reaction pathways are also included to show that high activation energies (~20 kJ/mol) are required to form bidentate complexes.

Conceptual Density-Functional Theory Formulation of a General-Purpose Reactivity Indicator: Beyond the Classic Reactivity Paradigms

J. S. M. Anderson¹, J. Melin², P. W. Ayers³

¹ Peking University, Beijing, China, anderson@pku.edu.cn

² Analytical Services Inc., Huntsville, U.S.A., junia.melin@gmail.com

³ McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada, ayers@mcmaster.ca

Predicting how and whether two molecules will react is of fundamental interest in chemistry. Many molecules are most reactive either at the site with the largest charge (electrostatically-controlled reactions) or the site with the greatest electron transfer (Fukui-controlled reactions). But some molecules fall between these two paradigms. It is also frequently observed that only a few sites in a molecule are reactive and that the characteristic reactivity of these sites persists for a wide variety of incoming reagents [1]. As such one suspects that most of the details of the incoming molecule can be neglected. With these observations in mind one can construct a reactivity indicator by studying the molecular response to a simplified "model reagent" that mimics the charge and Fukui effects of the incoming molecule [2]. It is desirable that such an indicator is easily computable and conceptually accurate. The proposed indicator can be computed easily from the charges at each site of the molecule and from the charges at each site of the molecule of interest in an electrophile). Charges can be computed with a wide variety of quantum chemistry packages including Gaussian, which is the program used in my study.

In this talk I will discuss the formulation, computational scheme, and results that come from using this model. In particular, the model will be applied to a number of systems where the reactive sites are difficult (or even impossible) to describe using conventional methods, including boraphenanthrenes, which are molecules where frontier orbital theory fails to predict the correct reaction products [3]. This method is also effective for ambidentate ligands (e.g., thiocyanate, nitrite, and sulfite) and for electrophiles with both hard and soft reactive centers (e.g., dimethyl carbonate, N-methyl-N-nitrosotoluene-p-sulfonamide) [4].

- [1] P.W. Ayers, J.S.M. Anderson and J. Bartolotti, *Perturbative Perspectives on the Chemical Reaction Prediction Problem*, Int. J. Quantum Chem., 101, pp. 520-534 (2005).
- [2] J.S.M. Anderson, J. Melin and P.W. Ayers, Conceptual density-functional theory for general chemical reactions, including those that are neither charge nor frontier-orbital controlled I. Theory and derivation of a general purposereactivity indicator, J. Chem. Th. Comp., 3, pp. 358-374 (2007).
- [3] J.S.M. Anderson, J. Melin and P.W. Ayers, Conceptual density-functional theory for general chemical reactions, including those that are neither charge nor frontier-orbital controlled II. Application to molecules where fronter molecular orbital theory fails, J. Chem. Th. Comp., 3, pp. 375-389 (2007).
- [4] J.S.M. Anderson and P.W. Ayers, *Predicting the reactivity of ambidentate nucleophiles and electrophiles using a single, generalpurpose reactivity indicator*, Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys., 9, pp. 2371-2378 (2007).

Accurate ab initio spin densities

K. Boguslawski¹, Ö. Legeza², M. Reiher¹

 ¹ ETH Zurich, Laboratory of Physical Chemistry, Wolfgang-Pauli-Strasse 10, 8093 Zurich, Switzerland {katharina.boguslawski}@phys.chem.ethz.ch
 ²Wigner Research Centre, P.O Box 49, H-1525 Budapest, Hungary

For large molecular systems such as transition metal complexes, density-functional theory (DFT) became instrumental in theoretical studies of mechanisms in metal-mediated catalysis. Yet, the treatment of open-shell systems remains a challenge for DFT [1]. In addition to the difficult prediction of ground states from states of different spin, spin density distributions considerably depend on the approximate exchange–correlation density functional if transition metal complexes containing noninnocent ligands are considered. Especially, nitric oxide as an open-shell molecule endows a corresponding transition metal nitrosyl complex with a complicated electronic structure for which qualitatively correct spin densities are difficult to obtain within the standard Kohn–Sham formalism [2].

We present highly accurate spin densities for an iron nitrosyl complex which we have identified as a challenging system for DFT and standard electron correlation methods [3]. Our approach is based on the density-matrix renormalization group (DMRG) algorithm [4, 5, 6] and allows the treatment of active orbital spaces beyond the current limit of 18 electrons correlated in 18 molecular orbitals. Furthermore, the explicit reconstruction of a complete-active-space configuration-interaction-type wave function [7] provides insights into chemically interesting features of the studied molecules such as the distribution of α - and β -electrons in terms of Slater determinants, CI coefficients, and natural orbitals. The DMRG reference spin densities can be used to validate the accuracy of DFT spin densities and assess the quality of the restricted active orbital spaces.

- [1] M. Reiher, A theoretical challenge: Transition-metal compounds Chimia 63, 140 (2009).
- [2] K. Boguslawski, C. R. Jacob and M. Reiher, Can DFT Accurately Predict Spin Densities? Analysis of Discrepancies in Iron Nitrosyl Complexes J. Chem. Theory Comput. 7, 2740 (2011).
- [3] K. Boguslawski, K. H. Marti Ö. Legeza and M. Reiher, Accurate ab initio spin densities J. Chem. Theory Comput. 8, 1970 (2012).
- [4] S. R. White Density matrix formulation for quantum renormalization groups Phys. Rev. Lett. 69, 2863 (1992).
- [5] Ö. Legeza, R. Noack, J. Sólyom, L. Tincani, Applications of Quantum Information in the Density-Matrix Renormalization Group. In *Computational Many-Particle Physics*; Fehske, H., Schneider, R., Weiße, A., Eds.; Springer: Berlin/Heidelerg, 2008; Vol. 739, pp 653–664.
- [6] K. H. Marti, M. Reiher, The density matrix renormalization group algorithm in quantum chemistry Z. Phys. Chem. 224, 583 (2010).
- [7] K. Boguslawski, K. H. Marti and M. Reiher, *Construction of CASCI-type wave functions for very large active spaces* J. Chem. Phys. 134, 224101 (2011).

Constrained 1DM Algorithm with Fractional Occupations

<u>M. Chan¹</u>, T. Verstraelen², P. Ayers³

¹ McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada, chanmhy@mcmaster.ca

² Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium, Toon.verstraelen@ugent.be

³ McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada, ayers@mcmaster.ca

We developed a new algorithm for Hartree-Fock and Kohn-Sham density-functional theory (DFT) based on direct optimization of the energy as a functional of the one-electron reduced density matrix (1DM). This algorithm is designed to be efficient for calculations on systems with fractional occupation numbers and to allow arbitrary linear and nonlinear constraints on the 1DM to be imposed. This provides a relatively simple approach to constrained-DFT and partition-DFT problems. In addition, by directly optimizing the 1DM we may circumvent the convergence failures one commonly encounters when modeling small band-gap materials.

In our algorithm, we minimize the energy with respect to the 1DM, γ , subject to the *N*-representability constraints and normalization condition on the 1DM (See Refs. [1]). We impose these conditions using the method of Lagrange multipliers (See Eqn. 1). The basic Lagrangian used in our code is therefore of the form

$$\Lambda[\boldsymbol{\gamma}, \mathbf{B}, \mathbf{P}, \boldsymbol{\mu}] = E[\boldsymbol{\gamma}] - Tr[\mathbf{B}(\boldsymbol{\gamma} - \boldsymbol{\gamma}^2 - \mathbf{P}^2)] - \boldsymbol{\mu}(N - Tr[\boldsymbol{\gamma}])$$
(1)

Additional constraints may also be imposed on the 1DM by adding additional terms to this expression. For example, we can minimize the energy of the water molecule when the population of the oxygen atom is constrained to have a specific value. We optimize the resulting Lagrangian by minimizing the norm of the Lagrangian using a nonlinear Newton-Krylov solver. To demonstrate the program, I will present DFT and Hartree Fock energies for water at several nuclear configurations in a variety of basis sets. We have also calculated energies of water with atomic constrained populations.

Our approach is implemented in the Horton electronic structure package, which is being jointly developed at Ghent University and McMaster University. In due time we hope to transform our current proof-of-principle implementation into a full-featured linear-scaling DFT program.

References

[1] P. Ayers, S. Golden, M. Levy, *Generalizations of the Hohenberg-Kohn theorem: I. Legengre Transform Constructions of Variational Principles for Density Matrices and Electron Distribution Functions*, J. Chem. Phys. **124**, pp. 054101 (2006).

Kohn-Sham effective potentials from density and correlated wavefunctions

<u>R. Cuevas-Saavedra</u>¹, V. N. Staroverov¹

¹ University of Western Ontario, London, Canada {rcuevass,vstarove}@uwo.ca

A common approach when constructing the Kohn-Sham effective potential of a many-electron system is to use only its corresponding density. This methodology, however, leads to some undesirable effects such as oscillatory nonphysical potentials and non-injective density-to-potential mapping in finite basis sets. In this contribution, we discuss an alternative approach in which not only the density of the system is utilized but also the wavefunction. The proposed algorithm is expected to be robust when tackling the density-to-potential mapping problem.

Energy Decomposition Analysis with Occupation Constraints

C. González-Espinoza¹, M. Chan², T. Verstraelen³, P. Ayers⁴

¹ McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada, gonzalce@mcmaster.ca

² McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada, chanmhy@mcmaster.ca

³ Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium, Toon.verstraelen@ugent.be

⁴ McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada, ayers@mcmaster.ca

Under the Kohn-Sham density functional theory (DFT) framework, we studied the binding energy for diatomic molecules using constrained-DFT. The new algorithm is based on the direct minimization of the energy as a functional of the one-electron density matrix (1DM), γ . In the algorithm we use the method of Lagrange Multipliers (see Eq. (1)) to enforce the normalization condition and the N-representability constraints on γ , as follows

$$\Lambda[\gamma, \mathbf{B}, \mathbf{P}, \mu] = E[\gamma] - Tr[\mathbf{B}(\gamma - \gamma^2 - \mathbf{P}^2)] - \mu(N - Tr[\gamma])$$
⁽¹⁾

This algorithm allows to impose linear and non-linear constraints to the 1DM, for example, to set the population of an specific atom \mathbf{a} in a molecule,

$$Tr[\mathbf{P}_a \gamma] = N_a[\gamma] \tag{2}$$

were N_a is the number of electrons you are restricting into the atom **a**. We add these constraints to the Lagrangian (1) and then use a non-linear Newton-Krylov solver to minimize the norm of the resulting Lagrangian. This method brings a new approach to solve constrained-DFT problems, such as DFT energy decomposition analysis (EDA, see Ref. [1]). In the present work, we imposed population constraints (see Eq. (2)) to build the different bond cases, *i.e.* standard, covalent and ionic cases, hence we calculated the potential energy surfaces of a set of diatomic molecules for each case.

This algorithm is developed and integrated into the Horton electronic structure package, ensemble at University of Ghent and McMaster University.

References

 Q. Wu, P. W. Ayers, Y. K. Zhang, Density-based energy decomposition analysis for intermolecular interactions with variationally determined intermediate state energies, J. Chem. Phys. 131, pp. 164112 (2009).

Variational Hirshfeld Ensemble

<u>F. Heidar Zadeh</u>¹, T. Verstraelen², P. W. Ayers³

¹ McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada, heidarf@mcmaster.ca

² Center of Molecular Modeling, Ghent University, Belgium, Toon.Verstraelen@UGent.be

³ McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada, ayers@mcmaster.ca

It is common to exploit the one-particle electron density to partition a molecular system into atomic regions. The necessity for such a partitioning scheme is rooted in the unquestionable role of atoms in chemistry. Nevertheless, it is not well-defined concept within the domain of quantum mechanics, as it is not an observable. This has resulted in a proliferation of different approaches to retrieve the concept of atoms in molecules (AIM) within the domain of quantum mechanics and in silico experiments based on various flavours of model theories.

One of the popular families of models is the Hirshfeld partitioning scheme [1, 2]. In order to extend it, I have developed a variational version of Hirshfeld atoms with accurate electrostatic potentials; it aims to find the promolecular density that resembles the true density as much as possible. The key definition of Hirshfeld-type atoms is retrieved by minimizing the information loss during the formation of the molecules. The obtained results are promising and generalize previous models.

- [1] R. F. Nalewajski and R. G. Parr, *Information Theory, Atoms in Molecules, and Molecular Similarity*, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. **99**, pp. 8879-82 (2000).
- [2] P. Bultinck, C. Van Alsenoy, P. W. Ayers, R. Carbó-Dorca, Critical Analysis and Extension of the Hirshfeld atoms in molecules, J. Chem. Phys., 126, 144111 (2007).

COMPUTATIONAL CHEMISTRY STUDIES ON ATMOSPHERICALLY-RELEVANT ORGANIC COMPLEXES WITH IRON

<u>G. Jones</u>¹, S. Ghose², H.A. Al-Abadleh³

¹ Department of Chemistry, Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada, jone7250@wlu.ca

² Department of Physics and Computer Science, Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada, sghose@wlu.ca

³ Department of Chemistry, Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada, halabadleh@wlu.ca

Computational studies of atmospheric aerosols is used in understanding the overall reactivity of these particles due to reactions with trace gases or those induced by absorbing solar radiation. Humic like substances in aerosols (HULIS) are considered an important class of macromolecules due to their unique photochemical properites and ability to complex to transition metals such as iron. Simple models for HULIS include gallic acid (GA) and catechol (PC). Our goal is construct clusters that mimic the ones in real aerosol systems and completely characterize the structural, electronic and vibrational properties for comparison with similar data collected experimentally. We use Density Functional Theory and the B3LYP/6-31G(d) method and basis set to analyze the changes that occur in the electronic spectra of GA and PC as they interact with iron. We used Spartan, Gaussian and ChemCraft to run the calculations. To simulate water on the surface of aerosols that faciliate ionic mobility, explicit and implicit solvation was taken into account in our calcualtions. We looked at the effect of solvation on geometrical parameters, electronic and infrared spectra. Results obtained from calculations were then compared with experimental data collected using x-ray diffraction, UV-vis and infrared spectroscopies. The implication of our results on modeling heterogeneous photochemical reactivity of these clusters will be discussed.

Toward approximating the exchange-correlation potential by explicit modeling of the exchange-correlation charge distribution

S.V. Kohut¹, V.N. Staroverov¹

¹ University of Western Ontario, London, Canada, {skohut7, vstarove}@uwo.ca

The problem of approximating the exchange-correlation potential in potential-driven density-functional theory can be viewed from the perspective of electrostatics. In this case, the potential $v_{\rm XC}(\mathbf{r})$ can be modeled indirectly in the form of the associated exchange-correlation charge distribution $q_{\rm XC}(\mathbf{r})$. This implies working in terms of known constraints, which are to be imposed on the function $q_{\rm XC}(\mathbf{r})$. As an example of such a constraint, we devise analytic integrability conditions that a model $q_{\rm XC}(\mathbf{r})$ must satisfy in order for the resulting potential to be a functional derivative. We also discuss the use of another important property of $q_{\rm XC}(\mathbf{r})$, the normalization constraint, which is responsible for the correct asymptotic behavior of the corresponding $v_{\rm XC}(\mathbf{r})$.

Variational Principles in Wave-Functional and Density-Functional Formulations of Quantum Mechanics

Mel Levy^{1,2,3}

¹ Duke University, Durham, USA

² North Carolina A&T University, Greensboro, USA

³ Tulane University, New Orleans, USA, mlevy@tulane.edu

Variational theorems are important for obtaining approximate solutions to the Schroedinger equation. With this in mind, fundamental variational principles will first be discussed within the wave-functional formulation of quantum mechanics. Then the corresponding variational principles for ground states in density and density-matrix functional theories will be reviewed briefly for the non-degenerate and degenerate situations. Based on these variational principles, properties of the exact functionals will be presented that are difficult to satisfy with approximate functionals. Special emphasis will be given to degeneracies, coordinate scaling, and potentials (functional derivatives). Then, a new time-independent density-functional theory for excited states will be presented for Coulomb systems. The lecture will conclude with a description of certain relevant unsolved mathematical problems, such as one involving an ionization energy convexity property.

Accurate Bond Dissociation Curves at Mean-Field Computational Cost: **Describing Strongly Correlated Systems with Nonorthogonal Geminals**

P.A. Limacher¹, P.W. Avers¹, P.A. Johnson¹, S. De Baerdemacker², D. Van Neck²

¹ Department of Chemistry and Chemical Biology, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, limach@mcmaster.ca

² Center for Molecular Modelling, Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium

Antisymmetrized product of electron pairs (geminals) have been recognized as conceptually interesting and highly accurate wavefunctions since the early days of quantum chemistry.[1] In contrast to the conventional orbital approach, geminals make explicit use of the two-particle nature of the Hamiltonian. It was shown in the past that such geminal methods are a particular kind of one-electron reduced density matrix functionals.[2] Although very appealing from a fundamental point of view, until recently there were no computationally tractable approaches that did not impose severe restrictions on the geminals (e.g. strong orthogonality).[3] The computational cost without these approximations would be factorial (in fact n! terms, each containing an n-by-n permanent, have to be evaluated) in the naïve approach. However, we propose alternative ways of parametrizing such permanents for a fast evaluation, and at the same time apply a projection scheme to reduce the overall computational cost to n^4 .[4]



Figure 1: The symmetric H₂ removal from a water molecule is one of the hard problems for DFT (and even coupled-cluster running into some convergence problems at long distances) for which our method predicts values highly parallel to accurate calculations (NEVPT2)

We could show that this method is highly reliable for bond dissociations (Figure 1) and accurately models all effects of strong electron correlation, yet is computationally very inexpensive.

- [1] P.R. Surján, An Introduction to the Theory of Geminals, in P.R. Surján (ed.), Correlation and Localization, Springer: Berlin, 203, pp. 63-88 (1999).
- [2] W. Kutzelnigg, Direct Determination of Natural Orbitals and Natural Expansion Coefficients of Many-Electron Wavefunctions. I. Natural Orbitals in the Geminal Product Approximation, J. Chem. Phys. 40, pp. 3640-3647 (1964).
- [3] P.R. Surjan, A. Szabados, P. Jeszenszki and T. Zoboki, Strongly orthogonal geminals: size-extensive and variational reference states, J. Math. Chem. 50, pp. 534-551 (2012).
- [4] P.A. Limacher, P.W. Avers, P.A. Johnson, S. De Baerdemacker, D. Van Neck and P. Bultinck, A New Mean-Field Method Suitable for Strongly Correlated Electrons: Computationally Facile Antisymmetric Products of Nonorthogonal Geminals, J. Chem. Theory Comput. (in press)

Kohn-Sham model for heavy atoms

C. Argaez¹, M. Melgaard²

¹ School of Mathematical Sciences, Dublin Institute of Technology, Ireland, carlos.argaezgarcia@mydit.ie
 ² Department of Mathematics, University of Sussex, United Kingdom, m.melgaard@sussex.ac.uk

The Density Functional Theory (DFT) of Kohn and Sham has emerged as the most widely-used method of electronic structure calculation in both quantum chemistry, condensed matter physics and materials science.

We study the standard and extended Kohn-Sham models for quasi-relativistic *N*-electron Coulomb systems describing heavy atoms; that is, systems where the kinetic energy of the electrons is given by the quasi-relativistic operator

$$\sqrt{-\alpha^{-2}\Delta_{x_n}+\alpha^{-4}}-\alpha^{-2}.$$

For spin-unpolarized systems in the local density approximation, we prove existence of a ground state (or minimizer) provided that the total charge Z_{tot} of K nuclei is greater than N-1 and that Z_{tot} is smaller than a critical charge $Z_c = 2\alpha^{-1}\pi^{-1}$. The proof is based on the concentration-compactness approach to locally compact variational problems involving nonlocal operators.

A density functional theory of hydrogen transfer for short-chain alkane thiols on small cationic, anionic, and neutral gold clusters

S. Smith¹, I.P. Hamilton²

¹ Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada, smit2491@wlu.ca

² Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada, ihamilton@wlu.ca

Alkane thiols are commonly used in aqueous solutions to stabilize gold clusters and prevent their aggregation. In this study density functional theory was used to calculate the geometries and vibrational frequencies of cationic, anionic, and neutral gold clusters (Au_n , n = 1 - 4), bonded to hydrogen sulfide, H_2S , methane thiol, CH_3SH , and ethane thiol, CH_3CH_2SH . For gold, a pseudopotential was used to incorporate the large relativistic effects. Thermochemical values were calculated for the transfer of a hydrogen atom from sulfur to the gold cluster for each of the complexes studied. Significantly different results were obtained for the cationic, anionic, and neutral short-chain alkane thiol-gold cluster complexes.

Towards reliable modeling of excited states of actindes from (relativistic) time-dependent density functional theory

<u>P. Tecmer^{1,2}</u>, Lucas Visscher²

¹ McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada

² Amsterdam Center for Multiscale Modeling, Vrije Universiteit, Amsterdam, The Netherlands ptecmer@gmail.com

The uranium dioxocation (UO_2^{2+}) and its isoelectronic counterparts NUN and NUO⁺ are the essential building blocks of many uranium species. These linear triatomic molecules can be further coordinated in the equatorial plane by three to six ligands [1]. Unfortunately, the nature of the chemical binding of the equatorial ligands to the uranium metal center is not yet fully understood. For better understanding of this phenomena, it is necessary to investigate the electronic spectra of different uranium-containing complexes. However, theoretical modeling of the electronic transitions of such heavy elements remains a challenging task for currently available quantum chemical methods as correlation and relativistic effects have to be treated on an equal footing.

The aim of this work is to model the electronic spectra of small uranium complexes employing wave function methods such as Complete Active Space Second-Order Perturbation Theory (CASPT2) and Intermediate Hamiltonian Fock-Space Coupled Cluster (IHFSCC) and asses the accuracy of Time-Dependent Density Functional Theory (TD-DFT) [2, 3]. The performance of different exchange–correlation functionals is tested for the spin-free and spin–orbit coupling vertical excitation energies. In addition, the importance of the Gaunt interaction in the TD-DFT spectra is discussed.



Figure 1: Performance of different exchange-correlation functionals for the spin-free vertical excitation energies with respect to IHFSCC.

- [1] R. G. Denning *Electronic structure and bonding in actinyl ions and their analogs* J. Phys. Chem. 111 (2007) 4125.
- [2] P. Tecmer and A. S. P. Gomes and U. Ekström and L. Visscher *Electronic spectroscopy of UO2*(2+), *NUO*(+) and *NUN: An Evaluation of Time-Dependent Density Functional Theory for Actinides* Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys **13** (2011) 6249.
- [3] P. Tecmer and R. Bast and K. Ruud and L. Visscher Charge-Transfer Excitations in Uranyl Tetrachloride UO2Cl4(2-): How Reliable are Electronic Spectra from Relativistic Time-Dependent Density Functional Theory? J. Chem. Phys. A 116 (2012) 7397.

A new DFT approach to polarizable force-fields

T. Verstraelen¹

¹ Center for Molecular Modeling, Ghent University, Belgium, toon.verstraelen@ugent.be

Sanderson's principle of electronegativity equalization states that, upon formation of a molecule, electrons flow until all electronegativities are equalized. Essentially the same principle is found in density functional theory (DFT), stating that the electronic ground state has a constant chemical potential. Starting from basic DFT equations, Mortier et al. derived the electronegativity equalization method (EEM), providing an elegant mathematical reformulation of Sanderson's principle [1]. The molecular electronic energy is approximated to second order in terms of atomic charges. Minimization of this energy with a total charge constraint leads to a set of linear electronegativity equations, predicting fairly accurate atomic partial charges. In principle, EEM could also be used to describe electronic linear response properties such as the molecular dipole polarizability or the dielectric constant of a crystal.

A polarizable force-field is essentially a generalization of the EEM, often including inducible atomic dipoles (and quadrupoles). It is even very common to fix the atomic charges and to describe the linear response properties with only the inducible dipoles. At first sight, it is counter-intuitive to neglect the response contributions from the atomic monopoles and to work only with the contributions from higher multipoles. However, this tendency in the literature can be explained on the basis of the fundamental limitations of EEM, which were only revealed recently. The EEM predicts that the dipole polarizability of a chain molecule grows cubically with the chain length, while one expects a linear trend in the macroscopic limit for dielectric molecules [2]. Furthermore, EEM predicts a non-integer charge transfer between different molecules, even when they are well separated. These problems limit the applicability of the EEM to small isolated molecules where an incorrect polarizability is acceptable.

In this talk, we propose a successor for the EEM: "Atom-Condensed Kohn-Sham DFT approximated to second order" (ACKS2) [3]. Relying on principles from constrained DFT and the Legendre transform of the Kohn-Sham kinetic energy, a more general approximation for the electronic energy in terms of atomic populations is derived from Kohn-Sham DFT. This new form can exhibit both metallic and dielectric limits for the dipole polarizability (in analogy with the split-charge equilibration [4]) and enables a correct dissociation limit for the atomic partial charges. A minimization of the ACKS2 energy with a total charge constraint leads to a set of linear equations that only have a marginal computational overhead compared to the EEM equations. Computational benchmarks of the ACKS2 model show that the good prediction of the anisotropy of the dipole polarizability is one of the particular strengths of the model.

- W. J. Mortier, S. K. Ghosh, and S. Shankar, *Electronegativity-equalization method for the calculation of atomic charges in molecules*, J. Am. Chem. Soc. **108**, pp. 4315–4320 (1986).
- [2] G. L. Warren, J. E. Davis, and S. Patel, *Origin and control of superlinear polarizability scaling in chemical potential equalization methods*, J. Chem. Phys. **128**, art. no. 144110 (2008).
- [3] T. Verstraelen, P. W. Ayers, V. Van Speybroeck, and M. Waroquier, ACKS2: Atom-condensed Kohn-Sham DFT approximated to second order, J. Chem. Phys. 138, art. no. 074108 (2013).
- [4] R. A. Nistor, J. G. Polihronov, M. H. Müser, and N. J. Mosey, A generalization of the charge equilibration method for nonmetallic materials, J. Chem. Phys. 125, art. no. 094108 (2006).

Decisions and Games (SS-DG)

Organizers: D. Marc Kilgour (Wilfrid Laurier University) Marcus Pivato (Trent University)

Which course of action is best? What is a decision-maker's rational choice? For deterministic problems with a clear objective, this question can be answered using optimization. In a setting of uncertainty, however, is the province of the subjective expected utility theory of Ramsey, de Finetti, and Savage, which has been extended to deal with ambiguity, multiple objectives, multiple attributes, and intertemporal decisions. But strategic uncertainty, resulting from the presence of other decision-makers with their own options and objectives, was recognized by von Neumann and Morgenstern to require new methods. Game theory, their system to model strategic interaction, was augmented by contributions from Nash, Harsanyi, Aumann, and many others, and has now revolutionized economics and made substantial impacts in political science and other social sciences. This session will feature new applications of mathematics that are inspired by attempts to understand decisions and games.

Social Choice Theory (SS-SCT)

Organizers: D. Marc Kilgour (Wilfrid Laurier University) Marcus Pivato (Trent University)

How should a group of people make a collective decision? Elect a government? Divide a common resource? Match claimants to indivisible resources? Aggregate individual judgements into a logically consistent consensus? Combine private information in an epistemically optimal way? Negotiate an agreement? Many rules have been proposed to produce collective decisions, but their appropriateness has been debated. Is the implementation of a rule computationally complex? Is the rule susceptible to manipulation, and if so how complex is that manipulation? Is the rule vulnerable to paradox and inconsistency? If a rule is internally consistent, socially efficient, and procedurally fair, is that enough? Or should it instantiate some theory of social justice? Can the conflicting norms of welfare, fairness, and collective rationality ever be reconciled? These are some of the questions that the mathematical theory of social choice seeks to answer.

Analogy in Decision-Making

M. Amarante

Université de Montréal and CIREQ, massimiliano.amarante@umontreal.ca

In the context of decision making under uncertainty, I formalize the concept of analogy: an *Analogy* between two decision problems is a mapping that transforms one problem into the other while preserving the problem's structure. After identifying the basic structure of a decision problem, I introduce the concepts of *Analogical Reasoning Operator* and of *Analogical Reasoning Preference*. The former maps the decision problem at hand into a family of decision problems, which are analogous to the problem under consideration. The latter is the result of aggregating the various analogies. I provide several representations (in decreasing order of generality) of the analogical reasoning operators. After introducing two mild assumptions on the aggregators of analogies, I characterize analogical reasoning (AR) preferences. I give several examples of AR preferences and of the associated aggregators. These include Gilboa-Schmeidler similarities, Choquet integrals and quantiles. Finally, I show that the class of Monotone Continuous Invariant Bi-separable (MCIB) preferences (which includes many popular models of decision making under uncertainty) has an important stability property: Any MCIB preference is an AR preference; conversely, every AR preference which results from aggregating MCIB preferences is an MCIB preference.

- [1] M. Amarante, Foundations of Neo-Bayesian Statistics, Journal of Economic theory 144, pp. 2146-2173 (2009).
- [2] P. Ghirardato, F. Maccheroni and M. Marinacci, *Differentiating ambiguity and ambiguity attitudes*, Journal of Economic theory **118**, pp. 133-173 (2004).
- [3] I. Gilboa and D. Schmeidler, A theory of case-based decisions, Cambridge University Press (2001).
- [4] D. Schmeidler, Integral representation without additivity, Proceeding of the AMS 97, pp. 255-261 (1986).

Fast Equilibrium Computation for Infinitely Repeated Games

Garrett Andersen¹, Vincent Conitzer¹

¹ Department of Computer Science, Duke University, Durham, NC 27708, USA, {garrett, conitzer}@cs.duke.edu

It is known that an equilibrium of an infinitely repeated two-player game (with limit average payoffs) can be computed in polynomial time, as follows: according to the folk theorem, we compute minimax strategies for both players to calculate the punishment values, and subsequently find a mixture over outcomes that exceeds these punishment values. However, for very large games, even computing minimax strategies can be prohibitive. In this paper, we propose an algorithmic framework for computing equilibria of repeated games that does not require linear programming and that does not necessarily need to inspect all payoffs of the game. This algorithm necessarily sometimes fails to compute an equilibrium, but we mathematically demonstrate that most of the time it succeeds quickly on uniformly random games, and experimentally demonstrate this for other classes of games. This also holds for games with more than two players, for which no efficient general algorithms are known.

Fair Division

S. Brams¹

¹ New York University, New York, USA, steven.brams@nyu.edu

Over the past 20 years, there has been burgeoning interest in the subject of fair division—how one divides a single divisible good (e.g., a cake), or multiple indivisible goods (e.g., the marital property in a divorce), that satisfy such properties as efficiency, envy-freeness, and equitability. Some of the major possibility and impossibility results—relating to both the existence of such a division and algorithms for producing it—will be reviewed. How these results apply to dividing land, allocating items in a family estate to heirs, determining which rooms housemates get and how much of the rent each pays for its room, and matching applicants to colleges will be among the applications discussed.

On the existence of Berge equilibrium with pseudocontinuous payoffs

M.Deghdak¹

¹ University of Constantine 1, Algeria, deghdak.messaoud@gmail.com

The concept of Berge equilibrium goes back to the book of Berge (1957) and was later formalized by Zhukovskii (1994) for differential games. For a non cooperative game with finite number of persons, this equilibrium means that if each person plays his strategy at a Berge equilibrium, then he obtains the maximum payoff if all the remaining players play their strategy in the Berge equilibrium. It is worthnoticing that the Berge equilibrium is totally different from the Nash equilibrium since the Nash equilibrium is stable with respect the deviation of any unique player. For the concept of Nash equilibrium, we refer the reader to the paper of Nash (1951). The existence of Berge equilibrium has been studied by Nessah et al (2007), Larbani and Nessah (2008), Abalo and Kostreva (2004, 2005) and Colman et al (2011). More recently, Musy et al (2012) have established the existence of Berge equilibrium without using Nash equilibrium. Previously mentioned works, the authors have assumed that payoffs of persons are continuous. However, many games as the oligopolies of Bertrand (1883) and Hotelling (1929) have discontinuous payoffs. Several authors have studied the existence of Nash equilibrium where payoffs are not necessarily continuous. Let us quote for example, Morgan and Scalso (2007). In their paper, Morgan and Scalso (2007) have proved the existence of Nash equilibrium with ''pseudocontinuous'' payoffs. In this work we prove the existence of Berge equilibrium with ''pseudocontinuous'' payoffs.

- [1] K. Abalo and M. Kostreva, Some existence theorems of Nash and Berge equilibria, App. Math. Lett. 17, pp. 569-573 (2004).
- [2] K. Abalo and M. Kostreva, Berge equilibrium : Some results from fixed point theorems, App. Math. Comput. 169, pp. 624-638 (2005).
- [3] C. Berge, Théorie générale des jeux à n personnes, Paris, France, ed. G. Villars, (1957).
- [4] J. Bertrand, *Théorie mathématique de la richesse sociale*, Journal des savants, pp. 499-508 (1883).
- [5] A. Colman, T.W. Korner, O. Musy and T. Tazdait, *Mutual support in games : Some properties of Berge equilibria*, J. Math. Psycol. 55, pp. 166-175 (2011).
- [6] H. Hoteling, The stability of competition, Economic Journal. 39, pp. 41-57 (1929).
- [7] M. Larbani and R.Nessah, A note on the existence of Berge and Berge-Nash equilibria, Math. Soc. Sci. 55, pp. 258-271 (2008).
- [8] J. Morgan and V. Scalso, *Pseudocontinuous functions and existence of Nash aquilibria*, J. Math. Eco. 43, pp. 174-183 (2007).
- [9] O. Musy, A. Pottier and T.Tazdait, A new theorem to find Berge equilibria, Int. Game. Theory. Rev. 14, N° 1, pp. 1-10 (2012).
- [10] R. Nessah, M. Larbani and T.Tazdait, A note on Berge equilibrium, App. Math. Lett. 20, pp. 926-932 (2007).
- [11]J.F. Nash, Non cooperatives games, Ann. Maths. 54, pp. 286-295 (1951).
- [12]V.I. Zukovskii, Linear quadratique differential games, Kiev, Naoukova Doumka, (1994).

The variable choice set logit model applied to the 2004 Canadian election

M. Gallego¹, N. Schofield², K. McAlister², J. S. Jeon²

¹ Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada, mgallego@wlu.ca

² Washington University, St. Louis, USA, schofield.norman@gmail.com

Formal work on the electoral model often suggests that parties should locate at the electoral mean. Recent research has found no evidence of such convergence. In order to explain non-convergence, the stochastic electoral model is extended by including a competence and sociodemographic valance in a country where regional and national parties compete in the election. That is, the model allows voters to face different sets of parties in different regions. We introduce the notion of a convergence coefficient, c for regional and national parties and show that when c is high there is a significant centrifugal tendency acting on parties. An electoral survey of the 2004 election in Canada is used to construct a stochastic electoral model of the election with two regions: Québec and the rest of Canada. The survey allows us to estimate voter positions in the policy space. The variable choice set logit model is used to built a relationship between party position and vote share. We find that in the local Nash equilibrium for the electoral mean and the Bloc Québécois, with the highest competence valence, locates at the Québec electoral mean. The New Democratic Party has a low competence valence but remains at the national mean. The Greens, with lowest competence valence, locate away from the national mean to increase its vote share.

- [1] N. Schofield, *The mean voter theorem: Necessary and sufficient conditions for convergent equilibriumu*, Review of Economic Studies **74**, pp. 965–980 (2007).
- [2] M. Gallego and N. Schofield *The convergence coefficient across political regimes*, unpublished manuscript, Washington University in St. Louis (2013).

Degree of Difficulty: A Fundamental Problem of Contest Design Y. Gerchak¹, B. D. M. Kilgour²

¹ Tel-Aviv University, Tel-Aviv, Israel, yigal@post.tau.ac.il

² Wilfrid Laurier University, mkilgour@wlu.ca

Rewards received by economic agents are typically cardinal measures of performance, but sometimes they are, at least in part, ordinal. It is well-established that rewards—cardinal or ordinal—can rationally motivate increased effort. We ask whether the cardinal or ordinal nature of the reward can affect contestants' strategies. Specifically, if level of effort is fixed and level of difficulty is the only choice, what strategy is optimal? For example, in a high-jump competition, level of effort can be considered fixed, and the only strategic choice is height attempted, or level of difficulty. Assuming that only successful candidates, or only more successful candidates, are rewarded, and that the reward may depend on level of difficulty, we study whether and how the nature of the reward

can affect optimal strategies. Basing our conclusions in part on simple probabilistic models where optimal choices can be determined analytically, we show that the structure of competitive rewards can alter contestants' rational choices. We adopt a contest-design framework: What combinations

of fixed and variable prizes cause contestants to select levels of difficulty that maximize the contest designer's expected payoff? Our general conclusion is that competition can affect strategic choices, in magnitudes and even directions that are difficult to predict.

Comparing Mutually Naïve and Strategic Sequential Selection

Brian Hopkins

Saint Peter's University, Jersey City, USA, bhopkins@saintpeters.edu

Consider two players who divide n indivisible items by alternating selection of one item at a time. The players may value the items in different orders. Requiring each player to have a strict ranking over the n items, their relative preferences can be encoded in a permutation on n letters, allowing tools of algebraic combinatorics to be used in analysis of this situation [3, 2].

When neither player knows the other's ranking of the items, each simply chooses her favorite item still available when it is her turn, the naïve strategy. When there is "one-way" knowledge, the player with knowledge predictably does better on average than the player using the naïve strategy. When both players have knowledge of the opponent's preferences, the optimal selection strategy is known [4], essentially working backwards from the last move, leading to the name "bottom-up" strategy [1].

For instance, labeling the items so that the first player's preference over six items is 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, suppose the second player's preference is $\pi = 2, 6, 3, 4, 5, 1$. Optimal play in the four possible states of knowledge is summarized in the following table (where outcomes for the second player are also presented in terms of her preferences).

	2nd naïve	2nd strategic
1st naïve	$\{1,3,4\},\{2,5,6\} = \{\pi(1),\pi(2),\pi(5)\}$	$\{1,3,5\},\{2,4,6\} = \{\pi(1),\pi(2),\pi(4)\}$
1st strategic	$\{1,2,3\},\{4,5,6\} = \{\pi(2),\pi(4),\pi(5)\}$	$\{1, 2, 4\}, \{3, 5, 6\} = \{\pi(2), \pi(3), \pi(5)\}$

Notice that, in this example, among the two possibilities where players have the same level of knowledge, the first player does better in the mutually strategic situation (1st, 2nd, and 4th ranked items versus 1st, 3rd, and 4th), while the second player does better in the mutually naïve situation (1st, 2nd, and 5th) versus 2nd, 3rd, and 5th). Is this always the case?

The current work shows that, on average, both players fare equally well under mutually naïve and mutually strategic play. Moreover, this is true no matter "how different" the players' preferences are. More specifically, the distance between permutations can be measured by the minimal number of pairs of neighborly transpositions (of the form (i, i + 1)) necessary to go from one to the other. The stronger result shows that, for any fixed permutation distance, both players fare equally well under mutually naïve and mutually strategic play among preferences that differ by that distance.

- S. Brams and P. Straffin, Prisoners' Dilemma and Professional Sports Drafts, American Mathematical Monthly 86, pp. 80-88 (1979).
- [2] B. Hopkins, Taking Turns, College Mathematics Journal 41, 4, pp. 289-297 (2010).
- [3] B. Hopkins and M. Jones, Bruhat Orders and Sequential Selection of Indivisible Items in S. Brams, W. Gehrlein, and F. Roberts (eds.), The Mathematics of Preference, Choice, and Order: Essays in Honor of Peter C. Fishburn, Springer, pp. 273-285, 2009.
- [4] D. Kohler and R. Chandrasekaran, A Class of Sequential Games, Operations Research 19, pp. 270-277 (1971).

Enumeration and Connections for Extensive-Form Games

Brian Hopkins

Saint Peter's University, Jersey City, USA, bhopkins@saintpeters.edu

A foundation of game theory, 2×2 normal-form games with strict ordinal preferences have been widely studied [3]. Enumeration was extended to 2×2 games where ties are allowed in 1986 [1]. Recently, a system of connecting strict ordinal preference 2×2 games has been developed [4] and extended to games with ties [2].

Another important game theory model is the extensive-form game. This model, often represented as a tree, allows more freedom to accommodate multiple players and varying numbers of options in the course of sequential moves. Even restricting to ordinal preferences, the number of possible extensive-form games grows rapidly with the number of possible outcomes.

The current work considers extensive-form games for two players having ordinal preferences over small numbers of outcomes. Enumeration results are derived for both strict and non-strict ordinal preferences. Further, the Robinson-Goforth system of connecting games [4] is extended to this setting, providing for a meaningful notion of distance between games and a helpful context for considering all possible games based on the same tree graph.

For example, there are 18 games using the tree shown below where both players have strict preferences over the three outcomes. Connecting these games into a 4-regular graph, using swaps of adjacent preferences as edges, shows that the games partition into three classes with a maximum distance of 5 between any two games. Embedding the 18-vertex structure into a richer setting in the style of [2] allows for the inclusion of games with ties.



- N. Fraser and M. Kilgour, Non-Strict Orindal 2 x 2 Games: A Comprehensive Computer-Assisted Analysis of the 726 Possibilities, Theory and Decisions 20, 2, pp. 99-121 (1986).
- [2] B. Hopkins, Between Neighboring Strict Ordinal Games, Canadian Economics Association, online working paper, 2011.
- [3] A. Rapoport, M. Guyer, and D. Gordon, The 2 x 2 Game, The University of Michigan Press, 1976.
- [4] D. Robinson and D. Goforth, The Topology of the 2 x 2 Games: A New Periodic Table, Routledge, 2005.

Implementation of Majority Voting Rules

S. Horan¹

¹ Université du Québec à Montréal, Canada, horan.sean@uqam.ca

In this paper, I study implementation by agenda voting, a straightforward mechanism that is widely used in practice. The main result establishes that any candidate neutral majority voting rule which satisfies the two necessary conditions identified in prior work (McKelvey and Niemi [1]; Moulin [2]) as well as a significantly weakened version of Sen's α [3] can be implemented by sophisticated voting on an agenda.

The sufficient conditions are satisfied by almost every majority voting rule discussed in the literature, including the *Uncovered Set*, the *Banks Set*, the *Minimal Covering Set*, the *Bipartisan Set*, the *Tournament Equilibrium Set*, and the *Slater Set*. This effectively shows that the *Copeland Set* is the only popular majority voting rule which is not agenda implementable. Having said this, the Copeland Set can be implemented "approximately" in the sense that there exists an agenda such that the Copeland score of any sophisticated voting outcome is at least two-thirds that of the Copeland winner(s).

The main result also clarifies what can be implemented via dominance solvable voting and backward induction, two appealing yet poorly understood solution concepts related to agenda voting.

- R. McKelvey and R. Niemi, A Multistage Game Representation of Sophisticated Voting for Binary Procedures, Journal of Economic Theory 18 1, pp. 1-22 (1978).
- [2] H. Moulin, Choosing from a Tournament, Social Choice and Welfare 3 4 pp. 271-291 (1986).
- [3] Sen, Choice Functions and Revealed Preferences, Review of Economic Studies 38 3 pp. 307-317 (1971).

When Does Approval Voting Make the "Right Choices"?

Steven J. Brams¹, <u>D. Marc Kilgour</u>²

¹ New York University, New York, USA, steven.brams@nyu.edu

² Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada, mkilgour@wlu.ca

We assume that a voter's approval of a proposal depends on (i) the proposal's probability of being right (or good or just) and (ii) the voter's probability of making a correct judgment about its rightness (or wrongness). The state of a proposal (right or wrong), and the correctness of a voter's judgment about it, are assumed, initially, to be independent. If the average probability that voters are correct in their judgments is greater than ½, then the proposal with the greatest probability of being right will, in expectation, receive the greatest number of approval votes. This result also holds when voters' probabilities of being correct are state dependent but not proposal dependent; when they are functionally related in a certain way; or when voters follow a leader with an above-average probability of correctly judging proposals. Sometimes, however, voters will more frequently select the right proposal by not following a leader and, instead, making their own independent judgments (as assumed by the Condorcet jury theorem). Applications of these results to different kinds of voting situations are discussed.

The relationship between Arrowian social welfare function and the distance-based inconsistencies in pairwise comparisons

T. Kakiashvili¹, W.W. Koczkodaj², D. Xu³

¹ Baycrest, Toronto, Canada, sudburytherapy@gmail.com

² Laurentian University, Sudbury, Canada, wkoczkodaj@cs.laurentian.ca

³ Laurentian University, Sudbury, Canada, dxu@laurentian.ca

Pairwise comparisons (PC) must have been used before numbers have been invented and modern mathematics established. It is the most natural way of comparing two objects. Ramon Llull was given credit for discovering the Borda count and Condorcet criterion (Llull winner) in the 13th century but the true theoretical foundations have been established by Thurstone in 1927 as the "law of comparative judgment". Interestingly enough, when additional PC input is considered, Arrowian social welfare function can be constructed. However, the research of the most important concepts in PC is still ongoing. A distance-based inconsistency defined in 1993 in [2] as a minimal distance from the nearest consistent triad in PC matrix A. The distance-based inconsistency localizes the most inconsistent triad (or triads). It is the maximum over all triads a_{ik}, a_{kj}, a_{ij} of elements of A (say, with all indices i,j,k distinct) of their inconsistency indicators, which can be defined as:

$$ii = 1 - \min(\frac{a_{ij}}{a_{ik}a_{kj}}, \frac{a_{ik}a_{kj}}{a_{ij}}).$$
(1)

In [1] a proof of convergence has been provided for the distance-based inconsistency. However, it was a mathematical (existential) proof. No empirical study has been ever done and this is the first publication showing how fast convergence takes place. In our experimentation, we modify all three values: a_{ik} , a_{kj} , and a_{ij} . It is done by splitting the total modification to three elements of a triad according to their relative weights. The weight-based inconsistency reduction algorithm can efficiently reduce the global inconsistency of a PC matrix under a certain threshold value (1/3 is considered as the acceptable inconsistent level). We can control the deviation in generated inconsistent PC matrices for our experimentation in the following way. The NSI PC matrix A is obtained from a random vector v by $A = [v_i/v_j]$. A random deviation is applied on all the elements in the upper triangle to make matrix A inconsistent. In order to test the convergence of weight-based method of inconsistency reduction, we: - generate 1,000 random not-so-inconsistent (NSI) PC matrices according to the method described above,

- add a deviation of 0.5 on each entry in the upper triangle,

- finding the maximal inconsistency of each PC matrix,

- counting the number of iterations needed to reduce the maximal inconsistency of the PC matrix to not more than 1/3. The result shows that the convergence was fast and rather surprising. Bringing matrices to inconsistency bellow 1/3 takes place usually in not more than 10 steps.

- [1] Koczkodaj, W.W., Szarek, S.J., On distance-based inconsistency reduction algorithms for pairwise comparisons, Logic Journal of the IGPL, pp. 859-869 (2010).
- [2] Koczkodaj, W.W., A new definition of consistency of pairwise comparisons, Mathematical and Computer Modelling, pp. 79-84 (1993).
Selfish driving behaviour and its effects on highway traffic

E. Thommes¹, M. Cojocaru², S. Nguyen³

¹ University of Guelph, Cananda, ethommes@uoguelph.ca

² University of Guelph, Cananda, mcojocar@uoguelph.ca

³ University of Guelph, Cananda, snguyen@uoguelph.ca

We model deviations from the norm behaviour of drivers, taking place on a stretch of highway traffic. The norm behaviour is described by drivers respecting the laws and rules of traffic; the deviant behaviour (or defecting from the norm) is defined as drivers who enlarge their set of strategies by strategies outside of the laws and rules of traffic (such as passing on the right, tailgating, merging too soon, etc.). Each driver has an innate probability of acting selfish, and in certain traffic conditions a driver can choose among a finite set of deviant strategies. We are studying the effect selfish driving has on the overall traffic conditions (such as appearance of congestion). The long term value of this research is be show that traffic flow and efficiency (defined as minimizing time on the road for each driver) can be increased though improving drivers' behaviour.

Ranking Multidimensional Alternatives and Uncertain Prospects

Philippe Mongin¹ and Marcus Pivato²

¹ Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique & HEC Paris. mongin@greg-hec.com

² Department of Mathematics, Trent University, Canada. marcuspivato@trentu.ca

We introduce a two-stage ranking of multidimensional alternatives, including uncertain prospects as particular case, when these objects can be given a suitable matrix form. The first stage defines a ranking of rows and a ranking of columns, and the second stage ranks matrices by applying natural monotonicity conditions to these auxiliary rankings. Owing to the Debreu-Gorman theory of additive separability, this framework is sufficient to generate very precise numerical representations. We apply them to three main types of multidimensional objects: streams of commodity baskets through time, monetary input-output matrices, and most extensively, uncertain prospects either in a social or an individual context of decision. Among other applications, the new approach delivers the strongest existing form of Harsanyi's (1955) Aggregation Theorem and casts light on the classic comparison between the *ex ante* and *ex post* Pareto principle. It also provides a novel derivation of subjective probability from preferences, in the style of Anscombe and Aumann (1963).

- [1] Anscombe, F. J., Aumann, R. J., 1963. A definition of subjective probability. Ann. Math. Statist. 34, 199-205.
- [2] Harsanyi, J. C., 1955. Cardinal welfare, individualistic ethics, and interpersonal comparisons of utility. Journal of Political Economy 63, 309–321.

Condorcet VS Borda, round n+1

W. S. Zwicker¹

¹Department of Mathematics, Union College, Schenectady NY, USA, zwickerw@union.edu

We know from the Gibbard-Satterthwaite Theorem that with three or more alternatives every resolute, nonimposing, and non-dictatorial social choice function (SCF) is manipulable. We prove a variant of this theorem that uses stronger hypotheses and provides additional information, revealing a fundamental dichotomy in the *type* of strategic vulnerability for an SCF.

Theorem 1 (Stated loosely) With four or more alternatives every resolute, neutral, and anonymous SCF f is either:

- Free from the reversal paradox, but manipulable on the subdomain $\mathcal{D}_{Condorcet}$, or
- Strategy-proof on $\mathscr{D}_{Condorcet}$ but suffers from the *reversal paradox* for some profile $P \notin \mathscr{D}_{Condorcet}$, or
- Suffers from both problems.

Terminology A *resolute SCF* is a voting rule that returns a unique winning alternative (no ties allowed) for each profile of strict (linear) preferences over a finite set A of alternatives (aka "candidates").

In a *reversal paradox* a voter changes the winner to one she strictly prefers by completely reversing her sincere ranking. A reversal represents a maximally insincere ballot – for every pair of alternatives, it misstates which of the two the voter prefers – and so a reversal paradox represents a particularly extreme form of manipulability.

A *Condorcet alternative x* is preferred to each other alternative *y* by a strict majority of voters, and $\mathscr{D}_{Condorcet}$ is the subdomain consisting of all profiles for which a Condorcet alternative exists. *Pairwise Majority Rule* selects the *Condorcet alternative* for each profile in $\mathscr{D}_{Condorcet}$. A *Condorcet extension* is an SCF that agrees with PMR on $\mathscr{D}_{Condorcet}$:

<u>Comment</u> The precise statement of Theorem 1 relaxes the neutrality and anonymity hypotheses but requires a minimum number of voters (which is increasing in the number of alternatives). The proof combines two earlier results. Campbell and Kelly [1] show that Condorcet extensions are the *only* strategy-proof SCFs on $\mathcal{D}_{Condorcet}$ (assuming weak forms of neutrality and anonymity), while Sanver and Zwicker [2] show that resolute Condorcet extensions for four or more alternatives suffer from the reversal paradox. The latter result is a strong form of Moulin's theorem in [3], [4] that resolute Condorcet extensions suffer from the *no-show paradox*.

- [1] D. E. Campbell and J. S. Kelly, A strategy-proofness characterization of majority rule, Econ Theor 22, pp. 557-568 (2003).
- [2] M. R. Sanver and W. S. Zwicker, One-way monotonicity as a form of strategy-proofness, Int J Game Theory 39, pp. 553-574 (2009).
- [3] H. Moulin, Axioms of cooperative decision making, Econometric Soc Monograph #15, Cambridge U. Press, London (1988).
- [4] H. Moulin, Condorcet's principle implies the no-show paradox, J Econ Theory 45, pp. 53-64 (1988).

Evolutionary Game Theory (SS-EGT)

Organizers: Joe Apaloo (St. Francis Xavier University) Ross Cressman (Wilfrid Laurier University)

Evolutionary game theory was initially developed almost forty years ago by the biologist, John Maynard Smith, to predict individual behavior in biological systems withour explicitly modeling the dynamics underlying their behavioral evolution. Nonetheless, the theory has been used to successfully characterize the dynamic stability of many such models. Recent examples include the Darwinian dynamics approach that combines behavioral evolution with evolving population sizes and the adaptive movements methods that investigate the spatial distributions of species among multiple habitats. The session will feature research advances in these topics as well as in other areas of game theory applied to biology.

Infinite Niche Packing

J. Apaloo¹, R. Cressman², T. Vincent³, J. Brown⁴

¹ St. Francis Xavier University, Antigonish, Canada, japaloo@stfx.ca

² Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada, rcressman@wlu.ca

⁴ University of Illinois, Chicago, USA, squirrel@darwiniandynamics.org

The evolutionary games literature has extensive coverage on the coexistence of finite number of strategies with very little discussion on the possibility of coexistence of infinite number of strategies. Gyllenberg and Meszéna ([1]) give an example of an infinite niche packing and note that such examples are not robust. Specifically, they show under some conditions that there is always a slight perturbation of the intrinsic growth rate such that the perturbed model has no equilibrium with support having a limit point. However, these results leave open the possibility that other slight perturbations maintain an equilibrium with continuous support. Our interest is in the latter possibility and we examine it with a one-dimensional model for the evolution of strategy frequencies based on the fitness function

$$\pi(x,y) = 1 - e^{-(x-y)^2/(2\sigma^2)} \frac{e^{-y^2/2}}{e^{-x^2/2}}.$$
(1)

When $\sigma^2 > 1$, this model has one monomorphic strategy that is an ESS and NIS, and thus is convergence stable. When $\sigma^2 < 1$, the monomorphic strategy is no longer an ESS but is a NIS with the implication that multiple (finite or infinite) strategies may be present in an equilibrium. Results from numerical simulations of the Darwinian dynamics ([2]) for the above model when $\sigma^2 < 1$ will be discussed.

- [1] M. Gyllenberg and G. Meszéna, On the impossibility of coexistence of infinitely many strategies, J. Math. Biol. 50, pp. 133-160 (2005).
- [2] T.L. Vincent and J.S. Brown, *Evolutionary Game Theory, Natural Selection and Darwinian Dynamics*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2005).

Game-theoretic methods for functional response and optimal foraging behavior

R. Cressman¹

¹ Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada, rcressman@wlu.ca

The number of prey of a given type consumed by a predator per unit time (i.e. the functional response) depends on the spatial distribution of the prey as well as on the decisions taken by the predator (e.g. where to search for prey, which type of prey to pursue, whether to attack, etc.) and on the times taken for these activities relative to their expected nutritional value gained. I will discuss (i) how this information can be conveniently represented in a tree diagram similar to an extensive form game; (ii) how standard functional responses such as Holling II emerge naturally from this setting; (iii) how game-theoretic methods can be used to analyze the optimal foraging strategy of the predator. The methods will be illustrated for classical diet choice and patch choice models, including those that involve the effects of simultaneously encountering different types of prey and of prey recognition effects. They will also be applied to predict equilibrium foraging behavior of a predator population with intraspecific strategies taken from a Hawk-Dove game that includes interaction times.

Plants and games: adaptive strategies for nutrient foraging and competition

G.G. McNickle¹, J.S. Brown²

¹ Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada, gg.mcnickle@gmail.com

² University of Illinois at Chicago, Chicago, USA, squirrel@uic.edu

Plants experience an ever changing environment, and are adept at assessing and responding to external cues. For example, nutrients are often patchily distributed in soil, and the majority of plants will place more roots inside nutrient rich patches compared to nutrient poor patches. Similarly, competition among plants belowground is fierce, and some plants respond to neighbours by increasing root production. Here, a game theoretical framework for adaptive root production, and its ecological consequences is presented.

Let the total nutrient harvest by plants, $H_i(v,u)$, increase with root production (u_{ij}) , nutrient encounter rate (a_{ij}) and the abundance of resource $i(R_i)$, but with diminishing returns given by,

$$H_i(v,u) = R_i\left(1 - e^{\sum a_{ij}u_j}\right)$$

It is assumed that competing plants divide up the total nutrient harvest $H_i(v, u)$, proportional to their contribution to the total uptake capacity of the community, and that root costs, c_k , scale linearly with root production. Thus net fitness, $G_k(v, u)$, of plant k, foraging on n substitutable resources, is given by,

$$G_{k}(v,u) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{a_{ik}u_{k}}{\sum_{j=1}^{k} a_{ij}u_{j}} H_{i}(v,u) - c_{k}u_{k}.$$

For a plant foraging for nutrients in the absence of competition (*i.e.* $a_{ik}u_k=\Sigma a_{ij}u_j$) the optimal root production is given by $u_k^* = \ln(a_{ik}R_i/c_k)/a_{ik}$. For plants foraging with neighbours, u_k^* must be found numerically. When $a_{ik}=a_{ij}$ and $c_k=c_j$ the game is symmetric and captures intraspecific competition. When $a_{ik}\neq a_{ij}$ and $c_k\neq c_j$ the game is asymmetric and captures interspecific competition.

Figure 1 shows the basic relationship between parameters and ESS root production. Generally, the model predicts that intraspecific competition is more intense than interspecific competition leading to higher ESS root production. Introducing multiple resources into the game allows for resource partitioning which eases competition, and therefore lowers ESS root production. Some implications of these game-theoretic plant foraging strategies for plant community ecology will be discussed.



Figure 1: ESS root production relative to resources (left), root costs (centre), and uptake capacity (right).

- [1] M.J. Hutchings and H. de Kroon, Foraging in Plants the Role of Morphological Plasticity in Resource Acquisition, Adv. Ecol. Res. 25, p. 159-238 (1994).
- [2] B.B. Casper and R.B. Jackson, Plant Competion underground, Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 28, p. 545-570 (1999).
- [3] G.G. McNickle and J.S. Brown, Evolutionarily stable strategies for nutrient foraging and belowground competition, Evol. Ecol. Res. 14, p. 667-687 (2012).

Dynamics of pattern networks in rock-paper-scissors type models

J. Menezes¹, B. F. de Oliveira², P. P. Avelino³, D. Bazeia⁴ and L. Losano⁵

¹ Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Norte, Natal, RN, Brazil, jmenezes@ect.ufrn.br

² Universidade Estadual de Maringá, Paraná, Brazil, breno@dfi.uem.br

³ Centro de Astrofísica da Universidade do Porto, Portugal, Pedro.Avelino@astro.up.pt

⁴ Universidade de São Paulo, São Paulo, SP, Brazil, bazeia@fisica.ufpb.br

⁵ Universidade Federal da Paraíba, João Pessoa, Paraíba, Brazil losano@fisica.ufpb.br

We consider rock-paper-scissors type models with an arbitrary number of species and study realizations which lead to the formation of domains composed a single species. These domains are bounded by interfaces of empty sites generated by predation of identical strength between competing species. We have shown that while models with a symmetric bidirectional predation interaction between all species lead to interface networks with multiple junctions (left panels of Fig. 1), models with one N-cyclic predator-prey rule may lead to a population network with *N*-armed spiral patterns (right panel of Fig. 1). We investigate the dynamics of interface networks and show that they evolve obeying the scaling law $L \propto t^{1/2}$, where *L* is the characteristic length of the network and *t* is the time. In contrast, the spiral pattern networks are not curvature driven and have a nearly constant characteristic length scale at late times as it was shown in Ref. [1]. We demonstrate in Ref. [2] that the interface networks are similar to those of several other nonlinear systems.



Figure 1: Snapshots of numerical simulations of the rock-paper-scissors model with 5 species. Depending on the predation probabilities between the species, interface networks with junctions and spiral patterns are formed.

- [1] P. P. Avelino, D. Bazeia, L. Losano, J. Menezes and B. F. Oliveira, *Junctions and spiral patterns in Rock-Paper-Scissors type models*, Phys. Rev. E **86**, pp. 036112-036116 (2012).
- [2] P. P. Avelino, D. Bazeia, L. Losano and J. Menezes, *Von-Neumann's and related scaling laws in Rock-Paper-Scissors type models*, Phys. Rev. E **86**, pp. 0361119-0361123 (2012).

Habitat Selection for the Ideal Free Distribution in Linear and Nonlinear (Allee Effect) Fitness

T. Tran¹, R. Cressman²

¹ Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada, tatran@wlu.ca
 ² Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada, rcressman@wlu.ca

We look at Fretwell and Lucas' (1969) article On Territorial Behaviour and Other Factors Influencing Habitat Distribution in Birds, to provide further explanation for the relationships between bird dispersal over available habitats and their habitat distribution. Fretwell and Lucas (1969) introduced the Ideal Free Distribution (IFD) to predict how birds establish themselves among habitats. An IFD is a way in which animals distribute themselves among several resource patches. The number of individuals that will migrate among various patches is proportional to the amount of resources available in each habitat, whereby the distribution of individuals (birds) among patches will minimize resource competition and maximize fitness.

It has been shown that the IFD is an evolutionarily stable strategy (ESS) of the habitat selection game when fitness is a decreasing function of patch density. An ESS is a Nash Equilibrium (NE) strategy which, if adopted by a population of players, cannot be invaded by any alternative (mutant) strategy under the influence of natural selection. The influence of some of these factors is density dependent so that the suitability in a habitat is affected by the density of birds. Fretwell and Lucas assumed initially that the effect of density is always a decrease in suitability with an increase in density, which is contrary to the Allee principle. Allee's principle states that survival and reproduction rates increase when population size is small until it reaches some threshold value K, then rates decrease once this size is larger than K.

We develop a formula for the IFD when fitness functions are linearly decreasing and when their functions increase with population size until some maximum threshold is reached. We will extend the NE, ESS, and habitat selection game concepts to the case of the Allee effect.

References

[1] Stephen Dewitt Fretwell & Henry L.Lucas Jr, On Territorial behavior and other factors influencing habitat distribution in birds.}. Raleigh, N.C, 1969

[2] Ross Cressman & Vlastimil Krivan 2006, 'Migration Dynamics for the Ideal Free Distribution. The American Naturalist - Volume 168, No 3. 2006

[3] John Maynards Smith, Evolution and the Theory of Games, Cambridge University Press 1982.

[4] Joseph Hofbauer & Karl Sigmund, Evolutionary Games and Population Dynamics, Cambridge University Press, 2010.

Interspecific Strategic Effects of Mobility in Predator-prey Systems

Fei Xu¹, Ross Cressman², Vlastimil Křivan³

¹ Department of Mathematics, Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada N2L 3C5, fxu.feixu@gmail.com

² Department of Mathematics, Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada N2L 3C5, rcressman@wlu.ca

³ Institute of Entomology, Biology Center, Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic,

and Department of Mathematics and Biomathematics, Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia,

Branišovská 31, 370 05 České Budějovice, Czech Republic, vlastimil.krivan@gmail.com

In this talk, we will investigate the dynamics of a predator-prey system with the assumption that both prey and predators use game theory-based strategies to maximize their per capita population growth rates. The predators adjust their strategies in order to catch more prey per unit time, while the prey, on the other hand, adjust their reactions to minimize the chances of being caught. Numerical simulation results indicate that, for some parameter values, the system has chaotic behavior. Our investigation reveals the relationship between the game theory-based reactions of prey and predators, and their population changes.

Geocomputational Landscapes and Spaces (SS-GLS)

Organizers: Steven A. Roberts (Wilfrid Laurier University) Colin Robertson (Wilfrid Laurier University)

In this session we bring together researchers whose work in Geography and Environmental Studies relies on the extensive use or development of new geocomputational tools. More specifically, we explore computational solutions to problems related to the configuration of features in the landscape. These methodologies often involve concern with configuration of the solutions in the mathematical spaces of their expression. For example, there will be two papers presented on the solution of multiobjective optimization problems (in 7 or greater objectives) in a combinatorial setting (greenlands system design) with a focus on the tractable computing and analysis of estimates of Pareto optimal solutions. Further papers present findings on model checking using metrics for map comparisons. Additional presentations on related topics will fill out the session.

Reducing Objectives in Many-Objective Optimization Problems for Landscape Design

Nareli Cruz-Cortés¹, Steven Roberts², and L. A. Rivera-Zamarripa¹

¹ Centro de Investigación en Computación, Instituto Politécnico Nacional, Mexico nareli@cic.ipn.mx
 ²Department of Geography and Environmental Studies, Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada, sroberts@wlu.ca

Most of the optimization problems in engineering have multiple objectives that must be optimized at the same time. They are named multi-objective optimization problems. The solution for these algorithms is composed by a set of solutions (instead of only one single solution) called the Pareto front. The algorithms to solve them grow exponentially their complexity when the number of objectives increases. Actually, the most popular multiobjective Evolutionary Algorithms (such as NSGA-II, PISA, etc.) have difficulties approximating the optimal Pareto front when the number of objectives is greater than 3 (called many-objective problems). The hypervolume-based algorithms have demonstrated to be capable to find good solutions for many objective problems, however they requiere large execution time. A very recent algorithm Partition and Selection Algorithm (PSA) [3] proposes a simple mechanism to improve diversity mechanism in many-objective evolutionary algorithms. On the other hand, the reduction of objectives is a viable alternative to deal this problem. If the number of objectives is reduced without altering the solution (or until a certain acceptable error) the problem could be solved by the current well established algorithms, reducing the execution time and improving the approximation to the Pareto front. Additionally, the visualization/analisys of the final Pareto front is easier handled by the final Decision Maker.

In this research we study the reduction of objectives with a heuristic method incorporated to an evolutive multiobjective algorithm (PSA in this case). The goal is to reduce the execution time by evaluating only a subset of objective functions at each algorithm iteration without affecting its overall performance. In addition to that, some strategies are used to make more affordable the process of analyzing the final Pareto front, such as the usage of the relation called *favour* ([1]) to differentiate between non-dominated solutions. The strategies are tested on some benchmark sets, also in a case of study referent to a combinatorial many-objective problem to landscape design [2]. This problem is conformed by eight objective functions refering to ecological configuration of lands. The goal is to decide what is the more convenient configuration for some portions of lands (considered as sites candidates to change) under the defined objective functions. This problem becomes hard to solve if the number of cadidate sites is large.

- H. Ishibuchi, N. Tsukamoto, and Y. Nojima, *Evolutionary many-objective optimization: A short review*, Proc. of 2008 IEEE Congress on Evolutionary Computation, pp. 2424-2431, Hong Kong, June 1-6, 2008.
- [2] S. A. Roberts and G.B. Hall and P. H. Calamai, *Evolutionary Multi-objective Optimization for landscape system design*, Journal of Geogr. Syst., 13, pp. 299-326 (2011).
- [3] Salomon, Shaul and Avigad, Gideon and Goldvard, Alex and Schutze, Oliver, *PSA: A New Scalable Space Partition Based Selection Algorithm for MOEA*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, Vol. 175, pg. 137-151, 2013.

LSP-GIS Method for Urban Land Suitability Decision-Making

S. Dragićević¹, <u>K. Hatch</u>², J. Dujmović³

¹ Simon Fraser University, Burnaby, Canada, suzanad@sfu.ca

² Simon Fraser University, Burnaby, Canada, khatch@sfu.ca

³ San Francisco State University, San Francisco, USA, jozo@sfsu.edu

The Logic Scoring of Preference (LSP) method is a part of general multicriteria decision making approach that has origins in the soft computing [1]. The approach features an efficient nonlinear method for suitability aggregation and allows the expression of a spectrum of fuzzy logic requirements.

For more than two decades multicriteria analysis is used in geography in combination with geographic information systems (GIS) and for solving various spatial decision problems mostly related to land-use suitability [2]. However the commonly used weighting methods in the decision modeling procedures are based on weighted linear scoring (WLS) or analytical hierarchy process (AHP). They are driven by fixed (neutral) decision logic of factor compensation. However, nonlinear models of suitability, replaceability, and mandatory, sufficent, desired and optional requirements are important for real-world decision-making. The LSP method is offering all these nonlinear logic aggregators, based on the generalized conjunction/ disjunction (GCD) function with adjustable conjunction and disjunction degrees (andness and orness). Our implementation of GCD is based on weighted power means. The method can model simultaneity, replaceability, and a wide range of other aggregators to suit various evaluation objectives. Unlikely the WLS or AHP approaches, the LSP method is based on fuzzy reasoning and can aggregate an unlimited amount of inputs without loss of significance. However to date LSP method is mostly used in computer engineering and ecology, but its full potential in spatial and geographical applications is insufficiently explored [3, 4].

The main objective of this study is to develop and test an integrated method that incorporates LSP with GIS for the multicriteria decision-making of land suitability for new urban development. Geospatial data for Metro Vancouver Area, Canada, has been used to test the proposed method. Combining the requirements related to amenities (distance from coast and parks), accessibility (distance from roads and public transportation), population density (distance from residential housing and low density areas) and physical environment (elevation, slope, aspect) were used to build the aggregation structure of the model. Raster based GIS and IDRISI software has been used to implement the decision-making approach. The sensitivity analysis was performed to evaluate the performance of the number of inputs and logical requirements of the LSP-GIS methods. Obtained results indicate that LSP method is providing improved choices for multicriteria analysis of urban land suitability and thus has a potential for use in land-use planning and decision-making.

- [1] J. Dujmovic, G. De Tre, N. Van de Weghe, LSP suitability maps, Soft Computing. 14, pp. 421-434 (2010).
- [2] J. Malczewski, GIS-based land-use suitability analysis: a critical overview, Progress in Planning, 62(1), pp.63-65 (2004)
- [3] G. De Tré, J. Dujmovic, N. Van de Weghe, Supporting Spatial Decision Making by Means of Suitability Maps. In Uncertainty Approaches for Spatial Data Modeling and Processing, (Springer, eds Kacprzyk et al, pages 271) pp. 9-27 (2010)
- [4] J. Dujmovic, G. De Tre, S. Dragicevic, Comparison of multicriteria methods for land-use suitability assessment, In Proceedings of IFSA/EUSFLAT Conference, Lisbon, Portugal, ed J. P. Carvalho, et al., pp.1404-1409 (2009)

Comparing Interpolation Techniques for Predicting Rainfall in Tropical Climates

C.C.F. Plouffe¹ C. Robertson²

¹ Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada cam.plouffe@gmail.com

² Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada crobertson@wlu.ca

Environmentally–driven spatial models are increasingly require detailed, large–scale climatic datasets. In the context of rainfall mapping, spatial interpolation techniques are therefore required to produce these inputs. While interpolation is straightforward for fully continuous phenomena like elevation and temperature, rainfall; as a semi-discrete process, is more challenging, as rainfall intensity interacts with both landscape and regional weather systems at a hierarchy of space-time scales. This is especially true in tropical settings. In this paper, four spatial interpolation techniques were analysed to test whether high quality precipitation data for Sri Lanka could be produced for use in future environmentally-driven models. The interpolation techniques tested were inverse distance weighting, thin plate smoothing splines, ordinary kriging, and Bayesian kriging.

Monthly precipitation data was interpolated for all of Sri Lanka from agricultural weather stations, and compared to both a network of official meteorological station readings, and satellite-based rainfall estimates. The objectives of the current research were threefold: investigate the potential for community managed weather stations to produce quality estimates of total monthly rainfall when compared to independent gold-standard meteorolgical station data, explore the use of a spatial analysis method for suplementing the assessment of interpolation pattern when compared to satellite-based rainfall measurements, and finally to produce seamless monthly rainfall maps for all of Sri Lanka. Absolute error, mean absolute error, median percentage error, standardized root-mean-square error, and the structural similarity index [1], an image comparison method, were used to assess which technique produced the best quality estimates. No particular interpolation method uniformly performed the best, but thin plate smoothing splines predicted the most accurately in high rainfall conditions, while Bayesian kriging performed the best with low rainfall. Establishing a threshold value for mean monthly rainfall under which Bayesian kriging will be used, and over which thin plate smoothing splines will be used was proposed as a solution.

References

[1] Wang, Z. and Bovik, A. C and Sheikh, H. R and Simoncelli, E. P. *Image quality assessment: From error visibility to structural similarity*, Image Processing, IEEE Transactions on **13**, 4, pp. 600–612 (2004).

Evolutionary Multi-objective Optimization Design for Peri-urban Greenlands Systems: metric implementations

S. A. Roberts¹, Nareli Cruz-Cortés², and Brent Hall³

¹ Depratment of Geography and Environmental Studies, Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada, sroberts@wlu.ca

² Centro de Investigación en Computatión, Instituto Politécnico National, Mexico

³ ESRI Canada

Habitat fragmentation and loss, particularly in the urban fringe, is a key issue for land use planning and environmental policy implementation. Greenlands systems have been proposed as one solution to this issue [1]. This paper discusses aspects of the implementation of an Evolutionary Multi-objective Optimization (EMO) methodology for a greenlands system design [2]. The application of landscape ecology principles [3] via EMO combined with analysis of the Pareto front of non-dominated solutions and the measure of favour of these solutions provides a methodology to address the deterioration of ecological function in urban fringe areas and insights into the steps that can be taken to promote sustainable peri-urban landscapes.

This paper describes landscape design metrics from the implementation of an Evolutionary Multi-objective Optimization (EMO) algorithm for peri-urban greenlands system design. The results of particular landscape metrics using a real world data set of a small study area bring into relief issues concerning the interplay between the mathematization of landscape ecology principles of design and the resulting set of estimates of the Pareto optimal solutions. The paper discusses the research findings and provides links to other aspects of current EMO-based research methodology and its potential use as part of a landscape design decision support system. Specifically, this paper has two purposes. First, the design approach used may provide assistance to other researchers working to develop metrics and associated objective functions that incorporate landscape feature shape and configuration into decision support for environmental land-use planning. Second, the introduction of the new concept of anti-cut-set vertices, derived from the graph theoretic concept of cut-set vertices, allows some key connections to be identified between the larger sub-graphs in the dual graph of the study area's landscape features. This gives a very direct analytic tool for exploring potential conectivity structure in a given landscape.

- [1] R. T. T. Forman, Land Mosaics: The Ecology of Landscapes and Regions, Cambridge University Press, 1997.
- S. A. Roberts and P. H. Calamai and G. B. Hall, Evolutionary Multiobjective Optimization Results for Landscape System Design, J Geograph Syst, 13, pp. 299-326 (2011).
- [3] W. E. Dramstad and J. D. Olson and R. T. T. Forman, *Landscape Ecology Principles in Landscape Architecture and Land-Use Planning*, Harvard Graduate School of Design: Island Press, American Society of Landscape Architects, Washington, DC, 1996.

Map Comparisons and Model Checking: A Comparative Analysis

C. Robertson¹

¹ Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada crobertson@wlu.ca

Model assessment is an increasingly important aspect of spatial analysis. New sources of geographic information enable researchers to build complex spatial models. Additionally, Bayesian approaches to modelling are increasingly accessible to spatial researchers - either through simulation-based inference such as Markov chain monte carlo (MCMC) or advanced analytical techniques such as integrated nested Laplace approximations (INLA) - enable new ways to perform checks on model fit. When maps are the output of spatially explicit models, examining the spatial distribution of errors can improve understanding of mis-specification by suggesting missing covariates or identifying regional structures not present in the model. This paper explores techniques for assessing spatial structure of model residuals in the context of regular and irregular spatial lattices of a continuous mapped variable. The approach taken is analogous to continuous-value map comparison, however the focus of the paper is on spatial map comparison in the context of model assessment.

Given a map of a continuous variable Z which is indexed at all i locations across the study area, we obtain a second mapped continuous variable M, which is variable Z as represented in the model. Interest centres on comparing Z and M to assess the quality of predictions or as a goodness-of-it test. Typically, the mean of the squared errors (MSE) between Z and M is used as a criterion to evaluate prediction quality and/or model fit. Additional criterion employ penalties for the number of parameters used in the model (e.g., AIC, DIC). However, spatial patterning in the distribution of errors E is typically not considered.

In this study, a simulation experiment was developed to test the relative performance of various methods of spatial map comparison in the context of assessing structure of spatial model error. Gaussian Markov random fields were used to simulate Z, with various types of spatial dependence structures. For each Z, a M_i was generated by first transforming Z values and then resampling these values to new locations. Spatial resampling was developed to replicate various types of spatial structure errors including random allocation, scale, rotation, scale and rotation, and various gradients. For each M_i , MSE was determined, and each M_i were compared to the generating Z_i using the local and global versions of the Structural Similarity Index [1], global measures [2] of spatial autocorrelation (Moran's I and Geary's c) and local indicators [3] of spatial autocorrelation (local Moran's I and local Geary's c). The relative performance of each of the spatial analysis methods were compared using graphical and numerical summaries.

Spatial structure plays an important role in assessing the fit of complex spatially explicit models and understanding which methods are able to detect spatial structures in error under different error regimes can improve model development.

- Wang, Z. and Bovik, A. C and Sheikh, H. R and Simoncelli, E. P. *Image quality assessment: From error visibility to structural similarity*, Image Processing, IEEE Transactions on 13, 4, pp. 600–612 (2004).
- [2] Cliff, A. D. and Ord, J. K., Spatial autocorrelation, London: Pion (1973).
- [3] Anselin, L., Local indicators of spatial association-LISA, Geographical Analysis 27, 2, pp. 93–115 (1995).

Approximations to Intractable Spatial Econometric Models and Their Solutions Through Global Optimization

Renata Wachowiak-Smolikova, Mark Wachowiak, Jonathan Zimmerling

Nipissing University, North Bay, ON Canada, {renatas, markw}@nipissingu.ca

Spatial econometrics, an interdisciplinary field involving applied mathematics, statistics, geography, and econometrics, focuses on incorporating spatial relationships into economic models. To understand the effects of these relationships, parameters of thse spatial models must be accurately estimated. As realistic models are thus far intractable, approximations are often made, but even in this case, the surrogate models have no analytic solution. This paper employs stochastic global optimization (specifically, particle swarm optimization (PSO) – a population-based iterative technique [1]) to estimate the parameters of the dynamic panel data model extended with a spatially lagged dependent variable [2]. Stochastic global optimization is an active research area, and shows great potential for estimating spatial econometric models [3].

Parameters of a simulated dynamic demand model for cigarettes are estimated from panel data (1963-1992) from 46 contiguous U.S. states [2]. The three-parameter autoregressive model is given as:

$$y_{i,t} = x_{i,t}\beta + \phi y_{i,t-1} + \kappa \mathbf{W} y_{i,t} + \varepsilon_{i,t}$$
(1)

where $x_{i,t}$ is the per capita disposable income, **W** is a binary contiguity matrix with $w_{i,j}=1$ if states *i* and *j* share a border, and $y_{i,0}$ -**U**(0,4). For the simulation, the response variables $y_{i,t}$ are computed with $\beta = -1.8$, $\phi = 0.8$, and $\kappa = 0.5$. The *y* for each state depend on the disposable income, the previous year's value of *y* in that state, and the current value of *y* in all other states that share a border with the state of interest.

Because there is no exact estimator of this model, two approximations: (1) Bhargava and Sargan (BS) and Nerlove an Balestra (NB) are employed [2]. For each approximation, three set of trials (total of 1000 iterations) using PSO were run, and the results averaged. The NB approximation returned values of $\beta = -3.7031$, $\kappa = 0.3002$ and $\phi = 1.1196$. The BS approximation yielded the results $\beta = -2.4516$, $\kappa = 0.1727$ and $\phi = 1.3236$ (see table below):

Approximation	Bias (ĸ)	Bias (<i>ø</i>)	Bias (β)	Fit with data (R^2)	Iterations
NB	-0.1998	0.3196	-1.9031	0.7205	1000
BS	-0.3273	0.5262	-0.6516	0.9597	1000

The results demonstrate that for intractable models, stochastic global optimization of approximations is viable in accurately estimating parameters in complex, non-convex search spaces. Additionally, data obtained during the optimization, such as population entropy and diversity, can be used to analyze search behaviour to further improve solutions, and to obtain analytic insight into stochastic search mechanisms.

- [1] J. Kennedy, R. C. Eberhart, and Y. Shi, Swarm Intelligence, Morgan Kaufman, (2001).
- J. P. Elhorst, Unconditional maximum likelihood estimation of dynamic models for spatial panels, Research School SOM, Groningen (http://som.eldoc.ub.rug.nl/FILES/reports/themeC/2003/03C27/03c27.pdf) (2003).
- [3] M. Wachowiak et. al, *The Viability of Global Optimization for Parameter Estimation in Spatial Econometrics Models*, ERSA Congress, Slovakia, (2012).

High-Order Methods in Computational Fluid Dynamics (SS-HOMCFD)

Organizers: Lilia Krivodonova (University of Waterloo) Hans De Sterck (University of Waterloo)

High-order methods provide an appealing approach for solution of complex problems in computational fluid dynamics. High-order methods are more efficient in terms of accuracy per degree of freedom or amount of computation. However, achieving the full potential of these schemes for nonlinear problems in complex geometries in the presence of shocks and other nonlinearities is challenging. This minisymposium will address recent developments in this area both from analytical and computational points of view.

Accelerated High-Order Solver for the Cahn-Hilliard Equation on General Domains

P. Pomorski¹, N. M. Abukhdeir²

¹ SHARCNET, University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, ppomorsk@sharcnet.ca
 ² Department of Chemical Engineering, University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, nmabukhdeir@uwaterloo.ca

This research uses a recently introduced Fourier continuation method, the FC(Gram) [1, 2] method, to compute high-accuracy solutions to the Cahn-Hilliard equation [3] in three-dimensions. The FC(Gram) method enables use of the Fourier spectral method on non-periodic domains through efficient generation of a periodic continuation (Fig. 1a). An extension to the FC(Gram) method which enables the imposition of high-order Neumann boundary conditions is presented and validated. An open-source implementation of the FC(Gram) method with Neumann boundary conditions was developed which implements acceleration in fused CPU/GPU computing environments.

The FC(Gram)-Neumann method is found to have negligible affect on computational complexity of the algorithm, but reduces the effective order of spatial derivative approximation. Transient solutions to the Cahn-Hilliard equation of binary phase separation (Fig. 1b), a fourth-order partial differential equation, are shown to benefit from an approximate 10x speed-up on fused CPU/GPU architectures without loss of accuracy. Finally, an automated performance "tuning" method is presented and shown to enable optimal performance of the methodology in heterogeneous computing environments.



Figure 1: (left) Schematic demonstrating FC(Gram) method for the non-periodic function $f(x) = x^2$ (black) on the interval [0,1] with periodic extension (blue); (right) Sample solution of the Cahn-Hilliard equation in two-dimensions.

- O. P. Bruno & M. Lyon, High-order unconditionally stable FC-AD solvers for general smooth domains I. Basic Elements, J. Comp. Phys. 229, pp. 2009-2033 (2010).
- [2] M. Lyon & O. P. Bruno, High-order unconditionally stable FC-AD solvers for general smooth domains II. Elliptic, parabolic and hyperbolic PDEs, J. Comp. Phys. 229, pp. 3358-3381 (2010).
- [3] N. Provatas & K. Elder, Phase-Field Methods in Materials Science and Engineering, Wiley & Sons (2011).

High-Order Finite Volume Element Methods for Elliptic PDEs with Singularities, and Applications to Capillarity

Yasunori Aoki¹, <u>Hans De Sterck²</u>

¹ Uppsala University, Sweden, yasunori.aoki@farmbio.uu.se

² University of Waterloo, Canada, hdesterck@uwaterloo.ca

Singular capillary surfaces in domains with sharp corners or cusps are well studied and the asymptotic series approximation of the solution is known. Yet it is also known that the singularity of the solution spoils the accuracy of standard finite element approximations, which cannot reproduce the singularity accurately. First we describe finite volume element methods for computing singular solutions of linear elliptic PDEs with high-order accuracy. High-order accuracy is obtained by augmenting the trial function space with singular basis functions. In the case of the nonlinear elliptic PDE that describes capillary singularities, we show that an accurate numerical approximation can be obtained with the finite volume element method through an appropriate change of variable combined with a change of coordinates, motivated by the known asymptotic behaviour. Using this accurate numerical approximation methodology, we can numerically confirm the validity of the known asymptotic expansions in great detail, and we can make two conjectures on asymptotic behaviour of singular capillary surfaces at a cusp for two open cases.

- [1] Yasunori Aoki and Hans De Sterck, Augmented High Order Finite Volume Element Method for Elliptic PDEs in Non-smooth Domains: Convergence Study, Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics 235, pp. 5177-5187 (2011).
- [2] Yasunori Aoki and Hans De Sterck, *Numerical Study of Unbounded Capillary Surfaces*, Pacific Journal of Mathematics, accepted (2012).

High-Order Summation-by-Parts Discretization of the Navier-Stokes and Euler Equations

D. C. Del Rey Fernández¹, D. W. Zingg

¹ University of Toronto Insitute for Aerospace Studies, Toronto, Canada, dwz@oddjob.utias.utoronto.ca

The compressible Navier-Stokes and Euler equations constitute a formidable set of partial-differential equations (PDEs), the solution of which requires extensive computational resources, particularly if one is interested in optimization of industrially relevant flows. In the early 1970s, Kreiss and Oliger [2] and Swartz and Wendroff [5] demonstrated that substantial efficiency gains are possible using higher-order (HO) methods. In the asymptotic region, HO methods have a local truncation error of order $O([\Delta x]^p)$, where $p \ge 3$, and Δx is the mesh spacing. Thus, for a given accuracy, HO methods require coarser mesh spacing relative to lower-order methods. HO methods have been shown to be more computationally efficient than lower-order methods; some examples are the linear advection equation [6] and the compressible Navier-Stokes (NS) equations [?]. Here, we examine discretizations based on HO summation-by-parts (SBP) finite-difference operators, with simultaneous approximation terms (SATs) for boundary and interface treatment, which have been successfully applied to the compressible Euler and NS equations [1, 3].

In conjunction with SATs to weakly impose boundary conditions, SBP operators naturally give rise to multiblock schemes that have constant and, more importantly, low communication overhead, which is advantageous for parallel computations. This results from the fact that only C^0 continuity needs to be maintained between blocks and, regardless of the order of the scheme, the same amount of information is passed between blocks, i.e. there is no need for halo nodes. In curvilinear coordinates, time stability can only be proven for diagonal-norm SBP operators [4]; thus we limit ourselves to those operators. The NS equations require a discrete approximation to the second-derivative with variable coefficients. It is possible to use the application of the first derivative twice, but this results in a large stencil width and reduced accuracy. We will compare and contrast the application of the first derivative twice to SBP operators that have minimum-stencil width on the interior.

Our research deals with aerodynamic optimization; we therefore need a robust and efficient algorithm to solve the compressible NS equations on complex geometries; the SBP-SAT method has proven to be robust and efficient in both direct computations of the NS equations and in the context of the Reynolds averaged Navier-Stokes equations (RANS), see Hicken and Zingg [1], and Osusky and Zingg [3]. Here we will present a suite of test cases, ranging from academic, such as the method-of-manufactured solutions, to practical, such as the NACA-0012 airfoil, to investigate the performance of the proposed operators in the context of laminar flows.

- S. De Rango and D. W. Zingg. Higher-order spatial discretization for turbulent aerodynamic computations. AIAA Journal, 39(7):1296– 1304, 2001.
- Jason E. Hicken and David W. Zingg. A parallel Newton-Krylov solver for the euler equations discretized using simultaneous approximation terms. AIAA Journal, 46(11):2773–2786, 2008.
- [3] H.-O. Kreiss and J. Oliger. Comparison of accurate methods for the integration of hyperbolic equations. *Tellus*, 24(3):199–215, 1972.
- [4] Michal Osusky, Pieter David Boom, David C. Del Rey Fernández, and David W. Zingg. An efficient Newton-Krylov-Shur parallel solution algorithm for the steady and unsteady Navier-Stokes equations. In *ICCFD7*, 2012.
- [5] M. Svärd. On coordinate transformations for summation-by-parts operators. Journal of Scientific Computing, 20(1):29–42, 2004.
- [6] B. Swartz and B. Wendroff. The relative efficiency of finite difference and finite element methods: I hyperbolic problems and splines. SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis, 11(5):979–993, 1974.
- [7] D. W. Zingg. Comparison of high-accuracy finite-difference methods for linear wave propagation. *SIAM Journal on Scientific Computing*, 22(2):476–502, 2000.

Parallel High-Order CENO Finite-Volume Method for Large-Eddy Simulation of Turbulent Premixed Flames

L. Tobaldini Neto and C. P. T. Groth

University of Toronto Institute for Aerospace Studies 4925 Dufferin Street, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, M3H 5T6 groth@utias.utoronto.ca

High-order discretization methods offer the potential to significantly reduce the computational costs required to obtain accurate predictions as compared to standard lower-order (second-order) methods. Nevertheless, efficient, universally-applicable, high-order discretizations remain somewhat illusive, especially for more arbitrary threedimensional and/or unstructured computational meshes and for the prediction of physically complex flows as encountered in large-eddy simulation (LES) of turbulent reactive flows. A novel, parallel, high-order, central essentially non-oscillatory (CENO), cell-centered, finite-volume scheme is proposed for the solution of the Favrefiltered Navier-Stokes equations governing turbulent flows of a fully-compressible reactive mixture and applied to the LES of turbulent premixed flames. The high-order CENO finite-volume scheme of Ivan and Groth [1, 2] for the solution of inviscid and laminar viscous, compressible, non-reactive flows on two-dimensional domains is extended here to the parallel solution of the Favre-filtered LES equations on three-dimensional, multi-block, bodyfitted, hexahedral computational mesh. Details of the proposed high-order scheme are discussed and, in order to demonstrate the capabilities of high-order method, LES of a laboratory-scale lean premixed methane-air Bunsentype flame is considered. For the latter, a flamelet-based subfilter-scale (SFS) LES model is used to describe the unresolved influences of interaction between the turbulence and combustion. The SFS combustion model is based on a presumed conditional moment (PCM) approach in conjunction with flame prolongation of intrinsic lowdimensional manifold (FPI) tabulated chemistry. Comparisons of LES predictions to available experimental data are made and the potential of third- and fourth-order variants of the CENO finite-volume scheme for performing LES of premixed flames is assessed.

- [1] L. Ivan and C. P. T. Groth. High-order central ENO finite-volume scheme with adaptive mesh refinement. Paper 2007-4324, AIAA, June 2007.
- [2] L. Ivan and C. P. T. Groth. High-order solution-adaptive central essentially non-oscillatory (CENO) method for viscous flows. Paper 2011-0367, AIAA, January 2011.

Assessment and Comparison of Discretization Techniques for the Diffusion Operator in High-Order Finite-Volume Methods

L. Ivan¹, X. Shi², C. P. T. Groth²

¹ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, livan@math.uwaterloo.ca

² University of Toronto Institute for Aerospace Studies, Toronto, Canada, {xiaoqi.shi@mail.utoronto.ca, groth@utias.utoronto.ca}

High-order methods are currently being pursued in an effort to reduce the cost of large-scale scientific computing applications such as direct numerical simulations (DNS) and large eddy simulations (LES) of turbulent non-reacting and reacting flows. Among the many challenges raised by the application of high-order schemes to the aforementioned scientific problems, the focus of this talk is on the high-order treatment of diffusive (elliptic) fluxes, which are included in the viscous terms of the Navier-Stokes and other model equations. Unlike the convective fluxes that depend on the solution vector only, the diffusive fluxes also include a dependency on the solution gradient in space. Additionally, the initial data and the diffusion coefficient field may be discontinuous as in the case of the classical diffusive Riemann problem and the heat-conduction problem across the interface between two different materials, respectively.

For the reasons given above, it is very desirable that high-order discretization techniques for diffusive fluxes remain accurate and stable for a variety of initial data and problems while satisfying a maximum principle, even on stretched/distorted meshes. This can be difficult to achieve and even standard lower-order spatial discretization procedures may not possess these characteristics. Nevertheless, several high-order variants have been proposed recently in an effort to arrive at reliable, accurate, and more efficient discretization strategies for the diffusive fluxes.

This talk will consider a detailed assessment and comparison of several treatments for the diffusion operator within the context of a finite-volume discretization scheme. In particular, a multi-dimensional, fourth-order, central essentially non-oscillatory (CENO) finite-volume method is considered [1] and the following approaches for high-order treatment of the diffusive (elliptic) fluxes are examined in this work: (i) the use of a *k*-order accurate average gradient derived from a (k + 1)-order accurate reconstruction [1]; (ii) the addition of a penalty term [2] to the average gradient of method (i); and (iii) the use of the solution to the diffusive generalized Riemamn problem [3] in the evaluation of the diffusive fluxes. The predictions of the three approaches are compared and the relative merits of each technique are assessed.

The methods considered are thoroughly assessed based on several test cases for the two-dimensional form of the advection-diffusion equation solved on body-fitted quadrilateral structured grids. These include, but are not limited to, systematic grid convergence studies based on analytical solutions to transient diffusion problems with smooth and discontinuous initial data, to heat conduction problems with discontinuous thermal conductivity, and to convection-diffusion problems characterized by different Péclet numbers.

- [1] L. Ivan and C. P. T. Groth. *High-Order Solution-Adaptive Central Essentially Non-Oscillatory (CENO) Method for Viscous Flows.* AIAA, Paper **2011-0367** (2011).
- [2] R. Kannan and Z. J. Wang. The Direct Discontinuous Galerkin (DDG) Viscous Flux Scheme for the High Order Spectral Volume Method Computers and Fluids, 39:10, pp. 2007-2021 (2010)
- [3] G. Gassner, F. Lörcher and C.-D. Munz. A Contribution to the Construction of Diffusion Fluxes for Finite Volume and Discontinuous Galerkin Schemes J. Comput. Phys., 224, pp. 1049-1063 (2007)

An Adaptive High Order Discontinuous Galerkin Solver for Direct Numerical Simulation

C. Mavriplis¹ and M. Chrust²

¹ University of Ottawa, Canada, Catherine.Mavriplis@uottawa.ca, ² mchrust@uottawa.ca

The presentation will discuss our ongoing development of an adaptive high order Discontinuous Galerkin solver for the incompressible Navier-Stokes equations. The DG methodology follows those of [1, 2], recasting the equations in conservation form and employing the internal penalty flux formulation. Approximation spaces are the sets of Lagrangian interpolants of the Legendre polynomials of Nth order (N typically 5-15). Gauss-Lobatto Legendre quadrature is used to evaluate all integrals of the variational formulation on the K elements of the grid.

Adaptation of the DG method is handled as for the Spectral Element method [3] through elemental *a posteriori* error estimators based on the polynomial spectrum of the numerical solution to estimate the elemental error and give an indication of the quality of the solution. The numerical spectrum is fit by least squares to an exponential decay, $e^{-\sigma n}$. $\sigma > 1$ indicates good resolution and hence prescribes *p*-refinement (i.e. the polynomial order will be increased by 2); $\sigma \le 1$ indicates poor resolution, and hence *h*-refinement (i.e. the element will be split in two). Adaptive calculation results are shown below for a scalar advection case. Adaptive Navier-Stokes examples will be shown in the presentation.



Figure 1: Non-adapted $K = 25 \times 25$, N = 7 (left) and *h*-adapted (right) solution for a scalar advection case. The adapted case started from $K = 13 \times 13$, N = 9. The elements are coloured according to the error estimate values.

- [1] J. Hesthaven and T. Warburton. Nodal Discontinuous Galerkin Methods: Algorithms, Analysis, and Applications, Springer(2008)
- [2] F. Bassi and S. Rebay, A high-order accurate discontinuous finite element method for the numerical solution of the compressible Navier-Stokes equations, J. Comp. Phys. 131, 2, pp. 267 – 279 (1997)
- [3] H. Feng and C. Mavriplis. Adaptive spectral element simulations of thin premixed flame sheet deformations, J. Sci. Comp., 17, 1-4, pp. 385–395 (2002)

Examining nonlinear wave propagation in the trumpet

J.Resch¹

¹ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, jresch@uwaterloo.ca or jellyfish922@gmail.com

Sound production and propagation in brass instruments, specifically the trumpet, will be examined. In particular, the effects of linear and nonlinear wave propagation on the acoustics of the instrument will be discussed. To understand the general behaviour of linear and nonlinear sound waves, experiments were carried out in which simultaneous pressure measurements were taken at various positions along the trumpet. The obtained results will be presented and analyzed. These experiments will help us establish if the nonlinear distortion is strong enough to have musical consequences.

Once the data is reviewed, we will attempt to describe the wave propagation within the trumpet by considering the compressible Euler equations. The system will then be solved by using the discontinuous Galerkin numerical method. The pressure data obtained from the experiments will be used to set up the boundary conditions at the mouthpiece. The numerical results will then be compared with the experimental data to verify how well we were able to describe the nonlinear wave motion within a trumpet.

^[1] J. Resch, Nonlinear wave propagation in brass instruments, MMath Thesis. University of Waterloo (2013).

Analysis of Heterogeneous Multiscale Methods for Long Time Multiscale Wave Propagation Problems

D. Arjmand¹, O. Runborg^{1,2}

KTH Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm, Sweden, doghonay@kth.se, olofr@nada.kth.se
 Swedish e-Science Research Center (SeRC), Stockholm, Sweden,

Our main goal in this talk is to mathematically investigate the properties of a heterogeneous multi-scale method (HMM) type multi-scale algorithm [1] for approximating the solution of the scalar wave equation over long time

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{tt} u^{\varepsilon}(t,x) - \nabla \cdot (A^{\varepsilon}(x)) \nabla u^{\varepsilon}(t,x)) &= 0, \quad \text{in} \quad [0,T^{\varepsilon}] \times \Omega, \\ u^{\varepsilon}(0,x) &= q(x), \quad \partial_{t} u^{\varepsilon}(0,x) = z(x), \quad \text{on} \quad \{t=0\} \times \Omega, \end{aligned}$$
(1)

with appropriate boundary data. Here $A^{\varepsilon}(x)$ is a symmetric and uniformly positive definite matrix varying on the small length scale ε , $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ and $T^{\varepsilon} \approx O(\varepsilon^{-2})$. As $\varepsilon \to 0$ the numerical approximation of (1) becomes increasingly expensive since all small scales in $A^{\varepsilon}(x)$ must be resolved over a longer and longer time to obtain accurate results.

HMM is a general framework for efficiently solving this kind of multi-scale problems numerically. A typical HMM algorithm for (1) starts with assuming a macro model $u_{tt} = \nabla \cdot F$ where *F* represents an unknown flux. The model is discretized on a grid which does not resolve the ε -scale. The missing flux is computed by $F = (\mathcal{K}A^{\varepsilon}(x)u_x^{\varepsilon})$, where \mathcal{K} is an averaging operator in time and space, and u^{ε} solves the full problem (1) in a domain of size $O(\varepsilon)$, with initial data given by linear interpolation of the current macroscopic state. The computational cost is then independent of ε . For further details of such HMM based methods for the wave equation see [5, 3].

In the analysis of the method we focus on the case when $A^{\varepsilon}(x) = A(x/\varepsilon)$ with A periodic. For short times $T^{\varepsilon} = T \approx O(1)$, classical homogenization theory then reveals the limiting behavior of the multi-scale solution and the equation. On the other hand, for long times $T^{\varepsilon} = O(\varepsilon^{-2})$, the solution $u^{\varepsilon}(t,x)$ starts to exhibit O(1) dispersive effects which are not present in the short time homogenized solution, [4]. In [2], the short time FD-HMM algorithm from [3] was extended to approximate the solution of long time wave propagation problems. The extension involved only modifying the initial data for the micro problem to a third-order polynomial as well as using a high order averaging kernel \mathcal{K} in the upscaling procedure. Numerical evidences were shown to illustrate that the numerical solution correctly captures the dispersive effects.

In this talk, we give a theoretical foundation for the results in [2], by proving that HMM indeed computes the correct flux also for the long time multi-scale wave problem (1). With suitable macroscale discretization parameters, it will therefore capture the O(1) dispersive effects.

- [1] E. Weinan, B. Engquist, The Heterogeneous Multi-Scale Methods, Comm. Math. Sci., 1(1):87-133, 2003.
- B. Engquist, H. Holst, and O. Runborg, *Multi-Scale Methods for Wave Propagation in Heterogeneous Media Over Long Time*, in Lect. Notes Comput. Sci. Eng., Springer Verlag, 82:167-186, 2011.
- [3] B. Engquist, H. Holst and O. Runborg, *Multi-Scale methods for Wave Propagation in Heterogeneous Media*, Commun. Math. Sci., 9(1):33-56, 2011.
- [4] F. Santosa, W. W. Symes, A Dispersive Effective Medium For Wave Propagation in Periodic Composites, Siam J. Appl. Math., 51 (4):984-1005, 1991.
- [5] A. Abdulle and M. J. Grote, *Finite Element Heterogeneous Multi-Scale Method for the Wave Equation*, SIAM J. Multiscale Model. and Simul., 9(2):766-792, 2011.

High-Order Central ENO Finite-Volume Scheme for Ideal MHD

A. Susanto¹, L. Ivan², H. De Sterck³, C. P. T. Groth⁴

¹ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, asusanto@uwaterloo.ca

² University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, livan@math.uwaterloo.ca

³ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, hdesterck@math.uwaterloo.ca

⁴ University of Toronto, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, groth@utias.utoronto.ca

A high-order accurate finite-volume scheme for the compressible ideal magnetohydrodynamics (MHD) equations is proposed [1]. The proposed high-order MHD scheme is based on a central essentially non-oscillatory (CENO) method [2], combined with the generalized Lagrange multiplier divergence cleaning method for MHD [3].

The CENO method uses k-exact multidimensional reconstruction together with a monotonicity procedure that switches from a high-order (normally fourth-order) reconstruction to a limited low-order reconstruction in regions of discontinuous or under-resolved solution content [2]. Both reconstructions are performed on central stencils, and the switching procedure is based on a smoothness indicator. The proposed high-order accurate MHD scheme can be used on general polygonal grids, and mechanisms to deal with curved boundaries are also described. In particular, structured meshes based on quadrilateral and hexahedral cells are chosen to represent simulation grids.

Several two- and three-dimensional simulations are presented, demonstrating high-order convergence for smooth flows and robustness against oscillations for problems with shocks on logically Cartesian grids. An MHD extension to the Shu-Osher test problem [4] is proposed to assess the capability of the scheme to deal with discontinuities and small-sale flow features at the same time [1]. In two dimensions, the dynamic mesh adaptation capabilities of the approach are demonstrated using adaptive time-dependent simulations of the Orszag-Tang vortex problem with high-order accuracy and unprecedented effective resolution.

- A. Susanto, L. Ivan, H. De Sterck, C. P. T. Groth, *High-Order Central ENO Finite-Volume Scheme for Ideal MHD*, Submitted to JCP (2012)
- [2] L. Ivan and C. P. T. Groth, *High-Order Solution-Adaptive Central Essentially Non-Oscillatory (CENO) Method for Viscous Flow*, Submitted to JCP (2012)
- [3] A. Dedner, F. Kemm, D. Kroner, C-D. Munz, T.Schnitzer and M. Wesenberg, Hyperbolic Divergence Cleaning for the MHD Equations, JCP 175, pp. 654-673 (2002)
- [4] C-W. Shu and S. Osher, Efficient implementation of essentially non-oscillatory shock-capturing schemes, II., JCP 83, pp. 32-78 (1989)

Simulation of the Mixing in An Imploding Shell

Lili Wang

Institute of Applied Physics and Computational Mathematics, Beijing, China, wanglili@iapcm.ac.cn

The mixing in a stratified cylindrical shell driven by shock compression is numerically studied using a hybrid method combined with the weighted essentially non-oscillatory shock-capturing method and the tuned center difference scheme, combined with the Runge-Kutta method for time integration. We use the N-species NS equations to simulate the motion. Initial small perturbations with different scales are considered in the simulations. We investigated the mixing according to the mixing zone width and the mixing fraction. It was found that the mixing zone's growth is quite sensitive to the initial perturbation scale, while the atomic mixing degree tends to be independent of the initial perturbation at late time.



Figure 2: Evolution of the mixing zone. Figure 3: Mixi

Figure 3: Mixing fraction within the mixing zone.

Fig. 1 shows evolution of the mixing zone in a typical case. Fig. 2 shows the evolution of the mixing zones near the outer interface. We can see that growth of the mixing zone is quite sensitive to the initial perturbation scale. Fig. 3 shows the mixing fraction within the mixing zone, which indicates the atomic mixing degree. We can see that the atomic mixing approaches the asymptotic value of 0.6~0.8 at late time. In this regime, the imprint of initial perturbation tends to be lost as for the atomic mixing degree, although it affects the mixing width.

- Hill D J and Pullin D I, Hybrid Tuned Center-Difference-WENO Method for Large Eddy Simulations in the Presence of Strong Shocks, J. Comp. Phys. 194, 435-450 (2004)
- [2] Pantano C, Deiterding R, Hill D J and Pullin D I: A Low-Numerical Dissipation Patch-Based Adaptive Mesh Renement Method for Large-Eddy Simulation of Compressible Flows, J. Comp. Phys. 221,63-87 (2004)
- [3] Hill D J, Pantano C, and Pullin D I: Large-Eddy Simulation and Multiscale Modelling of A Richtmyer-Meshkov Instability with Reshock, Journal of Fluid Mechanics 557, 29-61 (2006)
- [4] Jiang G S and Shu C W: Efficient Implementation of Weighted ENO Schemes, J. Comp. Phys. 126, 202-228 (1996)

Study on Turbulent Mixing Induced by Richtmyer-Meshkov Instability Using the Second-Order Moment Model

Min YANG, Li-li WANG, Hai-bing ZHOU, Shu-dao ZHANG

The Institute of Applied Physics and Computational Mathematics, Beijing 100094, China, yang_min@iapcm.ac.cn

The second-order moment model developed is used to study turbulent mixing induced by Richtmyer-Meshkov instability in the presence of shocks. The transport equations of Reynolds stresses, turbulent mass flux and density variance are used to consider density fluctuations and turbulence anisotropy. Third-order Runge-Kutta method is used to carry out time integration. Advection terms use high order WENO method to reconstruct fluxes on grid boundaries. Alternate direction implicit (ADI) method is used to solve diffusion terms. On the basis of these, shock tube experiment carried out by Poggi in CEA (see Refs. [1]) is simulated. In this experiment laser Doppler anemometer (LDA) was used to measure instantaneous velocities of gas mixture in shock tube and the evolution of velocity fluctuations was obtained before and after the interaction of turbulent mixing zone (TMZ) with the reflected shock wave. It is this experiment that first gives direct measurement of turbulence, which provides data to validate turbulent mixing models. The calculation results are compared with detailed experimental data. It was found that the present model is able to calculate turbulence amplification by multiple shock waves in the presence of large density gradients due to mixing and turbulence anisotropy in TMZ (see Refs. [2]). These results indicate that the model closure, model constants, numerical algorithm and the implementation of the model used in the paper are proper. Moreover the influences of shock Mach number and Atwood number on turbulent mixing are further investigated (see Refs. [3, 4]).



Figure 1: Evolution of the width of TMZ and the axial and radial components of the Reynolds stress tensor at X=169mm

- F. Poggi, M.H. Thorembey, G. Rodriguez, Velocity measurements in turbulent gaseous mixtures induced by Richtmyer-Meshkov instability, Phys. Fluids, 10, 11, pp. 2698-2700 (1997).
- [2] Y. Aglitskiy, A.L. Velikovich, M. Karasik, N. Metzler, S.T. Zalesak, A.J. Schmitt, L. Phillips, J.H. Gardner, V. Serlin, J.L. Weaver and S.P. Obenschain, *Basic hydrodynamics of Richtmyer-Meshkov-type growth and oscillations in the inertial confinement fusion-relevant conditions*, Phil. Trans. R. Soc. A, 368, pp.1739-1768 (2010).
- [3] M. Vetter and B. Sturtevant, *Experiments on the Richtmyer-Meshkov instability of an air/SF6 interface*, Shock Waves, **4**, pp.247-252 (1995).
- [4] G. Jourdan, L. Houas, J.F. Haas and G. Ben-Dor, *Thickness and volume measurements of a Richtmyer-Meshkov instability induced mixing zone in a square shock tube*, J. Fluid Mech., 349 pp.67-94 (1997).

Recent Progress in Hyperbolic Problems: Theory and Computation (SS-HPTC)

Organizers: Jae-Hun Jung (SUNY University at Buffalo) Lilia Krivodonova (University of Waterloo) Allen Tesdall (CUNY College of Staten Island)

Hyperbolic conservation laws describe a wide range of wave propagation and fluid flow phenomena, including shock waves in nonlinear situations. In the last several decades important advances have been made in the numerical computation of accurate solutions to these problems. In this minisymposium, recent results in the theory and application of these methods will be presented. A variety of computational techniques, including but not limited to finite volume, finite element, spectral, WENO, and discontinuous Galerkin methods, will be represented.

High Order Limiters for Hyperbolic Equations

M.Berzins¹,

¹ University of Utah, USA, {SCI Institute}@utah.edu

The challenge of producing solutions that have both high order accuracy and are physically realistic. This paper describes recent advances amde in connection with Essentially Non-Oscillatory (ENO) methods and Weighted Essentially Non-Oscillatory (WENO) methods that are of fundamental importance in the numerical solution of hyperbolic equations. A key property of such equations is that the solution must remain positive or lie between bounds. A modification of the polynomials used in ENO methods to ensure that the modified polynomials are either bounded by adjacent values (data-bounded) or lie within a specified range (range-bounded) is considered.

A key problem in the case of these methods is to bound the derivatives of the ENO reconstruction function (or a number of such polynomials). A recent method of Zhang and Shu offers a way to do this. In this talk we show that there is an alternative approach that is potentially attractive.

On the solution of dispersive evolution equations with discontinuous data

Gino Biondini¹ and Thomas Trogdon²

¹ State University of New York at Buffalo, Department of Mathematics, biondini@buffalo.edu

² University of Washington, Department of Applied Mathematics, trogdon@amath.washington.edu

We discuss the behavior of solutions of initial-value problems for linear evolution equations when the initial conditions are discontinuous. In particular, by formulating appropriate asymptotic expansions at small times, we show how such discontinuities influence the behavior of the solutions. We then discuss the behavior of solutions of initial-boundary value problems, where we investigate the role of the boundary conditions and of the compatibility conditions between initial data and boundary data, and we obtain a precise characterization of the corner singularities that arise when these compatibility conditions are not satisfied. Finally, we briefly mention the consequences of these results on the behavior of initial value problems and initial-boundary value problems for dispersive nonlinear evolution equations.

- [1] T. Tao, Nonlinear dispersive equations: local and global analysis (American Mathematical Society, 2006)
- M. Taylor, Short time behavior of solutions to nonlinear Schrödinger equations in one and two space dimensions, Commun. Partial Diff. Eq. 31, 945–957 (2006)
- [3] J. DiFranco and K. McLaughlin, A nonlinear Gibbs-type phenomenon for the defocusing nonlinear Schrödinger equation, Int. Math. Res. Papers 2005, 403–459 (2005)
- [4] V. Kotlyarov and A. Minakov, RiemannâHilbert problems and the mKdV equation with step initial data: Short-time behavior of solutions and the nonlinear Gibbs-type phenomenon, J. Phys. A 45, 325201 (2012)

An Efficient Implicit Boundary Integral Solver for the Vlasov-Maxwell System

Matthew F. Causley¹, Andrew J. Christlieb¹, Eric Wolf¹

¹ Mathematics Department, Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI 48824 USA

Maxwell's equations are an integral part of many plasma models, and therefore robust, efficient solvers are needed in order to attain accurate numerical simulations of plasma. By formulating the Vlasov-Maxwell problem in terms of vector potentials, Maxwell's equation reduces to 4 wave equations, (one for the scalar potential and 3 for the vector potential), forced by the charges and currents as determined by the electron and ion distribution functions. Such problems are challenging because they often involve multiple time and spatial scales, complex geometries, and many particles, which are modeled as moving point sources. Explicit methods are efficient for spatial discretization, but can only take small time steps due to the CFL restriction, and are therefore are unfavorable for long time simulations.

We present an implicit, A-stable boundary integral solver (IBIS) for the wave equation, using a method of lines transpose (MOL^T) approach. We first build a fast O(N) solver in one spatial dimension, and then extend it to higher dimensions using alternate direction implicit (ADI) splitting, thus maintaining efficiency. This makes our IBIS as efficient as explicit solvers, but additionally allows for larger time steps and thus faster simulations. We can also address complex geometries, moving point sources, and a wide variety of boundary conditions. Additionally, we have implemented domain decomposition, which makes our algorithm flexible for use in adaptive mesh refinement.

- M. F. Causley, A. J. Christlieb, B. Ong and L. Van Groningen, Method of Lines Transpose: An Implicit Solution to the One Dimensional Wave Equation, to appear, Mathematics of Computation, 2013.
- [2] M. F. Causley, A. J. Christlieb and E. Wolf, A Method of Lines Transpose approach to the wave equation using ADI, in preparation 2013.

The design of a class of positivity preserving high order Lagrangian schemes for multi-material compressible flow

J. Cheng¹, C.-W. Shu²

¹ Institute of Applied Physics and Computational Mathematics, Beijing, China, cheng_juan@iapcm.ac.cn
 ² Brown University, RI, USA, shu@dam.brown.edu

Robustness of schemes has raised an increasing interest among the community of computational fluid dynamics. One mathematical aspect of scheme robustness is the positivity preserving property. At high Mach numbers, solving the conservative Euler equations can lead to negative densities or internal energy. In this talk, we construct uniformly high order accurate conservative Lagrangian schemes which preserve positivity of density and internal energy for Euler equations solving multi-material ideal and non-ideal compressible flow. We first develop a approximate Riemann solver for the Lagrangian scheme which can preserve the positivity of density and internal energy in the simulation of the multi-material flow with the general equation of state. Then we design a class of high order positivity preserving Lagrangian schemes by using the essentially non-oscillatory (ENO) reconstruction, the strong stability preserving (SSP) high order time discretizations and the positivity preserving limiter which can be proven to maintain uniformly high order accuracy and is easy to implement. One-dimensional and twodimensional numerical tests for the high order Lagrangian scheme are provided to demonstrate the effectiveness of the method.

- [1] J. Cheng and C.-W. Shu, A high Order ENO Conservative Lagrangian Type Scheme for the Compressible Euler Equations, Journal of Computational Physics **227**, pp. 1567-1596 (2007).
- [2] J. Cheng and C.-W. Shu, A Third Order Conservative Lagrangian Type Scheme on Curvilinear Meshes for the Compressible Euler Equations, Communications in Computational Physics, 4, pp. 1008-1024 (2008).
- [3] W. Liu, J. Cheng and C.-W. Shu, *High Order Conservative Lagrangian Schemes With Lax-Wendroff Type Time Discretization for the Compressible Euler Equations*, Journal of Computational Physics, **228**, pp. 8872-8891 (2009).
- [4] X. Zhang and C.-W. Shu, On positivity preserving high order discontinuous Galerkin schemes for compressible Euler equations on rectangular meshes, Journal of Computational Physics, **229**, pp. 8918-8934 (2010).
- [5] X. Zhang and C.-W. Shu, Positivity-preserving high order discontinuous Galerkin schemes for compressible Euler equations with source terms, Journal of Computational Physics, 230, pp. 1238-1248 (2011).

Fast Sweeping Methods for Steady State Problems for Hyperbolic Conservation Laws

W. Chen¹, <u>C.S. Chou¹</u>, C.Y. Kao²

¹ The Ohio State University, Ohio, USA, {chen, chou}@math.osu.edu

² Claremont McKenna College, California, USA, Chiu-Yen.Kao@claremontmckenna.edu

In this talk, I will discuss several simple fast sweeping methods to approximate the steady state solutions of hyperbolic conservation laws. The original fast sweeping methods were developed for stationary Hamilton-Jacobi equations. The methods rely on numerical Hamiltonian, Gauss-Seidel type nonlinear iterative method, and a finite number of sweeping directions to compute the stationary viscosity solution efficiently. We extend the fast sweeping methods to solve hyperbolic conservation laws with source terms. By incorporating the numerical flux, we developed efficient methods which can capture correct stationary viscosity solutions even when discontinuities appear. Extensive numerical examples in both scalar and system of equations in one-, and two-dimensions illustrate the efficiency and accuracy of the new approach. Multigrid framework could also be applied to accelerate the convergence of the iterations.

Fast recovery of far-field time-domain signals from near-field data

Alex G. Benedict¹, Scott E. Field², Stephen R. Lau¹

¹ Mathematics and Statistics, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM 87131, USA.

² Department of Physics, Maryland Center for Fundamental Physics and Joint Space Science Institute, University of Maryland, College Park, MD 20742, USA.

Time-domain simulation of linear hyperbolic PDEs on a finite computational domain requires the introduction of a fictitious outer boundary. A long standing challenge in the computation of waves is to identify the far-field or asymptotic signal. From data $\psi(t, r_1)$ recorded on a sphere defined by r_1 we seek to recover the far-field signal $\psi(t + (r_2 - r_1), r_2)$ which would reach large distances r_2 including infinity. Far-field signals are especially important as they encode information about the physical system.

In this talk I show how far-field signal recovery is handled via a time-domain convolution

$$\Psi(t + (r_2 - r_1), r_2) = \int_0^t \phi(t - t', r_1, r_2) \Psi(t', r_1) dt' + \Psi(t, r_1)$$
(1)

of the solution recorded on a sphere r_1 with a well-defined kernel $\phi(t - t', r_1, r_2)$. A kernel which describes signal recovery for the ordinary (acoustic) wave equation can be written in closed-form. Using rational approximation techniques developed by Alpert, Greengard and Hagstrom [1] this kernel can be "compressed" as a compact sumof-poles in the frequency domain. Whence the far-field signal is given by convolution

$$\Psi(t + (r_2 - r_1), r_2) = \sum_{k=1}^{\ell} \gamma_k \int_0^t e^{\beta_k(t - t')} \Psi(t', r_1) dt' + \Psi(t, r_1)$$
(2)

with a small number of damped exponentials. In the limit $r_2 \rightarrow \infty$ we call Eq. (2) asymptotic-waveform evaluation.

For linear hyperbolic PDEs where one does not know a closed-form kernel representation the AGH technique permits signal recovery to be written in the form of Eq. (2) without loss of accuracy. We use asymptotic-waveform evaluation to compute signals generated from binary black hole systems modeled by the Regge-Wheeler-Zerilli equations as well as signal "teleportation" between two finite (smaller) radial values [2].

- B. Alpert, L. Greengard, and T. Hagstrom, *Rapid Evaluation of Nonreflecting Boundary Kernels for Time-Domain Wave Propagation*, SIAM J. Numer. Anal. 37 (2000) 1138-1164.
- [2] A. Benedict, S. E. Field, S. R. Lau, Fast evaluation of asymptotic waveforms from gravitational perturbations, Classical and Quantum Gravity Volume 30, Number 5, 055015, February 2013.
Hyperbolic Descriptions of Viscous Heat-Conducting Gaseous Flows and Their Solution

C. P. T. Groth

University of Toronto Institute for Aerospace Studies 4925 Dufferin Street, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, M3H 5T6 groth@utias.utoronto.ca

The use of fully hyperbolic moment closures for the numerical prediction of gaseous flows provides several immediate advantages. The closures lead to transport equations for an extended set of macroscopic quantities or moments that provide descriptions of both near-equilibrium and more general non-equilibrium flows. The moment equations are potentially valid from the continuum limit, through the transition regime, up to and approaching the near-collisionless or free-molecular flow limit. This is in contrast to traditional fluid-mechanic descriptions, such as the Euler and Navier-Stokes equations, which are only valid in or near local equilibrium and are therefore inappropriate for situations with significant deviations from equilibrium. In addition to the modelling advantages, hyperbolic moment closures present many numerical advantages. Moment closures are much less expensive than particle simulation techniques commonly used to described non-equilibrium gaseous flows, particularly for near-continuum and low-speed flows. Moreover, the first-order nature of moment equations allows for the prediction of viscous or heat-transfer effects without the need for the evaluation of second derivatives (this is in direct contrast to the Navier-Stokes equations). Numerical solutions to first-order hyperbolic equations are less sensitive to grid irregularities that often result from adaptive-mesh-refinement or embedded-boundary techniques [1]. Removing the requirement for the discretization of higher than first-order derivatives also means that numerical solution schemes can gain an extra order of spatial accuracy for the same reconstruction stencil when compared to descriptions requiring the discretization of second-order derivatives. Many numerical schemes are well-suited to the solutions of hyperbolic partial-differential equations, including upwind Godunov-type finite-volume and discontinuous-Galerkin schemes. While accurate solution methods have also been developed for equations have an elliptic and/or parabolic nature, the development of schemes that handle conservation equations of mixed type with equal elegance has proven to be significantly more of a challenge.

Recently, McDonald and Groth [2] and McDonald and Torrilhon [3] have proposed novel hyperbolic moment closures for describing both viscous and heat-conducting non-equilibrium gaseous based on maximum-entropy formulations having desirable mathematical features, including a well-defined entropy and strictly hyperbolic moments equations for a wide-range of realizable moments. The numerical solution of these hyperbolic closures using finite-volume methods with block-based adaptive mesh refinement (AMR) on multi-block, body-fitted, computational mesh is discussed with application to a number of canonical non-equilibrium flows, including channel flows, flow past a sphere, and stationary shock-wave structure.

- C. P. T. Groth and J. G. McDonald. Towards physically-realizable and hyperbolic moment closures for kinetic theory. *Continuum Mech. Thermodyn.*, 21(6):467–493, 2009.
- [2] J. G. McDonald and C. P. T. Groth. Towards realizable hyperbolic moment closures for viscous heat-conducting gas flows based on a maximum-entropy distribution. *Continuum Mech. Thermodyn.*, DOI 10.1007/s00161-012-0252-y, 2012.
- [3] J. G. McDonald and M. Torrilhon. Affordable robust moment closures for CFD based on the maximum-entropy hierarchy. submitted to the Journal of Computational Physics, November 2012.

Normal forms and a Burgers-Hilbert equation

John K. Hunter

University of California at Davis, USA, jkhunter@ucdavis.edu

The Burgers-Hilbert equation arises as a model equation for the motion of a vortex patch or discontinuity in a two-dimensional, inviscid, incompressible fluid flow, and describes the effect of nonlinear steepening on an interface or wave that oscillates at a constant background frequency. For small amplitudes, these oscillations delay wave breaking. We will explain how non-standard normal form methods can be used to prove an enhanced life-span of small smooth solutions of the Burgers-Hilbert equation in comparison with the inviscid Burgers equation. These normal form methods can be applied to other quasilinear wave equations, for which the Burgers-Hilbert equation provides a useful test case. This is joint work with M. Ifrim, D. Tataru, and D. Wong.

Two dimensional water waves in holomorphic coordinates

J. Hunter¹, <u>M. Ifrim</u>², D. Tataru³

¹ University of California at Davis, USA {hunter}@math.ucdavis.edu

² McMaster University, Canada, {mifrim}@math.mcmaster.ca

³ University of California at Berkeley, USA {tataru}@math.berkeley.edu

This article is concerned with the infinite bottom water wave equation in two space dimensions. We consider this problem expressed in position-velocity potential holomorphic coordinates. Viewing this problem as a quasilinear dispersive equation, we establish two results: (i) local well-posedness in Sobolev spaces, and (ii) almost global solutions for small localized data. Neither of these results are new; they have been recently obtained by Alazard-Burq-Zuily, respectively by Wu using different coordinates and methods. Instead our goal is improve the understanding of this problem by providing a single setting for both results, as well as new, somewhat simpler proofs.

- A. I. Dyachenko, E. A. Kuznetsov, M. D. Spector, and V. E. Zakharov, Analytical description of the free surface dynamics of an ideal fluid (canonical formalism and conformal mapping), *Phys Lett A* 221, 73-79, 1996
- [2] J. K. Hunter, M. Ifrim, Enhanced lifespan of smooth solutions of a Burgers-Hilbert equation, SIAM J. Math. Anal., 44, 2039-2052, 2012
- [3] J. K. Hunter, M. Ifrim, D. Tataru, and T. K. Wong, Long time solutions for a Burgers-Hilbert equation via a modified energy method, *Proceedings of the AMS*, in press, 2013
- [4] R. R. Coifman and Y. Meyer, Le double commutateur, Analyse Harmonique d'Orsay, 1976
- [5] L. Dawson, H. McGahagan and G. Ponce, On the decay properties of solutions to a class of Schrödinger equations. *Proc. AMS*. 136, 2081-2090, 2008

A Fourth-Order Solution-Adaptive CENO Scheme for Three-Dimensional Multi-Block Cubed-Sphere Grids

L. Ivan¹, A. Susanto¹, H. De Sterck¹, C. P. T. Groth²

¹ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, {livan,asusanto,hdesterck}@math.uwaterloo.ca

² University of Toronto Institute for Aerospace Studies, Toronto, Canada, groth@utias.utoronto.ca

High-order accurate and efficient computational methods are highly desirable in many fields of computational physics, particularly for large-scale scientific computing applications such as high-fidelity modelling of turbulent non-reactive and combusting flows, numerical computation of electromagnetic flows, and computational aeroacoustics. Standard spatial discretizations (i.e., methods up to second order) can exhibit excessive numerical error and are therefore very often not practical for these applications. Improved numerical efficiency may be achieved by raising the order of accuracy of the spatial discretization. Adaptive mesh refinement (AMR) can also minimize the computational cost of numerical simulations, by automatically adapting the computational grids to the solution of the governing equations. For numerical simulations of physically complex flows characterized by a wide range of spatial and temporal scales both high-order discretizations and AMR are demanded. Moreover, these approaches require an effective parallel implementation so as to run on thousands of computing cores efficiently.

Cubed-sphere grids [1] have recently gained increasing popularity for simulating fluid flows in spherical shell domains that naturally occur in the modelling of problems from fields as diverse as climate and weather modelling, space physics, astrophysics, and geophysics. Thus, scalable high-performance algorithms capable of reducing the time required to obtain numerical solutions of these problems on various cubed-sphere grids are highly desirable.

This work considers the development and application of a fourth-order accurate, central essentially nonoscillatory (CENO) finite-volume scheme [2] for hyperbolic conservation laws on several configurations of threedimensional (3D) cubed-sphere grids. The multi-dimensional approach uses k-exact reconstruction together with a monotonicity procedure that switches between high-order and low-order reconstruction based on a smoothness indicator. Hexahedral cells with trilinear faces are employed to handle nonplanar cell faces, achieving uniform high-order accuracy throughout the cubed-sphere grid. Furthermore, the degeneracies arising at the corners between adjacent sectors of the cubed-sphere grid are treated in a consistent manner, thereby allowing the extension of the proposed algorithm to various multi-block cubed-sphere grids. The 3D CENO scheme is implemented in a parallel, dynamically solution-adaptive, simulation framework [3].

Several applications of the proposed high-order accurate numerical procedure to prediction of compressible flows on cubed-sphere grids are presented. These include, but are not limited to, thorough assessments of the numerical scheme to demonstrate high-order accuracy based on systematic grid convergence studies, and simulations of flows containing shocks to illustrate algorithm robustness. Furthermore, the talk will present parallel performance studies and demonstration of the effectiveness of the AMR algorithm.

- C. Ronchi, R. Iacono, and P. S. Paolucci. *The "Cubed Sphere": A New Method for the Solution of Partial Differential Equations in Spherical Geometry* J. Comput. Phys., **124**, pp. 93-114 (1996).
- [2] L. Ivan, A. Susanto, C.P.T. Groth and H. De Sterck. *High-Order Central ENO Finite-Volume Scheme for MHD on Three-Dimensional Cubed-Sphere Grids*, ICCFD7, Paper ICCFD7-3605 (2012).
- [3] L. Ivan, H. De Sterck, S. A. Northrup, and C. P. T. Groth. *Three-Dimensional MHD on Cubed-Sphere Grids: Parallel Solution-Adaptive Simulation Framework*. AIAA, Paper **2011-3382** (2011).

Two-dimensional Riemann problems for conservation laws and shock reflection

K. Jegdic

University of Houston - Downtown, Houston, jegdick@uhd.edu

We give an overview of the free boundary techniques used in analysis of two-dimensional Riemann problems describing shock reflection for several systems of conservation laws. Our main example is the system of isentropic gas dynamics equations

$$\rho_t + (\rho u)_x + (\rho v)_y = 0, (\rho u)_t + (\rho u^2 + p)_x + (\rho u v)_y = 0, (\rho v)_t + (\rho u v)_x + (\rho v^2 + p)_y = 0,$$
(1)

where ρ stands for density, *u* and *v* are velocities in *x* and *y* directions, respectively, and *p* is pressure. We also consider simpler models such as unsteady transonic small disturbance equation (UTSDE) and the nonlinear wave system (NLWS). The UTSDE, NLWS and system (1) are prototypes of the full Euler gas dynamics equations and their importance in the study of the shock reflection problems was discussed in [2, 8]. In each case, we discuss the Riemann initial data resulting in regular shock reflection (transonic and supersonic).

We use the approach given in [4] on the study of steady transonic small disturbance equation, which was later adopted to the UTSDE and NLWS (some references are [1, 3, 6, 7]. The main idea is to rewrite the problem in self-similar coordinates $\xi = x/t$ and $\eta = y/t$ which leads to a free boundary problem of mixed hyperbolic-elliptic type. The free boundary is the reflected shock, whose position, through Rankine-Hugoniot conditions, depends on the solution. The interactions in the hyperbolic part are resolved using the theory of one-dimensional hyperbolic conservation laws. The solution in the elliptic part is described using a second order elliptic equation for one of the variables with mixed (Derichlet and oblique-derivative) boundary conditions. Its existence is studied using various fixed point theorems and Schauder estimates from [5].

Existence of solutions to Riemann problems for UTSDE and NLWS leading to both transonic and supersonic regular shock reflections was proved (see [1, 3, 6, 7]), and we discuss challenges arising in the study of system (1).

- [1] S. Canic, B. L. Keyfitz and E. H. Kim, *Free boundary problems for the unsteady transonic small disturbance equation: transonic regular reflection*, Methods of Application and Analysis 7, pp. 313-336 (2000).
- [2] S. Canic, B. L. Keyfitz and E. H. Kim, Mixed hyperbolic-elliptic systems in self-similar flows, Boletim da Sociedade Brasileira de Matematica 32, pp. 377-399 (2001).
- [3] S. Canic, B. L. Keyfitz and E. H. Kim, A free boundary problem for a quasilinear degenerate elliptic equation: Regular reflection of weak shocks, Communications on Pure and Applied Mathematics, LV, pp. 71-92 (2002).
- [4] S. Canic, B. L. Keyfitz and G. Lieberman, *A proof of existence of perturbed steady transonic shocks via a free boundary problem*, Communications on Pure and Applied Mathematics **LIII**, pp. 1-28 (2000).
- [5] D. Gilbarg and N. S. Trudinger, *Elliptic Partial Differential Equations of Second Order*, Springer Verlag, New York, 2nd edition (1983).
- [6] K. Jegdic, B. L. Keyfitz and S. Canic, *Transonic regular reflection for the nonlinear wave system*, Journal of Hyperbolic Differential Equations **3**, pp. 1-32 (2006).
- [7] K. Jegdic, Weak regular reflection for the nonlinear wave system, Journal of Hyperbolic Differential Equations 5, pp. 399-420 (2008).
- [8] B. L. Keyfitz, Self-Similar Solutions of Two-Dimensional Conservation Laws, Journal of Hyperbolic Differential Equations 1, pp. 445-492 (2004).

On Isentropic Flow with Large Data

Geng Chen¹, Helge Kristian Jenssen²

¹ Penn State University, Pennsylvania, USA, chen@math.psu.edu

² Penn State University, Pennsylvania, USA, hkjenssen@gmail.com

We consider one-dimensional compressible flow of a gas as described by the isentropic Euler system in a Lagrangian frame (t, X) by

$$\tau_t - u_X = 0 \tag{1}$$

$$u_t + p(\tau)_X = 0, \tag{2}$$

where $\tau = \rho^{-1}$ denotes specific volume, *u* is particle velocity, and $p(\tau) \propto \tau^{-\gamma}$ is pressure ($\gamma \ge 1$).

Despite its simplicity this model is not well-understood mathematically. Given the role played by a priori variation bounds in Glimm's small variation theory, it is natural to ask if "large" solutions to (1)-(2) admit similar estimates. We present examples showing that certain types of variation bounds are *not* available for (1)-(2). The examples rely on the singular behavior of the system near vacuum.

An Adaptive RBF-WENO Reconstruction Method for Hyperbolic Problems

J.-H. Jung¹

¹ University at Buffalo, SUNY, {jaehun}@buffalo.edu

We present an adaptive RBF-WENO method using the multi-quadric RBFs for the local reconstruction. The method is that the shape parameters are adaptively determined based on the regularity of the local reconstruction in each stencil. By this flexibility, the reconstruction can enhance accuracy and convergence although using polynomials in each stencil allows only a fixed convergence rate. We construct the ENO and then WENO reconstructions and show how the accuracy is enhanced with numerical examples.

Relaxing the CFL Number of the Discontinuous Galerkin Method

N. Chalmers¹, <u>L. Krivodonova²</u>, R. Qin³

¹ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, nbchalmers@uwaterloo.ca

² University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, lgk@math.uwaterloo.ca

³ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, rqin@uwaterloo.ca

Discontinuous Galerkin methods (DGM) have a Courant-Friedrichs-Lewy (CFL) number decreasing with the increase of the order of approximation p for convection dominated problems. This makes them computationally more expensive when compared with finite volume or finite difference methods. We propose a modification of the scheme that results in a family of high order methods which have a less restrictive CFL number. We show that in the standard DG method the dispersion and dissipation errors and the spectrum of the semi-discrete scheme are related to the [p/p+1] Pade approximation of exp(z) and exp(-z). This Pade approximant is responsible for both the superconvergent error in diffusion and dispersion $(O(h^{2p+2}) \text{ and } O(h^{2p+3}))$, respectively) and the small CFL number. We propose to modify the DGM so that the resulting rational approximation of the exponent corresponds to a spatial discretization operator with a smaller spectrum, i.e. a less restrictive CFL number. This is achieved by scaling the amount of the numerical flux contribution to the equations evolving solution coefficients in time. For the considered orders of approximation, the improvement in the CFL number ranges between two and five fold depending on how much modification is brought into the scheme. The interesting aspect of the new schemes is that the (p+1)st rate of convergence in the L^2 norm as well as the compact stencil of the traditional DGM are preserved. We show that for the same amount of work the new schemes are more efficient for smooth problems and considerably more accurate for problems with discontinuities.

^[1] L. Krivodonova and R. Qin, An Analysis of the Spectrum of the Discontinuous Galerkin Method, Applied Num. Math. 64, pp. 1-18 (2013).

^[2] N. Chalmers, L. Krivodonova, and R. Qin, *Relaxing the CFL Condition of the Discontinuous Galerkin Method*, submitted for publication

Nonlinear wave interaction for the ultra-relativistic Euler equations

Matthias Kunik¹, Mahmoud A. E Abdelrahman²

¹ Otto-von-Guericke-university, Magdeburg, Germany, matthias.kunik@ovgu.de

² Otto-von-Guericke-university, Magdeburg, Germany, mahmoud.abdelrahman@st.ovgu.de

We study the ultra-relativistic Euler equations for an ideal gas and present the solution of the Riemann problem, which is free from vacuum. We introduce a new function, which measures the strengths of the waves of the ultra-relativistic Euler equations, and use it to derive sharp estimates for the wave interactions.

Our study of interaction estimates allows us to determine the type of the outgoing Riemann solutions. From this study we were able to derive a new front tracking technique for the ultra-relativistic Euler equations, which gives exact weak solutions.

- [1] M.A.E. Abdelrahman and M. Kunik, The Ultra-Relativistic Euler Equations, Preprint No. 11, Otto-von-Guericke University (2012).
- [2] A. Bressan, Lecture Notes on Conservation Laws, S.I.S.S.A., Trieste (1995).
- [3] M. Kunik, Selected Initial and Boundary Value Problems for Hyperbolic Systems and Kinetic Equations, Habilitation thesis, Ottovon-GuerickeUniversity (2005).
- [4] N.H. Risebro, A. Tveito, A front tracking method for conservation laws in one dimension, J.Comput. Phys. pp. 1125-1139 (1993).
- [5] J. Smoller, Shock Waves and Reaction-Diffusion Equations, Springer-Verlag New York Heidelberg Berlin, (1994)

Sparse spectral methods for helically symmetric gravitational binaries

S. R. Lau¹ and R. H. Price²

¹ Mathematics and Statistics, University of New Mexico, lau@unm.edu

² Physics and Astronomy, University of Texas at Brownsville, Richard.Price@utb.edu

We describe ongoing work intended to solve the helically symmetric Einstein equations (or post-Minkowski approximations thereof) for binary configurations, such as two neutron stars. Helically symmetric solutions may serve as a platform for constructing improved initial data for the hyperbolic evolution problem of general relativity, in particular removing the typical (but physically incorrect) assumption of conformal flatness. We employ sparse modal spectral methods based on the technique of "integration preconditioning" [1], and a key focus of our work involves practical extension of the technique to higher dimensions and multiple subdomains.

The model problem involves the 3d helically reduced wave equation: $L\psi = g$ on \mathscr{D} with Dirichlet boundary conditions at $\partial S_1^- \cup \partial S_2^- \subset \partial \mathscr{D}$ and radiation boundary conditions at $\partial S_3^+ \subset \partial \mathscr{D}$ (see the figure). Here



(a) 3d view of domain decomposition.

(b) Cross-sectional view.

Figure 1: DECOMPOSITION OF \mathscr{D} . The inner configuration of 10 rectangular, cylindrical, and spherical subdomains (S_1 and S_2) is enclosed within an outer spherical shell S_3 (not shown save for its inner boundary in (b)). ∂S_k^{\pm} denotes the outer/inner boundary of S_k for k = 1, 2, 3.

 $L = \partial_x^2 + \partial_y^2 + \partial_z^2 - \Omega^2 (x \partial_y - y \partial_x)^2$ is the "helical Laplacian" (with rotation rate Ω) and g is a prescribed source. As described in [2] this mixed-type problem arises via helical reduction of the inhomogeneous 3+1 wave equation. The helical reduction of the Einstein equations described in [3, 4] involves a tensorial field resolved into ten coupled "helical scalars" $\psi^{(\alpha\beta)}$ each of which obeys a copy $L\psi^{(\alpha\beta)} =$ $g^{(\alpha\beta)}$ of the above equation. However, for this formulation $g^{(\alpha\beta)}$ is now not an external source; rather it is a nonlinear coupling function of the helical scalars which does include second-order derivative terms (albeit of quadratic smallness). This talk will focus on the simplest helical neutron star model.

- E. A. Coutsias, T. Hagstrom, J. S. Hesthaven, and D. Torres, *Integration preconditioners for differential operators in spectral τ-methods*, Spec. Issue Houston Journal of Mathematics, 21, pp. 21-38 (1996).
- [2] S. R. Lau and R. H. Price, Sparse spectral-tau method for the three-dimensional helically reduced wave equation on two-center domains, J. Comput. Phys. 231, issue 22, pp. 7695-7714 (2012).
- [3] C. Beetle, B. Bromley, and R. H. Price, *Periodic standing-wave approximation: Eigenspectral computations for linear gravity and nonlinear toy models*, Phys. Rev. D **74**, 024013 (2006) [17 pages].
- [4] C. Beetle, B. Bromley, and R. H. Price, *Periodic standing-wave approximation: Post-Minkowski computations*, Phys. Rev. D 76, 084016 (2007) [16 pages].

The Dynamics of a Scalar Field in Anti-de Sitter

S.L. Liebling¹

¹ Long Island University, NY, USA, steve.liebling@liu.edu

The gravitational collapse of a scalar field in spherically symmetric spacetime serves as an ideal problem for exploring the nonlinear aspects of gravity because of its relative simplicity and its interesting behavior. One well known example is black hole (BH) critical phenomena found by Choptuik [1] revealing interesting nonlinear behavior at the threshold for BH formation. He found this threshold by conducting a bisection search on the initial amplitude of a scalar field evolving within an asymptotically flat spacetime. For some initial data family characterized by a critical parameter, say p^* , initial data with $p > p^*$ formed a BH while initial data with $p < p^*$ dispersed to infinity.

Studying the scalar field instead in Anti-de Sitter (AdS), Refs. [2, 3] found that even nominally subcritical $(p < p^*)$ initial data eventually, and inevitably, collapsed as well. AdS has the remarkable property that its boundary is in causal contact with its bulk, and one effect of this is that an initial pulse that does not form a BH will eventually reflect from the boundary at infinite radius. The numerical evolutions of [2, 3] suggested that even the weakest initial pulse will, after some huge number of reflections, sharpen (via a *weakly turbulent instability*) to the point where the energy density collapses to BH formation.

Here, I discuss recent work [4, 5, 6] studying a complex scalar field in spherically symmetric AdS. Our work reproduces the work of [2, 3], and studies the focusing mechanism by which the bulk energy density cascades to shorter scales. We also introduce a reflecting boundary condition at finite radius and find similar BH formation after repeated bounces. Assuming a stationary ansatz for the complex field, we find boson star solutions. Adopting such solutions along with an appropriate perturbation as initial data, we evolve and study the nonlinear stability of boson stars.

We argue that this instability of AdS to BH formation results from the nonlinear self-gravity of the scalar pulse, and that the casually connected boundary of AdS allows for the self-gravity to act continuously. This simple explanation requires some augmentation in light of a few surprises encountered: (i) The introduction of an artificial reflecting boundary condition introduces a limit below which sufficiently weak initial data fails to produce a BH, (ii) sufficiently weak perturbations of a boson star appear to propagate without sharpening and without eventual BH formation, and (iii) evolutions suggest that a large class of initial data, not just that of stationary solutions, is immune to this turbulent instability.

- [1] M. W. Choptuik, "Universality and scaling in gravitational collapse of a massless scalar field," Phys. Rev. Lett. 70 (1993) 9–12.
- [2] P. Bizon and A. Rostworowski, "On weakly turbulent instability of anti-de Sitter space," *Phys.Rev.Lett.* 107 (2011) 031102, arXiv:1104.3702 [gr-qc].
- [3] J. Jalmuzna, A. Rostworowski, and P. Bizon, "A Comment on AdS collapse of a scalar field in higher dimensions," *Phys. Rev.* D84 (2011) 085021, arXiv:1108.4539 [gr-qc].
- [4] A. Buchel, L. Lehner, and S. L. Liebling, "Scalar Collapse in AdS," Phys. Rev. D86 (2012) 123011, arXiv: 1210.0890 [gr-qc].
- [5] S. L. Liebling, "Nonlinear Collapse in the Semilinear Wave Equation in AdS," arXiv:1212.6970 [gr-qc].
- [6] A. Buchel, S. L. Liebling, and L. Lehner, "Boson Stars in AdS," arXiv:1304.4166 [gr-qc].

Absorbing boundary conditions for quantum relativistic mechanics

E. Lorin¹

¹ Carleton University, School of Mathematics and Statistics, elorin@math.carleton.ca

Microlocal analysis is used to derive pseudo-differential transparent and absorbing boundary conditions for the 1-d and 2-d Klein-Gordon and Dirac equations modeling quantum particles subject to classical electromagnetic fields.

Challenging simulations of Black Hole Binaries

C. Lousto, M. Campanelli, Y. Zlochower

Rochester Institute of Technology, Rochester NY 14623, USA. colsma@rit.edu

We review the full numerical techniques that allow to simulate binary black holes by solving General Relativity field equations. We describe the specific techniques used to deal with the most challenging cases of small mass ratio binaries [1], highly spinning black holes [2], and large separation binaries [3].

- C. O. Lousto and Y. Zlochower, "Orbital Evolution of Extreme-Mass-Ratio Black-Hole Binaries with Numerical Relativity," Phys. Rev. Lett. 106, 041101 (2011) [arXiv:1009.0292 [gr-qc]].
- [2] C. O. Lousto, H. Nakano, Y. Zlochower, B. C. Mundim and M. Campanelli, "Study of Conformally Flat Initial Data for Highly Spinning Black Holes and their Early Evolutions," Phys. Rev. D 85, 124013 (2012) [arXiv:1203.3223 [gr-qc]].
- [3] C. O. Lousto and Y. Zlochower, "Exploring the Outer Limits of Numerical Relativity," arXiv:1304.3937 [gr-qc].

Exponential time integration methods for wave-dominated problems

<u>M. Min¹</u>, P. Fischer²

¹ Argonne National Laboratory, U.S.A., mmin@mcs.anl.gov

² Argonne National Laboratory, U.S.A., fischer@mcs.anl.gov

We present our recent studies on exponential time integration methods for solving wave-dominated problems arising in electromagnetics and fluids [1, 2]. We discretize the spatial domain based on a high-order spectralelement discontinuous Galerkin approach. From the resulting semi-discrete form, we can obtain our approximate solution analytically, expressed by a large matrix exponential. We project the large matrix exponential onto a small dimension of Krylov subspace by the Arnoldi process [3] and compute the matrix exponential of the resulting Hessenberg matrix in a small dimension m.

For computing the matrix exponential, we obtain eigenvalues of the Hessenberg matrix of dimension $m \times m$ using available library packages and perform ordinary exponential function operations for the eigenvalues. The scheme involves mainly matrix-vector multiplications, with the rate of convergence $O(\Delta t^{m-1})$ so that it allows taking a larger timestep size as *m* increases.

We demonstrate practical implementation of the algorithms including the accuracy and computational cost. Case studies are presented for electromagnetic waveguide problems, Schrödinger solutions, and lattice Boltzmann method approach for fluids simulations.

- [1] M. Min and P. Fischer, An efficient high-order time integration method for spectral-element discontinuous Galerkin simulations in electromagnetics, J. Sci. Comp., to appear, (2013).
- [2] K. Uga, M. Min, T. Lee, and P. Fischer, Spectral-element discontinuous Galerkin lattice Boltzmann simulation of flow past two cylinders in tandem with an exponential time integrator, Comp. Math. Apps., pp. 239-251, (2013).
- [3] Y. Saad, Iterative methods for sparse linear systems, PWS Publishing (1996).

Compressible Navier-Stokes equations with temperature dependent dissipation

Ronghua Pan¹ and Weizhe Zhang²

 $^1Georgia\ Institute\ of\ Technology\ panrh@math.gatech.edu$

 2 Georgia Institute of Technology, wzhang@math.gatech.edu

From its physical origin, the viscosity and heat conductivity in compressible fluids depend on absolute temperature through power laws. The mathematical theory on the well-posedness and regularity on this setting is widely open. I will report some recent progress made on this direction, with emphasis on the lower bound of temperature, and global existence of solutions in one or multiple dimensions. The relation between thermodynamics laws and Navier-Stokes equations will also be discussed. This talk is based on joint works with Weizhe Zhang.

Estimation and propagation of volcanic source parameter uncertainty and the Eyjafjallajökull plume

<u>E. Bruce Pitman¹</u>, A.K. Patra², P. Singla², T. Singh², M. Bursik³, M. Jones⁴, E.R. Stefanescu², R. Madankan², S. Pouget³, J. Dehn⁵, P. Webley⁵, M. Pavolonis⁶

⁴ Center for Computational Research, University at Buffalo

⁶ NOAA-NESIDS, Center for Satellite Applications and Research

The 2010 eruption of the Eyjafjallaj/"okull volcano wrecked havoc for European aviation. To make predictions of the likely position of the ash cloud and issue advisories to the airline industry, the London Volcanic Ash Advisory Center used mathematical models of advection and dispersion. These models require input data on volcanic source conditions such as eruption column height and mass loading, which are usually not well constrained. The outputs of these models also depend on other input data such as varying winds, which have stochastic variability. Estimates of all these uncertain inputs is needed in order to make probabilistic predictions of ash cloud motion.

There has not been a systematic study of these variable and uncertain source inputs, and the consequent probabilistic output forecasts. This presentation examines the forecasting problem, accounting for both uncertain and stochastic inputs. At the same time, it can be important for geo-scientists to study the inverse problem – using cloud location to estimate source parameters; the presentation also discusses methodologies that can be used to solve this inverse problem.

At the core of our approach is a marriage of a model of a volcanic eruption column, called BENT, with an advection and dispersion code, PUFF. BENT uses physical features such as the diameter of a volcanic vent and the sizes of ejected particles to predict the structure of an eruption column. This column structure is then used as input to PUFF, which propagates the ash cloud.

In performing the uncertainty quantification calculations, techniques from generalized polynomial chaos and from conjugate unscented transform are used. Careful attention is given to convergence issues, particularly regarding the PUFF code.

For validation, the BENT-PUFF propagation predictions are compared with the documented motion of the Eyjafjallaj/"okull ash cloud.

¹ Department of Mathematics, University at Buffalo pitman@buffalo.edu

² Department of Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering, University at Buffalo

³ Department of Geology, University at Buffalo

⁵ Geophysical Institute, University at Alaska, Fairbanks

Special Solutions in Smectic Electroconvection

S.W. Morris¹, M.C. Pugh²

¹ Physics Department, University of Toronto, smorris@physics.utoronto.ca ² Math Department, University of Toronto, mpugh@math.utoronto.ca

We discuss electroconvection in a free submicron-thick liquid crystal film in an annular geometry. Figure (a) shows the experimental apparatus from above. The inner and outer dark regions denote electrodes between which a voltage difference is imposed. Between them is the annular film with circles denoting the convection cells of charge that form when the voltage difference is sufficiently large. Figure (b) shows the apparatus from the side.



Because of the annular geometry, the dynamics are periodic in the azimuthal direction and the only boundaries are those at which the convective forcing is applied. The liquid crystal is in smectic A phase, forming a nearly-perfect two-dimensional fluid because the film does not change thickness, even while flowing. Also, the inner electrode can be rotated and so the experiment can be used to study the interplay between a stabilizing force applied via the boundary (Couette shear) and convection. We present preliminary numerical simulations of special solutions such as convection cells, oscillatory convection cells, undulating convection cells, and localized vortex solutions.

Linear Stability Analysis of the Discontinuous Galerkin Method on Uniform and Nonuniform Grids

L. Krivodonova¹, R. Qin²

¹ University of Waterloo, Canada, lgk@uwaterloo.ca

² University of Waterloo, Canada, rqin@uwaterloo.ca

Applying a discontinuous Galerkin spatial discretization to a hyperbolic PDE results in a system of ODEs for the unknown solution coefficients. This system can be solved with a time integration scheme such as a Runge-Kutta method. The largest allowable time step depends on the eigenvalues of the spatial discretization matrix and the absolute stability region of the ODE solver. In this talk we present an analysis of the eigenvalues of the DG scheme with the upwind flux applied to the one-dimensional scalar advection equation. We derive a formula for the eigenvalues on an N element uniform grid in terms of the sub-diagonal [p,p+1] Padé approximation of exp(-z), where p is the order of the finite element basis. This allows us to draw a number of conclusions about the CFL number and stability of the scheme. For example, we obtain a bound on the largest in magnitude eigenvalue and also its asymptotic growth rate with the order of approximation. Then, we analyze the eigenvalues of the DG method on nonuniform grids and demonstrate that a CFL condition less than the one prescribed by the local stability condition (and commonly assumed) can be used.

Smoothness Increasing Accuracy Conserving (SIAC) filtering for discontinuous Galerkin approximations to nonlinear hyperbolic conservation laws

Xiaozhou Li¹, Jennifer K. Ryan²

¹ Delft University of Technology, Netherlands, X.Li-2@tudelft.nl

² University of East Anglia, United Kingdom, Jennifer.Ryan@uea.ac.uk

In this presentation we discuss the application of a Smoothness-Increasing Accuracy-Conserving (SIAC) filtering to discontinuous Galerkin (DG) approximations for the solution to scalar nonlinear hyperbolic equations. The SIAC filter can increase the order of accuracy of the DG approximation from k + 1 to 2k + 1 for time-dependent linear hyperbolic partial differential equations solved over translation invariant meshes (here *k* refers to the highest degree polynomial used in the approximation). Additionally, performing such filtering rids the approximation of oscillations in the error, as shown in Figure 1. The SIAC filtered DG solution is obtained by convolving the DG approximation with a convolution kernel consisting of a linear combination of B-splines.

In this talk we discuss the barriers to extending this technique to nonlinear hyperbolic equations. That is, in order to make SIAC filtering applicable to nonlinear hyperbolic equations, we must establish both the proper error estimates in the negative-order norm for smooth regions as well as one-sided filtering for treating boundaries and shocks. We demonstrate computationally and theoretically that it is possible to obtain 2k + m, where *m* depends upon the flux for the DG solution [1]. Further, we show that by a suitable modification of the filtering kernel near the boundary or shock regions, we are able to conserve, and in most cases improve, accuracy and smoothness [2].



Figure 1: Comparison of the point-wise errors in log scale of the (a) DG solution and (b) the SIAC filtered solution using basis polynomials of degree k = 4, mesh 80×80 .

- L. Ji, Y. Xu, and J.K. Ryan, Negative-order norm estimates for nonlinear hyperbolic conservation laws, Journal of Scientific Computing, 54, pp. 269-310 (2013).
- [2] X. Li, R.M. Kirby, J.K. Ryan, and C. Vuik, Computationally Efficient Position-Dependent Smoothness-Increasing Accuracy-Conserving (SIAC) filtering: The uniform mesh case, preprint.

Effects of Nonstrict Hyperbolicity on Singularity Formation

Katarzyna Saxton

Loyola University, New Orleans, USA, saxton@loyno.edu

We examine a 2x2 genuinely nonlinear hyperbolic system involving (e, p) variables which loses the property of strict hyperbolicity along sets in the (x,t) plane where e = 0. If the initial condition $e_0(x)$ is set to be increasing function with $e_0(0) = 0$, then along the line x = 0 we have e(0,t) = 0 for t > 0. It was established in earlier work ([1]) that a singularity forms in finite time along x = 0, even in the presence of damping. That is, unlike for the case of strictly hyperbolic systems, dissipation is not strong enough to preserve smoothness of small solutions globally in time. Under the conditions that $e'_0(0) > 0$, $p''_0(0) < 0$ and $(p''_0(0))^2 - (e'_0(0))^4 > 0$, the hyperbolically degenerate set along x = 0 bifurcates from a point $(0, t^*)$ to create a secondary curve prior to blowup. Thus there exists an additional curve $L : t = \Psi(x)$ crossing x = 0 at $t = t^*$ along which characteristic speeds are equal and e = 0. We will analyze the consequence of this phenomenon and provide properties of the curve L. Some examples of solutions will be presented for the case of no damping.

References

[1] K. Saxton and R. Saxton, *On the influence of damping in hyperbolic equations with parabolic degeneracy*, Quart. Appl. Mat., **70**, pp. 171-180 (2012).

A Generalized Sign-Changing Liouville Equation

<u>R. Saxton</u>¹, A. Sarria²

¹ University of New Orleans, USA, rsaxton@uno.edu

² University of New Orleans, USA, asarria1@uno.edu

We examine singularity formation in the Goursat and 'mean-Goursat' problems for spatially periodic solutions to the sign-changing Liouville equation

$$\partial_{t\alpha} \ln u = f(\alpha) u^{\lambda}, \ t > 0, \tag{1}$$

with solutions having initial data

$$u(\alpha, 0) = g(\alpha), \tag{2}$$

and satisfying either

i)
$$u(0,t) = h(t)$$
, or *ii*) $\int_0^1 u(\alpha,t) d\alpha = k(t), t > 0$, (3)

for given positive functions g and h or k. The requirement of having spatially periodic solutions places change of sign as a necessary condition on the function f.

References

[1] Liouville, J., Sur l'equation aux differences partielles: $\partial^2 log \lambda / \partial u \partial v \pm \lambda / 2a^2 = 0$, J. Math., Vol. 18, pp. 71-72, 1853.

A numerical investigation into high-order multiderivative integrators for hyperbolic conservation laws

David C. Seal, Yaman Güçlü, Andrew J. Christlieb

Michigan State University, East Lansing, Michigan

We advocate the use of seldom seen multiderivative time integrators for hyperbolic conservation laws because they work well with modern computer architectures. When compared with traditional (single-derivative) Runge-Kutta methods, the primary advantages multiderivative methods have are twofold: first, they naturally contain a low memory footprint, and second, they require less computational effort in terms of number of Riemann solves and number of WENO reconstructions.

Multiderivative methods are similar to Taylor methods because they evaluate higher derivatives of the function in order to attain high-order accuracy, and the multistage versions of these methods are similar to (single-derivative) Runge-Kutta methods because they add extra stages in order to increase the overall order of accuracy. Recent work on applying multiderivative time integrators to hyperbolic conservation laws presented a single, fourth-order method as its model multiderivative example [1]. There, they demonstrated how a multiderivative method could be used to solve hyperbolic problems using WENO and discontinuous Galerkin spatial discretizations. Their work presented results for numerous test problems that indicate multiderivative methods compete well with popular high-order strong stability preserving time integrators.

In this work, we present a numerical investigation into results for higher-order two-derivative Runge-Kutta methods that use extra stages [2]. For a spatial discretization, we use seventh and ninth-order WENO methods, and we compare results with popular high-order time integrators. In addition, we present 2D results that use a multiderivative discontinuous Galerkin formulation.

- [1] D.C. Seal, Y. Güçlü, and A.J. Christlieb, *High-order multiderivative integrators for hyperbolic conservation laws*, submitted, J. Comp. Phys. (2013).
- [2] R. P. K. Chan, A. Y. J. Tsai, On explicit two-derivative Runge-Kutta methods, Numer. Algorithms 53 (2-3) (2010) 171–194.

Glancing weak Mach reflection

J. K. Hunter¹, <u>A. Tesdall²</u>

¹ University of California, Davis, jkhunter@ucdavis.edu

² College of Staten Island, City University of New York, allen.tesdall@csi.cuny.edu

We study the glancing limit of weak shock reflection, in which the wedge angle tends to zero with the Mach number fixed. Lighthill showed that, according to linearized theory, the reflected shock strength approaches zero at the triple point in reflections of this type. To understand the nonlinear structure of the solution near the triple point in nearly glancing reflections, then, it is necessary to understand how the reflected shock diffracts nonlinearly into the Mach shock as its strength approaches zero. Towards this end, we formulate a half-space initial boundary value problem for the unsteady transonic small disturbance equations that describes nearly glancing Mach reflection. We solve this IBVP numerically, and we find in the solutions a complex reflection pattern that closely resembles Guderley Mach reflection. This is joint work with John Hunter.

Conservation Laws with no Classical Riemann Solutions: Existence of Singular Shocks

Barbara Lee Keyfitz¹, Charis Tsikkou²

¹ Department of Mathematics, The Ohio State University, bkeyfitz@math.ohio-state.edu
² Department of Mathematics, West Virginia University, tsikkou@math.wvu.edu

The basic tool in the construction of solutions to the Cauchy problem for conservation laws with smooth initial data is the Riemann problem. In this talk I will review the results obtained for the solutions to the Riemann problem and present a system of two equations derived from isentropic gas dynamics with no classical solution. I will then use the blowing-up approach to geometric singular perturbation problems to show that the system exhibits unbounded solutions (singular shocks) with Dafermos profiles.

- C. M. Dafermos, Solution of the Riemann problem for a class of hyperbolic systems of conservation laws by the viscosity method. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 52 (1973), 1–9.
- [2] C. M. Dafermos and R. J. DiPerna, *The Riemann problem for certain classes of hyperbolic systems of conservation laws*. J. Differential Equations **20** (1976), 90–114.
- [3] N. Fenichel, Geometric singular perturbation theory for ordinary differential equations, J. Differential Equations 31 (1979), 53–98.
- [4] C. K. R. T. Jones, *Geometric singular perturbation theory*. Dynamical systems (Montecatini Terme, 1994), Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 1609, Springer, Berlin, (1995), pp. 44–118.
- [5] B. L. Keyfitz and H. C. Kranzer, A viscosity approximation to a system of conservation laws with no classical Riemann solution. In Nonlinear Hyperbolic Problems (Bordeaux, 1998), (eds. C. Carasso et al.), Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 1402, Springer, Berlin, (1989), pp. 185–197.
- [6] B. L. Keyfitz and H. C. Kranzer, Spaces of weighted measures for conservation laws with singular shock solutions, J. Differential Equations, 118 (1995), 420–451.
- [7] H. C. Kranzer and B. L. Keyfitz, A strictly hyperbolic system of conservation laws admitting singular shocks. In Nonlinear Evolution Equations that Change Type (eds. B. L. Keyfitz and M. Shearer), Springer, New York, (1990), pp. 107–125.
- [8] M. Krupa and P. Szmolyan, *Extending geometric singular perturbation theory to nonhyperbolic points fold and canard points in two dimensions*, SIAM J. Math. Anal., **33** (2001), 286–314.
- [9] M. Mazzotti, Non-classical composition fronts in nonlinear chromatography Delta-shock, Indust. & Eng. Chem. Res., **48** (2009), 7733–7752.
- [10] D. G. Schaeffer, S. Schecter and M. Shearer, Nonstrictly hyperbolic conservation laws with a parabolic line, J. Differential Equations 103 (1993), 94–126.
- [11] S. Schecter, Existence of Dafermos profiles for singular shocks, J. Differential Equations 205 (2004), 185–210.
- [12] M. Sever, Distribution solutions of nonlinear systems of conservation laws, Memoirs of the AMS, 889 (2007), 1–163.

Shock detection of discontinuous Galerkin methods using multiwavelets

M.J. Vuik¹

¹ Delft University of Technology, Netherlands, M.J.Vuik@tudelft.nl

Many areas such as climate modeling, shallow water equations, and computational fluid dynamics use nonlinear hyperbolic partial differential equations to describe the behaviour of some unknown quantity. In general, the solutions of these equations contain shocks, or develop discontinuities. To efficiently apply the discontinuous Galerkin (DG) method in case of discontinuous solutions, an accurate shock detector is needed, in order to determine where the use of a limiter, or adding viscosity is necessary.

In this presentation we discuss the use of multiwavelets for shock detection. We explain how DG coefficients can easily be used for a multiwavelet decomposition of the approximation, [1]. This decomposition is written as a sum of a global average and finer details on different levels. Using such a decomposition allows the multiwavelet expansion to act as a shock detector, where the averages of this contribution are computed on each element, [2]. This allows for shock detection in two-dimensions as well. For example, in two-dimensions, the multiwavelet decomposition uses combinations of scaling functions and multiwavelets in the x-, and y-direction. This is the reason why we are able to detect the exact locations of discontinuities in the x-, or y-direction, or in one of the diagonal directions (Figure 1). This is joint work with Jennifer Ryan (University of East Anglia).



Figure 1: Multiwavelet averages of circle wave, using DG basis polynomials of degree k = 3, mesh 64×64 .

- R.K. Archibald, G.I. Fann, and W.A. Shelton, *Adaptive Discontinuous Galerkin Methods with Multiwavelets Bases*, Applied Numerical Mathematics, 61(7), pp. 879-890 (2011).
- [2] M.J.Vuik, Limiting and shock detection for discontinuous Galerkin solutions using multiwavelets, Master Thesis (2012).

Recent Progress Towards Periodic Solutions of the Euler Equations

R. Young¹

¹ University of Massachusetts, Amherst, young@math.umass.edu

I will report on recent progress Blake Temple and I have made towards proving the existence of time-periodic shock-free solutions of the compressible Euler equations. I shall briefly recall our previous results and the main remaining issues in getting the Nash-Moser method to converge. I shall then present details of our approach, which reduces the problem to that of obtaining estimates on finite dimensional projections of linearized operators. The operator can be described in detail, and in principle reduces to the calculation of the smallest singular value of an $N \times N$ matrix.

Industrial Mathematics (SS-IM)

Organizer: Sean Bohun (University of Ontario Institute of Technology)

Perhaps one of the simplest definitions of Industrial Mathematics as being problem driven mathematics for the sake of science rather while pure mathematics may be regarded as mathematics for its own sake. The term industry is meant in a very broad sense consisting of any field with either a commercial or societal benefit, whether it be the optimal design of an electric motor, modelling financial options or even classifying mother/child interactions. It is characterized by an underlying philosophy of problem-driven rather than area-led mathematics which often results in the novel use of mathematics to highlight cross disciplinary understanding that would not be possible with more traditional methods. This special session will highlight work across the wide spectrum of industrial mathematics illustrating the collaboration of mathematics, science and industry to provide insight to real life problems.

Modelling Mass Transfer in a Rotating Disk Reaction Vessel

C.S. Bohun¹

¹ University of Ontario Institute of Technology, Oshawa, Canada, sean.bohun@uoit.ca

Presented is research focussing on the process of mass transfer in a rotating disk apparatus, formulated as a Stefan problem driven by the dynamics of the chemical reactions in the bulk solution. Calcite (calcium carbonate) is chosen as the material undergoing dissolution because of the central role it plays in geological and man-made structures. The wide range in the rates of the various reactions allows for a natural decoupling of the problem into a simplified set of weakly coupled convective-reaction-diffusion equations for the slowly evolving species, connected with a set of algebraic relations for the species that react rapidly. Further simplification is possible by identifying the dominant reaction as determined by the acidity. Numerical solutions of the model are compared to the results of an asymptotic analysis and predicted dissolution rates are contrasted with experimentally obtained results.

3D Modeling of some industrial processes of steel heat treating¹

J. M. Díaz Moreno¹, C. García Vázquez¹, M. T. González Montesinos², F. Ortegón Gallego¹, G. Viglialoro¹

¹ Universidad de Cádiz, Spain, {josemanuel.diaz,concepcion.garcia,francisco.ortegon,giuseppe.viglialoro}@uca.es ² Universidad de Sevilla, Spain, mategon@us.es

In this work we present some 3D numerical simulations of the industrial procedure of steel heat treating. These simulations have been carried out with the software package Freefem++ ([3]). The geometry corresponds to a car steering rack (Figure 1).

The heating stage includes the description of the electromagnetic variables, the temperature and the austenite evolution ([1]). At the beginning of the cooling stage, the current is switched off, followed by aquaquenching. During this stage, austenite transforms into martensite along the toothed zone so that ductility is maintained on the rest of the workpiece. The workpiece undergoes certain deformations during both stages and they should be taken into account in a complete model ([2, 4]).



Figure 1: Steering rack of a car showing the toothed zone.

- [1] J. M. Díaz Moreno, C. García Vázquez, M. T. González Montesinos, F. Ortegón Gallego, *Analysis and numerical simulation of an induction-conduction model arising in steel heat treating*. J. Comput. Appl. Math. **236**, 3007–3015 (2012).
- [2] J. M. Díaz Moreno, C. García Vázquez, M. T. González, F. Ortegón, G. Viglialoro, Mathematical modeling of heat treatment for a steering rack including some mechanical effects, J. Numer. Math. 20, 215–231 (2012).
- [3] F. Hecht, O. Pironneau, A. Le Hyaric, K. Ohtsuda, *FreeFem++ (Third Edition, Version 3.19)*. Laboratoire Jacques-Louis Lions, Université Pierre et Marie Curie, Paris, http://www.freefem.org/ff++/.
- [4] D. Hömberg, A mathematical model for induction hardening including mechanical effects. Nonlinear Anal. RWA. 5, 55–90 (2004).

¹This research was partially supported by Ministerio de Economía y Competitividad under grant MTM2010-16401 with the participation of FEDER, and Consejería de Educación y Ciencia de la Junta de Andalucía, research group FQM-315.

Optimal Flu Vaccination in a Multiple Group Model

M. Kloosterman¹, C.S. Bohun²

¹ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, mklooste@uwaterloo.ca

² University of Ontario Institute of Technology, Oshawa, Canada, sean.bohun@uoit.ca

Flu epidemics occur annually and are frequently a cause for concern. Vaccine is distributed yearly in an effort to reduce the flu's effect, but it is not always clear who should be vaccinated first. We investigate an optimal control problem associated with the administering of vaccine to different groups of people. It is found that optimal solutions take the form of "Bang-Bang" and an appropriate numerical scheme for finding them is thus developed. Using data from a hospital, parameter values for a multiple group SIR epidemic model are found. Then, using the parameter values found from the data, the numerical scheme is implemented to determine optimal vaccination strategies for a population grouped by age. The results are analyzed to see how sensitive they are on the parameters found. The vaccination strategies are also examined to see how they might change given different objectives.

Modelling and Simulation of Atmospheric Pollutant Dispersion

J. M. Stockie¹

¹ Simon Fraser University, Burnaby, Canada, stockie@math.sfu.ca

Atmospheric dispersion refers to the transport of contaminants in the air under the influence of advection (due to the wind) and turbulent eddy diffusion. The advection-diffusion equation is a parabolic partial differential equation that is most commonly used to model such dispersion problems. When a contaminant is emitted from a stationary point source in a unidirectional wind, then the governing equations admit an analytical solution known as the "Gaussian plume". This plume solution has been exploited by environmental engineers for decades in solving practical emissions problems, and it forms the basis of many efficient and robust software packages for estimating contaminant concentrations under the assumption that the emission rates are known *a priori*. Airborne contaminants arise in a wide range of applications including particles emitted from industrial operations, living organisms (insect swarms, seeds, pollen), natural emissions (volcanic ejecta, smoke from forest fires), and biological agents (radioactive fall-out, infectious microbes).

Our work focuses on the corresponding inverse problem, in which we aim to estimate the source emission rates based on ground-level contaminant measurements. We describe a least squares optimization approach for source estimation [3], and illustrate the approach using an actual study of a zinc smelting operation in British Columbia in which we estimate zinc emission rates for multiple sources that are distributed across the smelter site.

In order to validate our solution to the inverse problem, we also develop a finite volume algorithm for solving the three-dimensional advection-diffusion equation. We apply a fractional-step approach in which the advection terms are integrated first using the high resolution wave propagation method of LeVeque [1], and the diffusion terms are handled using an alternating-direction-implicit (ADI) method [2]. The results are compared with the solution of the inverse problem and conclusions are drawn regarding the accuracy and robustness of our inverse source estimation algorithm. We pay particular attention to the issues of parameter sensitivity and well-posedness of the inverse problem.

- [1] R. J. LeVeque, Finite Volume Methods for Hyperbolic Problems, Cambridge University Press (2002).
- [2] D. W. Peaceman and H. H. Rachford Jr., *The numerical solution of parabolic and elliptic differential equations*, J. SIAM 3, 1, pp. 28-41 (1955).
- [3] J. M. Stockie, The mathematics of atmospheric dispersion modelling, SIAM Review 53, 1, pp. 349-372 (2011).

Some recent mathematics-in-industry study group projects from Australia and New Zealand

Winston L. Sweatman¹

¹ Centre for Mathematics in Industry, Institute of Natural and Mathematical Sciences, Massey University, Albany, Auckland, New Zealand, w.sweatman@massey.ac.nz

Since 1984 Mathematics in Industry Study Groups have been held in Australia and New Zealand [1]. I have participated in these annual week-long meetings since 2004. In this talk I will review some of the kinds of projects that have been brought to these meetings and particular ones that I have worked upon. Among the industries involved are those of steel manufacture, electricity transmission and agriculture, e.g. [2, 3, 4].

- [1] MISG internet site: http://mathsinindustry.com/about/
- [2] W.L. Sweatman, G.C. Wake, L. Fullard and M. Bruna, *Recovering vanadium during the production of steel from iron sand*, Proceedings of the 2011 Mathematics and Statistics in Industry Study Group, MISG-2011, ANZIAM Journal, 53, M1-M21 http://anziamj.austms.org.au/ojs/index.php/ANZIAMJ/article/view/4674 (2012).
- [3] G. Pritchard, W.L. Sweatman, K. Nan, M. Camden, W. Whiten, *Maximizing the contribution of wind power in an electric power grid*, in T. Merchant, M. Edwards and G. Mercer (eds.), Proceedings of the 2007 Mathematics and Statistics in Industry Study Group, 114-139 [ISBN 978-0-646-48555-3] (2008).
- [4] G. Mercer, W. L. Sweatman, A. Elvin, J. Caunce, G. Fulford, S. Harper, R. Pennifold *Process driven models for spray retention by plants*, in G.C. Wake (ed.), Proceedings of the 2006 Mathematics-in-Industry Study Group, 57-85 (2007).

Quality assessment of medical images using the structural similarity index

I. Kowalik-Urbaniak¹, D. Brunet¹, J.Wang¹, D. Koff², N. Smolarski-Koff², E. Vrscay¹, B. Wallace³, Z. Wang¹

¹ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, {iakowali,dbrunet,jiheng.wang,ervrscay,zhou.wang}@uwaterloo.ca

² McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, {koff,NSK}@HHSC.CA

³ AGFA HealthCare Inc, Waterloo, Canada, bill.wallace@agfa.com

Given the explosive growth of digital image data being generated worldwide, medical communities have recognized the need for increasingly efficient methods of storage, display and transmission of medical images which, in turn, will necessitate improved compression techniques as well as reliable quality assessment methods. Our study, involving a collaboration with radiologists (DK,NSK) as well as a leading international developer of medical imaging software (AGFA), is primarily concerned with improved methods of assessing the diagnostic quality of compressed medical images and the investigation of compression artifacts resulting from JPEG and JPEG2000. The radiological community has not yet accepted a single objective assessment method for the quality of medical images. Recommended compression ratios for various modalities and anatomical regions have been published [1, 2]. To date, these recommendations have been based on experiments in which radiologists subjectively assess the diagnostic quality of compressed images. On the other hand, the "quality" of a compressed image can be characterized objectively in several ways. Radiologists most often employ the mean squared error (MSE) and its close relative, PSNR, even though they are known to correspond poorly to visual quality. The failure of the MSE is partially due to the fact that spatial relationships are ignored by the L^2 metric [3]. A more recent image fidelity measure, the SSIM index [4], measures the difference/similarity between two images by combining three components of the human visual system - luminance, contrast and structure. The result is a much improved assessment of visual quality. In this work, we compare the performances of SSIM, MSE/PSNR, compression ratio C_R and JPEG quality factor Q, based on experimental data collected in two experiments involving radiologists.

The first experiment involved a global quality assessment of 100 brain and body CT images at various compression ratios. The radiologists evaluated compressed images as acceptable or unacceptable as compared to their uncompressed counterparts. An ROC and Kolmogorow-Smirnov analysis indicates that compression ratio is not always a good indicator of visual quality. Moreover, SSIM demonstrates the best performance, i.e., it provides the closest match to the radiologists' assessments. We also show that a weighted Youden index and curve fitting method can provide SSIM and MSE thresholds for acceptable compression ratios. The second experiment involved a local/regional image quality analysis of these images by the radiologists. An ROC analysis once again shows that SSIM provides a closer match to subjective assessments.

- D. Koff and H. Shulman, An overview of digital compression of medical images: can we use lossy image compression in radiology?, Canadian Association of Radiologists Journal 57, 4, pp. 211-217 (2006).
- [2] D. Koff, P. Bak, P. Brownrig, D. Hosseinzadeh, A. Khademi, A. Kiss, L. Lepanto, T. Michalak, H. Shulman and A. Volkening, Pan-Canadian evaluation of irreversible compression ratios ("Lossy Compression") for development of national guidelines, Journal of Digital Imaging 22, 6, pp. 569-578 (2009).
- [3] Z. Wang and A.C. Bovik, *Mean squared error: love it or leave it? A new look at signal fidelity measures*, IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing 26, 1, pp. 98-117 (2009).
- [4] Z.Wang, A.C. Bovik, H.R. Sheikh and E.P. Simoncelli, *Image quality assessment: from error visibility to structural similarity*, IEEE Transactions on Image Processing 13, 4, pp. 600-612 (2004).

Lie Symmetry and Other Approaches in Theory and Applications of Nonlinear Equations (SS-LSNE)

Organizers: C.M. Khalique (North-West University) M. Abudiab (Texas A&M University)

This session is devoted to all research areas that are related to nonlinear differential equations and their applications in science and engineering. The main focus of this special session is on the Lie symmetry analysis and its applications to ordinary and partial differential equations. Other approaches in finding exact solutions to nonlinear differential equations will also be discussed. This includes, but not limited to, asymptotic analysis methodologies, the simplest equation method, the (G'/G) expansion method, inverse scattering transform techniques, the upper-lower solutions method, the Hirota method, the Adomian decomposition method, and others.

Exact solutions of a (3 + 1)-dimensional B-type Kadomtsev-Petviashvili equation

Mufid Abudiab ^{†1}, Chaudry Masood Khalique [‡]

[†] Department of Mathematics and Statistics, Texas A & M University-Corpus Christi, 6300 Ocean Dr. Corpus Christi, Texas 78412, USA Mufid.Abudiab@tamucc.edu

[‡]International Institute for Symmetry Analysis and Mathematical Modelling, Department of Mathematical Sciences, North-West University, Mafikeng Campus, Private Bag X 2046, Mmabatho 2735, Republic of South Africa. Masood.Khalique@nwu.ac.za

A (3+1)-dimensional generalized B-type Kadomtsev-Petviashvili (BKP) equation will be examined. This equation is an extension of the well-known Kadomtsev-Petviashvili equation, which describes weakly dispersive and small amplitude waves propagating in a quasi-two-dimensional media. The simplest equation method will be used to construct exact solutions of this B-type Kadomtsev-Petviashvili equation.

¹presenter

Symmetry analysis and exact solutions of semilinear Schrodinger equations

Stephen Anco¹, Thomas Wolf², Wei Feng³

¹ Department of Mathematics, Brock University, Canada sanco@brocku.ca

² Department of Mathematics, Brock University, Canada twolf@brocku.ca

³ Department of Mathematics, Zhejiang University of Technology, China

Semilinear Schrodinger equations provide a model of many interesting types of nonlinear waves, e.g. laser beams in nonlinear media, plasma waves, free surface water waves. This talk will apply a novel symmetry method [1, 2, 3] to find exact solutions for Schrodinger equations with a power nonlinearity in multi-dimensions. Many explicit new solutions are obtained which have interesting analytical behavior connected with blow-up and dispersion. These solutions include new similarity solutions and other new group-invariant solutions, as well as new solutions that are not invariant under any symmetries of the Schrodinger equation. In contrast, standard symmetry reduction methods lead to nonlinear ODEs for which few if any explicit solutions can be derived by familiar integration methods.

- [1] S.C. Anco, S. Ali, T. Wolf, *Exact solutions of nonlinear partial differential equations by the method of group foliation reduction*, SIGMA 7, 066, (10 pages) (2011).
- [2] S.C. Anco, S. Ali, T. Wolf, Symmetry analysis and exact solutions of semilinear heat flow in multi-dimensions, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 379, pp. 748–763 (2011).
- [3] S.C. Anco and S. Liu, *Exact solutions of semilinear radial wave equations in n dimensions*, J. Math. Anal. Appl. **297**, pp. 317–342 (2004).
A Note on Wavelet Approximation Techniques for Differential Equations

Aydin Secer¹, Mustafa Bayram²

^{1,2}Yildiz Technical University,
 Dept. of Mathematical Engineering,
 34220, Istanbul, Turkey {¹asecer}@yildiz.edu.tr,{²msbayram}@yildiz.edu.tr

In this study we have presented wavelet approximation techniques for differential equations in a detailed manner. We have discussed what the advantages and disadvantages of wavelet basis are when they are used in the solution of ODE's and PDE's some boundary and initial conditions.

- [1] Mani Mehra, "Wavelets and Differential Equations-A short review", Department of Mathematics, Indian Institute of Technology, New Delhi, India, 2009.
- [2] Mehmet Ali Akinlar, Aydin Secer, "Wavelet-Petrov-Galerkin Method for Numerical Solution of Boussinesq Equation", International Conference on Chemical, Mechanical and Materials Engineering, Melbourne, AUSTRALIA, (2013)
- [3] I. Christov, "On the Wavelet-Galerkin Solution to the Korteweg-de Vries Equation", Wavelets and Matrix Analysis: REU/VIGRE Student Mini-Conference, 2004.
- [4] Alpert, B. and Beylkin, G. and Gines, D. and Vozovoi, L., "*Adaptive solution of partial differential equations in multiwavelet bases*", J. Comput. Phys., 182(1), pp. 149–190, 2002.
- [5] I. Daubechies, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 41, 909, 1988.
- [6] S. Mallat, "A wavelet tour of signal processing", Academic Press, 2008.
- [7] A. Latto, H. L. Resniko, E. Tenenbaum, "*The Evaluation of Connection Coefficients of Compactly SupportedWavelets*", Proceedings of the French-USA Workshop on Wavelets and Turbulence at Princeton Unversity, 1991.
- [8] J. O. Stromberg, In Proceedings of Harmonic Analysis, University of Chicago, pp.475-494, 1981.
- [9] A. Grossmann and J. Morlet, SIAM J. Math. Anal. 15, 723, 1984.
- [10] Y. Meyer, "Analysis at Urbana I: Analysis in Function Spaces", Cambridge University Press, 1989.
- [11] S. G. Mallat, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 315, 69, 1989.
- [12] G. Strang, SIAM Rev. 31, 614, 1989.
- [13] C. K. Chui, "An introduction to wavelets", Academic Press, Boston, 1992.
- [14] A. Secer, M. Kurulay, M. Bayram and M. Ali Akinlar, "An Efficient Computer Application of Sinc-Galerkin Approximation for Nonlinear Boundary Value Problems", Boundary Value Problems, 2012.
- [15] A. Secer and M. Kurulay, "Sinc-Galerkin Method and its Applications on Singular Dirichlet-Type Boundary Value Problems", Boundary Value Problems, 2012.
- [16] Mehmet Ali Akinlar, Muhammet Kurulay, Aydin Secer, Mehmet Celenk, "A Computational Method Using Multiresolution For Volumetric Data Integration", Boundary Value Problems, 2012.
- [17] Mostafa Bakhoday Paskyabi Farzan Rashidi, "Split Step Wavelet Galerkin Method Based on Parabolic Equation Model for Solving Underwaterwave Propagation", 5th WSEAS Int. Conf. On WAVELET ANALYSIS and MULTIRATE SYSTEMS, Sofia, Bulgaria, 2005.
- [18] B. V. Rathish Kumar, Mani Mehra, "A three-step wavelet Galerkin method for parabolic and hyperbolic partial differential equations", International Journal of Computer Mathematics, 2006.

Symmetry reductions and exact solutions of a generalized Fisher equation

M.L.Gandarias¹, M.Rosa²

¹ University of Cadiz, Spain, marialuz.gandarias@uca.es

² University of Cadiz, Spain, maria.rosa@uca.es

In this paper, we study a generalized Fisher equation by using the theory of symmetry reductions in partial differential equations. Optimal systems and reduced equations are obtained. We derive some traveling wave solutions by applying the $\frac{G'}{G}$ -expansion method. Among these solutions we get solutions which describe kinks, solitons and periodic solutions.

- [1] M.J. Ablowitz, A. Zeppetella, *Explicit solutions of Fisher's equation for a special wave speed*, Bull. Math. Biol. **41**, pp. 835-840 (1979).
- M.S. Bruzón and M.L. Gandarias. Symmetry reductions and traveling wave solutions for the Krichever-Novikov equation. Math. Meth. Appl. Sci. 35, pp. 869-876.(2012)
- [3] M.L. Gandarias and M.S. Bruzón. *Symmetry analysis and exact solutions of some Ostrovsky equations*. Theor. Math. Phys., **168**, pp. 898-911 (2011).
- [4] M.L. Gandarias and M.S. Bruzón. Traveling Wave Solutions for a Generalized Ostrovsky equation. Math. Meth. Appl. Sci., 33, pp. 0170-4214 (2010).
- [5] J.D. Murray: Mathematical Biology, Third Edition (Springer-Verlag New York Berlin Heidelberg, 2002).
- [6] N.A. Kudryashov, On "new travelling wave solutions" of the KdV and the KdV-Burgers equations. Commun. Nonl. Sci. Numer. Simulat, 14, pp. 1891-1900 (2009).
- [7] M. Wang, X. Li and J. Zhang, The G'-expansion method and travelling wave solutions of nonlinear evolution equations in mathematical physics, Phys. Lett. A 372, pp. 417-423 (2008).

Lie group classification for a generalized coupled Lane-Emden system of dimension one

Chaudry Masood Khalique

International Institute for Symmetry Analysis and Mathematical Modelling, Department of Mathematical Sciences, North-West University, Mafikeng Campus, Private Bag X 2046, Mmabatho 2735, Republic of South Africa. Masood.Khalique@nwu.ac.za

In this talk we study the generalized coupled Lane-Emden system u'' + H(v) = 0, v'' + G(u) = 0, which has many applications in several physical phenomena. We carry out the complete Lie group classification of the underlying system. We show that the system admits a ten-dimensional equivalence Lie algebra. It is also shown that the principal Lie algebra, which in one dimensional, has several possible extensions.

Solutions of the Klein-Gordon-Zakharov equations using simplest equation method

Isaiah Elvis Mhlanga¹, Chaudry Masood Khalique

International Institute for Symmetry Analysis and Mathematical Modelling, Department of Mathematical Sciences, North-West University, Mafikeng Campus, Private Bag X 2046, Mmabatho 2735, Republic of South Africa. Isaiah.Mhlanga@nwu.ac.za, Masood.Khalique@nwu.ac.za

In this talk we look for exact solutions of the Klein-Gordon-Zakharov (KGZ) equations, which describes the interaction between Langmuir waves and ion sound waves. The KGZ system consists of coupled equations of two functions u(x,t) and v(x,t), where the function u(x,t) is complex and denotes the fast time scale component of electric field by electrons and the function v(x,t) is real and denotes the deviation of ion density from its equilibrium. The method used to obtain exact solutions will be the simplest equation method. The solutions obtained will be the travelling wave solutions.

¹presenter

Exact solutions to two coupled nonlinear evolution equations

Dimpho Millicent Mothibi¹, Chaudry Masood Khalique

International Institute for Symmetry Analysis and Mathematical Modelling, Department of Mathematical Sciences, North-West University, Mafikeng Campus, Private Bag X 2046, Mmabatho 2735, Republic of South Africa. Dimpho.Mothibi@nwu.ac.za, Masood.Khalique@nwu.ac.za

In this talk we obtain exact solutions of two nonlinear coupled evolution equations. These nonlinear coupled equations appear in a variety of science and engineering applications such as fluid dynamics, plasma physics, nonlinear optics, etc. The two nonlinear evolution equations are the coupled Kortweg de Vries equations

$$u_t + 6uu_x - 6vv_x + u_{xxx} = 0,$$

$$v_t + 3uv_x + v_{xxx} = 0$$

and the coupled Boussinesq equations

$$u_t + uu_x + v_x + \alpha u_{xxt} = 0,$$

$$v_t + (uv)_x + \beta u_{xxx} = 0.$$

We employ the (G'/G)-expansion method to seek exact solutions of the underlying systems.

¹presenter

Conservation laws of a system of coupled KdV equations

Ben Muatjetjeja

International Institute for Symmetry Analysis and Mathematical Modelling, Department of Mathematical Sciences, North-West University, Mafikeng Campus, Private Bag X 2046, Mmabatho 2735, Republic of South Africa. Ben.Muatjetjeja@nwu.ac.za

The modeling of several physical phenomena such as, the interaction of two long waves, whose dispersions relations are different, give rise to the coupled Korteweg de Vries system. In this talk we derive the conservation laws of the coupled Korteweg de Vries system by using some transformations and then invoking Noether's theorem.

Particles control in fragmentation equations

S.C. OUKOUOMI NOUTCHIE

North-West University, Mafikeng, South Afica, 23238917@nwu.ac.za

Fragmentation processes can be observed in natural sciences and engineering. To provide just a few examples, we mention the study of stellar fragments in astrophysics, rock fracture, degradation of large polymer chains, DNA fragmentation, evolution of phytoplankton aggregates, liquid droplet breakup or breakup of solid drugs in organisms [1, 2, 3]. Fragmentation processes are difficult to analyze as they involve the evolution of two intertwined quantities: the mass of the ensemble and the number of particles in it. That is why, though linear, they display nonlinear features such as phase transition which, in this case, is called shattering and consists of a formation of 'dust' particles of zero size, but, nevertheless, carrying a non-zero mass. To investigate these phenomena, we consider the fragmentation equation in the space of densities yielding both a finite number of particles and a finite mass of the ensemble. We derive an analytic expression for the resolvent of the governing integro-differential equation and make use of it to examine the spectral properties of the fragmentation operator. Furthermore we use Arendt-Robinson-Batty theorem to prove that the fragmentation operator generates a strongly continuous semigroup in the given space. In particular, we show that in some shattering fragmentation processes, one can typically control the total number of particles in the system.

- [1] J. Banasiak and S.C Oukouomi Noutchie, *Controlling number of particles in fragmentation equations*, Physica D, **239**, pp. 1422-1435 (2010).
- [2] D.J. McLaughlin, W. Lamb, A.C. McBride, A semigroup approach to fragmentation models, SIAM J. Math. Anal. 28 (5), pp. 1158-1172 (1997).
- [3] S.C. Oukouomi Noutchie, *Existence and uniqueness of conservative solutions for nonlocal fragmentation models*, Math. Meth. Appl. Sci. 33, pp. 1871-1881 (2010).

Power geometry for a reversible system of ordinary differential equations

A. Soleev

Samarkand State University, Uzbekistan, asoleev@yandex.ru

We consider reversible system of ODEs fourth order depending on two small parameters $X'' = (x_5, x_6)$:

$$\dot{X}' = \Phi(X', X''), \ X' \in \mathbb{R}^4, \ \dot{X}'' = 0, \ X'' \in \mathbb{R}^2.$$
 (1)

Here X = (X', X''), $X' = (x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4)$, where $\Phi(0, X'') = 0$, and the point X' = 0 is stationary, and the matrix of the unperturbed linear part *L* in X = 0 is a Jordan block with four-fold zero eigenvalue. Also it is supposed, system (1) is invariant under the substitution $X', X'', t \to SX', X'', -t$, where $SX' = (x_1, -x_2, x_3, -x_4)$, i.e. the property of reversibility of system (1) means that

$$S\Phi(X', X'') = -\Phi(SX', X'').$$
 (2)

Such a system appears in Hydrodynamics. For example, the problem of surface water waves for the Bond number *b* close to 1/3 and the Froude number $\tilde{\lambda}$ close to 1 is transformed into system (1) as a result of reduction on the center manifold (see [3]).

The solutions to the system (1) are studied in the neighborhood of the stationary point X = 0 in the following way. The linear part of system (1), which depends on parameters, is reduced to the normal form. The lower triangular matrix of parameters is obtained, in such a way that each its diagonal consists of equal parameters. In the second diagonal from below and in the main diagonal there are only zeros because of the property (2). We discover the support $D \in R^6$ of system (1), i.e. the set of power exponents and using it we computed Newton polyhedron in R^6 by the program (see [1-2]). With the table of correspondence we extract all the set of truncated systems. We obtained only five truncated systems of maximal "dimension" five. Among them there is the basic truncated system which after the power transformation (see [1-2]) which the number of parameters is reduced to one and this system is reduced to the system

$$\dot{y}_1 = y_2, \quad \dot{y}_2 = \sigma y_1 + y_3, \quad \dot{y}_3 = \sigma y_2 + y_4, \quad \dot{y}_4 = v y_1 + \sigma y_3 + a y_1^2,$$
(3)

where $\sigma = \pm 1$, parameters v and $a \in R$. It is shown that system (3) is a Hamiltonian one and it has only two independent quadratic first integrals. The main result of this work is the existence of new families of periodic waves and of new families of quasi-periodic waves for v < 0, which we have received.

Here we demonstrated the effectiveness of methods of Power Geometry (see [1,4]) for the investigation of rather complicated singularities on the example of system (1). We tried to use as simple algorithms of computations as possible, which allowed us to complete computations to the end.

- [1] A.D. Bruno, Power geometry in algebraic and differential equations, Elsevier 386 p. (2000).
- [2] A.D.Bruno, A.Soleev, The local analysis of singularities of a reversible ODE system, Moscow Math.Soc. 59, pp. 1-64 (1998).
- [3] G Iooss, A codimension 2 bifurcation for reversible vector fields, Fields Institute Communications. 4, pp. 201-217 (1995).
- [4] A.D. Bruno, Space Power Geometry for an ODE and Painlev'e equations in International Conference "Painlev'e Equations and Related Topics St. Petersburg, June, pp. 36-41 (2011).

A Computational Study of Forced Oscillations of a Korteweg-de Vries Type Equation

M. Usman¹

¹ University of Dayton, USA, musman1@udayton.edu

We will present a solution to a Korteweg-de Vries (KdV) type equation with periodic boundary conditions. It has been observed experimentally and shown theoretically that the solutions to this system eventually become periodic, with the same period as the forcing at the boundary, and we demonstrate these results with an efficient numerical algorithm. A collocation method is used to solve the initial and boundary value problem of KdV equation.

- M. Usman, Bingyu Zhang, Forced Oscillations of a Class of Nonlinear Dispersive Wave Equations and their Stability, Springer, Journal of Systems Science and Complexity, Vol. 20, No.2, p 284–292, (2007).
- [2] M. Usman, Bingyu Zhang, Forced Oscillations of the Korteweg-de Vries Equation on a Bounded Domain and their Stability, Discrete and Continuous Dynamical Systems-Series A, Vol. 26, No.4, p 1509–1523, (2010).

Modeling Approaches and Challenges in the Build Enviroment (SS-MACBE)

Organizers: Ryan Danks (RWDI) Michael Carl (RWDI)

As urban densities increase, understanding the interactions between climate, the built environment, and the local population are increasingly important subjects. Energy efficiency, minimizing heat island effects and general satisfaction of the inhabitants are becoming driving forces in modern sustainable design. The urban landscape is a complex system where wind, solar radiation and other climatological parameters impact everything from building energy usage, building structural requirements and pollutant dispersion to thermal comfort and the creation of pleasant environments. In this session, some of the methods and approaches used in studying a variety of issues within cities and around buildings will be presented.

Analytical study of wave run-up generated by bottom motion on a nonuniformly sloping beach

A. Bandyopadhyay¹

¹ Department of Mathematics, Khalisani College, India, b.arghya@gmail.com

Tsunami is known for its characteristic run-up heights which makes it significantly different from the other wind generated waves [1, 2, 3]. Although researchers are quite in agreement that bottom topography of ocean plays an important role in determining run-up [4], even the recent two field studies [5] & [6] also suggest that, still in an analytical study of the problem there seems to have been no attempt to include variability of bottom topography. The inclusion of variable bottom topography makes the underlying hydrodynamic problem critical, which is perhaps one of the reasons of avoiding this factor. In our attempt we have tried to provide an analytical solution of the problem of generation of tsunami waves by an instantaneous arbitrary ground motion in an ocean with a variable slope. We used linear shallow water equation [1] for a beach with variable slope $y = -qx^r$ and q > 0, r > 0, referred to horizontal and vertical directions as x-and y-axis respectively and presented an analytical expression of run-up. The effect of bottom topography on the run-up is discussed. In the process of our analysis, several other results in regard to wave behaviour has come up which are interesting in their own rights particularly in comparison to those obtained with the constant slope beaches.

- [1] C.E. Synolakis, Tsunami runup on steep sloes: How good linear theory is, N. Hazards. Vol-4, pp. 221-234 (1991).
- [2] Madsen et al., Analytical solution for Tsunami runup on a plane beach: single waves, N-waves and Transient waves, J. of Fl Mech. 645, pp. 27-57 (2010).
- [3] S. Tedapalli and C.E. Synolakis, The run-up of N waves on a sloping beach, Proc. of R. Soc. of Lond. 445A, pp. 99-112 (1995).
- [4] A, C. Yalciner et. al., Amplitude evolution and runup of solitary waves on a slping plane, Petropavlovsk-Kamchatsky tsunami workshop (10-15th September, 2002), pp. 173-178.
- [5] S.U.P Jinadasa, Interaction of *Tsunami wave propagation with coastal bathymetry and geomorphology: a case study in Sri Lanka*, Oceanography division N.A.R.A & CCOM Univ of Hampshire, Durham.
- [6] E. Lekkas, E. Andreadakis, I. Kostaki and E. Kapourani, *Critical factors pf Run-up and Impact of the Tohuku Earthquake Tsunami*(Japan, 11-3-2011), University of Athens, School Department of Dynamic, Tectonic and Applied Geology
- [7] S. Tinti and R. Tonini, *Evolution of Tsunamis induces by near-shore earthquakes on a constant slope ocean*, J. of Fl Mech. **535**, pp. 33-64 (2005).

Energy Use Analysis at the Master Plan Level

Michael J. Carl¹

¹ Rowan, Williams, Davies & Irwin, Guelph, Ontario, Canada, Mike.Carl@rwdi.com

In the early stages of master plan design, street layouts, zoning, building materials and building shape/orientation are in flux. These design decisions have both a capital and energy use cost, making an understanding of their relative effect on energy use important in master plan development. However, generating preliminary energy use estimates can be difficult. This is because traditional methods of estimating energy use with energy modeling software and tools are overly detailed, time consuming and require significant assumptions about the design. To meet this need RWDI developed the Master Plan Energy Profile (MPEP) Tool.

The MPEP offers a compromise between simplifications at the building level and speed/ease of completing design analysis. The MPEP tool can rapidly calculate energy demand based on solar loading/shading (from adjacent buildings), heat transfer through windows and walls using local climate data and space usage type and scheduling (occupancy, lighting etc.). The tool completes its rapid calculations based on the buildings perimeter and gross flow area and building information inputted by the user. Therefore, the tool is best used for comparative analysis and value engineering rather than detailed energy use predictions of the master plan. The comparative analysis can be performed on design decisions with respect to window to wall ratio (WWR), glazing type and construction, wall insulation values, building orientation and building usage parameters such as lighting power density (LPD). It can also be used to estimate the impact of renewables and other building integrated energy saving technologies.

A MPEP model is constructed by first simplifying the building geometry into block shapes and defining these blocks in the tool using the user interface or a spreadsheet input file. Building usage and construction details are then entered as well as location and weather information. Building construction and usage information is typically estimated by the design team or values from guidelines such as those from the American Society of Heating and Air-Conditioning Engineers (ASHRAE). Once a baseline energy demand has been established, areas of high energy demand can be identified and conservation measures implemented in order to reduce energy use. When implementing conservation measures, changes can be made at the individual building or groups of building level. Calculating the results takes on the order of minutes allowing for many scenarios to be run and reported quickly. The tool provides value in allowing designers to see the "big dial" sensitivity of their development and inform financial decisions such as should money be spend on improving windows or re-orienting the buildings.

RWDI has used the tool on many projects around the world in diverse climates such as China and the Middle East.

Large Scale Modelling of Human Thermal Comfort in the Urban Realm

Ryan C. Danks¹

¹ Rowan, Williams, Davies & Irwin, Guelph, Ontario, Canada, Ryan.Danks@rwdi.com

As modern architects and master planners strive to create walkable, pedestrian friendly environments within the urban realm, more emphasis is being placed on ensuring that such spaces are as comfortable as possible, as often as possible. In some juristictions [1] pedestrian comfort is even codified as part of green building standards. Thus, shifting the view of outdoor thermal comfort from an afterthought to a factor that directly impacts the design process.

Estimating thermal comfort outdoors is a complex problem, requiring knowledge of historic climate patterns, local wind and solar conditions, as well as human physiology and psychology. Local conditions, such as a particular street corner or outdoor café are challanging to assertain as they will vary both in space and time, nessecitating a high degree of resolution. These challenges are compounded by the ever increasing scale and complexity of architectural designs, and ever decreasing time-lines for such work in industry.

Improving upon previous methodologies developed at RWDI [2], the approach outlined here allows thermal comfort analyses to be conducted over hundreds of hecatres at metre-scale resolutions, while better simulating the effects of semi-transparent obstructions (e.g., trees, canopies) as well as diffuse radiation eminating from the sky. Moreover, this method is easily scaleable allowing larger domains to be processed quickly by leveraging RWDI's own computing cluster, or other cloud based high performance computing services.

RWDI's *ThermalComfort360* approach first involves a meteorlogical analysis based on either locally measured climate data or data extracted from meso-scale Weather Research and Forcasting (WRF) models. Based on this data, the prodominant wind directions at the site are selected for simulation using the computational fluid dynamics (CFD) package, OpenFOAM. These simulations include all significant surrounding buildings and topological features and quantify the effects they have on the local wind microclimate.

The second step leverages a custom solar analysis engine, built on the open-source framework of OpenFOAM, which allows total solar insolation to be computed at each point in the computational domain. The native parallelization of the OpenFOAM libraries and the ability to leverage the existing computational grid from the CFD study provide significant advantages in both speed and resolution of such studies and the open source nature of the code allows for on-going improvement to the methodology and the ability to generate non standard outputs quickly and efficiently. This engine iterates through the extracted climate data, which is typically at least one year of hourly records, calculating solar levels, wind conditions based on the existing CFD analyses, and finally outputing a number of thermal comfort metrics.

The results are then presented as coloured contour plots at pedestrian level to highlight any areas of concern to the client and assisting in the planning of any mitigative measures.

- T.C. Chan Center For Building Simulation & Energy Studies, Gulf Organization for Research & Development *Qatar Sustainability* Assessment System – Design Assessment v1.0, T.C. Chan Center For Building Simulation & Energy Studies (2010)
- [2] D. Rose, H. Wu and M. Beyers, Spatial and temporal computation of thermal comfort inputs in outdoor spaces, in Proceedings of the 5th International Symposium on Computational Wind Engineering (CWE2010), Chapel Hill, North Carolina, USA (2010)

Applicability of a Diffusion Model for Cosmic Ray Transport during Large Forbush Decrease Events

G. Kalugin¹

¹ Natural Resources Canada, Ottawa, Canada, German.Kalugin@NRCan-RNCan.gc.ca

A collection of physical processes beginning at the Sun and ultimately affecting human activities on Earth and in space is described by the term 'Space Weather' (SW). When a Coronal Mass Ejection (CME) is erupted from the Sun and, travelling in space, reaches Earth it can cause a SW phenomenon called a geomagnetic storm which has severe impacts on critical infrastructures. Such effects can disrupt communications from satellites and produce geomagnetically induced currents in power systems. They also affect the cosmic radiation environment and change the radiation dose for aircrew on polar flights. One of the tools which can serve as a useful source of information for SW monitoring and forecasting is ground-based cosmic ray (CR) detectors.

CRs often experience a rapid decrease in intensity associated with CMEs, which is called Forbush Decrease (FD). One of the mechanisms providing FD effect is assumed to be diffusion of CRs on fluctuations of the Interplanetary Magnetic Field (IMF) produced by CMEs. To estimate a diffusion coefficient, the IMF power spectrum is used. To analyze the spectrum, IMF-spectrograms produced by use of satellite data are employed. To improve resolution of spectrogram in both time and frequency, a special procedure of averaging over spectrograms with different window lengths is applied. Based on the obtained IMF spectrograms the validity of the diffusion model for CR transport during large FD events is verified.

August 26-30, 2013

A Cantor Set Model of Earthquake Dynamics in Aftershock Sequences

Kamal¹, P. Bhattacharya², B. K. Chakrabarti³

¹ Indian Institute of Technology Roorkee, Roorkee, India, kamalfes@iitr.ernet.in

² Princeton University, New Jersey, USA, pathikri@princeton.edu

³ Saha Institute of Nuclear Physics, Kolkata, India, bikask.chakrabarti@saha.ac.in

The origin of earthquakes is assumed to be based on the theory of faulting. Earthquake dynamics is the study of the interactions of two opposing fault surfaces which produce seismic activity. Over the last five decades, a number of models have been proposed that try to simulate seismic activity by mimicking the interlocking of opposing rock surfaces. The validity of a given model is subject to the compliance of the synthetic seismic activity it produces to well known empirical laws which describe the statistical features of observed seismic activity. The overall frequency distribution of earthquakes is given by the Gutenberg-Richter (GR) Law which states

$$\log N(m) = a - bm \tag{1}$$

where N(m) is the frequency of earthquakes with magnitude greater than or equal to *m* occurring in a specified area, *a* and *b* are constants. Secondly, the temporal distribution of aftershocks of magnitude *m* greater than some threshold value M_c is given empirically by the Omori Law,

$$\frac{dN(t)}{dt} = \frac{1}{t^p}, \qquad m > M_c \tag{2}$$

where dN(t)/dt gives the rate of occurrence of aftershocks at time t after the main earthquake.

We introduce a purely geometric model of earthquake dynamics using Cantor sets (Fig. 1). The model tries to emulate the stick-slip dynamics of fractal surfaces by evaluating the time-evolution of overlap lengths of two identical Cantor sets sliding over each other. We demonstrate that the statistical aspects of aftershock sequences are naturally captured by this simple model.

More importantly, this model also reveals a new statistical feature of aftershock sequences which we have verified to be present in nature as well. We show that, both in the model as well as in nature, the cumulative integral of aftershock magnitudes over time is a remarkable straight line with a characteristic slope. This slope is closely related to the fractal geometry of the fault surface that produces most of the aftershocks. We also discuss the implications that this feature may have in possible predictions of aftershock magnitudes or times of occurrence.



Figure 1: The recursive structure of the time series for the first four generations in the fractal-fractal overlap model. On the left the respective Cantor set generations are shown. Noticeable is the fact that the time series of all preceding generations are embedded within the time series at a given generation.

Computational Methods and Applications in Building Ventilation

<u>E. L. Li¹</u>, M. Carl², L. Reipas³, D. Phillips⁴

¹ Rowan Williams Davies Irwin, Inc. Guelph, Canada, eric.li@rwdi.com

² Rowan Williams Davies Irwin, Inc. Guelph, Canada, mike.carl@rwdi.com

³ Rowan Williams Davies Irwin, Inc. Guelph, Canada, katie.reipas@rwdi.com

⁴ Rowan Williams Davies Irwin, Inc. Guelph, Canada, duncan.phillips@rwdi.com

Ventilation is an important aspect of building design, and has significant impact on occupant comfort, health, and safety. Sufficient ventilation can be achieved by forced means, such as air handling units, jet fans, etc., or by natural means, such as wind towers, openings in the façade, etc. Building designers often strive to reduce use of forced ventilation to achieve environmental goals and savings on operating costs.

To help inform this design process, Computational Fluid Dynamics (CFD) as well as wind tunnel testing can be used to gain insight into the exterior wind flow and its influence on interior air flow of a building. An example case is presented for an underground parking garage at a residential development that is partly naturally ventilated to demonstrate the use of these tools. The ventilation system is proposed and optimized for both normal and emergency modes of operation. The goal of normal mode ventilation is to provide sufficient exhaust of vehicle emissions to maintain acceptable carbon monoxide (CO) concentrations everywhere in the garage, while the goal of emergency mode ventilation is to provide sufficient exhaust of smoke to allow safe egress of occupants. Overall, the design team is interested in energy conservation and lowering operating costs, so natural ventilation is also incorporated into the design.

Wind tunnel testing is used to help understand the wind flow patterns at the building site. Multiple highrise condominiums are planned for above grade, which is expected to affect the local wind flow. A scale model of the buildings above grade as well as surroundings is constructed and tested in the wind tunnel for a range of wind conditions. The wind pressure data is used to help determine the location, direction and number of wind towers. CFD modelling is used to help optimize the wind tower inlet shape. A constant volume thermodynamic analysis combined with wind pressure data and site meteorological record is performed to assess the energy savings potential of the wind tower arrangement.

The spread of vehicle emissions and smoke are simulated using CFD. The incompressible Navier-Stokes equations of fluid flow, coupled with transport equations for energy, CO and soot, are discretized using the finite volume method. Appropriate source terms are included when appropriate, such as gravity/buoyancy, and volumetric generation of soot and heat for fire modelling. Turbulence is modelled using Reynolds averaging with realizable k-epsilon turbulence closure. The equations are solved subject to boundary conditions for supply air and exhaust, the influence of wind towers, as well as CO emissions. A commercial CFD software, CD-adapco's STAR-CCM+, is used and the equations are solved using its standard segregated solver (SIMPLE algorithm), where the equations are iterated one by one using an algebraic multigrid approach.

The results of the CFD analysis are used to optimize the garage layout and ventilation system design, and to satisfy relevant regulatory requirements, such as building codes, fire codes, etc.

Numerical Weather and Climate Prediction for Building Science

J. Lundgren, M.Sc.¹

¹ Rowan Williams Davies & Irwin Inc., Vancouver, Canada, jeff.lundgren@rwdi.com

Representative meteorological and climatological information are crucial to many aspects of building science. However, in many parts of the world, sparse measurement monitoring networks and/or complex topography result in a paucity of site specific meteorological data suitable for these studies. In such situation applications of prognostic meteorological model permits engineers to develop simulated site specific meteorological and climatological information to replace measurements from nearby monitors. In addition, because the model provides a three-dimensional simulation of atmospheric processes, the model results may be used to investigate vertical distribution of meteorological parameters more accurately that can be obtained by using standard methods to extrapolate surface based measurements upward. Further, as the prognostic models incorporate the influence of land surface characteristics on atmospheric processes, they may be used to estimate future meteorological and climatological response to anthropogenic changes in the earth surface, such as urban growth.

In recent years, RWDI has employed the Weather Research and Forecast Model (WRF) to provide meteorological modeling for numerous studies in varied setting around the world. WRF is a limited-area, non-hydrostatic, terrain-following sigma-coordinate model designed to simulate or predict atmospheric circulation on scales ranging from 100's of meters through to 1000's of kilometers. WRF allows the ability to conduct simulations reflecting either real data or idealized configurations. The effort to develop WRF has been a collaborative partnership, principally among the NCAR, the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), the National Centers for Environmental Prediction (NCEP), the Forecast Systems Laboratory (FSL), the Air Force Weather Agency (AFWA), the Naval Research Laboratory, the University of Oklahoma, and the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA).

Several case studies showing the development and application of simulated weather information for building science will be presented.

Minimum Stack Height for Micro Aerosols Air Pollution

A. Malek¹, M. Gorji²

 ¹Department of Applied Mathematics, Faculty of Mathematical Sciences, Tarbiat Modares University, P. O. Box 14115-134, Tehran, Iran, mala@modares.ac.ir
 ²Department of Applied Mathematics, Faculty of Mathematical Sciences, Tarbiat Modares University, P. O. Box 14115-134, Tehran, Iran, masoumeh.gorji@modares.ac.ir

This work deals with air pollution management for stationary sources micro aerosols obtained from the industrial stacks in the box areas atmosphere. The most widely used Gaussian model that is the core of almost all regulatory dispersion models is used to explain the distribution of the plume. Question is to manage the minimum height for the existed stacks such that one does not exceed the legal thresholds on pollution emissions. Mathematical formulation of this problem yields to the specific semi-infinite programming. Novel Numerical optimization technique based on discretization method is proposed successfully. The optimal height for the stacks is calculated for the work example problem and it is shown that the current method computes the minimum heights better than the existed models.

- [1] M.A. Lopez and G. Still, Semi-infinite programming, Eur. J. Oper. Res. 180, pp. 491–518 (2007).
- [2] D.B. Turner, Workbook of Atmospheric Dispersion Estimates, second ed., Lewis publishers, Boca Raton (1994).
- [3] A.I. Vaz and E.C. Ferreira, *Air pollution control with semi-infinite programming*, Applied Mathematical Modelling, **33**, 4, pp. 1957-1969 (2009).
- [4] B.C. Wang and R. Luus, Reliability of optimization procedures for obtaining global optimum, AIChE J. 24, 4, pp. 619–626 (1978).

Modeling Building Stack Effect Using Network Model

V. C. Tang¹

¹ Rowan William Davies & Irwin Inc., Guelph, Canada, Vincent.Tang@rwdi.com

As the world becomes more urbanized, interactions between various elements in and around buildings are increasingly complex. Numerical modeling is often desirable to analyze potential building-related issues such as energy use, safety and comfort. This talk focuses on one aspect of the interactions between a building and its environment – the stack effect phenomenon.

Stack effect in a building occurs when there is a temperature difference between indoor and outdoor. During winter time in cold climate, the conditioned environment within the building is much warmer than the exterior environment. Ideal gas law infers that the indoor air density is lower than the exterior air density under similar pressure condition. Since both the building and its environment are under the influence of gravity, the difference in density leads to a difference in hydrostatic pressure. During winter time in cold climate, the resulting pressure differences act to push air out of the building near the top of the building and bring exterior air into the building near the base. This phenonmenon is termed stack effect. The total hydrostatic pressure difference for a building of height H conditioned to temperature T_i with an outdoor temperature of T_a can be approximated by the following simplified equation:

$$\Delta P = g H \rho_i \left(1 - \frac{T_i}{T_o} \right) \tag{1}$$

where g is the gravitational acceleration; ρ_i is indoor air density. As inferred in the equation, the potential for issues is greatest for tall buildings in cold climate.

Since the pressure difference created by stack effect phenomenon acts on the entire exterior surface of the building, numerical analysis needs to include the entire building volume in order to deduce the summary effect of all elements in the building. Dynamics of flow within an entire building is typically modeled using a network model. In the network model, nodes represent continuous spaces such as rooms, corridors and outdoors while links represent the dividing elements such as walls and doors. The inherent assumption in the model is that the physical properties in each of the continuous spaces are constant throughout. This simplification is possible because the resistances to flux of physical properties are orders of magnitudes larger through the dividing elements than within the continuous spaces.

By applying network model to the a building, many potential issues in client projects can be highlighted and mitigated. These include cold drafts in winter, excessive energy loss, difficulty opening doors and constant whilstling through doors.

Modeling and Computational Methods for Mathematical Biology and Medicine (SS-MCMMBM)

Organizers: Suzanne Shontz (Mississippi State University) Corina Drapaca (The Pennsylvania State University) Siv Sivaloganathan (University of Waterloo)

Today, mathematical modeling and computational methods and simulations play essential roles in the advancement of biomedical sciences, providing us with a better understanding of biological systems and disease patterns and ultimately contributing to the fast development of modern prevention, diagnostic and therapies tools needed by the medicine of tomorrow. The aim of this session is to bring together mathematicians, physicists, engineers, and clinicians involved in the area of biomedical sciences to provide state-of-the-art reviews, and report on current cutting-edge research and open problems. It is hoped that bringing together researchers with such a wide range of expertise will create the right environment for idea dissemination and fruitful discussions.

Myelosuppression and cytokine interaction in a mathematical model of the human hematopoietic system

Jacques Bélair

Département de mathématiques et de statistique and Centre de recherches mathématiques, Université de Montréal and Centre for Applied Mathematics in Piescience and Medicine (CAMPAM) McCill University

Centre for Applied Mathematics in Bioscience and Medicine (CAMBAM), McGill University Montreal, QC, Canada, belair@crm.umontreal.ca

The production of human blood cells is regulated through a highly complex, coupled set of feedback mechanisms involving, among others, differentiation of cell lines from a common pool of stem cells and hormonal interactions between circulating cells and cells at different stages of maturation. As part of a global modeling project of the full hematopoietic system, we investigate possible pharmaceutical interventions using a structured model for the regulation of blood cells taking the form of a system of nonlinear delay differential equations. This model contains multiple time delays to incorporate maturation and lifespan times of the different cell species, together with feedback control mechanisms relating the circulating cells to the maturation process: some of the delays are therefore state-dependent.

Concentrating on the regulation of neutrophils, we analyse the perturbative effects of different chemotherapeutic regimens on equilibrium solutions and their destabilisation by Hopf and secondary bifurcations. We obtain dynamical interpretations for the neutropenic episodes, as well as conditions for the simultaneous stability of multiple equilibria: the influence of scheduling, as well as the remedial use of G-CSF, is particularly emphasized. Parameter estimation and compatibility of the behavior of the solutions of our model with clinical practice will be discussed.

Joint work with Michael C. Mackey, Tony Humphries, Grace Brooks and Gabriel Provencher-Langlois from McGill University, Morgan Craig, Jun Li and Fahima Nekka from Université de Montréal, and Jinzhi Lei from Tsinghua University.

Supported by NSERC and FRQNT.

Cluster Newton Method for Sampling Multiple Solutions of an Underdetermined Inverse Problem: Parameter Identification for Pharmacokinetics

Yasunori Aoki¹, Ken Hayami², Hans De Sterck³, Akihiko Konagaya⁴

¹ Uppsala University, Sweden, yasunori.aoki@farmbio.uu.se

² National Institute of Informatics, Tokyo, Japan, hayami@nii.ac.jp

³ University of Waterloo, Canada, hdesterck@uwaterloo.ca

⁴ Tokyo Institute of Technology, Japan, kona@dis.titech.ac.jp

A new algorithm is proposed for simultaneously finding multiple solutions of an underdetermined inverse problem. The algorithm was developed for an ODE parameter identification problem in pharmacokinetics for which multiple solutions are of interest. The algorithm proceeds by computing a cluster of solutions simultaneously, and is more efficient and more robust than existing algorithms because it fits the Jacobian in a collective way using a least squares approach. It is demonstrated numerically that the algorithm finds accurate solutions that are suitably distributed, guided by a priori information on which part of the solution manifold is of interest, and that it does so more efficiently than standard methods. It is also demonstrated that the algorithm is more robust against noise in the function evaluations than standard methods.

References

 Yasunori Aoki, Ken Hayami, Hans De Sterck and Akihiko Konagaya, *Cluster Newton Method for Sampling Multiple Solutions of* an Underdetermined Inverse Problem: Parameter Identification for Pharmacokinetics, Technical Report NII-2011-002E, National Institute of Informatics, Tokyo, Japan (2011).

A Study of Brain Biomechanics using Hamilton's Principle

C.S. Drapaca¹, J.A. Kauffman²

¹ The Pennsylvania State University, University Park, USA, csd12@psu.edu

² The Pennsylvania State University, University Park, USA, jak5378@psu.edu

Most of the current research in brain biomechanics is focused on how best to relate continuum mechanics and stress-strain constitutive laws to the biochemistry of the evolving microstructure of brain. The luck of experimental data needed by these models and the complexity of the required computations make these models useless in clinical applications for now. To capture some of the dynamics taking place at different scales during the evolution of neurological diseases and are as simple as possible we propose a couple-field model using Hamilton's principle. For a 1D model of the brain, we assume that the mechanical response of the brain tissue at the macroscopic level is linear visco-elastic of Kelvin-Voight type. The 1D brain tissue of mass density m, effective elastic modulus \bar{E} , length L and constant area A has one fixed boundary (x = 0) at the interface with the meninges and one moving boundary (x = L) at the interface with the ventricular cerebrospinal fluid which undergoes macroscopic displacements u(x,t) caused by the heart pulsations and aging. We also assume: 1) a microstructural healthy growth (or healing) of brain with $\phi_{e}(x,t)$ the current growth state, and 2) a microstructural inflammation of the aging brain that progresses slowly throughout the lifespan [1] with $\phi_i(x,t)$ the current inflammation state. Inspired by [2], we define the Lagrangian as: $\mathscr{L} = \int_0^L \left[\frac{1}{2} m \dot{u}^2 + \frac{1}{2} m \alpha (\dot{\phi_g}^2 + \dot{\phi_i}^2) - \frac{1}{2} \bar{E}(\phi_g, \phi_i) A u'^2 - \frac{1}{2} \beta (\phi_g'^2 + \phi_i'^2) \right] dx, \ \alpha, \beta > 0,$ with $\dot{u} = \partial u / \partial t, u' = \partial u / \partial x = J - 1, J$ the Jacobian of the deformation, and let the virtual work be: $\delta \mathscr{W} =$ $\int_{0}^{L} \left[f \delta u - c \dot{u}' \delta u' - \Phi_g(\phi_g, \phi'_g, \dot{\phi}_g) \delta \phi_g - \Phi_i(\phi_i, \phi'_i, \dot{\phi}_i) \delta \phi_i \right] dx + F \delta u|_L.$ By applying Hamilton's principle, taking $\bar{E} = \lambda \phi_g (1 - \phi_i)$ and making some simplifications we get: $\dot{\phi_g} = -(J - 1)^2 (1 - \phi_i), \ \ddot{\phi_i} = (J - 1)^2 \phi_g$ which we solve using the volumetric data from [3] for healthy and hydrocephalic mice. For initial conditions $[\phi_g, \phi_i, \dot{\phi}_g, \dot{\phi}_i] =$ [1,0,0,2.2204e-016] we see the expected increase of inflammation and healing decrease in aging normals (Fig.1a), and a competition between the healing and inflammation states in untreated hydrocephalus (Fig.1b).



Figure 1: Growth (solid) and inflammation (dashed) states versus time (in days) for a) normal and b) hydrocephalic mice.

- [1] T. Singh and A.B. Newman, Inflammatory markers in population studies of aging, Ageing Res.Rev. 10, 3, pp. 319-329 (2011).
- [2] J.P. Cusumano, A. Roy, Q. Li, Damage dynamics, rate laws, and failure statistics via Hamilton's principle, in preparation.
- [3] J.G. Mandell, T. Neuberger, C.S. Drapaca, A.G. Webb, S.J. Schiff, *The dynamics of brain and cerebrospinal fluid growth in normal versus hydrocephalic mice*, J. Neurosurg. Pediatrics **6**, pp 1-10 (2010).

Calcium dynamics in dendritic spines: A link to structural plasticity

M. Dur-e-Ahmad¹, M. Imran¹, Asiya Gul²

¹ Department of Mathematics, LUMS, Pakistan, {muhammad.dureahmad@lums.edu.pk}{mimran@lums.edu.pk}

² Computational Bio-Science Unit, School of Mathematical and Statistical Sciences, Arizona State University, Tempe, AZ 85287, USA, agul1@asu.edu

Calcium signals evoked either by action potential or by synaptic activity play a crucial role for the synaptic plasticity within an individual spine. Because of the small size of spine and the indicators commonly used to measure spine calcium activity, calcium function can be severely disrupted. Therefore, it is very difficult to explain the exact relationship between spine geometry and spine calcium dynamics. Recently, it has been suggested that the medium range of calcium which induces long term potentiation leads to the structural stability stage of spines, while very low or very high amount of calcium leads to the long term depression stage which results in shortening and eventually pruning of spines. Here we propose a physiologically realistic computational model to examine the role of calcium and the mechanisms that govern its regulated by internal stores. Contribution of this calcium in the induction of long term potentiation and long term depression is also discussed. Further it has also been predicted that the presence of internal stores depletes the total calcium accumulation in cytosol which is in agreement with the recent experimental and theoretical studies.

Modeling Cell-Sheets Wound Closure

<u>A. Habbal</u> $^{(1)*}$, H. Barelli $^{(2)}$ and G. Malandain $^{(3)}$

¹ Université Nice Sophia Antipolis – INRIA Sophia Antipolis * Corresponding author : habbal@polytech.unice.fr

² IPMC INSERM/CNRS Sophia Antipolis

³ INRIA Sophia Antipolis

In the present study, we consider a particular yet major aspect of wound healing, namely the one related to the movement of wounded epithelial cell monolayers. The epithelial monolayer cell population, also referred to as cell-sheet, can be seen as a 2 dimensional structure, although it is well known that apical and basal sites play distinctive important roles during the migration, as well as the substrate itself. Immediately after a wound is created, the cells start to move in order to fill in the empty space. This movement, the wound closure, is a highly-coordinated collective behavior yielding a structured cohesive front, the wound leading edge. Even though wound closure involves biochemical and biomechanical processes, still far from being well understood, which are distributed over the whole monolayer, much specific attention was paid to the leading edge evolution, seen as the front of a traveling wave of the cell density function.

It is then very tempting to investigate the ability of simple PDEs which exhibit traveling waves behavior to model the leading edge evolution. The most known one is the Fisher and KPP equation (F-KPP). F-KPP equation is a nonlinear parabolic partial differential equation, introduced in 1937 by Fisher and Kolmogoroff-Petrovsky-Piscounoff which models the interaction of Fickian diffusion with logistic-like growth terms.

Let denote by Ω a rectangular domain (typically an image frame of the monolayer), by Γ_D its vertical sides and by Γ_N its horizontal ones. We assume that the monolayer is at confluence, and consider the cells density relatively to the confluent one. The F-KPP equation then reads $\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} = D\Delta u + ru(1-u)$ over Ω , and Dirichlet (resp. Neumann) condition is set over Γ_D (resp. Γ_N). One of the main features of the F-KPP equation is that it drives initial conditions u_0 of compact support (e.g. an initial 1-0 step function) to closure (to the stable steady solution u = 1) by propagating the front with a constant velocity $V_{th} = 2\sqrt{rD}$ (up to a short transition time). Maini et al. [1] studied a 1D F-KPP validation, experimental leading edge velocities were assumed to be close to V_{th} and were used to fit the diffusion coefficient D given the proliferation rate r (doubling time tables excerpt from published data).

In our case, we perform a parameter identification of the two parameters (r,D), using a 2D simulation of the F-KPP equation, and advanced image processing to minimize the error between computed and biological observed experimental wound closure.

Conclusion : We show that, for non inhibited wound assays, closure occurs at constant speed of the leading edge, a fact that is commonly shared by biologists and biomathematicians. But we also show that the leading edge may exhibit accelerated profiles, and that when inhibited, then the F-KPP has poor performances in modeling the leading edge dynamics.

References

[1] P.K. Maini, D.L.S. McElwain, and D. Leavesley. Traveling waves in a wound healing assay. *Appl. Math. Lett.*, 17(5):575–580, 2004.

Predicting nonlinearity of tumor spheroid growth in HGF media: a data-driven multi-species continuum model

<u>A. Konstorum¹</u>, S.A. Sprowl², A.D. Lander³, M.L. Waterman⁴, J.S. Lowengrub⁵

¹ Dept. of Mathematics, University of California, Irvine, akonstor@math.uci.edu

² Dept. of Microbiology and Molecular Genetics, UC Irvine, ssprowl@uci.edu

³ Dept. of Developmental and Cell Biology, UC Irvine, adlander@uci.edu

⁴ Dept. of Microbiology and Cell Biology, UC Irvine, mlwaterm@uci.edu

⁵ Dept. of Mathematics, Dept. of Biomedical Engineering, UC Irvine, lowengrb@math.uci.edu

The mechanochemical interactions of a growing tumor with its microenvironment are increasingly considered to be critical in promoting growth and spread of the tumor. One mechanism by which such interactions occur is via increased secretion of Hepatocyte Growth Factor (HGF) by cancer-associated stromal cells, which has been shown to promote tumor growth and motility [1]. In order to better understand the quantitative nature of HGF on tumor growth, we develop an experimental system using colon cancer initiating cell (CCIC) spheroids grown in media in varying concentrations of HGF, and use the experimental data alongside appropriate literature to extend a multi-species continuum model of solid tumor growth to include action of HGF [2, 3]. The experimental observations show that the rate of tumor growth is nonlinear with respect to HGF: the rate increases with increasing concentration of HGF to 100ng/ml, but decreases to a lower growth rate at higher HGF concentrations. We incorporate this novel information into the mathematical model and use the numerical solutions to obtain a prediction at which HGF concentration the peak in tumor growth rate occurs. The model shows that (i) the HGF concentration at which the peak growth rate occurs depends on the amount of intratumoral HGF, and (ii) growth rate depends on initial spheroid size, which may explain part of the variability observed in the experimental results. Hence, an integrated mathematical/experimental approach allows us to better quantitatively understand the nature of HGFinduced tumor growth and variability therein, and to develop testable hypotheses for the nonlinear nature by which HGF acts on growing tumors.

- K. Matsumoto and T. Nakamura, Hepatocyte growth factor and the met system as a mediator of tumor-stromal interactions., Int. J Cancer. 119, 3, pp. 477-483 (2006).
- [2] S.S. Sikandar, K.T. Pate, S. Anderson, D. Dizon, R.A. Edwards, M.L. Waterman, S.M. Lipkin, Notch signaling is required for formation and self-renewal of tumor-initiating cells and for repression of secretory cell differentiation in colon cancer., Cancer Res. 70, 4, pp. 1469-78 (2010).
- [3] H. Youssefpour, X. Li, A.D. Lander, J.S. Lowengrub, *Multispecies model of cell lineages and feedback control in solid tumors*, J Theor Biol. 304, pp. 39-59 (2012).

The Mechanism Underlying the Therapeutic Effects of Vitamin C against Cancer at Pharmacological Concentrations

H.R. Molavian¹, M. Kohandel², S. Sivaloganathan³

¹ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, molavian@uwaterloo.ca

² University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, kohandel@math.uwaterloo.ca

³ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, ssivalog@uwaterloo.ca

In pharmacological concentrations, ascorbic acid (vitamin C) acts like an optimized anti-cancer drug which kills cancer cells whilst leaving normal cells unaffected. Different mechanisms have been proposed to explain this behavior, however the underlying mechanism has remained elusive. We use a mathematical model, and the fact that ascorbic acid at pharmacological concentrations produces high levels of H_2O_2 , to show that the produced H_2O_2 can in fact kill cancer cells and leave the normal cells unharmed. Based on our model we propose new strategies to enhance the therapeutic effect of ascorbic acid.

Modeling and Pharmacokinetic Aspects for the Interaction between Beta Amyloid peptide and Choline Acetyltransferase and Acetylcholine Neurocycle and their relation to Alzheimer's and Parkinson's Diseases

Ibrahim Mustafa¹, Asmaa Awad¹, Hedia Fgaier², Ali Elkamel¹

¹ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, i2hassan,a2awad,aelkamel@uwaterloo.ca

² University of Guelph, Guelph, ON, Canada, hfgaier@uoguelph.ca

The interaction between Beta Amyloid peptides (βA) and the enzyme of choline acetyltransferase (ChAT) which is responsible for synthesizing Acetylcholine (ACh) neurotransmitter is investigated through two-enzyme/twocompartment model built previously. The presynaptic neuron is considered as compartment 1 while both synaptic cleft and the postsynaptic neuron are considered as compartment 2. The main objective of this work is to analyze the effect of βA inhibitor on ChAT enzyme in different situations. Therefore, different kinetic mechanisms are proposed to study the impact of the βA as an inhibitor on different species of the ChAT to study the nature of the inhibitory effect of the enzyme. It is found that the rate of ACh synthesis in compartment 1 has been reduced with the increase of feed concentration of βA with each pharmacokinetic mechanism in conjunction with the ACh in concentration in compartment 1.

The most severe effect occurs when βA acts as a noncompetitive inhibitor and can bind to all of the ChAT species in the reaction with the same affinity at high concentration of the inlet βA . Therefore, the oscillatory behavior dominates the ACh neurocycle and lead to disturbances for all state variables such as ACh, choline, acetate, and pH in each compartment. The irregular changes in all state variables of the system appeared through the mentioned oscillatory behavior could give a reasonable explanation for the effect of βA and the reduction of ACh levels in Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases.

- Mustafa I H, G. Ibrahim, A. Elkamel, S.S.E.H. Elnashaie, P. Chen, (2012), Effect of Cholineacetyltransferase Activity and Choline Recycle Ratio on Modelling, Bifurcation and Chaotic Behavior of Acetylcholine Neurocycle and Their Relation to Alzheimer's and Parkinson's Diseases; Journal of Chemical Engineering Science, 68(1), 19-35
- [2] Mustafa I H, G. Ibrahim, A. Elkamel, S.S.E.H. Elnashaie, P. Chen, (2009), Non Linear Feedback Modeling and Bifurcation of the Acetylcholine Neurocycle and its Relation to Alzheimer's and Parkinson's Diseases; Journal of Chemical Engineering Science, 64(1), 69-90

Weakly compressible tube flow with radially dependent viscosity and Navier slip at the wall

L. Regmi¹, K. Rohlf²

¹ Ryerson University, Toronto, Canada, lregmi@ryerson.ca

² Ryerson University, Toronto, Canada krohlf@ryerson.ca

Particle-based methods for blood flow applications have gained popularity in recent years, as they allow for the possibility of a more detailed description of the flow field, as well as a more fundamental understanding of the connection between particle-based interactions and the observed macroscopic flow properties. For a particle-based system whose dynamics obey the multiparticle collision (MPC) rule, the averaged macroscopic flow has been theoretically shown to be that of an ideal gas satisfying the Navier-Stokes equations of motion [1]. In other words, provided the compressibility is low, the average velocities of the particle-based flow through a rigid cylindrical tube is likely to exhibit small compressibility effects, compressibility effects are built-in and the extent of the compressibility in a particular flow domain has to be understood and quantified if it is to be used for blood flow applications. In addition, although no-slip boundary conditions are commonly used for blood, blood was first proposed to satisfy slip at the wall in [2], and slip can easily be incorporated in particle-based methods [3]. Other applications of this work include flow through microfluidic devices, polymer melts, and extrudate-swell flows.

As a first step towards furthering our understanding of the role of slip and compressibility in the tube flow of blood, a first-order perturbation solution is obtained for steady, compressible flow with Navier-slip boundary conditions. Following [4], the viscosity is assumed to have the radially-dependent form

$$\mu = \mu_0 \left[1 + k - k \left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^n \right] \tag{1}$$

where μ_0 is the plasma viscosity, $k = 2.5h_m$, h_m is the maximum hematocrit at the tube center, *R* is the radius, and n = 1 and 2. The perturbation is performed on the non-dimensionalized, compressible, Navier-Stokes equations of motion whose viscosity satisfies (1). Following [5], a linear equation of state is assumed with compressibility number $\varepsilon = \frac{8\mu_0\beta UL}{R^2}$ used as the perturbation parameter. Here *U* is the velocity and β the isothermal compressibility.

In all cases considered, the leading order corresponds to incompressible, slip flow with only radial dependence in the axial velocity. The first-order correction depends on the aspect ratio $\alpha = R/L$ and Reynolds number $Re = \rho UR/\mu$, and also depends on the axial location. The extent of compressibility, slip, *k* and *n*-dependence on flow through a cylindrical tube are assessed, and results are compared to some existing experimental blood flow data.

- [1] A. Malevanets and R. Kapral, Mesoscopic model for solvent dynamics, J. Chem. Phys. 110 pp. 8605-8613 (1999).
- [2] Y. Nubar, Blood flow, slip, and viscometry, Biophys. J. 11, pp. 252-264 (1971).
- [3] J. K. Whitmer and E. Luijten, *Fluid-solid boundary conditions for multiparticle collision dynamics*, J. Phys.: Condens. Mat. **22**, pp. 104106-1–14 (2010).
- [4] G. C. Layek, S. Mukhopadhyay and R. S. R. Gorla, Unsteady viscous flow with variable viscosity in a vascular tube with an overlapping constriction, Int. J. Eng. Sci. 47, pp. 649-659 (2009).
- [5] S. Poyiadji, G. C. Georgiou, K. Kaouri and K. D. Housiadas, *Perturbation solutions of weakly compressible Newtonian Poiseuille flows with Navier slip at the wall*, Rheol. Acta **51**, pp. 497-510 (2012).

A Machine Learning Tool for Automated Image Segmentation

S. Shontz¹, D. Colbry², D. McLaurin³

¹ Mississippi State University, Mississippi State, USA, sshontz@{math,ccs}.msstate.edu

² Michigan State University, East Lansing, USA, colbrydi@msu.edu

³ Mississippi State University, Mississippi State, USA, d.mclaurin@msstate.edu

Image segmentation is the process of dividing pixels in an image into categories based on shared visual characteristics (e.g., color, texture, geometry, etc.). This is often an important first step in various applications in that the process partitions an image into subimages that are easier to analyze. Image segmentation is a challenging problem due to sensor-based noise, artifacts caused by motion, and partially observable objects due to obstruction. Numerous algorithms (e.g., level set, region growing, and graph-based methods) have been invented for image segmentation; however, there is no universal algorithm for segmentation of all images. In addition, image segmentation is not a fully-automated process.

We propose a machine learning tool for automated segmentation of a set of images. In particular, our technique starts by using an existing image segmentation algorithm to (semi-automatically) segment the first image in the data set. The next step is to use our multiobjective optimization technique for matching the segmented shapes in the initial image to the most similar shapes in the second image in the data set. Optimal shapes are determined based upon color, texture, geometry, and motion. This process is then repeated in order to segment the remaining images in the data set. Machine learning is used as the optimization process is ongoing in order to determine the most appropriate values for the weights of the relevant terms in the objective function for a set of images. We present results from testing our automated image segmentation tool on various sets of biological images [1, 2, 3].



(a) Plant Application [1]



(b) Chameleon Application [2, 3]

Figure 1: Example image segmentation problems.

- [1] Image provided by A. Charbonneau as part of a study to quantify phenotypic differences between weedy and native radish populations, Michigan State University, Work in progress, (2013).
- [2] Image provided by Fredy Dyer as part of a behavior study of eye movements, (2013). The most recent publication is [3].
- [3] N. Ingle and T. Door and D. Colbry and F. Dyer. *Coordination of Vision and Action in Chameleons*, in *Proceedings of the* 49th *Animal Behavior Society Annual Meeting*, Albuquerque, USA, (2012).

Effect of fluid friction in fluid flow simulation in solid tumors

M. Sefidgar¹, M. Soltani^{1, 2*}, H. Bazmara¹, H. Fgaier³, and A. Elkamel²

¹ K.N.T University of Technology, Tehran, Iran,

² Waterloo Institute for Nanotechnology, University of Waterloo, Waterloo, ON., Canada N2L 3G1,* <u>msoltani@uwaterloo.ca</u>

³ University of Guelph, Department of Mathematics

It is known that more than 85% of human cancers involve solid tumors [1]. The numerical simulation of tumor growth has significant information for delivery of therapeutic agents to tumor sites. The fluid flow modeling of tumor includes different scales, from modeling blood flow through capillaries as microscale to modeling fluid flow in tissue as macroscale. In this work, the macroscale model of fluid flow in tissue is considered. In a macroscopic model, only the distribution of variables, such as interstitial pressure and concentration, over the length scale of the tumor radius is important, and microscopic characteristics, such as blood vessels, cells, and the interstitial matrix, are not involved directly in the model.

Darcy's law is one of the most famous models in fluid flow in porous media especially in tissues. Results obtained by Darcy's law show good agreement with experimental data [2, 3], but there are some limitations to the use of Darcy's law. It is shown that the friction within the fluid and exchange of momentum between the fluid and solid phases is neglected by Darcy's law. In this work, it is inspected how neglecting friction can effect on results by considering a more general model for porous media, Brinkman Equation.

A tumor tissue surrounded by normal tissue is simulated. For the sake of simplicity, solid tumors are considered here to be spherical. The radius of tumor is 20 % of total radius. Results obtained show that the interstitial pressure distribution is the same for both models. However, the velocity field is changed specially the profile of velocity in the tumor region because of considering friction within the fluid. Figure 1 shows velocity contours for two models.





In spite of different results in velocity distribution, the investigation of results shows that there is no significant differences between two models. It is caused from macroscopic scale in which the capillaries are not considered; therefore, it is not necessary to consider a more complicated model for simulation tumor tissue when only the macroscopic scale is important.

- [1] Jain, R. 2005. Normalization of tumor vasculature: An emerging concept in antiangiogenic therapy. *Science*. 307, (2005), 58–62.
- [2] Jain, R.K. et al. 2007. Effect of vascular normalization by antiangiogenic therapy on interstitial hypertension, peritumor edema, and lymphatic metastasis: insights from a mathematical model. *Cancer research*. 67, 6 (Mar. 2007), 2729–35.
- [3] Soltani, M. and Chen, P. 2011. Numerical Modeling of Fluid Flow in Solid Tumors. *PLoS ONE*. 6, 6 (Jan. 2011), 1–15.

The Effects of Body Fluid on Cheyne-Stokes Respiration

M. Wilcox¹, <u>A.R. Willms²</u>

¹ University of Guelph, Guelph, Canada, wilcoxm@uoguelph.ca

² University of Guelph, Guelph, Canada, AWillms@uoguelph.ca

Cheyne-Stokes respiration (CSR) is a breathing pattern cycling between apnea (temporary breathing cessation) and hyperpnea (rapid and deep breathing). It is neurological in origin and is associated with the brain's monitoring of carbon dioxide levels in the blood. The fundamental features causing this periodic breathing are the sensitivity of the chemorecptors in the neck to CO_2 levels and the delay in the signal from the lungs to the receptors. CSR is analogous to trying to get warm water from the end of a long hose by adjusting a very responsive hot water faucet. The water is too cold so you open the hot faucet more, but after a short while the water is too hot so you close the faucet some, etc.

Clinical researchers hypothesize that fluid shifts in the body when changing from an upright to a recumbent position are a factor involved in the onset of CSR. A model of CSR that incorporates body fluid shifts fit to clinical measurements is presented and analyzed [1]. The model exhibits a super-critical Hopf bifurcation where the steady-state, representing normal breathing, becomes unstable and a stable periodic cycle, representing CSR, emerges. Two of the important parameters in the model are the gain, μ , (sensitivity) of the chemorecptors and the ventilation-perfusion ratio, r, (the ratio of the equilibrium ventilation rate to the blood flow rate). The latter of these is known to typically lie in a certain range for subjects at rest, however, the former parameter is purely a modelling construct and its value is not physically measurable. Hopf bifurcation curves are plotted in the (r,μ) -plane and their location is studied as a result of shifting the blood fluid parameters in the model, corresponding to being in the supine position. It is shown that these fluid shifts move the bifurcation curve significantly downward in the plane, which means that CSR will emerge at lower gain values. In addition, these shifts are more pronounced in male subjects than in female ones. These results are in agreement with clinical knowledge and support the hypothesis that body fluid shifts are a factor in the onset of CSR.

References

[1] M. Wilcox, A Model of the Effects of Fluid Variation Due to Body Position on Cheyne-Stokes Respiration, Master's thesis, University of Guelph, Guelph, Canada, 2013.

Mathematical Epidemiology (SS-ME)

Organizer: Connell McCluskey (Wilfrid Laurier University)

This minisymposium will be devoted to the use of mathematics to studying the spread of infectious diseases. The session will provide participants a forum to present and discuss their recent contributions to the field.

The spatio-temporal spread of drug-resistant tuberculosis

J. Arino¹, K. Khan², I. Soliman¹

¹ University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, Canada {Julien_Arino@umanitoba.ca,iman.a.raouf@gmail.com}

² St Michael's Hospital, Toronto, Canada KKhan@smh.ca

Tuberculosis is, after HIV/AIDS, the second largest cause of infectious disease induced death. It is estimated that in 2011, it killed 1.4 million people worldwide. Tuberculosis is also a disease of poverty, as contributing factors to its spread include poor and overcrowded living conditions, poor health conditions, etc. As a consequence, over 95% of new infections and deaths by tuberculosis occur in developping countries.

Tuberculosis is lethal in about one third of untreated cases, but treatment is now readily available. However, it is not always available to all in poorer countries where the incidence (number of new cases per unit time) is also high. Furthermore, treatment for active tuberculosis is lengthy, lasting from six months to a year. As a consequence, a number of patients withdraw from treatment. Not only is this detrimental to their health, it also promotes resistance (in the tuberculosis bacterium) to anti-tuberculosis agents. In recent years, strains of tuberculosis have been observed that are resistant not only to one, but also to two or more front line drugs. Multi-drug resistant tuberculosis (MDR-TB), which is resistant to at least two drugs, has been observed in virtually every country in the world. Extensively-drug resistant tuberculosis (XDR-TB), which is resistant to three or more front line drugs, is on the rise in several countries. Outbreaks of XDR-TB are particularly worrisome: as patients harbor a pathogen that is resistant to several of the most usual antituberculosis drugs, treatment is complicated and the mortality induced by the disease is therefore very high, reaching 100% in some epidemics.

On the other hand, immigration has become more and more frequent, with a clear gradient from poorer to richer countries. As an example, there are on average 250,000 new permanent residents and now almost 300,000 temporary workers in Canada each year. The four countries that contributed more than 10,000 new permanent residents per year on average in the last ten years are China, India, Pakistan and the Philippines. These countries also have high prevalences of tuberculosis infection, both drug-sensitive and resistant.

The usual paradigm is for rich countries to screen incoming new immigrants to detect active tuberculosis and to treat those who are latently infected upon arrival and develop active tuberculosis (the period of dormancy of the disease can be many years long, many individuals harboring the bacterium never become sick). However, this assumes implicitly that immigrants will remain in the country once they have arrived. This is not true in the modern world of cheaper and faster travel. Many immigrants return to spend extended periods of time in their home country or are visited by relatives (who are typically not screened). Residents of rich countries also travel more to poorer countries than they used to, whether for business or leisure.

To investigate these ideas, we formulate a model for tuberculosis in a single population that includes three strains: a drug-sensitive strain, MDR-TB and XDR-TB. We study the model mathematically and show, in particular, that the bifurcation structure of the whole model is governed by the behaviour of the XDR-TB strain. We then extend the model to a metapopulation setting, in which each country is a vertex in a multi-digraph, endowed with a system for the single population case. Weighted arcs between the vertices represent the rate of travel of individuals between the countries. We study the resulting large-scale system. Finally, we proceed to numerical experiments with realistic travel and population data.

Mass Media effects on an Influenza Epidemic

M. S. Collinson¹, J. M. Heffernan²

¹ Centre for Disease Modelling, York University, Toronto, Canada, mscolli@yorku.ca
 ² Centre for Disease Modelling, York University, Toronto, Canada, jmheffer@yorku.ca

Influenza causes annual epidemics and occasional pandemics that have claimed millions of lives throughout history. Media reports affect social behaviour during epidemics and pandemics. Changes in social behaviour, in turn, affect key epidemic measurements such as peak magnitude, time to peak, and the beginning and end of an epidemic. The extent of this effect has not been realized. We employ agent-based Monte Carlo simulations to investigate the mean and variability in key epidemic measurements important to public health officials. A novel inclusion of mass media is developed through the addition of a mass media compartment in a Susceptible-Exposed-Infected-Recovered (SEIR) model. Multiple levels of social distancing are considered, media boredom and vaccination uptake. Sensitivity analysis is performed using Latin Hypercube Sampling and Partial Rank Correlation Coefficients. Systems of stochastic differential equations are also derived to compare to the stochastic agent-based Monte Carlo simulation. Data is used in place of the novel media equation in the model. The model results are compared with the data from the H1N1 pandemic in 2009.

- [1] Luiz C. Mostaço-Guidolin and Nick J. Pizzi and Seyed M Moghadas, A *Classical Approach for Estimating the Transmissibility of the 2009 H1N1 Pandemic*, Canadian Applied Mathematics Quarterly **19**, 2, (2011).
- [2] S M Blower and H Dowlatabadi, *Sensitivity and Uncertainty Analysis of Complex Models of Disease Transmission: an HIV Model, as an Example*, International Statistical Review **62**, 2, pp. 229-243, (1994).
- [3] Linda J. S. Allen, *DAn Introduction to Stochastic Epidemic Models*, in Mathematical Epidemiology, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Springer Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 81-130 (2008).

A mathematical model for the spread of ectoparasite-borne diseases

A. Dénes¹, G. Röst²

¹ Bolyai Institute, University of Szeged, Hungary, denesa@math.u-szeged.hu

² Bolyai Institute, University of Szeged, Hungary, rost@math.u-szeged.hu

A mathematical model is presented to simultaneously study the dynamics of ectoparasite infestation and infectious diseases spread by those ectoparasites. The system has four potential equilibria. We identify the reproduction numbers which determine whether the infectious or the non-infectious parasites can invade the population, and whether a population already infested by non-infectious parasites can be invaded by the infection. By using Lyapunov functions and persistence theory, we show that the solutions always converge to one of the equilibria, depending on the reproduction numbers. Hence the global dynamics is completely characterized by the reproduction numbers. We also give a description of the structure of the global attractor in all possible cases.

- [1] A. Dénes and G. Röst, Global dynamics for the spread of ectoparasite-borne diseases, submitted
- [2] A. Dénes and G. Röst, *Structure of the global attractors in a model for ectoparasite-borne diseases*, in *Biomath* Vol. 2012 (1), Article ID A016 (1–5)
- [3] A. Dénes and G. Röst, Global dynamics of a compartmental system modeling ectoparasite-borne diseases, submitted
Population-level effects of suppressing fever

David J.D. Earn¹, Paul W. Andrews², Benjamin M. Bolker³

¹ Department of Mathematics and Statistics, McMaster University, earn@math.mcmaster.ca

² Department of Psychology, Neuroscience and Behaviour, McMaster University, pandrew@mcmaster.ca

³ Department of Mathematics and Statistics, McMaster University, bolker@math.mcmaster.ca

Fever is commonly attenuated with antipyretic medication as a means to treat unpleasant symptoms of infectious diseases. We highlight a potentially important negative effect of fever suppression that becomes evident at the population level: reducing fever may increase transmission of associated infections. A higher transmission rate implies that a larger proportion of the population will be infected, so widespread antipyretic drug use is likely to lead to more illness and death than would be expected in a population that was not exposed to antipyretic pharmacotherapies. We make these statements precise by analyzing mechanistic mathematical models and estimate the magnitude of the population-level effect for influenza; we find it is significant, causing an increase of 4% in the expected number of cases and deaths [95% CI: 0.12–10%].

Optimal Infectious Disease Control

E. Grigorieva¹, E. Khailov², A. Korobeinikov³

¹ Texas Woman's University, Denton, USA, egrigorieva@twu.edu

² Moscow State Lomonosov University, Moscow, Russia, khailov@cs.msu.su

³ Centre de Recerca Matemática, Barcelona, Spain, akorobeinikov@crm.cat

The simplest model for the spread of an infectious disease in a population is a so-called susceptible-infectedremoved (SIR) model (see [1, 2]). According to this model, a population (of a constant size N) is divided into three compartments: the susceptible S, the infected I and the removed (recovered and immune) R. It is usually assumed that all the newborn are susceptible (and hence are coming to compartment S), that the population size is approximately constant (that is, the demographic processes are considerably slower than the epidemic ones), and that a recovery implies the immunity of the individual. Interesting optimal control problems for SIR models were considered in [3, 4]. In this work, in order to control the spread of infection, we modified the system by adding to it three bounded controls, p(t), q(t) and r(t). The model equations respectively are:

$$S'(t) = \mu(1-p(t))N - \frac{\beta}{1+r(t)}S(t)I(t) - (\mu+q(t))S(t), \ t \in [0,T],$$

$$I'(t) = \frac{\beta}{1+r(t)}S(t)I(t) - (\gamma+\mu)I(t),$$

$$R'(t) = -\mu R(t) + q(t)S(t) + \gamma I(t) + \mu p(t)N.$$

Here, p(t) is vaccination of the newly born; q(t) vaccination of the susceptible, and r(t) is other "indirect" strategies aimed at a reduction of the incidence rate, such as quarantine or some precocious measures. The properties of our control models are investigated analytically. The optimal control problem of minimizing the number of the infected species at the terminal time T is stated and solved. The optimal solutions are obtained with the use of the Pontryagin Maximum Principle. Numerical results are presented to illustrate the optimal solutions.

- [1] V. Capasso, Mathematical Structures of Epidemic Systems, Lecture Notes in Biomathematics 97, Springer, Heidelberg (2008).
- [2] S. Lenhart and J.T. Workman, Optimal Control Applied to Biological Models, CRC Press, Taylor & Francis Group, London (2007).
- [3] H.R. Joshi, S. Lenhart, M.Y. Li, and L. Wang, *Optimal control methods applied to disease models*, AMS Volume on Mathematical Studies on Human Disease Dynamics Emerging Paradigms and Challenges 410, pp. 187-207 (2006).
- [4] U. Ledzewich and H. Schättler, *On optimal singular controls for a general SIR-model with vaccination and treatment*, Discrete and Continuous Dynamical Systems **supplement volume**, pp. 981-990 (2011).

A Century of Transitions in New York City's Measles Dynamics

K. Hempel¹

¹ McMaster University, Canada, math@mcmaster.ca

Infectious diseases spreading in a human population can occasionally exhibit sudden transitions in their qualitative dynamics. Previous work has been very successful in predicting such transitions in New York City's measles incidence rates using the standard SIR model (*susceptible, infected, recovered*). This work relied on a data-set spanning 45 years [1], which we have extended to 93 years (1891-1984). We continue previous research in transition analysis on this larger data-set, and compare resonant and transient periods predicted to exist in NYC's measles incidence rates with those observed through a continuous wavelet transform of the data. We find good agreement between SIR predictions and observation, and in particular note the likely existence of previously unobserved hysteresis early in our new time-series.

References

[1] London, W. and Yorke, J. A., *Recurrent outbreaks of measles, chickenpox and mumps*, American Journal of Epidemiology **98**, 6, pp. 453-468 (1973).

Modelling pre-emptive vaccination to prepare for bioterrorist attacks

C. Molina¹, D. J. D. Earn²

¹ Department of Mathematics and Statistics, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, L8S 4K1, molinac@math.mcmaster.ca ² Department of Mathematics and Statistics, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, L8S 4K1, earn@math.mcmaster.ca

Though smallpox has been eradicated, the threat of its use for biological warfare or bioterrorism remains. Substantial vaccine-induced morbidity and mortality make pre-emptive vaccination controversial, and induce a conflict between self- and group-interests if vaccination is voluntary. Previously, this conflict has been explored numerically for a particular post-attack vaccination scheme. Here, we generalize previous work by considering several plausible post-attack vaccination scenarios and derive analytical formulae for the self- and group- optimal pre-attack vaccine coverages. We compare the expected increase in morbidity and mortality that results from voluntary vs imposed vaccination for each of the vaccination scenarios considered.

Seasonal Modeling of Chronic Wasting Disease

T. Oraby¹, O. Vasilyeva², D. Krewski³, F. Lutscher⁴

¹Department of Mathematics and Statistics, University of Guelph, Guelph, Ontario, Canada, toraby@uoguelph.ca

² Department of Mathematics and Statistics, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada, ovass031@uottawa.ca

³ McLaughlin Centre for Population Health Risk Assessment, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada, dkrewski@uottawa.ca

⁴ Department of Mathematics and Statistics, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada, flutsche@uottawa.ca

Force of infection, in most of disease models, remains unchanged while parameters may vary seasonally. We developed and analyzed a summer and winter susceptible-infected (SI) model with a seasonal change in the modal form of the force of infection. We applied it to chronic wasting disease (CWD) in deer. The model postulates an impulsive birth with density-dependent birth rate. We found the basic reproduction number as a weighted average of two reproduction numbers corresponding to the modes of transmission. We used parameter values for the model from data derived from the literature of CWD and deer ecology. Then, we conducted global and local sensitivity analyses of the basic reproduction number. Using the model, we explored the effectiveness of different culling strategies for the management of CWD. The main conclusion is that seasonal changes in behavior can lead to a vital change in the disease transmission mechanism and so to disease management.

A multi-strain analysis of Neisseria meningitidis on the impact of immunization in Canada

C. Bauch¹, <u>K. Poore¹</u>

¹ University of Guelph, Guelph, Canada, {maths, social-sciences}@uoguelph.ca

Neisseria meningitidis is a multi-strain pathogen that has 6 main serogroups which is highly prevalent in infants and teenagers. In Canada, serogroups B, C and Y are prevalent in the population with W-135 and A occurring from time to time and X very rarely[1]. Vaccines are used to prevent cases of invasive meningococcal disease (IMD; a condition occasionally caused by *Neisseria meningitidis*), which is has a high morbidity rate, even though N. meningitidis is typically carried asymptomatically. Neisseria lactamica is another pathogen in the same family as meningitidis but it is not associated with invasive meningococcal disease. However, N. lactamica has been shown to confer immunity to individuals against N. meningitidis[2]. There have been no multi-strain models that look at the dynamics of the six serogroups of *Neisseria meningitidis* and how the different serogroups have been impacted by immunization. We use an agent-based model to simulate the multi-strain pathogen transmission and assess the use of vaccine in a Canadian setting. Various vaccine schedules are assumed to show how age of vaccination impacts the prevalence of carriage as well as incidence of IMD[3]. Different types of vaccines such as a monovalent C vaccine, and quadrivalent ACWY are used and analysed to find an optimal vaccine program. In Canada, the quadrivalent ACWY vaccine is used to target serogroups A, C, W-135, and Y. According to model projections, the use of the ACWY vaccine will cause an increase in serogroup B infection due to strain replacement. If a monovalent vaccine is used, more than one strain will compete to replace the empty ecological niche, and replace the serogroup targeted by the vaccine.

- [1] Public Health Agency of Canada, Invasive Meningococcal Disease (IMD), (2012).
- P. Coen, K. Cartwright and J. Stuart, *Mathematical modelling of infection and disease due to Neisseria meningitidis and Neisseria lactamica*, Int. J. Epidemiol. 29, pp. 180-188 (2000).
- [3] C. Trotter, N. Gay and W. Edmunds, *Dynamic Models of MeningococcalCarriage, Disease, and the Impact of Serogroup C Conjugate Vaccination*, Am. J. Epidemiol. **162**, 3, pp. 89-100 (2005).

Pair approximation models of foot and mouth disease: Optimal culling and vaccination strategies, impact of vaccine waning; loss of natural immunity; disease re-introduction.

N. Ringa¹, C.T. Bauch².

¹ University of Guelph, Canada, rnotice@uoguelph.ca

² University of Guelph, Canada, cbauch@uoguelph.ca

Moment closure approximations, in particular, SEI (susceptible-exposed-infectious) pair approximations models have been designed, studied and used viz a viz empirical data to describe the spatial farm-to-farm transmission of foot and mouth disease (FMD). Such models have been utilized, not only as predictive tools, but also as means of modeling impacts of control measures against the spread of FMD: culling and vaccination- during outbreaks. However, farms that recover from FMD become susceptible again in the long run. Vaccines against foot and mouth disease do not confer life-long immunity, so a new outbreak in the same population of farms may lead to infection of previously vaccinated farms. Therefore we extend these models to SEIRV (susceptible-exposed-infectiousrecovered-vaccinated) pair approximation models of FMD, thus incorporating impacts of loss of natural immunity and vaccine waning, in cases where disease importation is possible. In addition to during-outbreak-vaccination strategies used in previous studies, we consider impacts of prophylactic vaccination and measure optimal vaccination coverages that will prevent future outbreaks of foot and mouth disease. We present a spatially-oriented expression of the basic reproduction number, R_0 (a threshold value under which the disease is expected to die out), of foot and mouth disease as a function of rates of culling and vaccination, and seek optimal culling and vaccination strategies that minimize R_0 . Upon re-introduction of FMD virus into a population of farms, the susceptible denominator now also constitutes previously vaccinated and recovered farms. Vaccine waning and loss of natural immunity lead to infection and reinfection of previously vaccinated and infected farms, respectively. Administration of optimal prophylactic vaccination is expected to eradicate the disease by preventing future outbreaks. We determine optimal IP (infected premises) culling and CP (contagious premises) culling rates that minimize cumulative number of infections, infection peak and the basic reproduction number. We also determined optimal prophylactic and ring vaccination (during outbreak) rates. The novelties of pair approximation models, compared to mean-field approximations are (i) their ability to capture the role of local correlations in a network of farms, and (ii) that they are mathematically tractable (this enables calculation of the basic reproduction number and hence determine conditions under which the disease can be contained). Small values of IP culling (relative to other model parameters), slightly reduce infection peak but delay disease eradication leading to increased cumulative number of infectious farms. On the other hand, vaccine CP culling significantly reduce infection peak and cumulative number of infectious farms. The findings of our research guide foot and mouth disease control policy.

- [1] N.M. Ferguson, C.I. Donnelly and R.M. Anderson, *The foot and mouth epidemic in Great Britain: pattern of spread and impact of interventions*, Science **292**, pp. 1155-1160 (2001).
- [2] P.E. Parham and N.M. Ferguson, *Space and contact networks: capturing the locality of disease transmission*, Journal of royal society **3**, pp. 483-493 (2005).
- [3] J.M. Hefferman and M.J. Keeling, C.I. Donnelly and R.M. Anderson, *Implications of vaccination and vaccine waning*, Proceedings of royal society B 276, pp. 2071-2080 (2009).

Seasonal dynamics in an SIR epidemic system

Nadir Sari¹

¹ University of La Rochelle, France, nsari@univ-lr.fr

In epidemic model, the cause of seasonality may vary from human force phenomena, like the succession of school terms and holidays. We consider a seasonally forced SIR epidemic model where periodicity occurs in the contact rate. The dynamics are described by a switched system. First, we prove the existence of an invariant domain D containing all periodic orbits. Then, using different scales in time and variables, we write the SIR model as a slow-fast system and establish the existence of a macroscopic attractor domain K, included in D. The existence of a unique harmonic solution is proved for any value of the magnitude of the seasonal forcing term which can be seen as an annual infection. Subharmonic solutions can be seen as epidemic outbreaks. Our theoretical results allow us to exhibit quantitative characteristics for epidemics.

We consider an SIR system, where the population is divided in susceptible $x(\tau)$, infective $y(\tau)$ and removed $r(\tau)$. Let $\beta(\tau)$ the rate of transmission, Infected individuals may recover at rate γ . Vital dynamics is taken into account by considering a natural mortality rate μ equal to birth rate; so the size of the population is constant abd $r(\tau)$ becomes irrelevant for the study. The dynamics write

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{d\tau} = \mu (1-x) - \beta(\tau) xy \\ \frac{dy}{d\tau} = \beta(\tau) xy - (\gamma + \mu) y, \end{cases}$$
(1)

The transition from one season to the other is quasi-instantaneous since it is governed by periods of school terms and holidays, so we can do the approximation: the dynamics are governed by switching between two systems, where $\beta(\tau)$ is a T_{τ} -periodic switch signal defined as follows. Let

$$\delta_+=1+\delta, \quad \delta_-=1-\delta, \quad \beta_+=\beta_0\delta_+, \quad \beta_-=\beta_0\delta_-,$$

and $\beta(\tau)$ defined in $[0, T_{\tau})$ by

$$eta\left(au
ight) = \left\{ egin{array}{ccc} eta_+ & ext{for} & au \in [0, heta T_ au) \ eta_- & ext{for} & au \in [heta T_ au, T_ au) \end{array}
ight.,$$

where β_0 is the mean contact rate, $\delta \in (0, 1)$ the seasonal forcing, $\theta \in (0, 1)$ and θT_{τ} the high epidemic period. According to data in the literature, one can consider the parameters be ranked based on their order of magnitude:

$$0 < \mu << \delta < 1, \quad 0 < heta < 1, \quad 0 < \gamma < eta_0.$$

We consider μ as a small parameter and do the change of state variable $y = \mu Y$, system (1) becomes

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{d\tau} = \mu \left(1 - x - \beta_{\pm} xY \right) \\ \frac{dY}{d\tau} = \left(\beta_{\pm} x - \gamma - \mu \right) Y. \end{cases}$$
(2)

Since μ is a small parameter, system (2) is slow-fast system and we shall study the dynamic of system (2) in the framework of singular perturbation theory. Here the fundamental tools are Thikonov's theorem for convergence of solutions of slow-fast system and averaging to study periodic motions.

References

 Augeraud-Véron, E; Sari, N. Seasonal dynamics in an SIR epidemic system. Journal of Mathematical biology (2013) DOI 10.1007/s00285-013-0645-y

Target Reproduction Number and Its Applications to Infectious Disease Control

Zhisheng Shuai¹, J.A.P. Heesterbeek², P. van den Driessche³

¹ University of Central Florida, Orlando, FL, USA, shuai@ucf.edu

² University of Utrecht, Utrecht, The Netherlands, j.a.p.heesterbeek@uu.nl

³ University of Victoria, Victoria, BC, Canada, pvdd@math.uvic.ca

A new quantity called the target reproduction number is defined in [1] to measure control strategies for infectious diseases with multiple host types such as waterborne, vector-borne and zoonotic diseases. The target reproduction number includes as a special case and extends the type reproduction number [2, 3] to allow disease control strategies that target contacts between host types. Relationships among the basic, type and target reproduction numbers are established. Examples of infectious disease models from the literature are given to illustrate the applications of the target reproduction number.

- [1] Z. Shuai, J.A.P. Heesterbeek and P. van den Driessche, *Extending the type reproduction number to infectious disease control targeting contacts between types*, J. Math. Biol. in press (2013). DOI: 10.1007/s00285-012-0579-9
- [2] M.G. Roberts and J.A.P. Heesterbeek, *A new method for estimating the effort required to control an infectious disease*, Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B **270**, pp. 1359–1364 (2003).
- [3] J.A.P. Heesterbeek and M.G. Roberts, *The type-reproduction number T in models for infectious disease control*, Math. Biosci. **206**, pp. 3–10 (2007).

The Spread of Infectious Disease with Imported Infections

R. Sigdel¹, C. McCluskey²

¹ Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada, sigd3210@mylaurier.ca

² Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada, ccmcc8@gmail.com

Most models for the spread of an infectious disease have a disease-free equilibrium. This fails to be the case if infected individuals enter from the outside. This can happen if there is immigration of infectives into the region being studied.

Here, we consider models where infected individuals enter the population. An immediate consequence is that there is no disease-free equilibrium. Additionally, there is no basic reproduction number as that quantity is defined by the behaviour near a disease-free equilibrium.

For the models considered, we determine the global stability of the endemic equilibrium through the use of a Lyapunov function.

The impact of the Anopheles mosquito lifestyle, feeding and reproductive habits in the transmission dynamics of Malaria-implications for control

M.I. Teboh-Ewungkem¹, C.N. Ngonghala², G.A. Ngwa³

¹ Lafayette College, Easton, PA, USA, tebohewm@lafayette.edu

² National Institute for Mathematical and Biological Synthesis (NIMBioS), Knoxville, TN, USA, cnngonghala@nimbios.org

³ University of Buea, Buea, South West Region, Cameroon, akumhed@yahoo.com

Malaria deaths continue to drop, but, remain a burden in many countries, killing mostly children. Mathematical models have extended our understanding of the biology and transmission dynamics of malaria, dating back to the Ross-Macdonald model. However, most models either treat the mosquito population density as a constant or do not model the reproductive gains that accrue to the mosquito's population as a result of its lifestyle, feeding and reproductive habits, as well as its interaction with the human population. The interaction between mosquitoes and humans introduce high variability in the mosquito population density and this variability affects both the mosquito population and the malaria disease dynamics (see Refs. [1, 2, 3]). This talk will highlight how the lifestyle of the *Anopheles* mosquito and the interaction between the mosquito and humans affect malaria transmission dynamics and introduce complexities not previously observed in deterministic continuous time models. Implications for malaria control will also be discussed.

- [1] G.A. Ngwa, On the Population Dynamics of the Malaria Vector, Bull. Math. Biol. 68, 8, pp. 2161-2189 (2006).
- [2] S. Nourridine, M.I. Teboh-Ewungkem and G.A. Ngwa, A mathematical model of the population dynamics of disease transmitting vectors with spatial consideration, J. Biol. Dyn. 5, 4, pp 335-365 (2011).
- [3] C.N. Ngonghala, G.A. Ngwa and M.I. Teboh-Ewungkem, *Periodic oscillations and backward bifurcation in a model for the dynamics of malaria transmission*, Math. Biosc. **240**, 1, pp. 45-62 (2012).

Sustained and transient oscillations induced by delayed antiviral immune response in an immunosuppressive infection model

Hongying Shu, Lin Wang, J. Watmough

University of New Brunswick, Canada, lwang2@unb.ca

Sustained and transient oscillations are frequently observed in clinical data for immune responses in viral infections such as human immunodeficiency virus, hepatitis B virus, and hepatitis C virus. To account for these oscillations, we incorporate the time lag needed for the expansion of immune cells into an immunosuppressive infection model. It is shown that the delayed antiviral immune response can induce sustained periodic oscillations, transient oscillations and even sustained aperiodic oscillations (chaos). Both local and global Hopf bifurcation theorems are applied to show the existence of periodic solutions, which are illustrated by bifurcation diagrams and numerical simulations. Two types of bistability are shown to be possible: (i) a stable equilibrium can coexist with a stable periodic solution.

The Effects of Mass Gatherings on the Spatial Spread of an Epidemic

Fei Xu¹, Connell McCluskey²

¹ Department of Mathematics, Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada N2L 3C5, fxu.feixu@gmail.com ² Department of Mathematics, Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada N2L 3C5, ccmcc8@gmail.com

In this talk, we will investigate the spatial spread of an infectious disease in conjunction with a mass gathering. Mass gatherings take place when a large number of people from different locations visit a particular region during a particular time period. Such activity plays a crucial role in the epidemic spread as travel speeds up the spatial spread of an epidemic and crowded conditions accelerate the transmission and infection of the disease. We construct a mathematical model to study the epidemic spread with a periodic mass gathering involved. Our investigation reveals the effects of mass gathering on an epidemic spread.

Theory and Applications in Finance (SS-MFMCR)

Organizers: Joe Campolieti (Wilfrid Laurier University) Adam Metzler (Wilfrid Laurier University)

This minisymposium covers a diverse range of topics in contemporary financial mathematics. This could include, but is not necessarily limited to, credit risk, pricing and hedging exotic derivatives, correlation modeling, numerical methods for PDE/PIDE problems in finance, simulation methods in finance, energy derivatives, market microstructure and problems in financial regulation.

Numerical Methods for Computationally Intensive Problems in Mathematical Finance (SS-CF)

Organizers: Duy-Minh Dang (UW) Ken Jackson (University of Toronto)

The rapid growth and diversity of the financial markets over the past few decades has spawned many intellectually challenging and computationally intensive problems to be solved. These challenging problems are now spawning radical changes in computational methods in finance: more mathematically sophisticated and efficient computational methods are in great demand for the valuation and risk-management of complex financial instruments. This special session will bring together researchers who will discuss recent developments in efficient computational algorithms for the numerical solution of computationally intensive problems in mathematical finance. These problems range from pricing of multi-asset options under a regime switching or uncertain volatility model, or cross-currency foreign exchange interest rate derivatives, to computing the loss distribution of credit portfolios. The computational techniques used include asymptotic expansion-based approximation methods, partial differential equations and Monte-Carlo simulations, as well as utilization of emerging computer architectures, such as Graphics Processing Units (GPUs), to further increase the efficiency of the numerical methods.

Hedging Costs for Variable Annuities

P. Azimzadeh¹, P.A. Forsyth¹, K.R. Vetzal¹

¹ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada {pazimzad, paforsyt, kvetzal} [at] uwaterloo [dot] ca

A general methodology is described in which policyholder behaviour is decoupled from the pricing of a variable annuity based on the cost of hedging it, yielding two sequences of weakly coupled systems of partial differential equations (PDEs): the pricing and utility systems. The utility systems are used to generate policyholder withdrawal behaviour, which is in turn fed into the pricing systems as a means to determine the cost of hedging the contract. This approach allows us to incorporate the effects of utility-based pricing and factors such as taxation. As a case study, we consider the Guaranteed Lifelong Withdrawal and Death Benefits (GLWDB) contract. The pricing and utility systems for the GLWDB are derived under the assumption that the underlying asset follows a Markov regime-switching process. An implicit PDE method is used to solve both systems in tandem. We show that for a large class of utility functions, the two systems preserve homogeneity, allowing us to decrease the dimensionality of solutions. We show that the associated control for the GLWDB is bang-bang, under which the work required to compute the optimal strategy is significantly reduced. We extend this result to provide the reader with sufficient conditions for a bang-bang control for a general variable annuity with a countable number of events (e.g. discontinuous withdrawals). Homogeneity and bang-bangness yield significant reductions in complexity and allow us to rapidly generate numerical solutions. Results are presented which demonstrate the sensitivity of the hedging expense to various parameters. The costly nature of the death benefit is documented. It is also shown that for a typical contract, the fee required to fund the cost of hedging calculated under the assumption that the policyholder withdraws at the contract rate is an appropriate approximation to the fee calculated assuming optimal consumption.

Interconnected Balance Sheets, Market Liquidity, and the Ampification Effect in a Financial System

Nan Chen¹, Xin Liu², David, D. Yao³ ^{1,2} Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, <u>nchen@se.cuhk.edu.hk</u> and liuxin@se.cuhk.edu.hk ³ Columbia University, USA, yao@columbia.edu

This paper investigates the amplification effect of a financial system to develop individual defaults to a systemic catastrophe. In our model, the financial institutions interconnect via two mutually stimulating channels: their balance sheets are linked directly by holding debt claims against each other; they share the market liquidity to liquidate assets to meet debt liabilities when they face distress. We develop a network-based approach to characterize how the topological structures of the system and asset liquidation interact with each other to amplify the systemic risk. We propose two multipliers, network multiplier and liquidity multiplier, to capture the above amplification effects. We find that the amplification magnitude is largely determined by the eigenvalues of the liability matrix of the financial system, which provides a strong theoretical justification to some eigenvalue-based systemic risk measures in the existing literature. The model has a significant computational advantage and can be solved efficiently through the linearcomplementarity-technique based fixed-point algorithm. This research also builds up a close connection between the study of financial systemic risk and the literature of stochastic network. Furthermore, we examine the effects of varying other important modeling parameters, including external economic environment, leverage level of the financial institutions, and liquidity nature of the assets.

Hedging Bond Returns with Equity

<u>N. Costanzino¹</u>, A. Cohen²

¹ Scotiabank, Toronto, ON, Canada, nick.costanzino@scotiabank.com

² Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI, USA albert@math.msu.edu

Typically, the most efficient and common way to hedge credit risk is through a credit derivative. However for many credit markets, such as High Yield or Emerging Market debt, credit derivatives may be too illiquid to be an effective hedge, or they might not be traded at all. In this talk, I will discuss some strategies for hedging the credit risk of a bond through the equity markets. This leads to the concept of a bond-to-equity hedge ratio. While the hedge ratio itself is model independent, its computation is dependent on a credit risk model. I discuss and compare the behavior of the hedge ratio for a variety of models, including Merton and Black-Cox, but also more complicated ones such as Moody's PD-LGD correlation model.

Long-dated foreign exchange interest rate derivatives: modeling, computational challenges, and parallel computation via a PDE approach

Duy-Minh Dang¹, Christina Christara², Ken Jackson², Asif Lakhany³

¹ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, dm2dang@uwaterloo.ca

² University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada, {ccc, krj}@cs.toronto.edu

³ Algorithmics Inc., Toronto, Canada, asif.lakhany@gmail.com

In the current era of wildly fluctuating exchange rates, cross-currency interest rate derivatives, especially longdated foreign exchange (FX) interest rate (IR) hybrid derivatives, are of enormous practical importance. In this talk, we discuss modeling issues, highlight computational challenges, and present a parallel algorithm based on a Partial Differential Equation (PDE) approach for pricing long-dated FX-IR hybrid derivatives.

As an illustrative example, we focus on Power-Reverse Dual-Currency (PRDC) swaps, one of the most widely traded and liquid FX-IR hybrid derivatives, with a popular exotic feature, namely FX Target Redemption (FX-TARN). These products are exposed to moves in both the spot FX rate and the interest rates of the domestic and foreign currencies. We discuss the modeling of PRDCs using two one-factor Gaussian models for the two stochastic interest short rates, and a one-factor FX model for the spot FX rate. This results in a three-dimensional time-dependent parabolic PDE for the price of the PRDC swap. Challenges in pricing PRDCs with FX-TARN feature via a PDE approach arise from (i) the high-dimensionality of the model PDE, and (ii) the path-dependency of the FX-TARN provision.

Our PDE pricing framework for FX-TARN PRDC swaps is based on partitioning the pricing problem into several independent pricing sub-problems over each time period of the swap's tenor structure, with possible communication at the end of each time period. Finite difference methods on non-uniform grids are used for the spatial discretization of the PDE, and the Alternating Direction Implicit (ADI) technique is employed for the time discretization. Our implementation of the PDE pricing procedure on a cluster of Graphics Processing Units (GPUs) involves (i) assigning, with the help of MPI, each independent sub-problem to a different GPU, (ii) efficiently solving each independent sub-problem on its GPU via a parallelization of the ADI timestepping technique, and (iii) utilizing MPI for the communication between pricing processes at the end of each time period of the swap's tenor structure. Numerical results showing the accuracy and efficiency of the parallel PDE pricing methods, as well as possible extensions of this work, are provided.

Multiple barriers and assets in Financial Mathematics

<u>M. Escobar¹</u>.

¹ Ryerson University, Toronto, Canada, escobar@ryerson.ca

In this talk we review recent mathematical results for multidimensional stochastic processes in the presence of multiple barriers. We study the distribution/density function of the minimums $(\min_{0 \le s \le t} Y_1(t), \dots, \min_{0 \le s \le t} Y_n(t))$ and endpoints $(Y_1(t), \dots, Y_n(t))$ of a n-dimensional Brownian vector (see [6]).

$$P \quad (Y_1(t) \in dy_1, \dots, Y_n(t) \in dy_n, \min_{0 < s < t} Y_1(s) > m_1, \dots, \min_{0 < s < t} Y_n(s) > m_n)$$
(1)
= $p(y_1, \dots, y_n, m_1, \dots, m_n, t) dy_1 \dots dy_n,$

We pay special attention to the case n = 3 (see [1]), here the targeted function p satisfies a PDE with the following initial and boundary conditions:

$$\frac{\partial p}{\partial t}(y,t) = -\sum_{i=1}^{3} \alpha_i \frac{\partial p}{\partial y_i}(y,t) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{3} \sigma_i^2 \frac{\partial^2 p}{\partial y_i^2}(y,t) + \sum_{i< j} \sigma_i \sigma_j \rho_{ij} \frac{\partial^2 p}{\partial y_i \partial y_j}(y,t).$$
(2)

$$p(y_1, y_2, y_3, t = 0) = \delta(y_1)\delta(y_2)\delta(y_3),$$
(3)

$$p(y_1 = m_1, y_2, y_3, t) = 0,$$

$$p(y_1, y_2 = m_2, y_3, t) = 0,$$

$$p(y_1, y_2, y_3 = m_3, t) = 0.$$
(4)

The Method of Images and ansatz solutions are used to find closed-form expressions to this problem. A generalization accounting for stochastic volatility is also presented in dimensions two and three (see [4], [3] and [5]). The usefulness of these results in finance is explored (see [2]) while new financial products are defined and closedform analytical solutions are presented (see [5]).

- M. Escobar, S. Ferrando and X. Wen. *Three Dimensional Distribution of Brownian Motion Extrema*. International Journal of Probability and Stochastic Processes. March (2011).
- [2] M. Escobar, S. Ferrando and X. Wen. Barrier options in three dimensions. Submitted to IJFMD (2012).
- [3] M. Escobar, B. Gotz, R. Zagst. *Closed form pricing of two-asset barrier options with stochastic covariance*. Submitted International journal of Theoretical and Applied Finance (2012)
- [4] M. Escobar, B. Gotz, R. Zagst. *Two asset-barrier option within stochastic volatility models*. Submitted Applied Mathematical Finance (2012)
- [5] M. Escobar, M. Mahlstedt and R. Zagst. Collateralized Structured Products. Working paper (2012).
- [6] M. Escobar. A note on the distribution of multivariate Brownian extrema. Submitted to International Journal of Probability and Stochastic Processes (2012).

Trends and trades

M. Carlisle¹, O. Hadjiliadis², I. Stamos³

¹ Baruch College, City University of New York, USA, michael.carlisle@baruch.cuny.edu

² Brooklyn College and the Graduate Center, City University of New York, USA, ohadjiliadis@brooklyn.cuny.edu

³ Hunter College and the Graduate Center, City University of New York, USA, istamos@hunter.cuny.edu

In this work, we build trend following algorithms based on the sequential statistical rules such as the Cumulative sum (CUSUM) and the Sequential probability ratio test (SPRT). We draw the connections between these statistics and the problem of online statistical surveillance and quality control which dates back to the 1930s. We focus on the cumulative sum statistic that has traditional been used for the online detection of abrupt changes in the distribution of sequences of observations. We study its construction and examine its properties. We also draw its connections to the well-known path dependent statistics used to capture sudden market drops/crashes and upward trends, namely the maximum drawdown and the maximum draw-ups. We proceed to construct trend following algorithms based on the CUSUM statistics and use them to trade on the 5-year US note sold at auction. We analyze the performance of such a rule which is seen to be most profitable during times of market instability and present the results of its performance in detail. We finally discuss other statistics of interest, such as the speed of reaction of the CUSUM statistic, and the way in which they can help us improve the performance of our proposed algorithm.

- [1] J. Devore, Probability and Statistics for Engineering and the Science, Duxbury Press, (2009).
- [2] H.V. Poor and O. Hadjiliadis, Quickest Detection, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, (2008).
- [3] A. Wald, Sequential Analysis, Wiley New York, 1947.

Illiquidity and Insolvency: a Double Cascade Model of Financial Crises

<u>Tom Hurd</u>¹, Lionel Cassier², Davide Cellai³, Huibin Cheng¹, Bernardo Costa Lima¹, Matheus Grasselli¹, Sergey Melnik³, and Quentin Shao¹

¹ Mathematics and Statistics, McMaster University, Canada

² CMAP, Ecole Polytechnique, France

³ Mathematics, University of Limerick, Ireland

In the view of many experts, the proper definition of systemic risk is now seen to comprise two distinct facets. The traditional view that systemic risk is primarily the risk of cascading bank defaults has evolved into the view that systemic risk involves both cascading bank defaults as well as liquidity shocks, and that both types of shocks impair the functioning of the remaining undefaulted banks. In current models of systemic risk, for example [1], [2] and [3], these two facets, namely illiquidity and insolvency, are often treated as two distinct and separate phenomena.

This talk will describe a "deliberately simplified model" of insolvency and illiquidity in financial networks that integrates these two facets as two faces of the same coin. On the default side of the coin, insolvency of a given bank will create a shock to the asset side of the balance sheet of each of its creditor banks. Under some circumstances, such "downstream" shocks can cause further insolvencies that may build up to create a global insolvency cascade. On the flip side, in a stress cascade, illiquidity that hits a given bank will create a shock to the liability side of the balance sheet of each of its debtor banks. Under some circumstances, such "upstream" shocks can cause further illiquidity stresses that may build up to create a global illiquidity cascade. The pivotal question one wishes to address is: in a given financial network, what effect does the illiquidity or insolvency of a single firm have on the liquidity or solvency of other banks in the system?

- [1] P. GAI AND S. KAPADIA Contagion in financial networks. *Proceedings of the Royal Society A*, 466(2120):2401–2423, 2010.
- [2] P. GAI, A. HALDANE, AND S. KAPADIA Complexity, concentration and contagion. *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 58:453–470, 2011.
- [3] T. R. HURD AND J. P. GLEESON A framework for analyzing contagion in banking networks. arXiv:1110.4312 [q-fin.GN], October 2011.

A convolution method for numerical solution of backward stochastic differential equations

C. Hyndman¹, P. Oyono Ngou²

¹ Concordia University, Montréal, Canada, cody.hyndman@concordia.ca

² Concordia University, Montréal, Canada, polynice.oyonongou@concordia.ca

We propose a new method for the numerical solution of backward stochastic differential equations (BSDEs) which finds its roots in Fourier analysis. The method consists of an Euler time discretization of the BSDE with certain conditional expectations expressed in terms of Fourier transforms and computed using the fast Fourier transform (FFT). The problem of error control is addressed, we consider the extension of the method to reflected BSDEs, and some numerical examples are considered from finance demonstrating the performance of the method.

References

[1] C. Hyndman and P. Oyono Ngou. A convolution method for numerical solution of backward stochastic differential equations. *arXiv:1304.1783* (2013).

Computation of the Loss Distribution Based on the Structural Model for Credit Portfolios

Meng Han¹, Ken Jackson² and Alex Kreinin³

¹ RBC Capital Markets, Toronto, meng.han@rbccm.com

² Computer Science Department, University of Toronto, krj@cs.utoronto.ca

³ Risk Analytics, IBM Inc., Toronto, Alex.Kreinin@ca.ibm.com

Credit risk analysis and management at the portfolio level is a challenging issue for financial institutions due to their portfolios' large size, heterogeneity and complex correlation structure. In this paper, we propose several new asymptotic methods and exact methods to compute the distribution of a loan portfolio's loss in the CreditMatrics framework. For asymptotic methods, we give an approximation based on the Central Limit Theorem (CLT), which gives more accurate approximations to the conditional portfolio loss probabilities compared with existing approximations. To further increase the accuracy of approximations for lumpy portfolios, we introduce a hybrid method which combines an asymptotic approximation with Monte Carlo simulation. For exact methods, we improve the efficiency by exploiting the sparsity that often arises in the obligors' conditional losses. A sparse convolution method and a sparse FFT method are proposed, which enjoy significant speedups compared with the straightforward convolution method. We also construct truncated versions of the sparse convolution method and the sparse FFT method to further improve their efficiency. To balance the aliasing errors and roundoff errors incurred in the truncated sparse FFT method, an optimal exponential windowing approach is developed as well.

Efficient Monte Carlo Simulation For Integral Functionals of Brownian Motion

Adam Kolkiewicz

University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, wakolkie@uwaterloo.ca

In the paper we propose a new method of generating Brownian motion sample paths with the objective of constructing efficient methods of simulation to evaluate expectations of the form

$$E[G(\int_0^T g_1(t, W(t))dt, \dots, \int_0^T g_r(t, W(t))dt, W(\cdot))],$$
(1)

where G, g_1, \ldots, g_r are given functions and $W(\cdot)$ represents a path of a standard Brownian motion $\{W(t); t \in [0, T]\}$. One of the main difficulties when dealing with integration problems of this form is their high dimensionality, stemming from the fact that to represent a Brownian motion path we need a large number of independent variables. Because of this, Monte Carlo simulation methods prove to be particularly useful, as their $O(N^{-1/2})$ convergence rate, where *N* is the number of samples, does not depend on the dimension of the problem. However this rate can be too slow for many applications, and hence numerous techniques have been considered to reduce the simulation error.

In order to increase efficiency of integration methods, we propose a novel method of reducing the dimension of the problem, and then we replace the random numbers that drive the simulation by a sequence of deterministic points, called low-discrepancy points, that cover the space more uniformly. It is known that such methods, referred to as quasi-Monte Carlo, have the potential to increase the convergence rate from $O(1/\sqrt{N})$ to $O(\log(N)^d)/N)$, where *d* is the dimension of the problem. This is a significant gain in efficiency, but only for problems of small to medium dimension. Reducing the dimension, by finding the right set of coordinates that would capture a large part of the overall variability of a given integrand, is a challenging problem. In the context of quasi-Monte Carlo methods, it is usually studied by using the concept of effective dimension, and practical results are typically obtained by applying a particular linear transformation to the vector of input variables.

We approach this problem by treating the important coordinates as variables for stratification. We show that for expectations of the form (1) we may significantly increase efficiency of the simulation method by combining the Brownian bridge construction with conditioning on integrals along paths of the process. In particular, our analysis suggests that instead of conditioning on $(W(t_1), W(t_2), \ldots, W(t_d))$ we should rather condition on the vector that includes only half of these values but supplemented with integrals. The main reason for the better performance of the latter method is the fact that conditioning on $(W(t_2), W(t_4), \ldots, W(t_d))$ reduces the integration problem to a series of similar problems but over shorter time intervals. Since smooth functions over shorter intervals can be more accurately approximated by linear functions, conditioning on integrals $\int_{t_i}^{t_{i+2}} W(s) ds$ becomes a very effective way of capturing variability. We formalize this intuition by proving that as we increase *d* then the amount of variability captured by $(W(t_2), W(t_4), \ldots, W(t_d), \int_0^{t_2} W(s) ds, \ldots, \int_{t_{d-2}}^{t_d} W(s) ds)$ is of order better than the one for the Brownian bridge construction.

An area of possible applications of the proposed method is modern finance, where expectations of the form (1) arise either directly or can be obtained through some transformations of a similar problem but defined in terms of a more general diffusion process. Such situations include, for example, the problem of pricing in the context of interest rate models and stochastic volatility models. Expectations of the form (1) also appear in the context of statistical inference for diffusion processes. In the paper we illustrate the method by applying it to the problem of pricing of Asian options, and our numerical results suggest that the method has considerable potential for a substantial reduction of the simulation error.

An unconditionally monotone numerical scheme for the two factor uncertain volatility model

Kai Ma¹ and Peter Forsyth¹

¹ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, {k26ma,paforsyt}@uwaterloo.ca

In uncertain volatility model, the volatility of the risky asset is assumed to lie within a range of values. As such, prices obtained under a no-arbitrage analysis are no longer unique, and pricing in uncertain volatility models involves nonlinear partial differential equations, known as Hamilton-Jacobi-Bellman (HJB) partial differential equations (PDEs).

In this paper, we first develop a fully implicit, unconditionally monotone finite difference numerical scheme for two factor uncertain volatility models. Consequently, there are no time step restrictions due to stability considerations. The discretized algebraic equations are solved using a policy iteration. Our discretization method results in a local objective function which is a discontinuous function of the control. Hence some care must be taken when applying policy iteration. Furthermore, one difficulty is the monotonicity preserving approximation of the cross derivative in the PDE. We use a suitable wide stencil method to ensure monotonicity for our problem. Our numerical scheme is l_{∞} -stable, consistent in the viscosity sense, and monotone. Thus, our numerical scheme guarantees convergence to the viscosity solution.

Hitting Times of Integrated Diffusions

D. McLeish¹, Zhenyu Cui²

¹ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, dlmcleis@uwaterloo.ca

² University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, cuizhyu@gmail.com

We construct a link between the first hitting time of the integral functional of a time-homogeneous diffusion to a fixed level, and the time integral of a related diffusion. This allows us to establish probabilistic results concerning these hitting times. We also discuss the simulation of such problems. This is joint work with Zhenyu Cui and extends work of Metzler (2012) on the Laplace Transform of the hitting times of integrated geometric Brownian Motion.

References

[1] Metzler, A. The Laplace Transform of hitting times of integrated geometric Brownian motion, J. Appl. Prob. 50, 1, pp. 295-299 (2012).

Explosive behavior in a log-normal interest rate model

Dan Pirjol¹

¹ J. P. Morgan, dpirjol@gmail.com

The talk considers an interest rate model with log-normally distributed rates in the terminal measure in discrete time. Such models are used in financial practice as parametric versions of the Markov functional model [1, 2], or as approximations to the log-normal Libor market model [3]. This model is also similar to the Black, Derman, Toy model [4], up to the difference that the log-normal distributional assumption for the short rate is formulated in the terminal measure, as opposed to the risk-neutral (spot) measure. In a previous paper [5] it was shown that the model can be solved exactly, and that the exact solution displays two distinct regimes, at low and high volatility, with different qualitative behaviour. The two regimes are separated by a sharp transition, which is similar to a phase transition in condensed matter physics. The same phenomenon was observed [6] in a similar model with mean-reversion, which is the terminal measure analog of the Black, Karasinski model.

The talk considers the implications of the phase transition for the pricing of interest rates derivatives in this model. The shape of the Libor probability distribution function (in a measure where it is simply related to caplet prices) has a qualitative change at the critical volatility. For sufficiently small volatility this distribution has a usual humped shape, but it collapses to very small Libor values at the critical volatility, in addition to developing a long tail. This effect is visible in the caplet smile, which is log-normal to a good approximation for small volatility, but develops a non-trivial caplet skew in the large volatility phase. In addition, the moments of the Libor distribution function have sharp turning points in volatility. These effects limit the applicability of the model for describing an interest rate model with log-normal caplet smile, and define an upper limit on the volatilities for which the model behaves as intended.

In the large volatility phase, certain expectation values and convexity adjustments have an explosive behavior, which occurs at a sharply defined value of the volatility. These effects are due to contributions to the expectation values from a region in the state variable which is usually assumed to be unimportant in practice, as it associated with very large interest rates $\gg 100\%$. This region is usually truncated off in tree and finite difference implementations of the model, or is very poorly sampled in Monte Carlo simulations, unless impractically large numbers of paths are used. This implies that usual numerical implementations of the model do not capture correctly its behavior in the large volatility phase. The talk is based on the paper [7].

- [1] P. Balland and L. P. Hughston, Markov Market Model Consistent with Cap Smile, Int. J. Th. Appl. Finance, 3, pp. 161-181 (2000).
- [2] P. Hunt, J. Kennedy and A. Pellser, Markov-Functional Interest Rate Models, Finance and Stochastics, 4, 391-408 (2000).
- [3] L. Andersen and V. Piterbarg, Interest Rate Modeling, Atlantic Financial Press, London, 2010.
- [4] F. Black, E. Derman and W. Toy, A One-Factor Model of Interest Rates and Its Application to Treasury Bond Options, Financial Analysts Journal 24-32 (1990).
- [5] D. Pirjol, Phase transition in a log-normal Markov functional model, J. Math. Phys. 52, pp. 013301 (2011), arXiv:1007.0691 [q-fin].
- [6] D. Pirjol, Equivalence of interest rate models and lattice gases, Phys. Rev. E85, pp. 046116 (2012), arXiv:1204.0915 [q-fin].
- [7] D. Pirjol, Explosive behavior in a log-normal interest rate model, to appear in Int. J. Theor. Appl. Finance.

A Bias-Reduction Technique for Monte Carlo Pricing of Multiple-Exercise Options

J. Dickson¹, T.J. Marshall², R.M. Reesor³

¹ Western University, London, Canada, jordanjd234@gmail.com

² Bank of Montreal, Toronto, Canada, JAMES1.MARSHALL@bmo.com

³ Western University, London, Canada, mreesor@uwo.ca

We present a method for reducing the bias inherent in Monte Carlo estimators of multiple-exercise contingent claim prices. To demonstrate our approach, we employ the Forest of Stochastic Trees, a recently proposed tool for valuing multiple exercise options [1,2]. Its option value estimators are biased, analogous to the original Stochastic Tree estimators generated for valuing American style options. The bias-reduction technique presented is an extension of recent work [3,4] for American option value estimators to similar estimators for multiple exercise options. Using large-sample theory, we derive an approximation to the bias at each exercise opportunity which is then subtracted from the uncorrected estimators resulting in bias-corrected estimators. This approach to bias correction is independent of dimensionality and holds for general asset-price processes and payoffs.

- [1] T.J. Marshall and R.M. Reesor, Forest of Stochastic Trees: A New Method for Valuing High-dimensional Multiple Exercise Options, Working Paper (2012).
- [2] T.J. Marshall, Valuation of Multiple Exercise Options, PhD Thesis, Western University (2012).
- [3] T.L. Whitehad, R.M. Reesor, and M Davison, A Bias Reduction Technique for Monte Carlo Pricing of Early-exercise options, Journal of Computational Finance, Volume 15, Number 3, Spring 2012, pp. 33-69.
- [4] K.H. Kan and R.M. Reesor, Bias Reduction for Pricing American Options by Least-Squares Monte Carlo, Applied Mathematical Finance, Volume 19, Number 3, July 2012 pp. 195-217.

Delayed Heston Model: Improvement of Vol Surface and Hedging of Vol Swaps

<u>A. Swishchuk¹</u>, N. Vadori²

¹ University of Calgary, Calgary, Canada, aswish@ucalgary.ca

² University of Calgary, Calgary, Canada, nvadori@ucalgary.ca

We present a new variance drift adjusted version [2, 4] of the Heston model [1] which leads to significant improvement of the market volatility surface fitting (compared to Heston). The numerical example we performed with recent market data shows a significant (44%) reduction of the average absolute calibration error (i.e., average of the absolute differences between market and model implied Black-Scholes volatilities) (calibration on Sep. 30th 2011 for underlying EURUSD). The main idea behind our model is to take into account some past-dependent history (a.k.a. delay) of the variance process in its (risk-neutral) diffusion. We also focus on volatility swap pricing and hedging [3, 4].

- [1] S. Heston, A closed-form solution for options with stochastic volatility with applications to bond and currency options, Review of Financial Studies, 6, 327-343 (1993).
- [2] A. Swishchuk and N. Vadori, *Delayed Heston Model: Improvement of the Volatility Surface Fitting*, Wilmott Magazine, submitted (2012).
- [3] A. Swishchuk and N. Vadori, *Pricing and Hedging of Volatility Swap in the Delayed Heston Model: Part 2*, Wilmott Magazine, submitted (2012).
- [4] A. Swishchuk, *Modeling and Pricing of Swaps for Financial and Energy Markets with Stochastic Volatilities*. World Scientific, Singapore (2013).

Mathematics of Human Placenta: A Window into Fetal Origins of Adult Disease (SS-MHP)

Organizers: Carolyn Salafia (Placental Analytics) Oleksandr Shlakhter (Alberta Health Services) Michael Yampolsky (University of Toronto)

Understanding how developmental problems of the fetus affect adult health risks is an important public health goal. Human placenta faithfully reflects abnormalities of fetal growth. Modeling placental growth and quantifying its vascular structure is a rich subject offering many exciting mathematical problems. The goal of the session is to bring together mathematicians and medical scientists working in this field.

Metabolic Scaling Law for Mouse Fetal and Placental Weight

M. Gasperowicz¹, M. Yampolsky², C. M. Salafia³, J. C. Cross¹

¹ Department of Comparative Biology and Experimental Medicine, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, University of Calgary, Calgary, Canada, m.gasperowicz@tlen.pl

² Department of Mathematics, University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada, yampol@math.toronto.edu

³ Placental Analytics, LLC, Larchmont, NY, USA, carolyn.salafia@gmail.com

In humans the fetal birth weight does not scale linearly with the weight of the placenta, but exhibits an allometric scaling consistent with the Kleiber's metabolic scaling law, so that placenta weight (P) is proportional to the fetal birth weight (F) raised to the scaling exponent of 0.75 ($P \sim F^{0.75}$) (Refs. [1, 2]). The mouse is a common animal model for studying genetic and physiological backgrounds of placental development, function and pathologies. The most accessible values to evaluate function of mouse placenta in experimental conditions (at most gestational ages) are placental and fetal weights. However, to date it has not been known whether the normal relationship between placental and fetal weight in mouse is linear or not.

To answer this question, we analyzed 163 embryos and corresponding placentas from 12 embryonic day 12.5 litters of CD1 wild type mice. Here we show that the mouse mid-gestation placental weight has a power-law scaling relationship with the fetal weight, and the value of the scaling exponent is approximately 0.72, similarly to the scaling of placental and birth weights in humans. The scaling relationship in wild type mice allows us to quantify the deviation from normal placental structure and function in experimental models that study placental response to genetic changes and/or environmental cues. Moreover, combined with a thorough histological analysis it constitutes a useful tool providing a more complete picture of both functional and structural placental changes.

- [1] C.M. Salafia and M. Yampolsky, Metabolic Scaling Law for Fetus and Placenta, Placenta 30, pp. 468-471 (2009).
- [2] C.M. Salafia, D.P. Misra, M. Yampolsky, A.K. Charles and R.K. Miller, Allometric Metabolic Scaling and Fetal and Placental Weight, Placenta 30, pp. 355-360 (2009).

Modeling Oxygen Transport in the Inter-Villous Space of the Human Placenta

D. S. Grebenkov¹, A. S. Serov¹, C. Salafia², M. Filoche¹

¹ Laboratoire PMC, CNRS - École Polytechnique, 91128, Palaiseau Cedex, France, denis.grebenkov@polytechnique.edu

² Placental Analytics LLC, 93 Colonial Avenue, Larchmont, New York 10538, USA

The human placenta governs the exchange of oxygen, carbon dioxide, nutrients and water between the mother and the fetus. Due to its complex geometrical structure, both mathematical modeling and numerical simulations are required to describe the exchange processes going in it.

The maternal part of the human placenta is a blood basin into which maternal blood is delivered by spiral arteries and which is drained by maternal veins. The fetal part has a much more complicated tree-like structure which is immersed into the maternal blood basin anchoring to its basement and supporting the placenta shape. While fetal blood flows through capillaries inside the fetal villi, maternal blood percolates through the same arboreous structure on the outside. It is at the surface of this tree structure in its smallest parts that the exchange with the passing by maternal flow takes place.

The present model of a placental exchange unit consists of a large cylinder representing the intervillous space filled with maternal blood. This cylinder contains multiple smaller parallel cylinders which represent fetal villi. Although such geometrical representation might appear simple, it captures some important aspects of the role of the geometry in the system and shows directions for future development of the topic.

The flow of maternal blood in the model is oriented along the main axis of the system. In the perpendicular plane oxygen is only redistributed by molecular diffusion. Uptake takes place at the boundaries of the small cylinders. Its rate is proportional to the membrane permeability and to the oxygen concentration in the maternal region. The flow is considered to be laminar with slip condition on all boundaries, so that the velocity profile in a cylinder cross-section plane is flat. No account for oxygenhemoglobin reaction curve or fetal blood flows is given.

The main questions that we address in this study are: (i) Is there an "optimal" villous tree geometry (in a sense to be defined)? (ii) What are the important parameters which influence oxygen transfer efficiency?

Numerical and theoretical calculations of fetal oxygen uptake as a function of the density of the villi show the existence of a maximal uptake at a density of the villi of around 50 %. Comparison of the result with histomorphometric studies shows a good correlation with the experimental data relative to the biological variance and errors. The influence of the choice of physiological parameters such as blood flow velocity on the position of the maximum peak is also studied.

Human Placenta - The Interface for Two Vascular Systems

Richard K. Miller¹

¹ Departments of Obstetrics/Gynecology, Environmental Medicine and Pathology/Clinical Laboratory Medicine, University of Rochester School of Medicine and Dentistry, Rochester, New York, USA

The human placenta goes through a complex developmental sequence from implantation to delivery. Many have suggested that the developmental patterns have similarities to the fetal organs under development. The role of oxygen, nutrients and cytokines/chemokines will be examined as well the vascular responses in the term human placenta under in vitro dual perfusions. Studies of both the early and term responses of the placenta will be discussed and possible roles for vascular pattern development and function using albunex, nanoparticles and IgGs.

Translating Measures of Placental Shape into Predictors of Infant and Childhood Health

D.P. Misra¹, C. Salafia², M. Yampolsky³, A. Shlakhter³

¹ Wayne State University School of Medicine, Detroit, MI, USA, dmisra@med.wayne.edu

² Placental Analytics, LLC, Larchmont, NY, carolyn.salafia@gmail.com

³ University of Toronto, yampol@math.toronto.edu, shlakht@mie.utoronto.ca

Our multidisciplinary team draws on the disciplines of mathematics, physics, pathology, and epidemiology in studying the role of placental shape as a predictor of infant and child health outcomes. Our work has collectively demonstrated that more nuanced and quantified measures of the placenta, derived from principles of mathematical and physical modeling, can predict a range of infant and childhood outcomes. From my perspective as an epidemiologist, I will describe the methods of data collection and analysis used by our team to study the effects of placental shape on outcomes. I will "translate" the measures of shape of the placenta as developed by the team and review our findings to date that link these measures to later health outcomes. Potential mechanisms for the associations between the placenta and health outcomes will also be discussed.

Why placental shape matters: a research trajectory

Salafia C., Yampolsky M., Misra D., Miller R., Schwartz N.

The last 7 years have seen an explosion in the ability to measure the placenta and from those measures, understand its growth in health and disease. A summary of highlights of analyses based on standard ruler-based placental measures, and image based novel approaches will be distributed at the session.

Chorionic vascular surface network analyses and their implications for placental function and fetal health will be discussed.

We have recently completed novel analyses of the chorionic surface vasculature in 33 Early Autism Risk Longitudinal Investigation (EARLI, high-autism risk) placentas compared 76 unselected National Children's Study (NCS) placentas. In summary, EARLI placentas as a group show significant placental chorionic surface vascular network differences, including reduced number of chorionic surface vascular branch generations, branch and terminal vascular points and reduced mean vessel caliber as compared to NCS placentas. In addition, in EARLI placentas as a group, chorionic surface arteries, but not chorionic surface veins, terminate further from the surface perimeter, and have greater variability in that distance, and the distances between chorionic surface arteries and chorionic surface veins throughout their course on the chorionic surface are both greater and have greater variability. Below left is an "average" NCS placental surface vascular network, center an EARLI placental surface vascular network 1SD above the mean surface vascular density, and right, an "average" EARLI placental surface vascular network. The implications for ASD and for other fetal, childhood and adult health risks will be discussed.

We have also demonstrated increased irregularity of placental chorionic surface shape, with umbilical cord insertion sites located closer to the placental chorionic surface perimeter (more eccentric umbilical cord insertions, Table 2). Our empirical models and direct research indicate that these features have their origin before the mid trimester.

Below left is an "average" NCS placental surface vascular network, center an EARLI placental surface vascular network 1SD above the mean surface vascular density, and right, an "average" EARLI placental surface vascular network.



Is the placental disk really an ellipse?

O. Shlakhter¹, M. Yampolsky², C.M. Salafia³, D.P. Misra⁴

¹ Alberta Health Services, Canada, Oleksandr.Shlakhter@albertahealthservices.ca ² University of Toronto, Canada, yampol@math.utoronto.ca

³ PlacentalAnalytics, LLC, Larchmont, NY, USA, carolyn.salafia@gmail.com

⁴ Wavne State University, Detroit, MI, USA, dmisra@med.wayne.edu

The mean surface shape of placenta is round and common abnormalities of shape are associated with vascular abnormalities and reduced placental functional efficiency. A long-standing approach is to describe shapes as elliptic, and to quantify them by "length" and "breadth". We test this description in two cohorts: National Collaborative Perinatal Project and Pregnancy, Infection and Nutrition Study. We conclude that quantifying placental shape as elliptic is ambiguous and problematic. The "breadth" of the placenta should be interpreted as a combination of two different measurements: placental size and irregularity of the placental surface. It has no intrinsic functional significance.
Optimal transport and the placenta

Qinglan Xia¹, Carolyn Salafia², Simon Morgan³

¹ University of California at Davis, Davis, CA, qlxia@math.ucdavis.edu

² Placental Analytics, LLC

³ Los Alamos National Laboratory, Los Alamos, NM, USA, morga084@gmail.com

The optimal transportation problem aims at finding an optimal way to transport a given probability measure into another. In contrast to the well-known Monge-Kantorovich problem, the ramified optimal transportation problem aims at modeling a branching transport network by an optimal transport path between two given probability measures. Transport networks with branching structures are observable not only in nature as in trees, blood vessels, river channel networks, lightning, etc. but also in efficiently designed transport systems such as used in railway configurations and postage delivery networks. An important feature of such a transport path is to favor transportation in groups via a nonlinear (typically concave) cost function on mass. An optimal transport path can be viewed as a geodesic in the space of probability measures with a suitable metric. It typically has a tree-shaped branching structure.

The goal of this talk is to introduce the use of ramified optimal transport modeling in studying the expected effects of (i) placental size, (ii) placental shape and (iii) the position of insertion of the umbilical cord on the work done by the foetus' heart in pumping blood across the placenta. We simulate a vascular tree structure, for each placenta, in a simplified form by an idealized optimal transport network. The computer algorithm finds a nearly optimal transport network for the data provided for each placenta. A typical one is similar to the left one of Figure 1.



Figure 1: Examples of modeling blood vessels of a placenta by a nearly optimal transport network; The left one is uniformly distributed, while the right one is randomly distributed

For each placenta a total transport cost, based on all measurements, (i),(ii), and (iii), is given by the model. This computed cost is highly correlated with measured birth weight, placenta weight, FPR and the metabolic scaling factor beta. Also a shape factor is given by the model which would be the total transport cost if a placenta were rescaled to have a unit area chorionic plate. This shape factor is also highly correlated with birth weight, and after adjustment for placental weight, is highly correlated with the metabolic scaling factor beta.

Mathematical Immunology and Pathogen Dynamics (SS-MIPD)

Organizers: Jane Heffernan (York University)

The immune system offers a sophisticated, natural and arguably the most reliable defense mechanism against many infectious diseases. Major advances in knowledge of the organization and function of the immune system and its interactions with infectious pathogens have been made very recently. Yet, significant gaps in knowledge continue to exist. While experimental research has made outstanding contributions by identification and physical characterization of the key components of immune system and their mutual interactions, an understanding of their dynamical behavior as these relate to suppression or persistence of an infection remains limited. Mathematical modelling of the immune system and pathogen dynamics has recently emerged as a major field of study (in the past few decades) and holds great promise in providing new insights into the dynamical processes intrinsic to mechanism and control of infectious diseases. This session includes studies of immune system and pathogen dynamics which contribute to the understanding of immune system protection against infectious diseases, and/or mechanisms and characteristics of pathogens enabling immune escape.

The known unknowns and the unknown unknowns

C.A.A. Beauchemin

Ryerson University, Toronto, Canada, cbeau@ryerson.ca http://phymbie.physics.ryerson.ca

From viral infections we get data. Around the data we build models. Then we squeeze these models to fit through the data... what have we learned? A lot, hopefully. This is a tale of what we have learned by fitting mathematical and computational models to data describing the time course of viral infections within a person (in vivo) or cell culture (in vitro), primarily from influenza infections. But it is also a cautionary tale of the things we missed, hiding in the dark corners of our analyses, from which we can also learn a lot.

Immunology and the Dynamics of Hepatitis Delta Virus Infection

J. Forde¹

¹ Hobart and William Smith College, Geneva, New York, USA, forde@hws.edu

Hepatitis Delta Virus (HDV) is a dependent satellite virus of the more common Hepatitis B Virus. HDV encodes only one protein of its own, relying on HBV to supply the additional proteins needed for its replication cycle. The two viral infections interact direct in host cells and indirectly via their influence on the immune system, producing a variety of different dynamical behaviors, ranging from wide oscillations to clearance. In this talk I present a model for the interactions of HBV, HDV and the immune reactions to each. Using this model, I explore how immune factors can influence the course of co-infection, and the consequences this has for patient symptoms and treatment options.

Dynamics of In-host Malaria Model

A. Gumel and A. Niger

University of Manitoba, gumelab@cc.umanitoba.ca

The talk is based on the design and qualitative analysis of a new model for the dynamics between the malaria parasite and the immune system within an infected human host. The model, which incorporates multiple stages of the malaria parasite life-cycle, immune cells and antibodies, is used to assess the potential impact of a future anti-malaria vaccine. Conditions for the existence and asymptotic stability of the associated equilibria are derived. It is shown that a malaria vaccine that reduces the number of *merozoites* and boosts immune response will be quite effective in reducing the concentration of infected red blood cells in the host.

Linking immunology and epidemiology: dynamics of human rhinovirus in an immune-structured host population

S.M. Laverty¹

¹ University of Central Oklahoma, Edmond, OK, USA. slaverty@uco.edu

We develop, present, and analyze an immunoepidemiological model consisting of a mixed system of ordinary differential equations and partial-integrodifferential equations with nonlocal boundary conditions, used to track spread of infection in host structured by a continuously varying immune status. In particular, we focus on the generation of immunity upon infection, the maintenance of immunity within individuals by repeated exposure, and the combined effects of these on population-level transmission. We illustrate the equilibrium distribution of hosts with respect to their immune status for a variety of immune system parameters, such as the strength of the immune response and its waning rate. We highlight features of the system that promote sustained endemic oscillations, and discuss potential implications of oscillations with respect to public health and individual disease severity.

We have extended this framework to study a host population exposed to a diverse community of partiallycross-reactive co-circulating viruses, specifically the human rhinoviruses. With respect to the conditions mentioned above (generation and maintenance of immunity), we discuss implications of infection transmission in immunologically-structured hosts on viral dynamics and diversity. In particular, we focus on the distinction between the major and minor group rhinoviruses, and illustrate how the strength and specificity of the immune response shapes long-term dynamics and viral diversity.

Modeling within-host dynamics of influenza virus infection

Libin Rong¹

¹ Oakland University, Michigan, USA, rong2@oakland.edu

Influenza, commonly referred to as the flu, is a contagious respiratory illness caused by influenza virus infections. Although most infected subjects with intact immune systems are able to clear the virus without developing serious flu complications, the mechanism underlying viral control is not fully understood. I will address this by reviewing existing models and presenting a new model including immune responses. I will discuss the relative roles of target cell availability, and innate and adaptive immune responses in controlling the virus. I will also discuss combination therapy for influenza.

The importance of cell-to-cell transmission during the acute stage of HIV infection

C. Wells¹, S. Kleinstein^{2,3}, A. Perelson⁴ and A. Galvani¹

¹ Department of Epidemiology of Microbial Diseases, Yale School of Public Health, New Haven, Connecticut, USA

² Interdepartmental Program in Computational Biology and Bioinformatics, Yale University, New Haven, Connecticut, USA

³ Department of Pathology, Yale University School of Medicine, New Haven, Connecticut, USA

⁴ Theoretical Biology and Biophysics Group, Los Alamos National Laboratory, Los Alamos, New Mexico, USA

HIV has a number of escape routes when it comes to avoiding the immune system and minimizing the effects of drug therapy, one of the most effective and efficient ways is cell-to-cell transmission. Cell-to-cell transmission protects the virus from the external cellular elements, such as antibody, which would otherwise neutralize it.

Previous models assumed cell-to-cell transmission occurs through mass action mixing or have modelled cell-to-cell transmission with a cellular automaton or agent based model. In epidemiology, the contact network plays a key role in how the disease spreads throughout a population. With cells naturally forming connections between one another a network structure is formed for cell-to-cell transmission to occur, which is overlooked if mass-action mixing is assumed. Cellular automata and agent based models are able to capture and depict realistic within host dynamics; however, due to their extreme complexity it is often difficult to understand the underlying dynamics which are the main cause of the observed results.

We have coupled a meta-population model with a pair approximation model to capture the spatial dynamics and the network structure required for cell-to-cell transmission. The meta-population is separated into two separate regions: the overlying homogeneous system which represents the peripheral blood stream and the underlying spatial system which represents the various lymphatic regions. The objective of our model is to understand the importance of cell-to-cell transmission during the acute stage of HIV infection and the impact cell-to-cell transmission has on the effectiveness of drug therapy.

A study of recurrent infection in deterministic in-host models

W. Zhang¹, L. Wahl², P. Yu³

¹²³Western University, London, Canada¹ wzhan88@uwo.ca² lwahl@uwo.ca³ pyu@uwo.ca

In latent virus infection, no clinical signs nor detectable infectious cells can be observed during the silent stage of low-level viral replication. However, the virus has not been completely cleared, and recurrent episodes of rapid viral production and release can periodically punctuate relatively long periods in the silent stage. These episodes of recurrent infection are a clinical phenomenon observed in many latent infections [1]; human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), for instance, can be suppressed by highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) to below the limit of detection for months or years. Moreover, these long periods of relative quiescence are typically interrupted by unexplained intermittent episodes of viremia above the detectable limit, termed viral blips [2, 3]. To date, many possible explanations for viral blips during HIV infection have been explored mathematically, for example coupled deterministic-stochastic models [4], stochastic models [5], or ODE models with an "on-off" forcing function [3, 2], which can then be explored numerically to simulate viral blips. Although numerical simulation has been invaluable in describing and delineating the behaviour of these models, there is yet very little analytical work exploring the mathematical underpinnings of recurrent infection (or viral blips).

In this talk, we take advantage of dynamical systems theory to reinvestigate a 4-dimensional HIV antioxidanttherapy model [6] which exhibits viral blips, and show that an increasing, saturating infectivity function may contribute to the recurrent behaviour of the model. We then propose four conditions for the existence of viral blips in a deterministic in-host infection model. We use these conditions to derive the simplest (2- and 3-dimensional) infection model which produces viral blips, and determine the complete parameter range for the 3-dimensional model in which blips are possible, using stability analysis. We also use these conditions to demonstrate that lowdimensional in-host models with linear or constant infectivity functions cannot generate viral blips. Further, we find that a 5-dimensional immunological model satisfies the conditions and exhibits recurrent infection even with constant infectivity; thus, an increasing, saturating infectivity is not necessary if the model is sufficiently complex.

- [1] W. Yao, L. Hertel, and L. M. Wahl. Dynamics of recurrent viral infection. *Proceedings of the Royal Society Biological Sciences*, 273(1598):2193–2199, 2006.
- [2] L. Rong and A. S. Perelson. Modeling latently infected cell activation: viral and latent reservoir persistence, and viral blips in HIV-infected patients on potent therapy. *PLoS Computational Biology*, 5(10):e1000533, 2009.
- [3] L. Rong and A. S. Perelson. Asymmetric division of activated latently infected cells may explain the decay kinetics of the HIV-1 latent reservoir and intermittent viral blips. *Mathematical Biosciences*, 217(1):77–87, 2009.
- [4] C. Fraser, N. M. Ferguson, F. de Wolf, and R. M. Anderson. The role of antigenic stimulation and cytotoxic T cell activity in regulating the long-term immunopathogenesis of HIV: mechanisms and clinical implications. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 268(1481):2085–2095, 2001.
- [5] J. M. Conway and D. Coombs. A stochastic model of latently infected cell reactivation and viral blip generation in treated HIV patients. *PLoS Computational Biology*, 2011.
- [6] R. D. van Gaalen and L. M. Wahl. Reconciling conflicting clinical studies of antioxidant supplementation as HIV therapy: a mathematical approach. *BMC Public Health*, 9(Suppl. 1):1–18, 2009.

Modeling HIV-1 virus dynamics with both virus-to-cell infection and cell-to-cell transmission

Xiulan Lai¹, Xingfu Zou¹

¹ Department of Applied Mathematics, University of Western Ontario, London, Ontario, Canada, N6A 5B7

Direct cell-to-cell transmission of HIV-1 is found to be a more potent and efficient means of virus spread than the virus-to-cell infection mode, but has been overlooked in existing models. In this talks, I will present a mathematical model to include these two modes of viral infection and spread, in which infection age is also incorporated. Analysis shows that the model demonstrates a global threshold dynamics, fully described by the basic reproduction number, which is identified explicitly. The formula for the basic reproduction number turns out to be in the form of superposition relation with the respective basic reproduction numbers due to the two modes separately, not only reveals that the basic reproduction number of a model that neglects either the cell-to-cell spread or virus-to-cell infection is under-evaluated, but also tells precisely by how much it is under-evaluated. We also discuss the implications of our theoretical results which can explain, to some extent, the recent experimental findings by Sigal et al [Nature, 477(2011), 95-98] that cell-to-cell transfer of HIV-1 can lead to multiple infections per cell which may reduce the efficacy of antiretroviral therapy and permit ongoing replication.

Mathematical Models for Nanoscience and Nanotechnology (SS-MMNN)

Organizers: Z.L. Miskovic (University of Waterloo) A.H. Majedi (University of Waterloo)

Nanoscience may be defined as confluence of concepts and methods from the traditional areas of Science and Engineering towards applications in Nanotechnology. Mathematical modeling in this interdisciplinary context has become a broadly based and exciting endeavor that helps understand phenomena at the nanoscale. This session aims at providing examples of mathematical models for problems of current interest in Nanoscience and Nanotechnology.

Substrate Structure Effects on Electrical Properties of Graphene

<u>R. Anicic¹</u>, Z. Miskovic¹

¹ Department of Applied Mathematics, University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada ranicic@uwaterloo.ca

Graphene is a new material, which promises to revolutionize the semiconductor industry. The properties of this two dimensional allotrope of carbon has applications in THz radiation receivers, bio-sensors, transistors, ultracapacitors, and many more devices. Its two dimensional nature gives tremendous sensitivity to its surroundings which increases its applicable nature. However, this sensitivity comes with a price. The material surrounding graphene has to be free of defects and impurities for suitable integration with graphene. In most cases this is impossible, as long-range scattering defects are present in all materials. Charge impurities in the substrate, which cause long-range scattering in the graphene sheet, affect the conductivity and the distribution of charge carriers in graphene.

It is theorized that charge impurities in the substrate cause nonzero conductivity in graphene even when there are no charge carriers present in the graphene sheet [1]. This has been attributed to the impurities in the substrate which cause the formation of electron-hole puddles in graphene [2]. The electron-hole puddles exhibit length correlation which have been observed experimentally [3]. There is a slight asymmetry in the conductivity of graphene around the Dirac point for electron and hole doping. Cause of this affect has still not been resolved but we have evidence to believe it comes from dipole moments associated with impurities.

In our work we will show how a finite size of the dielectric substrate could enhance the minimum conductivity of graphene and how dipole impurities in the substrate could cause an asymmetric conductivity around the Dirac point. Also we will show how correlated impurities in the substrate give rise to electron-hole puddle formation in graphene. For this we will use a two dimensional hard-disk model for the spatial correlation among the impurities. All these results will be derived using semi-classical electron transport theory and statistical mechanics. We will compare our theoretical results of the conductivity and potential correlation in the graphene sheet with recent experimental results.

- S. Adam, E. H. Hwang, V. M. Galitski, S. Das Sarma, A self-consistent theory for graphene transport, PNAS, 47, 104, 18392-18397 (2007)
- [2] A. Yacoby, et al., *Observation of electron-hole puddles in graphene using a scanning single-electron transistor*, Nature Phys. 4, 144 (2008).
- [3] A. Castellanos-Gomez, R. Smit, N. Agrait, G. Rubio-Bollinger, Spatially resolved electronic inhomogeneities of graphene due to subserface charges, Carbon 50, 932-938 (2012)

Effect of Microwave and Terahertz Radiation on Superconducting Nanowires

A. Jafari-Salim, A. Eftekharian, H. Majedi

Univessity of Wateroo, Waterloo, Canada, {ajafaris, aoeftekh, ahmajedi}@uwterloo.ca Institute for Quantum Computing (IQC), Waterloo, Canada

In this talk, we will discuss the effect of the Microwave and Terahertz radiation on Superconducting Nanowires. Theoretical and Experimental results on the on-chip generation and detection of Microwave and Terahertz radiation will be presented. We will also argue that the radiation from adjacent elements in a multi-element Superconducting Nanowire Single Photon Detectors (SNSPD) can decrease the quantum efficiency in photon detection. We will compare our results with the previous work on multi-element SNSDPs, where they observed negligible effect due to adjacent elements (see Ref [1]).

Reference

Dauler, E.A.; Robinson, B.S.; Kerman, A.J.; Yang, Joel K W; Rosfjord, K.M.; Anant, V.; Voronov,
B.; Gol'tsman, G.; Berggren, K.K., "Multi-Element Superconducting Nanowire Single-Photon
Detector," Applied Superconductivity, IEEE Transactions on , vol.17, no.2, pp.279,284, June 2007.

Spectra of Few-body complexes in Quantum Dot Molecules

M. Khoshnegar^{1,2}, <u>A. J. Salim^{1,2}</u>, A. H. Majedi^{1,2}

¹ University of Waterloo, Canada, {m3khoshn,ahmajedi}@uwaterloo.ca
² Institute for Quantum Computing, Waterloo, Canada

Entanglement is the most peculiar yet realizable manifestation of quantum physics. During the past decade, low-dimensional quantum confined systems have shown promising features toward actualizing on-demand sources of entangled particles. However, in order to observe such a delicate phenomenon, highest control in initialization, manipulation and readout of the quantum states is necessary. In this context, high fidelity entanglement between spin and photon, or between flying photon pairs, has not been achieved yet.

The ground state excitonic transitions in quantum dots (QDs) are known as potential sources of polarizationentangled photons [1]. In this work, we analyse the few-particle excitonic complexes localized in a double quantum dot. We particularly demonstrate how in QD molecules (QDM) the formation of different configurations of complexes relies on few-body interactions when the single particles are Coulomb-correlated. Our results explain how the hybridized states in QDM may provide energy coincidence between different spectral features, which is the primary requisite for generating entangled photon states.

Our calculations comprise almost all the relevant effects influencing the energy fine structure of a typical QD, including strain, piezoelectricity, spin-orbit interaction and band mixing along with exchange and correlation energies [2]. To account for the few-body correlations we utilize Configuration Interaction (CI) method. Our CI model benefits from the underlying band structure and the single particle orbitals solved via multi-band *k.p* theory developed for III-V materials in zinc-blende phase [3].

In the final step, we examine how electric and magnetic fields parallel and perpendicular to the QD quantization axis could tailor the tunnelling matrix element and energy fine structure of favourable excitonic complexes in QDM. These external fields, simultaneously applied on the QDM, provide controllability of spectral features with hight energy resolution.

- [1] O. Benson, C. Santori, M. Pelton, and Y. Yamamoto, Phys. Rev. Lett. 84, 2513 (2000).
- [2] M. Khoshnegar, and A. Majedi, Single- and few-particle states in core-shell nanowire quantum dots, Phys. Rev. B 86, 205318 (2012).
- [3] T. B. Bahder, Eight band k.p model of strained zinc-blende crystals, Phys. Rev. B 41, 11992 (1990).

An integral equation solver for the simulation of two-dimensional metallic nanoplasmonics

H. Kurkcu^{1,2}, F. Reitich³

¹ Gulf University of Science and Technology, Mishref, Kuwait, {kurkcu.h}@gust.edu.kw

³ School of Mathematics, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, Mn 55455, USA {reitich}@math.umn.edu

Nanoplasmonics forms a major part of the field of nanophotonics, which explores how electromagnetic fields can be confined over dimensions on the order of or smaller than the wavelength. Initiated in 1902 by R.W. Wood [1] with the discovery of grating anomalies, this phenomenon has attracted significant attention over the last hundred years [1, 2, 3]. Mie in 1908 gave a mathematical description of light scattering from spherical particles of sizes comparable to the wavelength [2], describing an effect that will come to be known as localized surface plasmons in the context of nanoplasmonics. It is based on interaction processes between electromagnetic radiation and conduction electrons at metallic interfaces or in small metallic nanostructures, leading to an enhanced optical near-field of sub-wavelength dimension.

All of the phenomena mentioned above are based entirely on classical electromagnetics, and thus can be mathematically described by Maxwell's equations. Here in this talk, integral-equation formulation will be given for an infinitely periodic metal surface whose period d is on the nanometer scale. The metal is assumed to extend infinitely below the surface, while a dielectric material extends infinitely above the surface.



Figure 1: Here we provide numerical results for the sinusoidal gold grating for the incidence angle $\theta = 29^{\circ}$. Left: The error on a logarithmic scale for the convergence of the total field and its normal derivative on the surface of the grating. Middle: Real part Right: intensity of the scattered field above and below of the grating.

- [1] R. W. Wood, On a remarkable case of uneven distribution of light in a diffraction grating spectrum, Philos. Mag. 4, 396-402 (1902).
- [2] G. Mie, Contributions to the optics of turbid media, particularly of colloidal metal solutions, 25, vol. 3, no. Annalen der Physik, pp. 377-445, 1908.
- [3] Fano U., *The theory of anomalous diffraction gratings and of quasi-stationary waves on metallic surfaces (Sommerfeld's waves)*, Journal of the Optical Society of America 31, 213-222 1941.

² TOBB Economy and Technology University, Sögütözü, Ankara 06560, Turkey

Tackling Surface Roughness in Graphene Plasmonics

K. Lyon¹, Z. Miskovic²

¹ University of Waterloo, Department of Applied Mathematics, Canada, klyon@uwaterloo.ca

² University of Waterloo, Department of Applied Mathematics, Canada, zmiskovi@math.uwaterloo.ca

Plasmons are collective oscillations of electron density, and they have found much use in modern electronics and sensing because of their confinement of electromagnetic radiation to dimensions smaller than their wavelength. Graphene, a two-dimensional carbon lattice, has the ability to tune and adjust these plasmons with a great deal of versatility. Combining the two has led to the field of *graphene plasmonics* (Ref. [1]). The effect of surface roughness in both the graphene and its substrate is essential to achieving the fine tuning required of these plasmons and is the subject of this research.

By modelling the substrate as a randomly rough surface with graphene on top, the graphene can be treated with a two-dimensional Vlasov equation. This problem can be rephrased in terms of a random operator equation, and projection operator methods can be used to see how the plasmon frequency (given by charge carriers in the substrate's dielectric constant) depends on roughness parameters like mean square deviation, transverse correlation length and the height of graphene above the substrate. The graphene acts by inducing an image potential in the substrate, hence affecting its own plasmon modes (Ref. [2]).

Preliminary results show roughness yields a small increase in the plasmon frequency, with changing frequencies depending on the degree of roughness in both the graphene (due to local curvature of its surface) and the substrate (natural roughness of metals and insulators). Its small effect can help optical circuit designers optimize the type of surface needed to subtend graphene, and to intentionally have rougher surfaces in order to induce higher frequency plasmons.

- [1] Grigorenko, A. N. and Polini, M. and Novoselov, K. S., Graphene plasmonics, Nature Photonics 11, 6, pp. 749-758 (2012).
- [2] Rahman, Talat S. and Maradudin, Alexei A., *Effect of surface roughness on the image potential*, Phys. Rev. B 21, 2, pp. 504-521 (1980).

Piezo-electromechanical effects in embedded nanowire superlattices

Sanjay Prabhakar¹, Roderick Melnik^{1,2} and Luis Bonilla²

M²NeT Laboratory, Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, ON, N2L 3C5 Canada,
² Gregorio Millan Institute, Universidad Carlos III de Madrid, 28911, Leganes, Spain

Modifications of the band diagram of semiconductor nanostructures by utilizing current state of the art in nanotechnology are of great interest fto photonics, light emitting diodes and other optoelectronic devices. In this contribution, we investigate the influence of piezo-electromechanical effects on the band structures of electron (hole) states of GaN nanowire supperlattices (NWSLs) embedded into an AlN matrix. We develop a multiscale multiphysics simulation strategy based on the Finite Element Method and solve the coupled strain dependent 8band $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$ Hamiltonian model in 3D Cartesian coordinates. We focus our study on the barrier localization of electron (hole) states of wurtzite AlN/GaN SLs structure. Several parameters such as lattice mismatch, piezoelectric fields, valence and conduction band offsets at the heterojunction of Al_xGa_{1-x}N/GaN SLs can be varied as a function of the Al mole fraction. When the band offsets at the heterojunction of Al_xGa_{1-x}N/GaN are very small and the influence of the electromechanical effects can be minimized, then the barrier material can no longer be treated as an infinite potential well. In this situation, it is possible to visualize the penetration of the Bloch wave function into the barrier material that provides a quantitative estimation of the critical radius in such NWSLs. In this case, the NWSLs can act as an inversion layer.

Representative plots of probability distributions of electrons and holes are shown in Fig. 1(a). Since, we do not include the piezo-electromechanical effects in the first instance (1(a,b)), we find that the electron and hole wavefunctions are localized at the center of the nanowire SLs. Next, we reduce the Al mole fraction in Al_xGa_{1-x}N/GaN NWSLs which leads to the reduction in the band offsets. In this situation, the influence of piezo-electromechanical effects is minimized and the penetration of electron (hole) wavefunctions can be seen to the barrier materials. Thus the barrier materials act an inversion layer. These results are shown in Fig. 1 (c).



Figure 1: Modeling of the distributions of electron and hole densities in AlN/GaN/AlN superlattices. Upper panel shows the ground state wavefunctions and lower panel shows the first excited state wavefunctions.

- [1] Sanjay Prabhakar, Roderick V.N. Melnik, Pekka Neittaanmäki and Timo Tiihonen, *Coupled electromechanical effects in wurtzite quantum dots with wetting layers in gate controlled electric fields: The multiband case*, Physica E **46**, pp. 97-104 (2012).
- [2] Sanjay Prabhakar, Roderick V.N. Melnik and Luis L. Bonilla, *Coupled multiphysics, barrier localization, and critical radius effects in embedded nanowire superlattices*, in preparation.

Effects of finite ion size and dielectric saturation of water in electrolytically top-gated graphene

P. Sharma¹ and Z. L. Miskovic²

¹ Department of Applied Mathematics, University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, p36sharm@uwaterloo.ca

² Department of Applied Mathematics, University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, zmiskovi@uwaterloo.ca

Interactions of graphene with an electrolyte are cardinal to its applications to chemical and biological sensors, where graphene operates in the configuration of a field-effect-transistor (FET) with its surface exposed to a liquid containing mobile ions, whereas the applied gate potential controls the current through graphene. While carbon nanotubes have been thoroughly investigated in this context, studies on utilizing graphene as biochemical sensor have only recently begun to appear. The top gating of graphene FETs with liquid electrolyte also exhibits numerous merits for nano-electronic applications in comparison to the conventional back gating with a metallic electrode.

Recently, we have modeled [1] electrolytically top-gated graphene taking into consideration nonlinear polarization of graphene and the ion crowding effect [2] in the nearby electrolyte due to steric effects, i.e., the effects of finite size of dissolved ions. In that regime, we used a series combination of the capacitance of double layer in electrolyte and quantum capacitance of graphene [3]. Because such applications are dealing with relatively large potential drops across double layer and correspondingly large charge carrier densities in graphene, it is crucial to also take into account dielectric saturation of the solvent (in our case water) in strong electric field near the surface of graphene. In addition, we want to retain the steric effects in our model to be able to describe situations with high ion concentrations. To describe those effects we use two models: Booth model for dielectric saturation [4] and Bikerman model for steric effects [5]. Hence, we bring forth an improved model by blending steric effects and dielectric saturation of water and incorporating them into modified Poisson-Boltzmann equation.

- [1] Z. L. Miskovic and N. Upadhyaya, Modeling Electrolytically Top-Gated Graphene, Nanoscale Res. Lett. 5, pp. 505-511 (2010).
- [2] M. Z. Bazant, M. S. Kilic, B. D. Storey, and A. Ajdari, *Towards an understanding of induced-charge electrokinetics at large applied voltages in concentrated solutions*, Advances in Colloid and Interface Science **152**, pp. 48-88 (2009).
- [3] A. J. Bard and L. R. Faulkner, Electrochemical Methods: Fundamentals and Applications, 2nd ed., Willey, New York (2001).
- [4] F. Booth, The dielectric constant of water and the saturation effect, J. Chem. Phys. 19, pp. 391-394 (1951).
- [5] J. J. Bikerman, Structure and capacity of the electrical double layer, Philos. Mag. 33, pp. 384-397 (1942).

Multitaper Spectrum Estimation, Prolate Spheroidal Wave Functions, Quadratic-Inverse, and Related Problems (SS-MSEPSW)

Organizers: Wesley Burr (Queen's University) Charlotte Haley (Queen's University) David J. Thomson (Queen's University)

Since its invention in 1982, the multitaper spectrum estimation tool has become an integral part of signal processing. The underlying theory of the multitaper relies heavily on the Prolate Spheroidal Wave Functions and Sequences (shortened to prolates), as explored by Slepian, Pollak and Landau. This mini-symposium is intended to serve two purposes. The first is to explore the development and application of the multitaper tool to diverse scientific fields, especially those involving nonlinear and nonstationary data sets. The second is to examine current research on prolates, especially (but not limited to) computational and algorithmic developments. Our hope is that the cross-fertilization between these two traditionally unrelated fields will spark new applications and research opportunities. We especially welcome talks on the theory and sampling properties of prolate-based and Quadratic-Inverse-type estimators.

Discrete Prolate Spheroidal Sequences as Filters in Generalized Additive Models

W.S. Burr¹

¹ Queen's University, Kingston, Canada, wburr@mast.queensu.ca

The Air Health Indicator is a joint Health Canada / Environment Canada initiative that seeks to model the Canadian national population health risk due to short-term (acute) effects of air pollution. The commonly accepted model in the field [1, 2] uses cubic spline-based temporal smoothers embedded in Generalized Additive Models [3] to account for seasonal and long-term variations in the response. From a spectral point of view, it is natural to think of these smooth, long-term variations as low-frequency components, and the temporal smoother as a digital filter.

Examining the frequency response of the filters typically used, we show that the performance leaves much to be desired. Adapting the discrete prolate spheroidal sequences [4] as filters, taking inspiration from their similar use in the *multitaper method* [5], we are able to significantly improve the frequency response of the smoother. We conclude with a discussion of the implications of this change for the desired outcome of estimating population health risk due to acute air pollution, and the computational concerns in using this algorithm.

This work was partially supported by Health Canada through contract #4500250926.

Key words: population health risk, Generalized Additive Models, smoothers, filters, prolates, multitaper

- [1] F. Dominici, J.M. Samet and S.L. Zeger, *Combining evidence on air pollution and daily mortality from the 20 largest US cities: a hierarchical modelling strategy*, J. R. Stat. Soc. A, *163*, n. 3, pp. 263–302. 2000. Wiley.
- R.D. Peng, F. Dominici and T.A. Louis, *Model choice in time series studies of air pollution and mortality*, J. R. Stat. Soc. A, 169, n. 2, pp. 179–2003. 2006. Wiley.
- [3] T.J. Hastie and R.J. Tibshirani, Generalized Additive Models, Chapman and Hall/CRC, London, 1990.
- [4] D. Slepian, Prolate Spheroidal Wave Functions, Fourier Analysis, and Uncertainty V: the Discrete Case, Bell System Technical Journal, 57, pp. 1371-1430. 1978. Available from http://www3.alcatel-lucent.com/bstj/vol57-1978/articles/bstj57-5-1371.pdf.
- [5] D.J. Thomson, Spectrum Estimation and Harmonic Analysis, Proceedings of the IEEE, 70, pp. 1055–1096. 1982. IEEE.

Signal and Spectral Estimation on a Sphere

F. J. Simons^{1,2}, A. Plattner¹

¹ Princeton University, Department of Geosciences {fjsimons,plattner}@princeton.edu

² Also with the Program in Applied & Computational Mathematics, Princeton University

We address the problem of estimating the spherical-harmonic coefficients (Problem I), and also the isotropic power spectrum (Problem II), of a scalar (and if time permits, also of a vectorial) signal from noise-contaminated data on a region of the unit sphere. As to Problem I, the estimation of potential fields such as the gravitational or magnetic potential at the surface of a spherical planet from noisy observations taken at an altitude over an incomplete portion of the globe is a classic example of an ill-posed inverse problem. We show that this potential-field estimation problem has deep-seated connections to Slepian's spatiospectral localization problem which seeks bandlimited spherical functions whose energy is optimally concentrated in some closed portion of the unit sphere. This allows us to formulate an alternative solution to the traditional damped least-squares spherical harmonic approach in geodesy, whereby the source field is now expanded in a truncated Slepian function basis set. We discuss the relative performance of both methods with regard to standard statistical measures such as bias, variance and mean squared error, and pay special attention to the algorithmic efficiency of computing the Slepian functions on the region complementary to the axisymmetric polar gap characteristic of satellite surveys. The ease, speed, and accuracy of our method make the use of spherical Slepian functions in earth and planetary geodesy practical. As to Problem II, three different methods of spectral estimation are considered: (i) the spherical analogue of the one-dimensional (1-D) periodogram, (ii) the maximum-likelihood method, and (iii) a spherical analogue of the 1-D multitaper method. The periodogram exhibits strong spectral leakage, especially for small regions of area $A \ll 4\pi$, and is generally unsuitable for spherical spectral analysis applications, just as it is in 1-D. The maximum-likelihood method is particularly useful in the case of nearly-whole-sphere coverage, $A \approx 4\pi$, and has been widely used in cosmology to estimate the spectrum of the cosmic microwave background radiation from spacecraft observations. The spherical multitaper method affords easy control over the fundamental trade-off between spectral resolution and variance, and is easily implemented regardless of the region size, requiring neither non-linear iteration nor large-scale matrix inversion. As a result, the method is ideally suited for most applications in geophysics, geodesy or planetary science, where the objective is to obtain a spatially localized estimate of the spectrum of a signal from noisy data within a pre-selected and typically small region.

Analysis of Multitaper Covariance and Autoregressive Spectral Estimates

Nurgun Erdol¹, Charles Cooper²

¹ Florida Atlantic University, Boca Raton, Florida, erdol@fau.edu

² Florida Atlantic University, Boca Raton, Florida, ccoope32@fau.edu

A seamless and smooth transition from nonparametric multitaper (MT) spectral estimation (SE) to autoregressive (AR) parametrization is made possible via autocorrelation estimates from multitapered data [1]. The autocorrelation estimates were shown [2] to be more compact and of lower variance than ordinary autocorrelation estimates. We derive the Cramer-Rao bounds of the autocorrelation estimates and compare them to the Capon estimation of the same [3]. The paper also analyses the effect of the MT covariance estimates on MTAR spectral estimates and provide examples from simulated test data as well as speech data.

- [1] N. Erdol and T. Gunes, *Multitaper Covariance Estimation and Spectral Denoising*, Thirty-Ninth Asilomar Conf. Signals, Systems and Computers. 1, pp. 1145-1147 (2005).
- [2] David J. Thomson, Some Comments on Multitaper Estimates of Autocorrealtion, Proceedings Statistical Signal Processing Workshop(SSP), pp. 656-659 (2012).
- [3] Li, H., Stoica, P. and Li, J., Capon Estimation of Covariance Sequences, Circuits, Systems and Signal Processing. Vol. 17, No.1, pp. 29-49, 1998.

Multitaper Smoothed Minimum Statistics Noise Power Estimation

Nurgun Erdol¹, Ricardo Castellanos², Hanqi Zhuang³

¹ Florida Atlantic University, Boca Raton, Florida, erdol@fau.edu

² Florida Atlantic University, Boca Raton, Florida, <u>reastel5@fau.edu</u>

³ Florida Atlantic University, Boca Raton, Florida, <u>zhuang@fau.edu</u>

Speech communication devices and digital hearing aids must perform in the presence of high levels of ambient noise. Speech enhancement is a denoising process where Wiener-like filters are developed that require the estimation of the background noise spectrum from an additive combination of speech and noise. To follow statistical variations over time, the processes must be performed over short and overlapping frames of data resulting in time varying filters and spectra. Tracking of non-stationary noise is a difficult task for single-microphone systems because of the shared characteristics of some speech segments and noise. The minimum statistics approach to noise power estimation relies on a biased estimate of the noise floor at a given frequency as the spectral minimum of a number of consecutive frames. The spectral sequence is smoothed by a recursive filter with time and frequency dependent parameters. The resulting estimate is biased toward lower values. The bias depends on the variance of the smoothed power and the smoothing filter coefficients which are empirically chosen.

We propose an alternative formulation to tracking the noise power that replaces the smoothing filter coefficients with MultiTaper Autoregressive filter coefficients. The resulting filter coefficients are derived from the data and show superior tracking of the time-variation of the spectra. The smoothed minimum spectrum output has low variance and low bias.

- R. Martin, Noise Power Spectral Density Estimation Based on Optimal Smoothing and Minimum Statistics. IEEE Transactions on Speech and Audio Processing. Vol. 9. pp. 504-512, Sept. 2003.
- [2] I. Cohen, Noise Spectrum Estimation in Adverse Environments: Improved Minima Controlled Recursive Averaging. IEEE Transactions on Speech and Audio Processing. Vol. 11. pp. 466-475, July 2001.
- [3] N. Erdol and T. Gunes, Multitaper Covariance Estimation and Spectral Denoising, Thirty-Ninth Asilomar Conf. Signals, Systems and Computers. 1, pp. 1145-1147 (2005).
- [4] David J. Thomson, Some Comments on Multitaper Estimates of Autocorrealtion, Proceedings Statistical Signal Processing Workshop(SSP), pp. 656-659 (2012).

Jackknifing Multitaper Autocorrelation Estimates

C.L. Haley¹, D.J. Thomson¹

¹ Queen's University, Kingston, Canada chaley@mast.queensu.ca

In this paper, we investigate the multitaper (MT) autocorrelation function (acf) estimator, which is defined as the inverse Fourier transform of the MT spectrum estimator. McWhorter and Scharf [1] have shown that estimates of the acf constructed using multiple windows possess three desirable properties which the conventional (Bartlett) acf does not, namely that they are (i) quadratic in the data (ii) nonnegative definite, and they have (iii) modulation covariance. It is also known that in comparison with the Bartlett acf, the "ringing sequence", or spectrum of the sequence of errors in the estimate of the acf, the MT estimator of autocorrelation damps more quickly to zero [2].

Various authors have attempted to quantify the improvement of the MT acf over the Bartlett estimate, e.g. [1, 3, 4]. Here, we show that because individual *eigencorrelation* estimates (acf estimates constructed with a single Slepian taper) are approximately uncorrelated (due to the orthogonality properties of the Slepian tapers) it is possible to construct a jackknifed estimate of acf variance. By means of a Fisher's Z transformation, the correlations become approximately normal, and thus can be used to calculate confidence intervals (CIs). The CIs can be carried through to the partial acf, and are useful to obtain error bounds on parametric spectra and prewhitening filters.



Figure 1: A 256-sample AR(2) example in which the Bartlett and MT autocovariances and spectra are plotted along with the MT CI.

- [1] L.T. McWhorter and L.L. Scharf, Multiwindow estimators of correlation, IEEE Trans. Signal Processing. 46, 2, pp. 440-448 (1998).
- [2] D.J. Thomson, Some comments on multitaper estimates of autocorrelation, in Proceedings of the Statistical Signal Processing Workshop (SSP) IEEE, Ann Arbor, USA, pp. 656-659 (2012).
- [3] A. Hanssen, On multitaper estimators for correlation, in Proc. Tenth IEEE Signal Processing Workshop, pp. 391-394, Pocono Manor, PA. IEEE Press (2000).
- [4] N. Erdöl and T. Günes, *Multitaper covariance estimation and spectral denoising*, in *Circuits, Systems, and Computers*, pp. 1144-1147. IEEE Press (2005).

Paleoclimate time scale estimation using multitaper spectral methods

L. Hinnov¹, S. Meyers²

¹ Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, Maryland USA hinnov@jhu.edu

² University of Wisconsin, Madison, Wisconsin, USA smeyers@geology.wisc.edu

Geology is replete with long sedimentary sequences that were deposited in response to paleoclimate change. It is rare, however, that an adequate time scale is in attendance for accurate assessment of the recorded paleoclimate. Other problems include: variable sediment accumulation (time scale distortion); non-stationary climate signals; non-linear climate signals; noise interference; biased and/or truncated data sampling. Some frequency bands are associated with deterministic signals, notably Milankovitch cycles with line frequencies in the 10^{-4} to 10^{-6} /year band. This provides the singular opportunity to exploit Milankovitch cycles for tuning paleoclimate records. This tuning strategy has been used since the 1970's [1], but has often been criticized as subjective and prone to circular reasoning [2, 3]. This has motivated the development of objective approaches for estimating paleoclimate time scales, in which multitaper spectral methods have played a transformational role.

The simplest of these new approaches is "minimal tuning." The spectrum of a paleoclimatic signal is examined for significant lines, from which one is assumed to represent a Milankovitch term, e.g., the obliquity cycle. The line is examined and corrected for deviations from its expected frequency in an evolutionary analysis along the sequence. Application of multitaper harmonic analysis is central to the procedure. However, minimal tuning still contains a significant element of subjectivity. Thus, the "average spectral misfit (ASM)" procedure was developed to remove all decision-making from the tuning [4]. ASM relies on multitaper harmonic analysis to identify recorded lines, which are then statistically tested against model Milankovitch lines assuming different sediment accumulation rates. If a solution can be found, then other aspects about the paleoclimate record can be addressed, e.g., non-linearities or noise attributes. We apply these techniques to selected paleoclimate records of different geologic ages, and discuss pitfalls and future improvements.

- [1] J.D. Hays, J. Imbrie, N.J. Shackleton, Variations in the earth's orbit: pacemaker of the ice ages. Science, 194, pp. 1121–1132 (1976).
- [2] R.A. Muller, and G.J. MacDonald, Ice Ages and Astronomical Causes: Data, Spectral Analysis and Mechanisms. Springer-Praxis, Berlin (2000).
- [3] P. Huybers, C. Wunsch, A depth-derived Pleistocene age model: uncertainty estimates, sedimentation variability, and nonlinear climate change. Paleocean., 19, pp. 1028-1052 (2004).
- [4] S.R. Meyers, and B.B. Sageman, Quantification of deep-time orbital forcing by average spectral misfit. Amer. J. Sci., 307, pp. 773-792 (2007).

Estimating evoked brain connectivity with discrete prolate spheroidal stimulation

Kyle Q. Lepage¹, ShiNung Ching²

¹ Boston University, Boston, Mass., lepage@math.bu.edu

² MIT and Boston University, Boston, Mass., shinung@neurostat.mit.edu

Brain network connectivity has been inferred using passive measurements of ongoing activity across recording sites. With this paradigm it is difficult to determine how activity in one region induces activity in another. To obviate this issue, active brain stimulation has been employed, recently using a combination of adaptive stimulation and Bayesian network estimation [1, 2]. In these previous works, to separate the influence of one brain region upon another, only a single brain region is stimulated prior to each recording epoch. In the current, preliminary work, multiple brain regions are stimulated simultaneously with modulated discrete prolate spheroidal sequences of differing orders. By exploiting newly discovered and approximate orthogonality relations, the relative influence of each stimulated brain region upon every other brain region is separated – facilitating the use of more flexible cost functions for neural network discovery, tracking and control.

The talk begins with the description and characterization of the further orthogonality relations of the discrete prolate spheroidal sequences. Following a brief discussion of sequential, adaptive, neural evoked connectivity estimation, the proposed multi-region stimulation strategy is presented. The talk ends with a verification of the methodology on a Wilson-Cowan mean-field model of neural activity.

- [1] Kyle Q. Lepage*, ShiNung Ching*, and Mark A. Kramer. *Inferring evoked brain connectivity through adaptive perturbation*, Journal of Computational Neuroscience, *34*, n. 2, pp. 303–318. 2013.
- [2] Kyle Q. Lepage, Mark A. Kramer and ShiNung Ching. An active method for tracking connectivity in temporally changing brain networks, in IEEE-EMBC. 2013.

Spectral Coherence Evidence for Oceanic Control of Interannual Carbon Cycle Feedbacks

Jeffrey Park¹

¹ Department of Geology and Geophysics, Yale University

Large-scale carbon-cycle feedbacks within Earth's climate system can be inferred from the statistical correlation of atmospheric CO^2 and other climate observations. These statistical relationships can serve as validation targets for global carbon-cycle models. Multiple-taper coherence between atmospheric CO^2 measured at Mauna Loa, Hawaii, and Hadley Centre global-average temperatures changed in the late 20th century at interannual frequencies, from a 6-month time lag to a 90° phase lag that scaled CO^2 fluctuations to a time-integral of the globalaverage temperature anomaly. Wavelet coherence estimates argue that this change occurred with a recognized ocean-circulation climate transition during the late 1970s. The CO^2 -coherence phase differs with the source of the temperature measurement, in a way that indicates a close relationship with sea-surface temperature (SST). The latitude dependence of the leading principal component of interannual GLOBALVIEW CO^2 - variability suggests a terrestrial influence that is not linked to land temperatures. The correlation of terrestrial CO^2 variability with SST suggests a connection via moisture transport rather than with local warmth.

Multitaper Spectrum Estimation and Quadratic-Inverse Theory: from Conception to Present

David J. Thomson¹

¹ Queen's University, Kingston, Canada, djt@mast.queensu.ca

Multitaper spectrum estimation refers to a set of methods for estimating the power spectrum and, by extension, autocorrelations, coherences, and similar statistical descriptive functions of a time series by using several tapers on each data segment before taking Fourier transforms [1, 2]. The data tapers are usually *discrete prolate spheroidal sequences* [3], now called *Slepian sequences*, the eigenvectors of the finite Fourier transform. In this talk I review the development of these methods, including history, and describe some applications to climate.

The second part applies *Quadratic-inverse* theory to the solar wind. QI [4, 5] extends multitapering to orthogonal quadratic forms in the eigencoefficients that describe, *e.g.*, functions such as the time derivative of a spectrum. The interplanetary magnetic field is nonstationary with a time-varying spectral index (the slope on a log-log plot). One needs approximately three-hour blocks to estimate the spectra and 16-minute time resolution, so resolving this nonstationarity pushes resolution to its limits. Given the series of spectral indices, much of the variations is due to solar gravity-modes.

Key words: multitaper, quadratic-inverse, turbulence, space physics, solar wind

- [1] D.J. Thomson, Spectrum Estimation and Harmonic Analysis, Proc. of the IEEE, vol. 70, pp. 263–302. 1982
- [2] D.J. Thomson, L.J.Lanzerotti, F.L. Vernon, M.R. Lessard, and L.T.P. Smith, Solar Modal Structure of the Engineering Environment Proc. of the IEEE, vol. 95, pp 1085–1132. 2007
- [3] D. Slepian, *Prolate spheroidal wave functions, Fourier analysis, and uncertainty V: the discrete case*, Bell System Tech. J., vol. 57, pp 1371–1429. 1978
- [4] D.J. Thomson, Quadratic-inverse spectrum estimates: applications to paleoclimatology, Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond., vol. 332, pp 539–597. 1990
- [5] D.J. Thomson, Non-stationary fluctuations in "stationary" time series, Proc. SPIE, vol 2027, pp 236-244. 1993

Localized Band-Limited Representation and Robust Interpolative Image Manipulation

<u>H. Xiao¹</u>, M. Gonzalez²

¹ Department of Computer Science, University of California, Davis, CA, hxiaoucdavis.edu
² Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, University of California, Davis, CA, margonzalez@ucdavis.edu

With the rapid development of imaging devices and ever increasing computational power, a wide variety of interesting image analysis problems have arisen in fields ranging from medicine, chemistry, geophysics, satellite imagery and remote sensing to digital photography. Whether for the purpose of segmenting cancerous cells from healthy ones via hyper-spectral imaging, or reconstructing a 3-d model of proteins from 2-d slices, (features of) objects in an image often need to be modeled, detected, extracted, enlarged, and cataloged. The effectiveness of the approaches generally depends upon the underlying mathematical model used for representing the images.

Although images are seldom truly band-limited (i.e. have compactly supported Fourier transforms), they are generally considered "piece-wise smooth" and are frequently modeled *locally* as such by polynomials and trigonometric functions. In particular, image representation and band-limited functions are no strangers to one another. Indeed, DCT transform is part of the popular image format JPEG; many other algorithms in image processing (filtering, encoding, edge detection, texture analysis, etc) use Fourier analysis as a basic tool.

When images satisfy the periodic boundary condition (that is the boundary pixels match with one another when the image is periodically tiled across the whole plane), or can be approximated by one that does, Fourier's methods give very satisfactory results. However, it is well-known that band-limited methods based upon trigonometric functions encounter difficulties with images that do not satisfy the periodic boundary condition.

Under certain conditions, it can be shown that Prolate Spheroidal Wave Functions (PSWFs), a classical special functions that are localized in both spatial and frequency domains a natural choice. We present in this paper a novel image modeling framework based on the PSWFs. We show examples of the Prolate functions, as well as methods for the expansion of images in this basis. Examples of interpolative image manipulations based on this representation will be presented.

New Computational Techniques for Applied Problems in Science and Engineering (SS-NCTAP)

Organizers:

Ludwig Kohaupt (Beuth University of Technology Berlin), Yan Wu (Georgia Southern University)

In today's world, computational techniques play an ever growing role in science and engineering. This is reflected by new notations such as, e.g., Computational Chemistry or Computational Engineering. New disciplines like these are driven by the need to model and analyze systems already in the concept phase before experiments can be made since this procedure can save a lot of time and money, that is, for economic reasons. This special session is therefore devoted to problems in science and engineering that could be useful in real-world applications. Both analysis and modeling aspects are considered.

Structure-Preserving Simulation of Mechanical Systems

K. Ball¹, D. Zenkov²

¹ North Carolina State University, Raleigh, NC, USA krball@ncsu.edu

² North Carolina State University, Raleigh, NC, USA dvzenkov@ncsu.edu

In mechanics, it may be beneficial to make velocity substitutions that are not tied directly to the configuration coordinates. This use of non-coordinate frames often simplifies the equations of motion and provides insight into systems with symmetries and/or velocity constraints [1, 2]. The development of numerical integrators for the simulation of such systems is of interest [3]. In particular, variational integrators are algorithms that preserve key mechanical structures and are known to perform well in long term numerical simulations of mechanical systems [4]. We will present recent findings in the development of such integrators using the aforementioned non-coordinate frames along with simulations that illustrate their usefulness.

- [1] Ball, K. R., D. V. Zenkov, and A. M. Bloch [2012], Variational Structures for Hamel's Equations and Stabilization, *Proceedings of the 4th IFAC Workshop on Lagrangian and Hamiltonian Methods for Non Linear Control*, 178–183.
- [2] Bloch, A. M., J. E. Marsden, and D. V. Zenkov [2009], Quasivelocities and Symmetries in Nonholonomic Systems, *Dynamical Systems: An International Journal* 24, 187–222.
- [3] Kobilarov, M., J. E. Marsden, and G. S. Sukhatme [2010], Geometric Discretization of Nonholonomic Systems with Symmetry, *Discrete and Continuous Dynamical Systems Series S* **3**, 1, 61–84.
- [4] Marsden, J. E. and M. West [2001], Discrete Mechanics and Variational Integrators, Acta Numerica, 357-514.

Matrices of Green's Type for Sets of Laplace Equations Posed on Joint Surfaces of Revolution Weakened with Apertures

V.N. Borodin¹, Yu.A. Melnikov²

¹ Computational Science Program, Middle Tennessee State University, Murfreesboro, TN, USA, vb2m@mtmail.mtsu.edu

² Computational Sceince Program, Middle Tennessee State University, Murfreesboro, TN, USA, ymelniko@mtsu.edu

Well-posed boundary-value problems stated in multiply-connected regions are targeted for some sets of twodimensional Laplace equations written in geographical coordinates on joint surfaces of revolution. These are problems that adequately simulate potential fields generated by point sources in joint perforated thin shell structures comprised of fragments of different geometry. Each fragment in the assembly is made of an individual homogeneous isotropic conductive material. The ideal thermal contact is assumed through the fragments interface line.

A semi-analytical approach is developed to accurately compute solutions of targeted boundary-value problems. The approach is based on Green's function modification of the classical boundary integral equation method. This reduces the problems under consideration to some functional (of integral type) equations.

The Green's-function-based numerical methods have, in nowadays, been proven extremely efficient in solving a wide range of ordinary and partial differential equations that arise in engineering and natural sciences. It is worth noting that coefficients of the governing differential equations appear discontinuous in the targeted boundary-value problems. The discontinuity occurs at the interface lines where the surface geometry changes, making it impossible for direct implementation of the Green's function formalism. This puts us in a position to implement instead the matrix of Green's type concept as introduced in [1]. The elements of the required matrices of Green's type are analytically obtained in a closed computer-friendly form, allowing us to efficiently solve the targeted class of problems.

References

[1] Melnikov, Yu. A., Green's function formalism extended to systems of differential equations posed on graphs, *J. of Engineering Mathematics*, 34, 3, 1998, 369-386.

Solution of Wiener-Hopf and Fredholm integral equations by fast Hilbert and Fourier transforms

<u>Guido Germano^{1,2,3}</u>, Daniele Marazzina⁴, Gianluca Fusai^{2,5,6}

¹ Philipps-Universität Marburg, Germany, guido.germano@uni-marburg.de

² Università del Piemonte Orientale, Novara, Italy, gianluca.fusai@unipmn.it

³ Scuola Normale Superiore, Pisa, Italy, guido.germano@sns.it

⁴ Politecnico di Milano, Italy, daniele.marazzina@polimi.it

⁵ Università Commerciale Luigi Bocconi, Milano, Italy, gianluca.fusai@unibocconi.it

⁶ Cass Business School, City University London, UK, gianluca.fusai.1@city.ac.uk

We present efficient numerical methods based on the fast Fourier transform (FFT) to solve the linear integral equation of convolution type with constant limits of integration

$$\lambda f(x) - \int_a^b k(x - x') f(x') dx' = g(x), \quad x \in (a, b),$$

where f(x) is the unknown function, k(x) is a given kernel, and g(x) is a given so-called forcing function. The domain of f(x) and g(x) is (a,b), the domain of k(x) is (a-b,b-a); the endpoints can be included if they are finite. If $a = -\infty$ or $b = +\infty$ Eq. (1) is called a Wiener-Hopf equation [1, 2, 3, 4, 5]; if both integration limits are finite, it is called a Fredholm equation [4, 6] or a Wiener-Hopf equation on a finite interval [7]. If $\lambda = 0$ it is an equation of the first kind; if $\lambda \neq 0$ it is an equation of the second k ind. Historically these equations arose in physics, e.g. to describe diffraction in the presence of an impenetrable wedge or of planar waveguides [8], but also for problems in crystal growth, fracture mechanics, flow mechanics, geophysics, and diffusion [5]. More recently these equations have become of interest in finance to price discretely monitored path-dependent options as barrier, first-touch, and lookback or hindsight options [9, 10, 11]. We extend and improve a FFT-based method for the Wiener-Hopf equation due to Henery [12], expressing it in terms of the Hilbert transform, and computing the latter in a more sophisticated way with sinc functions [13]. We then generalize our method to the Fredholm equation reformulating it as two coupled equations [2, 7, 10] and solving them iteratively. We provide numerical tests and open-source code.

- N. Wiener and E. Hopf, "Über eine Klasse singulärer Integralgleichungen," Sitzungsberichte der Preußischen Akademie der Wissenschaften, Mathematisch-Physikalische Klasse, vol. 31, pp. 696–706, 1931.
- [2] B. Noble, *Methods based on the Wiener-Hopf technique for the solution of partial differential equations*. London: Pergamon Press, 1958. Reprinted by Chelsea, New York, 1988.
- [3] M. G. Krein, "Integral equations on a half-line with kernel depending on the difference of the arguments," *Transactions of the American Mathematical Society*, vol. 22, pp. 163–288, 1963.
- [4] A. D. Polyanin and A. V. Manzhirov, Handbook of integral equaions. Boca Raton: CRC Press, 1998.
- [5] J. B. Lawrie and I. D. Abrahams, "A brief historical perspective of the Wiener-Hopf technique," *Journal of Engineering Mathematics*, vol. 59, pp. 351–358, 2007.
- [6] I. Fredholm, "Sur une classe d'équations fonctionelles," Acta mathematica, vol. 27, pp. 365–390, 1903.
- [7] A. F. Voronin, "A complete generalization of the Wiener-Hopf method to convolution integral equations with integrable kernel on a finite interval," *Differential Equations*, vol. 40, pp. 1259–1267, 2004.
- [8] V. Daniele and G. Lombardi, "Fredholm factorization of Wiener-Hopf scalar and matrix kernels," *Radio Science*, vol. 42, p. RS6S01, 2007.
- [9] G. Fusai, I. D. Abrahams, and C. Sgarra, "An exact analytical solution for discrete barrier options," *Finance and Stochastics*, vol. 10, pp. 1–26, 2006.
- [10] R. Green, G. Fusai, and I. D. Abrahams, "The Wiener-Hopf technique and discretely monitored path-dependent option pricing," *Mathematical Finance*, vol. 20, pp. 259–288, 2010.
- [11] D. Marazzina, G. Fusai, and G. Germano, "Pricing credit derivatives in a Wiener-Hopf framework," in *Topics in Numerical Methods for Finance* (M. Cummins, F. Murphy, and J. J. H. Miller, eds.), (New York), pp. 139–154, Springer Science+Business Media, 2012. Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics, vol. 19.
- [12] R. J. Henery, "Solution of Wiener-Hopf integral equations using the fast Fourier transform," Journal of the Institute of Mathematics and its Applications, vol. 13, pp. 89–96, 1974.
- [13] F. Stenger, Handbook of Sinc Numerical Methods. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press / Chapman & Hall (Taylor & Francis Group), 2011.

Integration of Inventory Decisions and Supplier Selection to Optimum Design of Cellular Manufactruing Systems: A Stochastic Solution Space

Vahidreza Ghezavati¹, Samira Malekian Nobarani²

¹ I.A.U., South Tehran Branch, Tehran, Iran, <u>ghezavati@iust.c.ir</u>, <u>vrghezavati@gmail.com</u>

² I.A.U., Sciences and Research Branch, Tehran, Iran, <u>Malekian.samira@gmail.com</u>

In this research, we aim to design cellular manufacturing systems (CMSs) which optimize the performance of manufacturing systems subject to optimization of inventory and supplier selection decisions. In this study, it is assumed that the demand of each product is stochastic and is explained by a discrete set of scenarios. This mathematical model tries to optimize the expected inventory cost and also the subcontracting cost arisen by suppliers for exceptional operations. The initial version of the model will be nonlineare because of integartion strategic decision (cell formation) and tactical / operational decisions (inventory and supplier selection). So, this model will be reduced to linear form by linearization techniques. In any manufacturing environment, supply chain network structures have a vital role in order to produce products. A manufacturer can decide whether the operations are completed within the system or they have to be outsourced to the suppliers in a supply chain network. Thus, suppliers can affect on the characteristics of operation processes which are not completed inside the system. Once there are multi suppliers for each product, decision maker have to select the best one for subcontracting products based on the different criterions such as transportation, inventory policies and location of warehouses. By this way, the structure of supply chain network will be optimized through the mathematical model.

In this study, since the demand is uncertain, stochastic optimization thechnique will be applied. In the structure of any stochastic programming (SP) problem, one must decide which decision variables are first stage and which are second stage; in other words, which variables must be determined first and which may be determined after the uncertainty has been realized. So, in a stochastic CMS problem which we are interested, CF decisions must be made now (design variable), before it is known which scenario will come to pass, while inventory and supplied selection decisions are determined in future after uncertainty has been realized (control variable). Also, we propose a parallel structured solution approach to solve introduced stochastic and nonlinear model in large-scale problems, efficiently. The proposed algorithm involves new combination of genetic algorithm (GA) and simulated annealing (SA) where both algorithms try to find sub optimal solution in a parallel structure considering exchanging data and information between each other. In addition, Fig 1 illustrates the conceptual framework of our method. In this process, GA and SA algorithms attempt to obtain sub optimal solution and also share their information about the best solution, simultaneously. In this way, each algorithm sends information about sub optimal solution to the other algorithm through some designed information channels. Finally, effectiveness of the method will be validated through executing statistical hypothesis test via a heuristic benchmark procedure.

Figure 1: The Conceptual framework of the proposed solution method



- Ghezavati, V.R., Saidi-Mehrabad, M., Jabal-Ameli, M.S. and Makui, A., (2011), Optimizing expected holding cost in cellular manufacturing systems with stochastic extensions, Part B: Journal of Engineering Manufacture, 225(6), pp. 943-958.
- [2] Jeon G, Leep HR (2006): Forming part families by using genetic algorithm and designing machine cells under demand changes. Comput Oper Res 33:263–283.
- [3] Chang C.T., Chang C.C., (2000): A linearization method for mixed 0-1 polynomial programs, Computers & Operations Research 27, 1005-1016.

Monte Carlo Study of the Area Estimation Improvement by the Pairwise Comparisons

A. Almowanes¹, <u>T. Kakiashvili</u>² (MD), W.W. Koczkodaj^{1,3}

¹ Laurentian University, Sudbury, Canada

² Baycrest, Toronto, Canada, ³ wkoczkodaj@cs.laurentian.ca

Random but visually nice shapes are often needed for cognitive experiments and processes. They are generated from random polygons by applying Gaussian blur with a set threshold in order to transform pixels to black and white from different shades of gray. It produces shapes which are not "sharp" or otherwise hard to estimate for the area thus we call them placated shapes. They are fit to test cognitive processes, such as estimation improvement by pairwise comparisons. Placated shapes can be also used in computer games or in software testing. No one really knows what a "nice" shape is. However, we can recognize a nice shape once we see it. The results of testing randomly generated bars for the length (1D case) were published in [1, 2] as the first such study ever conducted. The length estimation error went down from approximately 15% (by direct method) to approximately 5% by the pairwise comparisons method. It is harder to do with the 2D case since shapes such as circle or square have proportionality, hence placated shapes must be used, but their production is non-trivial. An experiment was designed and published in [4] where random but equal in area shapes were used. The shapes used were manually created [3]. Respondents were tricked into comparing random but equal shapes (according to the area), without knowing that all shapes had identical area, by a cognitive experiment designed in [4]. Only a few such respondents correctly guessed the equality. This study extends the 2D case to random area like shapes in Fig. 1. The generated shapes are subject to selection from a set of 72 (90% accuracy requires at least 68 objects so a 9 by 8 table is used for displaying images) shapes according to the taste of the tester. The user can then compare and estimate the area of the selected shapes. Statistical analysis is conducted by replicating the tests used in [1, 2].



Figure 1: Randomly generated shapes with unequal area size

- [1] W.W. Koczkodaj, *Statistically accurate evidence of improved error rate by Pairwise Comparisons*, in Perceptual and Motor Skills, **82**, 1, pp. 43-48 (1996).
- [2] W.W. Koczkodaj, *Testing the accuracy enhancement of Pairwise Comparisons by a Monte Carlo experiment*, in Journal of Statistical Planning and Inference, **69**, 1, pp. 21-31 (1998).
- [3] W.W. Koczkodaj, N. Robidoux, and R. Tadeusiewicz, *Classifying visual objects with the method of pairwise comparisons*, in Machine Graphics and Vision, **18**, pp. 143-154 (2009).
- [4] P. Adamic, V. Babiy, R. Janicki, T. Kakiashvil, W.W. Koczkodaj, and R. Tadeusiewicz, *Pairwise Comparisons and visual perceptions* of equal area polygons, in Perceptual and Motor Skills, **108**, 1, pp. 37-42 (2009)

Iterative analytic approximation to nonlinear convection dominated systems

Aditya Kaushik

University Institute of Engineering and Technology, Panjab University Chandigarh-160014 India akaushik@kuk.ac.in

In this paper we are interested in the analytic approximation of nonlinear convection dominated systems of mathematical physics. Solutions of such systems, contaminated by a small parameter, often show sharp boundary and interior layers. The problem becomes still more complex as the equation under consideration is having nonlinearity together with small dissipation. Then, shock waves appear alongside boundary layers. To approximate the multi-scale solution of convection dominated problems, we present and analyze an iterative analytic method based on a Lagrange multiplier technique. The Lagrange multiplier is obtained optimally, in a general setting, using variational theory and Liouville-Green transforms. The idea of the paper is to overcome the well known difficulties associated with the numerical methods. Examples, with quadratic nonlinear convection term and quasi-linear terms, are taken into account to show the effectiveness and accuracy of the present approach. It is observed that the method is straightforward, highly accurate and brief. Moreover, it can also be functional to other nonlinear evolution equations of mathematical physics
On the vibration-suppression property and monotonicity behavior of a special weighted norm for dynamical systems $\dot{x} = Ax$, $x(t_0) = x_0$

L. Kohaupt¹

¹ Beuth University of Technoloy, Germany, kohaupt@bht-berlin.de

In an earlier paper, the author formed a positive definite matrix *R* as the sum of positive semi-definite matrices that are eigenmatrices of a matrix eigenproblem associated with the Lyapunov matrix equation. This positive definite matrix *R* was then used to define the weighted norm $\|\cdot\|_R$ in C^n which led to new two-sided bounds on the solution of the initial value problem $\dot{x} = Ax$, $x(t_0) = x_0$, in any vector norm $\|\cdot\|$. In the present talk, the quantity $\|x(t)\|_R$ itself is analyzed showing that the solution x(t) in the weighted norm $\|x(t)\|_R$ suppresses the vibration behavior inherent to x(t). This new sight at the norm $\|x(t)\|_R$ may be of considerable practical use in technical dynamical systems. As a direct important application in engineering, the quantity $\|x(t)\|_R$ may be used as a measure to assess the damping behavior of the studied free dynamical system since the vibratory part is absent. Moreover, it is shown that $\|x(t)\|_R$ is monotonically decreasing for sufficiently large *t* if matrix *A* is asymptotically stable. Thus, as a further application, a two-sided estimate of the form $c_0 |D_+||x(t)||_R | \le ||\dot{x}(t)||_R \le c_1 |D_+||x(t)||_R|$ can be derived, which is shown to be invalid for the norm $\|\cdot\|_2$. This result is also of interest on its own. The obtained findings are underpinned by a numerical example and illustrated by graphs.

- [1] L. Kohaupt, Solution of the matrix eigenvalue problem $VA + A^*V = \mu V$ with applications to the study of free linear systems, J. Comp. Appl. Math. **213** 1, pp. 142-165 (2008).
- [2] L. Kohaupt, Contributions to the determination of optimal bounds on the solution of ordinary differential equations with vibration behavior, Habilitation Thesis, TU Freiberg, Shaker-Verlag, Aachen, pp. 1-91 (2009).
- [3] L. Kohaupt, On the vibration-suppression property and monotonicity behavior of a special weighted norm for dynamical systems $\dot{x} = Ax$, $x(t_0) = x_0$, pp. 1 32 (2013), submitted for publication.

Interactive computational search strategy of periodic solutions in an essentially nonlinear dynamics

L. F. Petrov¹

¹ Plekhanov Russian University of Economics, National Research University Higher School of Economics, Moscow, Russia, LFP@mail.ru

We consider essentially nonlinear autonomous and non-autonomous dynamic systems based on ordinary differential equations. In such systems, at the same parameters of the system and forcing can exist different stable and unstable solutions of different periods. In addition, along with the ordered movements, known the existence a strange attractor. In such circumstances, the search for periodic solutions and their stability analysis is not a trivial problem.

For finding periodic solutions of the dynamical systems we offer an interactive computer algorithm based on finding the initial conditions corresponding to the periodic solution with the possibility interactive intervention and operational control by computing process.

We demonstrate the algorithm and various numerical examples of finding new and complex stable and unstable periodic solutions in strongly nonlinear dynamical systems with one and two degrees of freedom. We also consider the examples of the bifurcation of periodic solutions on the boundary of the strange attractor, the mutual influence of oscillations in multidimensional nonlinear dynamic systems.

For example, for non-autonomous dynamical system of the form (1) with N = 1 found new solutions with different periods and strange attractor, with N = 2 were observed as the mutual influence of different forms of oscillations (Fig. 1).

$$\ddot{x}_{j}(t) + j^{2}(k^{2}j^{2} + D)x_{j}(t) + x_{j}(t)\frac{j^{2}}{4}\left(\sum_{m=1}^{N}m^{2}x_{m}^{2}(t)\right) + \delta_{1}\dot{x}_{j}(t) = Q_{j}(t), Q_{j}(t) = Q_{j}(t+T), j = 1, 2, ..., N$$
(1)



Figure 1: The phase trajectories of 3T-periodic stable solutions of system (1).

- L.F.Petrov, Interactive optimization as a tool for finding the complex periodic solutions in nonlinear dynamics, in Proceedings of III International conference on optimization methods and applications (OPTIMA-2012), Costa da Caparica, Portugal, p.p. 213-218. ISBN 978-5-91601-5.
- [2] L.F.Petrov, Nonlinear effects in multidimensional dynamic systems, in Proceeding of 6 international conference Dynamic Systems and Applications, Atlanta, USA pp. 74 (2011).

Exploring Stochasticity and Imprecise Knowledge Based on Linear Inequality Constraints

S. Subbey^{1,2}, B. Planque¹, U. Lindstrøm¹, M. Alfaki¹

¹ Inst. of Marine Res., PB-1870, N-5817 Bergen, Norway, samuels@imr.no ² Institute of Informatics, University of Bergen, Postboks 7800, N-5020, Norway

It is often desirable to find the range of possible values for some real valued function, g, of a set of parameters, **p**. Here we consider the case where prior knowledge about a finite number of k parameters, $\mathbf{p} = (p_1, \dots, p_k)$, which characterize a stochastic model or process can be expressed through a set of linear inequalities. For each given value of **p**, we intend to calculate

$$\mathbf{a} = g(\mathbf{p}) \tag{1}$$

satisfying

$$B\mathbf{p} \le \mathbf{b},\tag{2}$$

where $B \in \mathbb{R}^{s \times k}$ and $\mathbf{b} \in \mathbb{R}^{s}$ are known. This restricts the solution space to a bounded convex polytope, *C*.

We present numerical experiments, which demonstrate that the stochasticity and uncertainty characterizing such a system can be captured by sampling parameter values which are distributed according to a prescribed probability density function f over C. Our first example explores the stochastic dynamics of a network of species, which mimics a food web model and where stochasticity in \mathbf{p} is assumed to be an inherent attribute of the dynamics. Our second example involves uncertain parameters bounded by polyhedral uncertainty sets in an age-structured population dynamics model. The uncertainty sets are convex polyhedron with linear constraints that model fishing mortality in the statistical analysis of fisheries catch-at-age data. The examples illustrate a parsimonious approach to modeling complex systems under uncertainty.

Boundary Conditions for Constrained Hyperbolic Systems: Mathematical and Numerical Analysis

Nicolae Tarfulea¹

¹ Purdue University Calumet, USA, tarfulea@purduecal.edu

Many applications in sciences and technology lead to first order symmetric hyperbolic (FOSH) systems of differential equations supplemented by constraint equations. The Cauchy problem for many such FOSH systems is constraint-preserving, i.e., the solution satisfies certain spatial differential constraints whenever the initial data does (e.g., Maxwell's equations or Einstein's field equations in various FOSH formulations). Frequently, artificial space cut offs are performed for such evolution systems, usually out of the necessity for finite computational domains. However, it may easily happen that boundary conditions at the artificial boundary for such a system lead to an initial boundary value problem which, while well-posed, does not preserve the constraints. Therefore, boundary conditions have to be posed in such a way that the numerical solution of the cut off system approximates as best as possible the solution of the original problem on infinite space, and this includes the preservation of constraints. It has become increasingly clear that in order for constraints to be preserved during evolution, the boundary conditions have to be chosen in an appropriate way. Here we consider the problem of finding constraint-preserving boundary conditions for constrained FOSH systems in the well-posed class of maximal nonnegative boundary conditions. Based on a characterization of maximal nonnegative boundary conditions, we discuss a systematic technique for finding such boundary conditions that preserve the constraints, pending that the constraints satisfy a FOSH system themselves. We exemplify this technique by presenting a few relevant applications (e.g., for FOSH formulations of Einstein's equations and for systems of wave equations in FOSH formulation subject to divergence constraints).

- [1] D. N. Arnold and N. Tarfulea, *Boundary conditions for the Einstein-Christoffel formulation of Einstein's equations*, Electron. J. Differ. Equ. Conf., **15**, pp. 11–27 (2007).
- [2] O. Sarbach and M. Tiglio, *Continuum and Discrete Initial-Boundary Value Problems and Einstein's Field Equations*, Living Rev. Relativity, **15**, 9, 194 pp. (2012).
- [3] N. Tarfulea, On Boundary Conditions for First Order Symmetric Hyperbolic Systems with Constraints, Journal of Hyperbolic Differential Equations, accepted for publication (2013).
- [4] N. Tarfulea, *Well-posed constraint-preserving boundary conditions for the AA formulation of Einstein's equations*, Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications, **359**, pp. 711–721 (2009).
- [5] N. Tarfulea, *Positive radial symmetric solutions to an exterior elliptic Robin boundary-value problem and application*, Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods & Applications, **71**, 5-6, pp. 1909–1915 (2009).

Nonconforming Generalized Finite Element Method for Linear Parabolic Interface Problems

Nicolae Tarfulea¹

¹ Purdue University Calumet, USA, tarfulea@purduecal.edu

We propose a method for treating Dirichlet boundary conditions for linear parabolic interface problems in the framework of the Generalized Finite Element Method (GFEM). Let $\Omega \subset \mathbf{R}^n$ be a bounded domain with smooth boundary $\partial \Omega$. We consider the linear parabolic equation

$$u_t - \operatorname{div}(\mathscr{A}\nabla u) + a_0(x)u = f \quad \text{in } \Omega \times (0, T],$$
(1)

with initial and boundary conditions

$$u(x,0) = u_0$$
 in Ω ; $u(x,t) = 0$ on $\partial \Omega \times (0,T]$, (2)

and interface (or "jump") conditions

$$[u] = 0, \quad [\mathscr{A}\frac{\partial u}{\partial n}] = g(x,t) \quad \text{on } \Gamma,$$
(3)

where the *interface* Γ is a finite union of smooth, closed and disjoint surfaces, which do not intersect $\partial \Omega$, the boundary of Ω . The interface Γ together with $\partial \Omega$ partition Ω into k smooth subdomains Ω_l , $0 \le l \le k$, with Ω_0 the bordering subdomain. The forcing term f and initial data u_0 are assumed to be smooth in each subdomain Ω_l , $0 \le l \le k$. We assume that the coefficient matrix $\mathscr{A} = (a_{ij}^l(x))_{i,j=1}^n, 0 \le l \le k$, is symmetric and piecewise smooth with the only possible jump discontinuities along Γ . We also assume that the coefficient matrix \mathscr{A} is bounded and uniformly positive definite in each subdomain Ω_l , $1 \le l \le k$. The discontinuity of the coefficients arises from physical problems, e.g., for bodies that consist of two or more different materials. Solving such problems has important applications in non-stationary heat conduction problems, material sciences, fluid dynamics, etc.; see [4].

We consider a sequence of approximation spaces S_{μ} satisfying two conditions: (1) nearly zero boundary and interface matching, (2) approximability, which are similar to those my collaborators and I used in [1, 2, 3] for solving elliptic problems. Then, under certain regularity conditions for f, u_0 and g, if $u_{\mu}(t) \in S_{\mu}$, $\mu \ge 1$, is a sequence of continuous time Galerkin approximations of the solution u to the interface problem (1)-(3), the approximation error $||u - u_{\mu}||_{L^2(0,T;\hat{H}^1(\Omega))}$ is of order $O(h_{\mu}^m)$, where h_{μ}^m is the typical size of the elements in S_{μ} . Here $\hat{H}^1(\Omega)$ is the "broken" Sobolev space of functions in H^1 on each side of the interface. Optimal order error estimates can be obtained for the discrete time Galerkin method as well (e.g., by using the backward Euler scheme).

- I. Babuška, V. Nistor and N. Tarfulea, Generalized Finite Element Method for Second Order Elliptic Operators with Dirichlet Boundary Conditions, J. Comput. Appl. Math. 218, 1, pp. 175-183 (2008).
- [2] I. Babuška, V. Nistor and N. Tarfulea, Approximate and low regularity Dirichlet boundary conditions in the Generalized Finite Element Method, Mathematical Models & Methods in Applied Sciences, 17, 12, pp. 2115–2142 (2007).
- [3] A. Mazzucato, V. Nistor and Q. Qu, A Nonconforming Generalized Finite Element Method for Transmission Problems, SIAM J. Numer. Anal. 51, 1, pp. 555-576 (2013).
- [4] R. K. Sinham and B. Deka, *Optimal error estimates for linear parabolic problems with discontinuous coefficients*, SIAM J. Numer. Anal. **43**, 2, pp. 733-749 (2005).

Numerical Algorithm to Solve Two-Point Non-Linear Singularly Perturbed Boundary Value Problems Using Initial Value Technique

Surabhi Tiwari, Manoj Kumar

Department of Mathematics, Motilal Nehru National Institute of Technology, Allahabad- 211004, U.P., India, surabhi@mnnit.ac.in, manoj@mnnit.ac.in

In view of the wealth of literature on singular perturbation problems, we raise the question of whether there are other ways to attack singular perturbation problems, namely ways that are very easy to use and ready for computer implementation. It is easier to solve an initial value problem than solving its corresponding boundary value problem. So, many researchers in the field of numerical analysis have used the technique of reducing a given second order singularly perturbed boundary value problem to a system of first order equations which can then be solved using any known numerical method. In response to the need for a fresh approach to singularly perturbed boundary value technique for solving a two-point non-linear singularly perturbed boundary value problem is reduced to an equivalent system of first order initial value problems which are then solved by the non-linear single step explicit scheme. Some numerical examples are given to illustrate the given method. It is observed that the presented method approximates the exact solution very well for crude mesh size h. Error analysis and convergence analysis of the method are also described.

Simulation of a Tumor Growth Model Based on an Adaptive Markov Chain Monte Carlo (AMCMC) Method

Qing Wang¹, David J. Klinke², Zhijun Wang³, Jonathan L. Bramson⁴, Burton Lidgerding⁵

¹ Dept. of Computer Sciences, Mathematics and Engineering, Shepherd University, Shepherdstown, USA, qwang@shepherd.edu

² Dept. of Chemical Engineering, and Dept. of Microbiology, Immunology & Cell Biology, West Virginia University, Morgantown, USA, David. Klinke@mail.wvu.edu

³ Dept. of Computer Sciences, Mathematics and Engineering, Shepherd University, Shepherdstown, USA, zwang@shepherd.edu

⁴ Dept. of Pathology and Molecular Medicine, McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada, bramsonj@mcmaster.ca

⁵ Dept. of Biology, Shepherd University, Shepherdstown, USA, BLIDGERD@shepherd.edu

The complex and constantly involving nature of cancer has made it difficult to identify how the cellular and molecular components of cancer combine to influence clinical progression. Computer simulations based on mathematical models are important tools that can provide a robust framework to better understand cancer progression and response to therapies. With limited experimental data, the inference of mechanistic descriptions of oncogenesis becomes a challenge. AMCMC methods have been developed and widely used in Bayesian analysis. The objective of this study is to apply an AMCMC technique to calibrate the parameters of a tumor cell growth dynamics model to experimental data. In the AMCMC methods, the model is simulated repeatedly to explore the probability distribution describing the uncertainties in model parameters and predictions with successive steps weighed by the likelihood of experimental data given the parameter values. In the AMCMC method based on the Metropolis-Hastings algorithm, the proposal distribution needed by the algorithm learns from the target distribution as the simulation proceeds. The Gelman-Rubin potential scale reduction factor is applied to the model predictions to assess the convergence of the Markov Chains. The calibrated model captures the modest suppression of tumor cell growth in response to immunization in a mouse model for spontaneous melanoma. The calibrated model will provide a platform for in silico screening of the optimal therapeutic dosage and timing in mixed immuno-chemotherapies. The study has been supported by the National Institute of General Medical Sciences of the National Institutes of Health grant as part of the West Virginia IDeA Network of Biomedical Research Excellence (P20GM103434).

Solving a Large Scale Thermal Radiation Problem Using an Interoperable Executive Library Framework on Petascale Supercomputers

K. Wong¹, E. D'Azevedo², Z. Hu³, A. Kail⁴, S. Su⁵,

¹ University of Tennessee, Knoxville, TN, kwong@utk.edu

² Oak Ridge National Laboratory, Oak Ridge, TN, e6d@ornl.gov

³ Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, hza8816415@gmail.com

⁴ University of Tennessee, Knoxville, TN, akail@utk.edu

⁵ University of Tennessee, Knoxville, TN, ssu2@utk.edu

In this paper, we present a novel method to compute the transient thermal condition of a set of objects by solving the following conservative energy equations,

$$\rho C_p \frac{\partial T}{\partial t} - \nabla \cdot [k(x)\nabla T] - s(x,t) = 0$$
⁽¹⁾

$$k\nabla T \cdot n + h_{conv}(T - T_{atm}) + \sigma \varepsilon (T^4 - T_{ref}^4) + f(t) \cdot n = 0$$
⁽²⁾

To compute the amount of heat transfer by conduction, convection, and radiation to and from the objects, the derived methodology exploits the heterogeneous architecture of the emergent supercomputers composed of CPUs and GPUs. While the energy equation (1) and the convective energy transfer, second term in equation (2), are formulated in finite element method and solved by the sparse iterative solvers derived from Trilinos [1], the amount of average radiating energy on a set of surfaces are prescribed by a linear system of the radiosity equations. The system of radiosity equations is simple to formulate but is challenging to solve when the number of Lambertian surfaces associated with an application becomes large. For an unsteady thermal problem in which the mesh configuration remains unchanged, the triangular factor of the symmetric radiosity matrix can be computed once and be reused subsequently in every time step. The radiosity matrix requires the computation of the view factors. Based on a serial view factor algorithm derived by Walton [2], we have extended his algorithm to compute the view factors on a parallel computer equipped with GPUs. A parallel Cholesky decomposition solver, based on a hybrid CPU/GPU ScaLAPACK library [3], is also built to factor and solve the matrix. The coupling and interplay of the direct radiosity solver using GPUs and the CPU-based FEM sparse solvers are handled by a light weight software integrator called Interoperable Executive Library (IEL) which manages the distribution of data and memory, coordinates communication among parallel processes, and directs execution of the set of loosely coupled physics tasks warranted by the thermal condition of the simulated object and its surrounding environment. A number of benchmarks are tested on keeneland, a GPU-based supercomputer at the National Institute for Computational Sciences(NICS). The methodology of the simulation will be presented in details. The benchmark results will be examined and presented.

- [1] trilinos.sandia.gov.
- [2] G. Walton, *Calculation of Obstructed View Factors by Adaptive Integration*, NISTIR 6925, National Institute of Standards and Technology (2002).
- [3] E. D'Azevedo and J.C. Hill, Parallel LU Factorization on GPU cluster, in Procedia Computer Science 9, pp67-77 (2012).

Discretization of Fractional Order Differentiator Over Paley-Wiener Space

Yan Wu¹

¹Georgia Southern University, USA, yan@georgiasouthern.edu

Functions that belong to the Paley-Wiener space PW are also known as bandlimited signals. The Paley-Wiener space is defined by $PW_B := \{f : f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap C(\mathbb{R}^n), \operatorname{supp} \hat{f} \subseteq \overline{B}\}$, where \hat{f} is the Fourier transform of f, i.e. the Fourier transform of the function is compactly supported in the Frequency domain. Analog fractional order differentiator can be represented by way of the Cauchy integral formula, special functions, as well as the Fourier/Laplace transformer, while digital differentiator of fractional order can be obtained through direct or indirect discretization techniques. In this work, we present the design of a finite impulse response (FIR) filter that discretizes the fractional differentiator over functions in Paley-Wiener space, which represent a large class of signals in digital signal processing. The proposed FIR model has the following characteristics: (a) the filter coefficients are independent of the signal samples; (b) it is capable of interpolating or extrapolating at an arbitrary point in the sampling domain; (c) it is adaptive to uniform or non-uniform sampling scenarios. We present explicit form of expressions on the matrices that lead to the computation of the filter coefficients. A closed form error bound is obtained to prove the accuracy of the proposed model along with numerical examples. The proposed filter is also used to generate fractal processes that are applicable for secure communications.

Numerical Methods for Differential-algebraic Equations and Applications (SS-NMDAEA)

Organizers: Andreas Griewank (Humbold University) Ned Nedialkov (McMaster University) John Pryce (Cardiff University)

Many physical systems are naturally described by systems of differential-algebraic equations (DAEs). This minisymposium is devoted to recent developments in methods and software for DAEs. Topics include index determination, symbolic-numeric techniques, numerical integration schemes, and in particular schemes for high-index DAEs; schemes for structural analysis and integration using automatic differentiation. Methods for validated solution of ordinary differential equations by differential inequalities/inclusions are of interest, and especially extension of such methods to handle DAEs.

Generalized Bessel Functions and Sturm Liouville Equations

I. Balsim¹, D. S. Rumschitzki²

¹ KCC-CUNY, New York, USA, ibalsim@kbcc.cuny.edu

² Grove School of Engineering CC-CUNY, New York, USA, david@che.ccny.cuny.edu

Atherosclerosis begins with the transport of low-density lipoprotein (LDL) across the monolayer of endothelial cells (ECs) that line and tile the vessel wall, and into the intima, where initial lipid accumulation takes place [2]. Some ECs have temporarily-widened junctions that allow passage of LDL. Laplace's equation describes the pressure distribution in the wall, whose gradient is proportional to the advecting velocity. This yields a boundary value problem with mixed Dirichlet/ Robin boundary conditions. The geometry of the problem is a rectangle that is divided into two smaller rectangles: media ω_1 and ω_2 with the two solutions $P_i(r,z)$, respectively for i = 1, 2. We have previously solved the problem of the existence of the solutions $P_i(r,z)$ for the pressure of the blood flow [1]. For our present problem we considered solving an advectivediffusion equation (1) analytically whose solution $C_i(\tau, r, z)$ represents the solute concentration in the blood.

$$\frac{\partial C_i}{\partial \tau} + \nabla q_i = 0, \, i = 1,2 \tag{1}$$

In this equation $q_i(r,z)$ is a linear function of the derivative of the Pressure $P_i(r,z)$ i that we solved in our previous problem. The boundary conditions are again given in the above two regions with some of the boundary conditions are mixed Robin and Dirichlet conditions as in the previous problem. Thus, this is a more complicated Sturm-Liouville equation with coefficients given by a series of Bessel functions. To solve this problem we constructed a linear system of integral equations that approximate the coefficients of the series expansion of the solution. We proved the existence of the solution to this problem analytically by using Gershgorin's theorem on the location of the eigenvalues of the corresponding matrix.

- [1] I. Balsim, S. Joshi, and D. S. Rumschitzki, Analysis and Computation of the Pressure Field of the Pre-Atherosclerotic Transport in the Artery Wall, SIAM-Applied Mathematics, submitted
- [2] R. Ross, The pathogenesis of atherosclerosis: a perspective for the 1990's, Nature, 362, p. 801 (1993).

Symbolic Application of the Pryce Σ -Method for Index-Reduction of DAEs in CyModelica

P. Harman¹

¹ CyDesign Ltd., UK, peter@cydesign.com

The Pryce Σ -Method [1] is a technique for structural-analysis of Differential Algebraic Equations (DAEs) applicable to general sets of DAEs containing derivatives of any order. The output of an analysis is the number of times to differentiate each equation. Previous applications of this technique [2, 3] have focused on the construction of Taylor series for the numerical solution of the problem using automatic differentiation.

This contribution describes an alternative approach to those previously described of using the Σ -Method for the solution of a set DAEs of unknown index. The results of the structural-analysis are applied symbolically to the system of equations, utilizing the information to apply a variation of the dummyderivatives [4] method. This involves selectively differentiating equations and appending them to the problem to be solved, while also disassociating selected states from their derivatives in order to maintain an equal number of unknowns to equations and to avoid drift due to the numerical integrator.

Potential pitfalls at this stage will be discussed and how further symbolic analysis of the differentiated equations is performed and applied in order to mitigate these.

These techniques are applied in CyModelica [5], a commercial compiler and simulator for the Modelica [6, 7] open-standard modeling language. Modelica enables the construction of equation-based models of complex systems for simulation. These can include a mixture of domains, such as mechanical, electrical and thermodynamic systems, and the interactions between them. This paper describes how the symbolic techniques introduced are applied to such a problem in order to utilize general numerical techniques to perform efficient simulation.

- [1] J.D. Pryce, A Simple Structural Analysis Method for DAEs. BIT 2001, Vol. 41, No. 2, pp. 101-131
- [2] J.D. Pryce and N.S. Nedialkov, Solving Differential-Algebraic Equations by Taylor Series (1): Computing Taylor Coefficients. BIT Numerical Mathematics, October 2003.
- [3] N.S. Nedialkov and J. D. Pryce, Solving differential-algebraic equations by Taylor series (III): The DAETS code. JNAIAM, 3(1–2):61–80, 2008. ISSN 17908140.
- [4] S. E. Mattsson and G. Söderlind, Index Reduction in Differential Algebraic Equations Using Dummy Derivatives. SIAM Journal on Scientific Computing, Vol. 14, No. 3, pp. 677-692, 1993
- [5] CyModelica, CyDesign, Homepage: http://www.cydesign.com
- [6] H. Elmqvist, S. E. Mattsson, and M. Otter, Modelica A Language for Physical System Modeling, Visualization and Interaction.
- Proceedings of the 1999 IEEE Symposium on Computer-Aided Control System Design, CACSD'99, Hawaii, USA, 1999
- [7] Modelica, Modelica Association, Homepage: <u>http://www.modelica.org</u>

Structural analysis and dummy derivatives - some relations.

<u>R. McKenzie¹</u>, J. Pryce², G. Tan³, N. Nedialkov⁴

¹ Cardiff University, Wales, United Kingdom, mckenzier1@cardiff.ac.uk

² Cardiff University, Wales, United Kingdom, j.d.pryce@cantab.net

³ McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada, tgn3000@msn.com

⁴ McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada, nedialk@mcmaster.ca

Differential algebraic equations, DAEs, appear frequently in applications involving equation based modelling, from robotics to chemical engineering. A common way of making a DAE amenable to numerical solution is by reducing the index to get a corresponding ODE and using an ODE solution method. The signature matrix method developed by Pryce does not rely on an index reduction step and instead solves the DAE directly via Taylor series [1]. The talk will draw comparisons between these two different approaches and show the signature matrix method is in some sense equivalent to the dummy derivative index reduction method developed by Mattsson and Söderlind [2]. The talk will draw on standard examples from the DAE literature, such as the simple pendulum and the Campbell-Griepentrog robot arm [3], to illustrate the connection between the two methods.

- [1] J. Pryce, A Simple Structural Analysis Method for DAEs, BIT. 41, 2, pp. 364–394 (2001).
- [2] S. Mattsson and G. Söderlind, *Index reduction in differential-algebraic equations using dummy derivatives*, SIAM J. Sci. Comput. 14, 4, pp.677–692 (1993).
- [3] S. Campbell and E. Griepentrog, Solvability of general differential algebraic equations, SIAM J. Sci. Comput. 16, 2, pp. 3257–270 (1995).

A Simple Method for Quasilinearity Analysis of DAEs

Guangning Tan¹, Ned Nedialkov¹ and John Pryce²

 McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada tgn3000@msn.com, nedialk@mcmaster.ca
 Cardiff University, UK prycejd1@Cardiff.ac.uk

We consider systems of DAEs of any order. If the leading derivatives in a DAE appear in a jointly linear way, we say it is quasilinear. We present a simple method for extracting quasilinearity information from the function defining the DAE. In our method, we use the offsets obtained from Pryce's structural analysis [1] and determine for each equation if it is quasilinear in its leading derivatives. This can be done through operator overloading or source code translation.

Using this information, and a block-triangularization of the DAE [2], we can often reduce the number of required initial conditions. Furthermore, systems that are non-quasilinear may break down into smaller, quasilinear systems, which can be solved more efficiently compared to solving the whole system. Our method has been implemented using operator overloading in the DAETS solver [4] and in the DAESA [3] structural analysis tool.

We outline the underlying algorithms, illustrate them on several examples, and elaborate on implementation issues.

- [1] PRYCE, J. D. 2001. A simple structural analysis method for DAEs. BIT 41, 2, 364-394.
- [2] PRYCE, J., NEDIALKOV, N. S., AND TAN, G. 2013. DAESA a Matlab tool for structural analysis of DAEs: Theory. Accepted for publication in ACM TOMS.
- [3] NEDIALKOV, N. S., PRYCE, J., AND TAN, G. 2013. DAESA a Matlab tool for structural analysis of DAEs: Software. Accepted for publication in ACM TOMS.
- [4] NEDIALKOV, N. S. AND PRYCE, J. D. 2008. Solving differential-algebraic equations by Taylor series (III): The DAETS code. JNAIAM 3, 1–2, 61–80.

Progress on the DAESA tool for structural analysis of DAEs

J.D. Pryce¹, N.S. Nedialkov², G. Tan³

¹ Cardiff University, Wales, smajdp1@cardiff.ac.uk

² McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, nedialk@mcmaster.ca

³ McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, tgn3000@msn.com

Large DAE systems are produced by equation-based modeling methods in many engineering and scientific disciplines. It is now routine that they are generated by software using interactive systems such as gPROMS or DYMOLA. Mostly these have some kind of structural analysis (SA) of the DAE built in.

For some years the authors have been developing a numerical code DAETS for solving DAEs. It is based on a SA of the sparsity of the DAE that we call the signature matrix method. In many ways it is equivalent to the well-known method of Pantelides, and computes the same structural index, but it is easier to use.

Originally, our SA was merely a preprocessing stage to set up the numerical solution method for DAETS. However, as we have encountered users with increasingly large problems, it has become clear that they value its diagnostic abilities, not all of which are present in other systems, although there is a large overlap. In particular, our SA is able to identify subsystems of a DAE to a finer resolution than many other methods. Thereby, it can often reduce the number of initial values required for numerical solution, beyond what those other methods achieve—a useful feature in view of the notable difficulty of estimating consistent initial values for a DAE.

Thus it seemed useful to present it as a free-standing tool, with enhanced reporting and diagnostic capabilities. The result is the program DAESA. Written in MATLAB, it accepts a MATLAB description of a DAE similar to the C++ description accepted by DAETS.

DAESA is under active development. The talk will show examples of its use on small and on larger problems. We would welcome discussion of how its SA compares with that of other systems and how to improve it further.

- N.S. Nedialkov and J.D. Pryce, Solving differential-algebraic equations by Taylor series (III): The DAETS code. JNAIAM 3, nos. 1– 2, pp. 61–80 (2008). ISSN 1790–8140.
- [2] J.D. Pryce, A simple structural analysis method for DAEs. BIT 41, no. 2, pp. 364–394 (2001). ISSN 0006–3835.

Optimization of large-scale DAE systems in chemical process design and control using parallel computing

I.D. Washington¹, C.L.E. Swartz¹

¹ McMaster University, Department of Chemical Engineering, Hamilton, ON. Canada, swartzc@mcmaster.ca

Modeling and optimization using differential-algebraic equations (DAEs) is ubiquitous in chemical process design and control. A particularly interesting application is the integration of design and control via dynamic optimization-based strategies, which offer a systematic approach to combat poor control performance, violation of safety and environmental constraints, and degradation in economic performance. In order to construct a realistic design problem, uncertainty must be explicitly embedded within the DAE system that describes possible unknown exogenous disturbances and model parameters. One approach to incorporating uncertainty into such formulations is using a so-called multi-period (or multi-scenario) discretization of the infinite dimensional uncertainty space $(\Gamma = \{\theta | \theta^L \le \theta \le \theta^U\})$, which results in numerous discrete realizations ($\theta^{(i)}$ for $i = 1, ..., n_s$) [1]. General multiperiod dynamic nonlinear programs (using an embedded first order DAE – written in implicit form via $\mathbf{F}(\cdot)$) can be stated as follows:

$$\min_{\mathbf{d}} \ \mathcal{J} := f_{d}(\mathbf{d}) + \sum_{i \in \mathcal{S}} w_{i} \cdot \phi_{i}(\mathbf{x}^{(i)}(t), \mathbf{z}^{(i)}(t), \mathbf{v}^{(i)}(t), \mathbf{d}, \boldsymbol{\theta}^{(i)})
\text{st:} \ \mathbf{F}_{i}(\dot{\mathbf{x}}^{(i)}(t), \mathbf{x}^{(i)}(t), \mathbf{z}^{(i)}(t), \mathbf{v}^{(i)}(t), \mathbf{d}, \boldsymbol{\theta}^{(i)}) = \mathbf{0}, \quad \mathbf{x}^{(i)}(t_{0}) = \mathbf{h}_{0,i}(\mathbf{d}, \boldsymbol{\theta}^{(i)})
\mathbf{h}_{i}(\dot{\mathbf{x}}^{(i)}(t), \mathbf{x}^{(i)}(t), \mathbf{z}^{(i)}(t), \mathbf{v}^{(i)}(t), \mathbf{d}, \boldsymbol{\theta}^{(i)}) = \mathbf{0}
\mathbf{g}_{i}(\dot{\mathbf{x}}^{(i)}(t), \mathbf{x}^{(i)}(t), \mathbf{z}^{(i)}(t), \mathbf{v}^{(i)}(t), \mathbf{d}, \boldsymbol{\theta}^{(i)}) \le \mathbf{0}
\mathbf{d} \in [\mathbf{d}^{L}, \mathbf{d}^{U}] \quad \forall i \in S = \{1, \dots, n_{s}\}$$
(P1)

where $\mathbf{x}(t)$, $\mathbf{z}(t)$ represent differential and algebraic states, respectively; $\mathbf{v}(t)$ are prescribed disturbances; \mathbf{d} are system design parameters. Such discretizations yield large and potentially unwieldy systems of DAEs, which must be solved in an efficient manner. Fortunately, the resulting uncertainty discretization and the fundamental multiple-shooting dynamic optimization approach that we have adopted [2], allows for the DAE solution to be implemented in a highly parallel manner.

Our focus of this talk will be on describing an algorithm for efficiently solving such large-scale multi-period DAE representations and its use within integrated design and control applications for improving computational performance. A unique aspect of our investigation is the combination of a multiple-shooting solution approach within a multi-period formulation, where our objective is increasing NLP solution speed through parallelizing the DAE integration tasks over each shooting interval and scenario realization. Realistic industrial case studies will be presented and numerical results (parallel speedup and efficiency) investigated and discussed; additionally, avenues for future research will be identified.

- [1] M.J. Mohideen, J.D. Perkins, and E.N. Pistikopoulos, *Optimal design of dynamic systems under uncertainty*, AIChE Journal **42**, 8, pp. 2251-2272 (1996).
- [2] D.B. Leineweber, I. Bauer, H.G. Bock and J.P. Schloder, An efficient multiple shooting based reduced SQP strategy for large-scale dynamic process optimization. Part 1: theoretical aspects, Computers and Chemical Engineering 27, pp. 157-166 (2003).

Quantum Control: Theory and Application (SS-QCTA)

Organizer:

Lian-Ao Wu (IKERBASQUE, Basque Foundation of Science, University of the Basque Country)

Control of quantum dynamics is of great interest and has become a general theme at the frontier of science and technology, driven by the latest technological developments in femtosecond laser physics, state-selective physical chemistry, materials synthesis, quantum information processing and quantum computing. While quantum control theory has been formulated based on fundamental quantum mechanics, its theoretical applications in specific areas, such as control of open systems, are still in progress. This session will focus on the recent developments of quantum control theory and its applications. In particular, master equation approaches of open systems, dynamical control, quantum simulations using optical lattices, spin ensembles, ultra-cold atoms, etc.

Experimental Novel and Robust Quantum Control of Single Electron Spin in Diamond

Jiangfeng Du¹

¹ Hefei National Laboratory for Physics Sciences at Microscale and Department of Modern Physics, University of Science and Technology of China, Hefei, China. djf@ustc.edu.cn

An accurate control over the dynamics of open systems is of great importance for nowadays quantum physics and engineering, such as quantum information processing, high resolution spectroscopy and quantum metrology. First, we report an experiment which demonstrates a robust control of an electron spin via continuous-wave dynamical decoupling (CWDD) method. The result shows that CWDD shares the merits of retaining the superiority of prolonging the coherence time and at the same time easily combining with quantum logic tasks. Second, we experimentally demonstrated universal quantum control of a single electron spin in diamond via SUPCODE, a type of dynamically corrected gates (DCGs). The decoherence effect, which is introduced by the nuclear spin bath, has been suppressed up to sixth order with five-piece SUPCODE pulses. Third, a novel manner of quantum manipulation is experiment demonstrated by using a nitrogen-vacancy (NV) center spin in diamond. We observe for the first time Rabi oscillations of the electron spin resulting from the interference between successive Landau-Zener processes in various regimes, including both slow and fast passage.

Scaling of Spin Qubit Decoherence in Semiconductors

Jo-Tzu Hung, Xuedong Hu

University at Buffalo, The State University of New York, USA, xhu@buffalo.edu

A crucial issue in spin-based quantum information processing is spin coherence. Decoherence of a single electron spin confined in a quantum dot or to a donor ion has been studied extensively, with hyperfine interaction to the environmental nuclear spins being identified as the most important channel of spin decoherence [1]. Decoherence of multiple-spin-qubit states is inevitably affected by singe-spin decoherence. Moreover, for exchange-coupled spin qubits, there are new decoherence channels beyond those for single spins because of the Coulombic nature of the exchange interaction [2]. Here we discuss our studies of two-spin [3] and three-spin [4] decoherence, including both known single-spin decoherence channels due to nuclear spins and new channels based on electrostatic coupling. Our results show that nuclear spins affect two- and three-spin states in a qualitatively similar manner as for single spin states, although there are interesting new twists when the orbital symmetry may lead to weaker hyperfine interaction. On the other hand, phonon induced dephasings depend strongly on the electrical features of the nanostructure, and could pose another constraint on two-qubit gates and quantum computing schemes based on two-and three-spin encoding [5].

References

- [1] L. Cywinski, W.M. Witzel and S. Das Sarma, *Electron Spin Dephasing due to Hyperfine Interactions with a Nuclear Spin Bath*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **102**, 057601 (2009).
- [2] X. Hu and S. Das Sarma, *Charge-Fluctuation-Induced Dephasing of Exchange-Coupled Spin Qubits*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **96**, 100501 (2006).

[3] J.T. Hung, L. Cywinski, X. Hu, and S. Das Sarma, *Hyperfine interaction induced dephasing of coupled spin qubits in semiconductor double quantum dots*, in preparation.

- [4] J.T. Hung and X. Hu, Three-spin dephasing in a semiconductor triple quantum dot, in preparation.
- [5] X. Hu, Two-spin dephasing by electron-phonon interaction in semiconductor double quantum dots, Phys. Rev. B 83, 165322 (2011).

Correlation Dynamics and Scaling Behavior of Two-Qubit System in the Spin-Chain Environments

Hai-Qing Lin¹, Yan-Chao Li¹, Jing-Bo Xu², Da-Wei Luo², Dao-Xin Yao³

¹ Beijing Computational Science Research Center

² Sun Yat-sen University

³ ZheJiang University

We study the dynamics of classical and quantum correlations for a two-qubit system in an XY spin-chain environment. A sudden transition is found to exist between classical and quantum decoherence with certain initial states. We show that the sudden transition happens near the critical point and it provides an alternative way to characterize the quantum phase transition. The environmental parameters have strong influence on the quantum discord (QD) decay rates. An interesting scaling behavior for the QD is obtained in the weak coupling limit. In the strong coupling limit, the classical correlation (CC) and the QD oscillate with time rapidly, but present regular distributions under a specific time interval. In addition, the decay parts of the CC and QD envelopes show Gaussian feature.

Tight-binding models for ultracold atoms in honeycomb optical lattices

J. Ibañez-Azpiroz^{1,2}, A. Eiguren^{1,2}, A. Bergara^{1,3}, G. Pettini⁴, M. Modugno^{5,6}

¹ Depto. de Física de la Materia Condensada, Universidad del Pais Vasco, UPV/EHU, 48080 Bilbao, Spain

² Donostia International Physics Center (DIPC), 20018 Donostia, Spain

³ Centro de Física de Materiales CFM, Centro Mixto CSIC-UPV/EHU, 20018 Donostia, Spain

⁴ Dipartimento di Fisica e Astronomia, Università di Firenze, and INFN, 50019 Sesto Fiorentino, Italy

⁵ Depto. de Física Teórica e Historia de la Ciencia, Universidad del Pais Vasco, UPV/EHU, 48080 Bilbao, Spain

⁶IKERBASQUE, Basque Foundation for Science, 48011 Bilbao, Spain, michele.modugno@ehu.es

We discuss how to construct tight-binding models for ultracold atoms in honeycomb potentials, by means of the maximally localized Wannier functions (MLWFs) for composite bands introduced by Marzari and Vanderbilt [Phys. Rev. B **56**, 12847 (1997)]. In particular, we work out the model with up to third-nearest neighbors, and provide explicit calculations of the MLWFs and of the tunneling coefficients for the graphene-like potential with two degenerate minima per unit cell. Finally, we discuss the degree of accuracy in reproducing the exact Bloch spectrum of different tight-binding approximations, in a range of typical experimental parameters.



Figure 1: (left) Sketch of the honeycomb lattice structure and the diamond-shaped elementary cell with basis *A* and *B*. The different types of tunneling considered are indicated for a site of type A. (right) Example of the calculated MLWFs. The solid and dashed lines depict the original unit cell and honeycomb lattice, respectively.

- [1] J. Ibañez-Azpiroz, A. Eiguren, A. Bergara, G. Pettini, and M. Modugno, *Tight binding models for ultracold atoms in honeycomb optical lattices*, Phys. Rev. A 87, 011602(R) (2013).
- [2] N. Marzari and D. Vanderbilt, Phys. Rev. B 56, 12847 (1997).
- [3] K. L. Lee, B. Grémaud, R. Han, B. G.Englert, and C. Miniatura, Phys. Rev. A 80, 043411 (2009).
- [4] M. Modugno and G. Pettini, New J. Phys. 14, 055004 (2012).

Fast and Robust Spin Manipulation in a Quantum Dot by Electric Fields

E. Ya. Sherman, Yue Ban, Xi Chen, J.G. Muga

University of Basque Country UPV/EHU, 48080, Bilbao, Spain, evgeny_sherman@ehu.es

Spin-orbit coupling allows for a direct spin manipulation by external time-dependent electric field [1,2]. However, the optimal strategy for this procedure has yet to be designed. Usually a periodic electric field is assumed to be applied to flip electron spin in a quantum dot [1]. However, corresponding Rabi frequency is rather low making the entire process prone to decohence. Here we propose a different approach and apply an invariant-based inverse engineering method to control, by time-dependent electric fields, the spin dynamics in a quantum dot in a weak magnetic field in the presence of a spin-orbit coupling of the Rashba and Dresselhaus types. The designed electric fields provide a shortcut to adiabatic processes that flip the spin rapidly, thus avoiding decoherence effects. This approach, being robust with respect to the device-dependent noise, can open new possibilities for spin-based quantum information processing.

References

[1] K. C. Nowack, F. H. L. Koppens, Yu. V. Nazarov, L. M. K. Vandersypen, *Coherent Control of a Single Electron Spin with Electric Fields*, Science **318**, 1430 (2007).

[2] E. I. Rashba and Al. L. Efros, *Orbital Mechanisms of Electron-Spin Manipulation by an Electric Field*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **91**, 126405 (2003).

Remarks on the (non-)controllability of Schrödinger equations

H. Teismann¹

¹ Acadia University, Wolfville, Canada, holger.teismann@acadiau.ca

After briefly reviewing some known results (focusing on exact control), I will discuss some of the obstacles to controllability and techniques for showing non-controllability specific to Schrödinger equations.

Cooling and Probing a Nanomechanical Resonator Coupled to a Double Quantum Dot

Jian-Qiang You^{1,2}

¹ Beijing Computational Science Research Center, China, jqyou@hotmail.com

² Fudan University, Shanghai, China

We study the cooling of a nanomechanical resonator (NAMR) that is capacitively coupled to a double quantum dot (DQD). The NAMR is cooled by the dynamical backaction induced by the capacitive coupling between the DQD and the NAMR. The DQD is excited by a microwave field and afterwards a tunneling event results in the decay of the excited state of the DQD. An important advantage of this system is that both the energy level splitting and the decay rate of the DQD can be well tuned by varying the gate voltage. We find that the steady average occupancy, below unity, of the NAMR can be achieved by changing both the decay rate of the excited state and the detuning between the transition frequency of the DQD and the microwave frequency, in analogy to the laser sideband cooling of an atom or trapped ion in atomic physics. Our results show that the cooling of the NAMR to the ground state is experimentally implementable.

Moreover, we propose a current correlation spectrum approach to probe the quantum behaviors of the NAMR coupled to a DQD. This DQD acts as a quantum transducer and is further coupled to a quantum-point contact (QPC). By measuring the current correlation spectrum of the QPC, shifts in the DQD energy levels, which depend on the phonon occupation in the NAMR, are determined, and thus quantum behaviors of the NAMR could be observed. In particular, the cooling of the NAMR into the quantum regime could be examined. In addition, the effects of the coupling strength between the DQD and the NAMR on these energy shifts are studied. We also investigate the impacts on the current correlation spectrum of the QPC due to the backaction from the charge detector on the DQD.

- [1] S.H. Ouyang, J.Q. You and F. Nori, *Cooling a mechanical resonator via coupling to a tunable double quantum dot*, Phys. Rev. B **79**, 075304 (2009).
- [2] Z.Z. Li, S.H. Ouyang, C.H. Lam and J.Q. You, Probing the quantum behavior of a nanomechanical resonator coupled to a double quantum dot, Phys. Rev. B 85, 235420 (2012).

Recent Progress in Spintronics: Experiment, Theory and Simulation (SS-RPSETS)

Organizers: Jingrun Chen (University of California Santa Barbara) Xu Yang (University of California Santa Barbara)

Spintronics refers to the active control and manipulation of spin degrees of freedom in solid-state physics. Its study is challenging, as it involves a number of processes at different time and length scales: polarization of the spin, transport and diffusion of the polarized spin between the ferromagnetic layers, and interaction with the underlying magnetization. Experimental results show that exploiting the spin of the electron can lead to technological advances and the design of devices with new functionality. The objective of this minisymposium is to bring together specialists in the field from different backgrounds, and facilitate the exchange of ideas and recent developments. Topics on experiment, theory and simulation will be discussed.

An Introduction to Spin Effects in Organic Solar Cells

Jingrun Chen¹

¹ University of California, Santa Barbara, USA, cjr@math.ucsb.edu

In organic solar cells, the exciton-phonon interaction is considered as the mechanism for spin flipping which can change an exciton from the singlet state to the triplet state. Subsequently, some properties in the organic material will be changed. For example, very large exciton diffusion length was observed for triplet excitons. In this talk, spin effects in organic solar cells will be reviewed.

Spin-polarized currents in ferromagnetic multilayers

J. Chen¹, <u>C.J. García-Cervera</u>¹, X.-P. Wang², and X. Yang¹

¹ Mathematics Department, University of California, Santa Barbara, USA, {cjr,cgarcia,xuyang}@math.ucsb.edu

² Department of Mathematics, Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, Hong Kong, mawang@ust.hk

We present a semi-implicit numerical method for micromagnetics simulations, in the presence of spin-currents. The dynamics of the magnetization are described by the Landau-Lifshitz-Gilbert equation, while the dynamics of the spin are described by a diffusion equation with discontinuous coefficients. The complexity of the method presented is comparable to that of solving the linear heat equation with the Backward Euler method. To illustrate the procedure, we carry out three dimensional simulations of the magnetization reversal process in a magnetic multilayer when a current flows perpendicular to the layers. Spin-polarized currents are shown to decrease the coercive field, and to induce magnetization reversal even in the absence of external magnetic fields.

- C.J. García-Cervera and X.-P. Wang, Advances in Numerical Micromagnetics: Spin-Polarized Transport, Bol. Soc. Esp. Mat. Apl., 34, pp. 217–221 (2006).
- [2] C.J. García-Cervera and X.-P. Wang, Spin-Polarized Transport: Existence of Weak Solutions, Discrete and Continuous Dynamical Systems, series B, 7(1), pp. 87–100 (2007).
- [3] C.J. García-Cervera and X.-P. Wang, *Spin-Polarized Currents in Ferromagnetic Multilayers*, J. Comp. Phys., **224**(2), pp. 699–711 (2007).
- [4] J. Chen, C.J. García-Cervera and X. YAng, Diffusion models for Spin-Polarized currents, in preparation, (2013).

Magnetic Ordering and Thermally Enhanced Magnetism in Quantum Dots

J. M. Pientka¹, R. Oszwałdowski², A. G. Petukhov³, J. E. Han⁴, Igor Žutić⁵

¹ University at Buffalo – SUNY, Buffalo, USA, pientka@buffalo.edu

²University at Buffalo – SUNY, Buffalo, USA, rmo4@buffalo.edu

³ South Dakota School of Mines and Technology, Rapid City, USA, Andre.Petukhov@sdsmt.edu

⁴ University at Buffalo – SUNY, Buffalo, USA, jonghan@buffalo.edu

⁵ University at Buffalo – SUNY, Buffalo, USA, zigor@buffalo.edu

Magnetic quantum dots (QDs) can be viewed as tunable nanomagnets providing an enhanced control of magnetic ordering as compared to their bulk-like counterparts [1, 2]. Recent experimental advances in fabricating such structures, both as epitaxially grown self-assembled QDs [3] and solution processed colloidal nanocrystals [4, 5], pose interesting challenges for their modeling. On one hand, a widely used mean-field description of magnetism ignores fluctuations in magnetization. Fluctuation effects are essential for these nanomagnets, as these systems are too small to be in a thermodynamic limit. A prime example, is the formation of a magnetic polaron (MP). A MP can be viewed as a cloud of localized impurity spins, aligned through exchange interaction with a single localized carrier (electron or hole) spin. A mean-field solution gives spurious phase transitions which are removed when fluctuations are taken into account. On the other hand, high photo-excitation experiments can create multiple carrier occupancies in the QDs. Therefore, we need to generalize the concept of MP. We show that double occupancy (two electron or holes) can lead to the formation of a magnetic bipolaron (MBP) [6, 7] and several surprising effects e.g. (i) magnetic ordering is even possible in a closed shell system (expected, like noble gases, to be magnetically inert), (ii) thermally enhanced magnetic ordering [8], (iii) nonmonotonic behavior of experimentally observable photoluminescence. We show that the standard mean-field treatment of MPs and MBPs leads to unphysical phase transitions. We reveal how this spurious effect is removed when fluctuations are correctly taken into account. Our studies of magnetic ordering, motivated also by recent experiments [3] in (Zn,Mn)Te/ZnSe QDs, are corroborated by independent Monte Carlo simulations [9]. This work was supported by DOE-BES, AFOSR-DCT, U.S. ONR, and NSF-DMR.

- [1] R. M. Abolfath, A. G. Petukhov, and I. Žutić, Phys. Rev. Lett. 101, 207202 (2008)
- [2] I. Žutić, A. G. Petukhov, Nature Mater. 5, 623 (2009)
- [3] I. R. Sellers, R. Oszwałdowski, V. R. Whiteside, M. Eginligil, A. Petrou, I. Žutić, W.-C. Chou, W. C. Fan, A. G. Petukhov, S. J. Kim, A. N. Cartwright, and B. D. McCombe, Phys. Rev. B 82, 195320 (2010).
- [4] R. Beaulac, L. Schneider, P. I. Archer, G. Bacher, and D. R. Gamelin, Science 325, 973 (2009).
- [5] P. V. Radovanovic and D. R. Gamelin , Phys. Rev. Lett. 91, 157202 (2003)
- [6] R. Oszwałdowski, I. Žutić, A. G. Petukhov, Phys. Rev. Lett. 106, 177201 (2011)
- [7] R. Oszwałdowski, P. Stano, A. G. Petukhov, I. Žutić, Phys. Rev. R. 86, 201408(R) (2012)
- [8] J. M. Pientka, R.Oszwałdowski, A. G. Petukhov, J. E. Han, and I. Žutić, Phys. Rev. B. 86, 161403(R) (2012).
- [9] J. M. Pientka, R.Oszwałdowski, A. G. Petukhov, J. E. Han, and I. Žutić, preprint (2013).

Domain Wall Trajectory Determined by its Fractional Topological Edge Defects

A. Pushp¹, T. Phung^{1, 2}, C. Rettner¹, B. P. Hughes¹, S.-H. Yang¹, L. Thomas¹, S.S.P. Parkin¹

¹IBM Almaden Research Center, San Jose, California 95120, USA

²Department of Electrical Engineering, Stanford University, Stanford, California 94305, USA

The theory of topological defects has had a significant influence on the understanding of various physical phenomena ranging from superfluid Helium-3 to liquid crystals. Topological defects are general features in systems with broken symmetries such as head-to-head (HH) and tail-to-tail (TT) domain walls (DWs) in soft ferromagnetic nanowires (NWs). Such DWs are further composed of elementary topological bulk and edge defects with integer and fractional winding numbers, respectively; whose relative spatial arrangement determines the chirality of the DW. Understanding the influence of the DW structure on its motion is critical for both fundamental and technological reasons. In this talk, we will show how one can understand and control the trajectory of DWs in magnetic branched networks, composed of connected NWs, by a consideration of their fractional elementary topological defects and how they interact with those innate to the network. We will describe a simple yet a highly reliable mechanism that we have developed for the injection of a DW of a given chirality into a NW and exploit it to show that it is the DW's chirality that determines which branch the DW follows at a symmetric Y-shaped magnetic junction - the fundamental building block of the network. Using these concepts, we will unravel the microscopic origin of the one-dimensional (1D) nature of magnetization reversal of artificial spin ice systems that have been observed in the form of Dirac strings. This understanding will allow for the formation of more complex chiral magnetic orders by controllably generating and propagating several domain walls of specific chiralities into artifical spin ice structures to form defined lattices of Dirac strings.

Switching current and thermal stability of perpendicular-anisotropy CoFeB-MgO based magnetic tunnel junctions

H. Sato¹, M. Yamanouchi^{1,2}, S. Ikeda^{1,2}, S. Fukami¹, F. Matsukura^{1,2,3}, and H. Ohno^{1,2,3}

¹ Center for Spintronics Integrated Systems, Tohoku University, Japan

² Laboratory for Nanoelectronics and Spintronics, Research Institute of Electrical Communication, Tohoku University, Japan

³ WPI Advanced Institute for Materials Research (WPI-AIMR), Tohoku University, Japan

Nonvolatile logic and memory are attracting much attention because those have a potential in offering reductions of power consumption and interconncetion delay [1]. Magnetic tunnel junction (MTJ) is a candidate for their building block, and therefore intensively studied. It was reported that CoFeB-MgO MTJ with perpendicular easy-axis (p-MTJ), where perpendicular magnetic anisotropy is attributed to intrefacial anisotropy at CoFeB-MgO interface [2], have a high potential to be used with CMOS logic [3]; high tunnel magnetoresistance (> 100%), low intrinsic critical current ($I_{C0} \sim 50 \mu A$), a relatively high thermal stability factor ($\Delta \sim 40$), and annealing stability up to 350°C at a junction size of 40 nm in diameter. Δ of CoFeB-MgO shows almost constant value down to critical size [4, 5], below which Δ starts to decrease [6]. We showed that Δ of CoFeB-MgO p-MTJs increase linearly with increasing the recording layer thickness [7]. Since perpendicular magnetic anisotropy of CoFeB-MgO system is originated from interfacial anisotropy, use of double CoFeB-MgO interfaces allow one to increase the recording layer thickness while keeping perpendicular easy axis. We adopted MgO/CoFeB/Ta/CoFeB/MgO recording layer structure to increase the recoding layer thickness in which Ta thin layer was inserted for boron absorption from CoFeB layers [8]. Results show that Δ increases by a factor of 1.9 in the recording structure with comparison to that of single-interface CoFeB-MgO p-MTJs at a junction size of 70 nm ϕ while keeping comparable I_{C0} . In similar p-MTJs with double-interface, higher Δ compared to those with single-interface was also reported [9, 10]. We further studied the recording structure at a reduced dimension of 29 nm ϕ where high Δ of 59 was obtained [11].

This research was supported by the FIRST program of JSPS, and Research and Development for Next-Generation Information Technology of MEXT.

References

- [1] H. Ohno, T. Endoh, T. Hanyu, N. Kasai, and S. Ikeda, IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM) Technical Digest 2010, p. 218.
- [2] M. Endo, S. Kanai, S. Ikeda, F. Matsukura, and H. Ohno, Appl. Phys. Lett. 96, 212503 (2010).
- [3] S. Ikeda, K. Miura, H. Yamamoto, K. Mizunuma, H. D. Gan, M. Endo, S. Kanai, J. Hayakawa, F. Matsukura, and H. Ohno, Nature Mater. 9, 721 (2010).
- [4] H. Sato, M. Yamanouchi, K. Miura, S. Ikeda, H. D. Gan, K. Mizunuma, R. Koizumi, F. Matsukura, and H. Ohno, Appl. Phys. Lett. 99, 042501 (2011).
- [5] J. Z. Sun, R. P. Robertazzi, J. Nowak, P. L. Trouilloud, G. Hu, D. W. Abraham, M. C. Gaidis, S. L. Brown, E. J. O'Sullivan, W. J. Gallagher, and D. C. Worledge, Phy. Rev. B 84, 064413 (2011).
- [6] M. Gajek, J. J. Nowak, J. Z. Sun, P. L. Trouilloud, E. J. O'Sullivan, D. W. Abraham, M. C. Gaidis, G. Hu, S. Brown, Y. Zhu, R. P.

Robertazzi, W. J. Gallagher, and D. C. Worledge, Appl. Phys. Lett. 100, 132408 (2012).

- [7] H. Sato, M. Yamanouchi, K. Miura, S. Ikeda, R. Koizumi, F. Matsukura, and H. Ohno, IEEE Magn. Lett. 3, 3000204 (2012).
- [8] H. Sato, M. Yamanouchi, S. Ikeda, S. Fukami, F. Matsukura, and H. Ohno, Appl. Phys. Lett. 101, 022414 (2012).
- [9] J. H. Park, Y. Kim, W. C. Lim, S. H. Park, J. H. Kim, W. Kim, K. W. Kim, J. H. Jeong, K. S. Kim, H. Kim, Y. J. Lee, S. C. Oh, J. E. Lee, S. O. Park, S. Watts, D. Apalkov, V. Nikitin, M Krounbi, S. Jeong, S. Choi, H. K. Kang, and C. Chung, in Symp. VLSI Technology Dig. Tech. Paper, 2012, pp. 58-59.
- [10]G. Jan, Y. J. Wang, T. Moriyama, Y. J. Lee, M. Lin, T. Zhong, R. Y. Tong, T. Torng, Appl. Phys. Express 5, 093008 (2012).
- [11]H. Sato, M. Yamnouchi, S. Ikeda, S. Fukami, F. Matsukura, and H. Ohno, IEEE Trans. Magn. (to be published).

Effective dynamics of electrons in crystal

X. Yang¹

¹ University of California, Santa Barbara, xuyang@math.ucsb.edu

We study the dynamics of interacting electrons based on the time dependent density functional theory. Specifically we derived the homogenized Maxwell equations for crystalline insulator. The dynamics of electrons were considered in the high frequency regime under the external macroscopic electromagnetic fields.

Recent Trends in Differential Equations and Dynamical Systems (SS-RTDEDS)

Organizers: Xinzhi Liu (University of Waterloo) Mohamad Alwan (University of Waterloo) Hongtao Zhang (University of Waterloo)

There has been much progress in differential equations and dynamical systems in recent years. This session will consist of several leading experts and active researchers to give lectures that cover the recent trends in this area.

Input-to-State Stability of Large-Scale Stochastic Impulsive Systems with Time Delay and Application

M.S. Alwan¹, X.Z. Liu², W.-C. Xie³

¹University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, malwan@uwaterloo.ca ²University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, xzliu@uwaterloo.ca

³University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, xie@uwaterloo.ca

This paper deals with large-scale nonlinear delay stochastic systems where the system states are subject to impulsive effects and perturbed by some input uncertainty having bounded energy. The random noise is represented by a Wiener (or Brownian motion) process, and the time delay is finite. Precisely, the interest is to establish the property of input-to-state stability in the mean square. A Vector Lyapunov function, Razumikhin-type technique, and comparison principle are used to develop Lyapunov-like sufficient conditions to prove the qualitative properties. Some special cases and application to a control system are given to justify the theoretical results.

Viability for a time-dependent domain with respect to a reaction-diffusion system with delay

Monica-Dana Burlică¹ and Daniela Roşu²

¹ "G. Asachi" Technical University, Iaşi, Romania, monicaburlica@yahoo.com

² "G. Asachi" Technical University, Iasi, Romania, rosudaniela100@yahoo.com

Let X, Y be real Banach spaces, let $I = [a, b] \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ be a nonempty and bounded interval and let $A : D(A) \subseteq X \to X$ and $B: D(B) \subseteq Y \to Y$ be the infinitesimal generators of two C_0 -semigroups.

If Z is a Banach space and $\sigma > 0$, we denote by $C_{\sigma}^{Z} = C([-\sigma, 0]; Z)$ endowed with the norm

$$\|\psi\|_{\sigma;Z} = \sup\{\|\psi(t)\|_Z; t \in [-\sigma, 0]\}.$$

If $w \in C([\tau - \sigma, T]; Z)$, where Z = X or Z = Y, then for each $t \in [\tau, T]$ we denote by $w_t \in C_{\sigma}^Z$ the function $w_t(s) = w(t+s)$ for $s \in [-\sigma, 0]$.

Let $K: I \rightsquigarrow X \times Y$ be a multi-function with nonempty values, let

$$\mathcal{K} = \{(t, \psi, \eta) \in I \times C^X_{\sigma} \times C^Y_{\sigma}; (\psi(0), \eta(0)) \in K(t)\}$$

and let $F: \mathcal{K} \to X$ and $G: \mathcal{K} \to Y$ be two multi-functions with nonempty, convex and weakly compact values. Our aim here is to prove some new necessary and sufficient conditions in order that \mathcal{K} be viable with respect to the delay reaction-diffusion system

(1)
$$\begin{cases} u'(t) = Au(t) + f(t), \ f(t) \in F(t, u_t, v_t), \ t \ge \tau, \\ v'(t) = Bv(t) + g(t), \ g(t) \in G(t, u_t, v_t), \ t \ge \tau, \end{cases}$$

which means that for each $(\tau, \psi, \eta) \in \mathcal{K}$, there exist $T > \tau$ and a continuous function $(u, v) : [\tau - \sigma, T] \to X \times Y$ satisfying $(t, u_t, v_t) \in \mathcal{K}$ for $t \in [\tau, T]$ and (u, v) is a mild solution of the system (1) satisfying $u(t) = \psi(t - \tau)$ and $v(t) = \eta(t-\tau)$ for $t \in [\tau - \sigma, \tau]$. Of course, it is understood that $f \in L^1(\tau, T; X)$ and $g \in L^1(\tau, T; Y)$.

For previous viability results on abstract reaction-diffusion systems without delay see: Burlică [1], Burlică and Roşu [2], Necula and Vrabie [4], Roşu [5] and the references therein.

We emphasize that our main theorem is a nontrivial extension to abstract reaction-diffusion systems of a very recent result of Necula and Popescu [3].

In order to illustrate to power of our abstract result, we prove the existence of monotone solutions to a specific reaction diffusion system, i.e. for $X = Y = L^1(\Omega)$ with Ω a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^n with sufficiently smooth boundary Γ , $A = \alpha \Delta$ and $B = \beta \Delta$ subjected to Dirichlet boundary conditions, where $\alpha > 0$ and $\beta > 0$.

- [1] M. Burlică, Viability for multi-valued semilinear reaction-diffusion systems, Annals of the Academy of Romanian Scientists, 2, 3-24 (2010).
- [2] M. Burlică and D. Roşu, The Initial Value and the Periodic Problems for a Class of Reaction-Diffusion Systems, Dynamics of Con-
- *tinuous, Discrete and Impulsive Systems, Serie A: Mathematical Analysis,* **15**, 427-444 (2008). [3] M. Necula and M. Popescu, Viability of a time dependent closed set with respect to a semilinear delay evolution inclusion, submitted. [4] M. Necula and I. I. Vrabie, A viability result for a class of fully nonlinear reaction-diffusion systems, *Nonlinear Anal.*, **69**, 1732–1743 (2008)
- [5] D. Roşu, Viability for nonlinear multi-valued reaction-diffusion systems, NoDEA Nonlinear Differ. Equ. Appl., 17, 479–496 (2010).

Classification of Solutions of Second Order Nonlinear Neutral Delay Dynamic Equations

S. Panigrahi

University of Hyderabad, Hyderabad, India, spsm@uohyd.ernet.in

In this paper, the oscillatory and nonoscillatory behaviour of solutions of the nonlinear neutral dynamic equations

$$[r(t)[x(t) + c(t)x(\alpha(t))]^{\Delta}]^{\Delta} + p(t)f^{\sigma}(x(\beta(t))) - q(t)g^{\sigma}(x(\gamma(t))) = 0, \quad t \ge t_0$$
(1)

are discussed. Where $c, r, p, q \in C_{rd}([t_0, \infty)_{\mathbb{T}}, \mathbb{R})$ with $q(t), r(t) > 0; f, g \in C_{rd}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}); \alpha, \beta, \gamma \in C_{rd}(\mathbb{T}, \mathbb{T})$, and $\alpha(t), \beta(t), \gamma(t) \leq t$ increasing and $\lim_{t\to\infty} \alpha(t) = \lim_{t\to\infty} \beta(t) = \lim_{t\to\infty} \gamma(t) = \infty$, and $\sigma : \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{T}$ is a forward operator given by $\sigma(t) = \inf\{s \in \mathbb{T} : s > t\}$ for all $t \in \mathbb{T}$. We consider two cases, $p \geq 0$, and p changes sign, and give sufficient conditions for every solutions of equation (1) oscillate and also investigate asymptotic behaviour of nonoscillatory solutions. Examples are given to validate our results.

- [1] M. Bohner, A. Peterson, Dynamic Equations on Time Scales: An Introduction with Applications, Birkhäuser, Boston, 2001.
- [2] M. Bohner, A. Peterson, Advances in Dynamic Equations on Time Scales, Birkhäuser, Boston, 2003.
- [3] M. Cecchi and M. Marini, Oscillatory and nonoscillatory behaviour of a second order functional differential equations, Rocky Mountain J. Math. 22, pp. 1259-1276 (1992).
- [4] E. Thandapani and M. M. S. Manuel, Oscillatory and nonoscillatory behaviourof second order quasilinear differential equation, Diff. Eqns Dyn. Syst. 6 pp. 289-301 (1998).
- [5] E. Thandapani, V. Muthulakshmi, and John R. Graef, *Classification of solutions of second order nonlinear neutral delay differential equations with positive and negative coefficients*, Inter J. Pure and Appl. Math. **64** pp. 159-170 (2010).

A class of reaction-diffusion systems with mixed initial conditions

Monica-Dana Burlică¹, Daniela Roşu², Ioan I. Vrabie³

¹ "G. Asachi" Technical University, Iaşi, Romania, monicaburlica@yahoo.com

² "G. Asachi" Technical University, Iaşi, Romania, rosudaniela100@yahoo.com

³ "Al. I. Cuza" University, Iasi, Romania, ivrabie@uaic.ro

We prove a global existence, uniqueness and uniform asymptotic stability result for C^0 -solutions to a class of nonlinear delay reaction-diffusion system subjected to mixed initial conditions

(1)
$$\begin{cases} u'(t) \in Au(t) + F(t, u_t, v_t), & t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \\ v'(t) \in Bv(t) + G(t, u_t, v_t), & t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \\ u(t) = p(u)(t), & t \in [-\tau, 0], \\ v(t) = \varphi(t), & t \in [-\tau, 0]. \end{cases}$$

Here *X*, *Y* are Banach spaces, $A: D(A) \subseteq X \rightsquigarrow X$, $B: D(B) \subseteq Y \rightsquigarrow Y$ are *m*-dissipative operators, $\tau \ge 0$, while *F*: $\mathbb{R}_+ \times C([-\tau,0];\overline{D(A)}) \times C([-\tau,0];\overline{D(B)}) \to X \text{ and } G: \mathbb{R}_+ \times C([-\tau,0];\overline{D(A)}) \times C([-\tau,0];\overline{D(B)}) \to Y \text{ are jointly}$ continuous and Lipschitz with respect to their two last arguments and $p: C_b([-\tau, +\infty); \overline{D(A)}) \to C([-\tau, 0]; \overline{D(A)})$ is nonexpansive and the initial history $\varphi \in C_b([-\tau, +\infty); Y)$.

If $Z \subseteq X$, $C_b(I;Z)$ denotes the space of all bounded and continuous functions from the interval I to X, satisfying $u(t) \in Z$ for each $t \in I$ equipped with uniform convergence topology. As usual, if $u \in C_b([-\tau, +\infty); X)$ and $t \in I$ $[0, +\infty), u_t : [-\tau, 0] \to X$ denotes the continuous delayed function defined by $u_t(s) := u(t+s)$ for each $s \in [-\tau, 0]$. Similarly, one defines $C_b(I;Y)$, $C_b(I;\overline{D(B)})$ and v_t .

We notice that, $p(u)(t) = u(t+2\pi)$ for $t \in [-\tau, 0]$, leads to a 2π -periodic condition for the unknown function u, while $p(u)(t) = -u(t+2\pi)$ for $t \in [-\tau, 0]$, yields a 2π -anti-periodic condition. Further, if the function p is defined by $p(u)(t) = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} k(t,s)u(t+s)ds$, we obtain a mean condition on u.

For previous results on abstract reaction-diffusion systems subjected to initial or to periodic conditions see: Burlică [1], Burlică and Roşu [2], Díaz and Vrabie [5], Necula and Vrabie [7], Roşu [8] and the references therein.

The increasing interest in the study of such kind of evolution equations and systems with nonlocal initial conditions is motivated by the fact that they represent mathematical models of various phenomena, as for instance those described in Deng [4] and McKibben [6, Section 10.2, pp. 394–398]. The results in this talk will appear in Burlica, Roşu and Vrabie [3].

- [1] M. Burlică, Viability for multi-valued semilinear reaction-diffusion systems, Annals of the Academy of Romanian Scientists, 2, 3-24
- [2] M. Burlică and D. Roşu, The Initial Value and the Periodic Problems for a Class of Reaction-Diffusion Systems, Dynamics of Continuous, Discrete and Impulsive Systems, Serie A: Mathematical Analysis, 15, 427-444 (2008).

- [3] M. Burlică, D. Roşu and I. I. Vrabie, Astract reaction-diffusion systems with nonlocal initial conditions, submitted.
 [4] K. Deng, Exponential decay of solutions of semilinear parabolic equations with initial boundary conditions, *J. Math. Anal. Appl.*, **179**, 630-637 (1993)
- [5] J. I. Díaz and I. I. Vrabie, Existence for reaction diffusion systems: A compactness method approach, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 188, 521-540 (1994).
- [6] M. McKibben, Discovering evolution equations with applications. Vol. I Deterministic Models, Chapman & Hall/CRC Appl. Math. Nonlinear Sci. Ser., 2011.
- [7] M. Necula and I. I. Vrabie, A viability result for a class of fully nonlinear reaction-diffusion systems, Nonlinear Anal., 69, 1732–1743 (2008).
- [8] D. Roşu, Viability for nonlinear multi-valued reaction-diffusion systems, NoDEA Nonlinear Differ. Equ. Appl., 17, 479–496 (2010).
Orthogonal separation of variables in spaces of constant curvature

Roman Smirnov

We will review some recent advances in the theory of orthogonal separation of variables within the framework of the invariant theory of Killing tensors.

Power geometry for a reversible system of ordinary differential equations

A. Soleev

Samarkand State University, Uzbekistan, asoleev@yandex.ru

We consider reversible system of ODEs fourth order depending on two small parameters $X'' = (x_5, x_6)$:

$$\dot{X}' = \Phi(X', X''), \ X' \in \mathbb{R}^4, \ \dot{X}'' = 0, \ X'' \in \mathbb{R}^2.$$
 (1)

Here X = (X', X''), $X' = (x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4)$, where $\Phi(0, X'') = 0$, and the point X' = 0 is stationary, and the matrix of the unperturbed linear part *L* in X = 0 is a Jordan block with four-fold zero eigenvalue. Also it is supposed, system (1) is invariant under the substitution $X', X'', t \to SX', X'', -t$, where $SX' = (x_1, -x_2, x_3, -x_4)$, i.e. the property of reversibility of system (1) means that

$$S\Phi(X',X'') = -\Phi(SX',X'').$$
 (2)

Such a system appears in Hydrodynamics. For example, the problem of surface water waves for the Bond number *b* close to 1/3 and the Froude number $\tilde{\lambda}$ close to 1 is transformed into system (1) as a result of reduction on the center manifold (see [3]).

The solutions to the system (1) are studied in the neighborhood of the stationary point X = 0 in the following way. The linear part of system (1), which depends on parameters, is reduced to the normal form. The lower triangular matrix of parameters is obtained, in such a way that each its diagonal consists of equal parameters. In the second diagonal from below and in the main diagonal there are only zeros because of the property (2). We discover the support $D \in R^6$ of system (1), i.e. the set of power exponents and using it we computed Newton polyhedron in R^6 by the program (see [1-2]). With the table of correspondence we extract all the set of truncated systems. We obtained only five truncated systems of maximal "dimension" five. Among them there is the basic truncated system which after the power transformation (see [1-2]) which the number of parameters is reduced to one and this system is reduced to the system

$$\dot{y}_1 = y_2, \quad \dot{y}_2 = \sigma y_1 + y_3, \quad \dot{y}_3 = \sigma y_2 + y_4, \quad \dot{y}_4 = v y_1 + \sigma y_3 + a y_1^2,$$
(3)

where $\sigma = \pm 1$, parameters v and $a \in R$. It is shown that system (3) is a Hamiltonian one and it has only two independent quadratic first integrals. The main result of this work is the existence of new families of periodic waves and of new families of quasi-periodic waves for v < 0, which we have received.

Here we demonstrated the effectiveness of methods of Power Geometry (see [1,4]) for the investigation of rather complicated singularities on the example of system (1). We tried to use as simple algorithms of computations as possible, which allowed us to complete computations to the end.

- [1] A.D. Bruno, Power geometry in algebraic and differential equations, Elsevier 386 p. (2000).
- [2] A.D.Bruno, A.Soleev, The local analysis of singularities of a reversible ODE system, Moscow Math.Soc. 59, pp. 1-64 (1998).
- [3] G Iooss, A codimension 2 bifurcation for reversible vector fields, Fields Institute Communications. 4, pp. 201-217 (1995).
- [4] A.D. Bruno, Space Power Geometry for an ODE and Painlev'e equations in International Conference "Painlev'e Equations and Related Topics St. Petersburg, June, pp. 36-41 (2011).

Recent results on stability of open-loop and closed-loop switched systems

P. Stechlinski¹, X. Liu¹

¹ University of Waterloo, Canada, {xzliu,pstechli}@uwaterloo.ca

There has recently been an increased interest in the study of switched systems, which are systems that evolve according to mode-dependent dynamics and experience abrupt changes between modes, triggered by threshold events. These types of systems can model interesting and important problems in many different fields of research, such as applied mathematics, control engineering, computer science, and biology. From a control perspective, it may be possible to stabilize a system using switching control, where continuous control is not suitable or cannot be found. In this talk, two stabilizing switching control strategies are analyzed and compared: the first is time-dependent switching control (the open-loop switched control problem), where the switching rule and switching times are programmed into the data in advance. The second approach is using state-dependent switching control (the closed-loop switched control problem), where a state-dependent switching rule is constructed that uses the current state of the system. Switched systems with nonlinearities, delays, and impulses are considered and sufficient conditions are given which guarantee stabilization.

An Explicit Recursive Formula for Computing the Normal Form and Center Manifold of *n*-dimensional Differential Systems Associated with Semisimple Cases

<u>Y. Tian</u>¹, P. Yu²

¹ Western University, London, Canada, ytian56@uwo.ca

² Western University, London, Canada, pyu@uwo.ca

Normal form theory is usually applied in the study of nonlinear differential systems together with center manifold theory. Using center manifold theory could help us find a locally invariant manifold with smaller dimension. Normal form theory is to introduce a series of nonlinear transformations to the center manifold and to get a new simpler system without topological structure being changed around a singular point. Hence a new system in a simpler form could be derived when both these theories are applied.

There are two critical parts in the computation of normal forms, computer algebra systems and methodologies. A computer algebra system, like Maple or Mathematica, must be used in computing normal forms, particularly when higher-order normal forms are needed. Several computationally efficient methodologies have been developed in the past decade, such as the method of multiple time scales combined with a perturbation technique and the method of Poincaré-Lyapunov constants, see Refs. [1, 2, 3]. These methods have been applied to a number of singularities such as Hopf, Hopf-zero, double Hopf, etc.

In this talk, we focus on general *n*-dimensional systems associated with semisimple cases, i.e. the Jacobian matrix of the linearized system evaluated at a singular point can be transformed into a diagonal Jordan canonical form. For the normal form and center manifold, an explicit, computationally efficient, recursive formula is presented, based on the coefficients of the original differential systems. Maple program is also developed based on the analytical formulas, and shown to be computationally efficient, with illustrative examples.

- [1] J. Giné and X. Santallusia, On the Poincaré-Lyapunov constants and the Poincaré series, Appl. Math. (Warsaw) 28, 1, pp. 17-30 (2001).
- [2] P. Yu, Computation of the normal forms via a perturbation technique, J. Sound and Vibration 211, 1, pp. 19-38 (1998).
- [3] P. Yu, A simple and efficient method for computing center manifold and normal forms associated with semisimple cases, Dynamics of Continuous, Discrete and Impulsive Systems, Series B: Applications and Algorithms **10**, (1-3), pp. 273-286 (2003).

Chaos Entanglement: Leading Unstable Linear Systems to Chaos

Hongtao Zhang^{1,2}, Xinzhi Liu¹, Xianguo Li²

¹ Department of Applied Mathematics, University of Waterloo
 200 University Avenue West, Waterloo, Ontario N2L 3G1, Canada.
 ² Department of Mechanical and Mechatronics Engineering, University of Waterloo
 200 University Avenue West, Waterloo, Ontario N2L 3G1, Canada.
 {h15zhang,xzliu,x6li}@uwaterloo.ca

Chaos phenomena, characterized by the so-called "butterfly effect" [1], are found in many fields such as physics, biology, philosophy, economics, engineering, etc. Due to its sensitivity to initial conditions and unpredictable essence, chaos has attracted significant attention since Lorenz published his landmark study on a mathematical model for weather prediction in 1963 [2]. The interest in chaos phenomenon is shifting the focus from eliminating chaos at the early stage to applying chaos in practice recently. Specifically, since chaos synchronization was presented by Pecora and Carroll in 1990 [3], chaotic systems became useful tools in engineering applications, for instance, the chaotic carrier for secure communication. Accordingly, designing and implementing new artificial chaotic systems have become an active topic of research.

Poincaré-Bendixson theorem implies the necessary condition for an autonomous continuous system to behave chaotically is at least 3-dimensional with at least one nonlinearity. Linear systems could not yield chaotic dynamics. However, in reality linear systems exist far and wide while chaos seems to only occur in rare specific circumstances. Does there exist a bridge to connect linear systems and chaos such that chaos phenomenon can be generated and observed as widely as what linear systems do? The answer is **YES**. In [4], we presented a new approach called chaos entanglement to achieve chaotic dynamics by entangling two or multiple **stable** linear subsystems.

To further explore the potential of chaos entanglement, in this paper, we study chaos entanglement with **unstable** linear subsystems. Different from entangling stable linear subsystems, the challenging problem here is how to guarantee the boundedness of the whole system which is a necessary condition for generating chaos. Firstly, a new entanglement function is presented. One can utilize it to entangle three identical 1-dimensional unstable linear subsystems to generate chaos, or entangle two unstable linear subsystems with different parameters and different dimensions, or even entangle a large number of unstable linear subsystems to form an artificial chaotic network. Furthermore, dynamical analysis shows that the entangled subsystems are bounded and all equilibra are unstable saddle points once chaos entanglement is achieved. In addition, numerical computation confirms that this system possesses one positive Lyapunov exponent, which implies chaos. Along this way, by different unstable linear subsystems and different entanglement functions, a variety of novel chaotic attractors have been created and abundant complex dynamics are exhibited. Our finding indicates that chaos entanglement could be utilized as a guideline to effectively create desired chaotic systems/networks for engineering applications.

- [2] E. N. Lorenz, Deterministic nonperiodic flow, J. Atmos. Sci. 20, pp. 130-141 (1963).
- [3] L. Pecora and T. Carroll, *Synchronization in chaotic systems*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **64**, pp. 821-824 (1990).
- [4] H. Zhang, X. Liu, X. Shen, and J. Liu, Chaos entanglement: a new approach to generate chaos, Int. J. Bifurcation Chaos, to appear.

^[1] E. N. Lorenz, Predictability: does the flap of a butterfly's wings in brazil set off a tornado in texas? in Annual Meeting, Am. Assoc. for the Adv. of Sci., Washington, DC (1979).

Impulsive Control and Synchronization of Spatiotemporal Chaos in Gray-Scott Model

Kexue Zhang¹, Xinzhi Liu², Wei-Chau Xie³

¹ Department of Applied Mathematics, University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, k57zhang@uwaterloo.ca

² Department of Applied Mathematics, University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, xzliu@uwaterloo.ca

³ Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, xie@uwaterloo.ca

As an interesting and complex nonlinear phenomenon, chaos occurs in many natural systems, such as biology networks, electrical circuits, lasers, oscillating chemical reactions, fluid dynamics. Since the landmark work by Otti, Grebogi and Yorke, controlling chaos has become an important aspect of chaos theory. Recently, the method of impulsive control has gained renewed interest due to its applications in many areas such as orbital transfer of satellite, ecosystems management, and chaos synchronization for secure communication. It has been proved to be an effective method to stabilize the chaotic system.

Synchronization of chaotic systems is one of the most interesting and significant phenomena of chaotic systems, which has been widely used in secure communication. As there are so many results about the impulsive control of dynamic systems modeled by ordinary differential equations, it is natural to study the impulsive control of dynamic systems modeled by partial differential equations. In this talk, we investigate the impulsive control and synchronization of spatiotemporal chaos in Gray-Scott model[1]. Inspired by the idea in [2], a new pinning impulsive controller is designed to stabilize and synchronize the spatiotemporal chaos in Grey-Scott model can be forced to some desired states by placing the impulsive controllers on one state of the system at each impulsive instant. Numerical simulations are given to illustrate the effectiveness of the theoretical results.

- P. Gray, S. K. Scott, Autocatalytic reactions in the isothermal, continuous stirred reactor, Chemical Engineering Science, 39, 6, pp. 1087-1097 (1984).
- [2] J. Lu, J. Kurths, J. Cao, N. Mahdavi, C. Huang, *Synchronization control for nonlinear stochastic dynamic networks: pinning impulsive strategy*, IEEE Transactions on Neural Networks and Learning Systems, **23**, 2, pp. 285-292 (2012).

Continuous-time Random Walks, Fractional Diffusion and Non-local Operators: Applications to Physics, Finance, and Engineering (SS-RWFDNO)

Organizers:

Mark M. Meerschaert (Michigan State University) Enrico Scalas (University of Eastern Piedmont, Basque Center for Applied Mathematics)

Diffusion and relaxation phenomena are at the foundation of many physical processes. They also occur in heterogeneous media where anomalies appear. Normal diffusion cannot explain the empirical findings. Among the proposals to describe anomalous diffusion and relaxation, continuous-time random walks and related fractional-calculus models are linear, even if the operators involved are non-local in space and involve memory in time. Similar methods can be used for the description of price fluctuations in financial markets. In this session, these models will be introduced, and some recent developments in the theory and practical applications to physics, finance, and engineering will be presented.

Numerically efficient stochastic solution of the space-time fractional diffusion equation through Monte Carlo simulation of continuous-time random walks

Guido Germano^{1,2}, Enrico Scalas^{3,4}

¹ Philipps-Universität Marburg, Germany, guido.germano@uni-marburg.de

² Scuola Normale Superiore, Pisa, Italy, guido.germano@sns.it

³ Università del Piemonte Orientale, Alessandria, Italy, enrico.scalas@unipmn.it

⁴ Basque Center for Applied Mathematics, Bilbao, Spain, enrico.scalas@bcamath.org

The space-time fractional diffusion equation

$$\frac{\partial^{\beta}}{\partial t^{\beta}}u(x,t) = D\frac{\partial^{\alpha}}{\partial |x|^{\alpha}}u(x,t)$$

$$u(x,0^{+}) = \delta(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}, \quad t \in \mathbb{R}_{+}, \quad \alpha \in (0,2], \quad \beta \in (0,1]$$

$$(1)$$

and its generalization that includes a drift term, the fractional Fokker-Planck equation, can be solved taking the diffusive limit of uncoupled continuous-time random walks (CTRW) with Lévy α -stable distributed jumps in space and Mittag-Leffler distributed waiting times. This can be done efficiently exploiting transformation formulas to generate the jumps ξ_{α} and waiting times τ_{β} from independent uniform random numbers $u_i, v_i \in (0, 1), i = x, t$,

$$\xi_{\alpha} = \gamma_x \left(\frac{-\log u_x \cos \phi}{\cos((1-\alpha)\phi)} \right)^{1-\frac{1}{\alpha}} \frac{\sin(\alpha\phi)}{\cos\phi}, \quad \tau_{\beta} = -\gamma_t \log u_t \left(\frac{\sin(\beta\pi)}{\tan(\beta\pi\nu_t)} - \cos(\beta\pi) \right)^{\frac{1}{\beta}}, \tag{2}$$

where $\phi = \pi(v_x - 1/2)$ and γ_i are scale parameters; in the diffusive limit $\gamma_i \to 0$ with $\gamma_x^{\alpha} = \gamma_t^{\beta}$ [1]. We show some results on stochastic integrals driven by a CTRW and on their diffusive limits [2]. We conclude with recently published properties and applications of the transformation maps given by Eqs. (2), see Fig. 1 [3].



Figure 1: Transformation maps of Eqs. (2): a) Lévy α -stable jumps $\xi_{\alpha}(u, v)$ and b) Mittag-Leffler waiting times $\tau_{\beta}(u, v)$.

- D. Fulger, E. Scalas, and G. Germano, Monte Carlo simulation of uncoupled continuous-time random walks yielding a stochastic solution of the space-time fractional diffusion equation, Phys. Rev. E 77, 2, pp. 021122:1–7 (2008).
- [2] G. Germano, M. Politi, E. Scalas, and R. L. Schilling, *Stochastic calculus for uncoupled continuous-time random walks*, Phys. Rev. E **79**, 6, pp. 066102:1–12 (2009).
- [3] D. Fulger, E. Scalas, and G. Germano, *Random numbers from the tails of probability distributions using the transformation method*, Fract. Calc. Appl. Anal. **16**, 2, pp. 332-353 (2013).

CTRW Model for Fractional Wave Equations

M. M. Meerschaert¹, A. Sikorskii²

 $^1 \ Department \ of \ Statistics \ and \ Probability, \ Michigan \ State \ University, \ East \ Lansing, \ USA, \ mcubed@stt.msu.edu$

² Department of Statistics and Probability, Michigan State University, East Lansing, USA, sikorska@stt.msu.edu

Fractional wave equations are important in many areas of science and engineering [3, 4, 5]. Fujita [2] proposed a stochastic solution to the time-fractional wave equation

$$\frac{\partial^y}{\partial t^y}p = \Delta_x p$$

using the supremum of a negatively skewed stable process. The index $\alpha \in (1,2)$ of that stable process corresponds to a fractional time derivative of order $y = 2/\alpha$. In this talk, we present a continuous time random walk model for that same fractional wave equation. In the long time limit, this model leads to a stochastic solution involving the inverse or hitting time of a stable subordinator with index $1/\alpha$. The subordinator in our model is the first passage time of the stable process in Fujita [2], and its inverse is connected to the stable process of Fujita through the Zolotarev duality formula for stable densities [9], which also implies a space-time duality for fractional evolution equations [1]. The continuous time random walk model can be useful for particle tracking solutions to the fractional wave equation. These results complement some recent results of Meerschaert et al. [6] and Straka et al. [7] for the power law wave equation

$$\frac{1}{c_0^2}\frac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2}p + \frac{2\alpha_0}{c_0b}\frac{\partial^{y+1}}{\partial t^{y+1}}p + \frac{\alpha_0^{2y}}{b^2}\frac{\partial^{2y}}{\partial t^{2y}}p = \Delta_x p$$

with $b = \cos(\pi y/2)$, a model for medical ultrasound.

- [1] B. Baeumer, M.M. Meerschaert and E. Nane (2009) Space-time duality for fractional diffusion. J. Appl. Prob., 46, 1100–1115.
- [2] Y. Fujita (1990), Integrodifferential equation which interpolates the heat equation and the wave equation. *Osaka J. Math.* 27(2), 309–321.
- [3] J.F. Kelly and R.J. McGough, M.M. Meerschaert (2008), Time-domain 3D Green's functions for power law media, *Journal of the Acoustical Society of America* 124(5), 2861–2872.
- [4] R. Gorenflo, Yu. Luchko and F. Mainardi (2000), Wright functions as scale-invariant solutions of the diffusion-wave equation. J. Computational and Appl. Mathematics 118, 175–191.
- [5] F. Mainardi (2010), Fractional Calculus and Waves in Linear Viscoelasticity. Imperial College Press, London.
- [6] M.M. Meerschaert, P. Straka, Y. Zhou, and R.J. McGough (2012), Stochastic solution to a time-fractional attenuated wave equation. *Nonlinear Dynamics* 70(2), 1273–1281.
- [7] P. Straka, M.M. Meerschaert, R.J. McGough, and Y. Zhou (2013), Fractional wave equations with attenuation. *Fractional Calculus and Applied Analysis* **16**(1), 262–272.
- [8] M. M. Meerschaert and A. Sikorskii (2012) Stochastic Models for Fractional Calculus. De Gruyter, Berlin.
- [9] V.M. Zolotarev (1961) Expression of the density of a stable distribution with exponent α greater than one by means of a density with exponent $1/\alpha$. *Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR.* **98**, 735–738. English translation: AMS-IMS **1** 163–167.

Applications of Random Renormalization Group Operators

D. O'Malley¹, J.H. Cushman¹

¹ Purdue University, West Lafayette, USA {omalled, jcushman}@purdue.edu

Many diffusive processes (such as Brownian motion, fractional Brownian motion, and α -stable Lévy motion) are fixed points of a renormalization group operator that relates a change in temporal scale with a corresponding change in spatial scale that obeys a power-law. We consider an alternative family of renormalization group operators where the power-law is treated as a random variable that may depend on the scale. Fixed points of these operators are, e.g., fractional Brownian motion with random Hurst exponent and α -stable Lévy motions with random stability parameter. Bayes' theorem is used to estimate the distribution for the power-law, which is then used to determine scaling laws. Applications to multiscale problems such as the sum of two of α -stable Lévy motions (with different stability parameters) and drifters in the Gulf of Mexico will be considered.

Continuous-time Random Walk from a Continuous Double Auction

J. Anselmi¹, T. Radivoiević¹, F. Rapallo², <u>E. Scalas</u>^{1,2}

¹ BCAM-Basque Center for Applied Mathematics, Bilbao, Basque Country, Spain {anselmi,tradivojevic,escalas}@bcamath.org
 ² Amedeo Avogadro University of Eastern Piedmont, Alessandria, Italy, {fabio.rapallo,enrico.scalas}@unipmn.it

We present a statistical model of the continuous double auction with zero-intelligence agents based on [1] and [2]. In our simplified model, only discrete prices from 1 to N are possible, limit orders and market orders are placed in unitary quantities and the order arrival process is described in terms of two independent M/M/1 queues [3]. The auction defines a continuous-time random walk for prices (or for logarithmic prices). We derive the conditions for the ergodicity of the auction and we study the effect on the price process. By means of Monte Carlo simulations and heuristic analysis, we show that there are three different regimes. In particular, in the ergodic regime, prices are unstable. We further study the limit of low traffic, where incoming limit orders immediately transform into market orders and a trade takes place. In this case, we can explicitly write the transition probabilities for the Markov chain of prices and compute its invariant measure. In the opposite limit of congested queues, the price randomly fluctuates between two adjacent values and the price process becomes an instance of the random telegraph process. Finally, we analyze the behavior of the average first passage time to 1 or to N for the price process by means of Monte Carlo simulations. A result of such simulations is shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1: Average first passage time to either 1 or N as a function of the ratio between the arrival rate of limit orders and the one of market orders. In this simulation, N = 40 and the initial price is set to 20.

- E. Smith, J. Doyne Farmer, L. Gillemot, and S. Krishnamurthy, Statistical theory of the continuous double auction, Quant. Financ. 3, pp. 481–514, (2002).
- [2] R. Cont, S. Stojkov, and R. Tareja, A Stochastic Model for Order Book Dynamics, Operations Research 58, pp. 549-563 (2010).
- [3] T. Radivojević, J. Anselmi, E. Scalas, A stylized model for the continuous double auction, in Managing Market Complexity, Lecture Notes in Economics and Mathematical Systems, Springer, New York, 662, pp. 115-125 (2012).

Analysis for Nonlinear Equations Involving Space Fractional Diffusion

M. Kassmann¹, M. Rang², <u>R. Schwab³</u>

¹ Universität Bielefeld, Germany, moritz.kassmann@uni-bielefeld.de

² Universität Bielefeld, Germany, mrang@math.uni-bielefeld.de

³ Michigan State University, Michigan, USA, rschwab@math.msu.edu

We will describe recent results for integro-differential equations in the nonlinear setting with a fractional diffusion which has a jumping measure with strong spatial directional dependence, and even the situation where the directional dependence can change in a way which depends upon both the unknown function (hence nonlinear) and the current location in space.

Correlation structure of fractional Pearson diffusions

N. N. Leonenko¹, M. M. Meerschaert², <u>A. Sikorskii³</u>

¹ School of Mathematics, Cardiff University, Cardiff, UK, LeonenkoN @cardiff.ac.uk

² Department of Statistics and Probability, Michigan State University, East Lansing, USA, mcubed@stt.msu.edu

³ Department of Statistics and Probability, Michigan State University, East Lansing, USA, sikorska@stt.msu.edu

Fractional differential equations are an important and useful tool in many areas of science and engineering [1, 2, 3, 4, 5]. In a heterogeneous environment, the coefficients of the diffusion equation will naturally vary in space. Pearson diffusions form a tractable class of variable coefficient diffusion models with polynomial coefficients. The process $X_1(t)$ is called a Pearson diffusion if it solves the stochastic differential equation

 $dX_1(t) = \mu(X_1(t))dt + \sigma(X_1(t))dW(t)$ with $\mu(x) = a_0 + a_1x$ and $D(x) = \frac{\sigma^2(x)}{2} = d_0 + d_1x + d_2x^2$.

These processes include the Ornstein-Uhlenback process and the Cox-Ingersoll-Ross (CIR) process, which are used in finance. Their steady state distributions belong to the class of Pearson distrbutions. In a fractional Pearson diffusion, the time variable is replaced by an inverse α -stable subordinator independent of the process X_1 [6]. The resulting stochastic process is non-Markovian, but its one dimensional distributions are governed by the fractional Pearson diffusion equation, obtained by replacing the first time derivative in the Pearson diffusion equation with a Caputo fractional derivative of the same order $0 < \alpha < 1$ [7]. The purpose of this paper is study the correlation structure of fractional Pearson diffusions in steady state [8].

Theorem. Suppose that $X_1(t)$ is a Pearson diffusion in steady state, so that its correlation function is given by $\operatorname{corr}[X_1(s), X_1(t)] = \exp(-\theta |t-s|), \theta > 0, t, s > 0$. Then the correlation function of the corresponding fractional Pearson diffusion $X_{\alpha}(t) = X_1(E_t)$, where E_t is the standard inverse α -stable subordinator independent of X_1 , is given by

$$\operatorname{corr}[X_{\alpha}(t), X_{\alpha}(s)] = E_{\alpha}(-\theta t^{\alpha}) + \frac{\theta \alpha t^{\alpha}}{\Gamma(1+\alpha)} \int_{0}^{s/t} \frac{E_{\alpha}(-\theta t^{\alpha}(1-z)^{\alpha})}{z^{1-\alpha}} dz$$
(1)

for $t \ge s > 0$, where $E_{\alpha}(z)$ is the Mittag-Leffler function.

It follows from the Theorem that fractional Pearson diffusions exhibit long-range dependence.

- [1] F. Mainardi (1997) Fractals and fractional calculus in continuum mechanics. Number 378. Springer Verlag, Berlin.
- [2] J. Sabatier, O. P. Agrawal, and J. A. T. Machado (2007) Advances in Fractional Calculus: Theoretical Developments and Applications in Physics and Engineering. Springer, New York.
- [3] R. Metzler and J. Klafter (2004) The restaurant at the end of the random walk: Recent developments in the description of anomalous transport by fractional dynamics. J. Physics A: Math. Gen.. 37(31), R161–R208.
- [4] D. Benson, S. Wheatcraft and M. Meerschaert (2000), Application of a fractional advection-dispersion equation. *Water Resour. Res.* 36, 1403–1412.
- [5] E. Scalas (2006) Five years of continuous-time random walks in econophysics. *The Complex Networks of Economic Interactions* **567**, 3–16.
- [6] M. M. Meerschaert and A. Sikorskii (2012) Stochastic Models for Fractional Calculus. De Gruyter, Berlin.
- [7] N. N. Leonenko, M. M. Meerschaert, and A. Sikorskii (2013) Fractional Pearson diffusion. To appear in *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*.
- [8] N. N. Leonenko, M. M. Meerschaert, and A. Sikorskii (2013) Correlation stucure of fractional Pearson diffusion. To appear in CAMWA.

Statistical Aspects of Environmental and Ecological Modeling (SS-SAEEM)

Organizers: Vyacheslav Lyubchich (University of Waterloo) Yulia R. Gel (University of Waterloo) Chad Shouquan Cheng (Environment Canada)

The indubitable importance of preserving the safe and sustainable environment for current and future generations instigates an extensive number of interdisciplinary projects on biodiversity, climate change, ecology, etc., and as underlined by Mathematics of Planet Earth project (MPE), statistical science plays an increasingly profound role in such multidisciplinary research initiatives. This special session aims to highlight some recent advances and trends in statistical modeling of environmental and ecological processes, such as, for example, high dimensional data analysis, data visualization, nonparametric procedures, pattern recognition, risk assessment and forecasting in environmental sciences.

Accounting for Temperature when Modeling Population Health Risk Due to Air Pollution

W.S. Burr¹, H.H. Shin^{1,2}

¹ Queen's University, Kingston, Canada, wburr@mast.queensu.ca

² Environmental Health and Research Bureau, Health Canada, Ottawa, Canada, hwashin.shin@hc-sc.gc.ca

The Air Health Indicator [1] is a joint Health Canada / Environment Canada initiative. A component in the indicator is an estimate of the time-dependent population health risk due to short-term (acute) effects of air pollution. The standard approach for this risk estimation uses a Generalized Additive Model framework [2, 3] which includes one or more air pollutants and one or more temperature terms as covariates, as well as a smooth function of time. In this risk modeling framework, the temperature is not the primary focus, but is included to ensure that common structure between the mortality (response), the pollutant(s), and the temperature is not included in the risk attribution.

Using tools from signal processing, spectrum estimation, and harmonic analysis, we analyze the smooth function link that is commonly used when including temperature. We show that for a single lag of temperature, the traditional J-, U-, or V-shaped relationship between temperature and mortality is largely a function of lowfrequency mortality structure and is thus accounted for by the smooth function of time typically included in risk models. We further compare and contrast the first few primary lags of temperature, and demonstrate differences in their structure, especially with respect to "cold effects". We conclude with a discussion of the connection between this work and recent work on Distributed Lag Non-Linear Models [4], and of the differences in risk evident from choice of temperature inclusion.

Key words: population health risk, Generalized Additive Models, air pollution, temperature, dlnm

- [1] Environment Canada, *Canadian Environmental Sustainability Indicators (CESI) Air Health Indicator*, available at: http://www.ec.gc.ca/indicateurs-indicators/default.asp?lang=En. Accessed April 1, 2013.
- [2] F. Dominici, J.M. Samet and S.L. Zeger, *Combining evidence on air pollution and daily mortality from the 20 largest US cities: a hierarchical modelling strategy*, Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series A, vol. 163, n. 3, pp. 263–302. 2000. Wiley.
- [3] R.D. Peng, F. Dominici and T.A. Louis, *Model choice in time series studies of air pollution and mortality*, Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series A, vol. 169, n. 2, pp. 179–2003. 2006. Wiley.
- [4] A. Gasparrini, B. Armstrong and M.G. Kenward, *Distributed lag non-linear models*, Statistics in Medicine, vol. 29, n. 21, pp. 2224-2234. 2010. Wiley.

Estimation of Absolute and Relative Abundance

J. Horrocks¹, D. Gillis¹, M. Rueffer¹, D. Hamilton², S. Wong², H. Whitehead²

¹ University of Guelph, Guelph, Canada, jhorrock@uoguelph.ca

² Dalhousie University, Halifax, Canada

In the face of increasing extinction rates, it is vital to have estimates of relative and absolute species abundance and their relationship to important factors. For species that live in the oceans or large lakes, this can be a difficult task. Information on relative abundance of commercial fish stocks can be inferred from catch-per-unit-effort (CPUE). In this talk I will present a Bayesian model for trends in CPUE over time and the relationship between CPUE and important covariates. The model will be illustrated using spatial and temporal data on whitefish in the Canadian waters of Lake Huron from 1979 to 2010. It was found that CPUE has steadily decreased from a high in the mid-80's. I will also present a method for estimating abundance from a single binary acoustic time series. The dependence in the series is exploited to allow the estimation of abundance when some animals remain hidden, and in the face of uncertainty about the range over which sounds carry. Simulations show that the method can give reasonable estimates of absolute abundance in some settings. An extension to multiple time series will also be discussed. The method is illustrated using data on sperm whales in the Sargasso Sea.

Changing stream flow augmented challenges: Modeling of water allocation policy for ecohydrological sustainability in Maine, USA

Md. Rakibul Hassan Khan¹, Shaleen Jain^{1,2}

¹ Department of Civil & Environmental Engineering, University of Maine, Orono, ME 04469, USA

² Climate Change Institute, University of Maine, Orono, ME 04469, USA

Snowmelt driven steamflow variability and trends are extremely vital from the context of sustainable water allocation policy. The term sustainability has a lot of dimensions but in general that fulfill the current demand without hampering the future. Besides water allocation is a subtraction for the streams, and an addition to society, a stressor for floodplain ecology. Hence attaining sustainability in water allocation is a critical task and requires up to date policy. In general policy recommends the lower threshold for the stressors and capable of handling the augmented challenges for the changing future. For eco-hydrological sustainability, water allocation policy should be a threshold guideline that will ensure the stream health, ecological sustenance and maximum possible addition to the human society. State of Maine has adopted the seasonal aquatic base flow (SABF) as the key policy threshold for the allocation of B type and lower graded streams. Scrutinizing the variability in stream flow can act as a hub that conveys the implication of the ecological responses and also footprint of the changes in the climate. The analysis will affords to figure out significant trends and their insight in seasonality, magnitude, timing, duration and frequency in stream flow. A proper assessment of the SABF in Maine's stream is the key to justify the water allocation policy from the context of eco-hydrological sustainability. A Range of Variability Analysis (RVA; Richter et. al. 1997) has been adopted to quantify the indicators and degree of alteration resulting from the implementation of water allocation policy. The alterations of individual indicators over the watershed are capable of interpreting many aspects of the linkages from eco-hydrology to the sustainability of the water allocation policy. Some augmented challenges from the changing stream flow in implication of the policy have also been explored.

Analyzing inter-annual variability in North American net ecosystem CO₂ exchange

K.A. Luus¹, J.C. Lin², R.E.J. Kelly¹, and Y. Gel¹

¹ University of Waterloo, Canada, {kaluus, ygel}@uwaterloo.ca

² University of Utah, Salt Lake City, USA, John.Lin@utah.edu

Recent *in situ* studies have documented that rising Arctic air temperatures have both increased atmospheric effluxes of CO_2 from thawing permafrost, and enabled northward movements of the shrub and tree lines, leading to increased uptake of atmospheric CO_2 by vegetation. Understanding changes over time in Arctic net ecosystem CO_2 exchange (NEE) is crucial since the response of the northern carbon cycle to climate change will influence future levels of atmospheric CO_2 [1]. However, although atmospheric concentrations of CO_2 can be measured globally, NEE can only be measured *in situ* over <1km areas. Regional estimates of NEE are therefore generated using a model approach.

The Polar Vegetation Photosynthesis Respiration Model (PolarVPRM) was developed to generate estimates of high-latitude NEE using remotely sensed observations. Respiration (*R*) is estimated as a linear function of air temperature (T_a) during the growing season ($R = \alpha T_a + \beta$), and as a linear function of soil temperature (T_s) during the snow season ($R = \alpha_s T_s + \beta_s$). Photosynthetic uptake of CO₂ is calculated according to remote sensing observations of the fraction of photosynthetically active radiation available for absorption by vegetation, and estimates of the influence air temperature, water availability and leaf phenology have on the rate of photosynthesis. Parameters describing the relationships between land surface variables are calibrated using *in situ* measurements of NEE and site meteorology. Validation indicated a good fit between PolarVPRM estimates of NEE, and *in situ* observations of NEE collected at non-calibration sites.

Inter-annual variability in PolarVPRM estimates of NEE and its drivers over North America (55–83°N) can provide important insights into the response of the high-latitude carbon cycle to recent (2001–2012) climate variability. The Theil-Sen approach was applied to each $\frac{1}{6}^{\circ} \times \frac{1}{4}^{\circ}$ pixel in order to examine the median slope of changes over time in the high-latitude carbon cycle and its drivers. Findings indicated that tundra regions are likely to be releasing CO₂ at an increased rate due to warming soil and air temperatures. Tundra vegetation appears to be undergoing an increase in CO₂ uptake due to warming temperatures and increases in remotely sensed vegetation indices, whereas forests tend to be uptaking less CO₂ over time. Overall, high-latitude ecosystems appear to be uptaking substantially less carbon each year in response to climate-driven shifts in land surface and meteorological influences on NEE.

References

[1] K. Schaefer, T. Zhang, L. Bruhwiler and A. Barrett, *Amount and timing of permafrost carbon release in response to climate warming*, Tellus B, **63**, pp.165-180 (2011).

Testing for synchronism among trends in environmental data

V. Lyubchich¹, Y. R. Gel²

¹ University of Waterloo, Canada, vlyubchich@uwaterloo.ca

² University of Waterloo, Canada, ygl@math.uwaterloo.ca

The climate change brings increasingly more alterations and permanent impact on all aspects of human life and welfare. Hence, it is of particular interest to investigate how trends in climatic variables, for example, such as precipitation and temperature, are related to each other and to study their association with dynamics of various ecological, geological, economic and socio-demographic factors. For example, aligning climatic trends with actuarial information is one of the major concerns for insurance companies, while detection of joint trends in lake freeze-up and break-up timings is directly related to sustainability of fishing industry.

In this talk, we explore a new statistical test for synchronism of trends exhibited by multiple time series, i.e., testing whether two or more time series follow the same common trend. The core idea of our new approach is based on employing the local regression goodness-of-fit test [1] - [3], which allows to detect possibly non-monotonic (non)linear trends. We illustrate the proposed methodology by simulations and case studies on assessing joint dynamics of various climatic variables in space and time.

- [1] V. Lyubchich, Y. R. Gel and A. El-Shaarawi, On detecting non-monotonic trends in environmental time series: a fusion of local regression and bootstrap, To appear in Environmetrics, 56 pages (2013).
- [2] L. Wang, M. G. Akritas and I. Van Keilegom, *An ANOVA-type nonparametric diagnostic test for heteroscedastic regression models*, Journal of Nonparametric Statistics **20**(5), pp. 365–382 (2008).
- [3] L. Wang and I. Van Keilegom, *Nonparametric test for the form of parametric regression with time series errors*, Statistica Sinica 17, pp. 369–386 (2007).

Censored Gamma Regression with Applications

Nagham Mohammad¹, Ian McLeod¹

¹ Western University, London, Canada, {nmohamm8,aimcleod}@uwo.ca

Most types of data are what we term as complete data. Complete data means that the value of all the observations are known or observed. In many cases, the value of some sample unit is unobserved means the observations are known only to fall below a censoring point but we do not know by how much. Data containing such uncertainty as to exactly when the event happened is termed as left censored data. This presents difficulties in statistical analysis of the data. In this talk, we propose a new model for the left-censored data under the assumption that the underlying distribution is gamma.

We examine methods for estimating and fitting the parameters of the left-censored gamma data such as, maximum likelihood estimation. Many types of environmental data are left-censored. In water quality, parameters such as pH, phosphates, nitrates, nitrites and many others are only determined for values that exceed some lower threshold limit, δ . We use our proposed model with the forest fires data from the Montesinho Natural Park from January 2000 to December 2003. In our data, the output variable is the total area burned in each of 517 forest fires in a three year period in a large natural park. When this area is less 0.01 ha, it was recorded as 0 and so was effectively left censored with $\kappa = 0.01$ ha. We assume that the distribution of fires is from a left-censored gamma distribution. We have demonstrated that using a gamma regression with left-censoring outperforms linear regression using a logarithmic transformation. For other types of data, we have found that a shifted gamma distribution may improve the fit.

Statistical Data Analysis and Geometry (SS-SDAG)

Organizers: Shoja Chenouri (University of Waterloo) Paul Marriott (University of Waterloo)

This session is dedicated to statistical data analysis and modelling through geometric concepts, and looks at ways that geometry and statistics can inform each other. Traditionally, statistical methods assume that data lies in linear subspaces of some ambient Euclidean space. However, in many application problems, in fact it lives in non-Euclidean spaces, and therefore should be naturally modelled on manifolds, or other geometric objects. The goal of this session is to bring together statisticians who study or apply geometric tools, and those who have a general interest in applied geometry.

The Application of the Convex Geometry in the Generalized Method of Moments for Mixture Models

Z. Huang¹

¹ University of Waterloo, Canada, z23huang@uwaterloo.ca

To fit a finite mixture model with known order, there are many existing estimation methods, including the method of moments (MM) [1], the maximum likelihood estimator (MLE) [2], the non-parametric maximum likelihood estimator (NPMLE) [3]. The generalized method of moment (GMM) for mixture models is proposed as a new method for fitting a mixture model with known order. In this talk, we will see the role that convex geometry play in developing this new estimation method for mixture models. First of all, the GMM estimator is considered in the moment space, which is a low-dimensional approximation of the likelihood space. Such approximation increases the efficiency of the estimator when compared to the MM. Secondly, the GMM estimator is under a convex optimization framework, which can be computed fast and easily. Therefore, the GMM estimator has computational advantages over the MLE, which is usually obtained by the gradient based algorithms or the EM-algorithm. Lastly, the GMM estimator considers the boundary properties of the feasible region. This makes the new estimator more likely provide a model with given order than the NPMLE.

- [1] B.Lindsay, On the determinants of moment matrices, The Annals of Statistics, 17, 2, pp. 722-740 (1989).
- [2] B.Lindsay, Mixture models: theory, geometry, and applications, IMS, pp. 56-65 (1995).
- [3] B.Lindsay, Mixture models: theory, geometry, and applications, IMS, pp. 108-125 (1995).

Robustness in dimensionality reduction

J. Liang¹, C. Small²

¹ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada,

² University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada,

Many popular dimensionality reduction methods are considered to be highly sensitive to outliers, and some robust procedures are proposed without a general and well-established criterion. We extend several classical concepts (both local and global) to measure and compare the robustness of the dimensionality reduction methods (both linear and non-linear). Measures concerning the local and global topology preservation are defined as badness criterion, and based on these measures, the performances of different types of methods are assessed under contaminated dataset or misspecified model. Also, we consider the estimation of intrinsic dimensionality and the effect of outliers on this estimation.

Computational Aspects of Inference in Local Mixture Models (LMM)

V. Maroufy

University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, {Stat & Actsci}@Uwaterloo.ca

Local Mixture Models give an inferentially tractable but still flexible alternative to full mixture models. The parameter space naturally includes boundaries of different sorts. These boundaries mean that computing the maximum likelihood estimate (MLE) is not standard. This talk shows how the geometry of ruled and developable surfaces enable fast and efficient algorithms for finding the MLE to be developed.

- [1] K. Anaya-Izquierdo and P. Marriott, Local mixture models of exponential families, Bernulli. 13, pp. 623-640 (2007).
- [2] M. P. Do Carmo, Differential geometry of curves and surfaces, volume 2, prentice-hall englewood cliff, NJ, (1976).
- [3] P. Marriott, On the local geometry of mixture models, Biometrika. 89, pp. 77-93 (2002).
- [4] D. J. Struik, Lectures on classical differential geometry, Dover Publication (1988).

Spanifold: Spanning Tree Flattening Onto Lower Dimension

S. Chenouri¹, P. Kobelevskiy², <u>C. G. Small</u>³,

¹ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, ON, Canada schenouri@uwaterloo.ca

² Lombard Odier Asset Management, London, UK p.kobelevskiy@lombardodier.com

³ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, ON, Canada cgsmall@uwaterloo.ca

Dimensionality reduction and manifold learning techniques attempt to recover a lower dimensional submanifold from the data as encoded in high-dimensions. Suppose \mathbb{M} is a Riemannian manifold of dimension *d* embedded in \mathbb{R}^D , where d < D, and that \mathbb{M} can be topologically embedded in a linear subspace of dimension *d*. Such an embedding can typically be constructed by unfolding the manifold with some possible distortion of the geometry.

Standard methods, such as Isomap and LLE, map the high dimensional data points into low dimension so as to globally minimize a so-called energy function, which measures the mismatch between the precise geometry in high dimensions and the approximate geometry in low dimensions. However, the local effects of such minimizations are often unpredictable, because the energy minimization algorithms are global in nature. In contrast to these methods, the Spanifold algorithm of this paper constructs a tree on the manifold, and flattens the manifold in such a way as to approximately preserve pairwise distance relationships within the tree. The vertices of this tree are the data points, and the edges of the tree form a subset of the edges of nearest neighbour graph on the data. In addition, the pairwise distances between data points close to the root of the tree undergo minimal distortion as the data are flattened. This allows the user to design the flattening algorithm so as to approximately preserve neighbour relationships in any chosen local region of the data.

Quantifying the Asymptotic Coverage Probabilities of Bootstrap Confidence Regions

C. Wang¹, P. Li², P. Marriott³

^{1 2 3} University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada c.wang@uwaterloo.ca

Abstract

When the unknown parameters are on or close to the boundary of parameter space, the classical methods may not give confidence regions for the unknown parameters with asymptotically correct coverage probabilities. The bootstrap methods are intuitively in favour as an alternative. In this talk, we quantify the asymptotic coverage probabilities of two types of bootstrap confidence regions: bootstrap percentile confidence region and bootstrap likelihood ratio confidence region. We show that the asymptotic coverage probability of the first type is always above the nominal level, while that of the second type can be below or above the nominal level. We further propose a method to construct confidence region with asymptotically correct coverage probability.

Structured Graph Theory (SS-SGT)

Organizers: Kathie Cameron (Wilfrid Laurier University) Chinh Hoang (Wilfrid Laurier University)

Many problems that are NP-complete for arbitrary graphs can be solved in polynomial time when restricted to special classes of graphs. The polynomial-time algorithms typically exploit the structures of these graphs. In this session, we present recent results in this direction.

Completing colored graphs to meet a target property

K. Cook¹, <u>E.M. Eschen</u>², R. Sritharan³, X. Wang⁴

¹ West Virginia University, USA

² West Virginia University, USA, elaine.eschen@mail.wvu.edu

³ The University of Dayton, USA, rsritharan1@udayton.edu

⁴ West Virginia University, USA, xiaoqiang.wang.wvu@gmail.com.edu

We consider the problem of deciding whether a properly *k*-colored graph can be completed (by adding edges while maintaining a proper coloring) to have a given property. When *k* is *not* fixed, we show the problems of deciding whether a *k*-colored graph can be completed to be a circular-arc graph, a proper circular-arc graph, and a unit circular-arc graph are NP-complete. Then, we provide a complete classification of the complexity of the circular-arc colored graph completion problem when the number of colors used is fixed. Specifically, given a *k*-colored graph, we show that when k = 2, there is an O(n) time algorithm for the problem, but when k = 3, the problem is NP-complete; in turn, the problem remains NP-complete for every fixed $k, k \ge 3$. We provide an identical classification for the problem of completing a *k*-colored graph to be a Helly circular-arc graph. We show that the problems of deciding whether a 3-colored graph admits a unit circular-arc completion and a proper circular-arc completion problem of our knowledge these are the first instances of a colored graph admits a strongly chordal completion can be decided in $O(n^2)$ time; our algorithm is based on a characterization of bi-connected 3-colored graphs that admit a strongly chordal completion. It is known that the sandwich problems for interval and circular-arc graphs are NP-complete. It follows from our results that the sandwich problem for Helly circular-arc graphs is NP-complete.

Coloring graphs without induced paths of fixed lengths

Chính T. Hoàng¹

¹ Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada, choang@wlu.ca

Let P_t denote the induced path on t vertices. It is known that the coloring problem for P_5 -free graphs is NP-hard. However, for a fixed $k \ge 3$, there is a polynomial time algorithm to k-color a P_5 -free graphs. One may wish to determine the complexity of k-coloring P_t -free graphs for other values of k and t. We survey recent results in this direction.

Constructions of k-critical P_5 -free graphs

C.T. Hoàng¹, B. Moore¹, D. Recoskie², <u>J. Sawada³</u>, and M. Vatshelle³

 1 Wilfrid Laurier University, Canada

² University of Waterloo, Canada

³ University of Guelph, Canada

With respect to a class C of graphs, a graph $G \in C$ is said to be *k*-critical if every proper subgraph of G belonging to C is k-1 colorable. We construct an infinite set of *k*-critical P_5 -free graphs for every $k \geq 5$. We also prove that there are exactly eight 5-critical $\{P_5, C_5\}$ -free graphs as follows:



On Hendry's conjecture on cycle extension

A. Abueida¹, A. Busch², <u>R. Sritharan³</u>

 1 The University of Dayton, USA, aabueida1@udayton.edu

² The University of Dayton, USA, abusch1@udayton.edu

³ The University of Dayton, USA, rsritharan1@udayton.edu

Hendry conjectured in 1990 that for a non-Hamiltonian cycle *C* in a Hamiltonian chordal graph, there exists a cycle C' such that $V(C) \subseteq V(C')$ and |V(C')| = |V(C)| + 1; the conjecture is open. A *spider* is a subdivision of a $K_{1,r}$, $r \ge 0$. A *spider intersection graph* is the intersection graph of subtrees of a spider. We prove Hendry's conjecture for the class of spider intersection graphs. This result extends previously known results for interval graphs and split graphs.

Symmetry in Nonlinear Dynamics: Theory and Applications (SS-SNDTA)

Organizers:

Manuele Santoprete (Wilfrid Laurier University) and Ray McLenaghan (University of Waterloo)

Symmetry is often found in dynamical models of physical or biological phenomena. This scientific session will focus on recent advances in theoretical and applied aspects of nonlinear dynamics where symmetry plays an important role.

Integrable Viscous Conservation Laws

<u>A. Arsie¹</u>, P. Lorenzoni², A. Moro³,

¹ University of Toledo, Ohio, USA, alessandro.arsie@utoledo.edu

² Universita' di Milano - Bicocca, Milano, Italy, paolo.lorenzoni@unimib.it

³ Universita' di Milano - Bicocca, Milano, Italy, tonio.moro@gmail.com

We propose an extension of Dubrovin's perturbative approach to the study of normal forms for non-Hamiltonian integrable scalar conservation laws. The explicit computation of the first few corrections leads to the conjecture that such normal forms are parametrized by one single functional parameter, named viscous central invariant.

A constant valued viscous central invariant corresponds to the well-known Burgers hierarchy. The case of a linear viscous central invariant provides a viscous analog of the Camassa-Holm equation, that formerly appeared as a reduction of a two-component generalization of the Camassa-Holm equation. We write explicitly the negative and positive hierarchy associated with this equation and prove the integrability showing that they can be mapped respectively into the heat hierarchy and its negative counterpart, named Klein-Gordon hierarchy.

A local well-posedness theorem for periodic initial data is also proven and some numerical simulations are presented. Finally, we explicitly construct asymptotic solutions obtained by quasi-Miura transformations and discuss Dubrovin'ss Universality conjecture for the local behaviour of the solutions near the point of gradient catastrophe.

- [1] A. Arsie and P. Lorenzoni *Poisson bracket on 1-forms and evolutionary partial differential equations*, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 45, (2012)
- [2] A. Arsie, P. Lorenzoni, A. Moro, Integrable Viscous Conservation Laws, arXiv: 1301.0950v2 [math-ph], submitted.

An obstruction class for isotropic fibrations

Leo T. Butler¹

¹ Central Michigan University, Mt. Pleasant MI, USA, l.butler@cmich.edu

A classical theorem due to Birkhoff states that an invariant, essential curve of a twist map of the annulus is a graph. Bialy and Polterovich generalize this result in higher dimensions: If F is a Lagrangian submanifold invariant by an "optical" Hamiltonian diffeomorphism A such that A|F is chain-recurrent, then F is a graph iff its Maslov cycle vanishes [2, 3]. Arnaud has recently given a proof that uses weak KAM theory [1]. I will discuss how these ideas may be applied to understand when an invariant, isotropic submanifold is a graph and give applications to non-commutatively integrable Hamiltonian systems.

- [1] Marie-Claude Arnaud, On a theorem due to Birkhoff, Geom. Funct. Anal. 20 (2010), no. 6, 1307–1316.
- [2] M. Bialy and L. Polterovich, *Hamiltonian diffeomorphisms and Lagrangian distributions*, Geom. Funct. Anal. 2 (1992), no. 2, 173–210.
- [3] M. Bialy and L. Polterovich, Hamiltonian systems, Lagrangian tori and Birkhoff's theorem, Math. Ann. 292 (1992), no. 4, 619–627.

Relative Equilibria and Rotopulsators of the Curved *N***-Body Problem**

F. Diacu^{1,2}

¹ Pacific Institute for the Mathematical Sciences

² University of Victoria, Victoria, B.C., Canada diacu@uvic.ca

We consider the motion of N point particles in spaces of constant curvature, namely on the sphere S^3 and on the hyperbolic sphere H^3 , [6, 7]. We first prove some criteria for the existence of relative equilibria and rotopulsators and then use them to find large classes of such solutions, [1, 2, 3, 4, 5].

- [1] F. Diacu, On the singularities of the curved n-body problem, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 363, 4, pp. 2249-2264 (2011).
- [2] F. Diacu, Polygonal homographic orbits of the curved n-body problem, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 364, 4, pp. 2783-2802 (2012).
- [3] F. Diacu, Relative equilibria in the 3-dimensional curved n-body problem, Memoirs Amer. Math. Soc. (to appear).
- [4] F. Diacu, Relative Equilibria of the Curved N-Body Problem, Atlantis Press (2012).
- [5] F. Diacu and E. Perez-Chavela, *Homographic solutions of the curved 3-body problem*, J. Differential Equations **250**, pp. 340-366 (2011).
- [6] F. Diacu, E. Perez-Chavela, and M. Santoprete, *The n-body problem in spaces of constant curvature. Part I: Relative equilibria*, J. Nonlinear Sci. **22**, 2, pp. 247-266 (2012).
- [7] F. Diacu, E. Perez-Chavela, and M. Santoprete, *The n-body problem in spaces of constant curvature. Part II: Singularities*, J. Nonlinear Sci. 22, 2, pp. 267-275 (2012).

A New Approach to the Integrability of the Suslov Problem

O. Fernandez¹, A. Bloch², D. Zenkov³

¹ Department of Mathematics, Wellesley College, USA, ofernand@wellesley.edu

² Department of Mathematics, University of Michigan, USA, abloch@umich.edu

³ Department of Mathematics, North Carolina State University, USA, dvzenkov@ncsu.edu

We develop a new approach to the integrability of a generalized Klebsh–Tisserand case of the Suslov nonholonomic rigid body problem. We use the Poincaré–Hopf Theorem to prove that, under certain conditions, the genus gof the compact sets of integrals of motion is given by g = 1 + n, where $0 \le n \le 4$ is the number of connected components of the kernel of the multiplier f (the known function that transforms the Suslov problem to Hamiltonian form after the reparameterization of time $d\tau = f(q)dt$, where $q \in Q$, the configuration space of the system).
Saari's homographic conjecture for the planar equal-mass three-body problem under the Newton potential and a strong force potential

T. Fujiwara¹, H. Fukuda², H. Ozaki³, T. Taniguchi⁴

1.2.4 College of Liberal Arts and Sciences, Kitasato University, 1-15-1 Kitasato, Minami-ku, Sagamihara, Kanagawa 252-0329, Japan,

³ General Education Program Center, Tokai University, Shimizu Campus, 3-20-1, Orido, Shimizu, Shizuoka 424-8610, Japan,

¹ fujiwara@kitasato-u.ac.jp, ² fukuda@kitasato-u.ac.jp, ³ ozaki@tokai-u.jp, ⁴ tetsuya@kitasato-u.ac.jp

In 2005, D. Saari formulated his homographic conjecture for *N*-body problem as follows [5, 6]; for the *N*-body problem under the homogenious potential $U = \sum m_i m_j / r_{ij}^{\alpha}$, $\alpha > 0$, the configurational measure $\mu = I^{\alpha/2}U$ is constant if and only if the motion is homographic. Here, $m_i (i = 1, 2, ..., N)$ is mass for the body *i*, r_{ij} is the mutual distance between the body *i* and *j* and $I = \sum m_i m_j r_{ij}^2$ is the moment of inertia.

For the three-body problem, the only two types of homographic motion exist, namely, the Euler's collinear solution and the Lagrange's equilateral triangle solution.

In 2008, F. Diacu, T. Fujiwara, E. Pérez-Chavela and M. Santoprere showed that this conjecture is true for large set of initial conditions for planar three-body problem [1, 2]. They derived a condition which must be satisfied if a non-homographic planar motion with constant configurational measure exist. Then, they showed that the condition is failed to be satisfied by many cases of initial conditions.

In 2012, T. Fujiwara, H. Fukuda, H. Ozaki, and T. Taniguchi proved the conjecture for the planar equal-mass three-body problem under a strong force potential($\alpha = 2$) [3] and the Newton potential($\alpha = 1$) [4].

To prove the conjecture for these cases, we used the symmetry under the permutations of three-bodies [4]. This symmetry make our proof simple. We will review how this symmetry work in our proof of the Saari's homographic conjecture.

- [1] Florin Diacu, Toshiaki Fujiwara, Ernesto Pérez-Chavela and Manuele Santoprete, *Saari's homographic conjecture of the three-body problem*, Transactions of the American Mathematical Society, **360**, 12, 6447–6473, 2008.
- [2] Florin Diacu, Toshiaki Fujiwara, Ernesto Pérez-Chavela and Manuele Santoprete, *Saari's conjecture in celestial mechanics*, in *Exploring the solar system and the universe* AIP conference proceedings **1043**, 101–111, 2008.
- [3] Toshiaki Fujiwara, Hiroshi Fukuda, Hiroshi Ozaki and Tetsuya Taniguchi, *Saari's homographic conjecture for planar equal-mass three-body problem under a strong force potential*, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. **45** (2012) 045208.
- [4] Toshiaki Fujiwara, Hiroshi Fukuda, Hiroshi Ozaki and Tetsuya Taniguchi, Saari's homographic conjecture for planar equal-mass three-body problem in Newton gravity, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 45 (2012) 345202.
- [5] Donald Saari, *Collisions, rings, and other Newtonian N-body problems, American Mathematical Society, Rigional Conference Series in Mathematics, No. 104, Providence, RI, 2005.*
- [6] Donald Saari, Some ideas about the future of Celestial Mechanics, Presentation at Saarifest 2005, April 8, 2005, Guanajuato, Mexico.

Symplectic Semiclassical Wave Packet Dynamics

T. Ohsawa¹ and M. Leok²

¹ University of Michigan–Dearborn, ohsawa@umich.edu

² University of California, San Diego, mleok@math.ucsd.edu

I will talk about the geometry and dynamics of semiclassical wave packets of Heller [1] and Coalson & Karplus [2]. The semiclassical Gaussian wave packet

$$\Psi(x) = \exp\left\{\frac{i}{\hbar} \left[\frac{1}{2}(x-q)^T \mathscr{C}(x-q) + p \cdot (x-q) + (\phi + i\delta)\right]\right\}$$

is an ansatz for the Schrödinger equation that provides a description of the transition regime between quantum and classical mechanics. The parameters (q, p, ϕ, δ) are in the space $T^* \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{S}^1 \times \mathbb{R}$ with *d* being the dimension of the physical space, whereas $\mathscr{C} = \mathscr{A} + i\mathscr{B}$ is a $d \times d$ complex symmetric matrix with a positive-definite imaginary part, i.e., the matrix \mathscr{C} is an element in the *Siegel upper plane* defined by

$$\Sigma_d := \left\{ \mathscr{C} = \mathscr{A} + i\mathscr{B} \in \mathbb{C}^{d \times d} \mid \mathscr{A}, \mathscr{B} \in \operatorname{Sym}_d(\mathbb{R}), \mathscr{B} > 0 \right\},$$

where $\text{Sym}_d(\mathbb{R})$ is the set of $d \times d$ real symmetric matrices, and $\mathscr{B} > 0$ means that \mathscr{B} is positive-definite.

I will show how to formulate the dynamics of semiclassical wave packets from the symplectic-geometric point of view by exploiting the geometric structure of quantum mechanics; this approach effectively "strips away" quantum effects from quantum mechanics and incorporates them into the classical description of mechanics. This extends the work of Faou & Lubich [3] and Lubich [4] for the "spherical" case, i.e., $\mathscr{C} = (a+ib)I_d$ with $a \in \mathbb{R}$, b > 0, and I_d is the identity matrix of size d.

The dynamics of the semiclassical wave packets has an \mathbb{S}^1 -symmetry, and reduction by the symmetry reveals a simplified symplectic structure that is closely related to the symplectic structure of the Siegel upper plane Σ_d , which is in fact a homogeneous space $Sp(2d, \mathbb{R})/U(d)$, where $Sp(2d, \mathbb{R})$ is the symplectic group of degree 2d over real numbers and U(d) is the unitary group of degree d. This point of view provides a geometric interpretation of the Hagedorn wave packet [5].

- [1] E. J. Heller, Time-dependent approach to semiclassical dynamics, Journal of Chemical Physics, 62(4), pp. 1544–1555 (1975).
- R. D. Coalson and M. Karplus, Multidimensional variational Gaussian wave packet dynamics with application to photodissociation spectroscopy, Journal of Chemical Physics, 93, pp. 3919–3930 (1990).
- [3] E. Faou and C. Lubich, *Poisson integrator for Gaussian wavepacket dynamics*, Computing and Visualization in Science, 9(2), pp. 45–55 (2006).
- [4] C. Lubich, From quantum to classical molecular dynamics: reduced models and numerical analysis, European Mathematical Society, Zürich, Switzerland (2008).
- [5] G. A. Hagedorn, Semiclassical quantum mechanics, Communications in Mathematical Physics, 71, pp. 77–93 (1980).

Orthogonal separation of the Hamilton-Jacobi equation on Spaces of Constant curvature

Krishan Rajaratnam

University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, k2rajara@uwaterloo.ca

The talk will present a theory of orthogonal separation of the Hamilton-Jacobi equation on spaces of constant curvature, with examples in Euclidean space. The theory is based on results of Eisenhart [Eis34], which connect orthogonal separation of the Hamilton-Jacobi equation to the existence of special types of Killing tensors known as characteristic Killing tensors.

We use geometrical properties of Killing tensors to classify separable webs and develop an algorithm to separate the Hamilton-Jacobi equation. In particular, our solution method involves a recursive classification of characteristic Killing tensors by way of the warped product decompositions [Nol96] of the Riemannian manifold they induce. This classification is built up on Benenti's theory of a special but important class of characteristic Killing tensors [Ben92, Ben04, Ben05].

The method has been successfully applied to Euclidean space and the *n*-sphere; in this case, other authors have arrived at this solution using other methods [WRW03]. We will present some examples of this method for well known Hamiltonians in 3-dimensional Euclidean space. Current work involves applying the method to Hyperbolic, Minkowski and de Sitter space. In addition to being a viable method for solving Hamilton's equations for some existing natural Hamiltonians, this method allows us to find new integrable systems defined on these spaces as well.

- [Ben92] S Benenti. Inertia tensors and Stackel systems in the Euclidean spaces. *Rend. Semin. Mat. Univ. Polit. Torino*, 4, 1992.
- [Ben04] S Benenti. Separability in Riemannian manifolds. Phil. Trans. Roy. Soc. A, to appear, d, 2004.
- [Ben05] S Benenti. Special Symmetric Two-tensors, Equivalent Dynamical Systems, Cofactor and Bi-cofactor Systems. *Acta Applicandae Mathematicae*, 87(1-3):33–91, May 2005.
- [Eis34] L P Eisenhart. Separable systems of Stackel. Annals of Mathematics, 35(2):749–752, 1934.
- [Nol96] Stefan Nolker. Isometric immersions of warped products. *Differential Geometry and its Applications*, 6(1):1–30, March 1996.
- [WRW03] Claes Waksjo and Stefan Rauch-Wojciechowski. How to Find Separation Coordinates for the Hamilton-Jacobi Equation: A Criterion of Separability for Natural Hamiltonian Systems. *Mathemati*cal Physics, Analysis and Geometry, 6(4):301–348, April 2003.

Orbits in the Symmetric Four-body Problem

Winston L. Sweatman¹

¹ Institute of Natural and Mathematical Sciences, Massey University, Albany, Auckland, New Zealand, w.sweatman@massey.ac.nz

The gravitational N-body problem has long been a source of theoretical investigation with application to astronomical systems. There is a rich and varied dynamics. With systems of four bodies arranged symmetrically, the symmetry tends to reduce the complexity of the system so that it is perhaps more similar to one with three bodies. Although, such systems also provide a starting point for our understanding of more general four-body systems.

In the three-body equal-mass case a simple collinear periodic orbit was discovered by Schubart in 1956 [1]. Similar orbits extend to the plane [4], and unequal masses [2, 3], and also exist for the four-body problem [5]. Included within this talk we will look at some orbits of this general nature.

- [1] J. Schubart, Numerische Aufscuchung periodischer Lösungen im Dreikörperproblem, Astron. Nachr. 283, 17 (1956).
- [2] M. Hénon, Stability of interplay motions, Celest. Mech. Dynam. Astron. 15, 243 (1977).
- [3] S. Mikkola and J. Hietarinta, *A numerical investigation of the one-dimensional Newtonian three-body problem III*, Celest. Mech. Dynam. Astron. **51**, 379 (1991).
- [4] M. Hénon, A Family of periodic orbits of the planar three-body problem, and their stability, Celest. Mech. Dynam. Astron. 13, 267 (1976).
- [5] W. L. Sweatman, A family of symmetrical Schubart-like interplay orbits and their stability in the one-dimensional four-body problem, Celest. Mech. Dynam. Astron. 94, 37 (2006).

Traveling Waves and Conservation Laws for Complex mKdV-type Equations

S. Anco¹, M. Mohiuddin², <u>T. Wolf³</u>

¹ Brock University, St. Catharines, Canada, sanco@brocku.ca

² formerly Brock University, St. Catharines, Canada, mohi.math@yahoo.com

³ Brock University, St. Catharines, Canada, twolf@brocku.ca

For a class of U(1)-invariant complex mKdV equations we present traveling waves and conservation laws containing the known integrable generalizations of the real mKdV equation. Complex solitary waves and kinks that we derived generalize the well-known mKdV sech and tanh solutions. When computing explicitly all first-order conserved densities we obtained phase-invariant counterparts of the mKdV conserved densities for momentum, energy, and Galilean energy, and a new conserved density describing the angular twist of complex kink solutions.

For both, the symmetry and the conservation law computations, remarks about the computational challenges in solving a non-linear ODE system and in dealing with many jet-variables in large overdetermined systems are made.

Simulations in Soft Matter and Molecular Bio-Physics (SS-SSMMBP)

Organizer: Cristiano L. Dias (New Jersey Institute of Technology)

Computer simulations are playing an important role in our understanding of soft matter and molecular Bio-Physics. In recent years we have seen tremendous progress in these areas motivated by advances in supercomputers and simulation techniques. This special session will bring together scientists developing new computational methods in soft matter and scientists using conventional techniques to study emerging phenomena in molecular Bio-Physics. The goal will be to foster interactions between method development in soft matter and potential applications in molecular Bio-Physics.

Colloidal disks in nematic liquid crystals under the action of magnetic fields

A. Antipova¹

¹ University of Western Ontario, Canada, aantipov@uwo.ca

We simulated magnetic disks immersed in a liquid crystal using a lattice-Boltzmann algorithm modified for liquid crystals. In the absence of external torques, disks with homeotropic anchoring align with their surface normal \bar{a} parallel to the director of the nematic liquid crystal \bar{n} . In the presence of a weak magnetic field (<10G) the disks will rotate to equilibrate the magnetic torque and the elastic torque due to the distortion of the nematic director. When the magnetic field rotates the disks so that $\theta = (\hat{n} \cdot \hat{a})$ becomes greater than $\frac{\pi}{2}$, the disks will go through the transition in which $\theta \to \pi - \theta$. The analysis of defects in the nematic liquid crystal during the described above rotation was performed.

Coarse-Grained Atomistic Modeling of Colloid Crystallization and Glass Formation with Phase Field Crystal Methods

J. Berry^{1,2,3} and M. Grant³

¹ McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada, {berryj}@mcmaster.ca

² The University of British Columbia, Vancouver, Canada

³ McGill University, Montreal, Canada

Phase Field Crystal (PFC) models [1, 2] have been used to study a variety of phenomena in traditional atomic materials such as metals and metal alloys, but the same basic framework has also been applied to soft materials such as colloidal suspensions, liquid crystals, and polymers. Such models simulate long time scale diffusive dynamics at the 'atomic' level by coarse-graining the rapid vibrational or Brownian movements into a time-averaged continuum number density field, as in classical density functional theory. One can then employ a coarse-grained time step close to the order of the characteristic diffusion time rather than the characteristic vibrational time. In this talk, the current state of PFC modeling of soft materials will be briefly outlined, with a particular focus on freezing and the dynamics of glass formation in simple model colloidal systems. Monodisperse and bidisperse suspensions will be discussed, and some minimal features of a successful PFC model for glass-formation outlined. These features lead to dynamics consistent with a fragile transition and the central predictions of mode-coupling theory. A physically-motivated time scaling results in qualitative agreement with basic glass transition phenomenology and experimental data across 12 orders of magnitude in time [3].

- [1] K. R. Elder and M. Grant, *Modeling elastic and plastic deformations in nonequilibrium processing using phase field crystals*, Physical Review E **70**, 051605 (2004).
- [2] Emmerich, Heike and Löwen, Hartmut and Wittkowski, Raphael and Gruhn, Thomas and Tóth, Gyula I. and Tegze, György and Gránásy, László, *Phase-field-crystal models for condensed matter dynamics on atomic length and diffusive time scales: an overview*, Advances in Physics 61, 6, pp. 665-743 (2012).
- [3] J. Berry and M. Grant, *Modeling Multiple Time Scales during Glass Formation with Phase-Field Crystals*, Physical Review Letters **106**, 175702 (2011).

The role of PEGylation in drug delivery: what can molecular dynamics simulation tell us?

Alex Bunker¹

¹ University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland, alex.bunker@helsinki.fi

PEGylation, the attachment of poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) to drug molecules or nanoscale drug delivery devices (nanovectors), is well established as a technique to create a "stealth sheath" that prologues bloodstream lifetime, hence efficacy. The most well developed nanovector, the only such treatment that is currently FDA approved, is the PEGylated liposome. PEGylation has been extremely successful, however considerable room for improvement remains; PEGylation increases the time drug delivery liposomes circulate in the bloodstream from \sim 1 hour to the range of 1-2 days [1], however blood platelets, red blood cells, and some antibodies have a blood plasma circulation time in the range of months. For this reason several alternative polymers to PEG are currently under consideration [2]. A rational design approach to alternatives to PEG can only be followed if one has a good understanding of the specific properties of PEG, its structure in relation to the drug or nanovector to which it is attached, and its interaction with the bloodstream. Molecular dynamics simulation, using an all atom model, allows us to gain an atomic resolution picture of these systems, providing insight that is not attainable experimentally. Using molecular dynamics simulation, we have studied the surface of a PEGylated liposome, studying the effect of membrane state (gel or liquid crystal) [3], presence of cholesterol in the membrane, density of PEG lipid [4], and targeting ligands expressed on the PEGylated liposome exterior [5]. We have also studied PEGylated drugs [6], both how the drug interacts with PEG, and how PEGylation of the drug affects the penetration of drugs into the cell membrane. In all of these studies, we have found that the specific properties of PEG, its solubility in both polar and non-polar solvents, and its acting as a polymer electrolyte, have a significant effect when used in drug delivery.

- [1] S. Moghimi and J. Szebeni *Stealth liposomes and long ciculating nanoparticles: critical issues in pharmacokinetics, opsonization and protein-binding properties*, Prog. Lipid Res. **42**, pp. 463-478 (2003).
- [2] K. Knop, R. Hoogenboom, D. Fischer and U. Schubert *Poly(ethylene glycol) in drug delivery: pros and cons as well as potential alternatives*, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **49**, pp. 6288-6302 (2010).
- [3] M. Stepniewski, M. Pasenkiewicz-Gierula, T Róg, R. Danne, A. Orlowski, M. Karttunen, A. Urtti, E. Vuorimaa and A. Bunker Study of PEGylated lipid layers as a model for PEGylated liposome surfaces: molecular dynamics simulation and langmuir monolayer studies Langmuir 27, 12, pp. 7788-7798 (2011).
- [4] A. Magarkar, E. Karakas, M. Stepniewski, T. Róg, and A. Bunker *Molecular dynamics simulation of PEGylated bilayer interacting with salt ions: a model of the liposome surface in the bloodstream* J. Phys. Chem. B **116**, 14, pp. 4212-4219 (2012).
- [5] J. Lehtinen, A. Magarkar, M. Stepniewski, S. Hakola, M. Bergman, T Róg, M. Yliperttula, A. Urtti, and A. Bunker Analysis of cause of failure of new targeting peptide in PEGylated liposome: molecular modeling as rational design tool for nanomedicine Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 46, 3, pp. 121-130 (2012).
- [6] Y-C. Li, S. Rissanen, M. Stepniewski, O. Cramariuc, T. Róg, S. Mirza, H. Xhaard, M. Wytrwal, M. Kepczynski and A. Bunker Study of interaction between PEG carrier and 3 relevant drug molecules: piroxicam, paclitaxel, and hematoporphyrin J. Phys. Chem. B 116, pp. 7334-7341 (2012).

Principles of Protein Folding from Coarse-Grained Modeling

Hue Sun Chan¹

¹ Departments of Biochemistry, Molecular Genetics, and Physics; University of Toronto. Email: chan@arrhenius.med.utoronto.ca

The so-called Levinthal paradox of protein folding is often understood as merely stating that folding by a completely random conformational search is impossible. This perception overlooks an important historical context of Levinthal's question, which was mainly a reaction to the fundamental theoretical implications of the experimental discovery of two-state, switch-like cooperative folding in the late 1960s [1]. The conceptual relationship between the origin of the Levinthal paradox and the notion of a funnel-like energy landscape will be discussed [2]. Comparisons between theory and experiment indicate a prominent role of desolvation barriers in cooperative folding [3]. These barriers narrow the range of attractive interactions. They contribute to an apparent general organizing principle involving a coupling between local conformational preferences and nonlocal packing interactions. Examples will be highlighted to illustrate how important folding principles have been gleaned from native-centric models of proteins [4], how nonnative interactions may be treated perturbatively [5, 6, 7], and how coarse-grained modeling has been used to predict/rationalize experimental observations [2]. Consistent with recent single-molecule FRET experiments [8], simulated folding transition path time in our coarse-grained chain models correlates only weakly with overall folding time. We found that this behavior as well as the distribution of transition path times can be essentially captured by a simple diffusion picture of folding. We found further that in our model, conformations in the initial stages of transition paths tend to form more nonlocal contacts than typical conformations with the same number of native contacts. This predicted statistical bias suggests that certain orderings of kinetic events with early nonlocal contact formation are preferred in productive folding [9]. Ramifications of these findings on protein folding theory will be explored.

- [1] R. L. Baldwin, BioEssays 16, pp. 207-210 (1994).
- [2] H. S. Chan, Z. Zhang, S. Wallin and Z. Liu, Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem. 62, pp. 301-326 (2011).
- [3] A. Ferguson, Z. Liu and H. S. Chan, J. Mol. Biol. 389, pp. 619-636 (2009); Corrigendum: 401, p. 153 (2010).
- [4] H. Kaya and H. S. Chan, J. Mol. Biol. 326, pp. 911-931; Corrigendum: 337, pp. 1069-1070 (2004).
- [5] A. Zarrine-Afsar, S. Wallin, A. M. Neculai, P. Neudecker, P. L. Howell, A. R. Davidson and H. S. Chan, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 105, pp. 9999-10004 (2008).
- [6] Z. Zhang and H. S. Chan, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 107, pp. 2920-2925 (2010).
- [7] A. Zarrine-Afsar, Z. Zhang, K. L. Schweiker, G. I. Makhatadze, A. R. Davidson and H. S. Chan, *Proteins: Struct. Funct. Bioinform.* 80, pp. 858-870 (2012).
- [8] H. S. Chung, K. McHale, J. M. Louis and W. A. Eaton, Science 335, pp. 981-984 (2012).
- [9] Z. Zhang and H. S. Chan, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 109, pp. 20919-20924 (2012).

Nano-scale Dimer Motor in a Chemical Gradient

P. Colberg and R. Kapral

Chemical Physics Theory Group, Department of Chemistry, University of Toronto, Toronto, Ontario M5S 3H6, Canada

Molecular machines, unlike macroscopic machines, operate in an environment with strong thermal fluctuations. A molecular motor, to counteract thermal motion and achieve propulsion, draws energy from its environment, e.g., chemical energy in the case of synthetic chemical motors [1]. Previous work includes the study of the dynamics [2] and the collective behaviour [3] of self-propelled sphere-dimer motors of meso-scale size.

We present a dimer motor of nanometer size in solvent, and analyze its motion using molecular dynamics. The solvent is treated explicitly, preserving both hydrodynamic and structural effects. The dimer is composed of a smaller catalytic (C) and a larger non-catalytic (N) sphere. The catalytic sphere catalyses the reaction of fuel (A) particles of the solvent to product (B) particles. This reaction produces a chemical gradient, where the concentration of product particles around the non-catalytic sphere is higher on the side facing the catalytic sphere, and lower on the other side. All constituents of the system interact via the short-ranged repulsive Weeks-Chandler-Andersen potential, with varying strength ε_{NB} for the interaction of non-catalytic sphere and product particles, and unit ε otherwise, which causes a spatial asymmetry of forces acting upon the non-catalytic sphere.

Despite the small size of the dimer relative to the solvent particles, and thus the strong thermal fluctuations, we measure directed motion of the dimer. We discuss the propulsion (Fig. 1) for various dimer sizes and interaction strengths, and the orientational auto-correlation. We analyse the short- and long-time dynamics using the mean-square displacement, and derive a formula based on the decay of velocity and orientational fluctuations.

The molecular dynamics simulations of 10^5 particles were conducted using a self-written parallel code. The program employs the OpenCL computing language [4] and the LuaJIT just-in-time compiler [5], resulting in a compact, efficient and adaptable simulation code for heterogeneous computers with a multi-core CPU and a GPU.



Figure 1: Self-propelled dimer motor, consisting of a catalytic (green) and a non-catalytic (red) sphere, in a solvent of fuel (light red) and product (blue) particles. The velocity of the dimer is projected onto its axis, and histogrammed over time and multiple realisations. The dimer exhibits a significant forward ($\varepsilon_{NB} = 0.1\varepsilon$) or backward ($\varepsilon_{NB} = 10\varepsilon$) propulsion in the presence of a chemical gradient.

- [1] R. Kapral, Perspective: Nanomotors without moving parts that propel themselves in solution, J. Chem. Phys. 138, 020901 (2013).
- [2] S. Thakur and R. Kapral, Dynamics of self-propelled nanomotors in chemically active media, J. Chem. Phys. 135, 024509 (2011).
- [3] S. Thakur and R. Kapral, Collective dynamics of self-propelled sphere-dimer motors, Phys. Rev. E 85, 026121(2012).
- [4] Khronos Group, OpenCL The open standard for parallel programming of heterogeneous systems.
- [5] M. Pall, LuaJIT A just-in-time compiler for Lua.

Unraveling the role of solvent-macromolecule interactions in determining the conformations of macromolecules in bulk, droplet and vacuum environments

<u>S. Consta¹</u>, A. Malevanets²

¹ The University of Western Ontario, London, Ontario styliani.constas@gmail.com

² Molecular Structure and Function Program, Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, ON M5G 1X8, Canada anatoly.malevanets@gmail.com

Liquid nanodroplets with excess charge are indispensable intermediates in electrospray ionization (ESI) techniques. ESI is often used to carry biological macromolecules from the bulk solution into the gaseous state via charged droplets. The droplets contract through evaporation of the solvent and a sequence of fission events involving charged species. Critical question in the ESI applications is how the conformations and charge states [1, 2, 3, 4] of macromolecules in the bulk is related to that in the droplet and the later gaseous state form [1]. The objective of the presentation is to address the relation of the conformations of macromolecules in the various settings utilizing molecular simulations. Sodiated poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) in water is used as a prototype system because aqueous PEG has been studied extensively in ESI experiments and it has also been reported that PEG molecules in aqueous bulk solution demonstrate solvation properties similar to those of proteins in water. The PEG conformations in bulk were sampled by using the multiple replica repulsion (MRR) [5] technique and in vacuum by using replica exchange molecular dynamics. The MRR technique allowed us for the first time to observe directly emulsification of macromolecules at high salt concentrations. We found that PEG is released from sodiated aqueous droplets in a stretched conformation because of the large number of ions associated with the oxygen sites of PEG. These conformations do not reflect the conformations in the bulk solution.

The presented topic is of broad scientific interest among the scientists who work in the fields of electrospray mass spectrometry, aerosols, interactions of biological macromolecules with solvent and ions. The topic also partially overlaps with the field of polyelectrolytes. The assembled body of knowledge that we obtain through the systematic study of these problems will provide means to construct detailed theory to generalize the findings and lay the theoretical foundation for processes that give rise to the signals in the electrospray mass spectrometry methods. These studies assist in the understanding of macromolecule-solvent interactions.

- S. Consta and J. K. Chung, *Charge-Induced Conformational Changes of PEG-(Na⁺_n) in a Vacuum and Aqueous Nanodroplets*, J. Phys. Chem. B **115**, pp. 10447–10455 (2011).
- J. K. Chung and S. Consta, Release Mechanisms of Poly(ethylene glycol) Macroions from Aqueous Charged Nanodroplets, J. Phys. Chem. B 116, pp. 5777–5785 (2012).
- [3] S. Consta and A. Malevanets, *Manifestations of Charge Induced Instability in Droplets Effected by Charged Macromolecules*, Phys. Rev. Lett. 109, 148301 (2012).
- [4] A. Malevanets and S. Consta, Variation of droplet acidity during evaporation, to appear in J. Chem. Phys. (2013).
- [5] A. Malevanets and S. J. Wodak, *Multiple Replica Repulsion Technique for Efficient Conformational Sampling of Biological Systems*, Biophys. J. 101, pp. 951–960, 2011.

The implication of stochastic resonance effects on neurological disease quantifications

<u>T. K. Das¹</u>, N. Rajakumar², M. Karttunen³, M. Jog⁴

¹ Clinical Neurological Sciences, London Health. Sciences Centre, London, Canada, tdas2@uwo.ca

⁴ Clinical Neurological Sciences, London Health. Sciences Centre, London, Canada, Mandar.Jog@lhsc.on.ca

Over last couple of decades, study of stochastic resonance (SR) phenomena has played a significant role in many real physical systems in order to extract input information in a noise-assisted environment (see Refs. [1, 2]). In addition to previous work, we present an application of stochastic resonance in a data-driven nonlinear bi-stable system, in which inhibitory and excitatory neuronal activities in the pre-frontal cortex (PFC) are quantified in healthy and disease model rodent brains.

Electrophysiological spiking activity of PFC neurons in the animal (rodent) model was recorded using multichannel, in-vivo 'tetrodes' at baseline (no pharmacological intervention), and with amphetamine (AMP) stimulation in the presence and absence of a GABAergic inhibitor, picrotoxin. Recordings were made pre-injection and then at 15, 60 and 180 minutes after. An adaptive multivariate empirical mode decomposition protocol was applied for processing and analyzing these non-linear and non-stationary data. Within the different experimental conditions, we parameterized both symmetric and asymmetric types of bi-stable model potentials through non-linear regression fitting (see Ref. [3]). In order to obtain functional patterns of neuronal dynamics in both control and disease states, we further characterized brain activity in the form of SR by applying the nonlinear Duffing oscillator model with respective shapes of parameterized potentials.

Increased GABAergic synaptic abnormalities and loss of dopamine fiber density in the disease model brain may increase energy barrier of potential wells and reduce the noise source that is inherent to the disease state neuronal network. These may simplify resonance effects, forming independent limit cycles in dynamic phase space, which may be a result of a reduction of dopaminergic (DA) neuronal activities in PFC in the disease state. In presence of excitatory type stimulation (amphetamine) the altered baseline DA activity may show non-bifurcating dynamic states in phase space. These may help to characterize dopamine agonist and/or antagonist activities in our bistable oscillator model and an inability to demonstrate information flow in the disease model brain.

Our analyses on spatio-temporal aspects of neuronal dynamics suggest that spontaneous neuronal activity, resulting from internally driven neuronal network force (such as synaptic connectivity) and source of physical noise, may provide asymmetries in our bi-stable model potential that has a strong influence on SR effect in order to quantify bi-stable brain dynamic phase transitions. Further quantification of dynamic multi-stabilities and corresponding phase transitions among different phases may correlate abilities of decision making in PFC, which may be absent in the disease model brains.

- M. D. McDonnell and D. Abbott, What Is Stochastic Resonance? Definitions, Misconceptions, Debates, and Its Relevance to Biology, PLoS Comput Biol. 5, 5, pp. 1-9 (2009).
- [2] L. Gammaitoni, P. Hänggi, P. Jung and F. Marchesoni, Stochastic resonance, Rev. Mod. Phys. 70, 1, pp. 223-286 (1998).
- [3] G. Kemmer and S. Keller, Nonlinear least-squares data fitting in Excel spreadsheets, Nature Protocols 5, pp. 267-281 (2010).

² Western University, London, Canada, nrajakum@uwo.ca

³ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, mikko.karttunen@uwaterloo.ca

Using hybrid molecular dynamics-lattice Boltzmann simulations to study polymers and porous particles in confined environments

C. Denniston¹

¹ Department of Applied Mathematics, University of Western Ontario, London, ON, N6A 5B7, Canada, {cdennist, fmackay}@uwo.ca ² Department of Applied Physics, Aalto University School of Science and Technology, P.O. Box 11000, FIN-00076 Aalto, Espoo, Finland, santtu.ollila@aalto.fi

We present a numerical study of the dynamics of solid and porous microparticles and polymers in channels and T-shaped junctions. Good agreement with experimental data is obtained on the location of particle-separating streamlines for single solid particles with realistic parameters corresponding to the experiments. We quantify the changes in the position of the separating line for porous, partially penetrable colloids. A prediction of the full phase diagram for particle separation is presented in the case of two successive particles entering a T-junction. We also consider the statics and dynamics of a flexible polymer confined between parallel plates both in the presence and absence of hydrodynamic interactions. We consider two cases: (i) confinement for both the solvent and the polymer, and (ii) confinement for the polymer only (in a 3D solvent), which is experimentally feasible, for instance, by (optical) trapping. We find a continuous transition from 2D to 3D dynamic scaling as a function of decreasing degree of hydrodynamics, the polymer's center-of-mass diffusion coefficient in the direction parallel to the walls scales differently as a function of the level of confinement in cases (i) and (ii).

Interactions of extended peptide conformations and β -sheet formation

Cristiano L. Dias¹

¹ Physics Department, New Jersey Institute of Technology, Newark, New Jersey

In this presentation, we will discuss interactions of extended conformations of homodimeric peptides made of small (glycine or alanine) and large hydrophobic (valine or leucine) sidechains using all-atom computer simulations to decipher driving forces behind β -sheet formation. Dimers adopt β -sheet conformations at short interpeptide distances ($\xi \sim 0.5$ nm) while at intermediate distances (~ 0.8 nm), dimers made of valine or leucine assume "cross- β like" conformations with sidechains interpenetrating each other. These two states are identified as minima in the Potential of Mean Force (PMF). While the number of inter-peptide hydrogen bonds increases with decreasing inter-peptide distance, the total hydrogen bond number in the system does not change significantly, suggesting that formation of β -sheet structures from extended conformations is not driven by hydrogen bonds. This is confirmed by an increase in electrostatic energy at short inter-peptide distances. A remarkable correlation between the volume of the system and the total electrostatic energy is observed, supporting the view that excluded water regions in proteins have an enthalpic penalty. We will also discuss microscopic mechanisms accounting for β -sheet formation based on computed enthalpy and entropy and we will show that they are different for peptides with small and large sidechains.

Investigating Peptide/RNA Binding Using Enhanced-Sampling Simulation Techniques

Trang Do¹, Paolo Carloni², Gabriele Varani³, Giovanni Bussi⁴

¹ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, ON, Canada and SISSA-International School for Advanced Studies, Trieste, Italy, trangdo@uwaterloo.ca

² German Research School for Simulation Sciences, Forschungszentrum Jülich, Germany, p.carloni@grs-sim.de

³ University of Washington, Seattle, Washington, USA, varani@chem.washington.edu

⁴ SISSA-International School for Advanced Studies, Trieste, Italy, bussi@sissa.it

Studying peptide/RNA binding is of great biological and pharmaceutical importance. However, computeraided drug-design targeting RNA faces several difficulties including the RNA flexibility [2] and the highly charged nature of RNA molecules [3]. Promising prospects are coming from the development of more accurate force fields for RNA [4, 5] and enhanced sampling methods [6, 7, 8, 9], which allow better and faster ways of investigating ligand/RNA complex formation.

We here present a computational protocol which allows studying the binding of RNA molecules and charged peptides using atomistic, explicit-solvent molecular dynamics simulations coupled with enhanced-sampling techniques. In our method, a suitable estimate of the electrostatic interaction is used as a reaction coordinate (collective variable) which is then accelerated using bidirectional steered molecular dynamics [6, 8] and well-tempered meta-dynamics simulations [7, 9]. Since the electrostatic interaction is only used as a collective variable to enhance the sampling, the approximations employed to compute it do not affect the final accuracy of free energy calculations. The method is applied to characterize the binding of TAR RNA from HIV-1 and a small cyclic peptide. Our simulation protocol allows blindly predicting the binding pocket as well as the binding affinity. Such a self-guiding feature is important since it is applicable even when experimental information in unavailable, which is the case of most computational drug designs. The method is general and not limited to peptide/RNA bindings, thus could be applied to study other electrostatics-driven binding events.

- J. Gallego and G. Varani, *Targeting RNA with small-molecule drugs: therapeutic promise and chemical challenges*, Acc. Chem. Res. 34, pp. 836-843 (2001).
- [2] S. Fulle and H. Gohlke, Molecular recognition of RNA: Challenges for modelling interactions and plasticity, J. Mol. Recognit. 23, pp. 220-231 (2010).
- [3] P. Auffinger and Y. Hashem, Nucleic acid solvation: from outside to insight, Curr. Opin. Struc. Biol. 17, pp. 325-333 (2007).
- [4] A. Perez, I. Marchan, D. Svozil, J. Sponer, T.E. Cheatham, C.A. Laughton, and M. Orozco, *Refinement of the AMBER force field for nucleic acids: Improving the description of α/γ conformers*, Biophys. J. 92, pp. 3817-3829 (2007).
- [5] M. Zgarbova, M. Otyepka, J. Sponer, A. Mladek, P. Banas, T.E. Cheatham, and P. Jurecka, *Refinement of the Cornell et al. nucleic acid force field based on reference quantum chemical calculations of torsion profiles of the glycosidic torsion*, J. Chem. Theory Comput. 7, pp. 2886-2902 (2011).
- [6] H. Grubmüller, B. Heymann, and P. Tavan, Ligand binding: molecular mechanics calculation of the streptavidin-biotin rupture force, Science 271, pp. 997-999 (1996).
- [7] A. Laio and M. Parrinello, Escaping free-energy minima, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 99, pp. 12562-12566 (2002).
- [8] M. Sotomayor and K. Schulten, Single-molecule experiments in vitro and in silico, Science 316, pp. 1144-1148 (2007).
- [9] A. Barducci, G. Bussi, and M. Parrinello, *Well-tempered metadynamics: A smoothly converging and tunable free-energy method*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **100**, pp. 020603-020606 (2008).

Phase Field Crystal Modelling of Magneto-Elastic Effects in Isotropic Ferromagnetic Solids

N. Faghihi^{1,2}, N. Provatas², K. Elder³, M. Grant², M. Karttunen⁴

¹ University of Western Ontario, London, Canada

³ Oakland University, Rochester, USA, elder@oakland.edu

⁴ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, mikko.karttunen@uwaterloo.ca

Magnetic hardness (coercivity) is an important property of ferromagnetic materials that characterized their hysteresis curve and their applications. Being an essential component of many electronic devices, magnetic materials are at the root of progress in electrical engineering and electronics and material science.

In this work we studied the inter-relation between morphological structure and magnetic properties, specifically the dependence of coercivity on the grain size in isotropic ferromagnetic solids. We constructed a minimal free energy functional (Magnetic PFC model) to incorporate elastic and magnetic properties of isotropic ferromagnetic solids. The free energy is an extension of the phase-field crystal free energy functional [1] with additional terms to include the paramagnetic to ferromagnetic phase transition and magnetostriction effects. The phase diagram of the model was calculated. The equilibrium phases include liquid, ferromagnetic hexagonal solid and non-magnetic solid phases. Using amplitude expansion method, we calculated the free energy in terms of the strain tensor elements which allowed us to study the magnetostriction effect, hysteresis properties and the effect of the grain boundary on coercivity. In particular we derived a relation for the dependence of coercivity on the grain mis-orientation angle in the isotropic limit.

Numerical simulations were performed to further study the properties of the model. The relation between the grain size and the coercive force was analyzed and we found a qualitative agreement with the experiments on soft magnetic nanocrystalline materials as reported in [2].

The Magnetic PFC model which was constructed in this research, has essential properties that make it ideal to study magneto-elastic effects in ferromagnetic materials or (with a minor change) for electro-elastic effects in piezoelectric materials. Even though in this model the free energy is written in terms of the coarse-grained order parameters, it still resolves the atomic scales and therefore many properties that originate from microscopic scales, such as elastic and plastic properties, defects and grains are included in this model. The model also averages the order parameters over time, which allows simulations to reach time scales that are necessary to observe the phenomena that happens in diffusive time scales such as diffusion of defects, grain growth and formation of microstructures. These are the distinguishing properties in this model which are not achievable with other models used to study magneto-elastic effects.

- [1] K. R. Elder and Martin Grant, *Modeling elastic and plastic deformations in nonequilibrium processing using phase field crystals*, Phys. Rev. E 70, pp 051605-1-18 (2004).
- [2] Giselher Herzer, Nanocrystalline Soft Magnetic Materials, Physica Scripta T49 pp 307-314 (1993).

² McGill University, Montréal, Canada, faghihin, provatas@physics.mcgill.ca, martin.grant@mcgill.ca

Velocity and energy distributions in microcanonical ensembles of hard spheres

Guido Germano^{1,2}, Enrico Scalas^{3,4}

¹ Philipps-Universität Marburg, Germany, guido.germano@uni-marburg.de

³ Università del Piemonte Orientale, Alessandria, Italy, enrico.scalas@unipmn.it

⁴ Basque Center for Applied Mathematics, Bilbao, Spain, enrico.scalas@bcamath.org

In a microcanonical ensemble (constant *NVE*, hard reflecting walls) and in a molecular dynamics ensemble (constant *NVE***PG**, periodic boundary conditions) with a number N of smooth elastic hard spheres in a *d*-dimensional volume V having a total energy E, a total momentum **P**, and an overall center of mass position **G**, the individual velocity components, velocity moduli, and energies follow transformed beta distributions with different arguments and shape parameters depending on d, N, E, the boundary conditions, and possible symmetries in the initial conditions. This can be shown marginalizing the joint distribution of individual energies, which is a symmetric Dirichlet distribution. In the thermodynamic limit the beta distributions converge to gamma distributions with different arguments and shape or scale parameters, corresponding respectively to the Gaussian, i.e., Maxwell-Boltzmann, Maxwell, and Boltzmann or Boltzmann-Gibbs distribution. These analytical results are in agreement with molecular dynamics and Monte Carlo simulations with different numbers of hard disks or spheres and hard reflecting walls or periodic boundary conditions.



Figure 1: Probability density functions $f_{\nu_{i\alpha}}$ of the velocity components (left) and f_{E_i} of the energy (right) for N = 2, 3, 4, 10, 100, 1000 hard disks with $\bar{E} = 1$ in a two-dimensional (d = 2) molecular dynamics ensemble: theory (lines), MD (empty symbols), and MC (full symbols).

References

[1] E. Scalas, A. T. Gabriel, E. Martin, G. Germano, *Velocity and energy distributions in microcanonical ensembles of hard spheres*, arXiv:1207.3505 [cond-mat.stat-mech, math-ph].

² Scuola Normale Superiore, Pisa, Italy, guido.germano@sns.it

Nonequilibrium Methods for Calculating the Potential of Mean Force for Biomolecular Systems

C. Gray

University of Guelph, Ontario, Canada, cgray@uoguelph.ca

The potential of mean force (PMF) serves as an effective potential and is a key quantity used to calculate interactions in peptide, protein, and membrane systems. Our group has developed some new and practical nonequilibrium work methods of calculating the PMF, based on the theorems of Jarzynski, Crooks and Kosztin. Applications to be described include calculations of the binding free energies of peptide-peptide and peptide-membrane systems. The methods used to calculate the PMF yield simultaneously the local diffusion coefficient of the molecules involved, and thus, from the PMF and the local diffusion coefficient, enable one to calculate the permeability coefficient using the theory of Marrink and Berendsen. Calculations of membrane permeability coefficients for molecules and ions will be discussed.

Intrachain ordering and segregation of polymers in a confined space

Y. Jung¹, J. Kim², S. Jun³, and <u>B.-Y. Ha⁴</u>

¹ Supercomputing Center, Korea Institute of Science and Technology Information, Daejeon, Korea

² Department of Physics, Korea Advanced Institute of Science and Technology, Daejeon, Korea

³ Section of Molecular Biology, Division of Biological Sciences, Department of Physics, UCSD, USA

⁴ Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada

Cylindrical confinement can induce linear ordering in individual polymer chains and enhance their segregation tendency similarly to what is observed for bacterial chromosomes. I will discuss the relationship between intrachain ordering and segregation of two polymers confined in a cylindrical space, and show that the *E. coli* chromosome is in the linear-ordering and spontaneous-segregation regime.

Flow of spherical micellar solutions in confined channels

M. Habibi¹, C. Denniston², M. Karttunen³

¹ Department of Applied Mathematics, University of Western Ontario, London, Canada, {mhabibi2}@uwo.ca

² Department of Applied Mathematics, University of Western Ontario, London, Canada, cdennist@uwo.ca

³ Department of Chemistry and Waterloo Institute for Nanotechnology, University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada

mikko.karttunen@uwaterloo.ca

We use molecular-dynamics simulations to study the structural and dynamical properties of a coarse grained (CG) model of surfactants in micellar solution under flow in a die-extruder geometry. Variations in flow and surface-surfactant interactions lead to rich behavior including fragmentation and re-assembly of micelles. We examine the effect of flow, confinement, and wetting on spherical micelles. We use sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) as our model system which has been extensively studied, both experimentally and computationally. Our previous atomistic MD simulations of SDS system under varying conditions [1, 2] provide a good reference system for this study.

- [1] M. Sammalkorpi, M. Karttunen, and M. Haataja, *Structural properties of ionic detergent aggregates: A large-scale molecular dynamics study of sodium dodecyl sulfate*, J. Phys. Chem. B.111, pp.11722-11733 (2007).
- M. Sammalkorpi, M. Karttunen, and M. Haataja, *Micelle fission through surface instability and formation of an interdigitating stalk*, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 130, pp.17977-17980 (2008).

Dynamics of water molecules: Rockin' and jumping

John Titantah¹ and Mikko Karttunen²

¹ Applied Mathematics, The University of Western Ontario, London (ON), Canada www.softsimu.org

² Chemistry, University of Waterloo, Canada, www.softsimu.org

Hydrophobic hydration has been debated intensly since the seminal paper by Frank and Evans in 1945 [1]. The "iceberg" model has been probed by experiments and simulations with controversial results. In this talk we will discuss hydrophobic hydration and the iceberg model based on our results from >100 ps *ab initio* simulations [2]. We discuss the relation to femtosecond spectroscopy measurements and the consequences to proteins and other systems. It will be demonstrated that water dynamics cannot be described by simple Debye rotational diffusion but instead, water molecules execute large angle jumps.

- [1] H. S. Frank & M. W. Evans, Free volume and entropy in condensed systems. III. Entropy in binary liquid mixtures; Partial molal entropy in dilute solutions structure and thermodynamics in aqueous electrolytes, J. Chem. Phys. 13, 507 (1945).
- [2] J.T. Titantah & M. Karttunen, *Long-time correlations and hydrophobe modified hydrogen bonding dynamics in hydrophobic hydration*, J. Am. Chem. Soc. **134**, 9362-9368 (2012).

Stability and Cooperativity of Protein Folding in Crowded and Confined Environments

<u>A. Linhananta¹</u>

¹ Lakehead University, Thunder Bay, Ontario, Canada, apichart.linhananta@lakeheadu.ca

In living cells, the presence of biomacromolecular crowders strongly affects the stability of folded proteins. The overall effects depend on the size and concentration of the crowding agents as well as on its chemical properties. In a recent publication [1] we employ a simple Go model of the Trp-cage protein in spherical solvents to assess the effects of macromolecular effects on protein stability. The computer simulation model uses a single control parameter ε_{ps} that varies the protein affinity of the spherical solvents. Repulsive solvents, $\varepsilon_{ps} > 0$, which mimics protein-protecting osmolytes, stabilize the structure of folded proteins, increasing the folding temperature. Attractive solvents, $\varepsilon_{ps} < 0$, mimics denaturants (such as urea), destabilizes proteins, decreasing the folding temperature. Data analysis that used the weight histogram method (WHAM) found an entropy-driven stabilization mechanism of proteins by osmolytes. In contrast, denaturants destabilize proteins by an enthalpy-driven mechanism. The model was generalized to include variation in solvent size and volume fraction [2], as well as to protein in confinements. The confined proteins are encapsulated in hydrophobic or hydrophilic rectangular walls, to mimic the chaperonin GroEL/ES. The cooperativity of the systems are assessed by the method developed by Chan and coworkers [3]. In general, the cooperativity remains the same for confined proteins and proteins in denaturants, but in some cases, the cooperativity decreases in the presence of osmolytes, despite an increase in the stability of the native state. This unusual behavior is attributed to the loss of conformation entropy due to osmolytes.

- A. Linhananta, S. Hadizadeh, and S.S. Plotkin, An Effective Solvent Theory Connecting the Underlying Mechanisms of Osmolytes and Denaturants for Protein Stability, Biophysical J. 100, pp. 459-468 (2011).
- [2] A. Linhananta, G. Amadei and T. Miao, Computer Simulation Study of Folding Thermodynamics and Kinetics of Proteins in Osmolytes and Denaturants, Journal of Physics: Conference Series, 341, 012009 (2012).
- [3] H.S. Chan, H. Shimizu, and H. Kaya, Cooperativity Principles in Protein Folding, Methods Enzymol., 380, pp. 350-379 (2004).

Colloidal Particles Interacting in a Cholesteric Liquid Crystal

Frances Mackay¹ and Colin Denniston²

¹ Western University, London, Canada, fmackay@uwo.ca

² Western University, London, Canada, cdennist@uwo.ca

Using a lattice-Boltzmann algorithm, we investigate the interactions among colloidal particles immersed in a cholesteric liquid crystal. These interactions arise due to a preferred orientation of the liquid crystal molecules on the colloidal surface, leading to the formation of defects and distortions in the bulk liquid crystal. If tangential anchoring is preferred at the colloidal surface, the two point defects, present at the poles of a particle in a nematic, each split into a pair of defects connected by a 1/2 defect line winding around the particle in the bulk liquid crystal. If instead perpendicular anchoring is assumed at the particle surface, the usual Saturn ring defect, present in a nematic, becomes twisted around the particle. When more than one particle is present, defect lines associated with nearby particles tend to join together in order to minimize the system energy. Here, we present results for chains and a diamond structure, produced as a result of these interactions.

Multiple Replica Repulsion Technique for Efficient Conformational Sampling of Biological Systems

Anatoly Malevanets¹, Shoshana J. Wodak¹

¹ Molecular Structure and Function program, Hospital for Sick Children, 555 University Ave, Toronto, Ontario, M5G 1X8 Canada

We propose a technique for sampling complex molecular systems with many degrees of freedom. The technique, termed "multiple replica repulsion" (MRR), does not suffer from poor scaling with the number of degrees of freedom associated with common replica exchange procedures and does not require sampling at high temperatures. The algorithm involves creation of multiple copies (replicas) of the system, which interact with one another through a repulsive potential that can be applied to the system as a whole or to portions of it. The proposed scheme prevents oversampling of the most populated states and provides accurate descriptions of conformational perturbations typically associated with sampling ground-state energy wells. The performance of MRR is illustrated for three systems of increasing complexity. A two-dimensional toy potential surface is used to probe the sampling efficiency as a function of key parameters of the procedure. MRR simulations of the Met-enkephalin pentapeptide, and the 76-residue protein ubiquitin, performed in presence of explicit water molecules and totaling 32 ns each, investigate the ability of MRR to characterize the conformational landscape of the peptide, and the protein native basin, respectively. Results obtained for the enkephalin peptide reflect more closely the extensive conformational flexibility of this peptide than previously reported simulations. Those obtained for ubiquitin show that conformational ensembles sampled by MRR largely encompass structural fluctuations relevant to biological recognition, which occur on the microsecond timescale, or are observed in crystal structures of ubiquitin complexes with other proteins. MRR thus emerges as a very promising simple and versatile technique for modeling the structural plasticity of complex biological systems.

- [1] Malevanets, Anatoly and Sirota, Fernanda L and Wodak, Shoshana J, *Mechanism and energy landscape of domain swapping in the B1 domain of protein G*, Journal of Molecular Biology. **382**, 1, pp. 223-235 (2008).
- [2] Malevanets, Anatoly and Wodak, Shoshana J, *Multiple Replica Repulsion Technique for Efficient Conformational Sampling of Biological Systems*, Biophysical Journal. **101**, 4, pp. 951–960 (2011).

Role of dipolar interactions in protein folding

Ganesan, S.¹, Jawahery, S.¹, Matysiak, S.¹

¹ Fischell Department of Bioengineering, University of Maryland, College Park, USA, matysiak@umd.edu

A generic coarse-grained (CG) protein model is presented with two beads per amino acid (backbone and side-chain) with explicit solvation. The side-chain is modeled using four different bead types: hydrophobic (H), polar (P), positively or negatively charged whereas the backbone is modeled with a polar bead. The solvent is modeled using the polarizable MARTINI water model¹. The change in orientation of the atoms in the coarse-grained unit is captured by the addition of Drude oscillators^{2,3} inside each polar coarse-grained bead. The addition of dummy sites inside the polar beads introduces structural polarization into the coarse-grained model.

Realistic α/β content is achieved *de novo* without any biases in the force-field toward a particular secondary structure. The dipoles created by the Drude oscillators interact with each other and drive the protein models to fold into unique structures depending on the amino acid patterning and presence of capping residues. In this talk, we will show the role of dipole-dipole and dipole-charge interactions in shaping the secondary and tertiary structure of proteins. In particular, we will focus on the folding of β -hairpins and single helices (see Figure 1) and in helix bundles and multiple β -sheet strands. In the folded ensemble, dipoles along a helix are found aligned parallel and stabilized by the presence of charged capping residues. On the other hand, β -sheets exhibits antiparallel neighbouring dipoles.



Figure 4: a) Free energy profile as a function of the unfolded helix fraction and normalized H1 (between *i* and *i*+3 backbone beads) distance. b) Comparison of dipole angles between the dipoles created in the folded helical conformation of the coarse-grained model by the dummies and the dipoles created by the atoms N-H of amino acid *i* and atom O of amino acids i+4 in a polyalanine helix with all-atom resolution. c) Most populated conformation of the folded ensemble. Only backbone beads are shown. Cyan beads correspond to hydrophobic beads, green to polar and red to a positive charge bead. Dummy particles are shown in a smaller size. Dipoles are shown by arrows.

- Yesylevskyy, S. O., Schafer, L. V., Sengupta, D. & Marrink, S. J. Polarizable Water Model for the Coarse-Grained MARTINI Force Field. *Plos Comput Biol* 6, doi:Artn E1000810 Doi 10.1371/Journal.Pcbi.1000810 (2010).
- 2 Lamoureux, G., MacKerell, A. D. & Roux, B. A simple polarizable model of water based on classical Drude oscillators. *Journal of Chemical Physics* 119, 5185-5197, doi:Doi 10.1063/1.1598191 (2003).
- 3 Lamoureux, G. & Roux, B. Modeling induced polarization with classical Drude oscillators: Theory and molecular dynamics simulation algorithm. *Journal of Chemical Physics* 119, 3025-3039, doi:Doi 10.1063/1.1589749 (2003).

A Numerical Study on Tissue Topology Using Single Cell Based Model

A. Mkrtchyan¹, J. Åström², M. Karttunen³

¹ Western University, London, Canada, amkrtchy@uwo.ca

² CSC Scientific Computing Ltd, Esbo, Finland, Jan.Astrom@csc.fi

³ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, mikko.karttunen@uwaterloo.ca

Tissue topology, such as proliferating epithelium topology, shows striking similarities for various species. This suggests unified mechanism for tissue formation which can be explored with the help of physical or mathematical models. Indeed, it has been shown that cell divisions along with local cell rearrangements can reproduce commonly observed epithelium topology by using topological models[1].

Tightly packed cells in epithelium resemble polygons. This observation gave rise to models where cells are treated as polygons in junctional network[2]. These models were used to investigate effects of cell mechanics and cell divisions on topology.

In some cases cells undergo extensive rearrangements during tissue formation which dramatically alters tissue topology. Based on our previous work[3], we propose single cell based mechanical model which can naturally account for cell rearrangements. Importantly, this model takes into account cell elasticity and adhesion. Cell growth is controlled by hydrostatic pressure.

In this work, we study the influence of cell mechanics and various division mechanisms on tissue formation. We also consider different growth mechanisms and investigate their effects on tissue topology.

- M. C. Gibson, A. B. Patel, R. Nagpal, N. Perrimon, *The Emergence of Geometric Order in Proliferating Metazoan Epithelia*, Nature 442, pp. 1038-1041 (2006).
- [2] R. Farhadifar, J.-C. Röper, B. Aigouy, S. Eaton, F. Jülicher, *The Influence of Cell Mechanics, Cell-Cell Interactions, and Proliferation on Epithelial Packing*, Current Biology 17, pp. 2095-2104 (2007).
- [3] J. A. Åström, M. Karttunen, Cell Aggregation: Packing Soft Grains, Physical Review E 73, 062301, pp 1-4 (2006).

Various approaches for accelerating sampling of protein conformation : from amyloids to loop motion

Normand Mousseau

Département de physique and GEPROM, Université de Montréal, Montreal, Quebec, Canada. normand.mousseau@umontreal.ca

Sampling protein conformations remains a significant challenge in spite of considerable growth in available computational resources and numerous approaches have been proposed to address this issue. Over the last years, we have used a number of approaches for increasing sampling, including activated and multiscale methods, such as the activation-relaxation technique (ART nouveau), for searching through the conformational space and the use of various coarse-grained models. I will present here applications of these approaches to protein aggregation, protein folding and loop flexibility, focusing on examples of applications on protein A, amyloid aggregation, polyglutamin, calmodulin and troponin C. I will also discuss a new coarse-grained potential that we are currently developing.

This work is done in collaboration with Sébastien Côté, Lilianne Dupuis, Cindie Eugène and Jean-François St-Pierre at Université de Montréal as well as Philippe Derreumaux (IBPC, France) and Pierre Tuffery (Université de Paris 7). It is supported by the Canada Research Chair Foundation, the FRSQ and NSERC. Computer resources are generously allocated by Calcul Québec/Compute Canada.

Understanding beta-sheet stabilization – lessons from a model hairpin peptide

Chitra Narayanan¹, Cristiano L. Dias¹

¹ Department of Physics, New Jersey Institute of Technology, New Jersey, USA

Proteins fold into specific conformations, dictated by their primary sequence, resulting in unique functions. Protein misfolding is associated with the failure of proteins to adopt native state structures. A variety of human diseases including Alzheimers', Parkinson's and type II diabetes are associated with incorrect protein folding [1]. Conversion of loop or helical regions of proteins to beta-sheet conformations that self-assemble into fibrils is observed in several misfolding diseases [2,3]. Determining factors contributing to stability of beta-sheets are crucial to understanding the conformational transitions leading to misfolding diseases. Beta-hairpin peptides form basic components of anti-parallel beta-sheets and are suitable model systems for characterizing the fundamental forces stabilizing beta-sheets implicated in disease states. In this study, we use the 16-residue C-terminal fragment of protein GB1 to understand the structural and thermodynamic components stabilizing the beta-hairpin conformation. We have performed molecular dynamics simulations of GB1 peptide in explicit water at 298 K using the GROMACS software package [4]. The free-energy landscape is determined from the potential of mean force. We show relationships between the different energetic terms and the free energy minima corresponding to beta-hairpin conformations. Our analysis sheds light on energetic components to stabilize beta-hairpin conformations, which can be extended to explain the stability of beta-sheets in disease states.



Figure 1: a) Potential of mean force, b) secondary structure and c) normalized values for the total, electrostatic and Lennard-Jones energies as a function of the end-to-end distance.

- [1] Selkoe DJ. Folding proteins in fatal ways. Nature. 2003; 426: 900-904.
- [2] Selkoe DJ. Amyloid beta-protein and the genetics of Alzheimer's disease. J Biol Chem 1996; 271:18295–18298.
- [3] Prusiner SB. Prion diseases and the BSE crisis. Science 1997; 278: 245-251
- [4] Hess, Berk, et al. GROMACS 4: Algorithms for highly efficient, load-balanced, and scalable molecular simulation. Journal of chemical theory and computation. 2008: 435-447.

Computational Studies of Peptide and Proteins in Lipid Membranes

Régis Pomès^{1,2}

¹ Molecular Structure and Function, Hospital for Sick Children, pomes@sickkids.ca

² Department of Biochemistry, University of Toronto, Toronto, Ontario, Canada

Many interesting biological and biophysical processes involve interactions between peptides or proteins and lipid or detergent molecules. The detailed characterization of these processes is currently impeded by the difficulty to elucidate the structure of peptides and proteins in the anisotropic and chemically complex environment provided by lipid bilayers and detergent micelles. We use atomistic computer simulation techniques to examine the structural and physical basis for these interactions in studies combining efficient sampling algorithms with massive computing. I will describe how lipid and detergent self-assemblies solvate proteins and determine their fold; and reciprocally, how the insertion and self-aggregation of toxic peptides affect the structure of lipid bilayers.

Frontiers in Membrane Biophysics

Maikel C. Rheinstädter^{1,2}

¹ Department of Physics and Astronomy, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, rheinstadter@mcmaster.ca

² Canadian Neutron Beam Centre, NCR, Chalk River, Ontario, Canada

One of the major challenges of modern physics is to contribute to biology and life-sciences. Neutron and X-ray beams enable us to study molecular structure and dynamics in membranes in-situ, under physiological conditions [1].

The experiments give access to nanoscale to mesoscopic diffusion processes, effects of macromolecules, such as ethanol and cholesterol on membrane properties, the interaction with drugs, such as aspirin and ibuprofen, detection of raft structures and protein-protein interactions between trans-membrane proteins. I will talk about current topics in membrane biophysics and the associated experimental challenges and present exciting recent results and potential biomedical applications. Our quantitative results lend themselves for comparison with computer simulations of complex membrane systems.

References

[1] www.rheinstaedter.de/maikel/publications/publications.htm.

Escape from adaptive conflicts in the evolution of protein folds: bi-stability, mutational robustness, and gene duplication

T. Sikosek¹, E. Bornberg-Bauer², H.S. Chan³

¹ Departments of Biochemistry, Molecular Genetics, and Physics, University of Toronto, Ontario, Canada, t.sikosek@utoronto.ca

² Evolutionary Bioinformatics Group, Institute for Evolution and Biodiversity, University of Münster, Münster, Germany, ebbb@wwu.de

³ Departments of Biochemistry, Mol. Genetics, and Physics, University of Toronto, Ontario, Canada, chan@arrhenius.med.utoronto.ca

Proteins are long heteropolymeric chain molecules that form (fold into) distinct, compact three-dimensional structures. This structure determines a protein's biochemical function within a cell. Many organisms live under complex and changing environmental conditions, while having a limited number of proteins to deal with these conditions. Multi-functionality, as exhibited by many functionally promiscuous enzymes, has been hypothesised as an advantageous compromise whenever the same protein is under Darwinian selection to conserve an existing function while also adapting towards (or being co-opted for) a new function, a situation referred to as 'adaptive conflict'. A stage of multi-functionality may or may not be followed by gene duplication and divergence [3, 2]. We use a simple biophysical model [1] to explain the basic principles behind the multi-functionality of proteins that can fold into more than one stable structure (using structure formation as a proxy for functionality). Using a statistical mechanics description of all possible structural states, and due to the coarse grainedness of the model, it is possible to keep track of non-ground state structures and to identify degenerate ("multi-functional") ground states. Our model predicts that proteins evolving under selection for two alternative structures can follow gradients of stability shift from the formation of only one stable structure towards an equilibrium state between two stable structures (bistability), each providing an independent function [4]. Population dynamics simulations show that weak conflicting selection pressures may be sufficient to direct protein evolution towards bi-stability. Our results also suggest that models of protein evolution may underestimate evolvability if they do not account for bi-stability. However, while bi-stable proteins provide many more mutational connections to other protein structure phenotypes in genotype space, they are also less stable. This shows the inherent conflict between conservation of structure (by maximising stability), and adaptation towards new structures (which requires some destabilisation). Bi-stable proteins may provide the necessary compromise. Furthermore, bi-stable proteins may provide an additional advantage after gene duplication, because they provide excellent starting points for subfunctionalisation (functional divergence driven by adaptation and/or genotype space entropy), as consistent with the 'Escape from Adaptive Conflict' model [5]. The potential for increased evolvability due to bi-stable proteins is thus two-fold by allowing adaptation before and after gene duplication.

- [1] Bornberg-Bauer, E., Chan, H. S. (1999). Modeling evolutionary landscapes: mutational stability, topology, and superfunnels in sequence space. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 96(19), 10689–10694.
- [2] Bornberg-Bauer, E., Huylmans, A.K., Sikosek, T. (2010). How do new proteins arise? Curr Opin Struct Biol, 20(3), 390-396.
- [3] Sikosek, T., Bornberg-Bauer, E. (2010). *Evolution before and after gene duplication?* In K. Dittmar and D. A. Liberles (Eds.), Evolution after Gene Duplication (pp. 106–131). Wiley-Blackwell.
- [4] Sikosek, T., Bornberg-Bauer, E., Chan, H. S. (2012). Evolutionary dynamics on bi-stability landscapes can potentially resolve adaptive conflicts. PLoS Comput Biol, 8(9), e1002659.
- [5] Sikosek, T., Chan, H. S., Bornberg-Bauer, E. (2012). Escape from Adaptive Conflict follows from weak functional trade-offs and mutational robustness. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 109(37), 14888–14893.

Interdisciplinary Conference Series: Simulations in soft matter and Molecular Bio-Physics (AMMCS-2013) Waterloo, Ontario, Canada August 26-30, 2013

Exploring the Polyelectrostatic Model of Sic1-Cdc4 Interaction using Coarse-Grained Explicit-Chain Simulations <u>Jianhui Song¹ and Hue Sun Chan²</u>

Departments of Biochemistry, Molecular Genetics, and Physics, University of Toronto, Toronto, Ontario M5S 1A8 CANADA

¹ jianhui.song@utoronto.ca

² chan@arrhenius.med.utoronto.ca

Intrinsically disordered proteins (IDPs) or protein regions often serve crucial functions in biological signaling and regulation, wherein phosphorylation of the IDP is a common means of modulating the pertinent protein-protein interactions. DNA replication in yeast can only be initiated after eliminating the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor Sic1 via the SCFcdc4 ubiquitin ligase; but the binding between Sic1 and substrate adapter subunit Cdc4 can only occur after phosphorylation of a minimum of around six of the nine cyclin-dependent kinase sites on Sic1 [1]. To account for this ultrasensitive behavior, a mean-field statistical mechanical model was developed. The model posits that the negative charges on the multiple Sic1 phosphorylation sites contribute to binding stability even though they are not in direct contact with the positively charged binding pocket which consists of four Arginine residues. This mode of interaction, term "polyelectrostatic," is consistent with existing experimental data [2]. To further assess the validity of the polyelectrostatic hypothesis, we have now developed a coarse-grained explicit-chain model for the Sic1-Cdc4 interactions using a Poisson-Boltzmann treatment of electrostatics. Predictions from our explicit-chain simulations are in general agreement with the earlier mean-field model, underscoring once again that polyelectrostatic interactions may provide a powerful general framework for understanding IDP interactions that involve multiple phosphorylation sites. The present chain model also provides additional information such as the distribution of residence time among different phosphorylation sites in the single binding pocket, which is in general agreement with experiment [3]. These new predictions are amenable to future experimental testing.

- [1] Nash P et al (2001) Multisite phosphorylation of a CDK inhibitor sets a threshold for the onset of DNA replication. Nature 414:514-521.
- [2] Borg M et al (2007) Polyelectrostatic interactions of disordered ligands suggest a physical basis for ultrasensitivity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104:9650-9655.
- [3] Mittag et al (2010) Structure/Function implication in a dynamic complex of intrinsically disordered Sic1 with Cdc4 subunit of an SCF ubiquitin ligase. Structure 18:1-13.

MARTINI coarse-grained and atomistic simulations of lipids

D.P. Tieleman¹

¹ University of Calgary, Calgar, Canada (tieleman@ucalgary.ca)

Computer simulations have been widely used to study properties of lipid aggregates. Over the past twenty years simulations have progressed from small models of lipid bilayers composed of one type of lipid at length scales of 5-8 nanometer and time scales of nanoseconds to very complex models at length scales of tens of nanometers and time scales of microseconds. The development of realistic coarse-grained models such as the MARTINI model [1,2] has brought simulations of lipids to mesoscope scales where particle-based simulation and continuum models overlap and simulations can be compared to measurable mechanical parameters of lipid aggregates. MARTINI is parameterized primarily based on experimental data, but for many systems of biological importance there is limited experimental data that can be used in parameterization and validation. I will discuss recent progress in linking atomistic simulations, experimental results, and parameters from continuum models to MARTINI simulations, illustrated with examples on lipid mixtures [3], membrane tethers [4], and lipid-protein systems.



Figure 1: Water-filled pore in a membrane model, with both atomistic and coarse-grained representations.

- [1] S.J. Marrink, H.J. Risselada, S. Yefimov, D.P. Tieleman, A.H. de Vries, J. Phys. Chem. B 111, pp. 7812-7823 (2007).
- [2] D.H. de Jong, G. Singh, W.F.D. Bennett, C. Arnarez, T.A. Wassenaar, L.V. Schafer, X. Periole, D.P. Tieleman, S.J. Marrink, J. Chem. Theo. Comp. 9, pp. 687-697 (2013)
- [3] W.F. Bennett, D.P. Tieleman, Biochim. Biophys. Acta Biomembranes, in press: doi:10.1016/j.bbamem.2003.03.004 (2013)
- [4] S. Baoukina, S.J. Marrink, D.P. Tieleman, Molecular structure of membrane tethers, Biophys. J. 102, pp. 1866-1871 (2012).

Ordered Mononucleotide Arrays in Multi-lamellar Lipid Matrices: Implications for the Origin of Life

L. Toppozini^{1,2}, H. Dies¹, D. Deamer³, M.C Rheinstädter^{1,2,4}

¹ McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada, toppozl@mcmaster.ca

² Origins Institute, McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada

³ University of California, Santa Cruz, USA

⁴ Canadian Neutron Beam Centre, NRC, Chalk River, Canada, rheinstadter@mcmaster.ca

How nucleic acids first assembled and were then incorporated into the earliest forms of cellular life 4 billion years ago remains a fundamental question of biology. It is postulated that prior to today's DNA, RNA, and protein dominated world, RNA (ribonucleic acid) was used as genetic storage and a catalyst to chemical reactions.

RNA is a polymer chain of nucleotides bound together forming a ribose-phosphate backbone. The polymerization of nucleotides occurs in a condensation reaction in which phosphodiester bonds are formed. In this study, we used X-ray scattering to investigate 5'-adenosine monophosphate (AMP) molecules captured in a multilamellar phospholipid matrix composed of dimyristoylphosphatidylcholine (DMPC) Ref. [1], as shown in Fig. 1.

We observe evidence of lateral organization of the confined mononucleotides: instead of forming its natural crystal structure or geometrically favourable herringbone or chevron structures, the AMP molecules are highly entangled. This structure requires energy to form, which is thought to be provided by the lipid bilayer. The close proximity of the phosphate and ribose groups in this structure may facilitate condensation reactions that link these molecules into a nucleic acid strand. A more complex mixture confined by a lipid bilayer to find the structure of binding pairs in a lipid matrix will be the next step in the investigation of the synthesis of RNA.

This experiment is the first demonstration that lipids can in fact organize potential monomers within a matrix and thereby promote polymerization into RNAlike polymers.

This system lends itself to comparison with computer simulations for the investigation into physical mechanisms behind RNA formation under early earth conditions.

Figure 1: Schematic of the X-ray diffraction experimental set-up. a) Highly oriented lipid bilayers containing AMP layers.b) Two-dimensional X-ray diffraction data. C) The lipid used: DMPC. d) Nucleotide used: AMP.

References

 L. Toppozini, H. Dies, D. W. Deamer, M. C. Rheinstädter, Adenosine monophosphate forms ordered arraysin multilamellar matrices: Insights into assembly of nucleic acid for primitive life,PLOS ONE, DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0062810



Calculating Free Energy of the Aggregation of the Peptide (HHC-36) In Bulk

<u>S. Vafaei¹</u>, M. NategholEslam¹, M. Nichols², M. Kuljanin², M. Jelokhani-Niaraki², B. Tomberli¹, C. Gray¹

¹ University of Guelph, Guelph, ON, Canada (<u>svafaei@uoguelph.ca</u>)

² Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, ON, Canada

The increasing demand for antibiotics has contributed to the investigation of possible novel antibiotics by many researchers. For this purpose, experimental and theoretical studies have been carried out to draw scientists' attention to antimicrobial peptides and their interaction with the surface of bacterial membranes. Their ability to disrupt the functioning of bacterial membranes has been probed from different perspectives. The most desirable antimicrobial peptides are those which do not harm plant or animals' membranes but which disrupt bacterial membranes. It has been found that some cationic antimicrobial peptides (CAPs) satisfy these requirements. CAPs interacting with the outer membrane of gram-negative bacteria and the membrane of grampositive bacteria have been studied recently.

We conduct a Molecular Dynamics simulation study of peptide-peptide interactions inphysiological solutions and investigate the mechanism of CAPs aggregation, since aggregation of the peptides could precede their interaction with the membrane. Different algorithms are applied to calculate the potential mean force of the aggregation process of peptides to select the most efficient one. Also, we have run CD spectroscopy and calorimetry experiments to predict the structure of the peptide and measure the peptide-peptide binding enthalpy, and compared these results with our simulation data. The particular CAP studied is HHC-36, a peptide selected by high throughput screening [1-3] which has nine amino acid residues and charge +5.

- [1] A. Cherkasov et al, ACS Chem. Biol., 4 (1), pp 65-74 (2009).
- [2] M. Kazemzadeh-Narbat et al, Biomed. Mater. Res. Part B, 5, pp 1344-1352 (2012).
- [3] M. Ma et al, Biomed. Mater. Res. Part A, 2, pp 278-185 (2012).
Variational Problems of Physical Origin (SS-VPPO)

Organizers: Robert Jerrard (University of Toronto) Andrew Lorent (University of Cincinnati)

This minisymposium will be devoted to rigorous mathematical results on problems from the calculus of variations that are motivated by applications to physical models. Physical problems that will be considered are likely to include descriptions of vortices in superconductors and superfluids, as modelled by the Ginzburg-Landau and Gross-Pitaevskii functionals respectively; problems related to nonlinear elasticity, including rigidity in multiwell elasticity and the elastic behaviour of thin films; and behaviour of diblock copolymers and related variational models involving nonlocal perturbations of the perimeter functional.

STABLE VORTEX STATES IN SUPERCONDUCTIVITY

<u>A. Contreras</u>¹, S.Serfaty²

¹ Mcmaster University, Hamilton, Ontario contrera@math.mcmaster.ca ² LJLL, UPMC, Paris, France serfaty@ann.jussieu.fr

We present the construction of local minimizers to the Ginzburg-Landau functional of superconductivity. In the presence of an external magnetic field of large enough strength, a superconductor responds to it by creating topological defects known as vortices where the field penetrates the sample. We investigate the existence of stable states where the number of vortices is far from optimal(as dictated by the energy formulation). We review some of the history behind the problem(cf. [?]) and conclude by exhibiting local minimizers whose number of vortices N is prescribed and blows up as the parameter epsilon, inverse of the Ginzburg-Landau parameter kappa, tends to zero. We treat the case of N as large as log epsilon, and a wide range of intensity of external magnetic field. The vortices of our solutions arrange themselves with uniform density over a subregion of the domain bounded by a "free boundary" determined via an obstacle problem, and asymptotically tend to minimize the "Coulombian renormalized energy" W introduced by Sandier and Serfaty. This is joint work with Sylvia Serfaty(cf. [?]).

- [1] A. Contreras, S. Serfaty, Large vorticity stable solutions to the Ginzburg-Landau equations, to appear in IUMJ.
- [2] E. Sandier, S. Serfaty, Vortices in the magnetic Ginzburg-Landau model, Progress in Nonlinear Partial Differential Equations and Their Applications, 70. Birkh¨auser, Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, (2007).

Front speed enhancement by large incompressible flows in 3 dimensions

Mohammad El Smaily¹, Stéphane Kirsch²

 ¹ Department of Mathematics, University of Toronto, ON, Canada, elsmaily@math.toronto.edu
 ² Lycée L. G. Damas, Cayenne, stephane.kirsch@ac-guyane.fr

We consider a scalar reaction-advection-diffusion equation

$$u_t = \nabla \cdot (A(x)\nabla u) + Mq(x) \cdot \nabla u + f(x,u), \quad t \in \mathbb{R}, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^N.$$
(1)

with a KPP nonlinearity in a heterogeneous periodic setting. A typical homogeneous KPP nonlinearity f(u) =u(1-u). Heterogeneity appears in (1) through the dependence of the coefficients on the space variables as well as the presence of a large advective term $Mq \cdot \nabla u$ where q is an incompressible field and M is understood as a large parameter. A special feature of (1) is that it admits traveling-waves-like solutions: fixing a direction $e \in \mathbb{R}^N$, one seeks particular solutions of (1) which are of the form $u(t,x) = \phi(x \cdot e - ct,x)$ which connect the stationary states 1 and 0 by $\phi(-\infty, x) = 1$ and $\phi(+\infty, x) = 0$, uniformly in x. Biological invasions are indeed one of the most common examples of propagation phenomena and (1) seems to be the most widely used equation in ecological and biological modeling. In the homogeneous setting (the diffusion A and the reaction f in (1) do not depend on x and the advection $q \equiv 0$), there exists a spectrum of speeds $[c^* = 2\sqrt{f'(0)}, +\infty)$ such that a traveling front (c, u) exists if and only if $c \ge c^* = 2\sqrt{f'(0)}$. In a heterogeneous setting, an analogous result is well known nowadays (thanks to several works by H. Weinberger (2002), Berestycki-Hamel (2002), J. Xin (2000) and many others): there exists a minimal speed $c^* = c^*_{A,q,f}(e)$. However, the value of the this minimal speed was given via a variational formula involving elliptic eigenvalue problems in [2]. The minimal speed $c^*_{A,q,f}(e)$ is the most interesting among all others in the interval $[c^*, +\infty)$ as it describes the spreading of initial data for the related Cauchy problem. The presence of an advection in (1) is expected to enhance the propagation (think of stirring for instance). Indeed, it was proved in [1] that the quantity $(c_{Ma}^*)/M$ remains bounded independently of M. In [3], we gave the precise $\lim_{M\to+\infty} c_{Ma}^*/M$ in a variational form which involves "first integrals" of the incompressible flow q. These are H_{loc}^1 functions w which satisfy $q \cdot \nabla w = 0$ a.e. We also gave a sharp criterion, in the case N = 2, on the flow q so that the limit of $\frac{1}{M}c_{Ma}^{*}$ is positive. Our results in [3], together with those in [5, 6], led to clear understanding of the asymptotic regimes of the minimal speed within large drift, in the 2 dimensional case. The goal of this talk is to show recent results in the 3 dimensional case. We establish a link between ergodicity and first integrals. This link will allow us to find a class of flows which are not shear flows, admit an ergodic nature and linearly speed-up the KPP fronts.

- H. Berestycki, F. Hamel, and N. Nadirashvili. Elliptic eigenvalue problems with large drift and applications to nonlinear propagation phenomena. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 253(2):451–480, 2005.
- [2] H. Berestycki, F. Hamel, and N. Nadirashvili. The speed of propagation for KPP type problems. I. Periodic framework. J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS), 7(2):173–213, 2005.
- [3] M. El Smaily and S. Kirsch. The speed of propagation for KPP reaction-diffusion equations within large drift. *Adv. Differential Equations*, 16(3-4):361–400, 2011.
- [4] M. El Smaily and S. Kirsch. Front speed enhancement by incompressible flows in 3 dimensions, preprint, 2013.
- [5] A. Novikov and L. Ryzhik. Boundary layers and KPP fronts in a cellular flow. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 184(1):23–48, 2007.
- [6] L. Ryzhik and A. Zlatoš. KPP pulsating front speed-up by flows. Commun. Math. Sci., 5(3):575-593, 2007.

Variational problems with nonlocal operators

M. Melgaard¹, F. Y. Zongo²

¹ Department of Mathematics, University of Sussex, United Kingdom, m.melgaard@sussex.ac.uk ² Department of Mathematics, Uppsala University, Sweden, frederic.zongo@math.uu.se

We study the nonlocal and nonlinear problem

$$egin{array}{rcl} L\phi+V\phi-|\phi|^2*W\phi&=&-\lambda\phi,\ &\|\phi\|_{L^2(R^3)}&=&1, \end{array}$$

for a large class of potentials V and W. The operator $L = \sqrt{-\alpha^{-2}\Delta + \alpha^{-4}} - \alpha^{-2}$ (the quasirelativistic Laplacian), with α being Sommerfeld's fine structure constant, is a nonlocal, pseudo differential operator of order one. We prove the existence of multiple solutions for two separate cases: (1) unconstrained problem; (2) constrained problem. Similar problems and results are presented for the case when a convection term is included; the problems arise in plasma theory (Hartree-Fock type models).

Thin limit theories in nonlinear elasticity and infinitesimal isometries

M. Lewicka¹, <u>R. Pakzad</u>², et. al.

¹ University of Pittsbrugh, Pittsburgh, PA, USA lewicka@pitt.edu

² University of Pittsbrugh, Pittsburgh, PA, USA pakzad@pitt.edu

We will describe how the rigorous study of a generic nonlinear thin elastic shell from a variational point of view gives rise to some important questions regarding the behavior of the Sobolev-type infinitesimal isometries on the mid-surface of the shell. Questions of interest include the rigidity, regularity, approximation by smooth isometries and matching to higher order isometries [1, 2, 3, 4]. In the latter context we will discuss a recent result which states the following: Assume that $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ is a simply-connected domain and that $v, v_0 \in C^{2,\alpha}(\Omega)$ are such that

$$\det \nabla^2 v = \det \nabla^2 v_0 \ge c \text{ in } \Omega$$

for some c > 0. Then there exists an equibounded family of mappings $w_{\varepsilon} \in C^{2,\alpha}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^3)$ such that for all $\varepsilon > 0$,

$$\nabla(\mathrm{id} + \varepsilon v e_3 + \varepsilon^2 w_{\varepsilon})^T \nabla(\mathrm{id} + \varepsilon v e_3 + \varepsilon^2 w_{\varepsilon}) = \nabla(\mathrm{id} + \varepsilon v_0 e_3)^T \nabla(\mathrm{id} + \varepsilon v_0 e_3),$$

where $e_3 = (0,0,1)$ and id : $\Omega \to \mathbb{R}^3$ is given by id(x,y) := (x,y,0).

- [1] M. Lewicka, M.G. Mora and M.R. Pakzad, *The matching property of infinitesimal isometries on elliptic surfaces and elasticity of thin shells*, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. (3) Vol. 200, 1023–1050 (2011).
- [2] M. Lewicka and M.R. Pakzad, *The infinite hierarchy of elastic shell models: some recent results and a conjecture*, 407–420, Fields Inst. Commun., 64, Springer, New York, (2013).
- [3] P. Hornung, M. Lewicka and M.R. Pakzad, *Infinitesimal isometries on developable surfaces and asymptotic theories for thin developable shells*, Journal of Elasticity, Volume 111, Issue 1, pp. 1–19, (2013).
- [4] M. Lewicka, L. Mahadevan and M.R. Pakzad, Models for elastic shells with incompatible strains, Preprint (2012), http://arxiv. org/pdf/1209.5613v2.pdf.

Women in Science and Mathematics (SS-WSM)

Organizers: Shohini Ghose (Wilfrid Laurier University) Hind Al-Abadleh (Wilfrid Laurier University)

Women have made important contributions to science, mathematics and computer science. The first computer algorithm was written by Ada Lovelace, daughter of the poet Lord Byron. This session will highlight research in applied mathematics, modeling and computational science by female researchers. It will also include talks and a panel discussion about gender issues in mathematics and science.

Zero–Hopf bifurcation in the hyperchaotic Lorenz system

L. Cid-Montiel¹, J. Llibre² and C. Stoica³.

¹ Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada, cidx7550@mylaurier.ca

² Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain, jllibre@mat.uab.cat

³ Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada, cstoica@wlu.ca

We characterize the zero-Hopf bifurcation at the singular points of the next hyperchaotic Lorenz system:

$$\begin{aligned} \dot{x} &= a(y-x) + w, \\ \dot{y} &= cx - y - xz, \\ \dot{z} &= -bz + xy, \\ \dot{w} &= dw - xz. \end{aligned} \tag{1}$$

We can find in the literature several so called hyperchaotic Lorenz systems, see for instance [2, 3, 4, 5]. We remark that not all of these hyperchaotic Lorenz systems coincide, they can vary in one or more therms. The system (1) has been studied in [3, 5].

The method developed for studying the zero-Hopf bifurcation of this hyperchaotic Lorenz systems is based on averaging theory. This method can also be applied to other differential systems in \mathbb{R}^n .

- [1] B. Keller and I. Reiten, Cluster-titled algebras are Gorenstein and stably Calabi-Yau, Adv. Math. 211, 1, pp. 123-151 (2007).
- [2] R. BARBOZA, Dynamics of a hyperchaotic Lorenz system, Int. J. of Bifurcation and Chaos 17 (2007), 4285–4294.
- [3] M.M. EL-DESSOKY AND E. SALEH, *Generalized projective synchronization for different hyperchaotic dynamical systems*, Discrete Dynamics in Nature and Society Volume **2011**, Article ID 437156, 19 pp.
- [4] J. HUANG, *Chaos synchronization between two novel different hyperchaotic systems with unknown parameters*, Nonlinear Analysis **69** (2008), 4174–4181.
- [5] Q. JIA, Hyperchaos generated from the Lorenz chaotic system and its control, Physics Letters A 366 (2007), 217–222.

Topos Formulation of Quantum Theory

C. Flori¹

¹ Perimeter Institute for Theoretical Physics, 31 Caroline Street N, Waterloo, ON N2L 2Y5, Canada, cori@perimeterinstitute.ca

As it stands, the mathematical formulation of quantum theory leads to a non realist interpretation of the theory. In particular, the mathematical way in which certain objects are defined, such as the state space, the concept of propositions and other, imply that prop- erties cannot be said to be possessed by quantities. All that can be said is that, if a measurement is performed a large amount of times, then a certain result will be obtained with a given probability. This is the so called relative frequency interpretation of quantum theory (or Copenhagen interpretation). However, the applicability of such an interpretation requires a sharp distinction between the notion of observer and observed system leading to the well known measurement problem. A possible way to overcome such a problem is by changing the mathematics with which to express quantum theory. This is the main idea behind the topos approach to quantum theory. In fact in this setting quantum theory is re-expressed in terms of topos theory instead of the standard mathematics of Sets. The resulting interpretation is more realist in the sense that now it is possible to asses whether any set of quantum propositions, even incompatible ones, are true or false. The only caveat is that the notions of true and false are not the classical notions. In fact we end up with a multivalued, intuitionistic type logic. However, such a logic allows for a representation of probabilities in terms of truth values. Thus, in this setting, probabilities are given a logical interpretation which enables to overcome the relative frequency interpretation of probabilities.

The Power of Diversity:Women's Leadership in STEM

Judith C. Giordan

ecosVC, Inc and The Chemical Angels Network

The case for diversity in leadership is the case for better organizations, better decisions and better actions. It is the case for improving reputation and organizational performance. It is the case for diverse approaches and opinions being collectively more effective than that of any one "expert" or traditionally accepted group of experts. It's in the math and in the data. And it is NOT only about women!

Yet women seem to be one of the most studied groups..and the numbers make a compelling case. Studies show that women can make the difference between economic success and failure in the developing world, between good and bad decision-making in the industrialized world, between profit and loss in the corporate world and between having and not having appropriate role models in higher science and engineering education. Conclusion: All organizations would do well with more women in leadership positions.

And the contention is substantiated by data...

- Pepperdine University found that the Fortune 500 firms with the best records of putting women at the top were 18 to 69 percent more profitable than the median companies in their industries.
- McKinsey looked at the top-listed European companies and found that greater gender diversity in management led to higher-than-average stock performance.

And the results from the NSF funded study, Project ENHANCE², which studied over 1400 women formally trained in science, engineering and math and their managers provide statistically valid insights into the requirements of women and their management including that:

- Confidence is the single best predictor of career success for women.
- Women with greater opportunities for professional networking are more successful and satisfied with their jobs

With these data and concepts as a starting point, the presentation will explore options for women in science, math and engineering – and for the organizations in which they are employed – to increase value, organizational and personal reputation using the power of diversity *and* the power of women.

- [1] Judith Giordan, Why It Has to be Women", Intangible Asset Magazine, Jan-Feb 2010
- [2] Judith Giordan, Ruth Fassinger; *Project ENHANCE: Enhancing the Participation of Women in the Chemical Industry*; http://www.education.umd.edu/EDCP/enhance_site/
- [3] James Surowiecki, The Wisdom of Crowds, Doubleday, 2004. ISBN 0-385-72170-6

Chemical Property Prediction based on Spectral Signature of Properties on Molecular Surfaces

<u>F. Heidar Zadeh</u>¹, P. W. Ayers²

¹ McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada, heidarf@mcmaster.ca

² McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada, ayers@mcmaster.ca

The great diversity of chemical structures lets us design materials with desired properties. This pursuit is hindered because finding the properties of all candidate molecules through experimental or computational studies is impractical. In many cases, performing proper experiments is time-consuming, expensive and unethical. Computational studies are also impossible in many cases; for example, it is impossible to compute properties related to macroscopic phenomena like physiological responses. These limitations can be overcome by adapting machine learning methods to the systematic, rapid and robust screening of large molecular datasets. This approach is feasible because of underlying smoothness in chemical property space: similar molecules have similar properties.

The main ingredients of molecular similarity modelling are a dataset of known molecules (the "training set"), an appropriate measure of molecular similarity and an estimation technique [1]. The traditional approach, three-dimensional quantitative structure-activity relationship (3D-QSAR), relates molecular structure to its chemical behavior; however, 3D-QSAR is limited by uncontrolled errors, difficulty in defining proper similarity measures and the need for significant insight from the practitioner. To overcome these obstacles, we exploit a machine-learning method called kriging that not only gives a prediction for the properties of unknown molecules, but also provides an estimate of the prediction error. We have combined kriging with the characteristic spectrum of property-values on the molecular surface. This encapsulates the key features of molecules and quantifies their similarity in universally-applicable, property-specific way. This approach is motivated by the recognition that chemical interactions are primarily determined by the properties of molecular surfaces and inspired by the way molecules are characterized using spectroscopy in experimental chemistry.

To demonstrate this technique, the protonation state of the nitrogen atoms in small, drug-like, organic molecules is predicted. We compute the electrostatic potential on a sphere centered on nitrogen atom as the molecule's reactivity descriptor and use the electrostatic-potential spectrum to predict the pK_a . The predicted pK_a of amines have small error, which is particularly promising given the simplicity of this first, proof-of-principle, test.

F. Heidar Zadeh and P. W. Ayers, Molecular alignment as a penalized permutation Procrustes problem, J. Math Chem. 51, 3, pp.927-936 (2013)

Fast, recursive and numerically stable algorithms for discrete sine transformations having orthogonal factors

S. M.Perera¹, V. Olshevsky²

¹ Daytona State College, Daytona Beach, USA, pereras@daytonastate.edu

² University of Connecticut, Storrs, USA, olshevsky@uconn.edu

Discrete Fourier Transforms (DFT) have numerous applications in sciences and engineering especially in applied mathematics and electrical engineering like signal processing, image processing, speech processing, feature extraction, convolution, solving partial differential equations and elsewhere, and they have been studied by authors, see, e.g., [1, 2, 3, 4]. There are real versions of the DFT called the Discrete Sine Transform (DST) and the Discrete Cosine Transform (DCT) of main variants I-IV.

Currently, there are no papers addressing the numerical stability of four main DST variants;

$$S_{n-1}^{I} = \sqrt{\frac{2}{n}} \left(\sin \frac{(j+1)(k+1)\pi}{n} \right)_{j,k=0}^{n-2}$$

$$S_{n}^{II} = \sqrt{\frac{2}{n}} \left(\varepsilon_{n}(j+1) \sin \frac{(j+1)(2k+1)\pi}{2n} \right)_{j,k=0}^{n-1}$$

$$S_{n}^{III} = \left(S_{n}^{II} \right)^{T}$$

$$S_{n}^{IV} = \sqrt{\frac{2}{n}} \left(\sin \frac{(2j+1)(2k+1)\pi}{4n} \right)_{j,k=0}^{n-1}$$
(1)

where $\varepsilon_n(0) = \varepsilon_n(n) = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}$, $\varepsilon_n(j) = 1$ for $j \in \{1, 2, \dots, n-1\}$ and *n* is an even integer. Moreover, the existing DST algorithms, though fast and recursive, are not based on orthogonal factors, and are unstable. This paper provides fast, numerically stable and recursive algorithms for four versions of the discrete sine transformation in terms of *sparse and orthogonal matrices*. Four new complete factorizations for discrete sine transformations are introduced, namely for DST I, DST II, DST III and DST IV. Also we were able to establish the *worst error bounds* of computing y = Sx for each transformation $S_{n-1}^I, S_n^{II}, S_n^{III}$ and S_n^{IV} . By using the former result we were able to show that the algorithms for DST I-IV are *forward and backward stable*. Due the nature of the factorizations of each of the DST I-IV algorithms these are easy to implement and use only permutation matrices, orthogonal sparse matrices, rotation/rotation-reflection matrices and butterfly matrices and, produce numerically stable $O(n \log n)$ complexity algorithms.

- [1] G. Plonka and M. Tasche, *Fast and Numerically stable algorithms for discrete cosine transforms*, Linear Algebra and its Applications, **394**, pp. 309-345 (2005).
- [2] K. R. Rao and P. Yip. Discrete Cosine Transform: Algorithms, Advantages, Applications, Academic Press, INC., San Diego, USA (1990).
- [3] G. Strang, Introduction to Applied Mathematics, Wellesley-Cambridge Press, 2nd ed., Massachusetts, USA (1986).
- [4] C. Van Loan, Computational Frameworks for the Fast Fourier Transform, SIAM Publications, Pennsylvania, USA (1992).

Fifteen Years of Funded Programs to Advance Women in Science and Engineering: Progress and Persistent Challenges

C. Mavriplis

NSERC / Pratt & Whitney Canada Chair for Women in Science and Engineering, University of Ottawa, Canada Catherine.Mavriplis@uottawa.ca

I will discuss my work in advancing women in science and engineering through US National Science Foundation funding since 1997 and, more recently, since 2011, Canada's Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council Chair for Women in Science and Engineering program. The FORWARD to Professorship program, in particular, has been a successful vehicle to empowering doctoral women who consider academic careers. Results of a survey of all 1300 FORWARD participants since 2003 will be presented, giving a picture of how this group of talented and motivated women are advancing and how the climate is changing. My work in Canada has also included women in industry, in particular with the Chair sponsor, Pratt & Whitney Canada, an aircraft engine manufacturer based in Montreal. I will discuss activities designed for mid-career professional women in industry as well as some initiatives for boosting numbers of women in computing.



Surface-enhanced quantum control: A SEQC way of controlling light and matter

C. Rangan¹, S.M.A. Mirzaee², S. Gardner³

¹ Department of Physics, University of Windsor, Canada. rangan@uwindsor.ca

² Queen's University, Canada.

³ University of Waterloo, Canada.

Miniaturization of quantum technologies have led to the marriage of atomic physics and nanomaterial science. Some of the resulting new areas of research are hybrid quantum devices, single-molecule spectroscopies, table-top intense field generators, etc. I will present an area of research that I dub "Surface-enhanced quantum control" that is an exciting way of controlling light and nanomatter. By combining the electromagnetic enhancement properties of nanomaterials with the modification of the atomic properties, we can achieve an unprecedented level of control over quantum dynamics. I will present an example of surface-enhanced state purification.

This work was supported by an NSERC Discovery Grant. SMAM's Master's research and SG's co-op work term were partly supported by the NSERC Strategic Network on Bioplasmonic Systems. Computations were done on SharcNet supercomputers of the Compute Canada consortium.

Computational Thinking and Simulations in Teaching Science and Mathematics

H.Shodiev

Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada, hshodiev@wlu.ca

We learn characteristics of scientific phenomenon conceptually. Using mathematical tools in science and engineering we can develop our conceptual understanding but computational thinking [1] and modelling with simulations can result in complete – more advanced understanding of scientific concepts, thus offering effective learning experience at different levels of education. In this work, we show how a simulation tool along with a mathematical one can be used to unfold the abstract side of science through visualization and project based introduction to science in fun and engaging ways for high school and first year university students. It can be effective approach in attracting young talented students, particularly more female students to science and technology by motivating their natural imagination to pose scientific abstraction.

References

[1] K.Brennan and Resnick, M. New Frameworks for Studying and Assessing the Development of Computational Thinking. Proceedings of the 2012 annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association, Vancouver, Canada. (2012)

Fibre bundle framework for quantum fault tolerance

Lucy Liuxuan Zhang^{1,2,3}, Daniel Gottesman¹

¹ Perimeter Institute, Waterloo, Canada

² Institute for Quantum Computing, Waterloo, Canada

³ University of Toronto, Department of Mathematics, Toronto, Canada

Since it's a mathematical audience, I will start by giving a mathematical characterization of quantum error correction and fault tolerance, just what we need to understand this talk. We introduce a differential geometric framework for describing families of quantum error-correcting codes and for understanding quantum fault tolerance. In particular, we use fibre bundles and a natural projectively flat connection thereon to study the transformation of codewords under unitary fault-tolerant evolutions. We'll explain how the fault-tolerant logical operations are given by the monodromy group for the bundles with projectively flat connection, which is always discrete. Time permitting, we will discuss the construction of the said bundles for two examples of fault-tolerant families of operations, the string operators in the toric code and the qudit transversal gates.

Contributed Sessions

Applied Problems and Methods in Research & Education (CS-AMPRE)

Exceptional Orthogonal Polynomials and Non-linear algebras associated with Quantum systems

D. Dutta¹, P. Roy²

1,2 Indian Statistical Institute, Kolkata, India, pamu@isical.ac.in

Last few years have witnessed a considerable level of research activity in the field of Exceptional Orthogonal Polynomials(EOP's) [1, 2, 3] which are new complete orthogonal polynomial systems and these are first observed as a result of the development of a direct approach to exact or quasi-exact solvability for spectral problems in quantum mechanics that would go beyond the classical Lie algebraic formulations. We have discovered new EOP families associated to such kind of systems in the regime of Supersymmetric Quantum mechanics. We have studied thoroughly some fundamental properties of those EOP families. More importantly, it is formidable job to prove EOP families are complete in weighted Hilbert space. We have been able to prove completeness of few such EOP categories in weighted Hilbert space, associated with the solutions of certain conditionally exactly solvable potentials obtained via unbroken as well as broken supersymmetry. Some other important key properties of such polynomials like recurrence relation, Rodrigues formula, ladder operators, differential equations etc. have been obtained. For instance, below we present a EOP family.

$$p_n(r^2) = \left[\frac{u'(r^2)}{r}L_n^{\alpha}(r^2) + 2u(r^2)L_n^{\beta}(r^2)\right]$$
(1)

where

$$u(r^2) = {}_1F_1\left(\frac{1-\varepsilon}{2},\eta,-r^2\right) \tag{2}$$

and α , β , ε , η are parameters.

- D. Gomez-Ullate, N. Kamran and R. Milson, An extended class of orthogonal polynomials defined by a Sturm-Liouville problem, J. Math. Analysis. Appl. 359, 1, pp. 352-367 (2009).
- [2] C. Quesne, *Exceptional orthogonal polynomials, exactly solvable potentials and supersymmetry*, J. Phys. A **41**, 39, pp. 392001-392006 (2008).
- [3] S. Odake and R. Sasaki, *Infinitely many shape invariant potentials and new orthogonal polynomials*, Phys. Lett. B **679**, 4, pp. 414-417 (2009).

Analytical Methods in Differential Equations, Optimal Control and Game Theory: An Educational Approach

E. Grigorieva¹

¹ Texas Woman's University, USA, egrigorieva@twu.edu

In this talk I will emphasize the utility of analytical methods that have been published in the area of the application of optimal control and game theory to life science, business and economics [1, 2]. Within this field of application, analytical methods of nonlinear optimal control have the benefit of tractability and interpretability over the conventional numerical methods through the type structures associated with switching functions which yield in a natural way to game-theoretic analysis.

- [1] E.V. Grigorieva, E.N. Khailov, Optimal Control of a Nonlinear Model of Economic Growth, *Discrete and Continuous Dynamical Systems, Suppl. Vol.*:pp. 456-466, (2007).
- [2] E.V. Grigorieva, N.V. Bondarenko, E.N. Khailov and A. Korobeinikov, Three-dimensional nonlinear control model of wastewater biotreatment, *Neural, Parallel, and Scientific Computations*, pp 23-36(2012)

Growth Modeling of Mobile Communication Systems Adaptation in Learning

R.O. Ezike¹, E.O. Ibam²,

¹ Department of Mathematics, Federal College of Education Eha-Amufu, Nigeria, {ezikero@yahoo.com}

² Department of Computer Science, Federal College of Education Kano, Nigeria, ibamemmanuel@yahoo.com

There is increased interest/excitement among students who use mobile communication systems on our campuses. The ratio of students who have mobile phones to those without phones in an ideal class is 38:2. The availability of these mobile communication systems among our students either provide great potentials for increased learning if properly utilized or constitute nuisance to the learning system. This research seeks to discover and develop a model that will predict the level of adaptation of mobile communication systems in learning in our tertiary institutions and as well determine the effect/influence of such system on the academic performance of the students. Questionnaires were randomly distributed to students at various levels in our college and the information gathered was analyzed. Applying the Logistic Growth model on the data, a mathematical model

$$p = \frac{N}{1 + 5.67(e^{-0.5\%})} \tag{1}$$

where (N = sample size, t = time period in years)

for predicting the adaptation of mobile communication systems in learning within any given period was developed. Conclusion and appropriate recommendations are made.

- Simon, S.O.. A study of the Acceptance of Mobile Phones for teaching and learning with a Group of Pre-service Teachers in Hong Kong. Vol. 1, No. 1. Retrieved 19/05/2011 from <u>http://www.sicet.org/journals/jetde/jetde08/</u>(2008)
- Samuel, C. A., Ayodele, J. A., Oluwafemi, S. E. Use of Mobile Phones in Project Based Learning by Undergraduates students of Nigerian Private Universities. Retrieved 19/5/2011 from <u>http://proceedings.informingscience.org/InSITE2010/InSITE10p205-216utulu749.pdf</u> (2009).
- [3] Johnnes, A. and Chrisina, D. User Requirements Analysis for Use of Mobile Phone in Learning and Teaching. retrieved 7/7/2011 from http://www.inter-disciplinary.net/ati/education/iee5/Draganora%20.pdf (2010).
- [4] <u>http://www.en.wikipedia.org/wiki/logistic_function. Retrieved 14/05/2011</u>. (2011).
- [5] Elhermeyer, S.F. Modeling via Differential Equations. Retrieved 17/06/2011 from <u>http://www.math.kennesaw_edu/~sellerme/sfehtml/</u> (2003).
- [6] http://www.en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Differential_equations. Retrieved 14/05/2011.

Learning Performances Assessment Models for Online Collaborative Learning Systems

E. O. Ibam¹

¹ Department of Computer Science, Federal College of Education kano, Nigeria, ibamemmanuel@yahoo.com

As the quest for collaborative e-learning continues to grow due to increase in the number of students en rolling in various academic programmes in our higher institutions, learning performances models for colla borative online learning environment that provide equal and credible assessment opportunities for all cate gories of learners in web-based learning environment have therefore become inevitable. Our mathematical models are developed with features for measuring level of class participation among students and instructo rs in online sessions of a course, their performances in collaborative studies; tests, assignment, polls and fi nal examination in a web-based learning environment. Objects used in developing the models include Instructor (I_k), course (CO_k), student (S_j), Assessment ($A_{z,k}$) and learning performance ($P_{k,j}$).

A particular student's learning performance in a particular course's online sessions is:

$$P_{k, j} = g_{k, j}(CO_k, S_j) + G_{k, j}(A_k)$$
(1)

Where:

 CO_k represents courses offered in the WebVCS, k = 1....n is the total number of registered online courses . (k is the course a student is participating)

$$g_{k,j}(CO_k,S_j) \tag{2}$$

represents a function that returns the weight of a particular student's participation in collaborative/group st udies of a particular course CO_k .

$$G_{k,j}(A_k)$$
 (3)

represents a function that returns the weight of a particular student's performance in a particular course CO_k 's other forms of assessment (Attendance, Test, assignment, Polls).

The weight or value returned by $G_{k, k}(A_k)$ is a cumulative value computed as follows: For a particular course CO_k

$$A_{k} = \sum_{z=1}^{4} A_{k,z}$$
 (4)

where:

z = 1,2,3,4 (*z* is assessment type), $A_{k,1}$ represents class attendance score, $A_{k,2}$ represents polls score $A_{k,3}$ represents score in assignment, $A_{k,4}$ represents score in test.

The learning performances assessment system model was implemented on windows 7 using MySQL relational database management as backend engine, Hypertext Pre-processor (PHP) as frontend engine and Apache as web server. A case study of some level one students of Computer Science Department, Federal College of Education Kano was selected using course materials in different courses. The results obtained were validated, and analyzed to determine the efficiency and effectiveness of the system developed.

Activity Recognition for Remote and Self-monitoring using Android Smartphones

<u>Ankit Kamal</u>

David R. Cheriton School of Computer Science, University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, a6kamal@uwaterloo.ca

Activity Recognition is the task of automatically identifying daily human activities such as walking, jogging, climbing stairs, sitting, and standing. It has recently become a very promising area of research, especially because of its potential use for Tele-rehabilitation, remote monitoring of patients and also for people who just want to maintain a healthy lifestyle. Moreover, as opposed to unfriendly wearable sensors, activity recognition is now possible on modern smartphones due to built-in accelerometer sensors. This provides patients, a user-friendly manner to be monitored at a distance, just by keeping their phones in their pockets. In order to achieve this, CPU resource consuming machine learning classifiers are required. Previous researched work in this domain does prove that human activity recognition on mobile phones is possible with good accuracy but it concentrates on processing the sensor data on remote workstations over a network or offline (just for research purposes) without providing much practical use. A solution could be sending raw accelerometer data to a server for classification, but unreliable network issues results in data loss. A continuous need for a network connection also drains the battery by at least one-third. However, due to the high computing power of ubiquitous modern smartphones, the task is now possible within the smartphone itself in approximately real-time. A very few researchers who have implemented this approach, have struggled with achieving high accuracies for the activities. Another problem is to prevent the user from fooling the system by deliberate motion of the phone in his/her hands. This could be prevented by distinguishing between phone movement in the pocket and in the hand. This project focuses on the former problem – which is to develop a seamless mobile application that incorporates real-time activity recognition for continuous monitoring on the phone and has a high recognition rate. For this project, an Android application has been developed that recognizes walking, running and being inactive (which includes sitting and standing) in approximately real-time with an accuracy of 96.27%. The mobile application also shows calories expended for the respective activities, allows users to enter their weight goals and gives feedback to the user accordingly. Thus, the application acts as a self-fitness monitoring tool too. Such an Android application is novel.

Optimal designs for heteroscedastic accelerated life testing models with multiple factors

Mark Krzeminski¹, Xiaojian Xu²

¹ Department of Mathematics, Brock University, St. Catharines, Ontario, Canada, mark.krzeminski@gmail.com

² Department of Mathematics, Brock University, St. Catharines, Ontario, Canada, xxu@brocku.ca

Accelerated life testing (ALT) provides a means of obtaining data on product lifetime and reliability relatively quickly by subjecting products to higher-than-usual levels of stress factors. In many situations, it is desirable to consider more than one stress factor. A lifetime distribution as well as a life-stress relationship are assumed and extrapolation is used to estimate percentiles of product lifetime at regular usage conditions. ALTs are often censored. Under a censored ALT, the resulting regression estimation problem becomes non-linear and usual least-squares estimation is not strictly applicable and so maximum likelihood estimation has been used.

Moreover, further savings can be obtained from good experimental designs. An experimental design specifies the levels of each stress factor (stress factor combination) and the proportion of test units assigned to each stress factor combination. Commonly used designs consist of equally spaced stress factors combinations, with the same number of units at each combination. Such designs are usually inefficient. An optimal design yields data that provide the most precise estimates among all the designs with the same number of test units and the same amount of test time.

There is extensive literature on optimal designs for single-factor ALTs, while very few on optimal design for multi-factor ALTs. Escobar and Meeker [1] showed how to design a two-factor ALT with *homoscedasticity*. However, it had been known for some time that the homoscedasticity assumption is often unreasonable and so Meeker and Meeter [2] gave a method for finding optimal designs for a *one-factor* ALT with *heteroscedasticity*.

In this paper, we present methods for finding optimal designs for two-factor ALTs for estimating percentiles of product lifetime, with time-censoring and heteroscedasticity. An outline of our results is as follows: (1) We generalize the method of Escobar and Meeker [1] to finding optimal designs for two-factor ALTs with heteroscedasticity; (2) we state and prove a result that for a special case, the method for homoscedasticity can be applied in the presence of heteroscedasticity to yield optimal designs; (3) we illustrate our methods using two practical examples treated in [1], but now assuming heteroscedasticity; we focus on the case when the parameters in the scale-stress relationship are not prespecified; (4) we present a brief comparison study and provide practical recommendations.

- [1] L.A. Escobar and W.Q. Meeker, *Planning Accelerated Life Tests with Two or More Experimental Factors*, Technometrics, Vol. 37, pp. 411-427 (1995).
- [2] C.A. Meeter and W.Q. Meeker, *Optimum Accelerated Life Tests with Nonconstant Scale Parameter*, Technometrics, Vol. 36, pp. 71-83 (1994).

Troeschs problem: Numerical simulation based on Haar wavelet collocation method

Sapna Pandit¹

¹ Motilal Nehru National Institute of Technology, Allahabad, Pin-211004, Email: sappu15maths@gmail.com

In this paper, we develop an efficient numerical method based on uniform Haar wavelet method for the simulation of Troeschâs boundary value problem arising in the investigation of the confinement of a plasma column by radiation pressure. Through this simulation, solutions are found on the coarse grid points and refined towards higher accuracy by increasing the level of the Haar wavelets. More accurate solutions have been obtained by wavelet decomposition in the form of a multiresolution analysis of the function. The convergence analysis of Haar wavelet method is discussed and it is shown that error is inversely proportional to the level of the Haar wavelet. To demonstrate the accuracy of the proposed method a number of test problems are discussed. It is observed that the results obtained by this method are quite satisfactory and accurate, and the method is applicable for a wide range of cases when compared with existing solutions.

- S. A. Khuri, A. Sayfy, Troeschâs problem: A B-spline collocation approach, Mathematical and Computer Modelling 1907-1918 (2011).
- [2] S. H. Chang, A variational iteration method for solving Troesch's problem, Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics, 3043-3047 (2010).
- [3] Ulo Lepik, Numerical solution of differential equations using Haar wavelets, Mathematics and Computers in Simulation pp. 127-143 (2005).

Infinite families of (non)-Hermitian Hamiltonians assocoated with exceptional *X_m* Jacobi polynomials

B.Midya, B. Roy,

Physics and Applied Mathematics Unit, Indian Statistical Institute, India.

The classical orthogonal polynomial systems (OPS) of Hermite, Laguerre and Jacobi are most often characterized as the polynomial solutions of a Sturm-Liouville problem, following the celebrated result by S. Bochner: if an infinite sequence of polynomials $\{P_n(x)\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$ satisfies a second order eigenvalue equation of the form

$$p(x)P_n'' + q(x)P_n' + r(x)P_n(x) = \lambda_n P_n(x), \qquad n = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$
(1)

then p(x), q(x) and r(x) must be polynomials of degree 2, 1 and 0 respectively [1]. In addition, if the $\{P_n(x)\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$ sequence is an OPS, then it has to be (up to an affine transformation of *x*) one of the classical orthogonal polynomial systems of Jacobi, Laguerre or Hermite. In recent years there is a surge of interest in exceptional orthogonal polynomials introduced in the seminal paper by Gomez-Ullate et al [2]. The exceptional X_m orthogonal polynomials (EOP) are the solutions of second-order Sturm-Liouville eigenvalue problem with rational coefficients. A distinguishing property of these polynomials is that the lowest eigen polynomial of the sequence need not be of degree zero, even though the full set of eigenfunctions still forms a basis of the weighted \mathcal{L}^2 space.

Motivated by the importance of orthogonal polynomials associated with exactly solvable quantum mechanical systems, the objective of the present work [3] is (using an appropriate change of variable) to transform the Schrödinger equation into a second-order differential equation satisfied by recently discovered Jacobi type X_m exceptional orthogonal polynomials. This is found to facilitate the derivation of infinite families of exactly solvable Hermitian as well as non-Hermitian trigonometric Scarf potentials and finite number of Hermitian and infinite number of non-Hermitian \mathscr{PT} -symmetric hyperbolic Scarf potentials. The bound state solutions of all these potentials are associated with the aforesaid exceptional orthogonal polynomials. These infinite families of potentials are shown to be extensions of the conventional trigonometric and hyperbolic Scarf potentials by the addition of some rational terms characterized by the presence of classical Jacobi polynomials. All the members of a particular family of these 'rationally extended polynomial-dependent' potentials have the same energy spectrum and possess translational shape invariant symmetry.

- [1] S.Bochner, Über Strum-Liouvillsche Polynomsysteme, Math.Z. 29, pp. 730-736 (1929).
- [2] D.Gomez-Ullate, N.Kamran and R.Milson, J.Math.Anal.Appl. 359, pp. 352-367 (2010).
- [3] B.Midya and B.Roy, Infinite families of (non)-Hermitian Hamiltonians assocoated with exceptional X_m Jacobi polynomials, To appear in J.Phys.A (2013).

Mathematical Modeling of Glassy-winged Sharpshooter Population Dynamics

J. Yoon¹, V. Hrynkiv¹, L. Morano¹, S.Wilder, A. Nguyen, Forrest Mitchell²

¹ University of Houston-Downtown, yoonj@uhd.edu; hrynkivV@uhd.edu; moranol@uhd.edu

² Texas A& M University, FMitchel@ag.tamu.edu

Pierce's Disease (PD) is a bacterial disease of grapevines which is transmitted by xylem-feeding insects. PD can kill vines in one year with a serious threat to California and Texas wine industries. A database of the xylem-feeding insect population frequencies was collected by USDA-APHIS for Texas vineyards over multiple years. An initial statistical analysis of the data showed that the Glassy-winged sharpshooter (GWSS) had the greatest frequencies across Texas and was the most ecologically flexible [1]. This research focused on the GWSS frequencies within 25 vineyards located in central Texas. This study was supported in part by a NSF grant, which enabled two undergraduate students to participate in developing the mathematical model. The goal of the research was to investigate the natural population dynamics and decline of GWSS as the result of pest management campaigns on the insects within the region over the time period of years. We use a delay Gompertz model with harvesting and immigration terms:

$$\frac{dN}{dt} = -rN(t)\ln\frac{N(t-\tau)}{K} - cN(t) + I,$$
(1)

where *r* is an intrinsic growth rate, *K* is a carrying capacity and τ is a time-delay. For simplicity we assume that c > 0 and *I* is real numbers. The data is used to determine optimal values of parameters of the model based on a weighted least squares error function which accounts for multiple zeros in the data. The model gives us the predictive power to determine the impact of human intervention on controlling a disease and to what minimal level of the intervention required. Our future plan is to consider an optimal control problem where the harvesting term would be a function of time.

References

 L. Morano, J. Yoon, A. Abedi and F. Mitchell Evaluation of Xylem-Feeding Insects (Hemiptera: Auchennorrhyncha) in Texas Vineyards: Distribution along State-wide Environmental Gradients, Southwestern Entomologist, 35(4), pp. 503-512 (2010).

Mathematics and Computation in Biological Sciences and Medicine (CS-BSM)

Modeling and Simulation for the Effect of Beta Amyloid Aggregates on Acetylcholine Neurocycle through Choline Leakage Hypothesis

Asmaa Awad¹, Ibrahim Mustafa¹, Hedia Fgaier², Ali Elkamel¹

¹ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, {a2awad,i2hassan,aelkamel}@uwaterloo.ca

² University of Guelph, Guelph, ON, Canada, hfgaier@uoguelph.ca

A mathematical model is developed for studying the effect of Beta Amyloid (β A) and the Acetylcholine (ACh) neurocycle through two-enzyme/two-compartment model built previously by Mustafa et al., (2009) and choline leakage hypothesis developed by Ehrenstein et al., (1997). The presynaptic neuron is considered as compartment 1 while both synaptic cleft and the postsynaptic neuron are considered as compartment 2. It is found that as the feed β A increases in the presynaptic neuron, the choline content required synthesizing ACh decreases due to the leakage through the presynaptic membrane. Furthermore the concentration of β A increases until certain levels with time and increases with the increase of inlet β A concentrations.

Furthermore, not only the rate of ACh synthesis catalyzed by the enzyme ChAT in compartment 1 decreases but also the rate of the Ach hydrolysis in compartment 2 catalyzed by the enzyme AChE. Therefore, both ACh level in presynaptic neuron will decrease and ACh level in postsynaptic neuron decreases also due to the lack of ACh transport from compartment 1. However, the acetate concentration in presynaptic 1 decreases due to the accumulation and low consumption by ChAT, however Acetate levels in compartment 2 decrease due to the decrease in ACh levels in the postsynaptic neurons. pH in both compartments have been affected clearly to be outside of the physiological range. The reduction of both choline and ACh induces production of β A. The results are in agreement with the theoretical and experimental results and reflect the dangerous effect of β A aggregates leading to Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases.

- [1] Ehrenstein G., Galdzicki Z., and Langes G. D., (1997), *The Choline-Leakage Hypothesis for the Loss of Acetylcholine in Alzheimer's Disease*, Biophysical Journal Volume 73: 1276-1280
- [2] Mustafa I H, G. Ibrahim, A. Elkamel, S.S.E.H. Elnashaie, P. Chen, (2009), Non Linear Feedback Modeling and Bifurcation of the Acetylcholine Neurocycle and its Relation to Alzheimer's and Parkinson's Diseases; Journal of Chemical Engineering Science, 64(1), 69-90

Nonlinear Robust Control and Regulation problems for Biomedical Dynamical Systems

A. Belmiloudi¹

¹ IRMAR-INSA de Rennes, 20 Av. des Buttes de Coësmes, CS 70839, 35708 Rennes Cédex 7, France, Aziz.Belmiloudi@math.cnrs.fr

Motivated by topics and issues critical to human health and, safety and efficacy of medical treatment practices, this communication investigates a nonlinear robust control approach of some uncertain biomedical complex systems described by a class of nonlinear partial differential equations. The concept consists in setting the problem in the worst-case disturbances which leads to the game theory in which the controls and disturbances (which destabilize the dynamical behavior of the system) play antagonistic roles. The proposed strategy consists in controlling these instabilities by acting on certain parameters and data to maintain the system in a desired state (details of our approach are reported in Book [2]).

The real-time control and robust stabilization problems are formulated, in different situations, in order to reconstitute simultaneously different parameters, data functions and sources appearing in the state system and in the boundary conditions, and to control the online desired states provided by radiometric measurements (e.g., blood glucose, temperature). This work includes results concerning the existence of optimal solutions, sensitivity problems, adjoint problems, necessary optimality conditions (necessary to develop numerical optimization methods) and optimization problems. This approach is applied to two problems (Refs [1, 3, 4, 5, 6]): first, controlling and regulating the blood glucose level in subjects with type 1 diabetes and predicting the dosages of insulin administered, and second, controlling and stabilizing the thermal dose distribution in tissue and damage during laser-induced interstitial thermotherapy (often used in the treatment of cancer), in order to eradicate tumor while preserving the surrounding health tissues.

Some numerical strategies, based on adjoint control optimization, in order to perform the robust control, are also discussed.

keywords : Robust control, stabilisation, regulatory system, biomedical systems, cancer, diabetes, adjoint model, necessary conditions of optimality.

- [1] A. Belmiloudi, Analysis of the impact of nonlinear heat transfer laws on temperature distribution in irradiated biological tissues: Mathematical models and optimal controls, J. Dynam. Control systems **108**, pp. 217-254 (2007).
- [2] A. Belmiloudi, *Stabilization, optimal and robust control. Theory and applications in biological and physical sciences, Springer-Verlag: London, Berlin, (2008).*
- [3] A. Belmiloudi, Parameter identification problems and analysis of the impact of porous media in biofluid heat transfer in biological tissues during thermal therapy, Nonlinear Analysis: Real World Applications **11**, pp. 1345-1363 (2010).
- [4] A. Belmiloudi, Thermal Therapy: Stabilization and Identification. In A. Belmiloudi (ed.), Heat Transfer-Mathematical Modelling, Numerical Methods and Information Technology, ed., INTECH, Vienna, pp. 33-76 (2011).
- [5] J. Li, D. Johnson, Mathematical models of subcutaneous injection of insulin analogues: A mini-review, Discrete Contin. Dynam. Syst. B 12, pp. 401-414, (2009).
- [6] A. Makrogloua, J. Lib, Y. Kuang, *Mathematical models and software tools for the glucose-insulin regulatory system and diabetes: an overview*, Applied Numerical Mathematics **56**, pp. 559-573 (2006).

(1)

Role of predators in dynamics of niche construction

F. Berezovskaya

Howard University, Washington DC, USA, fberezovskaya@howard.edu

In the work [1] a question of "how much overconsumption a renewable resource can tolerate" was addressed using a mathematical model "resource –consumer population" [2], where consumers had realized a strategy of their environmental capacity increasing and individuals in a population not only compete for the common resource, but can also contribute to its restoration. A threshold of the system resistance to over-consumers (individuals that take more than they restore) was found by the bifurcation analysis of the model; a series of transitional regimes that the population goes through before it exhausts the common resource and thus goes extinct itself (a phenomenon known as "the tragedy of the commons") was identified. The results of the model analysis were formulated with help of analytical and numerical construction of the bifurcation diagram; six phase-parameter domains corresponding to qualitatively different model behaviors were revealed. It was also observed that (1) for some parameter domains a population can survive or go extinct depending on its initial conditions, (2) when the natural decay rate of the common resource is high enough, the population can endure the presence of more aggressive over-consumers without going extinct.

In this work we generalized the recent model proposed in [2]. In scaled variables N (preys), p (predators), z (resource) the model is of the form:

$$\frac{dN}{dt} = N(c - \frac{N}{z} - \frac{p}{\alpha + N}),$$

$$\frac{dp}{dt} = \beta p(N - m),$$

$$\frac{dz}{dt} = \gamma - \delta z + \frac{e(1 - c)N}{N + z}$$
(1)

where $c, e, \beta \le 1, m, \alpha$ are the Malthusian coefficient of prey growth, a coefficient of the transformation of preys to predators biomasses, a level of coexistence of predators and preys and a caring capacity coefficient of the prey population, γ, δ characterize level of natural resource restoration and its decay.

We show that a suitable "choice" of predator can preserve resource and preys. The possible applications of the model are also discussed.

References

[2] D. Krakauer, K. M. Page, D. H. Erwin, *Diversity, dilemmas, and monopolies of niche construction.* The American naturalist 173(1): 26–40 (2009).

 ^[1] I. Kareva, F. Berezovskaya, C. Castillo-Chavez, Transitional regimes as early warning signals in resource dependent competition models. Math. BioSci. 240 ,114–123 (2012)

A spatial computer model for the spread of hepatitis C virus infections in vitro

K. Blahut¹, J.J. Feld², C.A.A. Beauchemin¹

¹ Ryerson University, Toronto, Canada, {kblahut, cbeau}@ryerson.ca

² Toronto Western Hospital Liver Centre, Sandra Rotman Centre for Global Health, University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada, Jordan.Feld@uhn.ca

Mathematical and computer models that reproduce the spread of a viral infection within a cell culture (in vitro) provide unique, valuable information: the accurate quantification of key infection parameters (e.g., viral production rate, infectious cell lifespan). Changes in these parameters, in turn, can indicate how a mutation affects viral fitness or identify the mode of action and efficacy of novel antiviral drugs.

There currently exists only one mathematical model describing the course of a hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection in vitro: a non-spatial ODE model [1]. However, experiments have shown that the spread of HCV infection has an important spatial component: infection disseminates both distally via release and diffusion of virus through the medium, and locally via direct, cell-to-cell infection [3]. Both infection modes appear to play an important role, yet these two routes of infection could be differentially affected by antiviral therapy. Therefore, characterizing their relative contribution to infection kinetics has important implications for the control of HCV infections.

We have developed an agent-based computer model which explicitly incorporates both of these infection routes. The model consists of a two-dimensional, hexagonal grid in which each site corresponds to one, non-motile, hepatocyte (liver cell). Since experimental measures taken over the course of the infection typically report both the concentration of infectious virus in the medium bathing the cells (extracellular), as well as the count of virus RNA segments within infected cells (intracellular), our model also tracks both of these quantities. Within each cell, the concentration of HCV RNA is tracked and updated via an ODE model for intracellular viral replication [2]. The intracellular concentration within each cell is, in turn, linked to both the rate at which a cell will release extracellular virus and the rate at which the infected cell causes infection of its immediate neighbours.

In this presentation, I will showcase the range of kinetics exhibited by our model and its performance in reproducing measurements from actual experimental in vitro HCV infections.

- [1] H. Dahari, B. Sainz, Jr., A. S. Perelson, and S. L. Uprichard. Modeling subgenomic hepatitis C virus RNA kinetics during treatment with alpha interferon. *J. Virol.*, 83(13):6383–6390, July 2009.
- [2] J. Guedj and A. U. Neumann. Understanding hepatits C viral dynamics with direct-acting antiviral agents due to the interplay between intracellular replication and cellular infection dynamics. *J. Theor. Biol.*, 267:330–340, August 2010.
- [3] J. M. Timpe, Z. Stamataki, A. Jennings, K. Hu, F. Michelle J, H. J. Harris, A. Schwarz, I. Desombere, G. L. Roels, P. Balfe, and J. A. McKeating. Hepatitis C virus cell-cell transmission in hepatoma cells in the presence of neutralizing antibodies. *J. Hepatology.*, 47(1):17–24, January 2008.

Modelling 1, 5 and 10 µm Particle Deposition In Human Lung By CFD

Augusto, L. L. X.¹, Gonçalves, J. A. S.², Lopes, G. C.³

¹ Federal University of São Carlos, São Carlos, São Paulo, Brasil, liliana.lxa@gmail.com

² Federal University of São Carlos, São Carlos, São Paulo, Brasil, jasgon@ufscar.br

³ Federal University of São Carlos, São Carlos, São Paulo, Brasil, gclopes@ufscar.br

The particle deposition in human lungs has been studied recently. Because it is a biological system that is complicated to investigate experimentally, Computational Fluid Dynamics (CFD) is an alternative to study how inhalable particles deposit in the airway bifurcations. In this work, a tridimensional triple airway bifurcation corresponding to generations 3rd to 6th, in which airway diameters range from 0.29 to 0.6 cm, was used (Figure 1).



Figure 1: Tridimensional lung airway bifurcations.

The transport equations were solved for steady-state, laminar and isothermal flow, at 310.15 K. The particles have diameters equal to 1, 5 and 10 μ m and 1000 kg/m³ of density. To describe the gas and particles phases, respectively, the Eulerian-Lagrangian approach was used. Three different entrance flow rates of 15, 30 and 60 L/min in the trachea were considered to represent situations of rest, moderate activity and heavy activity. To represent the fluid-particle interaction, the one-way coupling method was used. That is resonable because the particle concentration is low and the particle diameter is considered small. Inertial and gravitational deposition were considered, leading to the force balance that describes the particle:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{dt}}(\mathrm{m}_{\mathrm{p}}\mathbf{v}_{\mathrm{p}}) = \mathbf{F}_{\mathrm{D}} + \mathrm{m}_{\mathrm{p}}\mathbf{g} \tag{1}$$

where m_p is the mas and v_p is the velocity of the particle, F_D is the drag force and g is gravity acceleration.

The Commercial software ANSYS 14.0[®] was used to run the simulation. The mean Stokes number values were smaller than 1, indicating that most particles follow the stream lines of the air flow. The results were compared with experimental data from the literature and showed that the model was capable of representing the particle deposition. Thus, the results of this work indicate that CFD is a viable and important tool for studying particle deposition in human airway bifurcations and can be used for optimization of devices for inhalable drugs.

Singular perturbation solutions of steady-state Poisson-Nernst-Planck systems

X.-S. Wang¹, D. He², J. Wylie³, H. Huang⁴

¹ Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's, Canada xswang4@mail.ustc.edu.cn

² City University of Hong Kong, HK, hdd198311@yahoo.cn

³ City University of Hong Kong, HK, mawylie@cityu.edu.hk

⁴ York University, Toronto, Canada, hhuang@yorku.ca

We study the Poisson-Nernst-Planck (PNP) system with an arbitrary number of ion species with arbitrary valences. Assuming that the Debye length is small relative to the domain size, we derive an asymptotic formula for the steady-state solution by matching outer and boundary layer solutions. The case of two ionic species has been extensively studied, uniqueness of the solution has been proved and an explicit expression for the solution has been obtained. However, the case of three or more ions has received significantly less attention. Previous work has indicated that the solution may be non-unique and that even obtaining numerical solutions is a difficult task since one must solve complicated systems of nonlinear equations. By adopting a methodology that preserves the symmetries of the PNP system, we show that determining the outer solution effectively reduces to solving a single scalar transcendental equation. Due to the simple form of the transcendental equation, it can be solved numerically in a straightforward manner. Our methodology thus provides a standard procedure for solving the PNP system and we illustrate this by solving some practical examples. Despite the fact that for three ions, previous studies have indicated that multiple solutions may exist, we show that all except for one of these solutions is unphysical and thereby prove existence and uniqueness for the three ion case.

Designing of Mathematical Models in the Study the Essential Hypertension among the Euglycemic Patients of Ischemic Heart Disease

H.S. Jhajj¹, Ghansham Mishra²

¹ Professor, Punjabi University, Patiala, Punjab, India, drhsjhajj@gmail.com

² Assistant Prof., GGS Medical College, BFUHS, Faridkot, India, ghansham.mishra@yahoo.com

For the study of Hypertension, two mathematical models have been designed to measure the main effecting factors SBP and DBP depending on independent factors, body mass index, tri-glyceride, low density lipoprotein- cholesterol and high density lipoprotein-cholesterol. Adequacy of the models has been verified using analysis of variance (F-test), histogram, Q-Q plot and box whiskers plot methods. It has been shown that body mass index; tri-glyceride, low density lipoprotein-cholesterol and high density lipoprotein-cholesterol and high density lipoprotein-cholesterol and high density lipoprotein-cholesterol are the main factors affecting the SBP and DBP significantly. It has also been shown that TG and BMI are more affecting the blood pressure as compared to other factors. The graphs have also been plotted corresponding to fitted models and original data which show that fitted models are best models to obtain the values of SBP and DBP. An effort has been made to analyze the data and interpret it with the help of statistical software package SPSS 14.0.

Non-Linearity and Heterogeneity in Modeling of Population Dynamics

G. Karev¹, F. Berezovskaya²

¹ National Center for Biotechnology Information, National Institute of Health, Bethesda, USA, karev@ncbi.nlm.nih.gov ² Howard University, Washington DC, USA, fsberezo@hotmail.com

E. Szathmary and M. Smith ([1]) represent the model of prebiological evolution of replicators by the "power" equation for the concentration of molecules

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = kx^p \tag{1}$$

Three cases are distinguished: the exponential with p = 1; the super-exponential (hyperbolic) with p > 1; the sub-exponential (parabolic) with p < 1. The models of biological populations composed from nonexponential *homogeneous* subpopulations (clones) demonstrate deviation from Darwinian "survival of the fittest", see [1], [2] for discussion. Nevertheless, both hyperbolic and parabolic growth can be observed in real populations at large enough domains of the model variable values. Well established examples of nonexponential growth apply to global demography with p=2 [3] and some molecular replicator systems with p=1/2 [4]. The question arises: what are possible origins of the non-exponential models and how to derive them from realistic assumptions?

We consider the power equation within the frameworks of inhomogeneous population models with distributed Malthusian parameter [5] and prove that the equation (1) $\frac{dN}{dt} = kN^p$ for any p > 0 describes the total population size of inhomogeneous frequency-dependent model

$$\frac{dl(t,a)}{dt} = \frac{kal(t,a)}{N(t)} = kaP(t,a), N(t) = \int_A l(t,a)da$$
(2)

where the initial distribution of the parameter a, P(0, a), is the Gamma-distribution.

We study also a general frequency-dependent population model (2) with arbitrary initial distribution of the Malthusian parameter and prove that this inhomogeneous model demonstrates Darwinian "survival of the fittest" if and only if the moment generating function $M(\lambda)$ of the initial distribution of the Malthusian parameter is finite for all λ . In other case the model demonstrates non-Darwinian "survival of everybody".

Acknowledgement: this research was supported by the Intramural Research Program of the NIH, NCBI.

- [1] E. Szathmary and M. Smith, From Replicators to Reproducers: the First Major Transitions Leading to Life, J. Theor. Biol., 187, pp. 555-571(1997).
- [2] E. Szathmary, *The origin of replicators and reproducers*, Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B **361**, pp. 1761–1776 (2006).
- [3] H. von Forster, P. Mora, and L. Amiot, *Doomsday: Friday, 13 November, A.D. 2026.* Science 132, pp. 1291-99 (1960).
- [4] G. von Kiedrowski and E. Szathmary, Selection versus coexistence of parabolic replicators spreading on surfaces, Selection 1, pp.173-179 (2000).
- [5] G. Karev, On mathematical theory of selection: continuous time population dynamics, Journal of Mathematical Biology 60, pp.107-129 (2010).

Optimal Control of Bioheat Equation using Semigroups

A. Malek¹, GH. Abbasi²

 ¹ Department of Applied Mathematics, Faculty of Mathematical Sciences, Tarbiat Modares University, P. O. Box 14115-134, Tehran, Iran, mala@modares.ac.ir
 ² Department of Applied Mathematics, Faculty of Mathematical Sciences, Tarbiat Modares University, P. O. Box 14115-134, Tehran, Iran, g.abbasi@modares.ac.ir

A distributed optimal control problem for a system described by a bioheat transfer equation for a homogeneous skin is analytically investigated using strongly continuous semigroups. The required skin temperature at a specific depth point is attained within the total operation time due to microwave radiation which is taken as a control. A novel numerical method based on semigroup theory is proposed. Controllability and stability is investigated. Numerical results are presented with some examples.

- [1] H. Heidari and A. Malek, Optimal boundary control for hyperdiffusion equation, Kybernetika, 46, 5, pp. 907-925 (2010).
- [2] H. Heidari, H. Zwart and A. Malek, *Controllability and stability of 3D heat conduction equation in a submicroscale thin film*, Department of Applied Mathematics, University of Twente, Enschede, The Netherlands, pp. 1-21 (2010).
- [3] R. F. Curtain and H. Zwart, An introduction to infinite-dimensional linear systems theory, Springer-Verlag New York, Inc. (1995).
A Model of Clusters in Binary and Ternary Strings Applied to Protein Secondary Structure Prediction

A. Nikolaev¹, S. Mneimneh²

¹ Computer Science Program, The Graduate Center of CUNY, New York, USA, anikolaev@gc.cuny.edu
² Department of Computer Science, Hunter College of CUNY, New York, USA, saad@hunter.cuny.edu

Efficient and reliable prediction of protein secondary structures is an important and well developed area in Computational Biology. State of the art methods achieve a standard Q_3 score greater than 75%. Ultimately, all of them rely heavily on vast databases of experimentally observed secondary structures and known proteins' homologs; and they use this data with remarkable success! Nevertheless, the problem of secondary structure prediction is still far from being solved, and there is a room for new ideas and approaches. In this work, we make a new attempt to move away from data-driven methods, and revisit the problem from a solely mathematical perspective.

We approach the problem by associating each of 20 common amino acids with either 1 or 0, so that 1s represent "structure formers" (discussed later), and 0s are indifferent residues. This amino acid classification transforms the residue sequence of a protein into a binary string. Knowing naturally occuring probabilities of different amino acids, we can compute the probabilities of 1s, denoted by p, and 0s, q = 1 - p.

For a given 1, our algorithm looks for the most probabilistically *rare* (henceforth "the best") cluster of 1s that contains it. We introduce a cluster connectivity distance $k \ge 0$ such that two 1s are in the same cluster if they within a distance not more than k; k can be different for different clusters. Conceptually, this model extends Percolation Theory on a line by allowing connections between nodes that are not immediate neighbors.

We prove that, on infinite strings, the search for the "best" cluster for a given 1 necessarily fails with probability 1 as k increases. Thus there is a need for "breakers", the third class of amino acids denoted by symbol π , which stop cluster growth (they are equivalent to an infinite string of 0s). If the probability of breakers is non-zero, the "best" cluster always exists. By running the algorithm on all 1s in a sequence, we obtain a nested hierarchy of clusters (some clusters with smaller k are contained in others), and then, using a simple heuristic that relates k to the periodicity of secondary structures, merge this hierarchy into a prediction string, i.e. every residue is said to belong to a "helix", "strand", or "coil". This prediction string can be matched against the corresponding database record to determine prediction accuracy.

To identify correct "structure formers" and "breakers", we use the DSSP database which includes annotations of secondary structure of proteins. With the Q_3 score serving as a fitness function, we run a genetic algorithm to find the best mapping of each of the 20 amino acids to 1, 0, or π . In several variants of the algorithm, the mapping of hydrophobic amino acids to 1 and $\{P,G\}$ to π is consistently obtained, which is in agreement with biological properties of amino acids. The score $Q_3 = 55\%$ is reached for the standard CB-513 dataset, which is better than comparable Chou-Fasman and GOR methods (and their variants). Therefore, with just minimal data extracted from the database (the mapping), we are able to obtain reasonable performance. The consistency of the mapping suggests that our mathematical model conforms with whichever evolutionary mechanism lead to the formation of biological structures. To substantiate this further, we run simulations on random sequences, iteratively updating the probabilities of 1, 0, and π based on their occurence in the found clusters in a way similar to Bayesian learning. The simulations converge to the typical probabilities found in amino acids sequences.

We believe our work can be invested further to develop algorithms for structure identification (not necessarily biological) that move away from the data-driven approaches.

Modeling Blood Flow in a Brain Tumor Treated Concurrently with Radiotherapy and Chemotherapy

R. Roy¹, D. N. Riahi¹

¹ University of Texas-Pan American, Edinburg USA, {rroy,driahi}@utpa.edu

Objective: Many brain tumors are highly invasive and therefore extremely difficult to treat [1-3]. Many studies have demonstrated a better outcome with concurrent application of radiotherapy and chemotherapy. Our major objective in this paper is to understand the physiology of blood flow in a solid tumor, and also to investigate the effect of concurrent application of two anticancer drugs in a solid tumor.

Status: We investigated the characteritics of unsteady blood flow within an unsteady homogeneous tumor. We presented results for the unsteady cases including, specifically, those affected by the growth rate of the tumor and how much the growth rate can be controlled by drug delivery mechanisms. In future, we will extend our present model and apply it to nonunidirectional tumors and tissues in terms of properties and geometrical configurations.

Methodology: A coupled convection-diffusion-reaction model for simulating interaction between two anti cancer drugs has been developed. This model provides the computational transportation to evaluate systematically and quantitatively the effects of interaction between two drugs.

Results: We found that the interstitial pressure is the maximum at the center of the tumor core, while the magnitude of the interstitial velocity is the minimum at this point. The concentration of two anticancer drugs is higher at the center of the tumor and increases faster than the border region with time. The concentration is higher in a tumor when there is an interaction between the two drugs than without interaction. As the growth rate of the tumor increases the magnitude of the concentration decreases

Significance: Combining mathematical models with clinical research is definitely a new way of thinking about oncology. In this paper we have presented some promising modeling approaches to simulate the radiotherapy and chemotherapy response of cancer cells and whole tumors. Our mathematical models are developed in close observation of clinical data, and hence this model can prove to be vital in augmenting current biological and clinical radiotherapy and chemotherapy knowledge.

- [1] R. K. Jain, Normalization of tumor vasculature: An emerging concept in antiangiogenic therapy. Science 307, 58-62 (2005).
- [2] L. T. Baxter, R. K. Jain, Transport of fluid and macromolecules in tumors. (I) role of interstitial pressure and convection. Microvasc. Res. 37, 77-104 (1989).
- [3] W. H. K. Tan, F. J. Wang, T. Lee, C. H. Wang, Computer simulation of the delivery of etanidazole to brain tumor from PLGA wafers: Comparison between linear and double burst release systems. Biotechnology and Bioengineering 82, 278-288 (2003)

Modeling Oxygen Dynamics of the Retina - Using Discrete Exterior Calculus

<u>A. Dziubek</u>¹, G. Guidoboni², A. Hirani³, E. Rusjan⁴

¹ SUNYIT, Utica, USA, dziubea@sunyit.edu

² IUPUI, Indianapolis, USA, gguidobo@math.iupui.edu

³ University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Urbana, USA, hirani@cs.illinois.edu

⁴ SUNYIT, Utica, USA, edmond@sunyit.edu

Open Angle Glaucoma is a multifactorial optic neuropathy characterized by progressive retinal ganglion cell death and associated visual field loss. The medical community found evidence that alterations in blood flow effect disease processes, but until now only few detailed physical models exist for the eye. We model blood pressure in the retina of the eye by solving Darcy flow equations for non-homogeneous porous media on a flat circular surface and on a hemispherical surfaces with appropriate boundary conditions. We compare the distribution of pressure and velocity. Our study shows that ocular curvature has a noticeable effect in pressure distribution, which suggests that alterations in ocular curvature, such as those occurring in myopic eyes, might contribute to glaucomatous damage by reducing retinal blood flow.

To solve the problems we use discrete exterior calculus and finite element exterior calculus. Exterior calculus lus developed by Cartan several decades ago has gradually been gaining acceptance as the superior formulation of vector calculus. Its main advantage is coordinate independence which makes these methods very suitable for problems on curved surfaces. The language of exterior calculus shows the geometry of a problem (flow, curvature, symplecticity) and has led to the development of numerical methods which preserve geometrical structures (conservation of energy, symplecticity) of the original equations. We present the problem formulation in exterior calculus and discuss some aspects of exterior calculus on curved surfaces.

Effect of boundary absorption on dispersion of solute in a pulsatile Casson fluid flow

B.T. Sebastian^{1,2}, P. Nagarani²

¹ The University of the West Indies, Mona, Jamaica

² University of Technology, Jamaica

The present study analyses the effects of wall absorption on the dispersion process of a solute in a Casson fluid flow. Here we consider the flow is unsteady since the flow in the circulatory system is pulsatile due to heart pumping. The generalized dispersion model is used to study this process and according to this model the entire dispersion process is expressed in terms of three transport coefficients viz. absorption, the convection and dispersion coefficients. This model brings out the effects of pulsatility, yield stress and wall absorption on dispersion process in a Casson fluid flow. This model can be used to understand dispersion process in cardiovascular flows, in particular in drug delivery and oxygen transport.

Dynamic models for rodent pest control: A case study of plateau pika

Fengqin Zhang¹

¹ Yuncheng University, Yuncheng, Shanxi, China {zhafq}@263.com

The overabundance of plateau pika brings a great damage to the alpine meadow. Rodenticide and sterilant have been used to control this mammalian pest. In this talk, we propose models to incorporate these controls and the seasonal cycle of breeding and non-breeding. When the basic reproduction number is less than 1 then the trivial equilibrium is globally asymptotically stable; if the basic reproduction number is greater than 1 then the trivial equilibrium is unstable and there is a positive equilibrium which attracts all positive solutions. Larger contraception rate, larger lethal rate, and shorter control interval could have better control effects, which may make the controlled population become smaller and even die out. Short-acting sterilant limits the control effect and the controlled population would have a weak recovery at the later period of breeding season. These theoretical results are supported by numerical simulations. We also suggest possible strategies to be implemented in practice.

Computational Algebra, Combinatorics and Optimization (CS-CACO)

Bias, Noise, and Indeterminacy Correction in Numerically Invariant Signatures

Reza Aghayan,

¹ kingston University London, United kingdom, reza_aghayan@kingston.ac.uk.

Numerically invariant signatures were introduced as a new paradigm of the invariant recognition for visual objects modulo a certain transformation group. This paper illustrates that the current formulation in terms of joint invariants suffers from bias, noise, and indeterminacy in the resulting numerical signatures. The numerical biases which may arise in the resulting numerical signatures are classified as Bias Type-1 and Bias Type-2, and it is illustrated how they can be removed. Next, we apply the n-difference technique and the m-mean signature method to reduce the effects of noise and indeterminacy in the resulting outputs. In our experimental results of applying the proposed numerical scheme to generate joint group-signatures, the sensitivity of some parameters such as regularity and mesh resolution used in the algorithm will also be examined. Finally, several interesting observations are made.



Figure 1: Illustrates bias, indeterminacy, and noise in the resulting numerically invariant signatures and how these issues can be removed.

- E. Calabi, P.J. Olver, C. Shakiban, A. Tannenbaum, and S. Haker, Differential and numerically invariant signature curves applied to object recognition, Int. J. Comput. Vision, vol. 26, pp. 107-135 (1998).
- [2] M. Boutin, Numerically invariant signature curve, Int. J. Comput. Vision, vol. 40, no. 3, pp. 235-248 (2000).
- [3] R. Aghayan, T. Ellis, and J. Dehmeshki, Planar Numerical Signature Theory Applied to Object Recognition, J. Math. Imaging Vision, doi:10.1007/S10851-013-0427-6 (2013).

Design and Application of Fault-Tolerant Circulant Digraph Networks

A. Farrag

Dalhousie University, Halifax, NovaScotia, Canada, farrag@cs.dal.ca

Fault tolerance is a major design goal in building multicomputer networks that must continue to operate correctly in the presence of faults. This is usually achieved by introducing redundancy to the network, that is, by adding spare nodes and links. In this case, when some of the basic components fail, the network can be reconfigured to bypass the defective parts and replace them with healthy components.

Building fault-tolerant systems has been examined for many architectures (such as rings, stars, tress, meshes, and hypercubes). In this work, we study this problem for the circulant digraph configuration. Moreover, we show how to apply our formulation to handle failures in some other networks whose edges are all undirected, or even mixed (i.e., some are directed and some are undirected). Circulant digraphs form an important class of loop-based architecture that has been applied to the design of many local area networks and some parallel computers (such as the ILLIAC machine).

The optimization criterion used in this paper is to reduce the node-degree of the overall network. This is an important objective in practice due to the limitation on the number of links allowed per node in a VLSI design. It is well-known that finding a fault-tolerant design that is optimal with respect to this criterion is generally very difficult even for networks with a regular structure.

The formulation proposed in this paper has many advantages. First, it is efficient to implement, and moreover, it can handle any number of node failures. In addition, the reconfiguration involved is simple and requires only a linear time (in the size of the network). Our results indicate that the (fault-tolerant) solutions we obtained are either optimal or nearly optimal.

New Approach for solving the Linear Assignment Problem

D. Almaatani¹, S. G. Diagne², Y. <u>Gningue³</u>, M. Takouda⁴

1 Laurentian University, Sudbury, Canada, dalmaatani@laurentian.ca

2 Université Cheikh Anta Diop, Dakar, Sénégal, gueyesalli@yahoo.com

 $\label{eq:lawer} 3 \ Laurentian \ University, \ Sudbury, \ Canada, \ \ ygningue @cs.laurentian.ca$

4 Laurentian University, Sudbury, Canada, mtakouda@laurentian.ca

The linear assignment problem is a fundamental combinatorial optimization problem consisting in finding an optimal matching between two sets of equal dimension. An excellent illustration is the assignment of n jobs to n different workers with a variety of degrees of skill. The linear assignment problem has numerous applications in a large variety of domains such as production planning, scheduling, telecommunications, economics etc...

One popular solution method for the linear assignment problem is the Hungarian method. In this research, we introduce a new iterative solution method by applying the Vogel Approximation Method (VAM) to the problem's reduced cost matrix. At each iteration, one assignment is performed using the VAM, the corresponding line and column are simultaneously removed from the matrix cost leading to a smaller assignment problem to be solved. A certain number of rules are provided to eliminate the need to recalculate a new reduced cost matrix for the new assignment problem. This approach seems to provide an easiest way to find some independent zeros than the Hungarian Method. And, unlike the VAM for transportation problem, the algorithm converges to the optimal solution. Numerical tests are performed using Java.

Solving the simple Transportation Problem by using the Modified Vogel Approximation method

D. Almaatani¹, S. G. Diagne², Y. Gningue¹, M. Takouda¹

¹ Laurentian University, Sudbury, Canada, {dalmaatani,ygningue,mtakouda}@laurentian.ca

² Universite Cheikh Anta Diop, Dakar, Senegal, gueyesalli@yahoo.com

The Vogel method is one the methods which provide starting basic solution to the transportation algorithm. Moreover, it is an approximation method and therefore called Vogel Approximation Method (VAM). In this presentation, we introduce a modified version which constitutes an improvement of the VAM for the transportation problem. This new approach called Modified Vogel method (MVM) consider the equivalent transportation problem defined by the reduced cost matrix. Then it applies the Vogel method to determine the variable to be assigned. After each assignment of a variable, the remaining matrix is reduced. A certain number of rules are provided to eliminate the need to recalculate a new reduced cost matrix for the whole remaining table. The Modified Vogel method (MVM) assigns, in some cases, simultaneously a bundle of variables. In the case where all the penalties were zeroed, it provides the optimal solution. It also allows the identification of the optimal solution whenever the reduced cost equals to zero. Consequently this avoids, in these cases, the use of the transportation algorithm. Numerical tests are performed using Java.

Highly Accurate Solution of Ordinary Diferential Equation with Singularity Arising in Fluid Dynamics

Pratibha

Indian Institute of Technology Roorkee, Roorkee, India, pratifma@iitr.ernet.in

A complex boundary value problem consisting of a second order differential equation with singularity, arising in fluid mechanics, is solved to high precision. The second order differential equation must be solved on $(0, \infty)$ subject to the boundary condition that specify the asymptotic behaviour of the solution at the two ends of the solution domain. The solution at the origin is expanded using analytic continuity and matched with the asymptotic solution. The solution is obtained by computing multiple series. To obtain a high accuracy, a large number of terms in each series is computed which is only possible by virtue of symbolic computation. All the routines for this purpose are developed in the symbolic computational package, *MAPLE*.

Nondeterministic relational fuzzy operators

Fairouz Tchier

Mathematics department, P.O.Box 22452, Riyadh 11495, Saudi Arabia, ftchier@ksu.edu.sa

The calculus of relations has been an important component of the development of logic and algebra since the middle of the nineteenth century. George Boole, in his "Mathematical Analysis of Logic" [3]. Schroder's work, however, lay dormant for more than 40 years, until revived by Alfred Tarski in his seminal paper "On the calculus of binary relations" [7]. Tarski's paper is still often referred to as the best introduction to the calculus of relations. The demonic calculus of relations [4, 6] views any relation R from a set A to another set B as specifying those programs that terminate for all $a \in A$ wherever R associates any values from B with a, and then the program may only return values b for which $(a,b) \in R$. Consequently, a relation R refines another relation S if R specifies a larger domain of termination and fewer possibilities for return values. The demonic calculus of relations has the advantage that the demonic operations are defined on top of the conventional relation algebraic operations, and can easily and usefully be mixed with the latter, allowing the application of numerous algebraic properties [1, 5, 8].

Fuzzy "As the complexity of a system increases, our ability to make precise and yet significant statements about its behavior diminishes until a threshold is reached beyond which precision and significance (or relevance) become almost mutually exclusive characteristics." [9]

We consider that nondeterministic programs behave as badly as they can and loop forever whenever they have the possibility to do so. This is the demonic approach of nondeterministic programs [2]. We deal with a relational algebra model to define a refinement fuzzy ordering (demonic fuzzy inclusion) and also the associated fuzzy operations which are fuzzy demonic join ($\Box fuz$), fuzzy demonic meet ($\Box fuz$) and fuzzy demonic composition ($\Box fuz$). We give also some properties of these operations and illustrate them with simple examples.

- Backhouse, R. C. and van der Woude, J.: Demonic Operators and Monotype Factors. Mathematical Structures in Comput. Sci., 3(4), 417-433, Dec. (1993). Also: Computing Science Note 92/11, Department of Mathematics and Computer Science, Eindhoven University of Technology, The Netherlands, 1992.
- [2] Berghammer, R. and Zierer, H.: Relational Algebraic Semantics of Deterministic and Nondeterministic Programs. Theoretical Comput. Sci., 43, 123-147 (1986).
- [3] Boole, G.:: The Mathematical Analysis of Logic, Being an Essay Toward a Calculus of Deductive Reasoning. Macmillan, Cambridge, 1847.
- [4] Boudriga, N., Elloumi, F. and Mili, A.: On the Lattice of Specifications: Applications to a Specification Methodology. Formal Aspects of Computing, 4, 544-571 (1992).
- [5] Desharnais, J. B. Moller, and F. Tchier. Kleene under a demonic star. 8th International Conference on Algebraic Methodology And Software Technology (AMAST 2000), May 2000, Iowa City, Iowa, USA, Lecture Notes in Computer Science, Vol. 1816, pages 355-370, Springer-Verlag, 2000.
- [6] Desharnais, J. Mili, A. and Nguyen, T.T. .: Refinement and demonic semantics, in:C. Brink, W.khal,G.Schmidt(Eds), Relational methods in Computer Science. Advances in Computing. pages 166-183, Springer-Wein, New York, 1997.
- [7] Tarski, A.: On the calculus of relations. J. Symb. Log. 6, 3, 1941, 73-89.

Computational Physics and Chemistry (CS-CPC)

Properties of dimethylimidazolium chloride- monosubstituted benzene at T=400K

N.A. Atamas¹, V.Meklesh¹, Zhang Feng-Shou²

¹ Department of Physics, Kiev Taras Shevchenko University,6, Glushkov pr., Kiev-040127, Ukraine,

² Beijing Normal University, Beijing 100875, 19 Xinjiekouwai St., College of Nuclear Science and Technology

Recently the more and more attention is paid to the investigation of properties of ionic liquids consisting from large inorganics cations and small organics anions. Such ionic liquids are of great practical importance for the chemical industry and other field of economies. One of the simplest representatives of the class of ionic liquids is dimthylimidazolium chloride (dmem+/Cl-).

Investigations of the tree-component systems ionic liquids-molecule of the monosubstituted benzene we used various types potentials for description of inter- and intra molecular interactions. The calculation ware performed at the constant temperature T=400K for the ensemble consisting 192 cations, 192 anions and one dissolved molecule, with gave a possibility to estimate the influence of dissolved molecule (benzene, toluene, anisole or phenol) on the local structure of the ionic liquids in detail.

The work presents results on the local structure, the energy and dynamics characteristics in the case of the interactions of a monosubstituted benzene molecules (benzene, toluene, anisole or phenol) with the dimethylimidazolium chloride at T=400K calculated by molecular dynamics method. We established existence of the hydrogen bonds between a alcohol molecule (benzene, toluene, anisole or phenol) with dimethylimidazolium and chloride at T=400K and determinate the energy and dynamics characteristics three-components systems of the study.

Thermodynamic and dynamic anomalies in a simple one-dimensional lattice model of water

Fernando Barbosa¹, Marco Aurelio Barbosa²

¹ Instituto de Fisica, Universidade de Brasilia, Brazil

² Faculdada UnB Planaltina, Universidade de Brasilia, Brazil

The behavior of the self diffusion constant of one dimensional lattice fluid models as a function of density and temperature was studied through computer simulations using the Monte Carlo method. Particle's dynamics were implemented using one- and two-site jumps. The proposed model is simple and, besides a hard-core, has a single a repulsive interaction between nearest neighbors. This model can be considered as a simpler version of other 1D models for water [1], which include an attractive first nearest neighbor and an attractive second nearest neighbor introduced to imitate the wider range of the hydrogen bond interaction. Theoretical calculations and simulation showed that, despite its simplicity, our model reproduces the anomalous behavior of water on the diffusion constant and on density, in a region corresponding to a "transition" between a dense fluid and a bonded fluid (BF-DF). We have also calculated the diffusion constant through an approximate analytical treatment based on a simple random walk. Computer simulations and theoretical results are being compared to check the range of validity of the simplifying hypothesis assumed theoretically.

References

[1] Barbosa, M. A. a., Barbosa, F. V., and Oliveira, F. A. The Journal of chemical physics 134(2), 024511 January (2011).

Adaptive Matrix Transpose Algorithms for Distributed Multicore Processors

John C. Bowman¹ and Malcolm Roberts²

¹ University of Alberta, bowman@math.ualberta.ca

² Aix-Marseille University

The matrix transpose is an essential primitive of high-performance parallel computing. For example, multidimensional fast Fourier transform algorithms rely on a matrix transpose to localize the computation onto individual processors. Historically, a number of different algorithms have been proposed for matrix transposition on distributed memory archictures. For instance, Choi *et al.* [3] identified, in order of increasing speed, the *rotation*, *direct communication*, and *binary exchange* algorithms. However, the relative performance of these transposition algorithms depends on many factors, including communication latency, communication bandwidth, network congestion, communication packet size, local cache size, and network topology. Since it is hard to estimate the relative importance of these factors at compilation time, an adaptive algorithm, dynamically tuned to take advantage of these specific architectural details, is desirable.

Al Na'Mneh *et al.* [1] have previously described an adaptive transposition algorithm for symmetric multiprocessors that share a common memory pool and exhibit low-latency interprocess communication. At the other extreme are adaptive algorithms optimized for distributed memory architectures with high latency communication, like those implemented in FFTW [4]. However, modern high-performance computer architectures consist of a hybrid of these two opposing models: distributed networks of multicore processors.

In this work, we describe recent efforts to exploit modern hybrid architectures, using the popular MPI message passing interface to communicate between distributed nodes and the OpenMP multithreading paradigm to communicate between the individual cores of each processor. One of the advantages of exploiting this hybrid parallelism is that it is often possible, through the use of a combination of memory striding and vectorization, to arrange applications of matrix transposes (such as multidimensional fast Fourier transforms) so that local transposition is not required within a single MPI node. While transposition algorithms do not normally benefit from multithreading, since the multicore nodes in modern hardware are typically connected to the distributed network via a single socket, the computational phases of the calling process usually does. The hybrid paradigm thus provides an optimal setting for nonlocal computationally intensive operations found in applications like the fast Fourier transform.

We apply adaptive matrix transposition algorithms on hybrid architectures to the parallelization of implicitly dealiased pseudospectral convolutions used to simulate turbulent flow. Implicit dealiasing outperforms conventional zero padding by decoupling the data and temporary work arrays. Parallelized versions of our implicit dealiasing algorithms for hybrid architectures are publically available in the open-source library FFTW++ [2].

- [1] R. AL NA'MNEH, W. D. PAN, AND S.-M. YOO, *Efficient adaptive algorithms for transposing small and large matrices on symmetric multiprocessors*, Informatica, 17 (2006), pp. 535–550.
- [2] J. C. BOWMAN AND M. ROBERTS, FFTW++: A fast Fourier transform C⁺⁺ header class for the FFTW3 library. http://fftwpp.sourceforge.net, 2010.
- [3] J. CHOI, J. J. DONGARRA, AND D. W. WALKER, Parallel matrix transpose algorithms on distributed memory concurrent computers, Parallel Computing, 21 (1995), pp. 1387–1405.
- [4] M. FRIGO AND S. G. JOHNSON, The design and implementation of FFTW3, Proceedings of the IEEE, 93 (2005), pp. 216–231.

Theoretical Analysis and Iteration Acceleration of Second-order Temporal Accurate Fully Implicit Discretization for Nonlinear Diffusion Problem

X. Cui¹, G.W. Yuan², J.Y. Yue³

National Key Laboratory of Science and Technology on Computational Physics, Institute of Applied Physics and Computational Mathematics, P.O.Box 8009-26, Beijing, 100088, China,

² yuan_guangwei@iapcm.ac.cn

³ yue_jingyan@iapcm.ac.cn

This work is partially supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (11171036, 11271054), the Science Foundation of CAEP (2010A0202010, 2012B0202031, 2012B0202026), the Foundation of the National Key Laboratory of Science and Technology on Computation Physics and the Defense Industrial Technology Development Program (B1520110011).

The fully implicit finite difference (FIFD) schemes with second-order temporal accuracy have been used to solve nonlinear diffusion problems for a long time [1], but there is seldom rigorous theoretical analysis for their accuracy. In this work, discrete functional analysis [2] is applied to analyze such an FIFD scheme for two-dimensional nonlinear diffusion problem, and Newton iteration acceleration is designed to solve the problem efficiently. To prove the convergent ratio and approximate accuracy of the Newton iteration in discrete functional analysis procedure, the $L^{\infty}(H^1)$ convergence property of the FIFD scheme is indispensable. Two methods are studied to provide such a convergence property. One follows an inductive hypothesis reasoning technique suggested by the authors in a recent paper [3], the other is a novel one, which completes the proof in two steps. First, with a thorough estimate of the terms corresponding to the discrete temporal derivative, the $L^{\infty}(L^2)$ convergence is proved. Then by using it in an inductive reasoning procedure, the difficulty arising from the nonlinearity is overcome, and the Newton iteration. It shows that the nonlinear FIFD scheme is absolutely stable, the Newton iteration converges with a quadratic ratio, and their solutions have second-order convergence both in spatial and temporal variants to the exact solution of the original problem. Numerical tests are provided to highlight the theoretical results and demonstrate the high accuracy and efficiency of the second-order time-accurate Newton iteration.

- [1] G.L. Olson, *Efficient solution of multi-dimensional flux-limited nonequilibrium radiation diffusion coupled to material conduction with second-order time discretization*, J. Comput. Phys. **226** pp. 1181-1195 (2007).
- [2] Y.L. Zhou, *Applications of Discrete Functional Analysis to the Finite Difference Method*, International Academic Publishers, Beijing (1990).
- [3] X. Cui, J.Y. Yue and G.W. Yuan, *Nonlinear scheme with high accuracy for nonlinear coupled parabolic-hyperbolic system*, Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics **235:12** pp. 3527-3540 (2011).
- [4] X. Cui, G.W. Yuan and J.Y. Yue, An efficient nonlinear iteration scheme for nonlinear parabolic-hyperbolic system, Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics 236:2 pp. 253-264 (2011).
- [5] J.Y. Yue and G.W. Yuan, *Picard-Newton iterative method with time step control for multimaterial non-equilibrium radiation diffusion problem*, Communications in Computational Physics **10:4** pp. 844-866 (2011).

¹ cuixia09@gmail.com

The dynamics of the fluxion in curved Josephson junction

T. Dobrowolski¹

¹ Institute of Physics UP, Cracow, Poland, dobrow@up.krakow.pl

The influence of the curvature of the long Josephson Junction on the dynamics of the fluxion is considered. On the base of Maxwell and Landau-Ginzburg theories the effective equation that describes the dynamics of the gauge invariant phase difference of the many-particle wave functions, that describe superconducting electrodes, is obtained [1]. The existence of the kink solutions in the effective (modified) sine-Gordon model is investigated. The movement of the fluxion in the framework of the sine-Gordon model is studied numerically. The dynamics of the collective coordinate that describes position of the kink is studied analytically. It is shown that the curvature of the junction corresponds to the existence of the potential barrier experienced by the fluxion [2].

- [1] T. Dobrowolski, Curved Josephson Junction, Ann. Phys. (NY) 327, pp. 1336-1354 (2012).
- [2] T. Dobrowolski, The kink motion in a curved Josephson junction, Phys. Rev. E 79, pp. 046601, 7 pages (2009).

Avoiding the coordinate singularity problem in the numerical solution of the Dirac equation in cylindrical coordinates

F. Fillion-Gourdeau¹, E. Lorin², A.D. Bandrauk³

¹ CRM, Université de Montréal, Montréal, Canada, filliong@CRM.UMontreal.ca

² Carleton University, Ottawa, Canada, elorin@math.carleton.ca

³ Université de Sherbrooke, Sherbrooke, Canada, Andre.Dieter.Bandrauk@USherbrooke.ca

Due to recent and prospected technological advances, it is now possible, to consider laser intensities of 10^{23} W/cm² and higher. In this new regime, relativistic and quantum electrodynamics effects start to be important, requiring a theoretical description in terms of the time-dependent Dirac equation. In this presentation, I will present recent advances on the numerical solution of this equation for 3-D axisymmetric geometries using cylindrical coordinates. The numerical method is based on a split-step scheme in coordinate space, which is free from the "fermion doubling" problem and which can be parallelized very efficiently. A new technique to circumvent the coordinate singularity at r = 0 using Poisson's integral solution of the wave equation for the radial operator will also be described. The general strategy is to interpolate the solution using cubic Hermite polynomials and to integrate exactly the Poisson solution. The result of this procedure gives a non-standard finite difference scheme on a time staggered grid. The numerical method is then utilized to simulate the quantum relativistic dynamics of an electron bound in a diatomic molecule potential and interacting with an ultraintense counterpropagating laser field.

Using Computational Chemical Methods to Gain Insights into the Enzymatic Mechanism of LuxS

R. Gherib¹, W. -J. Huang², J. W. Gauld³,

¹ University of Windsor, Ontario, Canada, gherib@uwindsor.ca

² National Institute for Nanotechnology, Alberta, Canada, wenjuan3@ualberta.ca

³ University of Windsor, Ontario, Canada, gauld@uwindsor.ca

S-ribosylhomocystein (LuxS) is an enzyme that allows diverse bacterial species to communicate with one another. Importantly, many pathogens have been shown to possess LuxS[1], indicating its possible involvement in the spread of infections. The mechanism, by which LuxS operates, and its atomistic details remain unsettled. These are key prior to the development of pharmaceutical drugs that may inhibit LuxS and possibly stop the spread of superbugs. This study uses computational chemical methods to study in details the mechanism of LuxS. Specifically, we have used molecular dynamics (MD) simulations to model the motion of atoms within the enzyme and we have used QM/MM methods to calculate the kinetic and thermodynamic properties pertaining to its mechanism. Insights into subtrate binding, which can allow for subsequent rational drug design studies, have been obtained. On a broader scale, our results demonstrate how a combination of different computational chemical methods can be used to uncover the driving forces in enzymatic systems.

References

[1] M. B. Miller and B. L. Bassler, Quorum Sensing in Bacteria, Ann. Rev. Microbiol. 55, pp. 165-199 (2007).

Polarizability Calculations of Linearly Conjugated Systems Using Matrix Product States

T. Kim¹, P.A. Limacher¹, P.W. Ayers¹, S. Wouters², D. Van Neck²

¹ McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada. kimt33@mcmaster.ca

² Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium.

The matrix product states (MPS) approach is a new method for solving the many-electron Schrödinger equation recently implemented by Wouters *et al* [1]. This method is used to determine the static polarizability and second hyperpolarizability of polyacetylene chains with a fully active π -orbital space. Comparison of various active spaces revealed that the contribution of the active σ -orbitals is significantly less than that of the π -orbitals and thus can be neglected. The polarizabilities of polyacetylene systems ranging up to 16 double bonds were calculated with the finite field method using different basis sets and can now be used as an accurate benchmark for other methods. These results demonstrate for the first time that the benefits of MPS, well studied for small model systems, can be efficiently transferred to real chemical systems of substantial size.



Figure 1: Calculation of second hyperpolarizability for polyacetylene systems using various methods and basis set STO-6G

S. Wouters, P. Limacher, D.V. Neck, P.W. Ayers, Longitudinal static optical properties of hydrogen chains: Finite field extrapolation of matrix product state calculations, J. Chem. Phys. 136, pp. 1341100 (2012).

Constraints on "Rare" Dyon Decays

Sunil Mukhi¹, Rahul Nigam²

¹ Indian Institute of Science Education and Research, Pune, India, sunilmukhi@iiser.ac.in
² BITS-Pilani, Hyderabad Campus, India, nig.rahul@gmail.com

Recent developments have given us a much better understanding of the degeneracy counting formula for 1/4 -BPS dyons in N = 4 string compactifications. This formula has been considerably refined from its original form in Ref. [2] where it was first proposed. One such refinement consists of specifying the integration contour in the degeneracy formula and noting that different contours can lead to different answers for the degeneracy [3]. The effect of varying the integration contours is in the form of discontinuous jumps in the degeneracy whenever the contour crosses a pole in the integration variable and picks up the corresponding residue. This has been interpreted as due to the decay of some 1/4 -BPS dyons into a pair of 1/2 -BPS dyons at curves of marginal stability, which are computed using the BPS mass formula.

Because for large charges, the decaying states are black holes and a mechanism is needed to explain exactly how they decay on curves of marginal stability. The answer turns out to be [4] that 1/4 - BPS black holes (for a given set of charges) exist both in single-centre and multi-centre varieties. For the latter, the separations of the centers are determined by the moduli [5]. If we specialize to two-centered dyons with both centers being 1/2 -BPS, then it was shown in Ref. [4] that as we approach a curve of marginal stability the two centers fly apart to infinity. On the other side of the curve the constraint equation has no solutions. This explains (in principle, though no method is known to explicitly count states of a two-centered black hole) the phenomenon of marginal stability and jumping in the counting formula, in terms of the disintegration of two-centered black holes. It should be noted that the degeneracy of single-centered black holes with the same charges does not vary across moduli space, therefore they exist either everywhere or nowhere.

We briefly review what is known about "rare" marginal decays in N = 4 string compactifications. Then we find precise form for the constraints on moduli space in order for such rare decays to take place. We examine and solve these constraints in a variety of special cases, to give a flavor of what they look like. Then using some known results on T-duality orbits, we will obtain the constraints in the general case [1]. Next we recursively identify the loci of marginal stability for multi-particle decays. Finally we examine the special-geometry formula for generic multi-centered black holes and write it in a form that relates their separations to curves of marginal stability for $n \ge 2$ -body decays.

- [1] S. Mukhi and R. Nigam, Constraints on rare dyon decays, JHEP 12 (2008) 056
- [2] R. Dijkgraaf, E.P. Verlinde and H.L. Verlinde, *Counting dyons in N = 4 string theory*, Nucl.Phys. B 484 (1997) 543
- [3] A. Sen, Walls of marginal stability and dyon spectrum in N = 4 supersymmetric string theories, JHEP 05 (2007) 039
- [4] A. Sen, Black hole entropy function, attractors and precision counting of microstates, arXiv:0708.1270.
- [5] M.C.N. Cheng and E. Verlinde, Dying dyons don't count, JHEP 09 (2007) 070

Investigation of Calcium Chloride Aqueous Solutions/Hexane Interfaces: A Molecular Dynamics Study

N. P. Khiabani^{1,2}, A. Bahramian^{1,2}, M. Soltani³, K. Sarikhani³, M. R. Ejtehadi⁴, P. Pourafshary¹, B. Khalaf¹, P. Chen³

¹ Institute of Petroleum Engineering, P.O. Box 11155-4563, University of Tehran, Iran ,abahram@ut.ac.ir

³ Waterloo Institute for Nanotechnology, University of Waterloo, Waterloo, ON., Canada N2L 3G1, p4chen@uwaterloo.ca

⁴ Department of Physics, Sharif University of Technology, Tehran, Iran

We have used molecular dynamics simulation to investigate hydrophilic/hydrophobic interfaces between calcium chloride aqueous solutions and normal hexane. The experimental and simulation results demonstrate the increasing impact of salt concentration on the liquid/liquid interfacial tension, hence negative adsorption of calcium chloride according to Gibbs addsorption isotherm. Moreover, we calculated the density profiles of hexane, water and the counter ions. The results reveal an electrical double layer near the interface and the less affinity of calcium cations towards the interface than that of chloride anions. Orientation of water molecules results in developing a positively charged interface and, consequently, accumiliation of anions close to charged interface. Our calculations show that the interfacial width decreases by increasing salt concentration. Therefore, consistent with calculated interfacial tension data, aqueous salt solutions are less miscible in normal hexane at higher salt concentrations. Figure 1 shows a typical view of our simulation box, containing water, n-hexane, and salt constituents.



Figure 1: A typical molecular dynamics simulation box.

- [1] S. Supplea; N. Quirke, *Short Range United Atom Potentials for Alkanes: Decane and Nonane*, Molecular Simulation, 29: 2, 77 82 (2003). [2] V. Kalyanasundaram, D. E. Spearot, and A. P. Malshe, *Molecular Dynamics Simulation of Nanoconfinement Induced Organization of n*-
- Decane, Langmuir, 25(13), 7553-7560 (2009).

² Department of Chemical Engineering, University of Tehran, Tehran 11365-4563, Iran, nahidkhiabani@gmail.com

A Discrete Stochastic Model for Pitting Corrosion

P. Van der Weeën¹, J. M. Baetens¹, B. De Baets¹

 ${}^1 {\it KERMIT, Ghent University, Belgium, \{pieter.vanderweeen, jan.baetens, bernard.debaets\}} @ugent.be$

Partial differential equations are generally resorted to for describing spatio-temporal (a)biological processes. Unfortunately, for most partial differential equations only approximate solutions can be found. Furthermore, they make abstraction of spatially explicit relations by assuming mean-field approximations, while their relative simplicity can be largely attributed to the simplifying assumptions under which they were derived. Of course, these shortcomings limit their usefulness for describing real-world phenomena. For these reasons other model types are increasingly explored, further stimulated by the growth of computational power during the last decades. Among these model types, the most promising are cellular automata (CAs) [1]. A CA is a spatio-temporal model based upon a discretized time, space and state domain, while its dynamics are governed by simple, spatially explicit rules. Despite this intrinsic simplicity, CAs are able to evolve complex spatio-temporal patterns. One of the fields where attempts are being made to employ CA-based models is in the field of corrosion [2].

Although many different aspects that influence corrosion, such as film formation, pH, differences in potential and heterogeneous composition of alloys, are being explored and are incorporated into models found in literature, most of them only establish a qualitative resemblance between the simulated model output and the real-world phenomenon, ignoring the importance of a sound model validation that is a prerequisite to have a model with predictive value. Only very recently, a few authors attempted to validate their CA-based model using time series of data, but with modest success. Furthermore, CA-based models in literature are usually two-dimensional, making them unsuited to model the growth of corrosion pits in the direction of the pit depth and surface simultaneously.

We have developed a 3D stochastic CA-based model that describes pitting corrosion and contains five model parameters that regulate the diffusion of the corrosive agent in the solution in which the metal is submerged, the pit initiation and pit propagation. In a first step, a sensitivity analysis of the model parameters is performed to study the importance of the different parameters as well as to optimize the design of the search grid for subsequent parameter optimization. Experimental time series of the number of pits, the affected metal surface area and the average depth of the pits for different concentrations of corrosive agent in the solution are available. These time series are used to parameterize the model and to study the effect of the concentration of the corrosive agent on the parameter estimation. This information can thereafter be used to perform model predictions.

- [1] S. Wolfram, A New Kind of Science, Wolfram Media (2002).
- [2] S. V. Lishchuk, R. Akid, K. Worden and J. Michalski, A cellular automaton model for predicting intergranular corrosion, Corrosion Science, 53, pp. 2518-2526, (2011).

Nonequilibrium Green's function approach to simulations of active photonic nanostructures

J.M. Miloszewski¹, <u>M.S. Wartak²</u>

¹ Department of Physics and Computer Science, Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, jacek.miloszewski@gmail.com
² Department of Physics and Computer Science, Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, mwartak@wlu.ca

A reliable simulation of photonic devices requires good understanding of numerous physical aspects. The analyzed device can be considered as an inhomogeneous system of carriers, that interact with themselves, the lattice and the optical field. While in some situations, the quantum properties of the carriers play crucial role, in others they can be accurately described by classical physics. Commonly used approaches rely on classical models, often called the drift-diffusion approach, see for example [1], [2]. The main attraction of those models is the speed of calculations and the simplicity of incorporating physical effects. They are useful for researchers who need to get quick estimates of the characteristics of a design that is not too dissimilar from current designs. As the dimensions of semiconductor and photonic devices scale down to nano-scale dimensions (of the orders of hundreds of angstroms), kinetic and quantum effects in the carrier transport become crucial for the device's operation.

In those circumstances, more fundamental approaches are necessary. Such approaches treat carriers as quantum many-body system with all possible interactions. The operation of active photonic devices combines electrical transport of carriers along with optical field interacting with those carriers. In those devices spontaneous and stimulated emissions play an important role. To consistently describe spontaneous emission, the light field must also be quantified. The description of such carrier-photon system in principle is described by the many-particle Schroedinger equation.

In the present work we summarize the applications of nonequilibrium Green's function (NEGF) approach to simulations of photonic nanostructures, with the emphasis on active devices [3]. We provide theoretical foundations of simulations of those devices where four types of quasi-particles (electrons, holes, phonons and photons) play an important role in the underlying physics. In this work we do not consider other types of quasi-particles, like excitons or plasmons.

General equations for photon Green's functions and polarizations will be established as well as their coupling to electron Green's functions through self-energies. Series of approximations are done to photon Green's function to allow for efficient numerical approach. All equations will be written in the non-orthogonal basis suitable for numerical calculations. As an example, the theory will be applied to analyze $Al_{0.2}Ga_{0.8}As/GaAs$ quantum well laser with the effective mass Hamiltonian. Major laser characteristics such as material and modal gain, threshold parameters, carrier and current densities are determined.

- Z.-M. Li, *Two-dimensional numerical simulation of semiconductor lasers*, W.P. Huang, ed., Methods for Modeling and Simulation of Guided-Wave Optoelectronic Devices: Part II: waves and Interactions, pp.301-344 (1995).
- B. Witzigmann, A. Witzig and W. Fichtner, A Multidimensional Laser Simulator for Edge-Emitters Including Quantum Carrier Capture, IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 47, pp.1926-1934 (2000).
- [3] J. Miloszewski and M. S. Wartak, Semiconductor laser simulations using non-equilibrium Green's functions, J. Appl. Phys. 111, p. 053104 (2012).

Applications of Dynamical Systems and Differential Equations (CS-DSDE)

Dynamics of a modified Leslie-Gower predator-prey model with Crowley-Martin functional responses and stochastic perturbations

Naamat. Ali¹

¹ Laboratoire de Mathématiques, Image et Applications, University of La Rochelle, France, naamat.ali@univ-lr.fr

Interactions between populations and interactions of the populations with their environment has long been and will continue to be one of the dominant themes in both ecology and mathematical ecology due to its universal existence and importance (see [2]). Therefore mathematical models are important tools that can be used to understand aspects of various processes and to make predictions. In the paper [1], we have proposed and studied the predator-prey model with modified Leslie-Gower and Crowley-Martin functional responses under deterministic environment. We showed that the predator-prey model with Crowley-Martin functional responses has much richer boundary dynamics which includes the possibilities of extinction, permanence, stable or unstable equilibria and limit cycle. These results have important biological implications and indicate different results of the interaction of the predator-prey system.

In fact, population system are often subjet to environmental noise, i.e., due to environmental fluctuations (e.g. variation in intensity of sunlight, temperature, water level, etc.), parameters involved in models are not absolute constants, and they may fluctuate around some average values. Hence stochastic models provide some additional degree of realism compared to their deterministic counterpart. Based on these factors, stochastic population models have received more and more attention.

Therefore, it is interesting and important to consider and study a predator-prey model which incorporates a modified version of the Leslie-Gower with Crowley-Martin functional response and stochastic perturbations

$$\begin{cases} du(t) = u(t) \left(1 - u(t) - \frac{v(t)}{(1 + Au(t) + Bv(t) + ABu(t)v(t))} \right) dt + \alpha u(t) dB_1(t), \\ dv(t) = Cv(t) \left(1 - \frac{Dv(t)}{u(t) + E} \right) dt + \beta v(t) dB_2(t), \end{cases}$$
(1)

where u(t) and v(t) represent the population densities at time t; $B_i(t)$, i = 1, 2 are independent brownian motions and $a_1, a_2, b, c, d, e, f, K, \alpha$ and β are model parameters assuming only positive values.

In this paper, we show the global existence of positive unique solution of the stochastic model (1), this is essential in any population dynamics model. That is, the solution of the system (1) is positive and not to explode in a finite time. And we show some asymptotic properties of the stochastic system (1). Morever, under some sufficient conditions, we conclude that the stochastic model is stochastically persistent in mean and extinct.

- N. Ali and M. Jazar, Global dynamics of a modified Leslie-Gower predator-prey model with Crowley-Martin functional responses. Journal of Applied Mathematic and Computing. pp. 1-23 (2013).
- [2] H.I. Freedman, Deterministic Mathematical Models in Population Ecology. Marcel Dekker, New York, (1980).

Chaotic flow in single phase natural circulation loops

K. Ardaneh, C. Dongsheng¹

¹ Institute of System and Informatics, University of Tsukuba, 305-8573, Japan, { s1330199}@u.tsukuba.ac.jp

In this paper the chaotic oscillations concerning the modeling of a general single phase-flow natural circulation loop are presented. By using a Fourier series expansion of appropriate variables, the conservation equations of mass, momentum, and energy have been modified to Lorenz system of equations. System stability is analyzed by linear theory and critical value for Rayleigh number has been determined. The results show that chaotic oscillations and strange attractor can appear in system by choosing a supercritical value for Rayleigh number.

- K. Ardaneh and S. Zaferanlouei, An analytical solution for thermal-hydraulicanalysis and safety margins in MTR-type research reactors cooled by naturalconvection, Annals of Nuclear Energy, 51, pp. 282–288 (2013).
- [2] K. Ardaneh and S. Zaferanlouei, A lumped parameter core dynamics model for MTR type research reactors under natural convection regime, Annals of Nuclear Energy, 56, pp. 243–250 (2013).
- [3] E. Lorenz, Deterministic nonperiodic flow, Journal of the atmospheric sciences, 20 (2), pp. 130–141 (1963).

Hybrid Fixed Point Theorem For Abstract Measure Delay Integro-Differential Equations

S. Bellale¹, G. Kamble², R. Ingle³

¹ Department of Mathematics, Dayanand Science College, Latur, M. S. India.<Sidhesh.bellale@gmail.com>

² Department of Mathematics, P.E.S College of Engineearing, Aurangabad, M. S. India. <kamblegp.14@gmail.com>

³ Department of Mathematics, B.S.Mahavidhyalaya, Basmat Nagar, Hingoli M.S. India. <ingleraju11@gmail.com>

In this paper, an existence theorem for nonlinear abstract measure delay integro-differential equation is proved via hybrid fixed point theorems of Dhage under the mixed generalised lipschitz and caratheodory conditions the nonlinear alternative of Leray-Schauder type. An existence result of the extremal solution is also proved under certain monotonicity conditions using hybrid fixed point theorem on ordered Banach spaces. This contains Caratheodory as well as discontinuous cases of the nonlinearities involved in the equations. The abstract measure integro-differential equations in which ordinary derivative is replaced by the derivative of set functions namely the Radon-Nokodym derivative of a measure with respect to another measure. The above mentioned papers also include some already known abstract measure differential equations those considered in Sharma, Dhage and Ballale. Our existence results include the results of Sharma, Shendge and Joshi, Dhage and Bellale as a special case under weaker continuity condition.

- [1] B. C. Dhage, D. N. Chate and S. K. Ntouyas, Abstract measure differentialequ ations, Dynamic Systems & Appl. 13 (2004), 105-108.
- [2] B. C. Dhage and S. S. Bellale, Abstract measure integro-differential equations, *Global Jour. Math. Anal.* 1 (1-2) (2007), 91-108.
- [3] B. C. Dhage and S. S. Bellale, Exitence theorem for perturbed Abstract measure differential equations Nonlinear Analysis, *Theory; methods* and Applications" (2008) doi:1016j.na.2008.11.057.
- [4] B. C. Dhage and S. S. Bellale, Local asymptotic stability for Nonlinear quadratic functional equations, Electronic Journal of Qualitative Theory of differential Equations, 2008, No. 1-13."

FEEDBACK STABILIZATION OF IMPULSIVE UNDERACTUATED MECHANICAL SYSTEMS BY USING LYAPUNOV CONSTRAINTS

M. Chaalal¹, N. Achour²

¹ Houari Boumediene University of Sciences and Technology, Algiers, Algeria, <u>chaalalmh@gmail.com</u>

² Houari Boumediene University of Sciences and Technology, Algiers, Algeria, <u>nachour@usthb.dz</u>.

Impulsive underactuated mechanical systems is a class of underactuated mechanical systems constrained by kinematic constraints (holonomic, nonholonomic,...) which induce a discontinuous jumps on its velocities. The stability of such systems poses a great challenges due to the underactuation and to the dynamic change.

In this work we investigate on the feedback stabilization by using Lyapunov constraints that was founded by Grillo et al Ref[1]. The system evolves by two dynamics one before the impulsive effect and the second is after, the model is written in the Lagrangian framework Ref[2]. We impose to the two dynamics an affine kinematic constraints that is Lyapunov constraints, which is equivalent to the asymptotic stability conditions. As a result we prove that the necessary and sufficient conditions for the existence and uniqueness of control law leads to a system of partial differential equations whose solution is the required Lyapunov function, that should be unique and verify the impulsive effect condition.

- [1] S. Grillo and J. Marsden and S. Nair, *Lyapunov constraints and global asymptotic stabilization*, Journal of Geometric Mechanics. **3**, 2, pp. 145-196 (2011).
- [2] A. M. Vershik, *Classical and non-classical dynamics with constraints*, In: Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 1108, pp. 278-301. Springer, Heidelberg (1984).

Control of the Landau–Lifshitz Equation

<u>A. Chow</u>¹, K. Morris²

¹ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, a29chow@uwaterloo.ca

² University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, kmorris@uwaterloo.ca

The Landau–Lifshitz equation,

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{m}}{\partial t} = \mathbf{m} \times \mathbf{m}_{xx} - \mathbf{v} \mathbf{m} \times (\mathbf{m} \times \mathbf{m}_{xx}), \qquad (1)$$

describes the behaviour of magnetization, $\mathbf{m}(x,t) \in \mathbb{R}^3$, inside a magnetic object. An example of such a magnetic object is a nanowire [1]. The subscript notation denotes

$$\mathbf{m}_{xx} = (m_1''(x,t), m_2''(x,t), m_3''(x,t))$$

where the prime represents differentiation with respect to x. The cross product in equation (1) causes nonlinearity, hence making the system difficult to control. Control is further complicated by the presence of hysteresis in magnetization.

It is known [2] that the Landau-Lifshitz equation has an infinite number of stable equilibrium points. A control is desired which moves the system from one equilibrium to another, essentially controlling the behaviour of hysteresis and magnetization. An example of a physical control is an applied magnetic field, such as a nanowire subjected to an external magnetic field [1] which is a mechanism found in nano devices.

The purpose of the control is two–fold: (i) the control causes the initial equilibrium of (1) to no longer be an equilibrium of the controlled system, and (ii) the control ensures the second equilibrium is an asymptotically stable equilibrium point of the controlled system. The former is a simple consequence of adding the control term to (1). The latter is achieved by establishing the existence of a Lyapunov function.

- [1] Carbou, Gilles and Labbé, Stéphane, *Stability for static walls in ferromagnetic nanowires*, Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. Ser. B. **6**, 2, pp. 273-290 (2006).
- [2] Guo, Boling and Ding, Shijin, Landau-Lifshitz Equations, volume 1 in Frontier Of Research with the Chinese Academy of Sciences. World Scientific (2008).

Replicator dynamics vs. agent-based models of Axelrod's norms game

M. Andrews¹, E. Thommes², M.G. Cojocaru³

¹ University of Guelph, Canada mandre04@uoguelph.ca

² University of Guelph, Canada ethommes@uoguelph.ca

³ University of Guelph, Canada mcojocar@uoguelph.ca

We create pure strategy versions of Robert Axelrod's well known norms and metanorms games. To analyze the evolutionary behaviour of these games, we utilize replicator dynamics complemented with agent based model simulations. Our

ndings show that the only evolutionarily stable strategy in the norms game is one in which a player defects and is lenient. This result is derived using classic game theoretical tools, and we conclude that Axelrod's original statement that the norms game always collapses holds. The metanorms game, however, has two evolutionarily stable strategies. The

rst is a repeat from the norms game, that is, a player defects and is always lenient. The other is one in which a player follows the norm and punishes those who are lenient and those who defect. We also shed light on what initial conditions will lead the population of players to certain evolutionarily stable states.

- [1] Axelrod, R., An evolutionary approach to norms, The American Political Science Review, 80(4):1095–1111 (1986).
- [2] Axelrod, R., *The complexity of cooperation. Agent-based models of competition and collaboration*, Princeton University Press (1997).
- [3] Hofbauer, J. and Sigmund, K., Hofbauer, J. and Sigmund, K, Bulletin of the American Mathematical Society, 40(4):479–519 (2003).

A new multi-stage spectral relaxation method for solving chaotic initial value systems

S.S. Motsa¹, <u>P.G. Dlamini²</u>, M. Khumalo³

¹ University of KwaZulu Natal, South Africa, sandilemotsa@gmail.com

² University of Johannesburg, South Africa, phgdlamini@gmail.com

³ University of Johannesburg, South Africa, mkhumalo@uj.ac.za

We present a new pseudo-spectral method application for solving nonlinear initial value problems (IVPs) with chaotic properties. The proposed method, called multi-stage spectral relaxation method (MSRM) is based on a novel technique of extending Gauss-Seidel type relaxation ideas to systems of nonlinear differential equation and using Chebyshev pseudo-spectral methods to solve the resulting system on a sequence of multiple intervals. In this new application the MSRM is used to solve famous chaotic systems such as the such as Lorenz, Chen, Liu, Rikitake, Rössler, Genesio-Tesi and Arneodo-Coullet chaotic systems. The accuracy and validity of the proposed method is tested against Runge-Kutta and Adams-Bashforth-Moulton based methods. The numerical results indicate that the MSRM is an accurate, efficient and reliable method for solving very complex IVPs with chaotic behaviour.

Spectral approach in a 2D variational formulation for swirling flows in ducts with variable radius

F. I. Dragomirescu¹, R. Susan-Resiga¹, S. Muntean²

¹ University "Politehnica" of Timisoara {ioana.dragomirescu@mat.upt.ro

² Romanian Academy Timisoara Branch

In [1] a new method for computing columnar swirling flows (with vanishing radial velocity) was developed using a variational formulation and Fourier-Bessel series approximations for both the streamfunction and the axial velocity profile. The inviscid separation zone as developed when the vortex breakdown occurs was captured using a simplified model corresponding to steady, axisymmetric, incompressible and inviscid swirling flow.

In this paper, we extend this approach in order to include also the radial velocity component and a variable cross section. We modify the functional in order to account for variable wall radius, as well as the flow evolution in the axial direction. The dimensionless flow force can be written

$$F(\psi, y_s) = \int_0^L \int_0^{y_w} (x) \left(\frac{v_m^2}{2} - \frac{c^2(\psi)}{2y} + h(\psi)\right),\tag{1}$$

with $v_m^2 = v_x^2 + v_y^2$ the mean velocity, v_x the axial component of the velocity and v_y the radial one, *c*- the circulation, *h* is the specific energy, ψ represents the streamfunction, y_w the radial extent of the cross-section at runner outlet.

In order to solve the resulting constrained variational problem for the streamfunction a Fourier-Bessel representation of the axial profile at the runner outlet was consider. The numerical algorithm for the 2D case will include the radial velocity as well. The results of the integration in the radial direction can be analytically provided and for the axial direction a finite difference scheme is used providing also the coupling between the cross-sections trough the variable radius duct. The obtained velocity profiles are compared to the ones of the numerical simulation providing an acceptable agreement.

Then we formulate a conclusion on the use of a 2D axi-symmetric model instead of the full 3D flow simulation, with huge savings in both computing time and resources.

- [1] Susan-Resiga, R. F., Muntean, S., Avellan, F., Anton, I., *Mathematical modelling of swirling flow in hydraulic turbines for the full operating range*, APPL MATH MODEL, 35, 10, 4759-4773, 2011.
- [2] Susan-Resiga, R.F., Ciocan, G.D., Anton, I., Avellan, F., Analysis of the Swirling Flow Downstream a Francis Turbine Runner, J. Fluids Eng., 128(1), 2006, 177-189.
- [3] Dragomirescu, F.I., R. Susan-resiga, Muntean, S., *Efficient Spectral Solvers for Swirling Flows Stability Problems*, presented at GAMM, NoviSad, March, 18-22, 2013.

Analytical Integration of the Osculating Lagrange Planetary Equations in the Elliptic Orbital Motion

D. Hautesserres¹

¹ Centre National d'Etudes Spatiales, France, denis.hautesserres@cnes.fr, denis.hautesserres@gmail.com

In the field of orbital motion perturbation methods, a half century of works has produced a lot of analytical theories. These theories are either based on Hamiltonian developments and series expansions of the perturbing functions (Von-Zeipel, Brouwer, Lie-Deprit), or use iterative approximation algorithms (Kozai, Kaula). The differential system of the Lagrange planetary equations has also been solved using Cook's algorithm. Generally speaking, analytical theories have difficulties to deal with high eccentric satellite orbits, due to series expansions or due to the large number of terms in closed forms. The present work comes back to the original Lagrange planetary equations. One more time, the restricted three-body problem for an high eccentric satellite orbit is solved. It is a simple method intellectually efficient to analyse each effect of the Sun and of the Moon over one orbital period. Moreover, a long duration simulation allows to observe the secular effects on the orbital parameters. The goal of this paper is to solve the restricted three-body problem with a semi-analytical method accurate enough to deal with any high eccentric satellite orbit around an oblateness central body and perturbed by a third body. Osculating Lagrange planetary equations where the second members are the partial derivatives of simplified potentials of the Earth (J2), the Sun, the Moon and the direct Solar Radiation Pressure are solved in a quasi-inertial frame. Each numerical step of the algorithm provides the position of the third body thanks to Newcomb and Brown theories. First of all, the equations of the differential system are translated in osculating keplerian elements and the integration is formulated like in the Kozai's method [1]. Then each second member of each equation is integrated in a symbolic way with the software *Mathematica*, this is a major point. Another major point is the control of the constants of the elliptic characteristic functions of the integration. The semi-analytical algorithm and the equation of time are detailed. Finally, the results of the method for solar and lunar effects on a Geostationary Transfer Orbit, a High Elliptic Orbit and for an eccentric Mean Earth Orbit are provided. Each computation, as a non-optimized mock-up, leads to more precise qualitative results than precise ones. As a conclusion, the high eccentric satellite orbit has been solved in an analytical way, but also as educational.

Without symbolic calculator this work would have been very difficult, moreover it would not have been. For example a simple integral of the 62 computed integrals:

$$\int \frac{1}{(1+e\cos(v))^4} dv = \frac{1}{6} \left(\frac{(e\sin(v)(8e^4 + (4e^2 + 11)e^2\cos(2v) + 6(e^2 + 9)e\cos(v) + e^2 + 36))}{(2(e-1)^3(e+1)^3(e\cos(v) + 1)^3)} - \frac{6(3e^2 + 2)\tanh^{-1}(\frac{(e-1)\tan(\frac{v}{2})}{\sqrt{e^2 - 1}})}{(e^2 - 1)^{\frac{7}{2}}} \right) + constant$$

References

[1] Y. Kozai, The motion of a close Earth satellite, The Astronomical Journal, pp. 367-377 (1959 November).

Nutrient transport through heterogeneous soil medium

<u>A. Kumar¹</u>, R. R. Yadav²

¹ Department of Mathematics & Astronomy, University of Lucknow, Lucknow, Inida, {atul.tusaar}@gmail.com

² Department of Mathematics & Astronomy, University of Lucknow, Lucknow, Inida, yadav_rr2@yahoo.co.in

Analytical solutions are obtained for conservative nutrient transport in a one-dimensional semi-infinite heterogeneous porous domain. The nutrient dispersion parameter is considered uniform while the seepage flow velocity is considered spatially or position dependent. Retardation factor is also considered and taken inversely proportional to square of the flow velocity. The seepage flow velocity is considered inversely proportional to the position or spatially dependent function. The solution is derived for two cases: former one is for uniform pulse type input point source and latter is for varying pulse type input point source. The second condition is considered at the far end of the medium. It is of second type (flux type) of homogeneous nature. In both cases initially domain is not nutrient free. Laplace Transform Technique is used to get the analytical solutions of the present problem. In the process a new space variable is introduced. The solutions are graphically illustrated. The effects of heterogeneity of the medium, on the nutrient transport behaviour, in the presence of the source and in the absence of the source, are also studied.
Collision properties of solitary waves for the Gardner equation

Abdus Sattar Mia

University of Saskatchewan, Canada, sattar_ju@yahoo.com

We study the physical and collision properties of the combined KdV-mKdV solitons given by the Gardner equation which posses a single soliton solution characterized by a *sech* profile with a speed c > -3/2 and a constant frequency. We make a physical form of the 2-soliton solution where the fast soliton moves with speed c_1 and the slow soliton moves with speed c_2 . In the collision described by the 2-soliton solution, the solitary waves preserve their shapes and speeds, but undergo a shift in position where the fast soliton overtakes the slow soliton if their speeds have same direction, and two solitons cross head-on if the speeds have opposite direction. For a collision there exists three different types of interaction (bounce-exchange, merge-split, absorb-emit) which depend on the relative ratio of speeds c_1/c_2 and the relative orientation of the two solitary waves.

Stability in a distributed delay differential equation

Israel Ncube¹, S.A. Campbell²

¹ Memorial University, Corner Brook, Canada, incube@grenfell.mun.ca

² University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, sacampbell@uwaterloo.ca

The subject of the talk is the asymptotic stability analysis of the trivial equilibrium of a scalar and linear delay differential equation with two (infinite) distributed delays characterised by general delay kernels, and given by

$$x'(t) = -x(t) + \alpha \int_0^\infty x(t-\tau)g_\alpha(\tau)d\tau + \beta \int_0^\infty x(t-\tau)g_\beta(\tau)d\tau , \qquad (1)$$

where $\tau \in \mathbb{R}^+$ is a distributed delay, $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$, and g_{α}, g_{β} are general time-delay kernels. Such equations occur as the linearisation about an equilibrium point for models with two feedback loops. The delay kernels are non-negative bounded functions defined on $[0, \infty)$. Assuming that the presence of distributed delay does not affect the equilibrium values, we normalise the kernels so that

$$\int_0^\infty g_\alpha(s)ds = 1 = \int_0^\infty g_\beta(s)ds \,. \tag{2}$$

The characteristic equation of (1) at the trivial equilibrium $x^* = 0$ is given by

$$D(\lambda) = \lambda + 1 - \alpha \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda \tau} g_\alpha(\tau) d\tau - \beta \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda \tau} g_\beta(\tau) d\tau = 0, \qquad (3)$$

where $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ is the characteristic exponent. The continuous extension at $\lambda = 0$ is $D(0) = 1 - \alpha - \beta$. In this presentation, we shall develop a variety of results to characterise the stability region of (1) in the (α, β) -parameter space. The results are based on the exact analysis of the characteristic equation (3) of the delay differential equation (1).

Stability Analysis of a Human-Phlebotomus Papatasi-Rodent Epidemic Model

Schehrazad Selmane

LIFORCE. Faculty of Mathematics. USTHB, Algeria, cselmane@usthb.dz

Cutaneous leishmaniasis, also called Biskra button, represents a serious public health problem in Algeria. In the aim to understand the transmission dynamics of cutaneous leishmaniasis in the human-Phlebotomus papatasirodent cycle, and to improve the preventive strategies set up in Algeria, we developed a deterministic model. The model includes an incidental host for human which acts only as a sink of infection, a primary reservoir host for rodent which acts as a source and a sink of infection, and a secondary reservoir host for Phlebotomus papatasi which have a role in transmission by acting as the liaison between incidental host and primary reservoir. The global stability of the equilibria of the proposed model shows that the threshold conditions for disease persistence, are completely determined by the reproduction number, and do not explicitly include parameters relating to the dynamic transmission in the incidental hosts, which means that the disease becomes endemic if it persists endemically in the primary reservoir hosts, and therefore the control measures should be directed towards reservoir hosts. This is illustrated via numerical simulations of the model using parameters generated from data from Biskra-Algeria.

- C. Castillo-Chavez, Z. Feng, W. Huang, On the computation Ro and its role on global stability. In: Castillo-Chavez C., Blower, S., van den Driesschie, Kirschner, D. and Yakubu, A.A. (Eds.). Mathematical Approaches for Emerging and Reemerging Infectious Diseases: An Introduction, IMA Volumes in Mathematics and its Applications, Springer, 125: 229-250 (2002).
- [2] L. F. Chaves, M. J. Hernandez, A. P. Dobson, M. Pascual, Sources and sinks: revisiting the criteria for identifying reservoirs for American cutaneous leishmaniasis, Trends Parasitol 23:311 (2007).
- [3] Relevé épidémiologique mensuel, Institut national de la santé publique (INSP). URL: http://www.ands.dz/insp/rem html.
- [4] Control of the leishmaniasis : report of a meeting of the WHO Expert Committee on the Control of Leishmaniases, Geneva, 22-26 March 2010. (WHO technical report series ; no. 949)

Scattering states of a particle, with position-dependent mass, in semiconductor double heterojunction

Anjana Sinha¹

¹ Department of Instrumentation Science, Jadavpur University, Kolkata - 700 032, India, anjana23@rediffmail.com

Treating particles with position dependent effective mass (PDEM) because of varying doping concentration in semiconductor devices of extremely small dimensions, is found to give better explanation to observed phenomena. Such formalism is extremely important in describing the electronic and transport properties of quantum wells and quantum dots, impurities in crystals, He-clusters, quantum liquids, semiconductor heterostructures, etc. If a sufficiently thin layer of a narrower (wider) bandgap material is sandwiched between two layers of a wider (narrower) bandgap material, they form a double heterojunction, called a single quantum well (barrier).

On the other hand, PT symmetric waveguides fabricated from iron-doped LiNbO₃ are now a reality. Such non Hermitian quantum systems with space-time (PT) symmetry, show peculiar properties unknown to Hermitian ones — e.g., real and discrete spectrum under certain conditions, violation of Fresnel's Law of Bragg scattering, double refraction, power oscillations, non-reciprocal diffraction, handedness or left-right asymmetry, anomalous transport, unidirectional invisibility, etc. Additionally, they admit exceptional points (EP) in the discrete spectrum, when real energy switches to complex conjugate pair, and spectral singularities (SS) in the continuous spectrum, where reflection and transmission coefficients blow up, etc.

We shall present exact analytical results for the scattering states of a particle with PDEM, inside a single quantum well/barrier, for Hermitian and non Hermitian potentials. Exact analytical results are important for conceptual understanding of physics, providing a valuable platform for checking and improving approximate models and numerical results, in various areas of material science and condensed matter. In particular, we consider the model

$$V = V_R(z) + iV_I(z), \qquad m = m(z) \qquad , \qquad a_1 < z < a_2 V = V_{01} = V_R(a_1), \qquad m = m_1 = m(a_1), \qquad -\infty < z < a_1 V = V_{02} = V_R(a_2), \qquad m = m_2 = m(a_2), \qquad a_2 < z < \infty$$
(1)

where a_1 and a_2 represent the heterojunctions. For Hermitian systems, $V_I(z) = 0$.

We observe that for both Hermitian and non Hermitian cases, PDEM introduces a non linear component in the otherwise plane wave solutions. The reflection and transmission amplitudes, R and T respectively, are observed to display a characteristic behaviour — with increasing energy, $|T|^2$ increases, finally reaching unity, whereas $|R|^2$ follows the reverse trend and goes to zero. In case of non Hermitian *PT* symmetric quantum systems, it is observed that at least two of the general features of such potentials — viz., left-right asymmetry and blowing up of |R| and |T| at *SS* — are preserved even for particles with PDEM. The findings are plotted in a series of graphs.

This simple model gives an insight into the basic physics of the electronic properties of a double heterojunction semiconductor device with PDEM. Actual materials require a more rigorous approach, to be taken up shortly.

- [1] A. Sinha, Scattering states of a particle, with position-dependent mass, in a double heterojunction, in EPL 96, 20008 -6 pp (2011).
- [2] A. Sinha, Scattering states of a particle, with position-dependent mass, in a PT-symmetric heterojunction, in J. Phys. A : Math. and Theor. 45 185305 11 pp (2012).

Retention of Eventual Stability of Invariant Sets of Impulsive Differential Systems

Anju Sood¹, Sanjay K. Srivastava²

¹ Department Applied Sciences, Discipline Mathematics, Rayat Bahra College of Engineering and Nano Technology for Women, Hohiarpur, Punjab India, anjusood36@yahoo.com

² Department Applied Sciences, Discipline Mathematics, Beant College of Engineering and Technology, Gurdaspur, Punjab, India, sks64_bcet@yahoo.co.in

ABSTRACT: Consideration is given to a system of differential equation with impulsive action at fixed time instants and perturbed right hand sides[7]. In [1] and [2], criteria have been obtained for retention of uniform asymptotic stability of invariant set of impulsive differntial systems, under vanishing perurbations. In [3], [4], [5] and [6], the notion of eventual stability has been introduced for impulsive systems of differential equations and results for uniform eventual stability , asymptotic eventual stability have been given for perturbed and non perturbed systems. In our paper, the work of R.I. Gladilina and A.O. Ignat'ev[1] and [2] has been extended and criteria for retention of eventual stability of invariant set of a non linear system of impulsive differential equations with impulse action at fixed time instants have been obtained by using piecewise continuous Lyapunov functions. It is assumed that the system has an invariant set M. Two theorems have been proved. An example is also given to support the theoretical result.

Keywords: Invariant Sets, Eventual stability, Piecewise continuous Lyapunov Functions.

References

- R. I. Gladilina and A.O. Ignat'ev, Necessary and Sufficient Conditions for Invariant Sets of Non Linear Impulsive Systems, International Applied Mechanics, 44(2), pp.-228-237(2008)
- [2] R.I. Gladilina and A. O. Ignat'ev, On Retention of Impulsive System Stability under Perturbations, Automation and Remote Control, 68(8), pp. 1364-1371(2007)
- [3] Yu Zhang, Jitao Sun, Eventual stability of Impulsive Differential Systems, Acta Mathematica Scientia, 27B (2), pp. 373-380(2007).
- [4] A. Soliman, Stability Criteria of Impulsive Differential Systems, Applied Mathematics and Computation 134, pp. 445-457(2003).
- [5] A. A. Soliman, On Stability of Perturbed Impulsive Differential Systems, Applied Mathematics and Computation 133(2002) 105-117.
- [6] A.A. Soliman, On Eventual Stability of Impulsive Systems of Differential Equations, International Journal of Mathematics and Mathematical Sciences, 27(8), pp. 485-494(2001)

[7] V. Lakshmikantham, D. D. Bainov and P. S. Simeonov," *Theory of Impulsive Differential Equations*" World Scientific, Singepore / New Jersey /London, 1989.

Equivalence of the MTS Method and CMR Method for Delay Differential Equations

<u>P. Yu¹</u>

¹ Western University, London, Canada, pyu@uwo.ca

It is important to compute normal forms of differential equations in the study of nonlinear dynamical systems, which is particularly difficult and tedious for higher-dimensional and higher-order systems. The center manifold reduction (CMR) [1] and multiple time scales (MTS, or simply multiple scales (MS)) [2] are two useful techniques for computing the normal forms of differential equations. For differential systems involving time delays, the computation of normal forms is more complicated and time consuming, compared to that of ordinary differential equations. For delay differential equations (DDEs), the CMR method is usually applied to compute normal forms [3]. Recently, the MTS method has also been directly applied to DDEs for computing normal forms and shown to be simpler than the CMR method [4, 5, 6, 7]. In order to show the equivalence of the two methods, researchers usually apply the two methods to a particular system to obtain two sets of normal forms, and then compare them. If they are identical, then the two methods are proved to be equivalent. This is not only time consuming, but also easy to make mistakes.

In this talk, we will show the equivalence of the MTS method and the CMR method in computing the normal forms of DDEs. The equations considered include general delay differential equations (DDE), neutral functional differential equations (NFDE) (or neutral delay differential equations (NDDE)), and partial functional differential equations (PFDE). The delays involved in these equations can be discrete or distributed. Particular attention is focused on dynamics associated with the semisimple singularity, and both the MTS and CMR methods are applied to compute the normal forms near the semisimple singular point. The two methods are proved to be equivalent in computing the normal forms of these differential equations with delays, at least up to a reasonable order which is enough in real applications. It is shown that the computation of using the MTS method is simpler than that of the CMR method. Different types of practical examples with delays are presented to demonstrate the application of the theoretical results, associated with Hopf [5], Hopf-zero [6], and double-Hopf [7] singularities.

- [1] J. Carr, Applications of Center Manifold Theory, Springer-Verlag, New York (1981).
- [2] P. Yu, Computation of the normal forms via a perturbation technique, J. Sound and Vibration 211, 1, pp. 19-38 (1998).
- [3] T. Faria, T. and L. Magalhães, Normal forms for retarded functional differential equation with parameters and applications to Hopf bifurcation, J. Diff. Eqns. 122, pp. 181-200 (1995).
- [4] A. H. Nayfeh, Order reduction of retarded nonlinear systems-the method of multiple scales versus center-manifold reduction, Nonlinear Dyn. 51, pp. 483-500 (2008).
- [5] C. Wang and J. Wei, *Hopf bifurcation for neutral functional differential equations*, Nonlinear Anal. Real World Appl. 11, pp. 1269-1277 (2010).
- [6] Y. Ding, W. Jiang and P. Yu, Hopf-zero bifurcation in a generalized Gopalsamy neural network model, Nonlinear Dyn. 70, pp. 1037-1050 (2012).
- [7] Y. Ding, W. Jiang and P. Yu, *Double Hopf bifurcation in delayed Van der Pol-Duffing equation*, Int. J. Bifurcation & Chaos, 23, 1, 1350014 (2013) (15 pages).

Financial Mathematics and Computation (CS-FINANCE)

Pricing and Hedging Index Options with a Dominant Constituent Stock

H. Cheyne¹, M. Davison²

¹ University of Western Ontario, London, Canada, hcheyne@uwo.ca

² University of Western Ontario, London, Canada, mdavison@uwo.ca

In this paper, we examine the pricing and hedging of an index option where one constituent stock plays an overly dominant role in the index. Under a Geometric Brownian Motion assumption we compare the distribution of the relative value of the index if the dominant stock is modeled separately from the rest of the index (see Eq. 1), or not (see Eq. 2). The former is equivalent to the relative index value being distributed as the sum of two lognormal random variables

$$Y = c_1 e^{Z_1} + c_2 e^{Z_2}, \text{ where } Z_i \sim \mathcal{N}(\mu_i, \sigma_i), i = 1, 2$$

$$\tag{1}$$

and the latter is distributed as a single lognormal random variable

$$X = c_3 e^{Z_3}$$
, where $Z_i \sim \mathcal{N}(\mu_i, \sigma_i)$, $i = 3$. (2)

Since $X \neq Y$ in distribution, with Y having fatter tails, we compare the two models. The validity of this theoretical result is verified against empirical stock market data. We look at two main models representing these cases: first, we use numerical methods to solve the two dimensional problem directly (see Eq. 3); second, we make simplifying assumptions (see Eq. 4) to reduce the two dimensional Black-Scholes problem to a one dimensional Black-Scholes problem that can be solved analytically (see Eq. 5). The two dimensional PDE for V(A,B,t) is

$$V_t + \frac{1}{2}\sigma_A^2 A^2 V_{AA} + \rho \sigma_A \sigma_B A B V_{AB} + \frac{1}{2}\sigma_B^2 B^2 V_{BB} + rA V_A + rB V_B - rV = 0$$
(3)

with the terminal condition $V(A, B, T) = (K - A + B)^+$, where A is the dominant stock and B is the rest of the index. So our simplifying assumption is that

$$V_{AA} = V_{AB} = V_{BB} = V_{II} \text{ and } V_A = V_B = V_I$$

$$\tag{4}$$

from I = A + B, so we let $\alpha = \frac{A}{A+B}$ to reduce the full PDE (see Eq. 3) to the one dimensional PDE for V(I,t)

$$V_t + \frac{1}{2}(\sigma^*)^2 V_{II} + rIV_I - rV = 0 \text{ where } (\sigma^*)^2 = \sigma_A^2 \alpha^2 + 2\rho \sigma_A \sigma_B \alpha (1-\alpha) + \sigma_B^2 (1-\alpha)^2$$
(5)

with terminal condition $V(I,T) = (K-I)^+$.

Since the terminal conditions are non-smooth the numerical methods are verified by comparison with a related Margrabe exchange option, a two dimensional option with a true analytic solution.

Attributes of the models that we compare are the relative option price differences, expected hedging profits, and computation time and complexity. For different levels of α , one model will be superior to the other and we will make recommendations for when to use each model for effective and accurate pricing and hedging.

This work is significant in options trading because when a stock becomes dominant in its index the distribution of the returns changes. Even if the effect is small, given the millions of dollars exposed to index option trades, it has a material impact.

Weather Derivatives with Applications to Canadian Data

K. Cui¹, A. Swishchuk²

¹ University of Calgary, Calgary, Canada, kacui@ucalgary.ca
 ² University of Calgary, Calgary, Canada, aswish@ucalgary.ca

We applied two daily average temperature models to Canadian cities data and derived their derivative pricing applications. The first model is characterized by mean-reverting Ornstein-Uhlenbeck process driven by general Lévy process with seasonal mean and volatility. As an extension to the first model, Continuous Autoregressive (CAR) model driven by Lévy process is also considered and calibrated to Canadian data. It is empirically proved that the proposed dynamics fitted Calgary and Toronto temperature data successfully. These models are also applied to derivation of an explicit price of CAT futures, and numerical prices of CDD and HDD futures using fast Fourier transform. The novelty of this paper lies in the applications of daily average temperature models to Canadian cities data and CAR model driven by Lévy process, futures pricing of CDD and HDD indices.

- [1] A. Swishchuk and K. Cui, *Weather Derivatives with Applications to Canadian Data*, Journal of Mathematical Finance, 3(1), pp. 81-95 (2013).
- [2] F. E. Benth and J. Šaltytė-Benth, *The normal inverse Gaussian distribution and spot price modelling in energy markets*, International Journal Theoretical Applied Finance, 7(2), pp. 177-192 (2004).
- [3] F. E. Benth and J. Šaltytė-Benth, *Stochastic modelling of temperature variations with a view towards weather derivatives*, Applied Mathematical Finance, 12(1), pp. 53-85 (2005).
- [4] F. E. Benth and J. Šaltytė-Benth, *The volatility of temperature and pricing of weather derivatives*, Quantitative Finance, 7(5), pp. 553-561 (2007).

Fast pricing of discretely monitored exotic options using the Spitzer identity and Wiener-Hopf factorization

Gianluca Fusai^{1,2,3}, <u>Guido Germano</u>^{1,4,5}, Daniele Marazzina⁶

¹ Università del Piemonte Orientale, Novara, Italy, gianluca.fusai@unipmn.it

² Università Commerciale Luigi Bocconi, Milano, Italy, gianluca.fusai@unibocconi.it

³ Cass Business School, City University London, UK, gianluca.fusai.1@city.ac.uk

⁴ Philipps-Universität Marburg, Germany, guido.germano@uni-marburg.de

⁵ Scuola Normale Superiore, Pisa, Italy, guido.germano@sns.it

⁶ Politecnico di Milano, Italy, daniele.marazzina@polimi.it

The application of transform techniques to price derivative contracts is rather recent. One of the first and most important contribution is probably the article by Carr and Madan [1], where the authors show how to price European options exploiting the fast Fourier transform. Similar techniques were developed later for path-dependent derivatives [2, 3, 4]. Here we present fast and accurate algorithms based on the Spitzer identity and the Wiener-Hopf factorization to price barrier, lookback (or hindight), and quantile options when the underlying asset evolves as an exponential Lévy process and the monitoring is done at discrete time intervals.

Our fast numerical methods have a computational cost independent on the number of monitoring dates, thanks to the z-transform approach combined with the Euler summation [5, 6]. The error decays exponentially with respect to the number of discretization points, except for double-barrier options, where the decaying is quadratic, thanks to computing the required factorizations or decompositions functions with a numerical implementation of the Hilbert transform based on fast Fourier transforms and sinc functions [7]. The proposed algorithms are based on the Spitzer identity [8], an important result regarding the distribution of the discrete extrema for a process with independent and identically distributed increments, like the considered Lévy processes. Spitzer provides a closed formula for the z-transform of the characteristic function of the extrema on a grid. Even if the Spitzer identity has already been used in option pricing [3, 9, 10], according to our knowledge this is the first work where its application and its efficient numerical implementation to a general Lévy process is presented.

- [1] P. Carr and D. Madan, "Option valuation using the fast Fourier transform," *Journal of Computational Finance*, vol. 2, pp. 61–73, 1998.
- [2] L. Feng and V. Linetsky, "Pricing discretely monitored barrier options and defaultable bonds in Lévy process models: a Hilbert transform approach," *Mathematical Finance*, vol. 18, pp. 337–384, 2008.
- [3] R. Green, G. Fusai, and I. D. Abrahams, "The Wiener-Hopf technique and discretely monitored path-dependent option pricing," *Mathematical Finance*, vol. 20, pp. 259–288, 2010.
- [4] D. Marazzina, G. Fusai, and G. Germano, "Pricing credit derivatives in a Wiener-Hopf framework," in *Topics in Numerical Methods for Finance* (M. Cummins, F. Murphy, and J. J. H. Miller, eds.), (New York), pp. 139–154, Springer Science+Business Media, 2012. Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics, vol. 19.
- [5] G. Fusai, D. Marazzina, and M. Marena, "Pricing discretely monitored Asian options by maturity randomization," *SIAM Journal on Financial Mathematics*, 2011. In press.
- [6] G. Fusai, D. Marazzina, M. Marena, and M. Ng, "Z-transform and preconditioning techniques for option pricing," *Quantitative Finance*, vol. 12, pp. 1381–1394, 2012.
- [7] F. Stenger, Handbook of Sinc Numerical Methods. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press / Chapman & Hall (Taylor & Francis Group), 2011.
- [8] F. Spitzer, "A combinatorial lemma and its application to probability theory," *Transactions of the American Mathematical Society*, vol. 82, no. 2, pp. 323–339, 1956.
- [9] C. Atkinson and G. Fusai, "Discrete extrema of Brownian motion and pricing of exotic options," *Journal of Computational Finance*, vol. 10, no. 3, p. 1, 2007.
- [10] A. Lewis and E. Mordecki, "Wiener-Hopf factorization for Lévy processes having positive jumps with rational transforms," *Journal of Applied Probability*, vol. 45, no. 1, pp. 118–134, 2008.

Valuation of the Peterborough Prison Bond

M. Hasan¹, M. Reesor²

¹Western University, London, Canada, mhasan48@uwo.ca

² Western University, London, Canada, mreesor @uwo.ca

Social Impact Bonds (SIBs) are an innovative financing vehicle that aims to mobilize private capital for social programs. Private and philanthropic investors pay for preventive social interventions, which have the potential to save government money on its future expenditures, and if certain social outcomes are achieved part of the government's savings is paid to the SIB investors. As a result, investors earn a blended social and financial return that is uncorrelated with the financial market; government reduces its risk of spending tax-payers money on unsuccessful projects; social service providers get the needed cash upfront; and the society at large benefits as overall quality of life improves.

The first SIB was issued in the UK in 2010 to reduce recidivism among adult male prisoners serving short term sentences in the Peterborough Prison (see Ref. [1]). It raised £5 million of investment funding to provide rehabilitation services to three cohorts of 1000 prisoners each. Payouts will be proportional to the reconviction rate if the rate drops by at least 10% for a single cohort, or by 7.5% for all three cohorts combined, and with a cap on the total payout.

Most of the literature on the SIBs so far has been focused on the opportunities, challenges, and the related policy issues (see Ref. [1,2]), and little effort has been made to provide a mathematical framework to determine a fair price for such instruments. However, for SIBs to become a publicly traded security, such a framework is necessary to allow investors to compare its risk and return characteristics with other securities. Here, we aim to provide such a pricing framework.

We rely on the incomplete market pricing methodologies as the underlying risky asset (recidivism rate) is not traded, and the SIB cannot be hedged perfectly. We choose indifference pricing and the Wang transfrom (see Ref. [3]) as pricing methodologies. A model for the recidivism rate of the Peterborough Prison cohorts is obtained by fitting the skew normal and the beta distributions to a weighted histogram of the outcomes of past prison rehabilitation programs, while adjusting for the differences between these programs. The fair value of the bond is then determined by adjusting for both the risk present in the bond's payout, and the ambiguity associated with the mathematical model for the underlying reconviction rate. Sensitivity of the bond price to the relevant parameters is discussed. Effect of the social impact of the bond on the fair price is also studied from the perspective of a socially responsible investor – one who would be willing to trade off financial return for social impact. Results suggest that indifference pricing with the skew-normal distribution is the most flexible pricing mechanism, and that the bond is a high risk, high yield instrument, with the ambiguity in the model for the reconviction rate being the most significant source of uncertainty.

- [1] Disley, Emma, et al., Lessons learned from the planning and early implementation of the Social Impact Bond at HMP Peterborough, Research Series 5, 11, (2011).
- [2] C. Fox and K. Albertson, Payment by results and social impact bonds in the criminal justice sector: New challenges for the concept of evidence-based policy?, Criminology and Criminal Justice 11, 5, pp. 391-413 (2011).
- [3] S. Wang, A universi framework from pricing financial and insurance risks, Astin Bulletin 32, 2, pp. 213-234 (2002).

Basket Option Pricing with Lévy Processes using the Mellin Transform

D. Manuge¹

¹ University of Guelph, Guelph, Canada, dmanuge@uoguelph.ca

The shortest path between two truths in the real domain passes through the complex domain. -Jacques Hadamard

An option is a financial security that presents its holder with the right, not the obligation, to purchase a given amount of an underlying asset at some future date. With global issuance of 24.9 billion contracts annually, proper valuation is a significant concern among institutional, governmental, and personal traders who use options to invest or mitigate risk by hedging. The objective of option pricing theory is to obtain models that accurately portray empirical features of option prices while subject to general assumptions that govern financial markets.

Since Black and Scholes seminal paper in 1973, the study of option pricing has invoked tremendous academic and industrial interest [1]. However, the Black-Scholes framework requires certain improvements, since it fails to account for non-constant volatility and the empirical observation that log-returns of assets are not normally distributed, but instead exhibit significant skewness, kurtosis, and bear the ability to change discontinuously. This led to the representation of stochastic volatility as a Lévy process; a random process with independent, stationary, and stochastically continuous increments [2]. Due to their general construct and obedience of observed regularities, we choose to study option pricing models governed by Lévy processes.

Following recent methods introduced by Panini and Srivastav, we employ the Mellin transform as a tool for obtaining analytical solutions to the option valuation problem [3]. For a function $f(x) \in \mathscr{R}^+$, the Mellin transform is defined as the complex function,

$$\mathscr{M}\{f(x);s\} = f^*(s) = \int_0^\infty f(x)x^{s-1}dx$$
(1)

where $s \in \mathscr{C}$ is defined on a vertical strip of analyticity in the complex domain. Using this integral transform, closed-form solutions have been obtained for Asian, European, European Power, European Basket (for n = 2 underlying assets), and European options driven by Lévy processes. Analytical approximations exist for American options with and without assets driven by a Lévy process, however no closed-form solutions exist (by any method).

By harnessing the Mellin transform, we obtain analytical approximations to European and American options with *n* underlying assets (i.e. basket options) driven by Lévy processes. As a corollary, we generalize previous results by providing solutions for non-Lévy-driven n > 2 European and American basket options. For all cases, numerically fast solutions are presented by exploiting the relationship between the Mellin and Fourier transform. Using these formulas, we compute implied option prices for historical foreign exchange rates of major currencies.

- [1] F. Black and M. Scholes, The Pricing of Options and Corporate Liabilities, Pol. Econ. 81, 3, pp. 637-654 (1973).
- [2] P. Carr, H. Geman, D.B. Madan, and M. Yor, Stochastic Volatility for Lévy Processes, Math. Fin. 13, 3, pp. 345-382 (2003).
- [3] R. Panini and R.P. Srivastav, Option pricing with Mellin transforms, Math. Comp. Mod. 40, 1-2, pp. 43-56 (2004).

Investigating the Market Price of Volatility Risk for Options in a Regime-Switching Market

<u>M. Mielkie¹</u>, M. Davison²

¹ Department of Applied Mathematics, The University of Western Ontario, London, Canada, mmielkie@uwo.ca
 ² Departments of Applied Mathematics and Statistical & Actuarial Sciences, Richard Ivey School of Business, The University of Western Ontario, London, Canada, mdavison@uwo.ca

Previous investigations [1] have shown that a non-zero market price of risk is consistent with market data, by quantifying the relationship between implied and realized volatility. To bridge the gap between theoretical option pricing models and observed option prices, it is necessary to price the volatility risk inherent in financial markets. Assuming a random volatility process can be well modelled by shifts between high and low regimes, pricing equations for European options, $C^H(S,t)$ and $C^L(S,t)$, are derived where $C^H(S,t)$ (resp. $C^L(S,t)$) denotes the option price conditional on the stock price process being in a high (resp. low) volatility regime. The state-dependent market prices of volatility risk, $m_H(S,t)$ and $m_L(S,t)$, arise in our coupled pricing equations from the typical contract independence assumption.

$$\frac{\partial C^{i}}{\partial t}(S,t) + \frac{1}{2}\sigma_{i}^{2}S^{2}\frac{\partial^{2}C^{i}}{\partial S^{2}}(S,t) + rS\frac{\partial C^{i}}{\partial S}(S,t) - rC^{i}(S,t) + \left(\lambda_{j} - m_{i}(S,t)\right)\left(C^{j}(S,t) - C^{i}(S,t)\right) = 0, \quad (1)$$

where $i \in \{H, L\}$ and $i \neq j$.

For risk-neutral traders whose market price of risk is zero, our coupled system of equations reduces to Boyle and Draviam's result [4]. Both directly from our pricing equations and building upon previous work by Mielkie and Davison [2] in which an approximate solution for equation (1) was derived, we analyse the impact of the market price of volatility risk on theoretical option prices. We prove that financially reasonable results are only obtained when the market price of volatility risk takes values restricted to a certain set. In particular, we show that negative state-dependent market prices of volatility risk are necessary in order for the option prices and corresponding hedge ratios to be financially rational. Our regime-switching option price solutions and their associated implied volatilities are explored through both limiting arguments and with numerical solutions. We conclude by discussing valuable intuition arising from this study.

- [1] H.P. Boswick, Volatility Mean Reversion and the Market Price of Volatility Risk, in Proceedings of the International Conference on Modelling and Forecasting Financial Volatility, Perth, Australia, pp. 159-170 (2001).
- [2] M. Mielkie and M. Davison, A New Analytic Approximation Technique for Pricing Options in a Regime-Switching Market, Working Paper.
- [3] M. Mielkie and M. Davison, *Investigating the Market Price of Volatility Risk for Options in Regime-Switching Market*, Working Paper.
- [4] P. Boyle and T. Draviam, *Pricing exotic options under regime-switching*, Insurance: Mathematics and Economics **40**, pp. 267-282 (2007).

Utility Indifference Pricing: A Time Consistent Approach

T. A. Pirvu¹, H. Zhang²

¹ McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada, tpirvu@math.mcmaster.ca

² Nankai University, Tianjin, China, hyzhang69@edu.cn

This paper considers the optimal portfolio selection problem in a dynamic multi-period stochastic framework with regime switching. The risk preference is of exponential (CARA) type with a time changing coefficient of risk aversion. The market model is incomplete and there are two risky assets: one tradable and one non-tradable. In this context the optimal investment strategies are time inconsistent. Consequently the subgame perfect equilibrium strategies are considered. The utility indifference ask price of a contingent claim written on the risky assets is computed via an indifference valuation algorithm. We examine the changes in the utility indifference ask price due to changes in model parameters.

- [1] T. Bjork, A. Murgoci, and X.Y. Zhou, *Mean–variance portfolio optimization with state-dependent risk aversion*, forthcoming Mathematical Finance.
- [2] I. Ekeland and T. A. Pirvu, *Investment and consumption without commitment*, Mathematics and Financial Economics. 2, pp. 57-86 (2008).

Parametric Estimation of Stationary Stochastic Processes under Indirect Observability

P. Ren¹, R. Azencott², I.Timofeyev³

¹ University of Houston, USA, pren@math.uh.edu

² University of Houston, USA, razencot@math.uh.edu

³ University of Houston, USA, ilya@math.uh.edu

Statistical estimation of parameters in the effective stochastic model given a discrete dataset is an important requirement in various scientific studies. However, a common pathological situation is the unobservability of the data. This means that the available data cannot be observed directly. Instead, observations of a suitable approximating process are available. Namely,

$Y_t^{\varepsilon} = X_t + \varepsilon_t,$

where Y_t^{ε} is the observed process and X_t is the true process.

One of the most striking examples is the realized volatility in financial market. Therefore, there may be an inherent difference between the data and the effective stochastic model which introduces additional errors in parameter estimators due to the unobservability.

In our work we consider the estimation of parameters for the volatility process in the stochastic Heston model when the volatility process is not observed. It is known that the volatility process can be approximated by the quadratic variation of the stock price. Our goal is to understand how these errors propagate into the parameter estimators in the equation for the volatility. Motivated by the Heston model, we develop a general theory of consistent parametric estimation. In particular, we introduce a consistent and robust estimator for the class of strong mixing stationary stochastic processes. We analyze the speed of convergence of estimators and develop an explicit criteria for the optimal sub-sampling scheme which minimizes the computational cost. Last, a successful application of our results is demonstrated by estimating the parameters of volatility process in Heston model with realized volatility.

- R.Azencott. and A.Beri and I.Timofeyev., Adaptive sub-sampling for parameteric estimation of Gaussian Diffusions., J. Stat. Phys. 139, 6, pp. 1066-1089 (2010).
- [2] J.C Cox and J.E Ingersoll and S.A Ross A theory of the term structure of interest rates., Econometrica. pp. 385-408 (1985).
- [3] L. Zhang, P.A.Mykland, and Y.A. Sahalia *A Tale of Two Time Scales: Determining Integrated Volatility With Noisy High-Frequency Data.*, Journal of the American Statistical Association.**100**, 472, (2005).

Robust Second-order least-squares estimation for regression with autocorrelated error: application of FMW and Generalized M-Estimates based methods

D. Rosadi¹, P. Filzmoser²

¹ Department of Mathematics, Gadjah Mada University, Indonesia, dedirosadi@gadjahmada.edu

² Department of Statistics and Probability Theory, Vienna University of Technology, Austria, P.Filzmoser@tuwien.ac.at

In his recent paper, Wang and Leblanc [1] have shown that the second-order least squares estimator (SLSE) is more efficient than the ordinary least squares estimator (OLSE) when the errors are iid (independent and identically distributed) and the error distribution has a nonzero third moment. In Rosadi and Peiris [2], the theory of SLSE is applied for regression models with autocorrelated errors. Rosadi and Peiris [2] derived the the asymptotic normality property of the corresponding estimator and it is also provided a simulation study to compare the performance of SLSE, OLSE and Generalized Least Square estimator (GLSE). From Rosadi and Peiris [2] we can summarize the following results: from the simulation result, it shows that the SLSE performs well for estimating the parameters of the model and gives small bias. For less correlated data, the standard error (s.e.) of SLSE lies between s.e. of OLSE and GLSE, which can be interpreted that adding second moment information can improve the performance of the estimator. However, for more correlated data, the SLSE is becoming less robust than OLSE. The s.e. of GLSE are the smallest, which is consistent with the theoretical result (Gauss-Markov-Aitken theorem). In this paper, we consider a new method to robustify the SLSE in case of correlated data, and evaluate the performance of the robust method by the meaning of the simulation study. In our implementation, to increase efficiency of the estimators, we consider weight function as in Filzmoser, Maronna and Werner [3] (FMW method). To remove the effect of "bad leverage points" due to y-outlier, we apply the class of generalized M-estimates (GM-estimates) for the time series residuals (see e.g. Maronna, Martin and Yohai [4]). This result is the extension of the result presented in Rosadi [5].

Keyword: robust second-order least square, autocorrelated error, ordinary least square , generalized least square, asymptotic normality

- [1] L. Wang and A. Leblanc, Second-order nonlinear least squares estimation, Annals of the Institute of Statistical Mathematics, 60, 883-900 (2008).
- [2] D. Rosadi and S. Peiris, *Second-order least-squares estimation for regression with autocorrelated error*, Computational Statistics, revised resubmitted, (2013).
- [3] P. Filzmoser, R. Maronna and Werner, M., *Outlier identi_cation in high dimensions*, Computational Statistics and Data Analysis, Vol. 52, pp. 1694-1711 (2008).
- [4] A. Maronna, R.D. Martin and V.J. Yohai, Robust Statistics: Theory and Methods, John Wiley and Sons, Chicester (2006).
- [5] D. Rosadi, *Robust Second-order least-squares estimation for regression with autocorrelated error*, Presented in ICEAS 2012, Beijing, July 24-27, (2012).

CVaR Robust Mean-CVaR Portfolio Optimization

M. Salahi¹, F. Mehrdoust², F. Piri³

¹ University of Guilan, Iran, salahim@guilan.ac.ir

² University of Guilan, Iran, fmehrdoust@guilan.ac.ir

³ University of Guilan, Iran, farzanehpirit@yahoo.com

One of the most important problems faced by every investor is asset allocation. An investor during making investment decisions has to search for equilibrium between risk and returns. Risk and return are uncertain parameters in the suggested portfolio optimization models and should be estimated to solve the problem. The estimation might lead to large error in the final decision. One of the widely used and effective approaches for optimization with data uncertainty is robust optimization. In this paper, we present a new robust portfolio optimization technique for mean-CVaR portfolio selection problem under the estimation risk in mean return. We additionally use CVaR as risk measure, to measure the estimation risk in mean return. Moreover, to solve the model efficiently, we use the smoothing technique of Alexander et al. We compare the performance of the CVaR robust mean-CVaR model with robust mean-CVaR portfolios are more diversified. Moreover, we study the impact of the value of confidence level on the conservatism level of a portfolio and also on the value of the maximum expected return of the portfolio.

References

[1] Wang J (2000). Mean-Variance-VaR Based Portfolio Optimization, Valdosta State University.

- [2] Zhu L, Coleman T.F. and Li Y (2009). Min-max robust and CVaR robust mean-variance portfolios, Journal of Risk, 11:1-31.
- [3] Zhu L, (2008). Optimal portfolio selection under the estimation risk in mean return, MSc thesis, University of Waterloo.

Pricing exotic options under the time-changed Brownian motion model by variance reduction and quasi-Monte Carlo methods

Yongzeng Lai¹, Qiuzi Tan²

¹ Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada, ylai@wlu.ca
 ² Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada, tanx7440@mylaurier.ca

Empirical studies with worldwide financial data show that a special type of Lévy processes - the time-changed Brownian motion, can fit the real financial data better than the well-known Black-Scholes-Merton's model. The use of these more realistic and complex models for asset prices gives rise to many new and challenging problems for derivative pricing, hedging, portfolio optimization and risk management. For example, efficient numerical methods dealing with derivative pricing and risk management under Lévy models are in high demand due to the lack of closed formulas for options under Lévy models. The Monte Carlo simulation method is indispensable to deal with high dimensional problems so far. This method is widely used in many fields. Its main drawback is the slow convergence. To accelerate the convergence, variance reduction (VR) methods, effective dimension methods, quasi-Monte Carlo (QMC) methods and their combinations have been developed. The idea of VR is not new, but to design an efficient VR method is always challenging, especially for complex problems such as option pricing and hedging for asset prices under Lévy models. There is very limited literature on this topic.

In this paper, we consider the problem of exotic option pricing under the exponential time-changed Brownian motion model for the underlying asset price by variance reduction methods combined with quasi-Monte Carlo methods. In particular, the case of the lookback option is studied in more detail, where the lookback option under the Black-Scholes model for the asset prices, the geometric Asian option, as well as a random variate conditional on the geometric mean of asset prices are used as control variates. Initial numerical results with various model parameters and strike prices show that variances are reduced by both antithetic variate and control variate methods. The variance reduction ratios are significantly improved when quasi-Monte Carlo methods are combined. For example, the variance reduction ratio by control variate method is up to 2.73×10^5 for an at-the-money discrete fixed strike lookback option with 32 monitoring points.

Simulation of Greeks of multiasset options under exponential subordinated Brownian motion models by Malliavin calculus and quasi-Monte Carlo methods Yongzeng Lai¹, Qiuzi Tan²

¹ Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada, ylai@wlu.ca

² Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada, tanx7440@mylaurier.ca

The option sensitivities or Greeks are important in financial hedging and risk management. However, values of option Greeks are even harder to obtain than values of options themselves. It is difficult to deal with options with discontinuous payoff functions by the conventional finite central difference method. While the likelihood ratio method is helpless if the density functions do not exist or hard to find. A third approach - the Malliavin calculus method, was proposed about a decade ago and showed its advantages over the other two methods for exotic options. The main idea of this method is to express the Greeks in terms of option payoff functions multiplied by weight functions depending on Malliavin derivatives.

This paper discusses simulation of option Greeks for multi-asset options under the subordinated Brownian motion model by Malliavin calculus combined with Monte Carlo and quasi-Monte Carlo methods. By using the chain rule, integration by parts, the reflection principle, etc. from Malliavin calculus, as well as the tower property of conditional expectation, we are able to express Greeks in terms of the expectations of the option payoff functions multiplied by the weights involving Malliavin derivatives for multi-asset options in both path independent and path dependent cases. In the one asset case, the formulas recover those found in the literature. Numerical results show that the Malliavin calculus method is usually more efficient than the finite difference method for options with non-smooth payoffs. The superiority of the former over the latter is even more significant when combined with quasi-Monte Carlo methods. For example, when simulating Γ_{11} or Γ_{12} of a basket type down-and-out option or a corridor option, the efficiencies reach up to more than ten thousand times in a two-asset case and more than one thousand times in a six-asset case.

American option pricing under time-changed Brownian motion models

Yongzeng Lai¹, long tse²

¹ Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada, ylai@wlu.ca
 ² Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada, tsex1520@mylaurier.ca

American options are widely used in financial investment. The problem of efficient pricing of (multi-asset) American options is always challenging. This is true even under the well-known Black-Scholes-Merton's model for the underlying asset prices due to the fact of lack of closed formulas for American option prices. The regression based method is a popular approach to deal with American option pricing problems in high dimensions. Its main drawbacks are: (1) it is hard to determine the number of basis functions used in regression in advance; and (2) it is difficult to estimate American option sensitivities or Greeks by this method. The Malliavin calculus approach has been proposed recently for pricing and hedging American options under the Black-Scholes-Merton's model for the underlying asset prices. With this method, option prices and Greeks, such as *Deltas*, are approximated by quantities involving ratios of unconditional expectations. In terms of computational speed, this method is not as fast as the regression method. But it can easily estimate the option Greeks while it is difficult for the other method to do so. In this paper, we consider the problem of multi-asset American option pricing under the exponential time-changed Brownian motion model for the underlying asset prices by regression based method, as well as Malliavin calculus method combined with variance reduction methods, localization method and quasi-Monte Carlo methods.

Optimal Annuitization Timing With Stochastic Interest Rates

J. Wang¹, H. Huang²

¹ Department of Mathematics and Statistics, York University, Toronto, Canada, spell@yorku.ca

² Department of Mathematics and Statistics, York University, Toronto, Canada, hhuang@yorku.ca

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Moshe Milevsky for his ideas and motivation for this project.

Defined Benefit (DB) pension plans are vanishing in most of developed countries. The demise of DB Pensions forces more retirees to use defined contribution (DC) pension plan to hedge the longevity risk. The average life span has increased by more than 30 years during the 20th century in Canada. There maybe more than thirty years to live after individuals get retired. How to manage the nest egg in retirement so that retirees will have a decent living standard after retirement? Should retirees annuitize his nest egg? If yes, What's the optimal annuitization time? Will mortality rate and risk aversion affect the optimal annuitization time? The value from delaying annuitization is very valuable under an all-or-nothing framework. While in anywhere anytime framework, the utility-maximizing retiree should acquire a base amount of annuity income and then annuitize additional amounts (Milevsky and Young, 2006). Individuals can get welfare gains up to 40% of their financial wealth by adjusting portfolio allocation and purchasing variable annuities gradually over time (Horneff et al. 2008).

We study optimal annuitization under stochastic interest rates in an all-or-nothing framework. The risk-free rate is modeled by Cox-Ingersoll-Ross (CIR) process while mortality rate is assumed to be Gompertz. This is a free boundary problem similar to the American put option problem. We reformulate the free boundary problem as a linear complementarity (LCP) problem and solved it numerically using the projected successive over-relaxation (SOR) method. Numerical results will be presented based on realistic parameter values.

- [1] Horneff, W.J., Maurer, R. H. and Stamos, M.Z., *Life-cycle Asset Allocation with Annuity Market*, in *Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control*, Vol. 32, pp. 3590-3612 (2008).
- [2] Lockwood, L.M., Bequest Motives and Annuity Puzzles, in Review of Economic Dynamics, Vol. 15, pp. 226-243 (2012).
- [3] Milevsky, M.A. and Young, V.R., Annuitization and Asset Allocation, in Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control, Vol. 31, pp. 3138-3177 (2007).
- [4] Peijnenburg, J., Nijman, T. and Werker, B., Health Cost Risk and Optimal Retirement Provision: A Simple Rule for Annuity Demand, in Discussion Paper 2010-14, Tilburg University, Center for Economic, 2010.
- [5] Stabile, G., Optimal Timing of the Annuity Purchase: Combined Stochastic Control and Optimal Stopping Problem, in International Journal of Theoretical and Applied Finance, Vol. 9, No. 2, pp. 151-170 (2006).
- [6] Wang, T. and Young, V.R., Optimal Commutable Annuities to Minimize the Probability of Lifetime Ruin, in Insurance: Mathematics and Economics, Vol. 50, pp. 200-216 (2012).

A Monte Carlo Measure to Improve Fairness in Equity Analyst Evaluation

Tomasz Imielinski¹, John Robert Yaros²

¹ Rutgers University, Piscataway, New Jersey, United States, imielins@cs.rutgers.edu

² Rutgers University, Piscataway, New Jersey, United States, yaros@cs.rutgers.edu

For decades, research analysts have been supplying stock recommendations to clients. To help clients decide which of these analysts to listen to, numerous analyst ranking systems have emerged. Examples include The Wall Street Journal's "Best on the Street" annual awards, and the Starmine analyst performance measurement system. These systems are often variatations on a method we term the "portfolio method", whereby a hypothetical portfolio is formed with one long unit for each stock where the analyst makes a positive recommendation and one short unit for each negative recommendation. Analysts are then compared by the final value of their portfolios. Of the pitfalls to this method, one most troubling is that the analysts are generally covering different sets of stocks over different time periods. Thus, each analyst has access to different opportunites and just comparing portfolio values is unfair. In response, we present a Monte Carlo method where, for each analyst, we generate numerous "pseudo-analysts" with the same coverage over the same time periods as the real analyst. For each one of our generated pseudoanalysts, we sample from the distribution of all real analyst recommendations both for recommendation length and direction (i.e. positive, neutral, negative). In essence, we are able to compute how well the analyst performs against simple random selection by finding the percentage of pseudo-analysts s/he outperforms. Using this output, we are better able to compare analysts, adjusted for their individual opportunities. We draw comparisons between our results and the results from the existing systems, showing why those systems are less precise in reflecting analyst performance.

Computational Mechanics and Engineering (CS-MECHE)

Stochastic modeling of the Oil Sands operations under environmental constraints

<u>A. Betancourt-Torcat¹</u>, A. Almansoori¹, A. Elkamel², L. Ricardez-Sandoval²

¹ The Petroleum Institute, Abu Dhabi, UAE, aalmansoori@pi.ac.ae

² University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, aelkamel@uwaterloo.ca

² University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, laricard@uwaterloo.ca

The Alberta's Oil Sands represent the third largest proven oil reserves in the world. Part of the world future energy security depends on the expansion and further development of this industry. The operations of the Oil Sands is subject to a number of uncertain parameters for economic growth in the long-term outlook. The main uncertainties posed over the Oil Sands sector are related to the price of primary fuels, operational enhancements and environmental restrictions. In this work, the deterministic energy optimization model for the Oil Sands operations proposed by Betancourt-Torcat et al. [1] has been extended to account for uncertainty in the natural gas price and Steam-to-Oil ratio (SOR). The new extended model includes Green HouseGas (GHG) emissions and freshwater withdrawal allowance constraints. The problem was formulated in the General Algebraic Modeling System (GAMS) as a stochastic MINLP.

The application of the stochastic energy optimization model for the Oil Sands includes results reflecting the uncertain outcomes and enabling optimal arrangement of the energy supplier and oil producer infrastructures at minimum energy costs. In the present work, the model's capabilities are shown using two case studies considering uncertainty whereas the deterministic case is presented as reference for comparison purposes. The case studies examined under uncertainty consider the forecasted oil production scenario for the year 2035 in an uncertain environment, where the price of natural gas is volatile (e.g., fuel price) and the SOR (e.g., operational factor) unknown. The results of the stochastic model were compared with those of the deterministic model by examined the expected values of the stochastic approach and those of the deterministic solution. The results presented in this study are discussed based on the distribution of the Oil sands operations for 2035 in the presence of uncertainty in fuel costs and SOR parameters, respectively. The key findings of this study are that oil producers that include hydrocracking are favored over thermocracking-based schemes; in-situ (SAGD) operations will play a significant role in the production scenario of the Oil Sands and the GHG emission constraint cannot be met for SOR values higher than 2.48 for the year 2035. These results show that the new extended energy model is a practical tool for determining the energy production costs of the industry, evaluating future environmental policies and energy scenarios, and identifying the key parameters that affect the Canadian Oil Sands operations.

A. Betancourt-Torcat, G. Gutierrez, A. Elkamel and L. Ricardez-Sandoval, Integrated Energy Optimization Model for Oil Sands Operations, Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 50, pp. 12641-12663 (2011).

Detecting bifurcation behaviour in car crash simulation data sets with a generative machine learning method

B. Bohn¹

¹ Institute for Numerical Simulation, University of Bonn, Germany, bohn@ins.uni-bonn.de

Nowadays, the computer simulation of car crashes is an indispensable step in the process of safety analysis and the overall product development for new car models. The assessment of the simulation results by an engineer is still done manually by inspecting one simulation run at a time. Therefore, there is a substantial need to aid the engineer by machine learning methods to significantly reduce the model complexity and detect bifurcations in the course of the simulations. A first approach considering linear dimensionality reduction with a principal component analysis (PCA) for crash simulation data was introduced in [1]. Recent results showing the need for nonlinear methods in this context are given in [2].

In this talk, we will shortly introduce a nonlinear generative method based on [3, 4] and present the workflow for our simulation analysis. The advantage of a generative dimensionality reduction method over other learning algorithms is the ability to inherently map new low-dimensional latent space points into the high-dimensional ambient space. We will show how to use this feature to measure the quality of a constructed embedding of a crash simulation data set. Furthermore, we will present first results on the bifurcation detection with our method and compare the approach to the PCA.

This talk is partly based on collaborative work with Ulf Schepsmeier & Benjamin Peherstorfer (TU Munich), Victor-Rodrigo Iza-Teran, Jochen Garcke & Clemens-August Thole (Fraunhofer SCAI) and Michael Griebel (U Bonn). The corresponding project *SIMDATA-NL* is funded by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research.

- [1] C. A. Thole, L. Nikitina, I. Nikitin and T. Clees, Advanced mode analysis for crash simulation results, in Proceedings of the 9th LS-DYNA Forum, (2010)
- [2] B. Bohn, J. Garcke, R. Iza-Teran, A. Paprotny, B. Peherstorfer, U. Schepsmeier and C.-A. Thole, Analysis of car crash simulation data with nonlinear machine learning methods, in Proceedings of the 13th International Conference on Computational Science, Barcelona, Spain, (2013), to appear.
- [3] C. Feuersänger and M. Griebel, Principal manifold learning by sparse grids, Computing 85(4), pp. 267-299, (2009).
- [4] B. Bohn and M. Griebel, *An adaptive sparse grid approach for time series predictions*, in *Lecture Notes in Computational Science and Engineering* **88**, ed. J. Garcke and M. Griebel, pp. 1-30, (2013).

Effect of Anisotropy on the Steady State Creep in a Rotating Cylinder

N. Chamoli¹, M. Rattan², S. B. Singh³

¹ D.A.V. College, Chandigrah, India, neeraj_chamoli@yahoo.com

² UIET, Panjab University, Chandigarh, India, rattanminto@gmail.com

³ Department of Mathematics, Punjabi University, Patiala, India, sbsingh69@yahoo.com

The effect of anisotropy on the steady state creep behavior of a thick-walled rotating circular cylinder made of Al-SiC_P composite subjected to internal and external pressure is investigated in the present study. The creep behavior of the cylinder is assumed to follow Sherby's model [1]. The stresses and strain rates are estimated for the cylinder using Hill's yield criterion [2] for different values of anisotropic parameter (α), characterized by the ratio of radial (or axial) and tangential yield strength of the composite and are also estimated for a similar cylinder but made of isotropic composite. The study revealed that the tangential as well as radial strain rates are significantly affected by the anisotropy of the material. The tangential strain rates are decreased almost by three orders of magnitude in cylinder with anisotropy parameter $\alpha < 1$ as compared to the strain rates obtained for the cylinder $\alpha < 1$ while designing the cylinder.

- [1] O. D. Sherby, R. H. Klundt and A. K. Miller, *Flow stress, subgrain size and subgrain stability at elevated temperature,* Metall. Trans., **8** A, pp. 843-850 (1977).
- [2] R. Hill, *The mathematical theory of plasticity*, Oxford, 1st ed., Clarendon Press (1950).

Supply Chain Flexibility Metrics Evaluation

M. Erol Genevois¹, U. Güre², K. Ö. Ocakoğlu³, H. Z. Ulukan⁴

¹ Galatasaray University, Istanbul, Turkey, merol@gsu.edu.tr

² Galatasaray University, Istanbul, Turkey, uur.gure@gmail.com

³ Galatasaray University, Istanbul, Turkey, kaya_8438@hotmail.com

⁴ Galatasaray University, Istanbul, Turkey, zulukan@gsu.edu.tr

The markets in which manufacturers and service firms compete are increasingly influenced by intense foreign competition, rapid technological change and shorter product life-cycles. In this new scenario, flexibility may be one of the most important capabilities needed for firms to achieve competitive advantage [1, 2, 3]. We defined flexibility as the capacity of adaptation under the double constraints of uncertainty and the urgency. This uncertainty can come from the providers (rupture, problems of transport), from the customers (variation of the request) or from the company itself (breakdowns of the equipment, problems of provisioning). The possible behaviors of the company face to these problems are called levers of flexibilities. In a supply chain the flexibility of one entity is highly dependent on the flexibility of upstream entities. The overall flexibility of a supply chain will therefore depend on the flexibility of all the entities in a supply chain, and their interrelations. Supply Chain Management (SCM) requires management of complex dependencies between teams, departments and partner companies across international boundaries. It is a natural area for metrics. A metric is a standard of measurement of performance and gives the basis on which to evaluate the performance of processes in the supply chain [4]. Thus the purpose of the study is to determine and evaluate the supply chain flexibility metrics in order to calculate the benefit of preferring a flexibility lever to another one. Then, with respect to increasing benefits, an appropriate flexibility portfolio has to be determined.

We are handling the automotive sector for the study. Automobile manufacturers today compete in an increasingly global environment. A vehicle could be designed in one location and built somewhere else. Components could come from another location, and final assembly could take place in yet another. Fortunately, it's getting easier to work on a worldwide basis, in part because of regulatory and legislative convergence around the globe. The next step includes the convergence of technologies, business practices and lifecycles, and a level of flexibility that enables manufacturers to react quickly.

Measuring flexibility is obviously hard. Thus, to determine the right metrics to use is the first challenge. This step has to be realized with a strong literature survey and operational experts view support. The second step is concerned with the evaluation of chosen metrics. One of the commonly observed methods is fuzzy arithmetic due to the vagueness of some data. The final step is to decide which flexibility levers to use according to the increasing benefits.

- [1] M. Pagell, Understanding the factors that enable and inhibit the integration of operations, purchasing and logistics, Journal of Operations Management, 22, 5, pp. 459-487 (2004).
- M. Holweg, The three dimensions of responsiveness, International Journal of Operations and Production Management, 25, 7/8, pp. 603-622 (2005).
- [3] J. Storey, C. Emberson and D. Reade, *The barriers to customer responsive supply chain management*, International Journal of Operations and Production Management, 25, 3, pp. 242-260 (2005).
- [4] NEVEM-workgroup Performance Indicators in Logistics, IFS Publications / Springer-Verlag, Berlin (1989).

An Input-Output Analysis Approach in Waste of Electrical and Electronic Equipments

H. Z. Ulukan¹, M. Erol Genevois², E. Demircioğlu³,

¹ Galatasaray University, Istanbul, Turkey, zulukan@gsu.edu.tr

² Galatasaray University, Istanbul, Turkey, merol@gsu.edu.tr om

³ Galatasaray University, Istanbul, Turkey, edemircioglu@gsu.edu.tr

The production of electrical and electronic equipments is one of the fastest growing markets all over world. Hence, the increasing amount of Waste of Electrical and Electronic Equipments (WEEE) has become a common problem. WEEE has been identified as a priority area to take specific measures on a European scale, particularly the European Commission is among the most active regulators seeking to address the environmental impact of EEE. EU, with the WEEE directive [1] and subsequently amended by [2] and [3], is taking serious measures to prevent the generation of electrical and electronic wastes and to promote reuse, recycling and other forms of recovery in order to reduce the quantity of wastes.

In this study, we focus on waste management and we concentrate on the recycling of mobile phones. Besides the technological developments and the spread of electronic and electrical equipments in many different areas, the mobile phones have dramatically penetrated into the human life and the mobile phone market which has witnessed explosive growth since their introduction is also one of the fastest growing consumer markets. Mobile phones' components and their requirements in production phases such as energy, labor and know-how are depicted in a matrix form inspired from the seminal work of Leontief and an Input-Output (IO) methodology which appears to be appropriate for analyzing waste management problem is presented. IO models have some major extensions in literature as a Physical IO table, Monetary IO table, Waste IO Table and Environmental IO Table. The first one provides a framework in which all physical flows associated with an economy can be recorded, while the second gives an insight into the value of economic transactions between different sectors. Moreover, the third represents the interdependence between the flow of goods and the flow of wastes and the last emphasizes a suitable tool for estimating the short-term response of emissions and resource usage to changes in consumption and production induced by economic growth or by changes in environmental policy [4].

Thus, we propose numerically both static and dynamic input-output solutions in order to put forward the contribution of recycling of mobile phones into the economy. Particularly, we concentrate on the Monetary IO Table with recycling and balance equations. By defining waste outputs as a new vector class, the classical input-output model has been improved. We propose a case study based on approximate data involving the monetary input-output matrix of a manufacturing process of mobile phones and hence, we represent the numerical results of the model. We conclude our paper with the interpretations of graphics, obtained by the model, that numerically emphasize the importance of recycling of the mobile phones.

- [1] 2002/96/EC, European parliament and of the council of 27 January 2003 on waste electrical and electronic equipment (WEEE) (2002).
- [2] 2003/108/EC, European Union Directive modifying 2002/96/CE European Union directive on Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment (WEEE) (2002).
- [3] 2008/34/EC, European Union Directive amending 2002/96/CE European Union directive on Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment (WEEE), as regards the implementing powers conferred on the Commission (2008).
- [4] J. O'Doherty and R.S.J. Tol, An Environment Input-Output Model for Ireland, The Economic and Social Review, **38**, 2, pp. 157,190 (2007).

Strip-saturation-yield model for a piezoelectric plate - A study on influence of change in poling direction

R.R. Bhargava¹, Kamlesh Jangid²

1,2 Indian Institute of Technology Roorkee, Roorkee-247667, India, {rajrbfma,kamljdma}@iitr.ernet.in

It is well-known that a wide range of poled piezoelectric ceramics retains their aligned electric dipole field in the material microstructure below Curie temperature. This electric poling direction effects the material properties and fracture behavior.

It is observed that the presence of crack or cracks considerably reduces the strength of the ceramics. And effect of both mechanical and electric loads is noticeable on crack opening/closing. A vast variety of crack problems for piezoelectric ceramics have been investigated considering impermeable, permeable electric conditions on the crack faces. It is noted that these conditions give higher and lower estimate of energy release rate etc. But empirically it is observed that semi-permeable crack face boundary condition give more accurate results. These may be defined inside crack gap with non-zero permittivity air/dielectric media as

$$D_2^+ = D_2^-, \qquad D_2^+(u_2^+ - u_2^-) = \mathcal{E}_a(\phi^- - \phi^+), \tag{1}$$

where D_2 , u_2 , ϕ and ε_a , respectively, denote the electric-displacement, mechanical-displacement components perpendicular to the crack, electric potential and permittivity of media inside crack gap. The superscripts + and – denote the value of quantity over upper and lower faces of the cracks.

The question of arbitrary/changing poling direction on a cracked piezoelectric media under semi-permeable boundary condition on crack is addressed. In the present work, a poled piezoelectric medium is cut along two equal collinear straight cracks. The cracks are assumed to be traction free and inside cracks gaps the semi-permeable boundary condition (1) are assumed to be held. Combine in-plane uniform constant normal (to the faces of cracks) mechanical and electrical-displacement are prescribed at remote boundary of the plate. Consequently cracks open in self-similar fashion forming a yield zone and a saturation zone ahead each tip of the cracks. Its assumed saturation zone and yield zone developed at each tip of the cracks are of equal length. To stop the crack from further opening the developed zones are subjected to in-plane, normal, cohesive saturation limit electric-displacement $D_2 = D_s$ and yield-point stress $\sigma_{22} = \sigma_s$. The mathematical model is obtained using Stroh formalism and solved using complex variable technique. Closed form expressions are derived for crack opening displacement (COD), crack opening potential drop (COP), energy release rate (ERR), lengths of developed zones.

A case study is presented for poled PZT-5H ceramic using proposed model. The effect of change in poling direction is plotted for COD, COP and ERR. It is observed that when poling direction is perpendicular to the crack faces COD, COP and ERR are maximum. And when poling direction is moved along the length of the crack these quantities attain minimum values. A comparative study is presented for impermeable, permeable and semipermeable cracks cases. It is observed that presence of electric field inside crack gap should not be ignored for design purpose. A study is also presented for COD, COP and ERR to show the mutual effects of two cracks lying close to each other or moved away. The results obtained affirm that poling direction assists in crack arrest under small-scale mechanical yielding and electric saturation.

Effect of Particle Gradient on the Creep of an Isotropic Rotating Disc

M. Rattan¹, N. Chamoli², S. B. Singh³

¹ UIET, Panjab University, Chandigarh, India, rattanminto@gmail.com

² D.A.V. College, Chandigrah, India, neeraj_chamoli@yahoo.com

³ Department of Mathematics, Punjabi University, Patiala, India, sbsingh69@yahoo.com

The effect of imposing linear and non-linear composition gradients on the steady state creep behavior of a rotating functionally graded Al-SiC_p disc is investigated in the present study. Mathematical model to describe steady state creep behavior in rotating discs made of isotropic aluminum composite containing linear and non-linear distributions of Silicon Carbide in the radial direction has been formulated. The steady state creep behavior of the discs has been determined following Sherby's model [1] using von Mises yield criterion [2]. The distributions of stresses and strain rates have been obtained and compared for various functionally graded material (FGM) discs containing the same average amount of dispersoid. The creep response of a composite disc with uniform SiC_p content has also been computed for comparison with the results obtained for FGM discs. The study reveals that the distributions within the disc. The stresses and steady state strain rates in a rotating FGM disc can be significantly reduced by optimal distribution of SiC_p particles in the disc.

- [1] O. D. Sherby, R. H. Klundt and A. K. Miller, *Flow stress, subgrain size and subgrain stability at elevated temperature,* Metall. Trans., **8 A,** pp. 843-850 (1977).
- [2] R. von Mises, Mechanics of solids in the plastically deformable state, (1913), NASA, Technical Memorandom 88488, (1986).

Hybrid Energy Harvesting Using Piezoelectric and Magnetostrictive Material

M. Ibrahim¹, A. Salehian², and R.R. Mansour³

¹ University of Waterloo, Canada, <u>m6ibrahi@uwaterloo.ca</u>

² University of Waterloo, Canada, <u>salehian@uwaterloo.ca</u>

³ University of Waterloo, Canada, <u>rmansour@maxwell.uwaterloo.ca</u>

Vibrations energy harvesters have been investigated by many researchers in recent years; typically, energy harvesting systems utilize electromagnetic, piezoelectric, and magnetostrictive technologies. Proposed in this paper is a hybrid energy harvesting unit that employs both piezoelectric and magnetostrictive technologies.

Both piezoelectric and magnetostrictive layers employ a spiral geometry. The spiral shape was previously used by Hu and Xue [1] for a piezoelectric harvester to reduce the natural frequency of the unit. When magnetostrictive material is strained, it introduces a change in the magnetic field of the material. If a copper wire coil is used, through Faraday's law of induction, voltage will be induced in the coil. Some work has been done with this kind of material by Wang and Yuan [2]. The advantage of the proposed design is that it employs both technologies in one unit which results in more efficient harvesting for a wider range of frequencies. Additionally, the spiral shape geometry of the layers helps with the reduction of the natural frequency and allows more efficient harvesting at low frequencies.

References

[1] Hu, H., Xue, H., et al. A Spiral-Shaped Harvester with an Improved Harvesting Element and an Adaptive Storage Circuit, IEEE transactions on ultrasonics, ferroelectrics, and frequency control. 54, 6, pp. 1177-1187 (2007).

[2] Wang, L., and Yuan, F. G. Vibration energy harvesting by magnetostrictive material, Smart Materials And Structures. 17, 4, pp.1-14 (2008).

Computational Analysis of Slender Body with Varying Elliptical Cross Section at Various AOAs

T.A.Shams¹, Hamid Mehmood Khan¹, Farooq Akram¹

¹ National University of Sciences & Technology(NUST), H-12, Islamabad, Pakistan

Slender body theory in fluid flow has been developed over last many years ,however discrepencies in aerodynamic forces are noted on fat bodies with elliptical cross section[1]. This research focuses on the CFD analysis of slender body with tri axial elliptical frontal shape. Steady, uniform and incompressible flow with standard sea level conditions is assumed which is alligned with body lateral axis. The analysis has been carried out on bodies of cross section having ellipticity ratios of 0.125,0.25,0.375,0.5,0.75 with wide range of AOAs. Ellipticity here is defined as the ratio of major axis to minor axis of ellipse (a/0.16)as shown in figure 1. The length of selnder body and major axis of ellipse are kept constant at 0.8m and 0.16m respectively to ensure its slenderness (a/L < 1). Aerodynamic forces on a body with 0.375 ellipticity are compared with experimental work[2] and found in good agreement. Geometry of the body is modelled and meshed in ICEM CFD whereas simulation are run in commercially available software (Fluent). Aerodynamic forces thus obtained from CFD analysis are compared with Oseen flow slender body theory [3]. It is observed that change of turbulence model does not change the basic flow pattern around the slender body however SA turbulence model gives better results when compared with experimental values in lesser number of iterations. It is found that coefficient of $lift(C_1)$ and Lift to drag ratio(L/D) varies directly with angle of attack(α). However the slope of these two curves(C_L Vs α and L/D Vs α) decrease with increase in ellipticity. Body with higher ellipticity ratio produces stronger counter rotating vortices which are captured and presented in this study.



Figure 1: Basic Shape of Slender Body.

References

Allen, H.J.&Perkins, E.W(1951)-A Study of Effects of Viscosity on Flow Over Slender Inclined Bodies of Revolution NACA Report 1048

- E.Chadwick, H.M.Khan, M.Moatamedi, M.Mappin, M.Penney, -Experimental Varification of an Oseen Flow Slender Body Theory, J.Fluid. Mech(2010), vol.654, pp.271-279
- [2] Chadwick, E. (2002) A Slender Body Theory in Oseen Flow. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. A, 458, 2007-2016
- [3] Chadwick,E.&Fishwick,N.2007-Lift on Slender Bodies with Elliptical Cross Section Evaluated by Using an Oseen Flow Model,SIAM.J,Appl.Math 67(5),1465-1478
- [4] Chadwick, E.2009 A Slender Body Theory in Oseen Flow Obtained by Expanding the Oseenlets in Green's Integral Representation. Fluid.Dyn.Res.41,045508
- [5] Munk.M.M.1924-The Aerodynamic Forces on Airship Hull.Tech.Rep.184.NACA

Partial Differential and Integral Equations in Mathematical Modeling (CS-MODELING)

On Optimal Vortex Structures for Palinstrophy Generation

D. Ayala¹, B. Protas²

¹ McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada. ayalada@math.mcmaster.ca ² McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada. bprotas@mcmaster.ca

We investigate the sharpness of analytic estimates for the growth of palinstrophy \mathscr{P} in the context of the incompressible 2D Navier–Stokes equation defined on \mathbb{T}^2 . This problem is a 2D counterpart of the problem concerning the maximum growth of enstrophy \mathscr{E} in 3D Navier–Stokes flows, which is inherently related to the question of finite–time singularity formation [1].

Using standard methods of analysis, it is possible to find estimates for the rate of growth of palinstrophy $d\mathcal{P}/dt$ and the maximum palinstrophy $\mathcal{P}_{\max} := \max_{t>0} \mathcal{P}(\boldsymbol{\omega}(\cdot,t))$ in the form:

$$\frac{d\mathscr{P}}{dt} \leq C_0 \mathscr{K}^{1/2} \mathscr{P}^{3/2}, \tag{1}$$

$$\mathscr{P}_{\max} \leq C_1 \mathscr{K}_0 \mathscr{E}_0^2, \tag{2}$$

where ω is the scalar vorticity, C_0 and C_1 are positive constants, $\mathscr{K}(\cdot)$ denotes energy and \mathscr{K}_0 and \mathscr{E}_0 in (2) correspond to the energy and enstrophy at time t = 0, respectively. Optimal vorticity fields $\tilde{\omega}$ are found by solving numerically optimization problems of the form:

$$\widetilde{\omega}_{\mathscr{K}_{0},\mathscr{P}_{0}} = \underset{\omega \in \mathscr{Q}_{\mathscr{K}_{0},\mathscr{P}_{0}}}{\operatorname{arg\,max}} \frac{d\mathscr{P}}{dt},$$

$$\mathscr{Q}_{\mathscr{K}_{0},\mathscr{P}_{0}} = \left\{ \omega \in H^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2}) : \mathscr{K}(\omega) = \mathscr{K}_{0}, \mathscr{P}(\omega) = \mathscr{P}_{0} \right\},$$
(3)

where the parameters \mathcal{K}_0 and \mathcal{P}_0 range over several orders of magnitude, and we provide evidence supporting the sharpness of the instantaneous estimate in (1).

Additionally, numerical simulations of the 2D Navier–Stokes flow with $\tilde{\omega}$ as initial data, indicate that \mathscr{P}_{max} features the same power–law behaviour with respect to \mathscr{E}_0 as predicted by the finite–time estimate (2), suggesting that the vortex structures that saturate the instantaneous estimate are also optimal for the finite–time estimates [2].

- [1] C. R. Doering, The 3D Navier-Stokes Problem, Annual Review of Fluid Mechanics. 41:109-128 (2009).
- [2] D. Ayala and B. Protas, Maximum Palinstrophy Growth in 2D Incompressible Flows, in preparation (2013).

Global Existence and Blow-up of Solutions for a Class of Nonlinear Nonlocal Wave Equations

C. Babaoglu¹, H.A. Erbay², A. Erkip³

¹ Istanbul Technical University, Istanbul, Turkey, ceni@itu.edu.tr

³ Sabanci University, Istanbul, Turkey, albert@sabanciuniv.edu

We mainly deal with local existence, global existence and blow-up results for solutions of the Cauchy problem

$$u_{tt} - Lu_{xx} = B(g(u))_{xx}, \quad x \in R, \quad t > 0,$$
 (1)

$$u(x,0) = \varphi(x), \quad u_t(x,0) = \psi(x),$$
 (2)

where g is a sufficiently smooth nonlinear function, L and B are linear pseudodifferential operators defined by

$$\mathscr{F}(Lv)(\xi) = l(\xi)\mathscr{F}(v)(\xi), \quad \mathscr{F}(Bv)(\xi) = b(\xi)\mathscr{F}(v)(\xi)$$

Here \mathscr{F} denotes the Fourier transform with respect to variable *x* and $l(\xi)$ and $b(\xi)$ are the symbols of *L* and *B*, respectively. We assume that *L* is an elliptic coercive operator of order ρ with $\rho \ge 0$ while *B* is an elliptic positive operator of order -r with $r \ge 0$. In terms of $l(\xi)$ and $b(\xi)$, this means that there are positive constants c_1 , c_2 and c_3 so that for all $\xi \in R$,

$$c_1^2 (1+\xi^2)^{\rho/2} \le l(\xi) \le c_2^2 (1+\xi^2)^{\rho/2}, 0 < b(\xi) \le c_3^2 (1+\xi^2)^{-r/2}.$$

Local existence of solutions of the Cauchy problem (1)-(2) with initial data in suitable Sobolev spaces is proven and the conditions for global existence and finite-time blow-up of solutions are established.

This work has been supported by the Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (TUBITAK) under the project TBAG-110R002.

- [1] S. Wang, G. Chen, Cauchy problem of the generalized double dispersion equation, Nonlinear Anal.-Theor., 64, pp. 159-173, (2006).
- [2] N. Duruk, A. Erkip, H.A. Erbay, A higher-order Boussinesq equation in locally nonlinear theory of one-dimensional nonlocal elasticity, IMA J. of Appl. Math. 74, pp. 97-106, (2009).
- [3] C. Babaoglu, H.A. Erbay and A. Erkip, *The Cauchy problem for a class of nonlocal Boussinesq type equations*, Nonlinear Anal.-Theor. **77**, pp. 82-93, (2013).

² Ozyegin University, Istanbul, Turkey, husnuata.erbay@ozyegin.edu.tr

Symbolic - Numerical Methods For Some Special Functions Involved in Groundwater Hydrodynamics

A. Bass Bagayogo

University of Saint-Boniface, Canada, abagayogo@ustboniface.ca

Groundwater makes up almost 30better understanding of the system are difficult to validate due to the disordered nature of the porous media and the complex geometry of the channels of flow, Refs. [4].

In this talk I will first establish the general 3D groundwater equations as expressed in Eqs. (1)

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x}(K_x\frac{\partial h}{\partial x}) + \frac{\partial}{\partial y}(K_y\frac{\partial h}{\partial y}) + (K_x\frac{\partial h}{\partial z}) = S_s\frac{\partial h}{\partial t}$$
(1)

Where:

h = the hydraulic head K = the hydraulic conductivity $S_s = \rho g(\alpha + nB)$, the specific storage, with: $\alpha =$ the compressibility of aquifer B = the compressibility of water $\rho g =$ the specific weight of the water n = the porosity

By transforming the Eqs. (1) in different coordinate systems, I will show that dependant of the initial and boundary conditions, the solutions of Eqs. (1) could be expressed in term of special functions like Bessel, Error, Polder, Airy, Henkel and others related special functions in term of their asymptotic expansions Refs. [1,2,3,5]. These functions above are of considerable importance for solutions of radial-symmetric and axial-symmetric flow. I will also describe and verify by an experimental technique an algorithm for computing the Bessel functions $J_{\mu}^{(\mu T)}, Y_{\mu}^{(\mu T)}$ and their derivatives by using the modern Computer Algebra System Refs. [3] in the neighborhood of the turning point for large values of the parameters. The results obtained could help for a better planning, engineering and management of the groundwater hydrology.

- [1] Boisvert, R. et al. A Special Functions Handbook for the Digital Age, NAMS 58(7), 905-911. (2011)
- [2] Olivier Vallee and Manuel Soares, Airy Functions and Applications to Physics, 2nd edition (2010)
- [3] Amparo Gil, Javier Segura, Nico M. Temme, Numerical Methods for Special Functions, SIAM (2007)
- [4] Neven Kresic, Hydrogeology and Groundwater Modeling, Second Editon (2007)
- [5] F. W. J. Olver, Asymptotics and Special Functions, AK Peters, Wellesley, (1997)
Symmetry classification of a generalized variable-coefficient Gardner equation

M.S. Bruzón¹, R. de la Rosa²

¹ University of Cádiz, Spain, {m.bruzon}@uca.es

² University of Cádiz, Spain, fae_dasilva@hotmail.com

³ University of Cádiz, Spain,, marialuz.gandarias@uca.es

We make an analysis of the symmetry reductions of a generalized variable-coefficient Gardner equation by using the classical Lie method of infinitesimals. The direct method of group classification is utilized to specify the forms of these time-dependent coefficients.

- [1] M.S. Bruzón and M.L. Gandarias, *Travelling wave solutions for a generalized double dispersion equation*, Nonlinear Analysis **71**, pp. e2109-e2117 (2009).
- [2] M.L. Gandarias and M.S. Bruzón, *Traveling Wave Solutions for a Generalized Ostrovsky equation*, Math. Meth. Appl. Sci. **33**, pp. 0170-4214 (2010).
- [3] B. Hong and D. Lu, *New exact solutions for the generalized variable-coefficient Gardner equation with forcing term*, Appl. Math. Comp. **219**, pp. 2732-2738 (2012).

Numerical simulation of potential Maxwell's equations in harmonic regime¹

M. T. González Montesinos¹, F. Ortegón Gallego²

¹ Universidad de Sevilla, Spain, mategon@us.es

² Universidad de Cádiz, Spain, francisco.ortegon@uca.es

In this work we are concerned with the following nonlinear PDEs system

$$-\nabla \cdot (\sigma(\theta)\nabla\varphi) = i\lambda \,\omega \nabla \cdot (\sigma(\theta)A) + f \text{ in } \Omega_T = \Omega \times (0,T),$$

$$i\omega\sigma(\theta)A + \nabla \times \left(\frac{1}{\mu}\nabla \times A\right) - \delta\nabla(\nabla \cdot A) = -\sigma(\theta)\nabla\varphi \text{ in } D_T = D \times (0,T),$$

$$\varphi = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_0 \times (0,T), \quad \frac{\partial\varphi}{\partial n} = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_1 \times (0,T), \quad A = 0 \text{ on } \partial D,$$

$$\theta_{,t} - \nabla \cdot (\kappa(\theta)\nabla\theta) = \frac{\sigma(\theta)}{2} |i\omega A + \nabla\varphi|^2 + G \text{ in } \Omega_T,$$

$$\frac{\partial\theta}{\partial n} = 0 \text{ on } \partial\Omega \times (0,T), \quad \theta(\cdot,0) = \theta_0 \text{ in } \Omega.$$
(1)

This system describes the heating stage of the induction–conduction industrial procedure applied to a steel workpiece ([2]-[5]). In this framework, $\Omega, D \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ are bounded, connected and Lipschitz–continuous open sets such that $\overline{\Omega} \subset D$, $\partial\Omega = \Gamma_0 \cup \Gamma_1$ and $\partial D = S_0 \cup S_1$, the unknowns are the electric potential, φ , the magnetic vector potential, A, and the temperature, θ ; σ and κ are the electric and thermal conductivities, respectively, ω is the angular frequency (about $1.6\pi 10^6$), θ_0 the initial temperature, *i* stands for the imaginary unit, and μ is the magnetic permeability. Finally, $\lambda \in [0, 1]$ and $\delta > 0$ is a small parameter. Problem (1) is referred to as the harmonic regime ([1, 4, 5]). In this way, both φ and A are complex-valued scalar and vector fields, respectively.

The original value for the parameter λ is $\lambda = 1$, but in most numerical simulations the value $\lambda = 0$ is taken which yields to an enormous reduction of computational cost. In [5], the authors have shown the existence of a weak solution to (1) in the range $0 \le \lambda < 1 - \frac{1}{\omega}$, so that $\lambda = 1$ is not attainable!

We have carry out some numerical experiments for the resolution of the linear system φ -A for a given temperature. We have used a Crank-Nicolson like iterative scheme which compute, for a given A^0 , φ^0 , then A^1 and φ^1 and so on. The numerical results show a strong relation between λ and the rate of convergence of this scheme: the closer the value of λ to 1, the more number of iterations are needed.

- [1] S. Clain, Analyse mathématique et numérique d'un modèle de chauffage par induction, Ph. Thesis N. 1240, Laussane, EPFL, 1994.
- [2] D. Hömberg, A mathematical model for induction hardening including mechanical effects. Nonlinear Anal. RWA. 5, 55–90 (2004).
- [3] J.M. Díaz Moreno, C. García Vázquez, M. T. González Montesinos, F. Ortegón Gallego, G. Viglialoro. Mathematical modeling of heat treatment for a steering rack including mechanical effects. J. Numer. Math., 20, n. 3-4, 215-231 (2012).
- [4] M. T. González Montesinos, F. Ortegón Gallego. Analysis of a nonuniformly elliptic and nonlinear coupled parabolic-elliptic system arising in steel hardening. Int. J. Comput. Math., 2013, http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00207160.2013.771837.
- [5] M. T. González Montesinos, F. Ortegón Gallego. On an induction-conduction PDEs system in harmonic regime. (To appear)

¹This research was partially supported by Ministerio de Economía y Competitividad under grant MTM2010-16401 with the participation of FEDER, and Consejería de Educación y Ciencia de la Junta de Andalucía, research group FQM-315.

Kinetic and Material Property Effects on Fingering Instability in Reverse Smoldering Combustion

Ekeoma Rowland Ijioma¹, Toshiyuki Ogawa²

¹ Meiji Institute for Advanced Study of Mathematical Sciences, Japan, erijioma@meiji.ac.jp

² Meiji Institute for Advanced Study of Mathematical Sciences, Japan, tshogw@gmail.com

Based on one-temperature equilibrium combustion models (see Eqs. (1)-(3), and Ref. [1]) derived through the mathematical theory of periodic homogenization, we study numerically the consequence of kinetic and material property on the developed fingering state. In a previous study [1], we showed that material thermal effects are not the controlling mechanism underlying the combustion instability. In this presentation, we focus on the effects of system porosity ϕ and heat release on the developed fingering state i.e. we consider the tip-splitting regime of the instability (see Refs. [1, 2] for details). In the first case, we show qualitative numerical results that relates ϕ to the depth of conversion of the solid product. In order to investigate the implication of heat release on the characteristic finger width via an adiabatic model that neglects heat release mechanisms e.g. radiative heat transfer, the rate of heat released at the reaction zone is controlled. We show the dependence of the finger width on the ability of the front to release heat (see Fig. 1), thereby justifying qualitatively the experimental observation relating the finger width to heat released by the front [2].

$$\frac{\partial T}{\partial t} - \nabla^2 T + \phi \Lambda P e \cdot \nabla T = A N C e^{N(1 - 1/T)},\tag{1}$$

$$\phi \frac{\partial C}{\partial t} - \frac{1}{Le} \nabla^2 C + \phi Pe \cdot \nabla C = -ANCe^{N(1-1/T)}, \qquad (2)$$

$$\frac{\partial R}{\partial t} = H_R ANC e^{N(1-1/T)}.$$
(3)



Figure 1: Collage of fingering char patterns in the tip-splitting regime showing variation of finger width with decreasing values of *A* (i.e. from left to right) and fixed values of *Pe* and *Le*. Ignition is initiated from bottom; char propagation is from bottom to top.

- [1] E. R. Ijioma, A. Muntean and T. Ogawa, *Pattern formation in reverse smouldering combustion: a homogenisation approach*, Combust. Theory Model **17**, 2, pp. 185-223 (2013).
- [2] O. Zik and E. Moses *Fingering instability in combustion: an extended view*, Phys. Rev. E: Stat. Nonlin. Soft Matt. Phys. 60 pp. 518-531 (1999).

Coupled Heat Transport and Darcian Water Flow in Freezing Soils

M. Beneš¹, L. Krupička², R. Štefan³

¹ Czech Technical University in Prague, Faculty of Civil Engineering, Czech Republic, benes@mat.fsv.cvut.cz

² Czech Technical University in Prague, Faculty of Civil Engineering, Czech Republic, lukas.krupicka@fsv.cvut.cz

³ Czech Technical University in Prague, Faculty of Civil Engineering, Czech Republic, radek.stefan@fsv.cvut.cz

This contribution deals with a model of coupled heat transport and Darcian water flow in unsaturated porous media taking into account the effects of freezing and thawing. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N , N = 1, 2, 3, occupied by a partially saturated soil and *I* be any physically relevant time interval. The model consists of the following balance equations (see [1, 2, 3]):

the conservation equation for total mass of liquid water and ice:

$$\frac{\partial \left(\rho_{\ell} \,\theta_{\ell}\right)}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial \left(\rho_{i} \,\theta_{i}\right)}{\partial t} = -\nabla \cdot \left(\rho_{\ell} \,\theta_{\ell} \mathbf{v}_{\ell}\right) \quad \text{in } \Omega \times I; \tag{1}$$

and energy conservation equation:

$$c_p \frac{\partial T}{\partial t} = \nabla \cdot (\lambda \nabla T) - c_p^{\ell} \rho_{\ell} \theta_{\ell} \mathbf{v}_{\ell} \cdot \nabla T - L_f \frac{\partial (\rho_i \theta_i)}{\partial t} \quad \text{in } \Omega \times I,$$
⁽²⁾

which are supplemented with appropriate boundary and initial conditions for calculating water and heat fluxes across the boundary of Ω and initial distributions of temperature and water content in Ω . The unknowns in the model are the total pressure head $u = u(\mathbf{x},t)$ [m] and temperature $T = T(\mathbf{x},t)$ [K] (single-valued functions of the time *t* and the spatial position $\mathbf{x} = [x, y, z] \in \Omega$). Further, $\theta_{\ell} = \theta_{\ell}(z, u, T)$ [-] represents the volumetric unfrozen water content, $\theta_i = \theta_i(z, u, T)$ [-] is the volumetric ice content, \mathbf{v}_{ℓ} [m s⁻¹] the velocity of the flow of unfrozen water, $c_p = c_p(z, u, T)$ [Jm⁻³K⁻¹] is the volumetric heat capacity of the soil and $\lambda = \lambda(z, u, T)$ [Wm⁻¹K⁻¹] represents the effective thermal conductivity of the soil. Material constant parameters are the volumetric heat capacity of water c_p^{ℓ} [Jm⁻³K⁻¹], the density of liquid water ρ_{ℓ} [kgm⁻³], the density of ice ρ_i [kgm⁻³] and L_f represents the latent heat of fusion [Jkg⁻¹].

We employ the Rothe method to construct approximate solutions to the model and prove some results concerning the existence and regularity of the numerical solution. Finally, we also present some illustrative numerical examples.

- [1] Dall'Amico, M., Endrizzi, S., Gruber, S., and Rigon, R.: A robust and energy-conserving model of freezing variably-saturated soil. The Cryosphere **2** (2011), 469–484.
- [2] Deangelis, M.L., and Wood, E.F.: A detailed model to simulate heat and moisture transport in a frozen soil. Hydrology, Water Resources and Ecology in Headwaters, IAHS Publ. no. 248, 1998.
- [3] Hansson, K., Šimunek, J., and Mizoguchi, M.: Water flow and heat transport in frozen soil: numerical solution and freeze-thaw applications. Vadose Zone Journal **3** (2004), 693–704.

High Concentration Vesicle Suspensions

Bryan Quaife¹ and George Biros¹

¹ University of Texas, {quaife,biros}@ices.utexas.edu

We define a vesicle $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}^2$ to be a closed, inextensible, lipid membrane. Vesicles are used to model different bio-physical elements such as red blood cells. We consider vesicles that are submerged in a domain Ω of incompressible, viscous fluid. The equations that govern the fluid and the vesicle dynamics are [1]

$$\begin{array}{ll} \Delta \mathbf{u} - \nabla p = 0, & \mathbf{x} \in \Omega \backslash \gamma, & \dot{\mathbf{x}} = \mathbf{u}, & \mathbf{x} \in \gamma, \\ \nabla \cdot \mathbf{u} = 0, & \mathbf{x} \in \Omega \backslash \gamma, & div_{\gamma} \dot{\mathbf{x}} = 0, & \mathbf{x} \in \gamma, \\ \mathbf{u} = \mathbf{f}, & \mathbf{x} \in \partial \Omega, & \left[-pI + \nabla \mathbf{u} + \nabla \mathbf{u}^T \right] = \xi, & \mathbf{x} \in \gamma. \end{array}$$

The inextensibility condition, $div_{\gamma}\dot{\mathbf{x}} = 0$, is satisfied by introducing the tension σ which acts as a Lagrange multiplier. The jump in the stress is $\xi = -\mathbf{x}_{ssss} + (\sigma \mathbf{x}_s)_s$ which minimizes the bending energy of the vesicle.

Integral equation methods have become increasingly popular for solving coupled fluid-solid equations such as the above. The governing equations become a system of integro-differential equations for the position of the vesicle **x**, the tension σ , and an unknown density function defined on $\partial \Omega$. The advantage of this formulation is that all the unknowns live on one-dimensional curves. However, when vesicles approach one another or a solid wall, several issues must be addressed. The integral operators become difficult to evaluate accurately, the problem becomes stiff, and the number of required GMRES steps increases. To handle high concentrations of vesicles, we use near-singular integration, fast multipole methods, implicit time stepping, and block-diagonal preconditioning.



Figure 1: The vesicles (red) and solid walls (black) are each discretized with 64 points. The result is a linear system with 3,456 unknowns that must be solved at each time step. Even with this complex geometry, we are able to achieve an error of 0.05%. The inner boundaries are rotating in opposite directions with constant angular velocity while the outer boundary is fixed. We see that the vesicles are able to come quite close to one another and the solid walls.

References

[1] S. K. Veerapaneni, D. Gueyffier, D. Zorin, and G. Biros, *A boundary integral method for simulating the dynamics of inextensible vesicles suspended in a viscous fluid in 2D*, Journal of Computational Physics **228**, 7, pp. 2334-2353 (2009).

Modelling, Simulation and Optimization of Gas Flow in an Exhaust Pipe

I. Gasser¹, M. Rybicki², W. Wollner³

¹ University of Hamburg, Germany, gasser@math.uni-hamburg.de

² University of Hamburg, Germany, martin.rybicki@math.uni-hamburg.de

³ University of Hamburg, Germany, winnifried.wollner@math.uni-hamburg.de

The emission caused by vehicles is an import issue in these times. In order to reduce the pollutant emissions of CO, NO_x and C_xH_y in the exhaust gas, there are catalytic converters installed in the exhaust pipe system. A crucial quantity to control the efficiency of a catalytic converter is the temperature. Due to this reason, one is interested in how to ensure a sufficient high temperature in the catalytic converter in a short time after the engine start.

We start with the following fully compressible, hyperbolic balance law, which is commen in engineering literature

$$(A\rho)_t + (A\rho u)_x = 0,$$

$$(A\rho u)_t + (A\rho u^2)_x + Ap_x = -\frac{\xi \pi d}{4}\rho \frac{u|u|}{2} - C_c A\chi\rho u,$$

$$(A\rho E)_t + (A\rho uE + Aup)_x = -h\pi d(T - T_{Wall}) + q_0 A\chi\rho z K(T),$$

$$(A\rho z)_t + (A\rho uz)_x = -A\chi\rho z K(T),$$

where we use the ideal gas law $p = R\rho T$ as the closing relation. The terms on the left hand side are the Euler equations of gas dynamic in a pipe with a variable cross section *A*. By the terms on the right hand side we describe the main physical effects which influence the dynamic of the gas.

Starting from this model we perform two major simplification in our work:

- 1. Rather than introducing intervals for a smooth change of the cross section *A*, we divide the exhaust pipe into pipes with constant cross sections and treat the whole system as a network. This has two major advantages:
 - (a) Since the cross section *A* does not have to change quickly on small intervals, which would imply large derivatives, we are able to produce numerical results with much larger step sizes in space.
 - (b) Due to the necessity of coupling conditions for the network, we are able to describe the pressure losses caused by the pipe's geometry.
- 2. The flow in the exhaust pipe is in a low Mach number regime, and we are not interested in the propagation of sound waves, but mainly the temperature in the catalyst. Thus, we are able to simplify the model by a small Mach number asymptotics. This will lead us to a simplified model, which is computationally much faster than the hyperbolic model, since much larger step sizes in time are allowed by the CFL condition.

Furthermore we will present a related optimisation problem: Heating up the catalytic converter as fast as possible without using too much fuel.

- [1] I. Gasser and M. Rybicki, *Modelling and simulation of gas dynamics in an exhaust pipe*, Applied Mathematical Modelling, vol. 37 (5), 2747-2764, (2013).
- [2] I. Gasser, M. Rybicki and W. Wollner, *Modelling, Simulation and Optimization of Gas Dynamics in an Exhaust Pipe*, submitted to *Proceedings of the 14th International Conference on Hyperbolic Problems: Theory, Numerics and Applications*, (2012).

Convergence of the Lagrange-Galerkin method for the equations modelling of fish-like swimming

J. San Martin¹, J.-F. Scheid², <u>L. Smaranda³</u>

¹ University of Chile, Chile, jorge@dim.uchile.cl

² University of Lorraine, France, scheid@iecn.u-nancy.fr

³ University of Piteşti, Romania, smaranda@dim.uchile.cl

We focus on a numerical method for the disctretization of an initial and boundary value problem that models the self-propelled motion of a deformable solid in a bidimensional viscous incompressible fluid. In the model, we suppose that the solid is subjected to a known deformation field representing the action of the aquatic organism muscles. The governing equations consist of the Navier–Stokes equations for the fluid, coupled to Newton's laws for the solid. The numerical method we propose is based on a global weak formulation, where the nonlinear term in the Navier–Stokes model is discretized using the characteristic function. Since the formulation is global in space, this characteristic function is extended in an appropriated manner inside of the creature, taking into account its deformation. We first concentrate our attention in the semi–discretization in time and we prove the stability and the convergence of the scheme. The numerical method is consistent enough with the motion of the creature and for this reason, the disctretization in space variable is successfully implemented using finite element method.

- [1] J. San Martín, J.-F. Scheid, T. Takahashi, M. Tucsnak, *Convergence of the Lagrange-Galerkin method for the equations modelling the motion of a fluid-rigid system*, SIAM J. Numer. Anal. **43**, pp. 1536–1571 (2005).
- [2] J. San Martín, J.-F. Scheid, T. Takahashi, M. Tucsnak, *An initial and boundary value problem modeling of fish-like swimming*, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. **188**, pp. 429–455 (2008).
- [3] J. San Martín, J.-F. Scheid, L. Smaranda, A time discretization scheme of a characteristics method for a fluid-rigid system with discontinuous density, C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris **348**, pp. 935–939 (2010).
- [4] J. San Martín, J.-F. Scheid, L. Smaranda, A modified Lagrange-Galerkin method for a fluid-rigid system with discontinuous density, Numer. Math. 122, pp. 341–382 (2012).
- [5] J. San Martín, J.-F. Scheid, L. Smaranda, *Convergence of the Lagrange-Galerkin method for the equations modelling of fish-like swimming*, in preparation (2013).
- [6] E. Süli, Convergence and nonlinear stability of the Lagrange-Galerkin method for the Navier-Stokes equations, Numer. Math. 53, pp. 459–483 (1988).

Bounds on dispersion tensor in periodic media

C. Conca¹, J. San Martin², <u>L. Smaranda³</u>, M. Vanninathan⁴

¹ University of Chile, Chile, cconca@dim.uchile.cl

² University of Chile, Chile, jorge@dim.uchile.cl

³ University of Piteşti, Romania, smaranda@dim.uchile.cl

⁴ TIFR-CAM, Bangalore, India, vanni@math.tifrbng.res.in

In this talk, we consider a periodic media and we study the dependence of the dispersion tensor or Burnett coefficients in terms of the microstructure (for the definition of this tensor, we refer the reader to [1] and [2]). We treat one-dimensional and laminated structures, and also we give some perspectives on other cases in higher dimension. In low contrast periodic media, interesting properties of the sign of this tensor are found. Surprisingly, these depend on the microstructure only through the local proportion parameter and in some cases, they do not depend on the microstructure at all. Considering the general one dimensional periodic medium, we completely describe the set in which the dispersion coefficient lies, as the microstructure varies preserving the volume proportion (see [3]). In higher dimension, we study properties on the dispersion tensor for laminated (see [4]) and Hashin structures and we characterize the bounds of this tensor in terms of some geometric properties on the reference cell.

- [1] C. Conca, R. Orive, and M. Vanninathan, On Burnett coefficients in periodic media, J. Math. Phys. 47, pp. 032902, 11 (2006).
- [2] C. Conca, J. San Martín, L. Smaranda, and M. Vanninathan, On Burnett coefficients in periodic media in low contrast regime, J. Math. Phys. 49, pp. 053514, 23 (2008).
- [3] C. Conca, J. San Martín, L. Smaranda, and M. Vanninathan, Optimal bounds on dispersion coefficient in one-dimensional periodic media, Math. Models Methods Appl. Sci., 19, pp. 1743–1764 (2009).
- [4] C. Conca, J. San Martín, L. Smaranda, and M. Vanninathan, Burnett coefficients and laminates, Applicable Analysis 91, Issue 6, pp. 1155-1176 (2012).
- [5] F. Murat and L. Tartar, *Calculus of variations and homogenization*, in Topics in the mathematical modelling of composite materials, vol. 31 of Progr. Nonlinear Differential Equations Appl., Birkhäuser Boston, pp. 139–173 (1997).

Mixed problems for the Telegraph Equation in the Case of a System Consisting of N Segments with different Densities and Elasticities but Equal Impedances

I. Smirnov¹,

¹ Lomonosov Moscow State University, Russia, ismirnov@cs.msu.ru

We consider the mixed problems for the longitudinal vibrations of a rod governed by the telegraph equation with the Dirichlet and Neumann boundary conditions. The rod consists of n segments with different densities and elasticities.

The rod has the linear density $\rho_1 = const$ and Young's modulus $k_1 = const$ on the segment $0 \le x \le l_1$.

The rod has the linear density $\rho_i = const$ and Young's modulus $k_i = const$ on the segment $l_{i-1} \le x \le l_i$.

The rod has the linear density $\rho_n = const$ and Young's modulus $k_n = const$ on the segment $l_{n-1} \le x \le l_n = l$. The impedances of these n segments are equal to each other.

The study of the vibrations of the rod subject to the given boundary conditions at its ends is reduced to finding the solution u(x, t) of the following mixed problem for the discontinuous telegraph equation with $a_i = \sqrt{\frac{k_i}{\alpha_i}}$

$$u_{tt} = \{a_i^2 u_{xx}(x,t) + c^2 u(x,t) \text{ in } Q_2 = [l_{i-1} \le x \le l_i] \times [0 \le t \le T],$$
(1)

with zero initial conditions

$$u(x,0) = 0, \quad u_t(x,0) = 0,$$
 (2)

with junction conditions at the joint points l_i , $i = 1 \dots n$,

$$u(l_i - 0, t) = u(l_i + 0, t), \quad k_i u_x(l_i - 0, t) = k_{i+1} u_x(l_i + 0, t)$$
(3)

and with one of the following three pairs of boundary conditions:

$$u(0,t) = \mu(t), \quad u(l,t) = v(t),$$
 (4¹)

(displacements at both ends);

$$u_x(0,t) = \mu(t), \quad u_x(l,t) = v(t),$$
(4²)

(elastic forces at both ends), and

$$u_x(0,t) = \mu(t), \quad u(l,t) = v(t),$$
(4³)

(an elastic force at one end and a displacement at the other).

Further, the paper presents a practical application of the explicit formulas for the solution of the above mixed problems for solving and modeling seismic migration problems in a dispersion medium.

- [1] I.N. Smirnov, Mixed Problems for the Telegraph Equation in the Case of a System Consisting of Two Segments with Different Densities and Elasticities but Equal Impedances, Doklady Mathematics, Vol. 82, No 3, pp. 887-891 (2010).
- [2] I.N. Smirnov, D Alembert-Type Formula for Vibrations of an Infinite Rod Consisting of Two Segments with Different Densities Described by the Telegraph Equation, Doklady Mathematics, Vol. 82, No 1, pp. 523-527 (2010).
- [3] I.N. Smirnov, Solution of Mixed Problems with Boundary Elastic-Force Control for the Telegraph Equation, Differential Equations, Vol. 47, No 3, pp. 429-437 (2011).

On a Two-Fluid Slot Coating Flow with Evaporation

J. Socolowsky¹

¹ Brandenburg University of Applied Sciences, Engineering Department, Mathematics Group, PO Box 2132, D-14737 Brandenburg an der Havel, GERMANY, (e-mail: socolowsky@fh-brandenburg.de)

In this paper a particular plane steady-state slot coating flow including evaporation effects is investigated. The motion of two heavy viscous immiscible fluids is governed by a free boundary value problem for a coupled system of Navier-Stokes and Stephan equations. The flow domain is unbounded in two directions and both of the free interface/surface are semi-infinite. It contains two sharp corners where the weak solution admits singularities. Existence and uniqueness of a suitable solution in weighted Hölder spaces can be proved for small data (i.e. small fluxes) of the problem.

A Mathematical Cellular Pott's Model for Growth and Migration of Endothelial Cells

H. Bazmara¹, M. Soltani^{1, 2*}, M. Sefidgar¹, H. Fgaier³, and A. Elkamel²

¹ K.N.T University of Technology, Tehran, Iran,

² Waterloo Institute for Nanotechnology, University of Waterloo, Waterloo, ON., Canada N2L 3G1,* msoltani@uwaterloo.ca

³ University of Guelph, Department of Mathematics

Several studies have suggested mathematical models that simulate growth and migration of endothelial cells and capillary network formation in angiogenesis[1-2]. The target is to predict endothelial cells and constructed capillary network behavior in different cellular environmental conditions. This study presents a cellular Pott's model to simulate an endothelial cell growth and migration. The extracellular matrix affects the cell through environmental signals which are chemical and mechanical. Chemical signals activate cell receptors and start changes in cells' internal machinery. It is considered that the main signaling agent in the extracellular matrix is tumor angiogenic factor (TAF) that is released by tumor. Mechanical signals are created due to interaction of cell receptors and extracellular matrix elements like fibers. The matrix elements are also the main coordinators of endothelial cell movement.

Using the Pott's model for cellular dynamics, growth and migration of an endothelial cell integrated with the signals cell receive from the environment. The results of the model predict cell migration and growth based on environmental cues. Chemotactic movement of the endothelial cell in response to the TAF gradient is seen clearly in this model. The results of this model can be extended to multiple endothelial cells and in next steps, to simulate a capillary and eventually, network formation.

- S. R. McDougall, A.R.A. Anderson and M.A.J. Chaplain, Mathematical modelling of dynamic adaptive tumour-induced angiogenesis Clinical implications and therapeutic targeting strategies, J Theor Biol, 241, pp. 564-589 (2006).
- [2] A. L. Bauer, T.L. Jackson and Y. Jiang, *Topography of Extracellular Matrix Mediates Vascular Morphogenesis and Migration Speeds in Angiogenesis*, PLoS Comput Biol, 5, e1000445. (2009).

A free boundary approach to solve the equilibrium equations of a membrane

G. Viglialoro¹, Á. González¹, J. Murcia²

¹ University of Cadiz, Spain, giuseppe.viglialoro@uca.es,alvaro.gonzalezzarza@alum.uca.es

² Instituto de Ciencias de la Construcción Eduardo Torroja, CSIC (Spain), murcia@ietcc.csic.es

This work presents a mathematical problem related to the equilibrium analysis of a prestressed membrane with rigid and cable boundaries. The membrane is represented by a regular surface z(x, y), defined in a bounded domain $D \subset \mathbb{R}^2$, and its boundary by a set of regular curves; Γ^r and Γ^c represent the rigid and the cable boundary, respectively ($\partial D = \Gamma^c \cup \Gamma^c$). Equilibrium is directly expressed by means of a second order boundary problem in terms of the membrane and its positive (tension) stress tensor $\sigma(x, y)$. The membrane-cable interface equilibrium requires taking into account a singular condition that makes the problem more difficult.

Precisely, if *H* represents the Hessian matrix of *z* and *t* is the tangent unit vector to Γ^{c} , we have to find *z* such that

$$\begin{cases} \operatorname{div} \left(\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \nabla z \right) = 0 \text{ in } D, \\ z = g \text{ on } \Gamma^{\mathrm{r}}, \\ t \cdot (H \cdot t) = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma^{\mathrm{c}}, \end{cases}$$
(1)

 σ and g being two given functions defined in D and Γ^r , respectively. In order to solve this problem, we propose to take into account another unknown function h on Γ^c and, also, to consider Γ^c as a free boundary of ∂D . If we impose the function h to be equal to z on Γ^c a different formulation, but totally equivalent, of (1) is obtained. As a consequence, using a fix point procedure, it is possible to fit the shapes of the cable (i.e. Γ^c) and of the membrane (i.e. z) so that system (1) is completely verified.

Finally, some numerical results related to the corresponding free boundary algorithm are presented and discussed.

Acknowledgements

This research has been supported by the Project MTM2010-16401 of the *Ministerio de Economía y Competitivi*dad/FEDER of the Gobierno de España, the Consejería de Economía, Innovación, Ciencia y Empleo of the Junta de Andalucía and the research group FQM315 of the Universidad de Cádiz.

- [1] J. Crank, Free and Moving Boundary Problems, Oxford University Press, New York (1984).
- [2] G. Viglialoro and J. Murcia, A singular elliptic problem related to the membrane equilibrium equations. Int J Comput Math, to appear.
- [3] G. Viglialoro and J. Murcia, *Equilibrium problems in membrane structures with rigid and cable boundaries*. Inf Constr, 63-524, pp. 49-57 (2011).
- [4] O. C. Zienkiewicz and R. L. Taylor, The Finite Element Method, Butterworth Heinemann (2000).

Poster Session (CS-POST)

Finite Element Approximation of a Parabolic Cross-Diffusion System

<u>H. J. Al Salman¹</u>, J. F. Blowey²

¹ King Faisal University, Alahsa, Saudi Arabia, hjhalsalman@kfu.edu.sa ²University of Durham, Durham, UK, J.F.Blowey@durham.ac.uk

A mathematical and numerical analysis will be carried out for a nonlinear parabolic cross diffusion system: Find $\{w(x,t), z(x,t)\} \in [-1,1] \times R$ such that

$$\frac{\partial w}{\partial t} = \nabla \cdot \left(\rho \, \nabla w - (1 - w^2) \, \nabla z \right) \quad \text{in } \Omega_T, \tag{1}$$

$$\frac{\partial z}{\partial t} = \nabla \cdot (\nabla z + \lambda \nabla w) + \mu w - z \quad \text{in } \Omega_T,$$
(2)

where $\Omega = (0, L) \subset R$ for some L > 0, and $\Omega_T := \Omega \times (0, T)$ for positive time T > 0.

The above system models axial separation of a mixture of two sorts of particles, A_1 and A_2 , in a long rotating drum with length L > 0. Here $w = w_{A_1} - w_{A_2} \in [-1, 1]$ is the relative concentration of the mixture, where $w_{A_1}, w_{A_2} \in [0, 1]$ are the concentrations of the two particles A_1 and A_2 . The variable *z* represents the so-called dynamic angle of repose which is defined as the angle of the slope of the free surface of grains in the drum as they flow continuously. The constant $\rho > 0$ is related to the Fick diffusion constants arising in the surface fluxes of the two materials, while the positive constant $\lambda > 0$ is proportional to the difference of the Fick diffusivities. Finally, the non-negative constant $\mu \ge 0$ is related to the static angle of repose of the particles.

A regularized fully discrete finite element approximation of the system is proposed and studied. With the aid of a fixed point theorem, existence of the fully discrete solutions is shown. By using entropy-type inequalities and compactness arguments, the convergence of the approximation of the system is proved and hence existence of a global weak solution is obtained. Finally, a practical algorithm for computing the numerical solutions of the system is described and some numerical experiments are performed.

Convergence of the Regularized Sinc Collocation Method Applied to First kind Fredholm Integral Equation

B. Neggal¹, F. Rebbani², N. Boussetila³,

Applied Mathematics Laboratory, University Badji Mokhtar Annaba, P.O.Box 12, Annaba 23000, Algeria bilel-negal@hotmail.com
 ² Applied Mathematics Laboratory, University Badji Mokhtar Annaba, P.O.Box 12, Annaba 23000, Algeria

faouzia.rebbani@univ-annaba.org

³ Department of Mathematics, FMISM, Guelma University, P.O.Box 401, Guelma 24000, Algeria n.boussetila@gmail.com

In this study one of the new techniques is used to solve numerical problems involving integral equations known as regularized sinc-collocation method. This method has been shown to be a powerful numerical tool for finding accurate solutions. So, in this talk, some properties of the regularized sinc-collocation method required for our subsequent development are given and are utilized to reduce integral equation of the first kind to some algebraic equations. Then by a theorem we show error in the approximation of the solution decays at an exponential rate. Finally, numerical examples are included to demonstrate the validity and applicability of the technique.

- [1] Frank Stenger, Handbook Of Sinc numerical Methods, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, USA.
- [2] Michel Kern, Problmes inverses, Aspects Numriques, Ecole Suprieure D'ingnieurs Lonardo De Vinci.
- [3] K.Maleknejad, R.Mollapourasl, M.Alizadeh, *Convergence Analysis For Numerical Solution of Fredholm Integral Equation by Sinc Approximation*, Departement of Mathematics, Karaj Branch, Islamic Azad, Faculty of Science, Karaj, Iran.

Short-wave vortex instability in stratified flow

L. Bovard¹, M.L. Waite²

¹ University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, lbovard@uwaterloo.ca

² University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, mwaite@uwaterloo.ca

Vortices play an important role in the transition to turbulence, especially in geophysical flow. Of particular interest is the study of stratified turbulence, which occurs when the fluid has non-constant density, such as in the ocean and atmosphere. While stratified turbulence may behave similar to unstratified turbulence initially, its long term behaviour differs due to the stratification [3]. Thus, in addition to the Reynolds number Re, stratified turbulence is also governed by the Froude number Fr = U/NL where U is the characteristic velocity, L is the characteristic length, and N is the Brunt-Vaisala or buoyancy frequency, which is measure of the stratification of the flow. Because of this extra dependence on the Froude number, modelling geophysical flow becomes more complicated as one cannot apply unstratified turbulence models and ideas. Understanding how stratified turbulence differs is important for numerical simulations. A common approach to studying turbulence is to investigate the transition to turbulence in simplified models as it can illustrate key features and behaviour that govern the more complicated turbulence flow.

A popular model used to study stratified flow is that of a columnar counter-rotating dipole. Laboratory and numerical experiments into the stability of such dipoles have uncovered an instability unique to stratified flow, the zigzag instability, so named due to the zigzag-like structure exhibited by the flow[1, 2]. The zigzag instability is a relatively large scale instability appearing with characteristic vertical length of $\sim U/N$. This instability has been verified in other stratified flow models including co-rotating and vortex arrays. However a complete study of the stability of the counter-rotating dipole has not been done and previous research has only focused on large scale vertical length perturbations while the small scale perturbations have been neglected. Our work investigates the stability of these small scales.

In this talk we present and discuss a new instability of the counter-rotating dipole discovered through numerical linear stability analysis. We analyse the growth rate of the Lamb-Chaplygin dipole under the Boussinesq approximations subject to 3D perturbations. The Lamb-Chaplygin dipole is an exact solution to the 2D Euler equations and approximates the laboratory experiments of a counter-rotating dipole. We investigate numerous Reynolds and Froude numbers and a wide variety of vertical perturbations.

This new instability appears at smaller vertical scales than the zigzag instability by about an order of magnitude. However its growth rate is roughly the same, and may even exceed, that of the zigzag instability. Additionally, the structure of the perturbation differs from that of the zigzag instability. This new instability has implications for numerical modelling of small scales in stratified turbulence.

- [1] J.-M. Chomaz P. Billant. Experimental evidence for a new instability of a vertical columnar vortex pair in a strongly stratified fluid. *J. Fluid Mech*, 418:167–188, 2000.
- [2] J.-M. Chomaz P. Billant. Three-dimensional stability of a vertical columnar vortex pair in a stratified fluid. J. Fluid Mech, 419:65–91, 2000.
- [3] M.-P. Lelong Riley, J.J. Fluid motions in the presence of strong stable stratifications. Annu. Rev. Fluid Mech., 32:613–657, 2000.

A Mathematical Model For Treatment Selection

<u>G. Duncan¹</u>, P.Hendel², R. Hendel³, T. Kakiashvili⁴, W. W. Koczkodaj⁵

¹ Laurentian University, Sudbury, Canada

² Health Sciences North, Sudbury, Canada

³ Health Sciences North, Sudbury, Canada

⁴ Brain Research, Baycrest Hospital, Toronto, Ontario, sudburytherapy@gmail.com

⁵ Laurentian University, Sudbury, Canada, wkoczkodaj@laurentian.ca

The changes in the practice of medicine influenced by the evidence based medicine (EBM) model in the last 20 years has promoted greater involvement from patients, other healthcare professionals (e.g., pharmacists, psychotherapists, etc.) and even the community when selecting treatment options or making treatment decisions. During the formulation of a treatment plan, medical factors (such as unstable angina, use of anticoagulants, etc.) certainly have an influence, but they are not the sole influence. Non-medical factors also play an important role in the treatment decision making process for patients, their families and caregivers. Important factors such as the patient's age, living status, level of independence, level of support from medical services such as from a Community Care Access Center (home care) and personal support structures can have a profound influence on the decision making process. Travel and lodging can also be major factors given geographical distribution and disparate population. There may also be a seasonal variation in the availability of treatment as a result of adverse weather conditions. Often factors which are seemingly trivial, (how do you do the dishes if you have an incision on your hand?) are also important. To say nothing of external issues that must be taken into account, such as resource availability and funding scenarios.

In order to reconcile these often disparate and seemingly difficult to quantify factors, a mathematical model utilizing the pairwise comparisons method will be introduced. As will be shown, the proposed model will allow for decisions on the treatment selection to be made with more accuracy and determinism via the weighted analysis of the ratings of the factors by all stakeholders (experts and non-experts alike). The objective of this study will be to demonstration positive impacts on treatment outcome, wait-times, resource usage maximization, physician workload, patient satisfaction and data quality.

By common sense, it is easier to compare factors influencing our treatment decisions two at a time rather than all at once. However, these partial comparisons not only need to be synthesized but also analyzed for inconsistencies. The minimum cycle of such assessments is three (in case of two, it is inaccuracy; not inconsistency). The inconsistency indicator proposed by Koczkodaj in 1993 as ii = min(|1 - a * c/b|, |1 - b/a/c|) for a triad (a, b, c) allows us to localize the most inconsistent triad for reconsideration or reconciliation of assessments. Unlike the eigenvalue-based inconsistency, the distance-based inconsistency localizes the most inaccurate assessments hence allowing for their reconsideration.

The pairwise comparisons method, when leveraged by the collaborative capabilities of the internet and synthesized with the combined input from all stakeholders (individual and organizational), will provide the ideal framework within which a distributed, decentralized model can be created that will provide an accurate, evidence-based assessment of treatment plan selection. The resulting system will provide healthcare professionals, individuals and families with the ability to balance the often disparate factors that contribute to treatment selection, and make informed choices about the proposed treatments.

A Differential Quadrature Algorithm for Numerical Treatment of Two-Dimensional Hyperbolic Equation

Ram Jiwari¹

¹ Thapar University, Patiala, {ram1maths@gmail.com

The hyperbolic partial differential equations model the vibrations of structures (e.g., buildings, beams, and machines) and they are the basis for fundamental equations of atomic physics. The equations are important for modeling several relevant problems such as signal analysis [1], wave propagation [2], random walk theory [3], in many branches of physics, fluid dynamics and aerodynamics, theory of elasticity, optics, electromagnetic etc. In this article, we proposed a numerical technique based on polynomial differential quadrature method (PDQM) to find the numerical solutions of two dimensional hyperbolic equations with Dirichlet and Neumann boundary conditions. The PDQM reduced the problem into a system of second order linear differential equation. Then, the obtained system is changed into a system of ordinary differential equations and lastly, RK4 method is used to solve the obtained system. Numerical results are obtained for various linear and nonlinear hyperbolic equations. The numerical solutions exist in literature. The technique is easy to apply for multidimensional problems.

The AMMCS-2013 meeting is organized in cooperation with SIAM and AIMS.

- [1] M. M. Hosseini, Syed Tauseef Mohyud-Din and A. Nakhaeei, *New Rothe-wavelet method for solving telegraph equations*, International Journal of Systems Science, 43, pp. 1171-1176 (2012).
- [2] M. Esmaeilbeigi, M. M. Hosseini, S. T. Mohyud-Din, *A new approach of the radial basis functions method for telegraph equations*, International Journal of the Physical Sciences ,6, pp. 1517-1527 (2011).

Multiplication Operators with Closed Range in Operator Algebras

P. Sam Johnson¹

¹ National Institute of Technology, Karnataka, India, sam@nitk.ac.in

Let $\mathscr{B}(H)$ denote the C^* algebra of all bounded linear operators from a Hilbert space H into itself. Let $T \in \mathscr{B}(H)$. Define $L_T : \mathscr{B}(H) \to \mathscr{B}(H)$ by $L_T(S) = TS$ and define $R_T : \mathscr{B}(H) \to \mathscr{B}(H)$ by $R_T(S) = ST$. Consider the following three statements :

- 1. T has closed range in H.
- 2. L_T has closed range in $\mathscr{B}(H)$.
- 3. R_T has closed range in $\mathscr{B}(H)$.

It is proved that all statements are equivalent. Some possibilities of extending this result to Banach spaces have been discussed.

- [1] C. Ganesa Moorthy and P. Sam Johnson, Composition of closed range operators, J. Analysis, 2004 (12), 165-169.
- [2] J. L. Kelly, Banach spaces with extension property, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 1952(72), 323-326.
- [3] J. Lindeastrauss and T. Tzafriri, On the complemented subspace problem, Israel Jour. Math., 1971(9) 263-269.
- [4] L. Nachbin, A theorem of Hahn-Banach type for linear transformations, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 1950 (68) 28-46.
- [5] W. Rudin, Functional Analysis, Tata McGraw Hill, New Delhi, 1974.

Comparing the Results of Transforming Differential Method and Adomian Method in Solving Third Order Nonlinear Delay Differential Equation

Ahmad Kazemlou Sheikhi¹, Hamid Mesgarani², Tahereh Farbiz³

¹Math teacher of Ministry of Education in Talesh City, Iran, ahmad_kazemloo@yahoo.com

²Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science, Shahid Rajae University, Lavizan, Tehran, Iran, Hmesgarani@sru.ac.ir

³Islamic Azad University, Lahijan Branch, Lahijan, Iran, movahedpm@gmail.com

Transforming differential method is a Numerical and Analytical Method for solving functional equations. In this method, Computation is reduced greatly without any linearization, discretezation and making perturbation in problem and leads to an acceptable answer with high accuracy. In this paper, we intend to compare and analysis the transforming differential method and Adomian method in solving third order nonlinear Delay differential equation which is one of the most important Delay differential equation.

Keywords: transforming differential method, functional equations, Adomian method, third order nonlinear delay differential equation.

Domain interactions from protein interactions with Formal Concept Analysis

S. Khor¹

¹ Independent Researcher, London, Ontario, Canada slc.khor@gmail.com

Given a binary relation $I \subseteq G \ge M$ where G is the set of objects and M is the set of attributes, Formal Concept Analysis (FCA) [1] produces a lattice where each node is a (formal) concept within the (formal) context of I. A concept is an ordered pair (O, A) with extent O and intent A such that $O \subseteq G$, $A \subseteq M$ and the common attributes of O under relation I imply A while the common objects of A under relation I imply O.

The broad objective of my research is to investigate the usefulness of a concept lattice L when G is a set of proteins, M is a set of domains and $(g, m) \in I$ means protein g has domain m, or equivalently domain m occurs in protein g. I believe this is the first application of FCA to proteins and their domains. In this talk, I will present my FCA based approach and results I have obtained so far with respect to the problem of inferring domain-domain interactions (DDI) which underlie a given set of protein-protein interactions (PPI). This is done under the assumption that DDIs explain PPIs (PPIs are explained by other additional factors).

Through concept intents and interaction between concepts, *L* naturally models intra- and inter- domain combinations. The use of intra- and inter- domain combinations has been shown to improve DDI and PPI predictions [e.g. 4 & 2]. In my approach, a concept pair (c_i, c_j) with $c_i = (O_i, A_i)$ and $c_j = (O_j, A_j)$ produces the pair $(O_i \times O_j, A_i \times A_j)$ where $O_i \times O_j$ is a set of putative PPIs, and $A_i \times A_j$ is a set of putative DDIs. The information from concept pairs and the given set of PPIs are then used to rank concept pairs.

Using the dataset and general methodology published in [3 & 4], and an assumption of 50% reliability for each PPI, the following observations are made:

- (i) High ranking concept pairs are enriched with gold standard domain pairs, self-interacting domain pairs and co-occurring domain pairs. This is noteworthy because there is evidence that these types of domain pairs are more likely to interact with one another. The gold standard set of DDIs come from [3]. A domain pair (x, y) is co-occurring if both domains x and y are found in at least one protein in the input set.
- (ii) The highest ranking concept pair of a selected PPI is highly likely to contain at least one gold standard domain pair. The selected PPIs come from [3].

These observations indicate that my FCA based approach is applicable to the problem of inferring DDIs that underlie a given set of PPIs. In contrast to [4], my observations were made with Pfam-B domains included. This can be useful to fill in current information gaps about Pfam-B domains. Further, since concept pairs are used instead of individual domain pairs, the role of domain context can be studied. So far, my observations point to the positive effect domain context has on reducing false positive PPI predictions.

- [1] B. Ganter and R. Wille, Formal Concept Analysis: mathematical foundations, Berlin; NewYork: Springer, (1999).
- [2] W.H. Jang, S.H. Jung and D.S. Han, A computational model for predicting protein interactions based on multidomain collaboration, IEEE/ACM Trans. On Comp. Biol. And Bioinfo. 9, 4, pp. 1081-1090 (2012).

^[3] K.S. Guimarães, R. Jothi, E. Zotenko and T.M. Przytycka, Predicting domain-domain interactions using a parsimony approach, Genome Biology 7:R104B (2006).

 ^[4] K.S. Guimarães and T.M. Przytycka, Interrogating domain-domain interactions with parsimony based approaches, BMC Bioinformatics 9, 171 (2008).

A Closed NPZ Model with Delayed Nutrient Recycling

M. Kloosterman¹, S.A. Campbell², F.J. Poulin³,

University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada, ¹mklooste@uwaterloo.ca ²sacampbell@uwaterloo.ca

³fpoulin@uwaterloo.ca

We consider a closed Nutrient-Phytoplankton-Zooplankton (NPZ) model that allows for a delay in the nutrient recycling. A delay-dependent conservation law allows us to quantify the total biomass in the system. With this, we can investigate how a planktonic ecosystem is affected by the quantity of biomass it contains and by the properties of the delay distribution. The quantity of biomass and the length of the delay play an significant role in determining the existence of equilibrium solutions, since a sufficiently small amount of biomass or a long enough delay can lead to the extinction of a species. Furthermore, the quantity of biomass and length of delay are important since a small change in either can change the stability of an equilibrium solution. We explore these effects for a variety of delay distributions using both analytical and numerical techniques, and verify results with simulations.

Downscaling of regional climate scenarios within agricultural areas across Canada with a multi-variate, multi-site statistical model

N. K. Newlands¹, W. Lu², T. A. Porcelli³

¹ Science and Technology, Environment Program, Agriculture and Agri-Food, Alberta, Canada, nathaniel.newlands@agr.gc.ca

² Department of Statistics, University of Victoria, British Columbia, Canada, lu@uvic.ca

³ Scientific Consultant (Physicist), Lethbridge, Alberta, Canada

Crop yield forecasting and the integrated assessment of environmental and economic risks of agricultural production both require detailed information on historical and future impacts and variability of climate trends to reliably capture the broad spectrum of potential cumulative impacts of a changing global climate on soil, water and air quality. Regional dynamic climate model (RCM) output for historical re-analysis 1971-2000 and future scenario 2041-2070 periods is available for Canada (i.e., CGCM3-CRCM3 and HRM3-HadCM3 coupled models) from the North American Regional Climate Assessment Program (NARCCAP). The latest Canadian Regional Climate Model (CCCma-CanESM2) output is also available from Environment Canada for two Representative Concentration Pathways (RCP's) (RCP45 and RCP85) at a coarse scale (25-50 km). Typically, higher-resolution downscaled climate information (1-10 km, daily) is required by agroecosystem models and operational monitoring support systems to guide agricultural decision-making. Reliable methods are therefore needed to statistically downscale climate variability to agricultural ecosystem impact scales and to reduce uncertainty (bias and variance) in RCM model predictions. At the 10 km scale, changes in orography, large water bodies, land vegetation cover, and other evapotranspiration land-air feedbacks inact a strong regional-scale influence on seasonal changes in climate. Yet, downscaling models often rely on a single predictor variable and generate predictions at single sites without incorporating finer-scale physical influences on climate that change the spatial covariance of precipitation, temperature and other climate variables. We present a multi-variate, multi-site method for downscaling climate to the 10 km scale for agricultural areas across Canada. This method employs variable-selection for a multivariate set of regional climate model predictors. Markov Chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) and k-NN (kth Nearest Neighbour Cluster) bootstrapping is employed to capture spatial covariance and temporal-lag dependence in climate predictors. We evaluate the performance of this model for a broad set of agricultural regions/climate zones across Canada. We outline several model improvements to better handle the large complex data inputs and address other computational issues. Our method may offer a rapid (automated) and reliable (cross-validated) way to generate high-resolution climate surfaces across Canada for use in agricultural decision-making.

- [1] Y. B. Dibike, P. Gachon, A. St-Hilaire, T. B. M. J. Ouarda, and Van T.-V. Nguyen, *Uncertainty analysis of statistically downscaled temperature and precipitation regimes in Northern Canada*, Theor. Appl. Climatol. **91**, pp. 149-170 (2008).
- [2] D. Maraun, F. Wetterhall, A.M. Ireson, R.E. Chandler, E.J. Kendon, M. Widmann, S. Brienen, H.W. Rust, T. Sauter, M. Themebl, V. Venema, K.P. Chun, C.M. Goodess, R.G. Jones, C. Onof, M. Vracm I. Thiele-Eich, *Precipitation downscaling under climate change. Recent developments to bridge the gap between dynamical models and the end user*, Reviews of Geophysics, **777**, pp. 1-38 (2010).
- [3] D.A. Plummer, D. Caya, A. Fignon, H. Côé, M. Giguère, D. Paquin, S. Biner, R. Harvey, R. de Elia, *Climate and Climate Change over North America as Simulated by the Canadian RCM*, J. Climate **19**, pp. 3112-3132 (2006).
- [4] R.L. Wilby, T.L.M. Wigley, Precipitation predictors for downscaling observed and general circulation model relationships, Int. J. Climatol. 20, pp. 641-661 (2000).

Parallel numerical methods for time dependent Schrodinger equations in the analysis of quantum heterostructures

D. Sytnyk¹, R. Melnik², <u>S. Prabhakar³</u>

¹ Institute of mathematics, National Academy of Sciences, Ukraine, sytnik@imath.kiev.ua

² Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada, rmelnik@wlu.ca

³ Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada sprabhakar@wlu.ca

The growing demand for quantum dynamical simulations in the scientific and industrial applications requires the development of efficient numerical methods for the solution of time-dependent Schrödinger equation.

We present a new fully discretized numerical method for the solution of time-dependent Schrödinger equation with multi-band Hamiltonians obtained via the application of envelope function approximation to heterostructures composed from crystalline materials [2]. A solution $\Psi(t)$ of the following Cauchy problem for Schrödinger equation

$$i\hbar \frac{\partial \Psi}{\partial t} - (H+V)\Psi = 0, \quad \Psi(0) = \Psi_0,$$
 (1)

with *H* being a Hamiltonian (self-adjoint elliptic operator with semi-bounded spectrum) of the system defined in a heterostructure geometry Ω and *V* represents some potential field, can be formally represented as follows

$$\Psi(t) = e^{-itH}\Psi_0 + \int_0^t e^{-i(t-s)H}V(s)ds,$$
(2)

provided that the initial state Ψ_0 is admissible. In order to derive the numerical method we apply the Dunford-Cauchy formula to the propagator e^{-itH} from (2) and then approximate the resulting infinite integrals by efficient numerical quadrature rule, similar to the one used in [3]. By tailoring the parameters of the contour from Dunford-Cauchy formula to the spectral properties of operator H + V the approximation of (2) is reduced to the series of independent stationary Schrödinger equations in the form of the following boundary value problem (BVP)

$$(z_k I - H)\Phi = V_k, \quad \Phi|_{\partial\Omega} = 0,$$

where V_k are functions dependent on the potential V and the initial state Ψ_0 and z_k is a set of points belonging to the contour of integration. Those series of BVP's are solved concurrently with the help of parallel FEM package Deal.II [1]. Such an approach allows us to obtain two level of parallelism in computation. We also give a technique how to adjust the accuracy of FEM solver to the accuracy of the time-domain approximation.

To show the method's numerical efficiency we present several 2D and 3D examples for quantum dot heterostructures with spherical geometry.

- W. Bangerth, R. Hartmann, and G. Kanschat, *Deal.II a general purpose object oriented finite element library*, ACM Trans. Math. Softw., 33, pp. 24/1–24/27 (2007)
- [2] M. G. Burt, *Fundamentals of envelope function theory for electronic states and photonic modes in nanostructures*, J. Phys.: Condens. Matter, **11**, pp. 53–83 (1999)
- [3] I. Gavrilyuk and V. Makarov, *Exponentially convergent algorithms for the operator exponential with applications to inhomogeneous problems in Banach spaces*, SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis, **43**, pp. 2144–2171 (2005)

Invariant Solutions of the 2+1 **dimensional Gross-Neveu Equations**

P. M. M. Rocha¹, F. C. Khanna², A. E. Santana³, T. M. Rocha Filho⁴

¹ Instituto de Física, Universidade de Brasília, Brasil, paulomarciano@gmail.com

² Physics Department, Theoretical Physics Institute, University of Alberta, Edmonton, fkhanna@ualberta.ca

³ Instituto de Física and International Center for Condensed Matter Physics, Universidade de Brasília, Brasil, asantana@fis.unb.br

⁴ Instituto de Física and International Center for Condensed Matter Physics, Universidade de Brasília, Brasil,

marciano@deimos.fis.unb.br

We apply Lie and nonclassical symmetry methods to partial differential equations in order to derive solutions of the Gross-Neveu model in d = (2+1) space-time dimensions. Nonclassical symmetries are determined and used to derive new solutions for the Gross-Neveu model. Finally, steps are taken to facilitate the incorporation of boundary conditions.

We utilize of a computer algebra system, SADE [1], to obtain symmetry generators and classical solutions to the Gross-Neveu equations in 2 and 3 space-time dimensions, namely

$$\left(i\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}-\lambda(\overline{\Psi}\Psi)\right)\Psi=0,\tag{1}$$

where Ψ is a spinorial variable in 2 or 3 space time dimensions and the γ matrices are given by

$$\begin{array}{lll} \gamma^{\mu}_{(2)} &=& \left(\sigma^2, i\sigma^1\right), \\ \gamma^{\mu}_{(3)} &=& \left(\sigma^2, i\sigma^1, i\sigma^3\right). \end{array}$$

Non-classical symmetries, are used to obtain not yet known solutions to this spinor model in the specific case of 2+1 dimensions.

The method used to simplify and solve the determining system for nonclassical symmetries will be outlined, and a choice of ansatz will be justified in this case. The resulting symmetry generators will be utilized to obtain invariant solutions. Remarks about ways to incorporate boundary conditions into this specific case will also be made.

References

[1] T.M. Rocha Filho, Annibal Figueiredo, Computer Physics Communications, 182, 467-476 (2011).

Application of Advanced Diagonalization Methods to Quantum Spin Systems

J. Y. Wang¹, R. Meyer²

¹ Laurentian University, Sudbury, Canada, jy2_wang@laurentian.ca

² Laurentian University, Sudbury, Canada, rmeyer@cs.laurentian.ca

Quantum spin models play an important role in theoretical condensed matter physics and quantum information theory. One numerical technique that is frequently used in studies of quantum spin systems is exact diagonalization (see for example Ref. [1]). In this approach, numerical methods are used to find the lowest eigenvalues and associated eigenvectors of the Hamilton matrix of the quantum system. The computational problem is thus to determine the lowest eigenpairs of an extremely large, sparse matrix.

Although many sophisticated iterative techniques for the determination of a small number of lowest eigenpairs can be found in the literature, most exact diagonalization studies of quantum spin systems have employed the Lanczos algorithm. In contrast to this, other methods have been applied very successfully to the similar problem of electronic structure calculations. The well known VASP code for example uses a block Davidson method as well as the residual-minimization – direct inversion of the iterative subspace algorithm (RMM-DIIS) [2]. The RMM-DIIS method can however not be used with random start vectors. In order to obtain reliable results one of the other methods must be employed during the first iterations.

The Davidson algorithm is closely related to the Lanczos method but usually needs less iterations. The RMM-DIIS method was originally proposed by Pulay [3] and later modified by Wood and Zunger [4]. The RMM-DIIS method is particularly interesting if more than one eigenpair is sought since it does not require orthogonalization of the trial vectors at each step.

In this work we study the efficiency of the Lanczos, Block Davidson and RMM-DIIS method when applied to basic quantum spin models like the spin-1/2 Heisenberg chain, ladder and dimerized ladder. We have implemented all three methods and are currently applying the methods to the different models. In our presentation we will compare the three algorithms based on the number of iterations to achieve convergence and the required computational time

- [1] H. Q. Lin, Exact diagonalization of qunatum-spin models, Phys. Rev. B. 42, 6561 (1990).
- [2] G. Kresse and J. Furthmüller, *Efficient iterative schemes for ab initio total-energy calculations using a plane-wave basis set*, Phys. Rev. B. **54**, 11169 (1996).
- [3] P. Pulay, Convergence acceleration of iterative sequences. the case of SCF iteration, Chem. Phys Lett. 73, 393 (1980).
- [4] D. M. Wood and A. Zunger, A new method for diagonalizing large matrices, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 18, 1343 (1985).

Random Jitter Methods for Type 2 Ties in Survival Analysis

X. Xin¹, J. Horrocks², G.A. Darlington³

¹ University of Guelph, Guelph, Canada, xxin@uoguelph.ca

² University of Guelph, Guelph, Canada, jhorrock@uoguelph.ca

³ University of Guelph, Guelph, Canada, gdarling@uoguelph.ca

In a survival data set with discrete time-varying covariates, it is common to encounter ties between event times and the times that the discrete time-varying covariates change. We refer to these types of ties as Type 2 ties. It has been found that the default method for Type 2 ties in current statistical software for the Cox proportional hazards (CoxPH) model may introduce bias to the estimation of model parameters [1]. We proposed a Random Jitter method to deal with Type 2 ties in the CoxPH model [1]. We investigate a Multiple Random Jitter method as a potential improvement of the previously proposed Random Jitter method.

In the Random Jitter method, we allow the time that the time-varying covariate changes to occur randomly just before or just after the tied failure time, so that the Type 2 ties are broken while the original ordering of the untied jump and event times is retained. The coefficient estimate and corresponding standard error estimate are obtained by analyzing the modified data set with standard statistical software.

In the Multiple Random Jitter method, the Random Jitter method is applied to the same sample m times and the results from each of the m jittered samples are combined. We present results of a simulation study which shows that the Random Jitter method performs as well as the Multiple Random Jitter method. The methods are illustrated using a real data set.

References

[1] X. Xin, J. Horrocks and G.A. Darlington, *Ties between event times and jump times in the Cox model*, Statistics in Medicine, DOI:10.1002/sim.5683 (Nov 22, 2012).

Index

A

Abbasi, GH: 496 Abdelrahman, MAE: 217 Abudiab, M: 243 Abueida, A: 419 Abukhdeir, NM: 191 Achour, N: 526 Adamescu, A: 146 Adeveve, JO: 34 Aghayan, R: 503 Akram, F: 564 Al-Abadleh, H: 146 Al-Abadleh, HA: 153 Alexopoulos, LG: 133 Alfaki, M: 355 Ali, H: 64 Almaatani, D: 505, 506 Almansoori, A: 556 Almowances, A: 351 Alwan, MS: 385 Amarante, M: 162 Anand, M: 84 Anco, S: 244, 429 Andersen, G: 163 Anderson, JSM: 65, 147 Andrews, M: 528 Andrews, PW: 281 Anicic, R: 328 Anselmi, J: 399 Antipova, A: 431 Aoki, Y: 192, 266 Apaloo, J: 177 Ardaneh, K: 524 Argaez, C: 157 Arino, J: 20, 278 Arjmand, D: 198 Arora, K: 128 Arsie, A: 421 Arya, G: 129 Astrom, J: 451 Atamas, NA: 510 Augusto, LLX: 492 Avelino, PP: 180 Awad, A: 272, 488 Ayala, D: 566 Ayers, P: 151, 149 Ayers, PW: 65, 124, 147, 152, 156, 470, 517 Azad, NL: 108 Azencott, R: 547 Azimzadeh, P: 295

B

Babaoglu, C: 567 Baerdemacker, SD: 156 Baetens, JM: 520 Baets, BD: 44, 520 Bagayogo, AB: 568 Baggag, A: 93 Bahramian, A: 519 Bai, L: 51 Ball, K: 347 Balsim, I: 363 Ban, Y: 374 Bandrauk, AD: 515 Bandyopadhyay, A: 255 Barbosa, F: 511 Barbosa, MA: 511 Barclay, P: 77 Barelli, H: 269 Barreiro, AK: 135 Bauch, C: 79, 83, 84, 87, 286 Bauch, CT: 81, 82, 88, 287 Bayram, M: 245 Bazeia, D: 180 Bazmara, H: 275, 579 Beauchemin, CAA: 319, 491 Belair, J: 136, 265 Belcastro, V: 133 Bellale, S: 525 Belmiloudi, A: 489 Belykh, I: 137 Benedict, AG: 208 Benes, M: 572 Benson, TM: 122 Berenguer, MI: 37 Berezovskaya, F: 490, 495 Bergara, A: 373 Berry, J: 432 Berzins, M: 203 Betancourt-Torcat, A: 556 Bhargava, RR: 561 Bhattacharya, P: 259 Bilhal, E: 133 Biondini, G: 204 Birkholz, S: 36 Biros, G: 573 Blahut, K: 491 Bloch, A: 424 Blowey, JF: 582 Boguslawski, K: 148

Bohn, B: 557 Bohun, CS: 236, 238 Bolker, BM: 281 Bonilla, L: 333 Bornberg-Bauer, E: 456 Borodin, VN: 348 Boussetila, N: 583 Bovard, L: 584 Bowman, JC: 512 Bozkaya, C: 94 Brams, S: 21, 164 Brams, SJ: 171 Bramson, JL: 359 Brooks 3, CL: 128 Brown, J: 177 Brown, JS: 179 Brunet, D: 31, 241 Bruno, OP: 71 Bruzon, MS: 569 Bunker, A: 433 Buono, PL: 138, 143 Burlica, M: 386, 388 Burr, WS: 336, 403 Bursik, M: 224 Busch, A: 419 Bush, L: 32, 70 Bussi, G: 440 Butler, LT: 422 Byelobrov, VO: 122

С

Campanelli, M: 221 Campbell, SA: 142, 534, 590 Canizares, P: 35 Carl, M: 260 Carl, MJ: 256 Carlisle, M: 300 Carloni, P: 440 Carr, P: 8 Carter, EA: 9 Cassier, L: 301 Castellanos, R: 339 Causley, MF: 205 Cellai, D: 301 Chaalal, M: 526 Chakrabarti, BK: 259 Chalmers, N: 216 Chamoli, N: 558, 562 Chan, BS: 138 Chan, HS: 434, 456, 457 Chan, M: 149, 151 Chan, RH: 48 Chang, J: 100

Chen, C: 103 Chen, G: 214 Chen, J: 378, 379 Chen, N: 296 Chen, P: 519 Chen, W: 207 Chen, X: 374 Chen, Y: 61 Cheng, H: 301 Cheng, J: 206 Chenouri, S: 413 Cheyne, H: 540 Ching, S: 342 Chou, CS: 207 Chow, A: 527 Chretien, L: 95 Christara, C: 298 Christlieb, AJ: 123, 205 Christlieb, J: 230 Chrust, M: 196 Cid-Montiel, L: 467 Cleary, EA: 33 Clendenen, D: 95 Cocks, R: 95, 96 Cohen, A: 297 Coifman, RR: 10 Cojocaru, M: 87, 173 Cojocaru, MG: 78, 79, 89, 528 Colberg, P: 435 Colbry, D: 274 Collinson, MS: 279 Conca, C: 576 Conitzer, V: 163 Consta, S: 436 Contreras, A: 462 Cook, K: 416 Cooper, C: 338 Costanzino, N: 297 Cressman, R: 82, 177, 178, 181, 182 Cross, JC: 311 Cruz-Cortes, N: 184, 187 Cuevas-Saavedra, R: 150 Cui, K: 541 Cui, X: 513 Cui, Z: 306 Cushman, JH: 398

D

D'Azevedo, E: 360 Dabrowski, C: 143 Dai, B: 51 Dang, D: 298 Dang, DM: 66

Danks, RC: 257 Darlington, GA: 595 Das, TK: 437 Davison, M: 540, 545 Deamer, D: 459 Deghdak, M: 165 Dehn, J: 224 Demircioglu, E: 560 Denes, A: 280 Denniston, C: 438, 445, 448 DeVille, L: 139 Dezern, DH: 34 Dhote, R: 110 Diacu, F: 423 Diagne, SG: 505, 506 Dias, CL: 439, 453 Dickson, J: 308 Dies, H: 459 Ding, X: 111 Dlamini, PG: 529 Do, T: 440 Dobrowolski, T: 514 Dongsheng, C: 524 Dragicevic, S: 185 Dragomirescu, FI: 530 Drapaca, CS: 267 Driessche, PVD: 289 Du, J: 370 Dujmovic, J: 185 Duncan, G: 585 Dur-e-Ahmad, M: 268 Dutta, D: 478 Dziubek, A: 499

E

Earn, DJD: 281, 284 Eberl, HJ: 52 Efendiev, MA: 52 Eftekharian, A: 329 Eiguren, A: 373 Ejtehadi, MR: 519 Elder, K: 441 Elkamel, A: 99, 132, 272, 275, 488, 556, 579 Elmoataz, A: 67 Erbay, HA: 567 Erdol, N: 338, 339 Erkip, A: 567 Eschen, EM: 416 Escobar, M: 299 Ezike, RO: 480

F

Faghihi, N: 441

Farahbakhsh, B: 112 Farbiz, T: 588 Farrag, A: 504 Feld, JJ: 491 Feng-Shou, Z: 510 Feng, W: 244 Fernandez, DCDR: 193 Fernandez, O: 424 Fgaier, H: 272, 275, 488, 579 Field, SE: 35, 208 Filho, TMR: 593 Fillion-Gourdeau, F: 515 Filoche, M: 312 Filzmoser, P: 548 Fischer, P: 222 Flori, C: 468 Forde, J: 320 Forsyth, P: 66, 305 Forsyth, PA: 68, 295 Fu, K: 69 Fu, YB: 97, 113 Fujiwara, T: 425 Fukami, S: 382 Fukuda, H: 425 Fusai, G: 349, 542

G

Gair, JR: 35 Galan, MR: 37 Gallego, FO: 237, 570 Gallego, M: 166 Galvani, A: 324 Gan, HH: 130 Gandarias, ML: 246 Ganesan, S: 450 Garcia-Cervera, CJ: 379 Gardner, A: 90 Gardner, S: 473 Gasperowicz, M: 311 Gasser, I: 574 Gauld, JW: 516 Gavious, A: 91 Gel, Y: 406 Gel, YR: 407 Genevois, ME: 559, 560 Gerchak, Y: 167 Gerhard, J: 104 Germano, G: 349, 396, 442, 542 Gerth, D: 36 Gherib, R: 516 Ghezavati, V: 350 Ghose, S: 153 Giannakis, D: 11

Gillis, D: 404 Ginting, V: 32, 70 Giordan, JC: 469 Gligorijevic, V: 85 Gningue, Y: 505, 506 Golubitsky, M: 12 Gomez, H: 110 Goncalves, JAS: 492 Gonzalez-Espinoza, C: 151 Gonzalez, A: 580 Gonzalez, M: 345 Gorji, M: 262 Gottesman, D: 475 Gowda, GDV: 73 Grant, M: 432, 441 Grasselli, M: 301 Gray, C: 443, 460 Grebenkov, DS: 312 Greenhalgh, S: 79 Grigorieva, E: 282, 479 Groth, CPT: 194, 195, 199, 209, 212 Guclu, Y: 123, 230 Guidoboni, G: 499 Gul, A: 268 Gumel, A: 321 Gunsalus, KC: 130 Gure, U: 559 Gustafson, SA: 42

Η

Ha, B: 444 Habbal. A: 269 Habibi, M: 445 Hadjiliadis, O: 300 Haley, CL: 340 Hall, B: 187 Hamilton, D: 404 Hamilton, I: 146 Hamilton, IP: 158 Han, JE: 380 Han, M: 303 Harman, P: 364 Harrocks, H: 595 Harrocks, J: 404 Hasan, M: 543 Haslam, MC; 71 Hatch, K: 185 Hautesserres, D: 531 Hayami, K: 266 Haynes, RD: 72 He, D: 493 Heesterbeek, JAP: 289 Heffernan, JM: 279

Hempel, K: 283 Hendel, P: 585 Hendel, R: 585 Hinnov, L: 341 Hirani, A: 499 Hitchon, WNG: 123 Hoang, CT: 417, 418 Hoeng, J: 133 Hofmann, B: 22, 36 Hopkins, B: 168, 169 Horan, S: 170 Hrynkiv, V: 486 Hu, X: 371 Hu, Z: 360 Huang, H: 493, 553 Huang, W: 516 Huang, Z: 410 Hughes, BP: 381 Hung, J: 371 Hunter, J: 211 Hunter, JK: 210, 231 Hurd, T: 301 Hutt, A: 141 Hyndman, C: 302

I

Ibam, EO: 480, 481 Ibanez-Azpiroz, J: 373 Ibrahim, M: 563 Ifrim, M: 211 Ijioma, ER: 571 Ikeda, S: 382 Imielinski, T: 554 Imran, M: 268 In, V: 143 Ingle, R: 525 Ivan, L: 195, 199, 212

J

Jackson, K: 298, 303 Jafari-Salim, A: 329 Jain, S: 405 Jangid, K: 561 Jawahery, S: 450 Jegdic, K: 213 Jelokhani-Niaraki, M: 460 Jenssen, HK: 214 Jeon, JS: 166 Jhajj, HS: 494 Jia, J: 54 Jiang, JZ: 114 Jin, Z: 53 Jiwari, R: 586 Jog, M: 437 Johnson, PA: 156 Johnson, PS: 587 Jones, G: 153 Jones, M: 224 Jones, V: 13 Jun, S: 444 Jung, J: 215 Jung, Y: 444

K

Kail, A: 360 Kakiashvili, T: 172, 351, 585 Kalugin, G: 258 Kamal, A: 482 Kamal: 259 Kamble, G: 525 Kao, CY: 207 Kapinski, J: 105 Kapral, R: 435 Karev, G: 495 Kari, L: 14 Karttunen, M: 437, 441, 445, 446, 451 Kassmann, M: 400 Kauffman, JA: 267 Kaushik, A: 352 Kawaji, M: 117 Kelly, REJ: 406 Kenettinakara, SK: 73 Keyfitz, BL: 232 Khailov, E: 282 Khalaf, B: 519 Khalique, CM: 243, 247, 248, 249 Khan, HM: 564 Khan, K: 278 Khan, RH: 405 Khanna, FC: 593 Khattar, D: 98 Khiabani, NP: 519 Khor, S: 589 Khoshnegar, M: 330 Khumalo, M: 529 Kilgour, BDM: 167 Kilgour, DM: 171 Kim, J: 444 Kim, T: 517 Kirsch, S: 463 Klein, E: 23, 80 Klein, EY: 88 Kleinstein, S: 324 Klinke, DJ: 359 Kloosterman, M: 238, 590 Kobelevskiy, P: 413

Koczkodaj, WW: 172, 351, 585 Koff, D: 241 Kohandel, M: 271 Kohaupt, L: 353 Kohut, SV: 154 Koke, S: 36 Kolkiewicz, A: 304 Konagaya, A: 266 Konstorum, A: 270 Korobeinikov, A: 282 Kowalik-Urbaniak, I: 241 Kreinin, A: 303 Krewski, D: 285 Krivan, V: 182 Krivodonova, L: 216, 226 Krupicka, L: 572 Krzeminski, M: 483 Kuljanin, M: 460 Kumar, A: 532 Kumar, M: 358 Kunik, M: 217 Kunze, H: 37 Kurkcu, H: 331 Kutz, JN: 135

L

Labahn, G: 106 Lai, X: 326 Lai, Y: 550, 551, 552 Lajoie, G: 140 Lakhany, A: 298 Lakhdari, Z: 67 Lander, AD: 270 Lau, SR: 208, 218 Laverty, SM: 322 LeBlanc, V: 141 Lefebvre, J: 141 Legeza, O: 148 Leok, M: 426 Leonenko, NN: 401 Lepage, KQ: 342 Levere, KM: 38 Levy, M: 24, 155 Lewicka, M: 465 Li, EL: 260 Li, M: 54 Li, P: 414 Li, TJ: 97, 113 Li, X: 227, 393 Li, Y: 372 Liang, D: 69, 74 Liang, H: 48 Liang, J: 411

Lidgerding, B: 359 Liebling, SL: 219 Lima, BC: 301 Limacher, PA: 124, 156, 517 Lin, H: 372 Lin, JC: 406 Lin, KK: 140 Lindstrom, U: 355 Linhananta, A: 447 Liu, H: 99 Liu, X: 296, 391, 393, 394 Liu, XZ: 385 Llibre, J: 467 Lohi, A: 99, 132 Longtin, A: 141 Lookman, T: 111 Lopes, GC: 492 Lorenzoni, P: 421 Lorin, E: 220, 515 Losano, L: 180 Lousto, C: 221 Lowengrub, JS: 270 Lu, W: 591 Lu. X: 60 Lu, YJ: 114 Lu, YP: 97, 113 Lundgren, J: 261 Luo, D: 372 Lutscher, F: 285 Luus, KA: 406 Lvon, K: 332 Lyubchich, V: 407

Μ

Ma, J: 53 Ma, K: 305 Ma, XB: 100 Mackay, F: 448 Madankan, R: 224 Mahdipour-Shirayeh, A: 107 Majda, A: 11 Majedi, AH: 330 Majedi, H: 329 Malandain, G: 269 Malek, A: 262, 496 Malevanets, A: 436, 449 Mansour, RR: 563 Manuge, D: 544 Marazzina, D: 349, 542 Maroufy, V: 412 Marriott, P: 414 Marshall, TJ: 308 Martin, JS: 575, 576

Marzouki, MA: 115 Mathis, C: 133 Matsukura, F: 382 Matysiak, S: 25, 450 Mavriplis, C: 28, 196, 472 Maza, MM: 103 McAlister, K: 166 McCluskey, C: 55, 290, 293 McKenzie, R: 365 McLaurin, D: 274 McLeish, D: 306 McLeod, I: 408 McNickle, GG: 179 McPhee, J: 108 Meerschaert, MM: 397, 401 Mehrdoust, F: 549 Meklesh, V: 510 Melgaard, M: 157, 464 Melin, J: 147 Melnik, R: 110, 333, 592 Melnik, S: 301 Melnikov, YA: 348 Meluzzi, D: 129 Mendivil, F: 39 Menezes, J: 180 Meng, QH: 97, 113 Mesgarani, H: 588 Meyer, P: 133 Meyer, R: 116, 594 Meyers, S: 341 Mhlanga, IE: 248 Mia, AS: 533 Michailovich, O: 47 Midya, B: 485 Mielkie, M: 545 Miller, R: 315 Miller, RK: 313 Miloszewski, JM: 521 Min, M: 222 Mirzaee, SMA: 473 Mishra, G: 494 Miskovic, Z: 328, 332 Miskovic, ZL: 334 Misra, D: 315 Misra, DP: 314, 316 Mitchell, F: 486 Mitchell, JA: 131 Mkrtchyan, A: 451 Mneimneh, S: 497 Modugno, M: 373 Moghadas, SM: 56 Mohammad, N: 408 Mohammadi, B: 126

Mohammed, AAK: 124 Mohiuddin, M: 429 Molavian, HR: 271 Molina, C: 284 Mongin, P: 174 Montesinos, MTG: 237, 570 Moore, B: 418 Morano, L: 486 Moreno, JMD: 237 Morgan, S: 317 Moro, A: 421 Morris, K: 527 Morris, SW: 225 Morsky, B: 81, 82 Moseley, D: 31 Mothibi, DM: 249 Motsa, SS: 529 Mousavi, SA: 112 Mousseau, N: 452 Muatietieia, B: 250 Muga, JG: 374 Muir, P: 75 Mukhi, S: 518 Muntean, S: 530 Murcia, J: 580 Mustafa, I: 132, 272, 488

N

Naamat, A: 523 Nagarani, P: 500 Narayanan, C: 453 NategholEslam, M: 460 Ncube, I: 534 Neck, DV: 156, 517 Nedialkov, N: 365, 366 Nedialkov, NS: 367 Neggal, B: 583 Nespolo, M: 115 Neto, LT: 194 Newlands, NK: 591 Ngonghala, CN: 86, 291 Ngou, PO: 302 Nguyen, A: 486 Nguyen, S: 173 Ngwa, GA: 86, 291 Nichols, M: 460 Nicola, W: 142 Nielsen, C: 107 Nigam, R: 518 Niger, A: 321 Nikolaev, A: 497 Nikolova, M: 48 Nobarani, SM: 350

Norel, R: 133 Nosich, AI: 122 Noutchie, SCO: 251

0

O'Malley, D: 398 Ocakoglu, KO: 559 Ogawa, T: 571 Ohno, H: 382 Ohsawa, T: 426 Oliveira, BFD: 180 Olshevsky, V: 471 Oraby, T: 83, 285 Oszwaldowski, R: 380 Otero, D: 47 Otsuka, T: 65 Ozaki, H: 425

P

Pagnutti, C: 84 Pakzad, R: 465 Palacios, A: 138, 143 Pan, R: 223 Pandit, S: 484 Pandit, SG: 34 Panigrahi, S: 387 Papanicolaou, GC: 15 Pardalos, PM: 16 Park, J: 343 Parkin, SSP: 381 Patra, AK: 224 Pavolonis, M: 224 Peitsch, MC: 133 Perelson, A: 324 Perera, SM: 471 Petrov, LF: 354 Pettini, G: 373 Petukhov, AG: 380 Phillips, D: 260 Phung, T: 381 Pientka, JM: 380 Piri, F: 549 Piriol. D: 307 Pirvu, TA: 546 Pitman, EB: 224 Pivato, M: 174 Plangue, B: 355 Plattner, A: 337 Plouffe, CCF: 186 Poignard, C: 144 Polyakova, A: 40 Pomes, R: 454 Pomorski, P: 191

Poore, K: 286 Porcelli, TA: 591 Pouget, S: 224 Poulin, FJ: 590 Pourafshary, P: 519 Poussin, C: 133 Prabhakar, S: 333, 592 Pratibha: 507 Praveen, C: 73 Presho, M: 70 Price, RH: 218 Protas, B: 566 Provatas, N: 441 Pruncut, AR: 136 Pryce, J: 365, 366 Prvce, JD: 367 Pugh, MC: 225 Pushp, A: 381

Q

Qin, R: 216, 226 Quaife, B: 573

R

Radivoievic, T: 399 Rahman, SMA: 57 Rajakumar, N: 437 Rajaratnam, K: 427 Rang. M: 400 Rangan, C: 473 Rapallo, F: 399 Rattan, M: 558, 562 Rebbani, F: 583 Recoskie, D: 418 Reesor, M: 543 Reesor, RM: 308 Regmi, L: 273 Reiher, M: 148 Reipas, L: 260 Reitich, F: 331 Ren, P: 547 Resch, J: 197 Rettner, C: 381 Rheinstadter, MC: 455, 459 Rhrissorrakrai, K: 133 Riahi, DN: 498 Ricardez-Sandoval, L: 556 Rice, JJ: 133 Ringa, N: 287 Rivera-Zamarripa, LA: 184 Roberts, S: 184 Roberts, SA: 187 Robertsm M: 512

Robertson, C: 186, 188 Rocha, PMM: 593 Rohlf, K: 273 Rong, L: 323 Rosa, M: 246 Rosa, RDL: 569 Rosadi, D: 548 Rost, G: 280 Rosu, D: 386, 388 Roy, B: 485 Roy, P: 478 Roy, R: 498 Rueffer, M: 404 Rumschitzki, DS: 363 Runborg, O: 198 Rusjan, E: 499 Ryan, JK: 227 Rybicki, M: 574

S

Saghir, Z: 112, 117 Salafia, C: 312, 314, 315, 317 Salafia, CM: 311, 316 Salahi, M: 549 Salehian, A: 563 Salim, AJ: 330 Salje, EKH: 111 Salman, HJA: 582 Samadi, B: 104 Santana, AE: 593 Sari, N: 288 Sarikhani, K: 519 Sarria, A: 229 Sato, H: 382 Sawada, J: 418 Saxena, A: 111 Saxton, K: 228 Saxton, R: 229 Scalas, E: 396, 399, 442 Scheid, J: 575 Schofield, N: 166 Schupp, S: 67 Schwab, R: 400 Schwartz, N: 315 Seal, DC: 230 Sebastian, BT: 500 Secer, A: 245 Sefidgar, M: 275, 579 Selmane, S: 535 Seo, G: 59 Serfaty, S: 462 Serov, AS: 312 Shams, TA: 564

Shao, O: 301 Sharma, P: 334 Shea-Brown, E: 135, 140 Sheikhi, AK: 588 Sherman, EY: 374 Shi, X: 195 Shi, YK: 118, 119 Shimizu, N: 65 Shin, HH: 403 Shlakhter, A: 314 Shlakhter, O: 316 Shlizerman, E: 135 Shodiev, H: 474 Shontz, S: 274 Shu, C: 206 Shu, H: 292 Shuai, Z: 289 Shymanska, A: 125 Sigal, IM: 17 Sigdel, R: 290 Sikorskii, A: 397, 401 Sikosek, T: 456 Simons, FJ: 337 Singh, SB: 558, 562 Singh, T: 224 Singla, P: 224 Sinha, A: 536 Sivaloganathan, S: 271 Skelton, A: 41 Smaily, ME: 463 Small, C: 411 Small, CG: 413 Smaranda, L: 575, 576 Smirnov, I: 577 Smirnov, R: 389 Smith, S: 158 Smolarski-Koff, N: 241 Socolowsky, J: 578 Soleev, A: 252, 390 Soliman, I: 278 Soltani, M: 275, 519, 579 Song, J: 457 Song, W: 54 Sood, A: 537 Souvignier, B: 115 Sprowl, SA: 270 Sritharan, R: 416, 419 Srivastava, SK: 537 Stamos, I: 300 Staroverov, VN: 150, 154 Stechlinski, P: 391 Stefan, R: 572 Stefanescu, ER: 224

Steinmeyer, G: 36 Sterck, HD: 192, 199, 212, 266 Stewart, J: 104 Stockie, JM: 239 Stoica, C: 467 Stolovitzky, G: 133 Su. S: 360 Subbey, S: 42, 355 Sun, GQ: 53 Sun, J: 111 Susan-Resiga, R: 530 Susanto, A: 199, 212 Suvakov, M: 85 Svetov, IE: 43 Swartz, CLE: 368 Sweatman, WL: 240, 428 Swishchuk, A: 309 Swishchuk, S: 541 Sytnyk, D: 592

Т

Tacmer, P: 159 Tadic, B: 85 Taghavipour, A: 108 Tai, CX: 48 Takouda, M: 505, 506 Tan, G: 365, 366, 367 Tan, O: 550, 551 Tang, SY: 58 Tang, VC: 263 Taniguchi, T: 425 Tarfulea, N: 26, 356, 357 Tataru, D: 211 Tchier, F: 508 Teboh-Ewungkem, MI: 86, 291 Teismann, H: 375 Tesdall, A: 231 Thomas, L: 381 Thommes, E: 79, 173, 528 Thomson, DJ: 340, 344 Tian, Y: 392 Tieleman, DP: 458 Tieleman, P: 27 Tiglio, M: 35 Timofeyev, I: 547 Titantah, J: 446 Tiwari, S: 358 Tomberli, B: 460 Toppozini, L: 459 Torre, DL: 37, 46 Toussaint, GT: 18 Tran, T: 181 Trogdon, T: 204
Tse, L: 552 Tsikkou, C: 232 Tully, S: 87 Tuomela, J: 126 Turtle, J: 143

U

Ulukan, HZ: 559, 560 Usman, M: 253

V

Vadori, N: 309 Vafaei, S: 460 Vanninathan, M: 576 Varani, G: 440 Vasilyeva, O: 285 Vass, J: 45 Vatshelle, M: 418 Vazquez, CG: 237 Verstraelen, T: 149, 151, 152, 160 Verwaeren, J: 44 Vetzal, KR: 295 Viglialoro, G: 237, 580 Vincent, T: 177 Visscher, L: 159 Vrabie, II: 388 Vrscay, E: 241 Vrscay, ER: 46, 47 Vuik, MJ: 233

W

Wachowiak-Smolikova, R: 189 Wachowiak, M: 189 Wahl, L: 325 Waite, ML: 584 Wallace, B: 241 Wang, C: 414 Wang, HP: 100, 117 Wang, J: 60, 241, 553 Wang, JY: 594 Wang, L: 200, 201, 292 Wang, Q: 359 Wang, W: 69 Wang, WD: 118, 119 Wang, X: 60, 379, 416, 493 Wang, Z: 241, 359 Wartak, MS: 521 Washington, ID: 368 Waterman, ML: 270 Watmough, J: 292 Webley, P: 224 Weedermann, M: 59

Weeen, PVD: 44, 520 Wei, B: 117, 120 Wei, S: 48 Wells, C: 324 Wells, CR: 88 West, SA: 90 Westhoff, J: 96 Whitehead, H: 404 Wilcox, M: 276 Wild, E: 89 Wild, G: 90 Wilder, S: 486 Willms, AR: 41, 276 Wodak, SJ: 449 Wolf, E: 205 Wolf, T: 244, 429 Wolkowicz, GSK: 59 Wollner, W: 574 Wong, K: 360 Wong, S: 404 Wouters, S: 517 Wrzosek, D: 52 Wu, Y: 361 Wylie, J: 493

Х

Xia, Q: 317 Xiao, H: 345 Xiao, Y: 60 Xiao, YN: 58 Xie, W: 385, 394 Xin, X: 595 Xu, D: 172 Xu, F: 182, 293 Xu, J: 372 Xu, X: 483

Y

Yadav, RR: 532 Yamanouchi, M: 382 Yamin, D: 91 Yampolsky, M: 311, 314, 315, 316 Yan, N: 120 Yang, J: 61 Yang, M: 201 Yang, N: 119 Yang, S: 381 Yang, X: 379, 383 Yao, D: 372 Yao, DD: 296 Yaros, JR: 554 Yi, T: 62 Yodzis, M: 49 Yoon, J: 486 You, J: 376 Young, PJS: 101 Young, R: 234 Yousefi, T: 112 Yu, P: 325, 392, 538 Yuan, GW: 513 Yuan, XQ: 118, 119 Yue, JY: 513

Z

Zadeh, FH: 65, 152, 470 Zenkov, D: 347, 424 Zhang, F: 501 Zhang, H: 393, 546 Zhang, K: 394 Zhang, LL: 475 Zhang, S: 201 Zhang, W: 223, 325 Zhang, XG: 53 Zhou, H: 201 Zhou, K: 100 Zhu, YX: 53 Zhuang, H: 339 Zimmerling, J: 189 Zingg, DW: 193 Zlochower, Y: 221 Zongo, FY: 464 Zou, X: 57, 326 Zu, J: 110 Zutic, I: 380 Zwicker, WS: 175

Applied Mathematics, Modeling and Computational Science (AMMCS) 2013 Book of Abstracts

ISBN: 978-0-9918856-0-2